
REPORT OF THE ARCTIC C01DfITTEE. 

Admiralty, 
Arctic COlllmittee, Sir, 

20th November 185!. 

1. The Committee appointed by their Lordships letter of the 22d October 
to inquire into and report on the conduct of the officers intrusted with 
the command of the late expeditions in search of Sir John Franklin, and 
whether everything was done by them to carry into effect their instruc­
tions, and to prosecute the search for the missing ships, commenced their 
proceedings on the 24th ultimo; and conceiving that the only distinct 
inculpations are those contained in Mr. Penny's letters to their Lordships Nos. 21 and 29., p. Iv. and 

of the 15th September and 10th October, we considered it our duty to Iviii. 

direct our attention in the first instance to this part of the subject, and 
we accordingly examined Mr. Penny himself, and all the principal officers 
of the "Lady Franklin" and " Sophia," with the view of ascertaining 
satisfactorily every circumstance connected with the exploration of \Vel-
lington Strait, and the channels discovered above it, and how f:'lr 
Mr. Penny's subsequent statements are in conformity with those he so 
distinctly expressed in his letters of the 4th and lith .'\ ugust, addressed 
to Captain Austin; and having obtained all the information in our power, 
and most carefully considered the whole question, we are of opinion that 
Captain Austin could only put one construction on ~Ir. Penny's two 
letters referred to, and that, having been thus assured by him that the 

:\Ir. Penny to Captain 
Austin, 4th and 11th 
August 1851. 
Evidence, A. 331 and 336, 
pp. 33. ~l6. 

open water found above Wellington Straits was (to U~l' his own expres- :\Ir. Penny to Captain 
Austin, 4th August 1851. 

sion), from "the fearful rate at which the tide runs (not less than six E 'd \ 331 33 

" knots) through the sounds that divide the channel, dangerous even for 
" a boat, much more to a ship, unless clear of ice, which from its present 
" appearance would not be so that season," impracticable for navigation 
at that time, and that the shores and islands on both sides had been 
thoroughly examined by the exploring parties, without any traces of the 
missing ships being discoverable, we do not think Captain Austin would 
have been justified in commencing a fresh search in a direction concerning' 
which he naturally considered himself to have received such authentic 
information. 

VI ence, ..... ,p. . 

2. It will be observed that in Mr. Penny's letter of the 4th August 1851 
(from which we extract the preceding paragraph) he distinctly acquaints 
Captain Austin of his fixed determination to return immediately to Eng­
land, and that nothing is to be found in it in any way expressive of his 
wish for a further search in Wellington Strait, and the channels con-
nected with it. In his Journal, also, several remarks occur, all equally Enclosure No. 17. 

discouraging and fully indicative of his opinions at that period; and we 
can only account for his subsequent change of language on his arrival in 
England by his considering (as he himself states in his evidence) that 
" he found everybody disappointed;" that it had been said, "more might Evidence, A. 87, 88, p. 8. 

II have been done·" and "that he therefore wished to have the means , 
" of going out again;" but we are bound to state that the evidence 
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Evidence, A. 34,3, 3 ~5, 
nnd 380, pp. 37, H. 

Evidence, A. 336, p. :;.i. 

Evidence. A. 347 to 349, 
pp. 39, 40. 

Evidence, .. \. ~~(), p. ~)G . 
. 11 r. Penny til Captain 
Allstin, 11th .\ugnst 1851. 

Evidence, A. ,~3 to !is, 
pp.4,5. 

Enclosure No. 19. 

Evidence, A. 114 to 11 j, 
p.lO. 

Evidence, A. 195 to 200, 
p.15, A.460, p. 53, 
A.522, p. 59, A. 590, 
p.65, A. 651, p. 7:), 
A. 921 to 926, p.92, 
A.977 to 980, p. 96. 

( IV ) 

brought before us has not, in our opinion, corroborated the ~tatement, that 
he expressed to Captain Austin at the time any. such s~nhment~; and it 
will be seen that Captain Austin distinctly dellIes havmg received any 

communication to that effect. 
3. Some desultory conversation, however, certainly appears to have 

taken place on this subject when Captain .\ustin and Mr. Penny met on 
the lith Allgll;t 1851, and it was for this reason that the former (very 
prudently and properly, in our opinion,) pressed Mr. Penny so strongly 

for his opinion in writing. 
4. \iT e think, therefore, that Captain Austin could only form his judg­

ment on Mr. Penny's written communications, which, although very 
laconic, were sufficiently explicit; and that, under all the circumstances 
of the case, much weight is due to the feeling expressed by Captain Austin 
in his evidence, that as Mr. Penny's expedition was, equally with his own, 
equipped at the publie expense, anel receiving its orders from the 
Admiralty, although independent of his authority, he considered himself 
bound to abide by the ~trollgly expressed opinion of the officer who had, 
by mutual agreement, undertal,en that particular portion of the search, 
that" alt h"d 1)('1'1/ Jone /r/ticlt it W((S 'in f/if' jllJlcer ofrnan to accomplish." 

5. We beg to remark on this part of the subject, that although 
:'1r. Penny endeavours to draw a distinction between Wellington Strait 
and the channels to the north-west, which he has since named Queen 
Yietoria's Channel, no such distinction appears in the track chart delivered 
by him to Captain Austin at the time, and which we annex to this Report; 
and we therefore think that Captain Austin could not fairly be expected 
to recognize any distinction between the upper and lower parts of this 
channel. 

6. It appears to have been under this impression, which we think 
Captain Austin fully justified in entertaining, that, after finding Welling­
ton Strait closed, the ice still presenting the same impenetrable barrier it 
had done in l1'!)O, he decided on occupying the remainder of the navigable 
season in the examination of Jones's Sound, to which Inlet his own 
instructions, as well as Mr. Penny's, directed attention, but which the 
latter had been unable to explore in the preceding season. /. "'c think that considerable benefit might have arisen, especially with 
reference to future operations in '\Yellington Strait, if one of the expedi­
tions had remained ncar the entrance about a fortnight longer, in order to 
obtain the latest information of the state of the icc in that direction, and 
therefore the probable practicability of the navigation of this strait, and 
we think this might have been accomplished by :\lr. Penny without in­
volving any serious risk of being detained during the winter; but we 
are clearly of opinion that as 110 certain traces of Sir John Franklin's 
ships had been met with in any direction beyond their wintering place 
at Beeehey Island in 1845-6, and no record of the route intended to be 
pursued by them could be discovered, after the most diligent and repeated 
search, (thus leaving this question a mere matter of conjecture,) both 
Captain Austin and 1I1r. Penny were fully justified by the tenor of their 
Lordships instructions in not risking their detention in the ice duriDg 
another winter; and we beg to add that all the most experienced Arctic 
officers in both expeditions appear to have unanimollsly concnrred.in 
opinion as to the expediency of returning to England. . 
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8. With respect to the conduct of the officers intrusted with the com. 
mand of the expeditions and several exploring parties, we most gladly 
express our highest and most unqualified admiration of the zeal, energy, 
intrepidity, and perseverance with which every individual amongst them 
performed their respective duties. They appear to have been animated 
by a common feeling of determination to endure every hardship, and 
brave every danger, in their endeavours to obtain some traces of their 
missing countrymen. The journeys accomplished under the most difficult 
and trying circumstances far exceed both in distance and duration any 
to be found in the previous records of Arctic exploration in those parallels 
of latitude; and the arrangements made by Captain A us tin and 
Mr. Penny were so well considered and so complete that all their parties 
returned (with only one exception) in perfect health, and without having Evidence, A.llSg, p.lOi. 

experienced any sufferings beyond those which were inseparable £i'om 
severe-fatigue in such inclement regions. 

9. With respect to the results of the late expedition, as regards the 
search for the missing ships, on which their Lordships desire our opinion, 
we may remark, that, in the first place, it is a matter of no small interest 
and importance to have ascertained with certainty the exact position in 
which they passed the winter of 1845-6, while the careful and minute 
exploration of the coast to the southward and westward by Captain 
Ommanney and Lieutenant M'Clintock, without discovering any traces 
whatever of Sir John Franklin, would seem to afford a very strong pre­
sumption that he did not pass that way; and conjecture, therefore, 
naturally turns towards Wellington Strait, to which it is well known he Sir E. Parry and Sir G. 

had often looked, as affording- one chance of a passage to the north-west, t~ack's verbal in forma. 
~ Ion. 

and which we see by Mr. Penny's account of his examination of the upper 
part of the channel appears to form at least a possible outlet in that 
direction. 

10. It is not without considerable hesitation and anxiety that we proceed 
to reply to the last point on which their Lordships request our opinion; 
namely, "what benefits can be expected from any further research, with 
" the means and directions in which the Committee are of opinion that 
" such search should be prosecuted." 

II. We should deeply grieve at being considered capable of treating­
with coldness or indifference the natural and praiseworthy feelings of those 
who are still without certain information of the fate of their nearest and 
dearest relatives, who in this state naturally cling to hope "even against 
" hope," and whose thoughts (as might be expected) turn eagerly towards 
further explorations, in any and every direction; but we have felt at 
the same time, while considering calmly and carefully this difficult 
question, that we have an equally important duty to perform towards 
those brave and meritorious men whose lives must be risked in this 
arduous and perilous search, and to reflect in what manner it may be 
best conducted with a due regard to their safety. 

12. Taking, therefore, all these circumstances into consideration, we 
have, after a most careful and anxious deliberation, decided on recom­
mending to their Lordships that an expedition should be despatched 
next year to Barrow's Strait, consisting of the same ships which com­
posed Captain Austin's division, namely, two sailing ships and t.wo 
steamers, with orders to proceed direct to Beechey Island, and to 
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consider that harbour,-beyond which we think one sailing ship and 
one steamer should on no account be taken,-as the base of future 

operations. 
13. We consider any further exploration in the direction of Melville 

Island or to the south-west of Cape Walker wholly unnecessllry; and 
we would therefore propose that all the strength and energy of the 
expedition should be directed towards the examination of the upper part 
of Wellington Strait; and we are of opinion that by the adoption of 
the same careful and well-considered arrangements which were attended 
by such satisfactory results on the late occasion this examination may 
be effected without any serious risk of loss or danger. 

14. If, on arriving at the proposed rendezvous early in August, the 
barrier of ice at the entrance of the Strait renders any attempt to 
penetrate it unsafe or imprudent, it may, perhaps, still be possible 
to convey boats on runners or sledges, or by any small "lanes" which 
may offer, and launch them into the open water above, and by this means 
depots of provisions may be advanced to the most convenient points, 
and such further information obtained during the remainder of the 
navigable season as might very much facilitate the operations of the 

. . 
ensumg sprmg. 

15. These operations must, in that case, be commenced as early as 
possible in the season of 1 H;j3, and pushed forward with as much 
rapidity as is consistent with prudence, it being clearly understood by 
all the exploring- parties that they must return to the depot at Beecher 
Island in good time for their embarkation by the middle of August at 
latest. The object in view would be to examine the upper part of 
Wellington Straits, as far beyond NIl'. Penny's north-western advance 
as possible; and if Sir John Franklin did really proceed in that direction, 
it appears highly improbable that some traces of his expeditiou should 
not be discovered by the exploring parties in their search. 

16. If, on the other hand, Wellington Strait is found open and navi­
gable on the arrival of the expedition in the summer of 1852, we think 
one of the sailing ships, with a steamer, might proceed at once to take 
advantage of this opportunity, if the officer commanding should judge 
such a measure safe and prudent, and be thus placed in. winter quarters 
in a more favourable position for commencing the land search in the 
spring of 1853, but with the most distinct injunctions not to advance 
to such a distance as to endanger their return to the depot, or their 
communication with it in that year; and it should be enjoined with 
equal strictness, that, in the event of any irreparable disaster to the 
ships so proceeding, or if they should be too firmly fixed in the ice 
to be extricated during the summer of 1853, they are to be abandoned, 
and the crews brought down to the depot. 

17. It is, however, proper to provide for one possible contingency, 
namely, that of the difficulty of travelling at a late season rendering 
the retreat of the crew to Beechey Island more hazardous to their 
lives than their remaining by the ships (if they are only frozen up) 
a~other ~ter; and in that case the division at Beechey Island, which 
wdl be still amply provided with provisions, &c., must remain also until 
the following year; but this is, we hope, an improbable supposition, 
and our confident belief is, that with the improved equipmeDta and 



( vii ) 

appliances of all kinds which past experience will dictate, such an 
exploration may be made in the early part of 1853 as to enable the 

whole expedit.ion to return to England before the close of the navigable 
season. 

18. It is obviously impossible to provide in a Report of this kind 

for more remote and less probable contingencies; but their Lordships 
instructions to Captain Austin (Par. 4. and 7.) contain all the dis­
cretionary power with which an officer under such circumstances can 

be intrusted; and we conclude they will be embodied in any future Rear-Admiral Sir J. Ross. 

orders on the same subject. The Rev. Dr. Scoresby. 
Captain Austin. 

19. We have thought it right to request from the several gentlemen Captain Kellet. 

named in the margin their opinions on this interesting but most difficult sCapJtailn 0l~ml andney. 
Ir 0 III ,IC Jar son. 

question; and we annex their replies, to which we beg to call their Mr. W. Penny. 

L d h· tt t' Mr. A. Stewart. or s IpS a en IOn. 

20. \V e have also requested from Captain Austin and the officers Captain Ommanney . 
. II 1 d' h' tIl' . h . Lieut. M'Clintock. specJa y emp oye III IS rave mg partIes suc suggestIOns as to Lieut. S. Osborn. 

practicable improvements in equipments, clothing, and provisions a~ their Mr. Bradford, Surgeon. 
.. Mr. Brooman, Paymast('r 

recent expenence so well qualIfies them to offer. They are annexed to 
this Report, and will be found of considerable importance. 

21. Although our instructions do not advert to the report of the 
loss of the missing ships received from an Esquimaux named Adam 

Beck, and to which Sir John Ross in his evidence still attaches Evidence, A.461 to 467. 

much weight, we beg to state that a paper written by Adam p.53. 

Beck, in the presence of Sir John Ross and Captain Ommanney, and 
purporting to be the substance of information communicated to him 

by another Esquimaux, now in England, named Erasmus York, on the Evidence, p.I:l5. 

subject of the loss of the ships and the murder of the crews, has, on 
being translated before us by a Moravian missionary well acquainted 
with the Esquimaux language, proved not to contain a single word 
relating to this occurrence. 

22. Adam Beck's subsequent deposition, which was sent to Copenhagen 
for translation, has not yet been returned; but if their Lordships should 
consider any further inquiry necessary, \I'e would only express an earnest 
hope that it may be conducted separately, and not allowed to interferc 
with the early arrival of the proposed expedition in Barrow's Strait. 

23. With respect to the efforts now making to afford relief to the 
missing ships in the direction of Behring's Strait, we do not venture 
to offer any suggestions, beyond a hope that, until further accounts arc 

received from Captain Collinson and Commander M'Clure, the Plover 
may be kept fully provisioned. 

"\Ve have the honour to be, 
Sir, 

To J. Parker, Esq., M.P., 
&c. &c. &c. 

Admiralty. 

Your obedient servants, 

A4 

"\VM. BOWLES, Rear-Admiral. 
ARTHUR FANSHAWE, Rear-Admiral. 
W. E. PARRY, Captain. 
F. W. BEECHEY, Captain. 
GEORGE BACK, Captain. 
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Enclosure No.1 .. 
LETTERS from Captain AUSTIN, R.N., C.B., H.M.S. " RESOLUTE," and 

Captain PENNY, commanding the " LADY FRANKLIN," relative 
to the ARCTIC SEARCHING EXPEDITIONS under their respective 
Command. 

Letters from Captain A llstin. 

No.1. 
CAPTAIN AUSTIN to the SECRETARY OF THE AD:IlIRALTY. 

REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS. 

Her Majesty's Ship" Resolute," at Winter Quarters between 

S
. Cape Martyr and Griffith Island, 14th July 1851. 
Ir, (Received 30th September 1851.) 

1. Captain Penny having apprized me of his intention to despatch a boat to 
communicate with the whalers at Ponds Bay (although doubtflll of the success 
of the attempt), it is my duty to transmit a brief account, at least, of the pro­
ceedings of the expedition intrusted to my charge, since the 7th of July 1850, 
the date of report forwarded by the whaling vessel "Joseph Green." 

~. An account of our proceedings from the 7th of July to the 18th of August 
1850, and a copy of the memorandum, dated the ~5th of July 18.50, setting 
forth in detail the arrangements determined upon for accomplishing the object 
of our mission, were deposited at the summer encampment of the Esquimaux 
at Ponds Bay; and a letter detailing further movements from the 18th to the 
~~d of August, was prepared for transmission by the "North Star;" copies of 
which three documents are now inclosed for the information of the Lords 
Commissioners of the Admiralty. 

3. Captain Ommanney having examined \Volstenholme SOllnd, which proved 
to have been the winter quarters of the "North Star," and completed the 
search of the north shore of Lancaster Sound and Barrow Straits from Cape 
Warrender to Cape Fellfoot, looked into Port Leopold, and then proceeded 
in further execution of his orders; the "Intrepid" having in the meantime 
examined Maxwell Bay and Cape Hurd, finding at the latter place a record 
from the "Investigator." 

4. Captain Ommanney in the "Intrepid" reached Cape Riley and Beechy 
Island on the night of the 23d of August, and at both found positive traces of 
the missing expedition. 

5. On the 24th, Captain Ommanney was joined by the United States 
schooner "Rescue," and in the latter part of that day he despatched the 
"Intrepid" to search the shore to the northward, but she was stopped by 
the fixed ice about four miles beyond Point Innes. 

6. On the ~5th, a lead opened towards Cape Hotham. Captain Ommanney 
hoping to find a record there, despatched the" Intrepid" to take advantage 
of it, following in the "Assistance" and leaving Captain Penny, who had 
now arrived and communicated, to search the Bay between Cape Riley and 
Beechy Island. 

7. The "Resolute" having in her search been detained by weather, did not 
reach Cape Riley and Beechy Island until early on the morning of the 28th. 
She found between the latter and Cape Spencer the "Felix," Sir John Ross, 
the two brigs of Captain Penny, and the "Rescue," Lieutenant De Hdven ; 
and saw from the Craw's N e~t the "Assistance" and "Intrepid" on the 
opposite shore near Barlow Inlet. The other United States schooner "A(h·~lllCL:" 
was beset, a few miles to the northward, with a searching party to Cape 
Bowden, where a bottle, scraps of newspaper, sr.ot, a'Jd oth~r miscellane?us 
fragments were found, conveying the impression that it lJ<\d been the restmg 
place of a shooting or other small party. 
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xii LETTERS FROM CAPTAIN AUSTIN AND CAPTAIN PENNY. 

8. Previous to the arrival of the "Resolute," Captai!1 Penl!y had fo~nd on 
Beechy Island three graves and various other conclusIve eVI~ence, whIch, so 
soon as I saw them, assured me that the bay between C:ape RIley and. Beechy 
Island had been the winter quarters of the exped,ltlOn und~r SIr, John 
Franklin in the season 1845-6, and that there was cIrcumstantIal eVIdence 
sufficient to prove that its departure was, somewhat sudde,n; but whether at an 
early or late period of the season very dIfficult to determme. 

9. The absolute necessity fo; the "Resolute" be~ng hel~ ready t,o push 
across the strait at the earliest moment, to commUnIcate WIth Captam Om­
manney, determine further m,oveme~ts, an,d get to the westwar~, prevented 
travelling operations; but tl}e ~mmedlate ~elghbourhood of Cape RIley, ,Beec~y 
Island, and the coast of \\ ellmgton StraIt, to near Cape Bowden, wele satIs­
factorily searched, without any record whatever being found. , 

10. On the morning of the 29th the ice eased off sufficIently to enable 
Lieutenant De Haven to rejoin his consort round Cape Spen~er. ,On the 
afternoon of the 4th September, upon a southern mO,vement of the Ice,. ~he 
"Assistance" rounded Cape Hotham, and the Ulllted States expedItIon 
reached to near Barlow Inlet. And on the morning of the 5th another move­
ment enabled the "Resolute" and "Pioneer " to reach the western shore, 
but not in time to obtain security in Barlow Inlet. , 

11. We continued beset until the evening of the 7th, when the Ice gave 
way to the northward, and carried us in a critical position out of the strait to 
the south-east of Cape Hotham; this movement enabled Captain Penny and 
Sir John Ross to cross the strait. 

12. Early on the morning of the 0th another change occurred, when we 
succeeded in relieving ourselves fi'om the ice, and (with the brigs and schooners) 
gained the water between the Pack to the southward and Cornwallis Island; 
then pushed on, with raised hopes, to the westward, steering for the southern 
extremity of Griffith Island, and sighting in the evening the "Assistance" and 
tender in that direction. 

] S. On the morning of the 10th we reached an extensive floe, extending 
from the south-west end of Griffith Island to the southward, as far as the eye 
could reach; to which the "Assistance" and tender were secured. We joined 
company, as did the brigs; and (in the evening) the United States expedition. 
Captain Ommanney informed me that he had searched by parties on foot 
(unhappily without finding any trace) the shores of Cornwallis Island from six 
miles above Barlow Inlet to Cape Martyr; had found two bays on the south 
shore eligible for winter security; and had deposited on Cape Hotham a depot 
of twenty days provisions for ninety men, as also a small depot on Griffith 
Island (since taken up). 

14. Early on the morning of the 11 th, Captain Ommanney in the" Intrepid" 
was despatched to the south-west to ascertain the state of the ice; Captain 
Penny also proceeded. The former returned in the evening having only been 
a~le to proceed ~n a south-west direction about twenty-five miles. Of the situ­
atIOn of the bngs I was somewhat apprehensive, confident that (from the 
severe wea~her) they were to the so~th-eastward of their former position. 

15, Hav.1l1g now seen the uncerta1l1ty of the navigation to the westward, and 
the necessIty: for measures. of precaution and prudence with a view to subse­
q~ent operat1on~, I determ1l1e? upon placing the "Assistance" and tender in 
wlllter quarters In the bay, mIdway between Capes Hotham and Martyr; and 
addressed a letter. to the leaders of the two expeditions, apprizing them 
thereof, and propos1l1g th~t the whole f~rce might be concentrated, and arrange­
ments ma?e for eac? tak1l1g such portIOn of the search as under the circum­
stances mIght best l?SUre the accomplishment of the object of our mission. 

16. On .the mornmg of the 13th September, the weather having somewhat 
cleare.d, WIth the temperature down to plus 3°, we cast off; after much labour 
am! dIfficulty cleared the ba:y and stream ice, and reached open water east of 
G.nffith Island, whe.n the .V lllted States expedition were seen to communicate 
WIt? each other, ho~st theIr colours, and stano to the eastward. And it was not 
untIl some. short tIme after that I recollected Lieutenant De Haven had, in 
reply, appnsed ~e by letter of the probability of his return to America this 
yeal) :ut the clrcums~nc~s in which we were placed wholly prevented om 
~eallno up for commUlllcatlOn, The same eveninO' we made fast to the fixed 
Ice between C~p~ :i\Iartyr and Griffith Island, as b the only hope of finding 
secunty and ga1l1mg westing. 



LETTERS FROM CAPTAIN AUSTIN AND CAPTAIN PENNY. xiii 

17· On the morning of the 14th the" Pioneer" proceeded to examine the 
ice to the southward, and returned in the evening, reportincr no change; and 
early on the morning of the 16th the "Assistance" and te~der left for their 
wint~r quarters; the ., ~~solute" and tender remaining at the edge of the 
floe, m the hope of obtalOmg at least an amount of westino' that would be of 
good service whe.n carrying out spring operations. 0 

18. The bay Ice proving very strong, the "Assistance and tender got 
clo~ely beset, and drifted for some time helplessly towards the shore; upon 
which (as soon as the vessels could be extricated) Captain Ommanney deemed 
it advisable to return, r~ioining the same cyenincr. 

19. We thus rem~ined in hope that tpe "R~solute" aml tender might be 
able to advance, until the 24th, when, from the state of the ice and the low 
temperature, we were (after mature consideration) reluctantly compelled to 
give up all idea of prosecuting further, and to consider it imperative to look 
forthwith to the sec~rity of the expedition. The bay ice having this day slightly 
eased off a short ~Istance astern, we commenced to cut through the newly 
formed pressed-up Ice (between three and four hundred yards in extent, and 
from two to five feet in thickness,) between us and the lane of water, with the 
view of reaching the small bay a little to the eastward of Cape Martyr; but 
the new ice again making very fast, we were compelled to abandon the effort 
on the evening of the 25th. 

f20. Although it was now late to hope for much by travelling parties, yet, as 
the ships were well fixed, I determined to despatch a limited number to do all 
that could be accomplished before the season finally closed, as pioneers to the 
routes of the ensuing spring parties, and to gain experience. There <lI.:cord­
ingly started on the 2d of October a party of six men, under the command of 
Lieutenant Aldrich, with one runner sledge and thirteen days provisions, 
(assisted by one officer, six men, and one flat sledge, with three days pro­
visions,) for Somerville and Lowther Islands on the Cape Walker route; a 
double party of twelve men, under the command of Lieutenant l\I'Clintock 
and Mr. Bradford, surgeon, with four flat sledges, fourteen days provisions, and 
a depot for the Melville Island route; a small party under the command of 
Lieutenant Mecham, towards Cape Hotham, to ascertain if any of the expe­
ditions late in company were in sight from that position; and (afterwards) a 
small party, under the command of Lieutenant Osborn, to search the bay 
between Cape Martyr and the cape north-we;;t of our position; but the weather 
becoming severe, with a considerable fall of temperature (minus 17°), they 
shortly returned, having only succeeded ill placing the depots, Lieutenant 
Aldrich on Somerville Island, and Lieutenant M'Clintock on Cornwallis Island, 
to the westward about twenty-five miles, but without discovering any traces. 
Lieutenant Mecham found in the bay intended for the winter quarters of the 
" Assistance" and tender the expeditions of Sir John Ross and Captain 
Penny. 

21. On the afternoon of the 17th Captain Penny arrived in his dog sledge, 
when the spring operations were determined upon, Captain Penny cheerfully 
undertaking the complete search of Wellington Strait. Thus ended the season 
of 18.50. 

f2f2. The expedition was now prepared for the winter, and every means taken 
to pass as cheerfully and healthfully as possible this dreary season. Exercise in 
the open air, instruction and amusement, were resorted to, which, with the most 
perfect unanimity and a filiI' portion of conviviality, (under the blessing of 
Providence,) carried us through the monotony and privations of an Arctic winter 
in good health and spirits, for which much credit and my best thanks are due 
to Captain Ommanney, the officers, and all composing the expedition. 

f23. On the 18th of' February 1851 a communication was opened (by a small 
party from this expedition) with our neighbours to the eastward, (temperature, 
minus 37f,) and shortly after an interchange was made with Captain Penny of 
the detail of equipment for travelling parties determined upon by each .. 

24. By the 10th of'March every arrangement had been made and generally 
promulgated for the departure of the spring searching parties as early as prac­
ticable after the first week in April. All appeared satisfied with the positions 
assicrned to them, and became alike animated in the great and humane cause. 
With regard to myself, it appeared imperative that I should remain wit:1 the 
ships, and leave to those around me the satisfaction and honour of search and 
discovery, from their ages well adapting them for such service; the confidence 
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I felt in their talent and experience being fully equal to ~irect the. en~rgies 
and command the powers of the parties under them, and their determInation to 
carr out the tasks they were appointed to perform. I mus~, howeve~, say, that 

( 'f y h fieell'ng could exist in a matter of duty) I did not, without the 
I sue a ." . . . 

sacrifice of some personal ambition, refram from partiCipatIng In this great 

work of humanity. . . fi 
25. From this period all joined heart. and hand. In puttIng or ward every 

effort in the general preparation. Walkm~ exc~rsIOns for four h.ours a day 
when weather permitted, and sledge draggIng with the actual weights, were 
measures of training. . 

26 By the 28th of March each individual was ready, and the eqUipment of 
the siedges O'enerally complete. The best feeling and highest spirit . prevailed 
throughout °the expedition, and all now looked forward most anxIO~sly f~r 
the arrival of the time wben weather and temperature would permit theIr 
departure. . . " 

27. The weather being more promLsmg on the 4th of AprIl, ;\1r. M Dougall, 
second master, with one officer and six men, one runner sledge, and twenty days 
provisions, left to examine the depots laid out in October last, and to search 
and examine, with the view to a subsequent survey, the unexplored part between 
Cornwallis and Bathurst Islands. 

28. The temperature having arisen, on the 5th of April the final departure 
of the parties was determined upon for the 9th. On the 7th sledges were 
packed and made ready for that purpose; but fresh winds frustrated the 
arrangement. 

'29, The weather becoming more favourable on the morning of the 12th, the 
whole of the sledO'es, fourteen in number, (manned by 104 officers and men, 
and provisioned ~ome for forty and other for forty-two days, with an average 
dragging weight of '20.:1 Ibs. per man,) ,,:e,re conduc~ed un,der the command of 
captain Ommanney to an advanced pOSitIOn on the Ice off the north-west end 
of Griffith Island, where tents were pitched, luncheon cooked, and closely 
inspected by myself. The highly satisfactory result gave me great confidence 
and hope. All then returned to pass the next day (Sunday) in quiet reflection 
and prayer. 

30. A moderate gale from the South-east, with heavy drift, prevented their 
departure on the 14th as intended. 

31, On the evening of the 15th of April, the wind having fallen, and the 
temperature risen to plus '28°, all proceeded to the sledges; on arrival a short 
period was devoted to refreshment, after which all joined in offering up a 
prayer for protection and guidance; then started with perhaps as much deter­
mination and enthusiasm as ever existed, with the certainty of having to 
undergo great labour, fatigue, and privation. 

S'..? On the 24th another party of one officer and six men left to search 
Lowther, Davy, and Garrett Islands, and examined the state of the ice to the 
~estward. Between this and the beginning of May the temperature fell con­
Siderably (to minus 37°), accompanied by strong winds. 

3~. The whole of the limited parties returned at periods between the 27th 
Apnl ~1Lld the 19th of May, unhappily without any traces. They brought in 
c~s~altles of, men, wholly from frostbite, to the number of eighteen; one of which 
(It IS my pamful duty to relate) ended fatally. George S. Malcolm, captain of 
the hold of the Resolute, a native of Dundee, whose death was attributed to 
exhaustion a~d frostb.ite brought. on \~'hilst l~bouring as captain of the sledge 
Excellent, (Virtually, It may be said,) died at hiS post. He was a most valuable 
and much respected petty officer. His remains are at rest on the north-east 
shore of Griffith Island. 

34. During this inter~al four sledges, manned with twenty-seven officers and 
men, were ?espatched. WIth refreshments for the extended parties in their return, 
and t? assist them, If necessary, as also to make observations, fix positions, 
deposLt records, &c. 

35. The extended parties returned, unhappily without any trace whatever, 
~etw.e,~n the 28th .of May and the 4th of July, in safety and good health, but 
I equlll~g short perIods of rest and ~omfort to remove the effects of privation 
and fatIgue. T,hey wer~ out ,respectIvely forty-four, fifty.eight, sixty, sixty-two, 
anti (th~ ~lelville pa~tles) el~hty ~ays, ~ome portions of which periods they 
"ere (fLom ,heavy unft) detamed m their tents with the temperature ranging 
as much as 69° below the freezing point. 
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36. The details connected with these directions I must defer for a future 
occasion, the following being the general results, viz. :_ 

...; 
Miles of Extreme point 

" 
Name ..!!1 

Nature of Officer in command, OJ coast 
~ :; E searched. reached. 
" of "'" 0 party. -I 0 

~ ~ 

~~~IOld. I 
" Name. Rank. 0 sledge. .... 

'" Lat. LODg. Z ~ ;;; vered. 
, 

Along South Shore. 
N. w. 

ExteDded Erasmus Ommanney Captain 

=1 ~I Reliance - 60 480 205 - 72'44 100'42 
Extended - Sherard Osborn, Esq. Lieut. True Blue- 58 506 70 10 72'18 103'25 
ExteDded - "-m. H. Browne, Esq. Lieut. -I 6 Enterprise - H 375 150 - 72'49 96'40 
Limited - - G. F. Mecham, Esq. Lieut. - , 6 1 Succour - 29 236 80 - - -Limited - - Mr. Vesey Hammil-

Mate -I 7 1 Adventure· 28 198 - 23 - -ton. 
Limited - - illr. Charles Ede - A...,,,t Surg. 6 Inflexible - 20 175 - - - -Auxiliary - Mr. F. J. Krabbe - 2d ;\Ia~ter 7 Success - IS 116 - - - -Reserve and { G. F. Mecham, Esq. Lieut. _ I 6 Russell - 23 238 - 75 - -Hydrographical Mr. F. J. Krabbe - IZd ;Uaster i 6 Edward 18 110 - - - -

Riddle. 

Along North ShOl·e. 

Extended - R. D. Aldrich, Esq. ! Lieut. ,! 7 Lady Frank- 62 550 70 75 76'16 104'~0 
I lin. ! 

Extended - F. L. lVl'Clintock,Esq.1 Lieut. - 6 Perseverance 80 I 760 40 215 H'38 114'20 
Extended - A. R. Bradford, Esq. I Surgeon - 6 Resolute - 80 , 669 135 . 30 76' 23 106'15 
Limited - - Mr. R. B. Pearse _ r ,\Iate - 7 Hotspur - 24 208 I - - - -
Limited - - Mr. Walter W. May illate _ 6 Excellent - 34 371 1 - - - -
Limited - - Mr. W, B. Shellabear I zd ;Ua,[er 6 Deisher - 24 245 : - - - -
Auxiliary - ilIr. J nhn P. Cheyne lIlate - 7 Parry - I:! 136 ' - - - -

R. C. Allen, Esq. - lIlaster - 7 Grinnell - 18 1S7 1 - 25 - -
,,-,." { R. C. Allen, Esq. - Master - 5 Raper 7 H - - - -
Hydrographi- Mr. W. W. May - Mate - ., - - - 61 45 - - - -

cal - - Mr. G. F. ~I'Dollga1\ 2d :\1astcr 7 Endeavour 18 140 95 20 - -
Mr. G. F. M'Dougall 2d !\-laster 61 lleaufort - 18 I 198 - -I - -

1 -
87. The extent of coast searched will be seen more readily in the accom­

panying outline of a chart. 
88. Although all have experienced in the performance of this extensive 

undertaking considerable privation, labour, and suffering, and been animated 
with corresponding ardour in the great cause of humanity (which I earnestly 
hope will meet the approbation of the Lords Commissioners ()f the A.dmiralty), 
yet I feel it to be due to bring specially before their Lordships notice the 
great performance of Lieutenant M'Clintock and the crew of the sledge 
" Perseverance." 

89. I feel it will be a source of much satisfaction to their Lordships to know, 
that every officer reports the conduct of his men to have been most exem­
plary, which, with their untiring labour and the good feeling they exhibited 
towards each other, was highly gratifying. A.lld I must not omit to mention, 
that the crews are reported to have been animated by the example of the 
'unior officers, who were almost constantly at the drag ropes. 

40. It is my pleasing duty to report, that the health of all composing the 
expedition is highly satist:"1ctory; the sick lists dated the 12th instant being 
as follows,-viz. :-

I 
Rank or Nature and extent of Estimated time 

Ship. Sledge. Name. 
rating. di ... l·ase or injury. for being en-

tirely recovered. 

------
r Resolute - - A. R. Bradford Surgeon - Contusion and laceration of One month. 

muscles of leg, producing de-

I bility of system. 
Excellent - Thomas Browne Blacksmith Severe frostbite of right leg, with Three month. 

Resolute ~ gangrene. 

I 
_m"_ . .,,} 

received from 
"Felix," Sir J. Peter Ecclestone Cook - Scurvy and general disease of One month. 
Ross, for medi- body. 
cal treatment. 

Reliance - - Edward Privett A.B. - Frosthite and amputation of One week. 

Perseverance - James Rogers - A. B. - -
great toe of left foot. 

Frostbit!! of three fir~1; toes or Three week •. 
left fooL 

Adventure - WilliamColwill Blacksmith Frostbite and ulcer - - Ten days. 
Infiexihle - . Thomas Rumble A.B. _ - Frostbite of great toe of left 

foot, and inflammation of 
One month. 

right knee. 
One month. Suecess - - John Heydon - A. B. - - Frostbite of toes and plantar 

part of left foot. 
l'ioneer - - - - None, - - -
Iatrepld - - - - None. - - -
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41. The complements of the ~essel~ composing the expedition ~re complete, 
the vacancy in the" Resolute havmg b~en filled up by J~mes Fox, A.B., 
volunteer, (native of Portpatrick, Wigto~,sI1ll'e,) w.ho. was received on the 17th 
of August last from the "Prince Albert (CommiSSIOner Forsyth) for medical 
treatment. 

42. The navigation of thes: straits is in a remarka,.ble de.gree favourable, 
with the promise of release dun~g t.he presen~ mont.h. f1~e distance from our 
position to the edge of the fixed Ice IS about eight mIles, wIth several cracks. 

4.'3. Having now carefully considered the di~ection a~~ extent of t~e search 
(without success) that has been m~de by tl118 e,~pedltIon, a?d weighed the 
opinions of the officers .~hen at their. "extremes, I. hav~ arnved at the con­
clusion, that the expeditIOn under Sir John Franklm did 110t prosecute the 
object of its mission to the southward and westward ?f Wellington Strait, and 
therefore deem it unnecessary to attempt the prosecutIOn of any further search 
to the westward; and should the result of Captain Penny's labours unhappily 
prove as fruitless as those of his officers, I shall then without hesitation deter­
mine upon the return of the expedition this year. But, looking to their Lord­
ships intention, and the impression that may now become strengthened with 
reference to Jones's Sound, I shall consider it a duty, if the state of the ice and 
circumstances permit, to prosecute an examination in that direction. 

44. Large cairns have been built and records deposited at Beechy Island, 
Cape Martyr, southern end of Griffith Island, Cape Walker, in latitucle 78° 55', 
long. mt 2.5' ,,'., and in lat. 75° 0', long. 99° u'. Printed notices have also 
been deposited on the routes of the several searching parties. 

I have, &c. 
HOHATIO T. AUSTIN, 

Captain, &c. 

P.S.-In preparing this Report I have omitted to notice, that when rounding 
Beechy Island on the morning of the 28th of Augllst 18.50, the closing' of the 
ice hampered the vessels, and drove the "Pioneer" into shoal water, when she 
grounded, but she was shortly after hove off, without having sustained any 
damage. . 

As also, that on the Q."$d of May last Captain Penny reached the" Resolute," 
and Illade known to me that he had discovered a larO'e space of water up 
'\r ellington Strait, commencing about seventy miles N~ W. and N. of Cape 
Hot!lam. I. ha~ much regr~t tha~ om remaining strength did not admit of my 
placmg at hiS dIsposal suffiCient aid to convey a boat to enable him to ascertain 
its nature and extent. 

The resul!s of the operations, 'r!t~l the tracing of a rough outline chart, have 
been transmitted to the two expedItIOns to the eastward. 

(Signed) H. T. A. ' 

Enclosure 1 in ~ o. 1. 

CAPTAIN AnT.IX to C.\PTAIN O)L'\IAXXEY, H.}\I. ship" Assistancc," and the Lieutenants 
ID charge of H. ~I. screw tenders" Pioneer" and" Intrepid." 

Her Majesty's ship Resolute. 
General Memo. At 1 75 v 1 'V sea, at. .25 .. "-,., ong. 6] .34. . 

, . . 25th July 1850, 
In the hope that the expedItIon IS now not far distant from the Korth 'Vater and 

although the nature and movements of the ice are so varied in different seasons ~ to 
prevent any determination ?f plan until the. moment for acting arrives, it becomes desirable 
th~t what IS co~templated ID the prosecutIOn of the charge assigned to me (the accom­
plishment of whICh we all have s.o much. at. heart) should be made known. 

I therefore here promule:ate It, and It IS to be receI'ved as an add d t th . t f . d b h L d ~ .. en a 0 e lOS mc-
Ions Issue y t e or s Co~nuss~oners of the Admiralty, and carried out with all the 

earnestness and zeal that so hIghly Important a service demand-
The circumstance of a tender being attached to each ship est~bli h d . t 

the security and confidence necessary in the prosecutI'on of thO s e. ID( ahPhea meldaeure 
b fd b I I' IS serVIce w IC wou not e e t y one YeW' a one), and admIts of a partial separation for th bI 
more extended search being made. e season to ena e a 

",Yhen maturely considering the most probable route of the " di . • . 
return h- wa' of "L t S d," mIssmg expe bon m Its 

.' . : :mcae er oun or any of the crews that might have left their 
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vessels, it appears that they would have attempted to reach" Ponds Bay" either durin'" 
the late autumn of last year or the earliest moment this sprino- with the h~pe of meeting 
the whalers in the present season. "" 

Therefore, the ~'Reso~ute" and ~er tender will proceed to" Ponds Bay," and, if it can 
be done, commumcate wIth the natives there; then, as circumstances admit, search along 
that shore on her way to " Whaler Point." 

T!te ~' As~istance " and her tender will commence the search at "Cape 'Yarrender," 
co~tmumg It along the north shore to "'Yellington ~tr~it," examine its shores and 
~elghbourhood, and proceed as far up it as is practicable and sufficient to fully satisfy that 
It has, or has not, been the course of the missing ships; and as Mr. Penny in his success 
will traverse the northern part of this strait, there is <Tood reason to hope that so very 
important a doubt will be set at rest. " 

.Should any record be found of Sir John Franklin having proceeded in that direction, then 
it IS to be made known to the" Resolute" by depositinO" a notice thereof at either" Cape 
Reilly" or ,:' Cape Hotham," ~n~l the search J:.lroceeded with most vigorously; in which the 
" Resolute would hasten to Jom at the carliest moment. • 

But in the ev.ent of no record being found there, and as it is most desirable and impor­
tant that the shIps should meet, or at least communicate results of labours to this point, 
then the rendezvous to be between Capes" Rennell," " Hotham," and "Reilly;" the 
" Resolute" standing to the northward from midniO'ht to noon, and to the southward from 
noon to midnight, in the meridian of "Cape Hotha~n." 

But should the examination of" vYellington Strait" be speedily accomplished, withont 
traces being found, and the "Resolute" not having reached the rellll('zvouo, then, in order 
to save time, the" Assistance" will take up the search to " Cape, \' alker," examining its 
neighbourhood thoroughly as far as it is practicable, and, failing to obtain any information 
there or to meet the" Resolute," will then continue it on the north shore of the ., Parry 
Islands." 

And with a view to have a fixed place where there is good reason to expect that yc",eL, 
may reach, should the rendezvous, on account of time, fail for communication, then a full 
account of l)l'oceedings, with any change of plans called for from circumstances not antici­
pated here, must be deposited at thc southern cxtrcmity of" Griffith's Island." 

In the cvent of the" Resolutc " first reaching the rendczvous between Capes" Hennell," 
" Hotham," and" Reilly," then all endeavour will be madc to prosecute to the entrance of 
"Wellington Strait," touching at" Cape l{eilly " and" Capc Hotham" in order, according 
to circumstances; and, failing to meet there with information of ""\",i5tance" or tral'(',; of 
the missing expedition, will then pro,'ced towards Cape,; " Rcnncll " and" \\" alker," and 
not finding traces in that direction will continuc the scarch in the south-wcst towards 
" Melville Island," wh('re it would bc C'xpected to take Ill' winter ([llarters; Lilt if, on the 
contrary. traces are found, then the object of reaching ,. ;Ul,j rille hlallli " would he aban­
doned, and winter quarters takcn ill the south-west direction according to eirCulllstalll'e" 

Should" Assistance," on reaching' " Cape Hotbam," discover that" llesolutc" have pre­
ceded her, and gone on without finding any traces, she will then make the best of her way 
in the direction of" Cape ,Valker," and, failing to meet with" Resolute" in that neigh­
bourhood, or any traces, will without delay carryon the ""arch along the north shore of 
the" Parry Islancl.o." 

The" Resolute," failing to reach" Melville I",land " to winter, will endeavour to com­
municate in early spring with" ,Vinter Harbour," and should" "\""i,.;tance ., similarly fail 
she must do the same, independently of other searching parties that may be despatched, 
as it is most important that the results of the several examinations made up to thi" period 
should be communicated. 

On every occasion of visiting the shore a record must be deposited, comprising every 
necessary particular, taking as a guide my minute of the 3d instant, and being careful to 
note that a considerable supply of provisions and fuel is deposited at" vYhaler Point" on 
the western entrance of "Prince Regint"s Inlet:' 

With a view to attract the attention of any of the missing persons, care must be taken 
that during the periods of darkness, and when fogs prevail, periodical signals. are ma~e; 
rockets, blue lights, guns, llluskets, maroons, drums, gongs, bells, and whIstles bemg 
employed as most suitable, according to circumstances. 

When in open water a document is to be occasionally thrown overboard, containing 
the necessary particulars as detailed in the printed papers supplied. 

The substance and spirit of their Lordships orders under which I am acting must be the 
guide for any point not herein provided for, or whenever doubt arises, as they will govern 
ill the operations of the" Resolute." 

(SiO"ned) HORATIO T. AnTIN, 
" Captain, &c. 

c 
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Enclosure 2 in X o. 1. 

Captain AUSTIN to thc SECRETARY of the ADMIRALTY. 

Her Majesty's Ship" Resolute," Ponds Bay, 
Sir 18th August 1850. 

Havi~g reached Ponds Bay I deem it advis~ble to de'posi~ an outl~ne of the proceedings 
of the expedition under my orders, for the11' LordshIps mformatIon, although (as I am 
impressed that none of the whalers have been able to get to the north water this season) I 
cannot expect that it will reach England before the Autumn of 1851. 

Since my report of the 7th ultimo, our constant endeavom has ~een !o round the pack, 
and get to the north water, which has employed us under VarIOUS CIrcumstances most 
anxiously, and not without a fair portion of labom, until the period of reaching "Cape 
Dudley Digges" on the night of the 13th instant. 

Om object was to keep along the land ice until reaching the northern extreme of the pack, 
but large portions of it breaking away, especially about" Melville Monument," we were, 
from the time of arrivina' off that place on the 18th ultimo, more or less closely beset until 
the 10th instant, when, ~fter earnest exertions, the land ice was reached a little to the north­
ward of" Cape Walker," where the tenders were again able to act efficiently, and our 
advancement to be proportionately successful, having only been detained for short periods 
by three nips between Capes " Walker" and" York." 

Mr. Penny's expedition and omselves had been almost constantly in company from the 
19th ultimo until the 1st instant, co-operating together most satisfactorily in endeavouring 
to round the pack, the tenders towing the ships and brigs whenever circumstance~ admitted; 
but on the latter date the brigs, by a sudden movement of the fioes, succeeded in reaching 
to a lead, which, couplcd with the extreme vigilance, energy, and untiring labour displayed 
in all their operations, cventually enabled them to get into a large space of water under 
" Cape 'Valker," and they were not again overtaken until the evening of the 13th instant 
off " Cape York." 

The" Felix" and" Prince Albert" were fallen in with, on the 10th instant, a little to 
the northward of" Cape Walker," the latter communicating with us. Their successful pro­
gress in so short a period may be accounted for from the circumstance of the land floes 
having become detachcd, and their being able to keep along the coast in a lane of water for 
a considerable period of their route. 

While stopped at a heavy nip under" Cape Melville" on the evening of the 11th instant, 
these vessels joi~ed company, since which, in consequence of the calms and very light airs 
that have prevailed, they have been continued in tow in order to their being placed in 
the north water at the earliest moment to enable them to prosecute to the utmost this 
season. 

UP?n the ".Assistance" . communicating with natives who were seen in passing Cape 
York I~formatIon was obtamed, through the interpreter of the Felix (an Esquimaux from 
Hoh,temsborg), somewhat to the effect, "that in year 1845 two ships were there; that in 
., the year 1846 they were stranded and burnt a little to the northward, and the officers 
" and crews destroyed by natives." , 

Althou,gh, fro~ the difficul~y of interpreting, and the fact of several homs having elapsed 
~fter the mformatlOn ,,:as receIved by the ~squimaux interpreter before the serious part of 
~t was made kno~n, ":Ith other attendant cll'cumstances, I had much confidence in believ­
~ng th~t the sa~ mtelhgence was not correct, yet I felt that it should be most thoroughly 
mveshgated wlth?ut delay; an~ as Mr. Penny had just previously visited the place, I 
desp.atched C~ptalll .O~manney m the "Intrepid" to confer with him, and through the 
:edlUm 0lf hiS I?a.llls~ lllterpreter to make another most Ininute and careful investigation, 

e vesse s remammg In company to await the result. 
Perceivina' that the "Intrep'd" ft .... .. 

d~ I, a er commulllcatmO' WIth Captam Penny's expeditIOD, 
~asl p~olclee llldg. towhardsp': Cape York," I deemed it imp~rtant to go there also, and accord-
Ina' y 10 owe In t e" 10 " t k' . h and a Sh tl d h' neer, a mg WIt me the Esquimaux interpreter of the" Felix," 

e an man t e mterpreter of the" Prince Albert·" S' J h R d C n-
der Forsyth accom an i th I ' 11' 0 n oss an omma 

. d H P Y ng, e atter of whom had been present when the information 
was receIve. owever, before reaching " Cape York" th "I t 'd" . 
out of the bay having Capt i 0 d' e n repl was seen comlDg 
board who s~ted that ,,~~ ~lln~ey an, Mr. Penny with his Danish interpreter on 
" ori~inated in the Esquima:n!r theY' l;v~7ated the ~atter the~ were satisfied that it 
" of the natives' and a confu" f e understandmg but little of the language 
" visited there, with the circum:~~:c~ oi~h:e'~Nlsrthf lIr" ren.ny, w.ho had just. previously 
" from them) a little to the northward (most pro~ bl ~ar, ~.YIlng wmtered (as It appeared 

D . a y m • H 0 stenholme Sound "). 
urmg om return to the ships under "C D dl . 

Danish interpreter of Captain Penn ' ~I!e u ey DIgges," I had before me the 
"F~lix," the interpreter of the "P~i~c:x~gltto~, the Es<!uimaux interpreter of the 
the information) who had voluntarily embarked ~t;h C:d~. natIve (one of those W?O gave 
the leaders of the several expeditions most ca full ~ L? Ommanney; and, asSISted by 
all became satisfied that the statemedt h d re I? an mmutely sifted the subject, when 

a no relerence to the expedition under Sir John 
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Franklin, an~ appeared to originate, the first from questions put to the natives relative to 
two ,:e~~el~ I~ the years ~845 and lR46,-from the language of the Esquimaux of the 
"Fehx dlffermg to a considerable extent from that of the natives there,-from the circum­
sta,;!ce of some vessel (in all probability the" North Star") having been seen by the 
natlve.s, who appeared to recogni~e 0.o-r caps as similar to some they had seen there,-from 
~aptam Penny's two vess~ls havmg Just previously visited them,-from the death of a con­
siderable number of EsqUlmaux to the northward through starvation and sickness and the 
massacre of others in a quarrel ' 

Having returned to the ships, the whole proceeded the "Resolute" and "Prince 
Albert" in tow of "Pioneer," and the "Assistance" and "Felix" in tow of " Intrepid" 
(Mr. Penny's expedition proceeding alone,) till reaching a little to the northward of " Ca~e 
Dudl~y. Digges," when, t~,e pa~k edg~ showing much less compactness than before, the 
expedition separated; the ASSistance and her tender, with the "Felix" in tow astern 
standing along shore towards "Wolstenholme Sound" to ascertain if the" North Star:' 
was there, and then to proceed in the execution of her orders; and the" Resolute" and her 
tender, with the "Prince Albert" in tow astern, proceeding to round the pack on her way 
to " Ponds Bay." 

At noon of the 17th instant, in a thick fog, there being a light fair breeze, the "Prince 
Albert" was cast off, with the intention of proceedinCT, first to " Cape Hay," and then to 
" W?llaston Island" ~nd" <;ape <;harles ~ orke," on he~ ,~ay to "Prince Regent's Inlet," 
and If she succeeded m obtammg mformabon of the mlssmg expedition at either of those 
places, would use her best. endea~ours to make the same known to me at "Port Leopold." 
The earnestness and readmes8 displayed by Commander Forsyth in the object we have in 
view entitles him to my best thanks. 

Commander Forsyth informed me that when to the southward of" Cape Walker" on the 
6th instant he saw the American expedition, consisting of two schooners, about seven miles 
to the southward of him. 

I enclose herewith a copy of the memorandum given for the future proceedings of the 
expedition. 

It affords me much satisfaction in reporting that good health and high spirits prevail 
throughout. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) HORATIO T. AUSTIN, 

Captain, &c. 

Enclosure 3 in No. 1. 

Captain AUSTIN to the SECRETARY OF THE ADMIRALTY. 

REPORT of PROCEEDINGS. 

Her l\Iajcsty'R Ship "Resolute," Lancaster Sound, 
Sir 24th Augm't 1850. 

1st. In continuation of my Report dated the 18th instant (a copy of which is enclosed 
herewith), I have the honour to state, for thc information of the Lords Commissioners of 
the Admiralty, that in consequence of the wind having freshened towards the close of the 
17th, just enablinO' the vessels to lie for "Possession Bay," at midnight I left the" Reso­
lute" to search th~t place, proceeding myself in the "Pioneer" for" Ponds Bay;" but, 
owing to fo!!s, a gale of wind,. and being withou~ an obser~ation, that plac~ was not reached 
until the night of the 21st mstant, .when, du~mg a pa~tIaI clell;rance of the weather, the 
" Pioneer" proceeded about twelve miles up this bay or mlet, whICh, as far as the eye could 
reach, was clear of ice. 

2d. On Lieutenant Osborn landing here on the north side there was founu a summer 
encampment of the Esquimaux, including the material of several huts, with stores of oil 
and blubber, the blood of animals appearing quite fresh, giving evidence of the residence of 
the natives not 10nO' since, and the promise of their intended return next season. 

3d. Official docu~ents with private letters (addressed to the care of the master of any 
whaler) were deposited here as the most promising course to adopt for them to reach their 
destination, it being the custom of the natives to vi~it the ships before the breaking away 
of the land ice, and earlier than t.he ships can reach the shore. Some presents were also 
left here as an inducement to the natives to deliver over these documents as soon as an 
opportunitv offers. 

4th. Th~" Pioneer" then proceeded with all despatch to rejoin the" Resolute," her pro-
gress heing much retarded by a strong head wind, and she did not reach her until the 
evening of the 22d. ..' ., 

5th. During my absence the" Resolute" had commumcated with" PossessIOn Bay, and 
there found a record deposited by the "N o~h Star" on. the 9th instant, as well. as one left 
by the "Enterprise" in 1848, but unhappily none havmg reference to the obJect of our 

search. 
6th. Although the not meeting ~ith nativ~s at." Ponds Bay" (doubtless owing t? ~: 

late period of the season) was a conSiderable dlsappoilltment, and prevented our ascertallllll" 
C Q 
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f h h th they had heard anythin rr of the missing expedition, yet as the north 
rhom t fcmh'w ,~. cl rt " , . ,"ell a< the coaBt between it and "Possession Bay," has been well 

sore 0 t IS III e, ,I" ' . ' d I fi I . d h . d 'th t any sl'rrn or trace of them haVlnO" been dlscovere, ee convmce t at exammc ,WI ou" " 
nonc of Ollr unfortunatc countrymen have reached thes~ parts. 

7th. Therefore, from these examination~, coupled wIth. those undertaken. by Co~mander 
F th roceeded on the eveninO" of the 22d direct to commumcate wIth Port 

orsy ,we p ". d P d' B '11 h b fi 11 Leopold, fully satisfied that the coast between It an on B ay WI ave een u y 

searched. . b d h) P d' B . 8th. Althoucrh the passing of valuable tIme (from a weat ~r at on s ay IS a cause 
of considerable "regret, yet it will be satisfactory,. when ~rosecutmg he~eaf~er, to ~o~ that 

11 in our rear has been thoroucrhly searched, besIdes whIch the exammatlOn of ". ellington 
Strait by Captain Ommanney ~vill most likely occupy several days, the accomplishment of 
which is most important before I proceed to the wcstward. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) HORATIO T. AUSTIN, 

Captain, &c. 

No.2. 
(Captain Austinfurnishes Copies qfthe Inscriptions on tlte Three Graves found 

at Beechey Island, together with a Sketch qf the Three Tablets.) 

No.3. 
Captain AUSTIN to the SECRETARY OF THE AmIIItALTY. 

No.4. 
REPORT OF PROCEEDIXGS. 

Her Majesty's Ship" Resolute," off the Winter Quarters 
of Captain Penny's expedition, 11th August 1851. 

Sir, (Received 27th September.) 
HAVING reached the winter quarters of the" Felix" previous to her depar­

ture, I have the honour to state (with reference to my Report of the 14th 
ultimo), that, having communicated with Captain Penny, and fully weighed 
his official reply to my letter relative to the search of Wellington Strait made 
by the expedition under his charge, I do not feel authorized to prosecute (even 
if practicable) a further search in that direction. It is now my intention to 
proceed with all despatch to attempt the search of Jones's Sound. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) HORATIO T. AUSTIN, 

Captain, &c. 

No.4. 
Captain AUSTIN to !\II'. \VILLIAl\I PENNY, H. 1\I. Brig" Lady Franklin," and 

in charge of an expedition searching for the Expedition under Sir John 
:Franklin. 

Her Majesty's Ship" Resolute," off the Winter Quarters of 
Sir, Captain Penny's Expedition, 11th August 1851. 

~AVIXG this day .most. unexpectedly reached your winter quarters, and also 
havmg had th~ satisfactIOn of a ~ersonal communic~tion with you, I now beg 
leave to acquamt you. that, havmg maturely conSIdered the directions and 
extent of the search (wItho~t success) th~t. has been made by the expedition 
under my charge, and weIghed the opmlOns of the officers when at their 
extrem.es, I. have arrived at the conclusion, that the expedition under ~ir John 
Franklin dId not prosecute the object of its mission to the southward and 
westward of Wellington Strait. 
Un~er ~hese circumstances I now await your reply to my letter transmitted 

hereWIth, m order that I may make known to you, at the earliest moment the 
plans for the future movements of this expedition. ' 

I am, &c. 
(Signed) HORATIO T. AUSTIN, 

Captain, &c. 
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No.4a. 
Captain AUSTIN to Mr. WILLIAM PENNY, H. M. brig" Lady Franklin," and 

in charge of an expedition searching for the Expedition under Sir John 
Franklin. 

S
. Her Majesty's Ship "Resolute," off the ',,"inter Quarters of 
Ir, . Captain Penny's Expedition, II th August 1851. 

HAVING this day most unexpectedly reached your winter quarters, and also 
~aving had the ~atisfaction o!' a personal communication with you, I feel it 
mcumbent (prevIOUS to makmg known to you my determination as to the 
further movements ?f the expedition under l!IY orders) to request that you will 
be pleased to acquamt me whether you conSider that the search of WeIIiwrton 
Strait, made by the expedition under your charge, is so far satisfactory a~ to 
render a further prosecution in that direction, if practicable, unnecessary. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) HORATIO T. AUSTIN, 

Captain, &c. 

No.5. 
Mr. PENNY to Captain AUSTIN. 

Sir, Assistance Bay, lith August 1851. 
Y OUR question is easily answered. My opinion is, Wellington Channel 

requires no further search. All has been done in the power of man to accom­
plish, and no trace has been found. What else can he done? 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) WILLLUI PENNY. 

No.6. 
Captain AUSTIN to Mr. PENNY, H. M. brig" Lady Franklin," and in charge of 

an expedition searching for the Expedition under Sir John Franklin. 

Her Majesty's Ship" Resolute," off the Winter Quarters of 
Sir, Captain Penny's Expedition, 12th August 1851. 

I BEG leave to acknowledge the receipt of your letter making known to me 
the result of the search of Wellington Strait by the expedition under your 
charge. 

I have now to inform you, that I do not consider it necessary to prosecute 
(even if practicable) a further search in that direction with the expedition 
under my orders. 

It is now my intention to proceed to attempt the search of Jones's Sound. 
I have, &c. 

(Signed) HORATIO T. AUSTIN, 
Captain, &c. 

No.7. 
Captain AUSTIN to the SECRETARY OF THE ADl\IIRALTY. 

REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS. 
No.5. 

Her Majesty's Ship" Resolute," off the Winter Quarters of Capt. Penny's 
Expedition between Capes Martyr and Hotham, 12th August 1851. 

Sir (Received 11th September.) 

1. J; order that the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty may learn by the 
first opportunity the proceedings of ~l~ expedition intrusted to my charge, 
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I consider it advisable that a brief account (amended since ~he .. return ,of 
C t,' P nny) should be placed on board the "Lady Franklm, my brief 

ap am e ' £' d h" F I' " , re ort of the 14th instant having been tranSlerre to tee IX, m c~n-
se~uellce of the attempt to send a boat to Ponds Bay to commumcate With 
the whalers being relinquished. . 

2. Captain Omman~ey having examined ';' olstenholme ,~ound, which proved 
to have been the wmter quarters of the North Star, and ~om~leted the 
search of the north shore of Lancaster Sound and Barrow Straits from Cape 
Warren del' to Cape Fellfoot, looked into Port L.eop,old, .and. then procee~ed 
in further execution of his orders; the '~Intrepld havmg III the meantime 
examined Maxwell Bay and Cape Hurd, finding at the latter place a record 
from the" Investigator." 

3. Captain Ommanney in the "Intrepid" reached Cape Riley ~~d Beechy 
Island on the night of the '23d of August, and at both found posItive traces 
of the missing expedition. 

4. On the 24th Captain Ommanney was joined by the United States scho~ne,~ 
" Rescue" and in the latter part of that day he despatched the "Intrepid 
to search' the shore to the northward, but she was stopped by the fixed ice 
about 4 miles beyond Point Innes. 

5. On the 25th a lead opened towards Cape Hotham. Captain Ommanney, 
hoping to find a record th~re, despatched, .the "Intrepid" to take a?vantage 
of it tollowin" in the " ASSIstance ;" Captam Penny, who had now arnved and 
com:Ounicated. remaining to search the Bay between Cape Riley and Beechy 
Island. 

6. The "Resolute," having in her search been detained by weather, did 
not reach Cape Rilev and Beechy Island until early on the morning of the 
28th. She found between the latter and Cape Spencer the "Felix," Sir John 
Ross, the two brigs of Captain Penny, and the "Rescue," Lieutenant De 
Haven, and saw from the crow's nest the" Assistance" and "Intrepid" on 
the opposite shore neal' Barlow Inlet. The other United States schooner 
" Advance" was beset, a few miles to the northward, with a searching party 
to Cape Bowden, where a bottle, scraps of newspaper, shot, and other miscel­
laneous fragments were found, conveying the impression that it had been the 
resting place of a shooting, or other small party. 

7. In rounding Beechy Island we were hampered by the closing of the ice, 
which drove the" Pioneer" into shoal water, where she grounded, but was 
afterwards hove off without having sustained any damage. 

8. Previous to the arrival of the" Resolute" Captain Penny had found on 
Beechy Island three graves, and various other conclusive evidence, which, the 
moment I saw them, assured me that the Bay between Cape Riley and Beechy 
Island had been the winter quarters of the expedition under Sir John Franklin 
in the season 1845-1846, and that there was circumstantial evidence sufficient 
to prove that its departure was somewhat sudden, but whether at an early or 
late period of the season very difficult to determine. 

9. The abs,olute neces~ity for the "Resolute." bei~g held ready to push 
across ~he straIt at the earhest moment to commumcate WIth Captain Ommanney, 
deter~me furtber m~vemen,ts, and _ get to the westward, prevented travelling 
operatIOns; but the. m~medlate n~lghbourhood of Cape Riley, Beechy Island, 
and the coast of " ellmgton StraIt, to near Cape Bowden, were satisfactorily 
searched, without any record whatever being found. 

10, On the morning of the 28th the ice eased off sufficiently to enable 
Lieutenant De Haven to rejoin his consort round Cape Spencer. On the 
afternoon of the 4th of September, upon a southerly movement of the ice 
the "Assistance" rounded Cape Ho~ham and the United States expeditio~ 
to near Barlow Inlet; and on the mormng of the 5th another movement enabled 
the" Resolute" and" Pioneer" to reach the western shore but not in time 
to obtain security in Barlow Inlet. ' 

11. We continued beset until the evening of the 7th, when the ice gave 
• way to the northward, and carried us in a critical position Ollt of the strait to 
the south coast of Cape Hotbam. This movement enabled Captain Penny and 
Sir John Ross to cross the strait. 
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1~. Ear~y on. t~e morning of the 9th another change occurred, when we 
su~ceeded In rehevmg onrselves from the ice, and (with the brigs and schooners) 
gamed the water between the pack to the southward and Cornwallis Island; 
then p~shed on,. with raised hopes, to the wesfward, steering for the 80utlJe .... n 
extremIty of GrIffith Island, and sighting in the evening the" Assistance" and 
tender in that direction. 

13. On the morning of the 10th we reached an extensive fioe, extending 
from the south-wes.t end of Griffith Island to the southward, as far as the eye 
coultl reach, t~ whIch ~he "Assistance" and tender were secured. We joined 
comp~ny, as dId the ~rIgs; and (in the evening) the United States expedition. 
Captam .OmII?anney Inf~rmed me that he had searched the parties on foot 
(unhapptly WIthout findmg any trace) the shores of Cornwallis Island from 
six mile~ ~bove Barl.ow Inlet t~ Cape Martyr, had found two bays on th: south 
shore elIgIble for wm.t:r securtty~ and had deposited on Cape Hotham a depot 
of twenty days provIsIOns for nmety men, as also a small depot on Griffith 
Island (since taken up.) 

14. Early on the morning of the 11th, Captain Ommanney in the" Intrepid" 
was despatched to the southward and westward to ascertain the state of the 
ice. Captain Penny also proceeded .. The former returned in the evening, having 
only been able to proceed in a sO!Jthward and westward direction about twenty­
five miles. Of the situation of the brigs I was somewhat apprehensive, confident 
that (from the severe weather) they were to the southward and eastward of 
their former position. 

15. Having now seen the uncertainty of the navigation to the westward, 
and the necessity for measures of precaution and prudence, with a view to 
subsequent operations I determined upon placing the" Assistance" and tender 
in winter quarters in the bay, midway between Capes Hotham alld Martyr, and 
addressed a letter to the leaders of the two expeditions, apprising them thereof: 
and proposing that the whole force might be concentrated, and arrangelllents 
made for each taking sllch portion of the search as under the circumstallces 
might best ensure the accomplishment of the object of our mission. 

16. On the morning of the I Sth the weather having somewhat cleared, with 
the temperature down to near zero (plus 3), we cast off, after much labour and 
difficulty, cleared the bay and stream ice, and reached open water east of 
Griffith Island, when the United States expedition were seen to communicate 
with each other, hoist their colours, and stand to the eastward; and it was not 
until some short time after that I recollected Lieutenant De Haven had in 
reply apprized me by letter of the probability of his return to America this 
year; but the circumstances in which we were placed wholly prevented our 
bearing up fur communication. T~e same evening we made fast to th: fi~ed 
ice between Cape Martyr and GrIffith Island, as the only hope for findmg 
security and gaining westing. 

17. On the morning of the 14th the" Pioneer" proceeded to examine the 
ice to the southward, and returned in the evening, reporting no change; and 
early on the morning of the 16th the "Assistanc~ ': and tender left for tl~eir 
winter quarters; th~ ~'Resolute" and tender remam~ng at the edge of tl,le Ice, 
in the hope of obtammg at least an amount of westmg that would be of good 
service when carrying out spring operaiions. 

18. The bay ice proving very strong, the "Assistance" and tender got 
closely beset, and drifted for some time ~elplessly to~ards the shore; IIpon 
which (as soon as the vessels could be extrIcated) Captam Ommanney deemed 
it advisable to return, rejoining the same evening. 

19. We thus remained, in the hope that the" Resolute" and tender might 
be able to advance, until the 24.th, when, from the state of the ice and the low 
temperature (plus IS~), we were (att.er n:ature consideration) rel~ct~ntly cO.m­
pelled to give up all idea of pro~ecutmg further, a.n? to conSIder It. Imperat.lve 
to look forthwith to the securIty of the expedItIOn. The bay Ice havmg 
this day sliO'htly eased off a short distance astern, we commenced to cut 
through theOnewly formed pressed up ice (betw.een three and four hundred 
yards in extent, and from two to fiv.e feet In thIckness) .between us and the 
line of water with the view of reachmg the small bay a httle to the eastward 
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of tape Martyr, but the new ice again making very fast we were compelled 
to relinquish the effort on the evening of the 25th. ., 

20. Although it was now late to hope for much ?y.travellmg partIes, yet 
as the ships were fixed I determined to despatch a lImited nu~ber to do all 
that could be accomplished befor~ the season fi?ally c1o~ed, as p,lOneers to the 
routes of the ensuing spring parties, and to ga1l1. expenence. There accord­
ingly started, on the 2d of October, a party of SIX me~, under the cOl~"?and 
of Lieutenant Aldrich with one runner sledge and thirteen days provIsIOns, 
(assisted by one officer,' six men, and one flat sledge, with three days provisions,) 
for Somerville and Lowther Islands on the Cape Walker route; a double party 
of twelve men, under the command of Lieutenant M'Clintock, and Mr. Brad­
ford, surgeon, with four flat sledges, fourteen days provisions, and a ?epot for 
the Melville Island route; a small party under the command of Lieutenant 
Mecham, towards Cape Hotham, to ascertain if any of the expeditions late in 
company were in sight from that position; and (afterwards) a small party 
under the command of Lieutenant Osborn, to search the bay between Cape 
Martyr and the cape north-west of our position; but the weather becoming 
severe, with a considerable fall of temperature (49 0 below the freezing point), 
they shortly returned, having only succeeded in placing the depots, Lieutenant 
i\ldrich on Somerville Island, and Lieutenant M'Clintock on Cornwallis 
Island, to the westward about twenty-five mi.les, but without discovering any 
traces. Lieutenant Mecham found in the bay intended for the winter quarters 
of the "Assistance" and tender, the expeditions of Sir John Ross and 
Captain Penny. 

21. On the afternoon of the 17th, Captain Penny arrived in his dog sledge, 
when the spring operations were determined upon, Captain Penny cheerfully 
undertaking the complete search of Wellington Strait .. Thus ended the season 
of 1850. 

Q'2. The expedition was now prepared for the winter, and every means taken 
to pass as cheerfully and healthfully as possible this dreary season. Exercise 
in the open air, instruction and amusement, were resorted to; which, with the 
most perfect unanimity, and a fair portion of conviviality, (under the blessing 
of Providence,) carrieclus through the monotony and privations of an arctic 
winter in good health and spirits, for which much credit and my best thanks 
are due to Captain Ommanney, the officers, and all composing the expedition. 

QS. On the 18th of February 1851 a communication was opened (by a small 
party from this expedition) with our neighbours to the eastward, temperature 
69~ 0 below the freezing point; and shortly after an interchange was made with 
Captain Penny of the detail of equipment for travelling parties determined upon 
by each. 

'.2J. By the lOth of March every arrangement had been made, and generally 
rromulg~ted, for the departure of the spring searching parties as early as prac­
ticable after the first week in April. All appeared satisfied with the positions 
assiglled to them, and became alike animated in the great and humane cause. 
With regard to myself, it appeared imperative that I should remain with the 
ships, and leave to those around me the satisfaction and honor of search and 
discovery, from their ages well adapting them for such service and the con­
fidenc.e I felt in their talent amI experience being fully equat' to direct the 
en.erg~es and command the powers of the parties under them, and their deter­
mInatIOn to carry <:,ut the task~ they were. ap.pointed to perform. 1 must, 
h~wever, say, tha~ (If such a feelmg could eX.I~t In a matter of duty) I did not, 
Without the saCrIfice of some personal ambitIOn, refrain from participatinu in 
this great work of humanity. 0 

.25 .. From this period all )oined he~rt and hand in putting forward every 
eHort m the g.eneral preparatIOn. W ~lkmg: excursions for four hours a day when 
weat~e~ permitted, and sledge draggmg With the actual weights, were measures 
oftrammg. 

26. By the 28th of March each i?~ividual was. ready, and the equipment 
of. the sledges generally co~~lete. 1 he best feehng and highest spirit pre­
vailed throughout the expeditIOn, and all now looked forward most anxiously 
for the arrival of the time when weather and temperature would permit their 
departure. 
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9:7. The weather being more promising, on the 4th of April Mr. M'DouO'all 
second m~s~er, with one officer arid six men, one runner sledge and tw~nty 
days provISIons, .left, t? examine the depots laid out in October last, and to 
search and examIne, wIth the view to a subsequent survey, the unexploreu part 
between Cornwallis and Bathurst Islands. . 

28. The !emperature hav}ng risen, on the 5th of April the final departure 
of the partIes was determmed upon for the 9th. On the 7th the sledges 
were packed and made ready for that purpose, but fresh winds frustrated the 
arrangement. 

29. The weather becoming more filVourable, on the morning of the 12th 
the whole of t~l~ sledges, fourteen in number, (manned by lO4< officers and 
men, and pro~);,\Oned? some for forty and others for forty-two ddYS, with an 
average dragglllg weIght of 205 Ibs. per man,) were conducted, under the 
command of Captain Ommanney, to an advanced position on the ice off the 
north-west. end of Griffith hlaml, where tents were pitched, luncheon cooked, 
and al1 closely inspected by myself. The highly satisfactory result gan' me 
great confidence and hope. All then returned to pass tile next da \' (Sllllday) 
in quiet reflection and prayer. . 

80_ A moderate gale from the south-east, with heavy drift. prevented their 
departure on the 14th, as intended .. 

81. On the evening of the 15th of April, the wind having faIl en, anll the 
temperature risen to plus ]8°, all proceeded to the sledges. On arrival a short 
period was devoted to refreshment, after which all joined in offerinl2: up a prayer 
for protection and guidance, then started with perhaps as much determination 
and enthusiasm as ever existed, with the certainty of having to undergo great 
labour, fatigue, and privation. 

82. On the ~4th another party of one officer and six men left to search 
Lowther, Davy, and Garrett Islands, and examine the state of the ice to the 
westward. Between this and the beginning of :'IIa), the temperatll1'e tell COII­

siderably (to minus 87°), accompanied by strong winds. 

88. The whole of the limited parties returned at periods betwcell the '27th 
April and the 19th of May, unhappily without allY traces. They brollght ill 
casualties of men from frostbite to thc number of eighteen, one of which (it 
is my painful duty to relate) ended fatally. Geor!le S. :'Ilalcolll1, Captain of 
the hold of the" Hesolute," a native of DUlldee, whose death \\a, attribllted 
to exhaustion and frostbite brought 011 whilst labollring as captain of the ~Iedge 
I, Excellent, "( virtually it may be said) died at his post. He was a 11I0,t \'aluable 
and much respected petty officer. H is remains are at rest 011 the north-cast 
shore of Griffith Island. 

84. During this interval, four sledges, manned with twenty-s('ven officers 
and men, we~e despatched with refreshments for the extended parties in tlleir 
return, and to assist them, if necessary, and also to make observatiolls, fix 
positions, de~osit records, &c. 

35. On the 23d of l\1ay Captain Penny reached the" Resolute," and made 
known to me that he had discovered a large space of water up ,r ellington 
Strait, commencing about seventy miles N. W. by N. of Cape H otham. 1 much 
regretted that ou.r remaining strength did not ad.mit of Illy ~lac.in~ at his dis­
posal sufficient aId. to convey a boat, that he mIght ascertaIll Its nature and 
extent. 

3u. The extended parties returned, Ilnhappily witholJt any trace \\,hate\·er, 
between the 2Sth of May and the 4th of July, in safety and good health, but 
requiring shortrI?eriods ot'rest and comt.oJ t to r~move the t'.flects. of tile. pri\'ation 
and fatigue. 1 hey wer~ out respectl.vely,. forty-four, fifty-elgh!, SJxt~', a,nd 
sixty-two, and (the ~elvIile Island ,~artIes) ~Ight>: days,. some portl.ons ot willch 
periods they were (from heav>.; dnft) detamed. In th~Jr tents, WIth the tem­
perature ranging as much as 69 below the freezmg pomt. 

37. The details connected with these operations I must defer for a futurp. 
occasion, the following being the general reliults; viz. 

Tempera­
ture 38° be­
low freezing 
point. 

Tempera­
ture 44° be­
luw freezing 
point. 

Tempel'a­
ture 50° he­
low freezing 
point. 

Tempere­
ture 1." be­
low freeZing 
point. 
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I ~ I Miles of I 
Officer in command. " 1 coast - :; ;. 

J c;earched. i ~ Name of B "- sledge. c 0 ---- , 
~ :'Jowly I i 1 .; .... 

:Samt". I Rank. Z ~ ;;; disco. Old., 
I - erNl. I 

Extreme point 
reached. 

Lot. 

I 
Long. 

Extended 
E,tended 
Edellded 
Limited 
Limited 
Limited 
Auxiliary 
Reserve and 
Hydrographica) 

! Alollg South S/lOre. 

I 
Erasmu'i Ommanney I Captain - I 6 j 
Sh('rard O'illorn, Es·fJ. Licut. 
"'Ill. B. Browne, E",!. Lieut. 6 
Geo. F. lIlecham, E q. Lieut. _ 6 

Reliance - 60 
True Blue· 1 58 
Enterprize - 44 
Succonr ~9 

480 I' 205 
506 iO 
~75 ' 150 
236 80 
196 I 

S. 
-/72'44 
10 7~' 18 
_. i~' 49 
-I 

W. 
100'42 
IOg'25 
96'40 

Extended 

Extended 

I\lr. Vesry Hamilton )Iate • I 7 
::\1r. ehas. Ede As<;t S1lrg., 6 
Mr. Fk .• J. Crabbe _ 2d ~,"'ter 

Adventure -
InOexi!>l. 

28 
20 

Success 13 
Geo. F. 1I1ccham, Esq. Lieut. - I 6 , Russell 23 
:'III'. F. J. Krabbe 2d ;\Iaster 6 Ed ward Rid- 18 

dIe. 

17.'; 
116; 
238 I 
110

1 

I 
Rob'. D. Aldricl., E"I' 

- ! F. L. 1I1'Clintock, 

Along Nortl! Shore. 

Lieut. - I I' Lady Frank-
lin. 

Lieut. - I G : Perseverance :: ::: I 

23 1 

I=i 

I~I 
, 
I 

70 I 75 76'16 104' SO 

40 i215 74'S8 114'20 

Extended 
Limited 
Limited 
Limited 
Auxiliary 

I Esq. 
A. R. Bradford, Esq. Surgeon - 1 G 
)1r. R. B. Pearse - :\hte . j 7 

Resolute 
Hot<,pur 
Excellent 
Dasher 
Parry 

80 669 

241 208 
155 ' SO 76'25 106'15 

~Ir. Waiter W. :lloy ~Iate - 6 
~Ir. ,,'. B. Shellabe;r 2d :\lasler 1 6 
:l1r. John P. Cheme 31al<' 
R. C. Allen, Esq.' - Master 

Resene , R. C. Allen, Esq. - j ~lasler _- I 5 
and H", lIlr. Walter W. :'Ilay Mate .> 
drographical I' Mr. Geo. F.l\I· Douga'lll 2d illaster : 

1IIr.Geo.F.:lI·Dou!!all; 2dMaster ! 6 

- 1 34 371 
- I 24 1 245 

12 ' 136 
I Grinnt .. ll 

Raper 

Endeavour· 
Beaufort -

IR 

G 
18 
18 

137 
44 
45 

140 
198 

=1 
25 I 

95 20 1 

38. The extent of coast searched will be seen more readily in the accom­
panying olltline of a chart . 

.'39. Although we have experienced in the performance of this extensive under­
taking considerable privation, !auour, and suffering. and been animated with 
corresponding ardour in the great cause of hllmanity, which I earnestly hope 
will meet the approbation of the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty, yet I 
feel it to be due to bring ,-pecially before their Lordships notice the great per­
formance of' Lieutenant :\1 'l'lintock and the crew of the ~Iedg(' " Perseverance." 

40. I cannot omit to notice, that the mnner sledges have withstood the 
severe wear and tear of these journeys most admirably. I believe their con­
struction to have arisen from the experience of' arctic voyagers, but feel it to 
be due to express that the manner in which they are put together reflects the 
highe,t credit 011 the persons who did it, 

41. I feel it will be a source of much satisfaction to their Lordships to know, 
that every officer reports the conduct of his men to have been most exemplary, 
which, with their untiring labour, and the good feeling they exhibited towards 
each other, was highly gratifying; and I must not omit to mention, that the 
crews are reported to have been animated by the example of the junior officers, 
who were almost constantly at the drag ropes. 

4·~ .. ~ t is. my. pleasing: duty to repo~t, th~t the health of all composing the 
expeditIOn 1-0; highly ~atl~factory, the SICk lIst, dated the !Jth instant, being as 
follows; VIZ, 

I 

S~ip. Sledge. 
I Rank 

I rating. 

Nature and extent of disease 
or injury. 

E.timated 
lime lor being 

entirely 
recovered. I 

Name. 1 of 

-----------------------------,------1-----
Resolute Excellent - i Thomas Brown - j Blal:kc;mith 

Supernumerary ,Peter Ecclestone Cook 
rect'i ved J rom I 
II Feiix,"SirJ. I 

Ross, for me-
dical treatment. 

Reliance - Edward Privett - A. B. 

Perseverance James Rogers - A. B. 

Aaistance - Adventure 
InSelible -

-I' William Colvill 
- Thomas Rumble 

Blacksmith 
A. B. 

-I John Heyclou -

- None. 
- None. 

I 

Pioneer --1-
Inll'epid 

Success A.B. 

Sev~ral frostbites of right leg 
\\"lIh f!angrene. 

Seu"y and general elise... of 
body. 

Fro~bite and amputation of 
great toe of left foot. 

Frostbite of first three toes of 
left foot. 

Fra.lbile and ulcer _ _ 
Froo;tbite of great toe of left foot 

and iDftammation of right bee 
F rootbite of toes aDd part of 

Ie't Coot. 

Three mODthL 

Con"aI...,.,.,!, 
discharged 
Feli •. 

Three weeks. 

Ten daYL 
One month. 

0"" IIICIDIh. 
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43. ~he four \'cssels composin~ the expedition are in every way efficient. 
The detec~s ~f the " Pio~eer," consisting of twentY-Dlle top timbers cfIIshed by 
a heavy IlIp In the Melville Bay. have been made good. The machinery of 
both ste~m ve3se~s !las undergon~ repairs and numerous adjustments. and is in 
a state highly satisfactory. reflectlllg mllch credit on the enf!ineers. 

44. The c?mplements of the vessels composing the expedition are complete. 
the vacancy In the" Resolute" having been filled by James Fox, A. B., volulI­
teer, (native of Portpatrick, \\'igtoll~hire,) who was received on the 17th of 
August last from the" Prince Albert" (Commander' Forsyth). for medical 
treatment. 

45. Large cairns have been built and records deposited at Beechy Island, 
Cape :V1artyr, southern end of Griffith Island, Cape Walker, in latitude 
73°.55'. north, longitude 99°. 25'. west, and in latitude 75°. 0'., longitude 
99°. 0'. Printed notices have also been deposited on the routes of the several 
searching parties. 

46. Having yesterday been released fi'om om winter quarters, and Ill.)st 
unexpectedly reached to those of Captain Penny. I have now the honour to 
state, that, having materially considered the directions and extent ot the search 
(without succe~s) that has been made by this expedition, and weighed the 
opinions of the officers when at their extremes, I have arrived at the conclusion 
that the expedition under Sir John Franklin did not prosecllte the object of its 
mission to the southward and westward of \Vellington Strait. and having com­
municated with Captain Penny, and fully comidered his official reply to my letter 
relative to the search of Wellington Strait by the expedition under his charge 
(unhappily without success), I do not feel authorized to prm,ecute (even if 
practicable) a further searciJ in those directions. 

47. It is now my intention to proceed with all despatch to attempt the 
search of Jones's Sound, looking to their Lordships intention. and to the im­
pression that may now become strengthened with reference thereto. I have at 
.the last moment the satisfaction of stating that we are proceeding under 
favourable circumstances. I have, &c. 

HORATIO P. ;\ USTIN. 

Captain, &c. 

No.8. 
Captain O~nlANNEY to the SECRETAUY OF THE AD;\IIRALTY. 

Her :'Ilaje,ty"s Ship Assistance, 
Off Scarhor<Ju;;h, 28th S~pt. 185!. 

Sir, (Receiv~d 28th Sept.) 
I HAVE the honour to acqnaint YOll, for the information of my Lords Commis­

sioners of the Admiralty, of my arrival off this port with H.M. ship Ilnder my 
COllltl1anO, together with the steam tender Intrf'pid. ~fter procuring a pilot it is 
my intention to proceed towards Yar~nollth and t.he nver. ". 

We unavoidably parted company With H .1\1. shl]> "Resolute off Bnchanness, 
on the 26th instant, in a heavy g<lle of wind from the northward. On the same 
night we tell in with the ., [ntrepid," which had previollsly also parted company 
in bad weather off the Orknevs. I am happy to state that the officers and 
crews of the expedition are well. [ ha\'e, &c. 

No.9. 

EltASl\lUS O;\Il\IANNEY, 

Captain. 

Lieutenant OSBORN to the SECRETARY OF THE ADMIR_HTY. 

H.M.S. Pioneer. Grimsby. Lincolnshire, 
Sir, 28th Sept. 1850. 

I HAVE to report the arrival at this port of Her Majesty's vessel under my 
command, for the purpose of receiving on board a pilot. . . 

Having parteti company from the ~qlladron under C~ptalll ~. T. AlIS~I~, C •. B., 
on the 17th instant, in the North Atlantic. I shall. WIth a view to reJoIn hIm, 
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proceed with all possible despatch to Y armollth Roa~s, and there await such 
instructions as the Lords Commissioners of the AdmIralty may be pleased to 

I have, &c. 
SHERARD OSBORN, 

Lieut. in Command. 

No. 10. 
LIEUTENANT OSBORN to the SECRETARY OF THE ADMIRALTY. 

H.M.V. Pioneer, near Yarmouth, the Roads, 
SIR, 30th Sept. 1851. 

J BEG to acknowledO'e the receipt of your letter of the 2!:Jth instant, directing 
me to proceed with alldespatch to Woolwich.. . 

It is at present blow!ng hard from tl~e,S .. \\. I'~medIately the gale abates I 
will hasten to comply wIth your LordshIp s mstructlOllS. 

I am, &c. 
SHERARD OSBORN, Lieut. 

No. 11. 
Captain AUSTIN to the SECRETARY OF THE ADMIRALTY. 

REPORT OF PROCEEDI:\'GS. 
Her Majesty's Ship" Resolute," 

at ,\nchor off \Vinterton, Norfolk, 30th September 1851. 
(Received 1st October.) 

1. IN continuation of the report of the 12th of August last, transmitted by 
Captaili Penny, I have now the honour to acquaint you, for the information of 
the Lords Co;mnissioners of the Admiralty, that having arrived off Cape War­
render on the evening of the 14.th, in clear water and under favourable circum­
stances, I attached to the" Intrepid," Licutenant Elliott, and ~1 r. Hamilton, 
~1 atc, amI to the "Pioneer," .;\1 r. ,\1' Dougall, Second ~Iaster, for hydrogra­
phical purposcs, as also ,\1 r. 1\1a)" l\Iate, in addition, to the latter vessel, so 
that in the event of opportunity offering, the acquirements of those officers 
might be brought to good account; gave to each vessel six additional men; 
directed Captain Ommanney to erect a cairn and beacon and deposit a record 
on Cape ". arrender, and conduct the ships to the east shore off Baffin's Bay, 
and 1'l"IHlezVolls between W olstenhulme Sound and Cape York. Then, placing 
myself on board the" Pioneer," proceeded at 7. O. P.M. with both steam tenders 
along the west shore of Baffin's Bay; rounded Cape Horsburgh on the 15th, 
advanced along the coast to the northward about thirty miles, and then pro­
ceeded up by the northern shore of an extensive sound in a north-west llirec­
tion about forty-five miles. Here our progress was arrested by a fixed barrier of 
ice, that \\'as subsequently found to extend fi'om shore to shore a distance of 
twenty-five miles, The vessels then stood along the edge of the ice to the north 
shore, when, proving it impracticable to prosecute further, a cairn and beacon 
was erected and record deposited upon a remarkable conical island. After which 
we returned by the north ~hore, out of the sound, having closely examined both 
sides \\ ithout discovering traces of the missing expedition. 

'2. The mouth of this sound is about sixty miles broad, with an island at its 
entrance tw.enty miles in length, of which. Cape L~opold is a part. During the 
clearest penod we have had here, when dlsta~t objects were very distinct, there 
was ~"er,\' arpearance of a well-defined outlme of I,and stretching across and 
termlnatIllg It to the westward; anli although I am Impressed that there is no 
outlet in that direction, yet by no means assert such to be the case . 

. j. There is ewry reason to consider this the Jones's Sound of Baffin, although 
its northern shore is situated about ten miles to the southward of that upon 
the chart. 

4. The attempt was then made to get to the northward alon'" the west shore 
of Baffin's Bay, to satisfactorily determine this question; but the ice rendered 
it impracticable, for by this time it had set home upon the coast, and blocked up 
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both entrances to the sound. We therefore directed our course with con­
sidera?le difficulty through a nrifting pack towards the east shore, in the hope 
of bemg able to get to the northward and westward on that side but 
were arrested ten miles to the northward of Wolstenholme Sound on the' 20th 
a~d deta.ined .and beset in that locality until 28th, during two days of which: 
WI.t~ sprmg tlde~, and a heavy gale from the southward, our position was both 
CrItIcal and penlous. Upon one occasion the "Intrepid" was driven up 
on the tongue of a berg, where her rudder was carried away, the frame of her 
scre~ ?roken, and two of her boats run over by a floe, the vessel herself 
remal~mg for about 20 h~)Urs in great peril, during a part of which her stern 
was raIsed to a very consl(~erable extent, with the ice piling up forward to her 
gunwale, and all but fallmg on her deck, renderinG" it doubtful whether it 
~\'ould not become imperative to abandon her; but happily the wind fell, the 
Ice eased, and she became relieved in a most remarkable manner, apparentlv 
without having sustained any vital injury. . 

5. Being unable to rejoin the "Intrepid," and the ice easing to the north­
ward, the ., Pioneer" proceeded in that direction until rea chino' near! v opposite 
Cape Parry, the southern entrance of 'Vhale Sonnd, when~' she 'vas aO'ain 
arrested by the ice in close pack, and made fast, in ·the hope of being abl~ to 
examine that sound, which is of limited extent, (from 8 to lO miles broad at 
its entrance), takes a north-easterly direction, and was filled with ice. After 
remaining a few hours, the ice began to close from the southward, rendering it 
necessary to forthwith retrace our steps, to avoid being beset, and we proceeded 
in the direction of the" Intrepid." 

6. Having now, after filII consideration, seen the impracticability of prosecuting 
further to the northward or westward ill Baffin's Bay, without risking' detention 
from another winter, and the uncertainty of even then being able to do so, 
and considering that Baffin's Bay had been examined as far as the supposed 
Jones's Sound on its west side, and as Whale Sound on its east, without any 
trace of the missing cxpedition, in addition to which looking to the late period 
of the navigable season, I deemed it my duty to proceed at once to rejoin the 
ships, and return to England in accordance with the spirit of my instrllctions. 
We were, howerer, impeded a few miles to the northward of \\' olstl'llholme 
Island by a close alld heavy pack to the southward until the 1st installt, when 
a slight easing of the ice took place, enabling' liS, after consideraLle difficulty, 
and doubt, to rejoin the ships, the" PiollcLT" on the moming of the '2d, and 
the" Intrepid," not being able to take the same lead, on the Gth. 

7. It is here necessary to notice that had it not been for the capability of the 
screw propeller, most remarkable under such circumstan~e:, I do nO.t consider 
that either the passage across Baffin's Bay, or that to reJoll1 the sll1ps, could 
have been accomplished in the manner or time they were. 

8. Durin(Y the detention off 'Volstenholme SOllnd on the night of the '2Hth, 
the vessels ~ere visited by a party of five Esquimaux ",ith dog sledges; but 
apprehending, as spring tides were in operation, tl~at t~eir return to t.he shore 
miO'ht be cut off, their departure was hastened, after lIberally supply1l1,!!,' them 
witil useful articles from the presents furnished to the expedition for that 
purpose, as also with as much wood for constructing sledges as they could 
convey. The confidence with whi~h .these har.mless 'peopl.e. appr~ac?ed, the 
vessels. and their general manners, Illdtcated theIr havmg VISIted tne . t"orth 
Star" or some other vessel, and their state of health and appearance altogether 
betoken content and comparative comfort. 

9. On my return to the ships, I learnt from Cap.tain Ommallney. that in 
crossinO' Baffill's Bay they had been hampered conSIderably by the Ice, and 
were c~mpclled to pass to the northward of the Cary Islands. 

10. On the eveninO' of the 6th of September the Expedition proceeded to 
make the best of it~ ~yay out of Baffin's Bay and Davys Strait, being m~ch 
favoured by fail" winds and open water. Cape Farewell .was passed <;)11 the 16th,. 
since which we have been followed by fresh gales and hIgh sea until. abreast ot 
Aberdeen, on the evelling of the 26th, reaching this at 1. 30. P. iII. thIS day. 

11. The" Pioneer," in advance of the other vessels, parted company duril1~ a 
strong breeze on the 18th; the "Intrepid" dming a fresh g-alc and thIck 
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we::: her, while pressing the ships throllgh the Fair I~land passage on !he 2-?th,; 
and the "Assistance" during a strong' gale and thick \\:eather on: Kennalrd s 
Head on the '26th. The" Hesolute" has been delayed III proceedlllg between 
the Pentland Skerries, in the hope of the other \"es~els rejoining; but a!thou&,h 
they have not done so I have every reason to belIeve that they are elthel' III 

advance or in om immediate \'icinitv. 
12. The watchflliness c~IIerl (or i~ proceeding out of Baffin's Bay and Da,'"is's 

Straits, the Il1lexpected rilpidity of our passage .ii·om Cape F:~reweIl, combl~ed 
with a following St':l, have prevented the completIOn o~ a compl!~d chart sho",:mg 
the land newly discovered and that surveyed by tllls eXped!tlOn, but which, 
with other records and documents in detail, shall be transmitted at an early 
period. 

1 g. In concluding' this report, I feel it to be due to express my sense of 
the ready and zealolls co-operation I have received from Captain Ommanney, 
ancl of tile efficient state in which the ship under his command has been at all 
times heLl. To the officers ill command of the steam tenders, to the executive 
officers of the expedition, and to the heads of the respective branches, my best 
titanks :Ire due; and I Illust not omit to notice the talented assistance I have 
had in the navigation of the expedition from Mr. Allen, master of the" Resolute." 
Of all in their respective stations (not forgeting the admirable conduct and 
3pirited exertiolls of the crews) I cannot speak too highly, and hope, should 
their Lordships be pleased to think favourably of tlIe labours of the expedition 
intrusted to Ill)' charge, that they may be further induced to reward the 
individual merit. 

H. ,rhell looking to the return of the expedition under such favourable 
circumstances ti'olll the privations and dangers we have had to contend with, 
with the loss of but one life and so few casualties, I cannot close this report 
without expre~sillp; to their Lordships the deep sense that is generally felt of 
the great mercy and protection that has been vouchsafed unto us. At the 
same time I mllst evl'l" deeply regret, that, although aided by most liberal 
resources, Ollr exertions unhappily have not been crowned with success. 

15. Her~\\'ith I enci?se a chait descriptive of the proceedings of the steam 
tenders. whde prosecutIng the search in the northern part of Baffin's Bay, as 
also a tew sketches of some of the most prominent points. 

1\0. 12. 

I have, &c. 
HORATIO T. AUSTIN, 

Captain, &c. 

Captain AUSTIN to the SECRETARY OF THE ADMIRALTY. 

H.M.S. Resolute, Yarmnu~h Roads, 
Sir, lst October 1851. 

SIN~E forw~tr<ling ~y rep,ort dated 30th September, I have the honour to 
state, for the InrormatlOn of the LOI:ds Comrnis,ioners. of the Admiralty, that 
the Resolute, WIth her tender the PIOneer, have arrived in Yarmouth Uoalls, 
and that the Assistance, with her tender the Intrepid, are in the Humber. 

I have, &c. 
HORATIO T. AUSTIN, 

Captain, &c. 

Lieutenant ALDRICH to the SECRETARY OF THE ADMIRALTY. 

Sir, H.:-'r.s. Resolute, Yarmouth Roads, 

I I
· Sunday, 5th October. 

HWE t Ie honour to mform you, that this ship is still wind and weather 
bound here. 

1:he "Pione~r" has gone. on! havi.ng left here on Thursday forenoon last. 
I did not conSider myself Justified In detention of that vessel for assistance, 
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after per~sal. of Lieut. Osborne's orders from their Lordships in answer to his 
commulllcatlon. 

I had sh?rtened in sails for sea yesterday at noon, in consequence of a 
change (which has proved but temporary), when their Lordships order of 
the 'ld October arrived. I could not recei ve it on the Sel, when it reached 
Yarmouth, owing to very bad weather, the boat (lttemptin!'" to brinfJ' it off 
swamping in the surf. " ,., 

In obedience to the order I have hired the Royal Albert (tug) for 50l., 
being 201. less than first asked; but as I dill not consider myself justified in 
giving more, the company at last acceded to the terms; and I hope to weigh 
to-day, but the weather is still very bad and unsettled. 

All the vessels that worked in here with us are still at anchor. (\ ot a single 
vessel, I believe, (except steamers,) has gone south since our arrival. 

No. 14. 

I have, &c. 

ROBERT D. ALDRICH, 

Senior Lieutenant, &c. 

SECRETARY of the ADMIRALTY to CommodOl'e EDE~. 

Sir, Admiralty, 8th October 1851. 
I AM commanded by my Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty to acquaint 

you, that you are to make known to C<lptain Austin of H.}I. S. "Hesolute " 
the satisfaction their Lordships have experienced at receiving- satlStilctolY reports 
of the exempl<lry conduct of the officers and mell of Her .\Jajesty's ships under 
his command, during the period of their servitnde in the Polar Seas;. and th~t 
it is their Lord~hips desire that, before these ships are paid off; Captalll AII,tl!1 

should convey their Lordships approbation of their condllct to them, more 
expressly to those officers and men who, with so milch zeal, energ-)" and per­
$everanee, conducted the land expeditions, under circumstances of great trial 
and difficulty. 

I am, &c. 

(Signed) \r. A. B. I-lAmLToN. 

No. 15. 
Captain AUSTIN to the SECRETAIlY OF THE ADmRALTY. 

Sir, Woolwich. 24th October 1851. 
I HAVE the honour to transmit herewith the remaining part of the cor­

respondence that passed between the leaders of other expeditions and myself: 
as well as the principal orders given during the execution of the late service 
intrusted to my char<Te, not already forwarded, the whole of which 1 request 
you will be pleased t;' Jay before the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty. 

2. I regret that from the duties attending the paying off' of the expedition 
I have been unable to forward these documents earlier. 

S. On the other side is a list speci(ying the purport of each. 

I have, &c. 

(Signed) HORATIO T. :\(J'r1~, 
Captain, ~c. 

D4 
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The LIST referred to. 

Page 

N 1 C t 'n Ommanney Report of Proce£'dings while detached between the 15th of o. .- ap al. C . A ., L f A k 
August and the 10th of September 1850, and aptam ustm setter 0 c now- .. 
ledgment - - - - xun 

No. 2.-Letter to American and. Captain Penny's Expeditions proposing a union and deter. 
mination of plan for further movements, lith September 1850. Letter from 
American Expedition in reply, with Copy of Orders - - - xxxv 

No. ::I.-Order to Captain Ommanney to take up Winter Quarters and carry out Search of ... 
Wellington Strait, Cape Walker, &c., 14th September 1850 - - - UXVlll 

No.4.-Three Letters; Two from Captain Austin and One from Captain ppnny. Interchange 
of Plans of Search by Spring Travelling Parties, 1851 - xxxix 

No. 5.-Three Letters. First, Captain Austin furnishing Sir John Ross and Captain Penn.Y 
with the Rpsult of his liearch by Spring Parties to 21st June 1861. S .. cond, SIr 
John Ro~s in acknowledgment, and forwarding Commandpr Phillipps' Journal of 
Proceeding~. Third, Captain Austin acknowledging the Receipt of Commander 
Phillipps' Journal - xlii 

No. 6.-Two Letters. First, Captain Austill furnishing Sir John Ross and Captain Penny 
with the Result of Search by the last of his Spring Travelling Parties. Second, 
Sir John Ross ill acknowledgment • xliii 

No . ., .-Three Letters. First, Captain Austin furnishing Captain Penny and Sir John Ross 
with a tracing of a rough outline Chart of his Spring Operations. Second, Sir John 
Ros. in acknowlerlgment. Third, Captain Penny forwarding to Captain Austin an 
Outline of his Spring Search - xliv 

No. 8.-Two Letters. First, Captain Austin forwarding Official Documents to Sir John Ross 
for Conveyance to England, &c, Second, Sir John Ross in acknowledgment - xliv 

No. g.-Order to Captain Ommanney to conduct the Two Sailing Ships to a Rendezvous 
during the absence of the Steam Tenders to search Jones's Sound, 14th August 
IMl - ~v 

(Signed) HORATIO T. AUSTIN. 

Enclosure 1 in No. 15. 
Captain O)HL\NXEY to Captaiu AUSTIN. 

Her Majesty's Ship" Assistance," off Griffiths Island, 
Sir, I oth September 1850. 

Having the satisfaction of rejoining you, aftcr bcing detached to prosecute the search 
of Sir John Franklin's expedition along the northern shores of Barrow Strait, I beg to lay 
before you the following report of my proceedings. 

After parting company with you on the 18th ultimo off Cape Dudley Diggp-s, I pro­
ceeded to '\Yolstenholm Island, and then went on board H.M. Steam Tender "Intrepid" 
for the purpose of tracing out the ship which the Esquimaux at Cape York had seen in 
",,' ol,tenholm Sound during the winter. e mler the guidance of the native, who I entered 
at Cape York, two deserted Esquimaux Settlementg (Naksakus inside of Cape Athol) 
were fir:,t examined, which had been inhabited last winter, but had been abandoned in 
consequence of the ravages which some epidemic had inflicted and carried off several of 
the tribe. On landing, we found several dead bodies still unbnried; in one hut there 
was a heap of six bodies, one was that of an infant, they werc lyinO' over each other in 
a state of decomposition, clothed in the usual Esquimaux dress of ~kin; there were also 
several recent graves, and one of them proved to belong' to a relative of our guide, who 
evinced much grief on seeing an attempt to disturb it. 

The tribe had located at Cape York in consequence of this afHictinO' visitation; about 
the huts several fragments of " naval stores" were picked up. " 

After this examination I proceeded to a bay at the bottom of the Sound, about thirteen 
miles from Cape Athol, formed by the projection of an isthmus, at the extremity of which 
a remarkable ~ount rose fr~m the 8~a; three cail'J~s were seen in different parts of the 
bay, all of whICh were exammed. '" e were first dIrected to the spot where the ship had 
laid. On examining the cairns a document was found in each, statinO' that the" North 
Star" had wintered in the bay, one of which I enclose. K ear one or" these cairns were 
~nterred four of her crew! .over whose remains were neatly constructed graves. Having 
mserted a record of my ~181t on ~Ir. Saunder's document, the cairn was rebuilt and left 
in the same state I found It. 

On the ist~mus was an~ther dese~ed settlement, called" Ommak," where we picked 
up several articles of clothing belongmg to the people of the" :x orth Star" apparently 
left behind in a hurry. ' 
. Having th~s succee?ed in ascer.taining the "winter quarters" of the Korth Star, no 

time was lost III returu~~g to the ship to proceed in execution 6f your orders. 
At.the re'l.uest 0\ ~Ir John Ross, I allowed Commander Phillips, RX., of the "Felix," 

and his ESql~unaux: mterpreter, to accompany me on this occasion. Having deposited a 
record on "olstenholm Island at i A.M. on the 16th, we proceeded to the westward, 
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tnking the" Felix," Sir .Tohn lto,,;:, astern of m the tender towinO' hoth wssels; after 
proceeding ten miles, we fell in with loose icc and 'detached floes. '" 
. ~t noon on the. following day we reached clear water. Capes Leopold and Cbrmce 
m sight; the" Felix " ~eing placed in a position to proceed without further obstruction 
was cast off. I left With Sir John Ross a letter addrcssed to you or in case of her 
mee~ing the ".North Star," to. the Secretary of the Admiralty, a cop; of which I enclo:3e. 
~n It I abstailled from m~klllg any reference to the story raised by Sir John U"",'s 
mterpreter, . because ~ conSidered the matter had been entirely put at rest after my 
s~bse<J,uent lllterroga~lOn of the natives at Cape York with Captain Penny on the 14tll, 
01 wh~ch you were mformed; and lIlore particnlarly on finding that the" X orth ~tar" 
had willtered among those people without hearing of the circumstanep.. 
. We entered Lancaster Sound. on the I.Sth of Augnst; on rounding Cape 1i~ arrenc1cr 
It .blew too harc1 to effect a landlllg; keeplllg along the land I discovered a harbour nine 
miles 'Y.N:'Y. (tru~) from the Cape, and lanc1ed on a tongue of land which formed 
the protectIOn of this harbour; here a record was left, and a beacon erectec1 on a con­
spicuous hill. 

As no prev~ou.s menti~n appears of this harbour, it may be of interest to future vuyagers 
to know that It IS capacIOus and well sheltered,. at that time perfectly free from icc; anti 
I have every reason to b~lieve tha~ there is good anchorage from the appearance of the 
shores and the few ~oundIr!gs obtamed at the entrance. At some former period it IlIU,t 
have been a faVOUrIte resort of the natives, from thc remains of an extensive amI "lli:­
stantially built settlement found there, aboundinO" with the bones of variouci anilllals on 
which they subsistec1. b 

I continued close along the northern coast of Barrow Strait, keeping within two miles of 
the beach, sufficiently ncar to perceive any cairn or beacon; near Cape Bullen I ender.youreil 
to land, but owing to the increase of the wind alHI sea was fi'ustrated in the attempt. 

On the 19th, off' Cape Fcllfoot, I was induced to haul off' the land, in consequence 
of the heavy gale ?l?wing from E.S.E., which blew with great violence during the night, 
when the "Intrepid' parted company. 

On the 20th, when the gale moderated, we Juund oursehe,; at the entrance uf Princc 
Regent's Inlet. 'Vith a view of eommunieating with the" Xorth Star" I lookc,] intu 
Port Leopold, and filUnd the " Prince Albert;' Comulander Fur,;yth, lying to olf the 
port, with a boat at 'Yhaler Point. At this time the harbour was full of ice; the hut and 
boat left there by Sir James Ross's expedition appeared to be in perfect pre . .;cnatioll. 
Baffling winds detained us off'Leopold Island all the day of' the ~ 1,t. 

On the 22d the "Intrepid" rejoined us off' Cape Hurd (the appointed remlczvou,;), 
Lieutenant Cator having, during our separation, most judiciously examined ,\lax wdl 
Bay and Cape Hurd, when he found the record deposited there by Sir Jamcs Huss. . \.t 
2 p.m., when off Had stock Bay, our progress was arrested by a body of elo:dy packed icc', 
extending across the strait. 

On the 23d, from Cape Hicketts, I proceeded in the tender, through thc slack ice, cl",;e 
along the coast towards Cape Riley, and "uceceded in effecting a landing at alJout a lIIile 
from the Cape, aided by a party of officers to search for traces; walking along the beach 
under Cape Riley, I had the satist:'tction of meeting with the first traces of Sir John 
Franklin's expedition, consisting of fragments of naval "tore:', ragged portions of clothing, 
preserved meat tins, &e., which had evidently been there for some time: t\\·" or three 
years at least, and the spot bore the appearance of an encampment; the varIOUS fragmcnts 
were collected, and a close search made for a record, but all in vain; a beacon was erected 
on Cape Riley depositing a record of this sueer"". 

A cairn being seen on the summit of Becehey Island, the steam teutler wa,; pressed tlH,<'l:g:1 
the packed ice to examine it, in the full confidence that some documcnt would b~ found 
containing information of the missing expedition. '" e were obligetl to lanc1 011 the ,.,,,.-1 
side of the island, as the bay between lleechey Island and Cape Riley was full of fixed 
ice; more fra"ments of stores were found on the island, but on pulling down the cairn, 
to my great disappointment, no record eoulc1 bc found, though it was. carefully examined, 
and the site dug out with a spade. A few small shot were found 1.YI~g O? ?' flat stone 
which formed the top of the cairn; it was relmilt, amI a document depOSited mit. 

From the top of Beechey Islanc1 I had an extensive vicw of 1Vellington Channel a.ml 
Cornwallis Islanc1; nothin''" but a close body of ice could be ,ccn, an unbroken field of lee 
eoverinO" an extensive se~ to the northward, but no lanc1 visible beyond. During the 
search the icc began to stream ofl:~ the current c:lrrying it .past Cape ~{il~y into Barrow 
~trait. As the ship was some miles to leeward, I lcft the Island at llildmght to retufll, 
fearing a further delay might involyc a separation. . 

The extraordinary circumstance of pickilig up these trac~s, '~Ithout any sor~ of reeord, 
was naturally most perplexing; I resolved on a closer exanunatlOn of the localIty, to. solve 
the mystery, as soon as the ship could approach. From the nature of the traces, It was 
evident that a party had passed a considerable .time on the spot. ., 

On my return to the ship on the mornli1O" of the 24th, the Umted ~tatcs schooner 
"Rescue" had joined compa;y, she had parted from her consort in the late gale. We 
communicated, and her commander expressed his readiness to make a further search "f the 
const. In the afternoon we were enabled to work up to Cape Riley, when I sent a p~rty 
on shore with spade~ to search the ground, but was l!nsu~cessful. In the mealltl~e 
Captain Penny's expedition and another 8chooncr hove III Sight. A strong north WJllll 

E 
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. was clearing the ice out of the cbannel, I therefor~ despatched the "Intrepid" to search 
tbe coast to the northward; she returned at midmght, unab~e to proceed more than four 
mile:; beyond Cape Innis, prevented by an un~roken field of Ice. . 

On the 25th a lead opened across th~ straIt to\~ards Cape Hotham; I. therefo.re conSI­
dered it my duty to avail myself of thIs opportumty to carry out your ms~r:uctlOns, ~d 
examinc a spot where I felt confident a record would be left by the expedItion. on t~elr 
progress westward. The" Intrepid" was dispat?hed un.der steam to execute thI~ Bernc~ 
whilst we followed under canvas~. I adopted thIS step m consequence of Penny s expedI­
tion the United States expedition, and another schooner being off Beechey Island, feeling 
assu'red that they would take up a further examinatio? of the. eastern shores ot W ~llington 
Channel. During the day Captain Penny commum~at~d with me, and havmg m!ormed 
him of my intention, be returne(~ to search the ba:y mSlde of Beechey Is!and. " e kept 
alonO' the solid field of ice extendmg from Cape Inms to Barlow Inlet, which bounded the 
hori~on to the northward, and where no land was visible. 

vVben six miles east of Barlow Inlet, the pack ice closed in on the main floe, and 
stopped my furtber progress, where the" Intrepid" rejoined us. 

Lieutenants Cator and Mecham had landed near Barlow's Inlet, and after a laborious 
walk they examined Cape Hotham and the eoast for some miles beyond, but no traces 
were met with; the blade of an oar belonging to a whaler, marked "Friendship" was 
picked up. . 

I.n this position we continued be~et in W cll.ington Channel f~~m the 25th ul~lmo to tbe 
3d mstant, strong south-easterly wmds and thICk weatber prevmlmg. We sustamed several 
pressures from the ice, which generally occurred at the change of tide; it was of a thicker 
and heavier nature than any I had yet seen. The head of the "Intrepid's" rudder was 
injured by one of the pressures, which defect was made good out of her old bowsprit. 
When the weather permitted the officers were dispatched to examine the coasts about 
Barlow Inlet. 

A partial opening on the 3d instant enabled us to get to within a mile of Barlow Inlet, 
when a furtber search was made and a cairn erected on the south entrance; the inlet 
at this time was full of ice, and it could not be recommended as a winter quarters owing 
to the contractcd entrance. 

The grounded ice wa,; of heavy dimcnsions, and another movement on tbe 4th enabled 
us to round Cape Hotham with the aid of the steam tender towing us through loose ice. 
A~ a measure of precaution for the relief of any party wbo should (by any unfortuitous 

circumstance) stand in need of it, I caused a depot of provisions to the amount of twenty 
days allowance for ninety men to be prepared; thcse articles were landed under the able 
superintendence of Lieutenant J\l'Clintock without loss of time between Cape Hotham and 
the bluff west of it; a beacon \ntB placed half a mile west of this depot; here the icc 
closed round us and drifted us back close under the capc. 

On the 5th at the change of tide, by means of boring through slack ice, with a fresh 
leading wind, running close along the edge of thc grounded ice, and frequently within a 
cable of the shore, I gained a position six milcs we"t of Cape Hotham, near to a point of 
land where we secured to some old fixed ice which filled an indenture of the coast; here 
we were compelled to hold on, the ice being closely packed in all directions, drifting the floes 
close by the ship, and requiring every means we could adopt to secure her from being driven 
on the point; these masses were driving past us at the rate of two knots an bour whenever 
the tide set to the eastward. In this critical situation the ship received considerable 
pressure, and on one occasion she was forced up four feet forward, carrying away our 
stream anc?or twice; the ship was in imminent danger of being driven on the point, 
against which the floes were grinding and piling the ice to the heiO'ht of thirty feet, 
fortunately she was brought up in time; there were twenty fathom:' water at a cablc's 
length from the point . 

. The coast was here examined for several miles by parties of officers. A sudden shift of 
wmd from the northward on the 7th instant released us from tbis unpleasant position, 
when I despatched the "Intre~id" along the coast, and on this occasion a well sheltered bay 
open to the. sou~h was exammed and found in every respect wcll adapted for a winter 
qu~rter; this circumstance a~'or~ed me some confidence in proceeding, as from tbe 
untayourable aspect of the naVIgatIon and thc lateness of the season we could not expect 
to navigate for many days longer. 

On the morning of the 8th the wind had cleared a passage along the coast and enabled 
us to pr?ceed to G:iffiths Island, where I found an unbrokcn floc fixed from that to 
CornwallIS Island, With no means of rounding Griffiths Island for the main pack. 

To the soutbward of Cape. Martyr I ~anded with a party of officers and searched the 
co~s~; here a ~eep bay was discovered, WIth the .remains. of a large Esquimanx settlement 
at Ib entran.ce '. nume~ous .bones ?f the whale stIll standmg erect in the gronnd. This bay 
was filled WIth Ice, ~vhlch, If reqUIred, could be cut into for a winter station. The southern 
shores of Cornwallis Island were thus examined from six: miles north of Barlow Inlet to 
Cape Martyr. 
Th~ pack having drifted away, on the morning of the 9th we reached the S.W. point 

of Griffiths Island where a party of officers was again landed to search for traces and erect 
a beacon; here. I also p!aced anothe~ small depOt of provisions for ten days (for ten men) 
for t!le travelling parties next. spnng, and ill the meantime despatched the Tender to 
examme the west shores of the Island. I regret to say that even here on this conspicuous 
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position no further traces of the expedition can be found. The tender returned after an 
inspection of the west side of the island and succeeded in approaching Somerville Island to 
within three miles, where nothing but solid ice was seen in all directions. 

In the evening of the 9th instant we secured to the solid floe, which presented an 
impenetrable barrier to any further progress westward, or in tbe direction of Cape 
Walker. 

The services of the steam tender during these operations have been most valuable, 
and 1 therefore avail myself of this occasion to convey my testimony of the many 
advantages we have derived by the aid of scew propulsion in this intricate navigation, 
its capabilities have been fully developed, and the facility with which the vessel is managed 
amongst the ice quite exceeds anything I ever anticipated. 

In conclusion, I beg to express my satisfaction (by the zeal and activity manifested) of 
Lieutenant Cator of the tender, and the officers of all grades under my command, how 
exerted themselves in carrying out this interesting search. 

Herewith is appended a list of the places where records were left. and of the provisions 
left at the depots. 

Balloons were despatched on favourable occasions, and casks put overboard with records, 
agreeably to your instructions. 

1 have, &c. 
(Signed) ERA~)IC~ 0)01.\]\:\E1, 

Captain. 
Records left at Wolstenholme Island. 

Port Dundas. 
Cape Hurd. 
Cape Riley. 
Beechey Island. 
Barlow Inlet. 
Cape Hotham. 
Griffith's Island. 

Depot of Provisions at Cape IIotham, lcft 4th Septcmber 1850; 
Bread, 5041bs. 
Preserved meats, 1,6461bs. 
Spirits (strong), 20 gallons. 
Sngar, 1671bs. 
Chocolate, 1131bs. 
Tea, 281bs. 
Opening knives, 2. 

Depot of ProviRions on Griffiths Island, left 9th :-iq,tcII11JL'1' U;,jll; 

Bread, 251bs. 
Preserved meats, 1001bs. 
Spirits, 1 gallon, 18 gills. 
Sugar, 91bs. 6 oz. 
Chocolate, 6 Ibs. 4 oz. 
Tea, lIb. 9 oz. 

Captain AUSTIN to Captain O)IMANXEY. 

H.l\I. Ship" Resolute," in 'Winter Quarters between 
Cornwallis and Griffith Islands, 

Sir, 15th Septembe~' 18;:;0. . 
I beg leave to acknowledge the receipt of your lette: of the 10th ,Illstant, report Ill? your. 

proceedings from the 18th ultimo, the date of yO~lr belllg detached for the purpose, first, ot 
visiting Wolstenholme Sound, and then of searchmg along the northern shore of Lancaster 
Sound and Barrow's Strait, as far as Cape Hotham. ., .. .. 

I thank you for your exertions, and beg leave to Jom cordutlly III the satIsfactlOu yuu 
express at our again meeting. 

I am, &c. 
( SiO"ned) HOI~ATIO T. AC~T1J\, 

b C . & ajJt.uu, G. 

Enclosure 2 in No. 15. 

Captain AUSTIN to Captains DE HAYEN and PENNY. 

Her Britannic Majesty's Ship "Resolute" off' 
Griffith Island, Barrow's Strait, 

Gentlemen, 11 th. September 1850. 
The present fixed state of the ice to the westward havlllg broug.ht three. of ~he 

expeditions in search of the one under Sir John Franklin to the same p.om~, and l~ bemg 
very probable that if all prosecute to the westward with the same determmatlOn as hItherto, 
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a similar result will take place without .a. more extend.ed search being carried Ollt t~an 
could be accomplished by one of the expedItIons, I deem It nece~sary to make the fol!owlDg 
revi:;ion of the general memorandum of the 25th of July last, gIven for the proceedmgs of 
the ye:,sc],; under my orders; viz. 

From traces found at lleeehey Isl:md it is beyond a doubt that the missing vessels 
wintered there in 1846, but although a considerable and careful sea~ch has been made of 
the shores of 'Vellin!!1:on Strait to the northward from Capes RIley and Hotbam, of 
Curnwalli~ Island westward from Cape Hotham, and of Griffith Island, yet no record has 
been di:'covered to give information of the route taken by the object of our search. 

And as from an extensive view carefully taken of 'Wellington Strait, with all local 
call:,e:; considered, there is no reason shown why the missing expedition may not have 
proceeded in that direction,. coupled with the importance o~ a ~lepot being established in 
its neirrhbourhcod upon wlllch the crews of any of the shIps 1D advance lllay fall back 
in the ~vent of lengthened detention in the icc, or other disaster. 

I have decmed it most :vlYisable to direct the "Assistance" and her tender to take up 
winter quarters near to Cape :Martyrs on the southern shore of Cornwallis Island, ami 
prosecute a thorough search along the shores of 'Wellington Strait, and the strait or inlet 
between Cormyallis and Bathurst hlands, and intend that the "Resolute" and her tender 
"hall, if practicable, examinc Cape 'Valker, and then proceed to the westward in the 
direction of :\Ielville Iohnd, examining it, and such portion of the Parry group as she can 
accomplish. 

Such is the task I felt to be assigned to the expedition for which I am responsible. 
But as the unfavourable state of the ice has caused much less than was anticipated to 

he' accomplished, coupled with the present late period of the season, I fear that the 
"n~s()ll\tc" and" Assistance" will not by travelling parties be able to perform satis­
factorily the search allotted to them. 

Therefore being strongly impressed with the high feeling, determination, and persever­
ance which animate the United States of America and Captain Penny's expeditions 
in the great cause of humanity we have all equally at heart, I feel called upon by the 
position iYl which I am plneed as the lawful representative of the government of the 
country by which the expedition was equipped to propose that the expedition so nobly 
'~nt {"riYal'll by the United :-itatcs of America, and the mercantile expedition fitted out 
by the Briti"h government and placed under the charge of ~1r. Penny, do unite with us, 
and in the ensuing spring each take a particular division of the several lines of coast to be 
searched, by which under the blessing of Providence I see great reason to hope that 
the import:1nt work we have in hand will be accomplished to the entire satisfaction of our 
countries and those who have sent us forth, be the result happy or not . 
. I have thercfi)rc to beg of Captain Dc Haven and Captain Penny to reply to these 

Vlell'S :1'; early as possible, after which, should they accord with thelll, it will afford me 
",["('at satist'aetion tu enter fully into the arrangements necessary as far as present circu:n­
stances admit. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) HORATIO T. ArsTIN, 

Captain, &c. 

Captain DE HAYEX to Captain AUSTIN. 

.. U.S. Brig" Advance" ncar Griffith's Island, 
SIl·,. " 11 th September 1 ::'.50. 

I h,n'c Just receIved your clrcu~ar of this ~a~e addressed to Captain Penny and 
myself.. I hn:ve made every eff~rt WIth the expechtlOn under my command to prosecute the 
search III winch ,~e are all enlIsted .. It was therefore with extreme regret that I found 
the same c~uscs slm~ltaneously arrestmg our progress and eongreO'atinrr into this limited 
area the entIre searehmg squadron. b '" 

In ::ccordan,ee with my "Instructions," a copy of which I have the honour to enclose, 
!:ou \\'!ll perceIve that unless I s~ould gn:in a position from which I could commence opera­
tlO~S III the season of 1851 WIth deCIded advantages, I am ordered to return to the 
IT mted States. 

If by any po,.sibility I can O'iYe such a POS'lt'O 'f I d . ' .. '" ' I n, or I can ren er any speCIal servIces 
to the cau.e III whIch we arc embarked, I need not say hOlv '11' I uld b t . . . I' 1 . WI mg wo e 0 gIve 
my mstruetIons t leI I' utmost ahtude. tihould however tbis b' 'hl I t b'd bj the tenor of my orders. ',e ImposSI e, mus a I e 

I am, &e. 
(~igned) EnwIx J. DE HAVEN, 

Lieut. commanding the American 
Arctic Expedition. 
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INSTRUCTION". 

u.s. Xavy Department, 'Va~hington, 
S~r, 15th May 1850. 

Hav~g been sel~eted to command the expedition in search of Sir John Franklin and his 
eompamons, you wIll take charge of the two Brigantines, the "Advance" and" Res<'Ul'," 
that have been fitted out for that service, and as soon as you are ready proceed with them 
to sea, and make the be8t of your way to Lancaster Sound. 

These vessels have been furnished to the government for this ~erviee by the munificence 
of a private citizen, Mr. Henry Grinnell of New York. Yon will thereforc be careful of 
them, that they may be returned to their owner in good condition. They have beeu 
provisioned for three years. 

Passed midshipman S. P. Griffin has been selected to command one of the vessels. You 
will therefore consider him as your second in command, confer with him and treat him 
accordingly. 

The chief object of this expedition is to search for and, if found, afford relief to ~ir J ollll 
Franklin of the Royal 1\ avy and his companions. 

You will therefore use all diligence and make every exertion to this end, l"l\-ilw 
attention as you go to subjects of scientific inquiry, only as far as the same may' not 
interfere with the main object of the expedition. 

Having passed Barrow's Straits, you will turn your attentiou northwards to 1\' ellinoton 
Channel, and westwards to Cape IValker, and be governed by circumstances a~ to"" thc 
course you will then take. 

Accordingly, you will exercise your own discretion, after seeing the condition of thc icC', 
sea, and water, whether the two vessels shall here separate, one for Cape IValker and thc 
other for IV ellington Straits, or whether they shall both proceed together for the one 
place or the other. 

Should you find it impossible on account of the icc to get through B:nTOW :-;traits, YOli 

will then turn your attention to Jones's Sound and Smith':; Sound. Finding these closed 
or impracticable, and failing of all traces of the missing expedition, the :;cason will 
probably be too £'11' advanced for any other attempts; if i'0, YOll will return to X ew York. 

Acquaint passed Midshipman Griffin, before sailing, and from time to time during the 
voyage, fully with all your pians and intenti(lns, and before you sail from X ell" York appoint 
a place of rendezvous, change it as often as cireumstanccs ma~ render a change desirable, 
but always havc a place of rendezvous fixed upon, so that III case the two ,"c""vI:; of 
the expedition may at any time become srparate, eneh may know where to look for the 
other. 

Nearly the entire Arctic front of the continent Iw" been securell without fil1lling any 
traces of the missing ship~_ It is useless for YOIl to go thcre, 01' to n"examine any other 
place where search has already been made; you will therefore confine your attention to the 
routes already indicated. 

The point of maximum cold is said to be in the yieinity of Parry Llands; to the north 
and west of these, there is probably a comparatively open sea in summer, and therefore a 
milder climate. 

This opinion seems to be sustained by the f.'tct that beasts and fowls arc seen migrating 
over the ice from the mouth of Mackenzie HiveI' and its neighbouring shores to the 
north. These dumb creatures arc probably led by their wise instinds to seck a more 
genial climate in that direction, and upon the borders of the supposed more open water. 

There are other facts elicited by Lieut. Maury in the course of his investigations tOUl'hing 
the winds and currents of the ocean, which go also to confirm the opinion that beyoucl the 
icy barrier that is generally met ,yith in the Arctic Ocean there is a polina, or sea frec 
from ice. 

You have assisted in these investigations at the National Observatory, and are doubtless 
aware of the circumstances which authorize this conclusion; it is therefore needless to repeat 
them. 

This supposed open sea and warmer region to the north and west of Parry Islands arc 
unexplored. Should you succeed in finding an opening there, either after having cleared 
Wellington Straits, or having cleared Parry Islands by a northwardly course from Cape 
Walker, enter as far as in your judgment it may he prudent to enter, and search every 
headland, promontory, and conspicuous part fo)' signs and records of the missing part.'. 
Take particular care to avail yonrself of every opportunity for leaving as yon go r~COl-d:; 
and signs to tell of your welfare, progress, and intentions. 

For this purpose you will erect flag staffs, make piles of stones or other marks in con­
spicuous places, with a bottle or barraca buried at the base containing your letters. 

Should the two vessels be separated, you will direct passed Midshipman Griffin to do 
likewise. 

Avail yourself of every opportunity. either by the Esqllimaux or otherwise, to let 
the department hear from you, and in every communication he full and particular a~ to your 
futUl'e plans and intended route. 

E 3 
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If by any chance you should penetrate so far beyond the icy ~arrier as to make it in 
your judgment more prudeut tQ push ~n than to turn back, you Will do so, and put yOUl'~elf 
in communication with any of the Umte.d Stat~s Na~al Forces .or Officers of the 9:overn­
ment sen·iner in the waters of the Pacific or III ChlOa, according to your necessities and 
opportunitic~. Those officers will be instructed to afford you every facility possible to 
enable you to reach the western coast of the United States in safety. 

In the event of your falling in with any of. the British sell;rchi~g parties, .you will offer 
them any assistance of which they may ~tand Ill. need, an~ whICh It may be III your power 
to CTive. Offer also to make them acquamted with your Illtended route and plans, and be 
ready to afford them every information of which you may have become possessed concern­
ing the object of your search. 

In case your country should be involved in war during your absence on this service, you 
will on no account commit, or suffer any of the expedition to commit, the least act of 
hostility against the enemy, of whatever nation he may be. 

KotwitiI8tall(ling the directions in which you have heen recommended to carry your 
cxaminations, you may, on arriving out on the field of operation, find that by departing 
from them your search would probably be more effectual. 

TIle department has every confidence in your judgment, and relies implicitly upon your 
discretion, and should it appear during the voyage that by directing your attention to 
point,.; not named in this letter traces of the absent expedition would probably be found, 
you will not fail to examine such points. But you will on no account uselessly hazard the 
safety of the yessels under your command, or unnecessarily expose to danger the officers 
and men committed to your charge. 

Unless circumstances should favour you, by enabling you to penetrate, before the young 
ice begins to make in the fall, far into the unexplored regions, or to discover recent traces 
of the missing ships and their gallant crews, or unless you should gain a position from which 
you could commence operations in the season of 1851 with decided advantages, you will 
endeavour not to be caught in the ice during the ensuing winter, but after having completed 
your examinations for the season make your escape and return to N ew York in the fall. 

You are expre,-sly cnjoined not to spend, if it can be avoided, more than one winter in 
the Arctic regions. 

",\Tishing you and your gallant companions all success in your noble enterprize, and with 
the trust in God that Hc will take you and them in His holy keeping. 

I am very respectfully, 
Your obedient servant, 

To Edwin J. De Haven, (Signed) ",VM. BALLARD PRESTON. 
Lieut. commanding the American Arctic Expedition. 

&c. &c. &c. 
New York. 

Enclosure 3 in No. 15. 

Captain AL~TIN to Captain OlllMANNEY. 

By Horatio T. Austin, Esq., C. B., Captain of Her Majesty's Ship "Resolute," and in 
charge of an expedition to the Arctic Seas. 

Herewith you will receive a copy of a letter that I have addressed to Lieutenant 
~e Haven and ~Ir. Penny, charged with expeditions in search of the one under 
Sir. John Frankhn, the substance of which you were conversant with previous to its 
delivery. 

. You ~re also in p~ssessio~ of ~opies of Lieutenant De Haven's reply thereto, and the 
mstructlOns und~r whl.ch he IS actlllg; you will therefore know that it is probable he will 
return to "~me~ICa thiS year; and :\11'. Penny having ~arted company in the late severe 
weather before .1 counterpart of my le~ter could be dehvered to him (although with the 
suhstancc he was verbally made ac.quamted), and not having returned, it has now become 
necessary that our future proceedIllO's should forthwith be determ'lned h' 
he f h . d' f h'o . ,as any c ange In t state 0 t e Ice m~y a mit 0 t IS ship proceeding to the westward. 

It is th~refore my direction that you proceed in the "Assistance" with her tender, a.nd 
~ake .up wIllter quarters near to Cape Martyr ~~ the sonthern shore of Cornwallis Isla.nd, 
It hemg the central a~d app~rently the ~est posItion for observations in this quarter. 

AS
I 

earlY
h 

as pra?tIc~blc Ifn ~tvhell.spnng of 1851 you will detach a travelling party to 
comp ete t e exammatlOn 0 ,e m!rton Strait as also t llin . 
C , .,... lk d'ts . hb h od 0 , a rave g party to exam me ape ,a er an 1 netg our 0 ,and in addition if it b d hId 
part between Cornwallis and Bathurst Islands. ' can e one, t e unexp ore 

,\.n alteration in the state of the ice may admit of your t d rr. . . 
of the examiuation of "'ellington Strait this season b etn ehr. Phe ~nnh lOgll some portlO~ 

. h 1 ffi' f f ' U W lC Wit a other detail (haVIng at tiU Clent proo 0 your perseverance zeal and d . h d . hi h 
assigned to you) I leave to your own discretion. ' , pru ence In t e utles t erto 
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~s it is impossible,. until the moment for acting :1rrive:;, to determine more than an 
outhn~ o~ the I?roceedmgs, I have great satisfaction in knowing that we fully coincide in 
the. prmclple of the ope~ations to be carried out in the endeavour to accomplish the ta"k 
a~slgn.ed to us. Should It be found that the missing expedition proceeded in either of the 
dIrectIOns allotted to your examination, you will in the open season of 1851 follow up the 
search to the utmost of your powers, depositing records thereof for my information at 
Cape Martyr and Cape Hotham. 

However if Cap!ain Penny should rejoin, and you find that he undertakes to examine 
qap~ 1Valker and Its neighbourhood, you will consider yourself relieved of that re:;l'un­
slbJllty. 

As soon as the stale of the ice admit~. the "Resolute" and her tender will prosecute to 
the we~tward in the dire~tio~ of ~Ielville Island, which, if possible, she will reach, and ill 
the sprmg of 1851 examme It, and such portion of the Parry gronp and of Banks's Land 
to the southward and westward as she can accomplish. Should traces be found in either 
of those localities they will be followed up in the open season of 1851 by the" Resolute " 
and her tender; but should no information be obtained those vessels will then endeavour 
to return. 

In the event of your not finding traces in the parts allotted to your search, tho 
" Assistance" and her tender are to be kept in their winter quarters near to Cape }hrtyr 
as a depot upon which the crews of any vessels to the westward may fall back in case of 
necessity; but should open water to the westward make it appear desirable for you to 
proceed in that direction to meet or communicate earlier with the" Resolute," you will 
act as your judgment at the time may guide you. 

Should no information have reached you respecting the "Resolute" before the spring of 
1852, you will then detach a travelling party to Bedford Bay to commullicat" with one 
from her; and failing to meet there, to proceed on to Cape Cuckburn "u as to arrive at 
that place between the 23d and 27th of May inclnsive, remaining there until the latt('l' 
date; and then, should the party from the "Resolute" not have arrived, to return, leaving 
first a full account of proceedings during the separation of the ships (with which the party 
must be furnished leaving), as also of the proceedings of the party itself up to the period (If 
quitting Cape Coekburn. 

However, should such parties fail to communicate, and provided the "H('"olute" dill'" 
not return early in the season of 1852, you will then place on ]Joanl your tender :'Heh 
provisions as you can spare, leave her at your winter quarter", and pro('C'l,(l in th~ 
"Assistance" to Disco, where I understand the "Xorth St:ll' " intended to land her provi­
sions; take them on board, and return as early as possible to Capl' :'IIartyr, taking care ill 
the passage back to examine the several points along the north ,hun' ut' Lanca,ter Suund 
and Barrow's Strait (or on the south shore if the wind should drive you there) tor recur'], 
that would be deposit.ed in the event ut' our return during yUUl' ab"ence. 

The provisions you have landed :It Griffith Island and Cape Hothalll are to remaiu there 
as depots in case of nccessity. 

I remind you that it is important that a record should be ucca,;iullally deposit ell by 
travelling parties in their route, as also that the occasiunal employment (If Idlu(JII'; during 
the separation of the ships may prove advantageous. 

Given, &c" 14th September 18:jO. 

(Signed) 

Enclosure 4 in X o. 1 :j. 

Captain AUSTIN to l\fr. PENNY. 

IIoHATIO T. "\U~rIN, 
Captain, &c. 

H. M. S. "Resolute," Winter Quarters between 
Cornwallis and Griffith Isla Illls , 

Sir, 5th March 1851. 
With reference to thc conversation we had at the commencement of the winter, relatiyc 

to the prosecution of the search for the missing expedition by tr~velling l'art,ie,;!~ the 
ensuing spring, I avail myself of the occasion of your party returnlllg from thclr m',lt, to 
make you officially acquainted with the arrangements determined upon ~or the expedltl,oll 
under Illy orders' also doinO' mY'self the IJleasure to O'ive the O'eneral detads cunnected WIth 

'''' '" '" .. t' I the equipment of the parties, and I shall feel obliged by your apl!rISlllg me 0 ):u~lr pans 
and the details connected with them, ill order that by a mutual lllterehange ut VICIV" we 
may probably be both aided in accomplishing the great work that we have now to do. 

E 4 



xl LETTERS FROM CAPTAIN AUSTIN AND CAPTAIN PENNY. 

PROGRAlIME of PARTIES. 

-------

RO UT E. 

ouhl coa~t no~ } -
SOllth from Cape Walker sh 

prove continuous -
r, bays or inlets} 
Y - -

South-west frolIl Cape Walke 
employing a parry southed 

- - -.,;{ West towards Melville Island 

North from Bvam Martin lsi 
between BU'thurst, Byam 1\ 

and to eXamine} 
lartin, :nd ;Vlcl~ 

ville [slands 
To examine Depot on Bathu rst Islands, re.} 

ut ifit can be-
ville Isla~d and} 
fore partIes set 

turning before parties set 0 

To examine Depot on Somer 
state of ice, returning be 
out if it can be 

! 
Extended Number 

I or of 

I 
Limited. Officers. 

------

Extended - 2 
Limited - 2 
Extended - 1 
Limited - I 
Extended - 2 
Limited - 2 

Extended - 1 
Limited - 1 

Limited - 1 

Limited - 1 

-----

1 

Number Number 

! 
of of Runner , l\-Ien. Sledges. 

]2 2 , 13 2 
I 7 1 
I 

7 1 
12 2 

I 12 2 

7 I 
7 1 

6 I 

6 1 

"Vo/e.-It is hoped that the resources of the expedition will admit of another sledge as an 
auxiliary being attached to each of the extended parties. . . . 

J\II preparation to be completed during the present month, and If weather IS favourable, WIth 
a good rise of temperature, the parties to leave during or shortly after the first week in April. 

SCALE of PROVISIONS for each l\IAN per DAY. 

Biscuits. 

I I ;lIixed. : Alternately. 
Boiled I R ,-- - - ----,-----1 S 

Juice. ugar. Tea.: Chocolate. 
Pemmic.:m. 

T b ,i Spirits or 
o aceD 'Vine for 

pc .. :lIan I Fuel each 
per We.k. Sledge. 

Pork. I urn. II Lime S I I lUoorets ugar. 

--lb-s.--1--o-z-. -1-;:;;:) "_'t" - 0_'1' 1--0-'-' -I' oz. -0-'-. -1--
0
-,-. -, pint •. 

1 6 I ~ ~ i l~ t 3 I 

I 
1 Or in sllch pro-

I' I 
portions as each 

I , party may desire. 

Besides which each slellge will be furnished with a small quantity of pickles, and pepper 
and salt mixed. 

Equipment of each Sledge. 

1 gutta percha or oil canvas casing. 
I tent and 4 pikes as poles. 
1 floor cloth and 3 wolf skins. 
I felt or blanket sleeping bag each man. 
I shovel. 
I cooking apparatus, and for extended parties an additional apparatus for meltinrr snow, 

to serve abo a second cooking apparatus in the event of accident. " 
I haversack for luncheon. 
I haversack each officer. 
1 knapsack each man, to serve for carrying clothes and provisions in the event of accident 

to the slellge. 
:2 guns in addition to officers gun. 
:2 Ibs. powder, percussion caps in proportion. 
SIbs. shot. 
:2 lb. ball each gun. 
1 hag of sUllllrie~, such as awls, thread, twine, &r. 
1 p3llniken, 1 spoon, and I knife each person. 
Illst~lIments for observations. 
1 small tin case of medical stores, &c. 
1 tinder box and bag for getting a light. 
1 brush for clothes. 

1 inside flannel. 
I Guernsey frock. 
1 serge frock. 
I duck jumper. 
i. pair drawers. 
1 pair breeches. 

TValking Dress each Person. 
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1 pai~ overall duck pantaloons tied about the calf. 
1 waist belt. 
1 pair stockings. 
I pair blanket feet wrappers. 
1 pair wadmill hose. 
1 pair canyass boots, leather soles, ship made. 
1 welsh Wig. 
1 fur cap. 
1 comforter. 
1 pair pitts. 
An eye shade as per model. 
1 bottle to carry inside frock for water. 

1 flannel shirt. 
1 pair drawers. 
2 pair stockings. 
2 pair blanket feet wrappers. 

, 
Ditto, Spare Clothing. 

xli 

1 pair canvass boots, ship made, for long parties only; short parties taking in lieu their 
worn cloth boots. 

1 pair mitts. 
1 towel and a piece of soap. 
1 comb. 

Each party will be furnished with printed notices and small tin cases, one of which will 
be deposited every day at its encampment. 

The sledges will be loaded so as to limit the weight each man will have to ,1r:!'" on 
starting from the ship to about 190 lbs., and as an experiment some two or three kite~"'will 
be taken with the view of aiding the draft of a fair wind. The parties crossinO' the straits 
will carry two Halkets Boats. '" 

I am, &c. 

(Signed) HORATIO T. Al,TIX, 

Captain, &". 

Mr. PENNY to Captain AI·,TlX. 

H. :\I. S. " Lady Franklin," j\",j,tall<'C' Harbonr, 
Sir, 10th :\Iarch 1 i'i.) 1. 

I have to acknowledge the receipt of your official letter of the 5th :\Ian·h, giying the 
details of your intended lines of search by travelling parties, and in return I now inform 
you of the course which I at present intend to pursue in searching in the yi.·inity of 
Wellington Channel. 

Availing myself of the whole force of my vessel, six parties of one officer and ,ix men 
each will start together about the second week of April, should the weather appear 
promising. At the end of six days two of these parties will break off, having supporterl 
the other four sledges during that period and made a depot for their return, the remaining 
four sledges will then pair off, the fatigue sledge of each feeding thc extended )Jarty t;,[' 
ten days, making a deposit, and returning, one of the extcnded parties prosecuting thc 
search in an easterly, and the other in a westerly direction, should no prcvious trace have 
been found to cause a different arrangement. 

The dog sledges will join the others at the head of the Channel, provisioned for £ftecn 
days, and should there be no prospect of a further supply of provisions for the dogs being 
procurable, they will be employed on the route where their limited means may appear 
most likely to be of use. 

With reference to thc scale of victualling, I have to inform you that I have fixed on the 
following: 

Biscuit, lIb. pel' day. Tea, i oz. per day. 
Pemmican, :! lb. per day. Rum, t gill per day. 

• Pork, 3! lb. per day. Tobacco, t oz. per day. 
Sugar, 1 oz. per day. 

" The pork previously boiled, boned, and skinned. 

In lieu of spirits of wine, 401bs. of prepared fat will be taken with each sledge, that fuel 
having been found best adapted to our shape of conjurors. 

In the general outfit of the parties your scheme has been followed, so far as our means 
would permit, and we have now every thing prepared to start as soon as the state lIf the 
weather may appear to warrant such a procedure. 

One of the return parties will proceed to Beechey Island, examining the deput left there, 
and visiting Caswalls Tower and its vicinity; and on the 12th of July. shoulU th~ prosp~ct 
of an early liberation appear unfavourable, II boat will be despatched to communicate wlth 

F 
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the whalers at Ponds Bay, as they generally continue in that neighbourhood till the 7th'oC 
August. 

Iam,&c. 
(Signed) WH. PENNY, 

Captain, &c. 

Captain AUSTIN to Mr. PENNY. 

H. M. S. " Resolute," in Winter Quarters between 
Cornwallis and Griffith Islands, 

Sir 8th April 185J. 
I be~ leave to acknowledge the receipt this day of your letter of the 10th ultimo, 

acquainting me with your plan of operations for the spring travelling parties, for which 
I return you my best thanks. 

I am, &c. 
(Signed) HORATIO.T. AUSTIN, 

Captain, &c. 

Enclosure 5 in No. 15. 

Captain AUSTIN to Captain Sir JOHN Ross. 

H. ::\1. S. "Resolute," Winter Quarters between 
Cornwallis aud Griffith Islands, 

Sir, 21st June 1851. 
In order that you may be aware at the earliest moment of the result of the search 

by travelling parties from the expedition under my charge, I hasten on the return of 
those to the southward and westward from Cape "Walker, and of those to the northward 
(the "Jlelville Island parties not having yet come in), to transmit on the other side hereof 
for your information an account of the extent of search in each direction, which I believe 
to be as nearly correct as it can be until the data in detail is worked out. 

L nhappily, not the slightest trace has been discovered of the missing vessels. 
As soon as the other parties are in you shall be apprised of all that has been done by 

the travelling parties from this expedition, and may I request you to be good enough to 
furnish me with your results as early as is practicable, in order that I may duly consider 
:mcl determine the further movements of the vessels under my orders. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) HORATIO T. AUSTIN, 

Captain, &c. 

The ACCOUNT referred to. 

Captain Ommanney to the southward and westward from Cape Walker reaching to 
lat. 72° 44' N., long. I02·t \V. 

Lieutenant Osborn to the westward and southward from Cape Walker reaching to 
lat. 72° 40' N., long. between 105° and 106° W. 

Lieutenant Browne south from Cape \Valker reachin.,. to lat. 72° 52' N., long. 
96° 50' \V. '" 

X ote.-Cape \Valker has proved to be on an island. 
Lieutenant Aldrich to the northward and westward from Cape Cockburn Bathurst 

Island, reaching to lat. 76° 11' N., long. 106° 30' W. ' 
':\Ir. l\~ 'Dougall, second master, has completed the survey of the bay between the 

~ornwallis. and Bathur~t Islands of our charts, with the exception of a river or small 
mlet runnmg to the N. E. and about four miles broad at its entrance which he was 
unable to explore. ' 
~owther and the islands adjacent have also been searched, with the exception of Davy, 

wh~ch coul~ not b~ found on account of the thick weather and its supposed flat low form, 
beSides which the Ice was very much pressed up around these islands. 

A counterpart of the foregoing letter was addressed to Captain William Penny on 
thc same day. 

H. T.A. 

Captain Sir JOHN Ross to Captain AUSTIN. 

S. Schooner" Felix," Cornwallis Island, 
11', • 23d June 1851. 

I h!l~e to acknowledg~ the receipt of your letter of the 21st instant, in which ou have 
been kindly pleased to mform .me of the return of Captain Ommanne and oth! gallant 
officer~ from the arduous ~el'Vlce o~ which they have been employed~ at the same tiuie 
annexmg an account of their proceedings, and the important results of th' . d fi hmo,ble endeavOurs. el1' III e a.-e-
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I join in the universal regret that" not the sliCThtest trace has been discovered of the 
missing •. ship,s," ~ut it is iI?p.ortan~ to find that "'they cannot have taken that" road to 
destruc.~on, wh~le to me It IS satisfactory to see so clearly proved that my conclusions 
of land IntervenIng between the heavy polar ice and the coast of America were perfectly 
correct. 

Inclosed you will receive Captain Phillips's report, which does him infinite credit, 
though only wha! I must have expected from my knowledge of his character and acquire­
ments, a~d to him I beg to refer you for any explanation or further information you 
may reqUIre. 

I cannot conclude this letter without expressinCT my unfeiu-ned conCTratulations on the 
t f th " '" " '" re urn 0 your sou -western parties In excellent health after havinCT underCTone such 
.. d fti· h ' ''' '" prIVatIOns an su enngs as t ey must have experienced in their arduous journey of sixty 

days. Hoping sincerely that you will have good accounts from your extreme western 
parties, I am with truth and respect, 

S· 11' , 
Your most obedient servant, 

(Signed) JOliN Ros.,. 

Captain AUSTIN to Captain Sir J OIIN Ro~~. 

H.M.S. " Resolute," Winter Quarters between 
Cornwallis and Griffith Islands, 

Sir, 26th June 185l. 
I have the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 23d instant, and 

its inclosure, ~he report of thc p~oceedings of Commander Phillips while prosecuting by 
your orders a Journey over a portIOn of the Cornwallis Island of our charts (doubtless at 
this period of the season an operation of eonsiderable labour), for which I thank you. 

The result of this journey, performed by an officer of Commander Phillips's intelligenee 
and character, is very satisfactory, inasmuch as it goes far to verify work carried out on 
the south-western shore by an officer from this ship. 

I have, &c. 
(Sig11ed) HORATIO T. Al'TI~. 

Captain, &c. 

Enclosurc 6 in No. 15. 

Captain AwnIN to Captain Sir JOlIN Ro~~. 

I f.:'If.~. "R..,,,olute," "Tinter Quarters between 
('ornwallis and Griffith Islands, 

Sir, 4th .Tuly 11'.,1. 
With reference to my letter of the 21st ultimo, I now llo my::;elf the pleasure ttl acquaint 

you of the return this afternoon after an abse11ce of eighty days of the partie, despatched 
from this expedition in the direction of ~IcIYilll' Island, they having succeeded in 
accomplishing the following amonnt of search (unhappily without discovering the slightest 
trace of the missing expedition), viz. : 

Lieutenant M'Clintock from Point Griffith along the south-eastern ::;ide of Mclville 
Island to Cape Dundas and Lyddons Gulf: crossing from thellce overland to wintcr 
harbour. 

Mr. Bradford from Point Griffith along the east coast of Melville Island to the northward, 
reaching to latitude 76° 18', longitude between 107° and 108°, which I believe to bc as 
nearly correct as it can be until the data in detail is worked out. 

I have, &e. 
(Signed) HORATIO T. AUSTIN, 

Captain, &e. 

A counterpart of thc foregoing letter was addressed to Captain 
Bame day. 

Captain Sir JOHN Ross to Captain AUSTIN. 

W m. Penny on the 

H. T. A. 

" Felix," Diseovery Vessel, Cornwallis Island, 
Sir, 8th July 1851. 

I am to acknowledge the receipt of your letter dated the 4th instant, by \Vh.ich I am 
rejoiced to find that your two extreme western parties returned s~fe, after .havmg very 
fully and meritoriously accomplished the important and arduous service on winch they had 
volunteered. I ~eg to ret~rn you my ~est tha~ks fo~ .th~ reports you have. been so ~~od 
as to send of theIr proceedmgs, and whIle I cordially Jom m. t~e gen~ral" feehng of disap­
pointment that" not a simple trace has been fo.und ~f t~e mIs~mg .shIps, I cannot restram 
myself from adding that I am afforded some satIsfaction m havmg It so clearly p~oved an.d 
teetified by the unanimous opinions of those employed, tha.t the gallant FraIIklm and hIS 

F ~ 
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dcvoted companions cannot have pursued any of the courses w~stward o~ Beechey Island, 
which it must now be admitted would have eventually led t? theU" de~truction. 

TT d such circumstances there still remains a hope, a famt hope mdeed, that traces of a 
L n er f h . . . h N W . 

more titvourable nature may be found in one or other 0 t e pOSItions .1I~ t e • • ~.xtremlty 
of' Baffin's Bay, or on its western coast, which have not yet been vlSlted; but thIS, should 
the sea sou permit, is for you to judge. • 

On our part we shall be obliged to make the best of our waJ: home, not havmg on 
hoard the" Felix" provisions for another season to enable us to c~ntmue a longer search. 

The ice has certainly now a more favourable appearan~e than It ~ad, but here all three 
vessels are still frozen in. 'Ve hope, however, that early III August, If not before, we may 
be free, when I shall be ready to be the bearer of any despatches or letters you may have 
for Great Britain. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) JOHN H.oss, 

Captain R. N 

Enclosure 7 in No. 15. 

Captain AUSTIN to Mr. PENNY. 

H. M. S. " Resolute," at Winter Quarters between 
Cape Martyr and Griffith Island, 

Sir, 14th July 1851. 
I now, it being as early as practicable, do myself the pleasure to transmit herewith, for 

your information, a tracing of a rough outline chart, showing the several directions and 
extent of search carried out by this expedition. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) HORATIO T. AUBTIN, 

Captain, &c. 
Counterpart of above, same date, addressed to Sir John Ross. 

H.T.A. 

Captain Sir JOHN Ross to Captain AUSTIN. 

Schooner" Felix," Winter Quarters, Cornwallis Island, 
Sir, 16th July 1851. 

I am to acknowledge the receipt of your letter, aated the 14th instant, and to return you 
my bcst thanks for it, and its valuable enclosure, which is at one view a manifestation of 
your admirable arrangemcnts, and the very creditable manner in which they have been 
can'i",1 into execution by the zeal and unflinching perscverance of the gallant officers and 
men employed in that arduous service; while it proves, to my mind at least, that the missing 
expedition cannot havc taken any course westward of Cornwallis Island, it must produce 
a general feeling of satisfaction, that under Providence that journeys unparalleled for 
distance and duration in these desolate regions have been so fully accomplished, and that 
the officers and men, with so very few exceptions, have returned in perfect health, and I 
h'w't in duc time to receive the rewards so justly due to their merit. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) JOHN Ross, 

Captain R. N. 

Mr. PENNY to Captain AUSTIN. 

,. H. M. Brig" Lady Franklin," Assistance Bay, 
Su', 4th AuO'ust lR51. 

I forward an outline of search by the expedition under my charge. X 0 trace of H.M.S. 
" Erebus " and" Terror" farther than a bit of English elm. 

. As. soon as at liberty with my ships I will come to Griffiths Island, and have an 
lDtcrvlCW. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) WILLIlll PENNY. 

[Note.-;-Received with t~e trac~ng of an outline chart, 11th AU!rust 1851 on arrival 
off the Wmtcr Quarters ot Captam Penny's expedition. (Sign~d) H. T. A.] 

Enclosure 8 in Xo. 15. 

Captain Ac"TIX to Captain Sir JOHN Ross. 

H.M. Ship" Resolute," Winter Quarters between 
Cape Martyr and Griffith Island, 

Sir, 19th July 1851. 
I have to expre8S mv best thanks for your offer to con 1 tt . 

G B 't' t' h' 1'( h' • . , vey e ers III your return to 
reat fI lim, 0 w lC 1 ;~~ t ere Ie every probablhtyof your reaching home fir:st ) I avail 
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inyself, by forwar~ing to yo~ the aeeoI?panying box containing an official report and chart, 
addressed to the ~ecretary, of the A~lmlralty, requesting that it lllay be pusted at the earliest 
mom~nt, as ~o;tbtless theIr LordshIps are anxious to learn an account of the proceedinrTs 
of thIS expedItIon. " 

I am happy to inform you that Peter Ecclestone of the "Felix" is sufficiently recovered 
to return as soon as we may be able to communicate. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) HORATIO T. AnTI:>;, 

Captain, &c. 

P. S.-Will you be good enough to note on the box refcrred to for the information of 
tne Secretary of the Admiralty, the period of your posting or delivering it to any other 
person. 

H.T.A. 

Captain Sir JOHN Ro~s to Captain AnTI},". 

. "Felix" Discovery Vessel, Cornwallis Island, 
SIr, . , 21st July 185l. 

I have to acknowled~e the re~elpt ot your let~er, date\l t~le 19th instant, expressing your 
than~s for my off~r of conveYIng letters to Great Bntam, and accompanied by a box 
contaInIng an offiCIal report and chart, and also an official letter, both addressed to the 
Secretary of the Admiralty, with a request that they should be posted at the earliest 
opportunity, all of which were safely delivered to me yesterday by the officer who had 
charge of them, and I am to assure you that your request and instructions respectin(T 
them shall be particularly attended to. I am h~ppy to observe, that "Peter Ecclestone 1\ 
of the "Felix" is sufficiently recovered to return, and will accordincrly send for him as 
soon as it is possible. " 

I haw, &c. 
(Signed) .TOHN Ro,~, 

P.S.:-I. shall not neglect to note on the box an.d despatch the period of my posting them 
or dehvermg them to any othcr person, and In the event of a boat croincr to Ponds 
Bay I shall comply with your request of sending the official documents by h~r. " 

J. R. 

Enclosure 9 in X o. I,:;. 

Captain j\x"T1~; to Captain 0)1)1.\:-\:-\£1. 

By Horatio T. Austin, E,'(J., C. 13., Captain of Her Majesty's Ship "Hesolutc," and 11l 

charge of an expedition to the ~\r('ti(' Sea". 

From the resnlt of the search for the missin~ expedition nnder Sir John Franklin to 
the westward of"" cllington Strait Illade by this expedition, and that of "T ellington Strait 
made by the expedition under Captain Penny, withont any traces (beyond those at Beechey 
Island, its first winter quarters, found last year), I have arrived at the conclusion that had 
it been practicable it would neither have been prudent, nor in accordance with the spirit 
of the orders under which I am acting, to have prosecuted further in cither of those direc­
tions; but looking to the instructions of the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty to 
Captain Penny, relative to the search of Jones's Sound, which he did not succeed in 
carrying out, as also to their Lordships instructions to Sir J ames Ross and the" North Star ., 
relative hereto, I have determined to attempt a search in that direction. 

Therefore the expedition being now in clear water, advancing undcr fiH'ourable circum­
stances, it is my intention to proceed forthwith with the steam tenders "Pioneer" aud 
., Intrepid" to attempt the accomplishment of that object. 

You will remain in charge of the " Resolute" and" Assistance," conduct them with all 
despatch towards the eastern shore of Baffin's Bay, and rendezvons betwecn 1V olstenholme 
Sound and Cape York, where you will await the return of the steam tcnders until thc 
15th of September, or until you find the state of the ice becomc so nnfavourable as to 
lead you to consider it unsafe to remaiu longer in that position, as it is my positive inten­
tion to rejoin before the present open season closes. 

You will then transfer such provisions to the" Hesolute" as circumstances will permit; 
receive on board the" Assistance," from her, all such persons as are recommended by the 
medical officers to be sent home, as also those who are desirous to return; fill their vacan­
cies by volunteers from the "Assistance;" direct t.he "Resolute" to proceed to winter 
quarters, if practicable in 'V olstenholme Sound, if not, then in the best harbour along the 
shore of the rendezvous that she can reach, and make thc best of your way in the 
" Assistance" to England, reporting all proceeding8 to the Lords COIllllli:'sillncrs of 
the Admiralty. 

You will on the most western point uf rendezvous you search, as abu on cach convenicnt 
F3 
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and conspicuous point, as you advance to the eastward, erect a cairn and deposit it record 
of your intentions, placing over it the symbol already arranged between us. 

You will, while continuing in the rendezvous, endeavour to communicate with the 
Esquimuux, and furnish them with such articles from the presents liberally supplied by the 
Government for that purpose, as also with such stores from the ships, as may tend to 
ameliorate the condition of so helpless and destitute a people exposed to the rigours of the 
inhospitable regions. 

During the absence of the steam tenders it will be desirable for a printed record to be 
thrown overboard daily from each ship, and whenever a party lands for a smoke ball to 
be burnt. 

Given under my hand on board Her Majesty's Ship "Resolute" off Cape Warrender, 
Lancaster Sound, the 14th of August 1851. 

(Signed) HORATIO T. AUSTIN. 
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Letters from Mr. Penny. 

No. 16. 
Mr. PENNY to the SECRETARY OF THE ADMIRALTY. 

H. M. S. Lady Franklin, Assistance Harbour, 

Sir, Cornwallis Island, 12th April 1851. 
(Received lIth September.) 

. I HAVE the hOIlOL.lI· to inform you, for the information of my Lords Commis­
sIOners of the Admiralty, that after parting company with H. M. S. "North 
Star" on the 21st of August, I reached along the north shore of Barrow Straits 
until Sunday the 14th, .keeping a strict look out. Being then off Beechy 
Island I spoke the Amencan schooner "Rescue," and learned that H. M. S. 
"Assistance" had fOllnd traces of the Franklin expedition on Cape Riley. 
The ., Assistance" was then running to the westward; and, anxious to be pos­
sessed of every particular, I followed her, with the intention of going on 
board, but I had not that opportunity till 2 p. M., when both vessels were 
made fast to the land ice, two thirds of the distance across Wellington Channel, 
the" Assistance" being about one mile and a half to the westward of us. 

Finding that the traces were apparently those of a retreating party, I thought 
it my proper course to return to the east side of W elIington Channel, which I 
accordingly did. The succeeding morning I landed with a party, and examined 
the coast fi'om ten miles to the northward of Cape Spencer to that promontory, 
and an encampment was found near the latter place, seemingly that of a hunting 
party about three years previous. 

Joining company with the" Advance," the "Rescue," and the "Felix" 
schooners the following morning, we made fast ill a bight under the N. W. side 
of Beechy hland; and having consulted with Captain De Haven and Sir 
John Hoss, it was agreed that the former should despatch a party to continue 
the search northward along the east coast of \r ellington Channel, while I 
explored the coast to the eastward. Meantime a party of all my officers which 
had been despatched in the direction of CaswalI's Tower discovered the quar­
ters which had been occupied by the vessels of Sir John Franklin's expedition 
in the winter of 1845-6. Three graves were :1lso found, the headboards show­
ing them to be those of three seamen who had died early in the spring of 
] 846; but, notwithstanding a most careful search in every direction, no docu­
ment could be found. The same evening a boat party was despatched under 
Captain ~tewart to explore Radstock Bay and its vicinity, but no further traces 
were found in that direction. The" Resolute" and the ,'Pioneer" came lip 
and made fast on \\' ednesday morning, and an unf.wourable condition of the 
ice detained us all till evening', when water being open to the westward. I 
stood a certain distance across Wellington Channel, and in the morning sent 
away a party under i'1! r. J. Stuart to communicate with the" Assistance." The 
same evening we were again in Beechy Bay; and the party returned the 
following forenoon, having accomplished upwards of forty miles. By them we 
were acquainted, that the "Assistance" had found no traces in about thirty 
miles of coast examined by her to the north and south of Barlow Inlet. The 
state ot' the ice prevented the least Illotion being made WIth the ships until 
Thursday the 5th of September, when we left Beechy Bay;, but so little was 
the ice slackened off, that we were unable to reach the west Side of the channel 
before Sunday the 8th. , " 

While lying under Beechy Island arrangements were made With :SIr John 
Ross to lay up the" Mary" yacht, and a quantity of provisions was contributed 
as our share of the depot there formed. , 

.on Sunday the 8th 1 landed with a party about twelve m~les to the .north­
warel of Barlow Inlet, and a cairn and pole was erected m a conspICUOUS 
situation. 

Wellington Channel being blocked up witl~ old land ic~, no altern~tive was 
left but to proceed to the westward, with a VI~W of reachlllg Cape" alker, or 
attempting some other passage between the Is~ands of th.e Parry Group, or, 
failing either of these, Melville Island. :Followmg out thiS course, we pushed 

F4 
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on throuO"h the bay ice which was now so strong as to retard us greatly; but, 
notwithstanding that ~bstac1e, we reached Griffith's Island on Tuesday the 
10th September; and having made fast th.ere, on. acc?unt o~ the state.oft~e 
ice I had aO"ain a consultation with Captam Austm with a view to actmg m , to 

concert. . . 
The foIlowinO" morninO" the more favourable appearance of the Ice mduced 

me to make an ~ttempt t~ reach Cape Walker, but after proceeding twenty-five 
miles the ice became packed, .which; with a hea~y fog, .cause~ me to put about 
and make for our former positIOn. fhe hourly llIcl:easmg thickness of the ~ay 
ice which had now become such an obstacle that with a strong breeze the ships 
sta~eri with considerable difficulty, rendered it absolutely n~cessary that a pJa~c 
of safety should be obtained for the vessels, and I accordmgly made for thiS 
harbour, a rough sketch of which I had previously obtained trom the " Assis­
tance." We brought up at 11 A.M. on Thursday the 12th September, and 
shortly afterwards the "Felix" schooner, Captain Sir J. Ross, came in and 
brought lip. Two boats were sent ashore, and hauled up, to, £til back upon, 
should further progress be made; but being unable to get out by the 20th, so 
as to be usefully employed, preparations were commenced for wintering. 

With reference to the winter that we have spent, one filct will speak for 
itself, viz. that there has not been one single case of sickness in either the" Lady 
Franklin" or "Sophia." Indeed, so completely were both the minds and bodies 
kept properly occupied and carefully attended to, that, with the crews I have, 
it would have been surpri~ing to have seen sickness. While on this subject, 1 
cannot but make mention in terms of praise of Messrs. Sutherland, Goodsir, 
and Stuart,-their exertions alike to instruct and amuse the men greatly contri­
buting to the happy issue. 

Frequent communication has been held with Captain Austin's expedition, 
which has wintered in the strait between Griffiths and Cornwallis Islands, and 
arrangements were made with reference to the different routes to be taken in 
the coming travelling. Pursuant to these there are at present ready to start 
from the" Lady Franklin" and" Sophia" two parties of three sledges each, to 
explore Wellington Channel and the land which may be fOllnd at the head of 
that great inlet. Independent of the above, there are two dog sledges prepared 
for extended search in the same direction. One of these will be conducted 
by the interpreter, Mr. Peterson, of whom I would beg to make particular 
mention, trusting that his noble devotion in the calise of our countrymen may 
be remembered to his advantage. 

The day at present fixed for the start is Monday the 14th April, should the 
weather continue favourable. Previous to starting I have thought proper to 
make out this despatch for their Lordships information. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) WilL PENNY, 

Captain, &c. 

No. 17. 
1\1r. PENNY to the SECRETARY OF THE ADMIRALTY. 

H. M. S. Lady Franklin, at sea, 
Sir, . 8th September 1851. 

RESU~ING my report of proceedIngs fro!? ~he date of my last despatch, I 
have to J11form you, that on the 17th A unl SIX sledO"es with forty-one officers 
and ~en, started from the ships, und~r the com~and of Captain Stewart of the 
Sophia; and I could not but be gratified by seeIng what our small means had 
put in our power. to do, with these parties of men alike able and willing. The 
sledges were vanously o!ficered by Captain Stewart, Messrs. Marshall, Reid, 
and J. Stuart, and Drs. Sutherland and Goodsir. The course intended to be 
pursue? w~s, to J.lroceed so ~Ir together up the w~st side of Wellington Channel, 
and, after J etur~Ing the depot sledges, two parties to cross to the east side of 
the cha~~el, wlnle other two follow up the west coast to the head of the channel 
the posl~lOn of land ~hen .seen. determining their ~llture procedure. Each sledg; 
was eqUipped for fOity days, and the average weights per man were upwards of 
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~OO.lbs. I started ti'om the ships on the 18th with the dog-sledges, accoln­
panted by Mr. ~eterson, and at noon on the 18th I joined the sledges. They 
had found the Ice very heavy, in consequence of the recent snow, and the high 
temperature J and. their )ourney of the previous day had 110t exceeded six miies 
and a half. r~e meffic.lent state of our cooking apparatus had already begun 
to. cause mu.ch .1I1con~el11ence. On the 19th the temperature fell, and a gale of 
W1l1~ fa.ceu 1I1.1I1!rned.lately on entering the channel, which continued with only 
partlal1l1termlSSIOn tIll the ~'2d. During all this time I was cOlltinually among 
them; and whatever doubts. t~le want of experience of my young officers might 
ha\'e warranted m~ enterta1ll1l1g, they were all removed by witnessing their 
management of their men on the occasion. On the 21st Mr. J. Stuart was 
returned with the. two depot sledges, and only one tent. In con seq uence of 
the ex.treme seventy of the weather, I felt great anxiety for this party; how­
ever, 111 two marches they reached the ship with only a short interval of rest. 

Meanwhile the gale contillued down the channel, with a temperature 
varying from 25 to SO. This, and the want of numerous articles, such as a 
sufficient supply of fuel, stronger conjurors, &c., caused me to entertain a 
fear of failure, if these defects were not remedied in time. I accordill,rly con­
sulted my officers on the subject; and, in consequence of our unanimolls"'o'pinion 
that a timely return was the most advisable step, I determined to deposit all 
the provisions and the two best sledges at this spot, returning \\' i th the other 
two to receive alterations. The distance travelled to this spot wa:; forty-two 
miles. The dog-sledges in their return accomplished this distance in aile stnge. 

The other four parties, after making the deposit, returned, reaching the bay 
at noon on the 26th, everyone in the best of health, and not a single case of 
fi'ostbite; and I cannot but state my admiration of the constant contentment 
and steady and willing endurance of the oflicers and men of the parties, under 
circumstances of no small hardship. From this date till the :Jth of :'IIa} CH'I')' 

one was busily engaged preparing more amply for what we had fOUlld to be 
necessary in our first journey. On the 6th, after a short prayer to the Almighty 
to enable us to fulfill our duty, three sledges again started, the crews ot' the 
two that had been left up channel being distributed amongst them. 

They were again in cbarge of Captain Stewart till slIcil time as I should 
myself join them at their upper depot, when I was to see each party take its 
separate route. At G A. ~J., on the 9th May, I started with 1\11'. Peterson 
and Thomson (one of the seamen) with the two dog-sledges; and a ~ 1'. :u., 
we overtook the parties, then camped at their further depot. From Point 
Separation, in ,j 0 [j' N. lat., Captain Stewart, with his auxiliary, Dr. Suther­
land, and Mr. J. Stllart of the" Lady Franklin," left, proceeding to Cape 
Grinnell, Mr. John Stuart there separating, and proceeding along the coast to 
Cape Hurd, examining the various beaches, &c. for further traces, as strong 
opinions were still entertained that more was to be found in timt quarter. 

Mr. Goodsir, with Mr. Marshall as his auxiliary, had assigned to them to 
examine the west side, and to follow up after the dog-sledges, receiring final 
instructions on reaching the head of the channel. Rapid journeys were made 
with the dogs to Cape De Haven in ~. lat. ,.5° '2'2'. Hence the land was seen to 
trend N. W. ten miles, terminating in a point, afterwards named Point Decision, 
which was reached at 1O~ P. ill. on the 1 '2th ;\>fay .• A hill of 4.00 teet in height 
was ascended, and in conseqnence of the land beillg seen continuous ill a north­
westerly direction, instructions were left to ~l r. G.ood~ir to tyke. this. coast along 
to the westward, while I myself proceeded III a i\. \\. by 1\. direct lOll towards 
land seen to the northward. At 5 P. lIf. Oil the Hth we encamped on the ice, 
having travelled twenty-five miles N. W. by N. from Point Decision. The fol­
lowing day, after travelling twenty miles from this encampment in a N. W. by 1'. 
direction, we landed at 7 P. lIf. on an island named Baillie l-L~milton Island. 
Ascending a hill about 500 feet high above the headlan~ on which. we landed, 
the ice to the westward in the strait between CornwallIs and HamIlton Island 
was seen to be much decayed, and an island was s~en to. the westward ~istant 
thirty-five or forty miles. As tl~e d~cayed state ot th~ Ice prevented further 
progress to the westward from tillS pomt, and no trace bemg fo~nd, we pr?ceeded 
round the island, first to the N. N. E.; and afterwards, on roundJllg Cape ~coresby 
in a N. N. W. direction, on the 16th we came upon what to all appearance was 
water' and on halting on the 17th at Point Surprise we were astonished to , G 
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open out alluther strait, which was twen~y-five miles of clear ~ater. . An isl~nd 
was seen bearing W li S" distant forty mIles, and. a h.eadland dIstant fifteen mIles 
"'. by N,; the dark sky over this headland indlcatl?g the pr~sen~e of water to 
the extent of perhaps twenty miles on the other sIde. TIllS pO,lOt was found 
to be in 76° (l' N. lat. and 95° 55' W. long. Further pro?~'ess be~ng prevented 
bv water, we being still without traces, and the dogsyrovlSI,ons belllg exhausted 
n'O other course remained but to return to the ShIpS, wInch we reached after 
rapid journeys at midnight on the 20th May. 

The carpenters and people Oil board were immediately set ahout preparing a 
boat to endeavour to reach this water soon. 

On the Qgth ;\Jay the second mate arrived, having left Mr. Goodsir in 
75° ,'1(/ N. and gGo W. Water had been ~een by them .to the ?orthward from 
their furthest station. He made a very rapId return, havlIlg run III one day from 
twenty-five to thirty mil~s: Everyone on board continued ~ctively em~loyed, 
preparing the boats, provISIOns, &c.; and on the 4th J une l~ sta~ted with one 
auxiliary sledge, and one dog sledge, the whole party bemg III charge of 
;U r. Manson. 

On the 6th of June Mr. John Stuart returned with his party fi'om Cape 
H urcl, after an absence of thirty.one days, but without having found any trace 
eit!ll'r indicative of the course pursued by H. M. S. "Erebus" and" Terror", 
or of any retreating party having stlbs~quently passe? ?Iong that coast. A~er 
thirty-six holll's rest Mr. Stuart agaIn started to Jom Mr. Manson, havmg 
equipped his sledge for a twenty days journey. He overtook the boat on the 
morninn' of the 8th June, then one mile to the westward of Cape Hotham. 
The sagle day a dog-sledge from Mr. ;\janson arrived at the ship, stating that 
the sledge on which the boat was placed, after trial, had been found unfit for 
the purpose. The armourer, who was returned with the dog sledge, was imme­
diately set about preparing a larger sledge, but having no carpenter on board 
the woodwork was finished by Sir John Ross's carpenter. On the 11 th, at 
4 1\.;\1., I joined the boat with the two dog-sledges; and all hands were imme· 
diately set about fitting and lashing the new sledges, and arranging the weights 
of the party between the two long sledges and the two dog-sledges. On the 
12th Mr, Manson returned, no one then being left in the ships but the clerk in 
charge. 

The improvement 011 the boat sledge was remarkable, and the ice also so 
much better, that a distance of 105 miles was accomplished in seven marches. 
The- boat being then launched into the water and laden, the fatigue party 
returned, and reached the ship on the 25th June, all in good health. The dogs 
dragging their light sledges the whole way, 

On our journey out we met Dr. Sutherland at Depot Point, returning after 
an ab~ence of thirty-eight days. He reported having left Captain Stewart in 
76° ~o' ~, in the opening of Wellington Channel, but without havinO' yet 
fallen in with any traces. When oft' Point Griffith's on the 14th, MOessrs. 
Goodsir and Marshall were fallen in with, ha\'ing examined the northen shores 
of Cornwallis and Bathurst land as far 99° W., but still without having fallen 
in with any traces. They' were obliged to return in consequence of the 
water. 

Resuming the boat journey, after sepal:ating from the fatigue sledges on the 
17th June, we proceeded about ten miles to the westward, when we were 
obliged to take shelter in an adjacent bay, in consequence of a head sea and 
strong wes~erly gale. From this date until the 20th of July, 3lO miles of coast 
were exammed b~ the boat, ~nder very di,sadyantageous circumstances, arising 
fr?l11. co~stant untavonra,ble wmds and rapid tides.. Our provisions being then 
wlthm eight days of bemg consumed, and our distance from the ships such 
that prudence would not wan:ant further perseveranc~ with this supply, we 
commenced our return, and WIth a strong north-west wmd succeeded in reach­
ing Abandon Bay after fifteen hours and a hal£ The ice beinO' so decayed as 
to preclude ,the launching of even an :mpty, boat, we were cor~pelled to haul 
the boat as?ore and abandon he~" takmg: WIth us four days provisions. The 

'weather dUl'lllg our return was bOisterous m the extreme, with continued rain 
which made the streams it was necessary to ford very rapid. . The constant· 
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wet caused the greatest discomfort, but from none of my men did I once hear 
a :complaint. l.n 75° N. lat. we foun~ a boat which Captain Stewart had 
wls~ly sent .out 11l case of such a contmgency as had occurred; but the ice 
bavmg set mto the mouth of Wellin;!;ton Channel, which had up to this time 
been open, we were nnable to fetch her down further than Barlow Inlet. 
Thence we walked to the ships, which we reached at 10 P. lIf. on the 
25th July. 

Captain Stewart had returned on the 21st June, havinO' reached Cape Becher 
in 76° 'to' N. lat. and 97° W. long. 0 

. He had again started on the 1 st July, and carried up a depot for my return 
to Cape De Haven, returning from this journey on the 17th July. 

. F~r particulars during the different searches, I would refer you to the accom­
panylllg reports. 

On my retllrn I was agreeably surprised to hear that Barrow Straits had 
been open, as far as could be seen, since the 2d of Julv, all occurrence which 
was so far to be expected as the strait was seen to' be in motion till the 
11th of March. The land ice had also come Ollt of Wellington Channel as filr 
up as Point Separation, probably about the 5th of July; and on the 27th J lily, 
when our travelling operations concluded, the fast edge in the Channel con­
tinued in the same position. 

'fhe ships continued ice-bound till the lOth August; bllt, had our parties 
retllrned in sufficient time to refit, and be ready to cut out fi'om the date of 
water making, we would have been at liberty on the 15th of July. 

On the 11th of August, Captain Austin's ships entered our harbour in their 
progress to the eastward. His parties had penetrated as far as ships could hope 
to do, yet, like our own, unsuccessful in finding the least trace of the mi~,ing 
expedition. In fact, none had been found, such as would warrant the risk of :t 

second winter; and my orders being such as left no alternative, I determined on 
immediately returning to England, if no instructions to the contrary should 
be met with. In proceeding down the country, we landed at Cape Hay 
and Button Point in Ponds Bay, positions considered the most probable for 
despatches being left on by the whale ships. Finding none we continued our 
course down along the land, crossing in 70° ~. lat. through a body of l'f,O miles 
of ice. We made repeated endeavours to reach Lievly, on the island of Disco, 
to ascertain if any despatches had been left there for our guidance; but thick 
weather, and a strong northerly wind, obliged us to haul off after having made 
a narrow escape hom a reef lying close inshore. \\' e parted from the ., Sophia" 
about twenty miles off the land, expecting to rejoin her after having communi· 
cated with the Danish settlement; but the thick weather and strong gale 
continuing for twenty-four hours, we separated from her, anel have not since 
seen her. Captain Stewart's instructions in case of sllch an event were, to make 
the best of his-way to Woolwich, having it in his power to take eitherthe English 
Channel or the Pentland Firth as his route, according as the wind might lead. 

In speaking of the services of the various officers under me, I would mention 
my second in command as an able and energetic coadjutor, both on board ship 
and in conducting the search along the east coast of \V ellington Channel and 
the south shores of Albert Land; and his foresight in laying out depots and a 
boat for the boat party greatly facilitated our safe return. Dr. Sutherland of 
the" Sophia" as his auxiliary, in travelling proved himself a most indebtigable 
officer, and his attention while on board to natural history and meteorology 
will no doubt afford many useful facts. Of Mr. D. Manson, the chief mate of 
the" Sophia," an old and experienced whaling master, I cannot speak too highly. 
He had charge of the vessels during the absence of myself and Captain 
Stewart, and throughout the winter he paid the greatest attention to tidal and 
barometrical registers; and his services in conducting the boat to Cape Hot­
ham, under peculiarly disadvantageous circumstances, were beyond all praise. 
Mr. James Reid, the second mate of the" Sophia," a son of the ice-master of the 
" Erebus," accompanied Captain Stewart in the first journey as an auxiliary, and 
afterwards proceeded with him to his furthest. 

Of Messrs. Marshall and Leiper, the chief and secoild mates of the "Lady 
Franklin," -I would make mention as experienced and skilful ice officers; and 
the exertions of the one in accompanying Mr. Goodsir in the whole extent of 
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his journey, and the other as my second in the boat, were suc~ as could ~ot 
but afford me the greatest satisfaction. The whole of the dutIes of refittmg 
the ship during my absence fe!1 upon ::\II'. Marshall, and were accomplished in 
a time remarkably short. consIdering the few hands on board. Of Mr. John 
Stewart. the youngest officer un.der my ~ommand, I cannot speak to? highly. 
Findino. that there were no dutIes as assIstant surgeon, he acted as tlllfd mate; 
and his'" exertions in preparing the travelling equipments, his surveys of various 
bays during his travels, and his assisting in preparing charts, &c., have proved 
of the greatest. lise; and for his proceedings during the search of the beaches, 
&c. between Cape Grinnell and Cape Hurd. I would refer you to his journal. 
He afterwards started as an auxiliary to the boat party, with an interval of only 
thirty-six hours, and was subsequently employed in numerous short journies, 
conducting boats, &c. 

111'. Goodsir, in his western search, discharged alike his duty to this expe­
dition and his missing brother. 

Mr. Peterson, the interpreter, in conducting the dog sledges, and in affording 
much useful information wirh reference to travelling, as well as his personal 
exertion in the same, to the extent even of injuring his health, has afforded me 
the greatest satisfaction; and of his services as an interpreter on a former 
occasion, I have made mention in a previous despatch. 

Of the seamen of both vessels placed under my command I cannot speak 
too highly; f()l' neither in winter quarters, nor while enduring the privation and 
fatigues of' travelling did ever one complaint or grumble reach my ears. Of 
their unwearied exertiolls a schedule is laid before you, and if success has not 
attended their labours they have not the less performed their duties. 

I have, &c. 
(~igned) WILLIAM PENNY, 

Commanding the Expedition. 

SCIl~DULE showing the total number of days engaged and miles travelled in the 
Journeys of the officers and men of the LADY FUANKLIN and SOPHIA, 
\lnder the orders of Captain \VILLIAM PEXNY, durin lT their search for Her 
l\bjesty's Ships EREnus and TERROR,-17th A pril ~o the 27th of July 
1:-;,) 1. 

THE LADY FRANKLIN. 
--~--- -_ .. 

Total. 
Name. Rate. 

Days. Miles. 

1. Captain William Penny - 66 932 
2. Mr. John Marshall - - I Mate 

= I 
53 428 

:1. John Leiper - i 2d ;\Iatc 84 862 
,j.. John Stuart - 3d Matc - I 53 535 
5. Hobert A. Goodsir - , Surgeon 53 428 
6. J. Carl C. Pdersen - I 

7. Moses Hobimon 
- ; Interpreter - ! 26 542 
- i Boatswain - I 59 515 

R. Daniel Hendry -. - i Carpenter I 
88 832 

9. Alexander Robertson - I Steward " 10. Richard Kitson Captain of Hold 56 498 
11. Alexander Leiper - Carpenter's Mate 53 428 12. Alexander Bain - Sailmaker 53 428 13. vYilliam Mark - - Cook 21 222 14. James Leslie Armourer 54 524 15. John Koble Cooper 53 428 16. Alexander Thompson - Able Seaman 69 932 17. John P. Lueas A.B. 57 702 18. Thomas Langster - I A.B. 
19. George Fmdlay I 57 594 

A.B. 57 540 20. William Brands A.B. 56 498 21. Boreas A. Smith - I A.B. 63 627 
~~. William Bruee A.B. 
23. James Hodgston 84 862 

2+. J. Davidson 
A.B. - 84 862 

25. "'alter Craig 
A.B. 88 832 
:\. B. 

: I 31 347 26. George Farce A.B. 60 557 
! 

• Left in charge of stores. 
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THE SOPHIA. 

Total. 
Name. Rate. 

I Days. Miles. 

1. Captain Alexander Stewart - - - - - 76 62.5 
2. Mr. DonalU Manson - - - Mate - - - 8 33 
3. Mr. James Reid - - - 2d Mate - - - .59 .560 
4. Dr. Peter C. Sutherland - - Surgeon - - · .55 380 
5. Alexander Samuel · - - Boatswain - · 76 70.5 
6. Matthew Shiells - . - Carpenter . - - 31 302 
7. John Gordon - · - · Captain of Hold - · 28 277 
8. James Knox . . - Cook - - - · .50 837 
9. Alexander Hardy - · Steward - - II' 136 

10. John Eddie - .. - Carpenter's Mate - .53 
11. Donald Sutherland - . · Sailmaker . - · 20 1.5.5 
12. Andrew Adams - . - Able Seaman - - .59 560 
13. James M'Kenzie · - · A.8. . - - 77 747 
14. William Marshall . - · A.B. - - - 77 702 
IS. Alexander Smith - · A.B. - · 77 737 
16. John Lawson . - A. B. - - - :,Ii 622 
17. George Knowles . · A.B. . · 76 70.5 
18. George Thomson · - A.B. . . · 50 500 
19. John Dunbar - - - A.B. - - · 77 747 
20. Andrew Robison · - · A.B. . - 51 .5~2 

Every officer and man has done his duty. 

(Signed) WM. PENNY. 

No. 18. 
Mr. PENNY to the LORDS OF THE ADMIRALTY. 

My Lords, Ship Hotel, London, 12th September 1851. 
ON my return from the Arctic regions I beg to lay before my Lords Commis­

sioners of the Admiralty, at the very earliest moment on consideration, certain 
points which are of vital importance to the search in which I and so many 
others have been engaged; and I beg your Lordships to excuse any undue 
freedom of expression which may occur in putting before you my convictions. 
First, I have, under a deep sense of duty, to express to your Lordships the 
extreme importance of the fact, which I have learnt only since my return, that 
the provisions carried out by the "North Star" are lying in Lancaster Sound 
instead of at Disco Island. Had this fact been made known to the searching 
squadron, either at the time when so deposited, or this year, it mllst have very 
materially affected the question of the return of the. expedition, whose labour, 
now that the course taken by the missing ships is known almost to a certainty, 
could not have been cramped for want of resources to fall back upon. The 
whole of Captain Austin's squadron are convinced, from my report, and from 
not having seen the "North Star" themselves, that Mr. Saunders deposited 
his provisions at Disco. I feel bound to add, that had that officer permitted 
me to see your Lordships instructions, I should have been aware that his 
interpretation of them was not in conformity with the meaning of your 
Lordships. 

Secondly. Your Lordships are aware that I have discovered the course of 
Wellington Channel lies N.W. a distance of sixty miles beyond the point 
which I reached, and about 180 beyond the entrance of the channel from 
Barrow Straits; and that it is my conviction, that the extensive yet unavaii. 
tng investigations of the coast of Barrow Strait westward place beyond a doubt 
that the missing expedition has taken this N. W. channel, and that their 
course should be therein followed with the utmost energy, determination, and 
despatch. 

GS 
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The heavy barrier of ice which has blocked up Wellington Channel near its 
junction with Barrow Straits prevented all access nor~hwards, ~o~h last year a~d 
the present, up to the period of OUT return; and 111. ~y ~ptm(}n a powe~tul 
steamer only, to take ad.vantage of. the short season, IS fit for the acc~mphsh. 
ment of the work. It IS not pOSSible to over-rate the advantages of such a 
steamer; it would do with safety what nothing else could accomplish. 

Thirdly. My observations con vinced me, that, this .north~rn latitude on~e 
reached. comparative open water would be found. The chmateImproves; and In 

pr x)f of this 1 may mention that within this channel at Point Surprise, lat. 76° 2', 
1011g. g5 C 55', we found ducks on 17th May, full a month earlier than in the 
lower latitude j while the sea was even then so fi'ee from ice that tbe"water 
washed our very feet as we stood upon the point. The quantity ofdrut wood 
was comparatively; and among this was found a piece of drift wood of English 
elm, evidently to me a bit thrown overboard fi'om the "Erebus" and "Terror." 
'" alrus and seals were also seen and killed. And from all these circumstances of 
impro\'ecl food and fuel it is impossible to doubt that Sir John Franklin's party 
may still be living in this most northern region. 

In conclusion I venture to put before your Lordships the importance of 
immediate steps for the prosecution of the search; and 1 entreat you to send 
up a powerful steamer without delay to follow up the work which we have 
[tiled to accomplish for want of fitting means to do so. And on account of feeling 
myself fettered by the terms of my instructions, 1- feel myself bound to state, 
in further explanation, that the terms of the instruction 1 receivedfi'om your­
Lordships seemed to leave me no alternative but to return home. Had it not 
been for those restrictions, 1 should not have dared to have done so. At 
the same time, with my present means, but crippled by the depots of provisions 
which have been left 011 the coast, and with no known resources to fall back 
upon, I could not have lasted on another year without great risk to my men. 

Since illy return, I learn that Captain M'Clure and Captain Collinson are 
proceeding eastward from Behring Strait, intending to reach Melville Island, 
which I have not the slightest doubt of their accomplishing; and being aware 
also of the opinion of' Captain Kellett, \\-hich is my own also, that they would 
not return westward, 1 leave your Lordships to judge if such a certainty, as I 
may presllme to call it, does not afford additional necessity for sending to meet 
them at the earliest moment. 

It~ the promptest measures are adopted, and a steamer prepared with all 
pOSSible despatch, she may easily reach Lancaster Sound before it is closed by 
ice for the season; and for the command of sllch a vessel, to be accompanied by 
the ., Lady Franklin" and "Sophia," whose officers and crews are to a man 
willi.ng an(~ eager to return,. I. beg to offer my services. My officers and men 
are III perfect health, and wIlllllg to follow wherever I may lead them. If this 
plan . ~e adopted, the "North Star" should be sent up next spring, with 
proVISIOns, coals, and stores. 

1 have, &c. 
(Signed) WILLIAM PENNY. 

No. 19. 
Board Minute, 18th September. 

l\I Y Lor~s have thought it proper to request the attendance of Sil·'Francis 
Beaufort, Sir Edward Parry, and Sir James Ross Captain Beechy Sir George 
Back, and Sir John Richardson. ' , 

The following Offic.ers, viz., Sir Francis Beaufort, Sil' Edward ,Parry, Sir 
James, Ross, and Captam Beechy, attended here this day; Sir John Richardson 
and Sir George Back not being within reach. 

This letter, N? 18., was placed ~efore the above officers present, and they 
have seen Captall1 Penny, and havlllg afterwards communicated with their 
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Lordships, my Lords, on a full consideration of the 
acceding to Captain Penny's offer. 

circumstances, declined 

Present :-Sir Francis Baring. 
Admiral Berkeley. 
Admiral Stewart. 
Captain Milne. w. A. B. H., SecY. 

Acknowledge rec~ipt of thi.s letter, and .acquaint Captain Penny, that my 
Lords are much gratIfied by hIs zeal, and tl1lS (TenerOllS offer of his services to 
proceed with his two ships, ana a steamer, to'" endeavour to reach Lancaster 
Sound this season; but that, on a full consideration of all the circumstances of 
the case, their Lordships declined to accept of his offer. 

\V. A.B. H. 

No. 20. 
SECRETARY OF THE ADMIRALTY to 1\11'. PENNY. 

Sir, Admiralty, 13th September 1851-
REFERRING to a despatch from Captain Austin, of H.M.S. " Resolllte," 

dated the 12th August last, in which he states that, " having communicated 
" with Captain Penny, and fully considered his official reply to my letters 
" relative to the search of Wellington Strait by the expedition under his charge 
" (unhappily without success), I do not teel authorized to prosecnte (even if 
" practicable) a further search in these directions," I am commanded by my 
Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty to signify their direction to you to take 
the earliest opportunity of transmitting to me, for their Lordships information, 
a copy of your official letters to Captain A ustin referred to. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) W. A. B. HAMILTON. 

No. 21. 
Mr. PENNY to the SECRETARY OF THE ADMIRALTY. 

Sir, 437, Strand, 15th September 1851. . 
I AM sorry that I have not with me a copy of the note to which Captain 

Austin refers in his despatch, but I know the words by heart, and they will 
appear in the following statement which I have the honour to lay before YOll 
fo.· the information of the Lords of the Admiralty. 

I stated verbally to Captain Austin that it was my conviction that Sir John 
Franklin had gone through the strait leading N. W. out of Wellington 
Channel (which I have for the present named Queen Victoria Channel), and 
that he had gone off in clear wa~er, and that he was beyond our reach. I 
meant, of course, beyond the reach of' my parties and my means. He did not 
seem disposed to credit my statement. I begged him to give me one of his 
steamers, and I would take the" Sophia," and would act as pilot, and go up the 
channel, and wait to see if the ice would clear away; that he would thus have 
he advantage of my practical experience. Captain A lIstin declined this rpquest, 
and went away. Late at night he wrote me note, saying, "Is Wellington 
Channel searched, or is it not searched?" My reply in writing was, "Sir, 
your question is easily answered. I did all in the power of man to do in 
Wellington Channel. It requires no further search." I feel convinced that I 
have given the exact words I used, and I limited myself to the question he 
put to me. Captain Austin is perfectly aware that I had previously put before 
him all the circumstances, and that I had discovered open water leading north­
west out of Wellington Channel. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) WM. PENNY. 

G4 
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No. 22. 
SECRETARY OF THE ADMIRALTY to Mr. PENNY. 

Sir Admiralty, 15th September, 1851. 
WIT~ reference to yoUI' letter ofth!s day's date, in '.vhich you state that" I 

" begged him (Captain Austin) to gIve me one of IllS steamers, and I would 
" take the 'Sophia' and act as pilot, and go 1I.p the Channel,." I am com­
manded by my Lords Commissioners of the AdmIralty to acquamt you, that 
my Lords would wish you to explain clearly wI.lether there was not a barrier of 
ice at the entrance of Wellington Channel, winch would have prevented these 
vessels proceeding in that direction. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) W. A. B. HAMILTON. 

No. 23. 
Mr. PENNY to the SECRETARY OF THE ADMIfiALTY. 

Sir, 437, Strand, 16th September 1851. 
h reply to your letter of the 15th instant, in reference to my application to 

Captain A IIstin to give me one of the steamers, and I would take the" Sophia" 
and act as pilot, and go up the channel, and requesting me to explain clearly 
\"hether there was not a barrier of ice at the entrance of Wellington Channel 
which would have prevented these vessels proceeding in that direction, I 
beg to state in reply that there was undoubtedly a barrier of ice at the time I 
made the application, but that I nevertheless was anxiously desirous to go up 
to it with the vessels I have named, and remain there for the chance of its 
opening until the setting in of the frost at the close of the season; it being 
understood that had the wind remained from the west. as it then was, I could 
not expect any change, but a shift of wind to the eastward would have made 
a rapid alteration in the ice. 

I t is my conviction that to such a sudden change is to be attributed the 
signs of Sir John Franklin's precipitate departure from his winter encampment. 
}'or this reason I was most anxious to be watching at the edge of the ice. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) W1\I. PENNY. 

No. 24. 
SECRETARY OF THE ADMIRALTY to Mr. PENNY • 

. Sir, Admiralty, 15th Septemher 185i. 
"ITH reference, to the first paragrapl! of yoyr letter of the 12th April last, 

addressed to the Secretary of the AdmIralty, 111 which you state that, "the 
" traces found of the Franklin Expedition were apparently those rif a retreating 
" ]Jarl!}," I am commanded by my Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty to 
call upon you to define more particularly what is meant by the said expression. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) W. A. B. HAlHI!-TON. 

No. 25. 
1\1r. PENNY to the SECRETARY OF THE ADMIRALTY. 

Sir, 437, Strand, 18th September 1851. 
I:-: rt'fel'cnce to the expression lIsed by me in my de~patch of April 17th, 

that t~e traces found ~f the Frank!1I1 expedition were apparently those of a 
retre~tlllg party. of wInch you call upon me to define more particularly my 
mealllng, I have to state, that I formed my opinion entirely from Captain 
Ommanney; but that, as appears farther on in my despatch, I was afterwards 
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led .to a very.different conclusion on landing, and finding undoubted traces of 
a wmter statIOn of the Erebus and Terror in 1845 and 1846, of which the 
date upo~ the graves is positive evidence. Captain Ommanney had not seen 
these eVIdences of a prolonged stay when he found the opinion to which I 
had alluded, and which was afterwards rejected by the whole of the squadron. 
To make the matt~r more sure, I took a travelling party to explore all the way 
to Ca~e Hurd, wIthout finding anything which could justify the idea of a 
retreatmg party. 

Had it been a retreating party traces would have been found of such in the 
way to it and in the way from it, in some quarter or another, whereas the whole 
country has been scoured without discovering any. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) WM. PEN~Y. 

No. 26. 
SECRETARY OF THE ADMIRALTY to Mr. PENNY. 

Sir, Admiralty, 17th September 1851. 
WITH reference to the H!th paragraph of' your sailing orders, dated the 

11th of April 1850, in which you are referred to the ~2d paragraph of Sir John 
Franklin's orders, an extract from which is enclosed, I am commanded by my 
Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty to signify their direction to YOll, in 
conformity with that part of your instructions, on the arrival of' the " Lady 
Franklin" at Woolwich, to transmit to me, for their Lordships information, ail 
logs, journals, or remarks, together with all letters that you may have received, 
on matters relating to the service on which you have been engaged, from 
Captain Austin or other officers in command of Her Majesty's ships, with 
copies of your replies thereto, together with any other papers relating to your 
voyage, and all charts and drawings, duly sealed, for their Lordships informa­
tion and disposal. And, on the arrival of the" Sophia" at \r oolwich, you are 
to give similar directions to Mr. Stewart, who is in command of that v~ssel, to 
deliver all documents as above named to you, to be in like manner transmitted 
to me for their Lordships information and disposal. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) W. A. B. l-lA:\IILTON. 

No. 27. 
Mr. STEWART to the SECRETARY OF THE ADMIRALTY. 

Sir, Peterhead, 13th September 185!. 
I BEG to acquaint you, for the information of my Lords Commissioners of 

the Admiralty, that the "Sophia" arrived here this forenoon, having parteu 
company with the. "Lady }<~ranklin" on the £lst August off Disco Isla~d 
in thick weather slIIce that time. In pursuance of my orders fi'om Captalll 
Penny I have been returning to England as expeditiously as possible, and 
made ~he land of :\'oup Head on the evening of the 9th instant; since that 
time I have been detained by light calm weather, anu only arrived here in the 
fore part of the 13th. . . . 

AscertainillO" that Captam Penny has already alTlved I have nothmg further 
to ~ommand, ~nd intend proceeding with the "Sophia" down the east coast 
to Woolwich. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) ALEX. STEWART. 

No. 28. 
SECRETARY OF THE ADMIRALTY to Mr. PENNY. 

Sir Admiralty, 22d September 1851. 
WIT~ reference to your letters of the 12th April and 8th September last, and 

to your report of the zealous assistance afforded to you by the several officers 
H 
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d I tl . amed as well as to the general good conduct of your men, 
an ot lers lerem n. . I Ad . It' 
I am commanded by my Lords CommissIOners of t leffi mira ~ 0 acq~alhnt 
'ou that m Lords desire to express to you, and to the ~ cers a~ cr~ws 0 t e 

~, Lady Frfnklin " and" Sophia," the sense they entertam of their praiseworthy 
conduct throughout the service they have been .employed upo~; and the 
satisfaction of my Lords at the untiring and praiseworthy exertIOns of the 
travelling parties, as evinced in the space traversed by them, and the geogra-
phical discoveries they have made. . . . 

My Lords are further of opinion, that great credit IS due to you and .Ca~tam 
Stewart and to the officers under your orders, for the state of health mamtamed 
on board your respective ships. 

\'" Oll will assure Mr. Petersen that the value of his services is fully acknow-
ledged by their Lordships. 

I am, &c. 
(Signed) W. A. B. HAMILTON. 

No. 29. 
Mr. PENNY to the SECRETARY OF THE ADMIRALTY. 

Sir, 437, Strand, 10th October 1851. 
I HAYE read in the "Times" the correspondence between Captain Austin 

and myself, which their Lordships have been pleased to send to the news­
papers; without meaning any disrespect to their Lordships, I hope I may be 
allowed to say, that I think this is not fair to myself, as I had no opportunity 
of making any explanation of the circumstance, which are quite necessary to a 
right understanding of it. 

If the object is to show that I thought nothing more could be done than the 
complete search I had made of \r ellington Channel, it is answered by my 
having asked Captain Austin for the help of a steamer, which I would pilot 
up. Captain A ustin's own despatch shows, that on a previous occasion he did 
not afford me the assistance which I might have expected from him, in getting 
my boat up to the open water. But when Captain A ustin seemed to wish to 
throw upon me, after I had done all that man could do, the responsibility of his 
going there himself and following up my discoveries, I told him that he had 
got my chart, and that I had also told him my convictions that Sir John 
Franklin had gone up that channel in clear water, antI begged him to judge 
for himself. My last words to Captain Austin when he was going to Jones 
Sound were, "Go up \\' ellington Channel, Sir, and you will do good service to 
the callse." 

Their Lordships know that I have not been doing by Captain Austin in his 
absence what he appears to have done by me, but now that he is on the spot I 
do not hesitate to say that I have received from him very unkind and, as I 
tbink, very unfair treatment, and I am sure some of his own officers could 
bear .out .my assertions. I .hav.e always endeavoured to behave to Captain 
~'\ustll1 wlt.h th,e resp~ct whIch IS ?ue t~ an officer holding so high a command 
111 Her l\IaJesty s SerVice, and I thll1k Ius officers have been witness to this. I 
disdained to say anything of this in his absence. 

Their Lordships know that my training has not been to write official letters, 
and ~ am free t? c~nfess that I felt much hurt and offended that Captain 
Austll1 should lhll1k It necessary to write to me as if all I had been saying to 
him beforehand had gone for nothing. 

I left London for m>: ho~e at Aberdeen on Saturday last to see my children, 
but two hours after, bell1g mformed of the publication of the letters, I started 
on my. return, a~d am now ready to make such personal explanation as their 
LordsIups may give me an opportunity. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) WM. PENNY. 
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No. 30. 
SECRETARY OF THE ADMiRALTY to Mr. PENNY. 

Sir, Admiralty, 15th October 185!. 

HAVING laid before their Lordships your letter of 10th instant, I am desired 
to acquaint you that an opportunity of making such explanations as you may 
wish, with regard to your late proceedings, will be afforded you, and that my 
Lords will communicate further with you on the subject. 

I am, &c. 
(Signed) W. A. B. HAMILTON. 

No. 31. 
Mr. PENNY to the SECRETARY OF THE ADMIRALTY. 

Sir, 437, Strand, 14th October 185!. 

I HOPE there will be no objection on the part of their Lordships to my 
having returned to me the reports and journals of my officers and myself, as I 
am anxious that some account of what has been done should appear in print 
as soon as possible. 

I am, &c. 
(Signed) Wl\I. PENNY. 

No. 32. 
SECRETARY OF THE ADMIRALTY to Mr. PENNY. 

Sir, Admiralty, 16th October 1851. 
IN return to your letter of the 14th inst., requesting that the reports and 

journals of your proceedings, and those of the officers under your command, ill 
the "Lady Franklin" and "Sophia," may be returned to you, I am com­
manded by my Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty to acquaint you that the 
documents will be returned as soon as the public service will admit. 

I am, &c. 
(Signed) W. A. B. HAMILTON. 





Enclosure No.2. 

THE MINUTES OF EVIDENCE 

TAKEN BEFORE THE COMMITTEE. 



I N DE X TOE V IDE NeE. 

l1fr. Penny 
Pages. 

1. 24. 60. 144. 
J.1:fr. A. Stewart 12. 125. 145. 
Dr. Sutherland 19. 122. 
Captain Austin 27. 145. 
Captain Ommanney 44. 58. 14,3. 

Rear-Admiral Sir John Ross 53. 
111r. Marshall 62. 
Commander Phillips - 67. 
lIfr. Goodsir 73. 
Mr. :Manson 77. 
.illr. John Stuart 80. 
ll[r. Harwood 81. 
1I1r. Ryder 83. 
Lie/lt. 11£' Clintock 85. 
11f1". Abernethy 94. 
Lieut. S. Osborn 98. 
Lieut. J. B. Cator 102. 
l1fr. Brac!ford 105. 
Lieut. Aldrich 109. 
Mr. R. C. Allen 113. 
Lieut. JV. H. J. Browne - 118. 
illr. lI:l'Dougall l20. 
Sir John Richardson 123. 
Commander Pullen 127. 
lIfr. Brooman 131. 
11k Richard King 132. 
Erasmlls York (Esquimaux) 135. 
Lieut. J. E. Elliott - 138. 
Lieut. Mecham 139. 
Mr. Pickthorne 140. 



First Day. October 27, 18.) 1. 
Present, Rear-Admiral Bowles, M. P., C.B., Chairman, 

Rear-Admiral Arthur Fanshawe, C. B. 
Captain Sir Edward Parn-, ' 
Captain Beechey, . 

:'dr. Fegell, Secretary to the Committee . 

. _-------

CAPTAI:'\" PEXKY called. 

THE CHAlRMAN.-Thc Committee 'ri~h mc to sav in the jir~t il;fance that 
there is not the slightest intention 011 the l)al't of this Committee ttl 
bring any accusation or crimination ug'ailJ~t any uf the ofiicers of the 
expedition. They arc quite certain that you hu\"(' al1 actt'rl to the 
best of your ability during the expedition with which you \\Cl':.' 

connected. We arc about to inquire rather with a ,-iew to the: 
future than to thc past, althougll our inquiries nlll-L naturally 
embrace the past as ,yell as the fuhlr,'. There is nothing alk:~,-'rl 
either against you or Captain Austin. "\V c arc anxions that that 
circumstance shou1cl be perfectly under~too(l in the (,0ll!"~C' of the 
proceeding to-day. 

1. Chairman.-The first question we shOUld like to ~~k you is, UPOll WIt,li 

grounds you consider it would han' been practicable to procC'ed filrthel' in the 
Wellington Straits during the autumn of thi,.; ::(,~<l- i' 

Captai'll Pcnll.tl.-I haye to state that the ice \Y[lS bruken up ill Wellil~'~~()n 
Strait as £'1f on the ;2;)(h day of J ul.Y l,-;;'J! a..; it was on t he- ~~t:! of ~;l'l'kmbct' 
last year. At the timc we left that country it \'."<1"; too ('"rh- to (b·irl", wi1dli, j' 

the channel would clear away or not. \i"l' ~ould ha,-c :-i()Pl;: . .'(l there olle mOlJth 
longer, and had strong north-east winds come it would han' clcarcll a\':,lY the 
ice through Qucen Victoria's Channcl. By )ul\-ing a steamer up ~~t tlw edge ;,:. 
the ice in "Tellington Strait \IT could haH' been watchil1~ {or such an ('I·,'::l. 

Do you understand? as they say I f'ometimes put in a \Yord that COJlJ21dcly 
changes the sense of a sentence. 

2. ClwirnwlI.-"\Ye quite understand you. ~o\Y, tcll us yom own opinion 
as to the probability of the ice clearing away? 

Captain Penny.-I have seen as great changes take place in ;()]'t,\--(·i!!ht 
hours with a strong favourable y,ind in that cOlllltry. 

3. Clwirman.-At what date did you SCI' the l'r~g(' of that barrier last? 
Captain Penn.Ij.-Oll the 25th of July. ~\'t'tcr that, about the 14th Ot' 

August, Captain Austin passed over Wellington Channel. I did not ~('e the 
bar later than the 2.5th of July. In the year 1 :-<.')0, on the 9th of Septembcr, 
from thirteen to fifteen miles of ice came out of that channel. 

4. Chairman.-You had better not remark upon Captain .\m! ill'S pro­
ceedings, as we shall hear him afterwards. It was in 18!)O you saw 'rhat 
you have described r 

C"pta£n Pem~1j.-I will tell you. LasL year in crOSt,jng this channel, we left 
Beechey Island to cross over to the west side of the channel; it came,on thick 
with a strong northerly wind, and we were obliged to make fllst to the ice. .A 
strong- northerly wind carne on, and from thirteen to fifteen miles of icc broke 
away and drove out of the channel, and I passed to thc northward of this floe 
of ice. Captain Austin was on the south side of this floe, and I was on the 
the other; this floe left fifteen miles of water behind it. 

I\: 
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5. Cha£rman.-That was on the 8th or 9th of September ~f last year, 1850? 
Captain Penny. I merely mention it to show how rapIdly changes take 

place. 
6. Chairman.-Do you belie,:e th~ ch.annel cleared at all. l~st year? 
Captain Penny.-I do not thmk It did. It was my opInIOn as well as the 

officers whom I requested to examine the ice, that fifteen miles of old ice 
remained in that channel. 

7. Sir E. P01"J:1J.-I think you said in. your evidence at Woolwich that about 
fifteen miles of ice were left at the last tllne? 

Captain Penn.1J.- Yes 5 Dr. S?the~layd was the officer w.ho was ~ppointed 
to examine that ice, and It was hIs opInIOn also that fifteen mIles remamed. 

8. Chaimwn.-Do you say that in 1850 the channel was never opened at all? 
Captain Penl/.y.-Such is my opinion. 

9. Clwirman.-Was there any possibility of a vessel going up the channel 
last year? 

Captain Penny.-No possibility of any. 

In reference to some conversation which took place, 
The Clwinwtn said, I think it would be convenient if you were to distin­

guish the two channels, Queen Victoria's Channel from the Wellington 
Strait, or some confusion may ensue. 

Sir E. Parr!J.-It is a very important thing to make the distinction. 
Wellington Strait may be compared to the door into the Queen's 
Channels shown on your chart; but those channels should not be 
called Wellington Strait. 

10. Clzairman.-Have you any reason to say, of your own knowledge, that 
a passage for a ship has been opened into this channel? 

Captain Penn.'}.-I ha\'e no doubt of its having been opened, but I cannot 
say of my own knowledge. 

11. ClwiJ'JlwlI.-But from your own observation, as an experienced man, you 
have come to the conclusion you have stated? 

Captain Penny.-I should say that once in two years this channel is opened. 
In 1850 we can only speak with certainty of it; this year we left too early to 
judge. 

12. Chairman.-Where was it you reached the water with your boat? 
Captain Pen11y.-About ten miles east of Disappointment Bay, on the 17th of 

June, into clear water. ,rind came from the westward, and brought in all 
the broken and detached ice upon us. We continued to struggle through this 
ice, and examine the yarious islands. The wind continued adverse for thirty­
three days, .less about thirty hours, and the tide kept the ice bound in the 
channel, whIch prevented us £i'om reaching the water until the 19th of July. 
All our provisions were expended. 

13. Chaz"rman.-Could a vessel of laro-er size navigate the waters your 
boat was in ? 0 

Captain Penny.-With perfect safety. 

l~. C!ulirman.-Do you think Sir John Fran~lin went through this chaD.nc~? 
Captam Penny.-I have no doubt on my mmd that he went through It m 

clear water; my conviction has always been so. Nobody has heard me sal 
anything else. 

15. Chaimwn.-Did you sound going throuo-h it? 
Captain Penny.-N 0, we did not sound. If the water had been shallow the 

ic~ wo~ld have grounded.. A~l t~e three channels were deep in the middle. 
\\ hat IS to be guarded agaInst m limestone formation is, the bolder the land the 
sball?wer the wa~er. There was only one small shallow in the middle channel, 
and It 'Yas close III shore and co\'ered with pressed-up ice, which prevents ships 
groundIng upon these shores. 

16. SI:r E. Parry.-How many soundings did you get? 
C~ptam Penny.-In co~sequence of the sea being covered with ice we had 

no tIme to take the soundmgs. Had there been any shallows the ice would 
have told us of them by grounding upon it. 
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17. Chairmnn.-HAd you any line with yon? 
Crrptain Penny.-Yes, we had a line ,~ith us, but it was not yery often 

used. I have no doubt that in the centre of all the channels the water was very 
deep. 

18. Sir E. Parr.IJ·-Are you speaking- of the middle channel now? 
Captain Penny.-I am speaking of all three. 

19· Chairman.-That you rather conjectured from the formation of the 
land than from any experience of your own? 

Captain Penny.-Y es; both from the formation of the land, and my own 
experIence. 

20. Chairman.-From the 17th June to the 20th July what instrument had 
you with you? 

Capta~n Penny.-My sextant and artificial horizon. I have a great many 
observatIOns. 

(Captain Penny produced the observations, and handed them to the 
Chairman.) 

21. Chairman.-You wrote to the Admiralty for your journals; did they 
return them to you ? 

Captain Penny.-No, they did not. 

22. Clwirman.-Have you any other memorandum of your proceeding? 
Captain Penny.-The journals are here (in the Admiralty). 
23. Chairmnn.-Did you write them every day? 
Cnplain Penny.-Every day they were dotted down at the time when 

travelling. The observations for longitude were rendered useless in consequence 
of the timepieces not keeping equal rate. I am confident of the latitudes. 
Could a man be in command of a ship for sixteen years and not take a correct 
observation? 

24. Clwirman.--Was the weather sufficiently fine to enable you to make 
these observations? 

Cnptain Penny.-W e had the latitude as often as three times in one 
place in consequence of being beset with the boat. The longitude was by a 
dead reckoning, and could not have been far out. 

25. Sir E. Pan:y.- Had you to alter any of the officers'. observations.? 
Cnptnin Penny.-Being young travellers, 'we all over estimated our dIstance, 

and had to reduce them, some nearly eighty miles. Haring gone so fre­
quently over the distance we could judge within a very little. 

26. Clwirrnnn.-Then of the latitudes you can speak with certainty? 
Captain Penny.-Y es; I can speak with perfect confidence of the latitudes. 

27. Sir E. Prtn:y.-Is there not a discrepancy between Mr. lWDougall and 
Dr. Goodsir as to some of their latitudes? 

Cnptain Penny -I can explain that. I was deceiyed myself at the time. 
It was a low shingly isthmus covered with s~ow, which. the be.st ~urveyor must 
have taken for ice. Mr. M'Dougall made hIS observatIOn whIle It was covered 
with snow, and he was deceived, as I was, fi'om a distance. I think fi'om 
Dr. Gooclsir's description some of his little islands were only hills on this flat. 
Dr. Goodsir passed oyer it. 

28. Si1' E. Pany.-Do you think Cornwallis Island and Bathurst Island 
join there? 

Captain Penny.-I have not the slightest doubt of it. 

Sir E. Parr.1J.-When in the hydrographical office they put Mr. M'Dougall's 
and Dr. Goodsir's surveys together, the land o\'erlapped: All who know 
what travelling is upon low flats know how easy it IS to make such 
mistakes. That was the case, I understand, when Captain Ommanlley 
and Lieutenant Osborne travelled towards Banksland; they did not 
know whether they were on land or ice • 

. 29. Admiral Fanshawe.-Do 11lnderstand you that your journals from the 
Admiralty have not been returned to you? . 

Captain Penny.-They have n9t been returned. 
K2 
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30. Sir E. Parrg.-Did you not come near Wellington Strait in 1851? 
Crrptrrin Penn,lf.-No; we passed off fi'om C~pe Hotham, about ten mIles on 

the outside of a floe. I did not go up the W cllmgton Channel. 

:n. Sir E. p(trI:y.-In 1'-:51 you were not able to see anything of Wellington 

Strait: . . 1 I fi h d 
Crl/JII/in Feilll.'/.-~ot after the 25th of July, W len we e t tee ge of the 

icc \yith the boat. 
:\:!. GI1)tili~1 B,'ed'(I/.-Tl:e faI .. the~t point.you rcached up the channel was 

Cape Becher 111 the Quecn VIctona Channel r 
<- "lllfllill PI'IIII,II.-Y eC'. 

:\:t ('llfllrtill 11('('(//1'.1/, - What was the latitude t 
('llldaill ]'CIIII.I/.-lt ":~IS ,()' 15 K. 

:3.1. Sir E. PIII"I://.-").[r. Stc\rart ga\'c me a long list of latitudes that he 
L,k, He tnwelled round the cast side of this channel, and came to Cape 
Bceher 

:3;). Clwinu{//l.-Did vou observe at this point ~ 
C,'jJflllli l'olil/I.-No,' but ('aptain Stewart did; and I could depend upon 

his o\)!'cTI·ation. 

:16. CIUlil'lllll//.- Which ,id..: of the channel was that? 
('111' (II ill ]'I'nll.y.-That was on the north-east side. 

"I, Clwirlll(III.-How far did you get on the south-west side? 
ellifflill Penll,I/.-I could not gct fiuther than Baring Island. 

:~~ CllllirnwlI.-Then before Y(lU turned about to return how far did you 
con,i(kr yourself from the main points of Sir John Franklin and Cape Lady 
\.';-:, 11 kEn ~ 

Captain Pellll:'/.-XU one can judge well of distances ~'ithout knowing the 
height of the land; probably sixty or seventy miles. 

:~D. Clllllrll/oll.-Do you think the water was all clear and open? 
(,I{ptoill Pellll!J.-I b,n-e no doubt of it from the way the winds prevailed. 

-10. C!IOil'llUlIl.-'Vhat sort of weather was it whell you turned back? 
(,I{plllill Pellil,ll.-It was n, clear day when we turned, but eame on very 

lll\.,j,t weather afterwards. ,V c had some days clear, but the greater part of 
thcm were moist. 

n . ..... 'ir E. Pan:y.-Do 'you think a ship could have navigated any of these 
channels :; 

C'(fptoill rellll.Ij.-. Y l'" ill clear water I have no doubt of it. I have 
Ilm-igated worse. 

·12. Adm;m/ F(/ns!wwe.-I think you expressed your opinion that Sir John 
Franklin pa"sed that way? 

CUp/fllil Penlii/.-Ye,:" that ,,·a~ my conviction, and has ever been. 

!:l. C!t(f~rlll(/II.-There is another question that you must expect to be asked. 
HolY was It you wrote a letter to Captain Austin stating that Wellington 
Channel was thoroughly searched and that nothing more could be done? 

Crlptain Pelll7.i/.- Wellington Channel was searched, but not beyond Wel-
lington Channel. \0 

1·1. C!wirman.-Let us just read the letter from you to Captain Austin? 

(The leller leas !tere read by tlte Chairman.) 

{ '(pf'lin Pell/Ii/-Captain Austin knew ,ery well what I had done in Wel­
Jill,:.:,t':m Chanllcl. I had expres~erl to him my cOI1yiction that Franklin had 
~·l;lll' a \\':~y through the ehannelm clear water. I could do no more with my 
111e:

'
,.' • 

. ,'). ("air/llan.-It i, necessary that you should explain this. What do you 
mean when you ,:lY, " I could uo no more with Ill\' means ',' 

Capraill PO! 11.11 -:1 meant what I had' told Captain A~stin before, that ( 
could tIo 110 more WIth the means I had at command. . 
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46. Chrtirman.-Y ou meant then by that expression to separate Wellington 
Channel from the U ppe\' Channel? 

Captain Penny.-Will you allow me to ask YOll a question? 

47. Chail'mrtn.-I think you had better answer mine first. 
Captain Penl1.y.-I told Captain Austin I could not undertake the fearful 

resportsibihty of saying beyond the channel was searched; why ask me what 
I could not tell? I mean, wI'!y should Captain Austin ask me what I could 
not tell ? 

48. Cltail'lllan.-All we want is an explanation; you had better contine 
yourself to that? . 

Captain Penll!J.-Ill that remark I confined myself to \\' ellington Channcl. 

49. Clwi'J'JI/((JI.-Very g-ood. Did you explain to Captain ~\.usti n at that 
time that a search should be Illade higher t 

Captain Penn.Ij.-I asked. hi~lI for :~ steamer, ana wouM pilot her up the 
channel to the Ice, ::nd Walt tlli the Ice ~houlcl clear :ma \'. I would have 
waited there a month. . 

50. Clwirman.-That was your reason for a,killg for a steamer ~ 
Captain PCIl1I.1J.-yc~; most undoubtedly. 

51. ClwiJ'lIIrtJl.-And you are still of opinion that if the icC' had cleared 
away you could ha\'c gone up? 

Captain Penlly.-Jl.lost unquestionably. 

52. Clwirlilall.-Did you explain that to Captain _-\ustin at the time? 
Captain Pem1.lJ.--Yes, and he refused me that steamer to go up with. 
53. Clwinnrll1.-Did you explain to Captain Austin at that time that Sir 

John l·'ranklin had gonc up that channel ? 
Captain Peml,lj.-').Tost unquestionably. 
Clwinnllll.-That is a sl1/TIciellt allswer . 

. 54. ClUI/·l'liIf!II.-You mcant by asking for a steamer that it woulcl be the 
best vessel to prosecute the discoveries if tlw ice had cleared away? 

Captain Penll.Y.··-Yl'~, the only n:~,el . 
. 55. Clwirmall.-.-\nr[ YUH offered to pilot the steamer on accollnt of your 

own experience ~ 
Captain Pel1I1Y.-Y C-'. 

56. ,,'il' E. P{/)'ry.-- Did you u,.;],; fin' a steamer to cOlllmand it yourself? 
Captain Pen7llJ.-To pilot it. 

Sil' E. ParJ:I/.-Piloting through the icc I hardly understand. ". e arc 
so much at the mercy of the icc that we can hardly call it piloting. 

5i. Captain Reed/eg.-If you were so certain of the ice going away fi'om 
that chanr.el and the ,,'atcr clearing, by ,raiting a fl.'w (hys, could you not 
consistently with your orders have waitcd that period? 

Capta£n Pellll.I/.-My vc"e\ mlS not suited to go further than I did. 
Before I could hayc gone any distance the season would ha H' gOllC; ,yhereas 
in a steamer .,,)00 miles could have bl'~'n gone over in a week, as it was 
very likely we should have had to procced that di~t,mcc before we obtained 
any fresh traces. 

58. CI/ptain Becchey.-How long arc tho"e ~eas navigable? 
. Captain Penn.y.-It depends greatly upon the seaSOll~. In Barrow's Straits 
last year the frost set in on the 13th of September, but tbis year there was more 
water in Barrow's Straits, and it may be later before the frost sets in. 

59. Clwinn({n.-There is another expression in Captain Austin's letter to 
you of the lIth A ugust la~t, to which I lllUt->t call your attention. He requests 
YOll to acquaint him ",\'hether you consider that the search of \\' ellington 
" Strait, made by the expedition uuder your charge, is so tar satisfactory as to 
" render a further prosecution in that direction, if practicable, unnecessary." 
What did you do in consequence of this? . 

Captain Penn.I/.-I would not take upon myself the fearful responsibility of 
saying whether the channcl was sufficiently searched. I am free to confess that 
I was verv angry at beinO' written to at all by Captain Austin when we had COll­

versed so "long upon the ~ery same subject, and I had told him all in my power, 
K ~ 
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giving him my chart, and begged him to let me pilot one of his steamers up 
·Wellington Channel. Had I been cool I shoulg have used better words. 

60. Chairman.-What I mean by the last question is this: In the letter 
Captain Austin sent to you he. meant to ask you whether the search up 
the channel was practicable,-adVlsabl~, or not? . . 

Captain PennJI. -I explained my vIews to Capt~m Austm,. and stIlI he sent 
me that letter. Captain Austin was competent· to Judge for hImself. I am not 
accustomed to write official despatches, or probably I should have beeit more 
cautious. Captain Austin ought to know what to do. 

61. Chairman.-It was hardly fair to Captain Austin not to give a full opinion 
on the subject. Your letter was so short. ~hat any.one on reading it ,,:ould 
suppose you intended to express your opInIOn tha~ It was useless to walt for 
the breaking up of the ice, and that you were convInced no further search was 
necessary,-that all that could be done was done, and that no further traces 
could be found? 

Captain Pem1;1f.-Nothing of the sort co~ld have been intended; and Captain 
Austin could not have put that interpretatIOn upon the letter, as he well knew 
my previous opinions. That letter was written under strong feelings of irrita. 
tion and in answer to a note from Captain Austin. 

62. Chaimwn.-Instead of exciting yourself why did you not explain to 
Captain Austin that further search ought to be made in the direction where 
YOU had been? 
. Captain Penn.1f.- I asked him for a steamer in order to prosecute that 
search. 

Captrtin Austin rose and said, After sending Captain Penny that note 
I sat down and wrote him a calm request on the subject, (knowing that 
he was an experienced person,) urging him to let me have an answer. I 
think Captain Penny must have had my letter eight hours. It was two 
o'clock in the morning when I received his answer. I wrote a private 
note to Captain Penny which he must have. 

Captain Penn.1f.-I have not got it; I ·have searched for it· in every quarter. 
I sent down to Aberdeen for it on my arrival here in London, but it is not to 
be found anywhere. I am not accustomed to tie up all my letters, and many 
official despatches have been destroyed. 

63. Clwirman.-Have you had any further correspondence with Captain 
Austin than that "'hich appears in print? 

Captain PI'li 11//.-Yes; there was another letter in which T stated that I had 
expressed my opinion to him. I told Captain Austin what I had done; I told 
11l11l that TIlY orders were not such as would allow me to rLm the risk of another 
Arctic winter without some prospect of success. 

Captain Austin said he had not received such a letter from Captain 
Penny. , 

Captain Penny.-Captain Stewart was present when Captain Austin got the 
letter. 

64. Sir E. Pa]'ry.-When was it? 
Captain Penny.-About the lith of August. 

6~. Chainnan.-The letter which appears in print is dated 11th of August; 
was 1t before or after that? 

Captain Penny.-After that. 

~6. SI:r E Pany.-Captain Stewart was there, you say? 
Captam Penny.- Yes; and he knows that I delivered it to him. 

67. C~zairman.-Have you the letter with you? 
Captmn Penny.- It is in London now, and I can send for it. 

63. Captain Aust~n.-I do not exactly understand what is the question; is it 
that a letter was dehvered to me ? 
. S~/' E. Parr.1f.-It is tha~ there ,\'as. a letter delivered to you (as an answer to 

JC·OUl ?rsot letter) by Capt am Penny, III the presence of Captain Stewart and 
aptam mmanney. 
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69. Sir ,E .. Parry.-;-Did you e\'er in writing f>tt.te to Capt&in Austin your 
recornmenaatlOn to hun to g'l) up Wellinoton Strait ? 

qlfpfa!n Penn.y.-Certainly not. What was the use of writing wner. r was 
tell:ng hIm what I had done -: 

(Captain SteVl-art was called in, and was sent tor the despatch afluded t') 
by Captain Penny.) 

70, Chairman.-What quantity of provisions do you cOll3ider you had left 
when you determined to give up all further search? 

Captain Penny.-~bout fourteen months provi8iun tor the two ve~f:,els at 
the rate we were gomg on; but the search ai>sumed a new feature. 1 had 
nothing to carry out the search. 

71. Chairman.-Supposing the barrier had not cleared away, what would you 
have proposed to do? 

Captain Penn,1j.-If the barrier had not cleared away the search must be 
carried out with boats and sledges. 

72. Chairman.-Do you think that it would have been possible to carry out 
the further search with your provisions? 

Captain Penny.-Certainly ,not; I was unprepared with travelling equip­
ment to carry out the search, and vessels not well adapted to go up the 
channel at that late season. 

73. Chairman.-When you asked for a steamer, did you ask for one steamer, 
or more? 

Captain Penny.-Only one. 
74. Admiml Fanshawe.-Did you intend to pass another Arctic winter if you 

could have obtained a steamer and got up the channel? 
Captain Penn.1}.-That would be the advantage of a steamer. We could 

have proceeded 500 miles up the channel if the way had been clear. 

75. Admiral Fanslwwe.-Did you contemplate being detained another winter? 
Captain Penny.-Yes. If traces had been got unquestionably we should 

have stopped. 

76. Admiral Fanshawe.-Suppose that the ice in the \V ellington Strait had 
cleared away, and Captain Austin had been able to afford you a steamer, where 
would you have thought of wintering? 

Cnptain Penn./f.-1f we could have got 500 miles up the channel, ,ve should 
have wintered there, if more traces had been found. It would ha\'e been of no 
use going there unless we had wintered there. 

77. C"pta£n Beeche,lJ.-Where were the limits of the ice in 1851 r 
Sir E. Pm·17/.-He never saw it in the best portion of 1851. 

(Captain Penny explained this matter to the committee). 

78. Sir E. Parry.-Was the water open as far up Wellingtoll Strait in 1851 
as in IS50? 

. Captain Penn.'lj.-Yes; it was in the same spot in 1 R51 as in IS.50; it was as 
far up in 1851, on the 25th day of July, as it was on the 9th day of September 
IS50. 

79. Cnptain Beechey.- In 1851 Captain Stewart in returning walked over 
the ice from his farthest, which was Cape Becher, and found it much decayed. 
Now did that ice clear away in 18.51 ? 

Cnptain PeTlrl;1}.-I was there on the 22d of July, and that was the last I 
saw of it. It was then broken and much decayed, and only wanted a strong 
north .. east wind to clear it away. On the 5th September 1850 I saw clear 
water in that channel. 

SO. Cnptain Bceche,1f.-Was this ice more or less broken in 1851 ? 
Captain PenruJ.-The last time I saw the Queen Victoria Channel was on 

the 23d day of July; it was then much decayed and broken, and would not 
allow an empty boat to be launched over it. 

S1. Admiral Fanshawe.-And referring to your own two ships, you say you 
had not sufficient provisions to prosecute the search? 

Captain RennlJ.-I had not the means in my power to carry the sea.rch out, 
K4 
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and I would never for one 'moment think of stopping out there without suffi. 
cient means to carry ont the search. 

R:l. Admiral Fallsftawe.-You say YOll had not sufficient provisions and means 
to carry out thc search? 

Captain Penn.y.-Certainly. 

83. Adilliral Fanslwwe.-Beft)re you came away did you ask Captain Stewart, 
of the Sophia, or any of the offi~ers, their opinion about the further prosecution 
of the search in Wellington StraIt? 

Captain Pennl/.--Ccrt,ainly not; the masters of our vessels take all that 
responsibility upon themselve~. 

8~. Admiral Fanslwwe.-I understand you did not take Captain Stewart's 
opinion about further search in !he channel? . . . 

r;(]ptain Pell.lly.-No; he n~Ig:~t have h~d an opl.mon on the subject, but 
I did not ask 111m; the responsIbIlity was mme, not llJ~. 

85. .~'ir E. Pan:y.-When you started to come home, did you contemplate 
askillg- for a steamer to go out again? 

Captaill Peill/y.-No, but 1 wa~ prepared to ~10 so. 

86. Sir E. Prtrl:If.---Did you and your officers contemplate going out again? 
Captain PCllll/!.-"S 0, not when 1 first returned. 

,~i. Sir E. P01'l:,/.-·What made YOll propose it afterwards? 
Coplain Pellll.Y -It struck me that if 1 had thc means I could prosecute 

thc search to advantage. I W[1, promptcrl to makc the proposal in consequence 
of its having been said that more might havc been done than was done. 

SR. ,';,'il' E. Pal'l:lj. - 'LIS that what led you to proposc to the Admiralty to 
go out in a steamer? Was it in consequence of what was said when you 
camc home r 

Captain Pelllly.-I found that cverybody was disappointed, and 1 wished 
to ha\'c the means of going' out again. 

(Captain Stewart here brought in the letter referred to in the previous 
part of the inqnir.I-, and it was read.) 

l)9. Sir E. Pal'!:I/.-Explain that ('xpn":,ioll in th~ letter, " 1 can only judge 
" when I see Wellington Channel.'· '''ll:1t j, the lIIeaning- (l1' that? 

Cf/jitflin Pel1J1Y.-Thc meaning i" that if Wellington Channel is open, I 
would proceed up it \\"ith Iln' two \-essck 1 nc\'er intended to 8n&Wer 
Captain Austin's letter. . 

90. '~'il' !? Pfii'J:I/.-Snrdy it was incumbent upon you to answer so important 
:1 qnestlOn r 

('((}Jim!l PenJlll-I do not justi(v that portion of thc letter, written, as I 
hav~ bet.ore ~tated,. under feelings of irritation. Captain Austin came, and 
I t?lll hlln everythlllg that had taken place about the Wellington Channel, 
whICh would have been worth tifty letters from me. 

91. Sil: E. Pm:I:I/. -I think Captain Austin had a right to have an anslI'er to 
the guestlOn. "h.en an oiicer in his position put a specific question to you so 
cautlOllsly, surely It demanded an ans\rer ? 

Captain Penll.!l.-Captai~ Austin is perfectly well aware that he bad his 
answer, and he understood It yery well, but it was not what he wallted. 

9~, Sir E. PrfI'J'!!.-Do not you think 11011' it would have been bettcr to give a 
speCific a.llswer to Captain Austin's inquiry? 

Cnpta.m Pe:UI;I/.-Any one can sec under what circumstances it was written, 
and the mtentlOn of it. . 

~:~. Adn!iral .l1!ms!lawe.-Suppose Captain J.l1stin had dieo, nothing would 
ha\e bee~ III wntmg to pass to the second in command? 

Captmn fl,i'llfly.-I havc said before, that it was not my intention to give an 
answer to thiS despatch. 

9-1. (,h(li/'illal~._'re m~st put on record the answer to the question put to 
you. The questIOn was this, " Do you not think on further consideration that it 
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" would have been better if you had answered Captain Austin's note more 
explicitly, taking into consideration all the circumstances of the case? 

Captain Penny.-In the position I occupied, I think I pursued the right 
course. I told Captain Austin what I had done, but he would not avail himself 
of it. 

95. Chairman.--Would it not have been better for you to haye said you 
would not take upon yourself the responsibility? 

Captain Penn!J.-That is precisely what I said. I said that I would not 
take any further responsibility upon myself. 

96. paptai!!, Beechey.-On what day was it that you told Captain Austin 
your VIews WIth respect to the channel? 

Captain Penny.-It was on the lIth of August. 

9i. Captain Beechey.-Then on the 11 th of August you told Captain Austin 
that the strait ought to be better examined, and that if he would give yon a 
vessel you would go up there? 

Captain Penuy.-Yes, I asked him for a steamer to go up there. The Ycry 
last words I used to him were, "Now, Sir, go up there, and do the cause some 
" service." 

98. Crtptain Beechey.-Had you at that time received Captain Austin's 
official letter? 

Captain Penny.-Yes, that was after all the other letters had passed. 

99. Captain Beecltey.-W as it after you explained your views to Captain 
Austin that you received his letter t 

Captain Penn.y.-Yes, it was. 

100. Cltairnwn.-Had you any conversation about this letter? 
Captain Penny.-No, no conversation whatever. The last thing I said was, 

" Go up into the Wellington Channel, and you will do good service to the 
" cause." 

101. Chairman.-On what day was that? 
Captain Penny.-I think it was on the morning of the 12th of August. 

102. Admiml Fanshawe.-I think your opinion was that Sir John Franklin 
went through the channel to the north-west? 

Captain Penn.y.-I am convinced of that. I always had that impression, 
and I have never had occasion to alter it. I do not think he could have gone 
any other way. 

103. Sir E. Pan:lj.-Why not go any other \yay? Why not go the \Yay I 
went? Why do you think he might not ha\'e gone that way? Why might 
he not have gone by Cape Walker and the south-west? . 

Captain Penny.-Wh'y then he would have reached the Amencan shore, 
and we should have had him long ago. Travelling parties belonging to th,' 
north-west companies would have seen him. 

104. Sir E. Pa1'1:!f.-But you said he could not have gone another way': 

Captain Penny having handed in a paper, 
The Chairman said, I suppose your o~ject in giving me this Impel' is 

that it should appear in evidence, so that I must ask you some questions 
upon it, and then you ",ill have an opportunity of recording it if you 
like. . 

105. Captain Beeclze,y.-We do not expect from you any scientific matter 
beyond what you have given us with respect to the latitudes; but I ma'y 
ask you whether yon put the work together yourself( adueTting to a chart which 
was placed on the table) ? . 

Captain Penny.-Captain Stewart did a great portion of it, but I was 
present when it was done. 

106. Captain Beeclzey. - When you were at Cape Becher did you get 
the bearing of these distant points? 

Captain Penny.-Yes. 
L 
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)07. Captain Beeche,y.- When you saw Sir John and Lady Franklin points, 
was the weather clear? 

Cf/ptain Penny.-Yes, the we~ther. was .perfectly clear. I am ac?ustomed 
to take heights, and by computatIOn I Imagme that 500 or 600 feet mIght have 
been the measurement. 

101-:. Captain Beechey.-With fo~rte~n months provisions ~n board.' ~o not 
you think you would have been JustIfied by your orders III remammg to 
see whether the ice would break awav or not? 

Captain Penll!/.-I do not think it would have been of the slightest use with 
a sailing vessel. 

109. Captain Beeche,I/.-Do not you think you ought to have stopped to 
see whether the ice cleared away? • 

Captain Pellll!/.-I might have been justified in that, but not in going up 
the channel. 

110. Captain Beecltey.-Could you have stopped with the amount of provi­
sions you had? 

Captain Penny.-Oh yes. 

Ill. ,')'iJ' E. Pan:y.-Did you understand that Captain Austin meant to 
come home about the 12th of August !' 

Captain PeJlIl!}.-I thought so. 

1 U. Sir E. Pan:y.-How did you ascertain the fact that Captain Austin 
was coming home; you were right enough, but how did you ascertain it? The 
reason why I ask is this; knowing that Captain Austin was going away to 
Jones's Sound, would it not have been desirable to stop and see what became 
of the icc in the Wellington Channel? 

Captain Pellll,l/.-It would have been of no use stopping there; if the idea 
had struck me at the time it is possible I might have remained there some 
time. 

113. Clwirman.-One thing more occurs to me to ask you. You were quite 
aware from Captain Austin's letter to you of the 12th of August that he had 
determined (in consequence probably of the letter he had received from you) that 
he did not consider it necessary to prosecute the search further, even if it were 
practicable, in that direction. ~ ow after all you have said it is hardly worth 
while to ask you any more questions, but were you not then fully aware that 
that was the last opportunity you would have of urging upon him a further 
search in that direction? 

Crtptain Penny.-The last thing I said to Captain Austin was, "Go up 
" the Wellington Channel, and do the cause good service." 

114. Chairmall.-What course did you take to explore Jones's Sound? 
Captn£n Penny.-When we came there we fell into a body of ice, and we 

could proceed no further. 

115. C!lIlirll/(IIl.- You say you found it so blocked up with ice that you 
could not proceed? 

C((ptain Penny.-Yes. 

116. Ch((irman.-Do you think that later III the year that might have 
been accomplished? 

C((ptain Penny.-It might have been, but everything depends upon the 
winds. 

11,. Chairrnnn.-~t is in the same category as the Wellington Strait, 
that may open sometImes and close sometimes? 

Captain Penn.y.-Yes, I think it is very likely. 

ll~. Chairman.-W e ar~ directed to inquire not only into the past but in 
refere~ce to the future. WIll you tell us what are your opinions concerning 
operatIOns next year? 

Captain Penny.-I will tell you. The first and most important thing is 
that the party who goes out must be the responsible party. 
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119. Captain Beeche.'If'-When you came to Cape Becher, 
distance northwards from Queen Victoria's Channel, in what 
waters appear to you? 

11 

your furthest 
state did the 

Captain Penny.-In the north-west nothing but clear water as far as the eye 
could reach; a water sky bound it. The height of Cape Becher was about 
500 feet. 

120. Captain Beecltey.-In the north and south channel was there a strong 
current? 

Captain Penny.-Yes, there was. 

121. Captain Beechey.-How strong did the currents run? 
Captain Penny.-Not less than four miles in the hour. 

122. Captain Beechey.-On what day was that? 
Captain Penny.-I could not tell without reference. I think it was at the 

full moon. 

123. Captain Beechey.-Then it was about the time of the springs? 
Captain Penny.-Yes. 

124. Si1' E. Parry.-Do you think it was a regular tide? 
Captain Penny.-It was the regular tide, but running from the westward 

longer than from the eastward. 

125. Captain Beeche,lJ.-I find from your evidence before the Committee at 
Woolwich that you make the following remarks :-" At Point Surprise and 
" Disappointment Bay there was about four feet rise and fall, a pretty regular 
"tide. The water on the ledge of grounded ice on Cape Benjamin Smith 
" was low about the 16th of July, lower than usual; a greater fall than we 
" had observed in other parts. Full moon having occurred on the J 3th, the 
" spring tide may have accounted for this. In the Queen's Channel the 
" current ran to the eastward not less than four miles on the 16th of July, 
" the wind being fresh from the westward. Thinks the stream came moo:t £I'om 
" the westward; the stream of tide was not regular. Different ob8ervations 
" were made to ascertain which way the flood tide came. As seen from 
" Assistance Harbour, the currents seemed to be influenced principally by the 
"winds." Do you assent to all this? 

Captain Penny.-Yes. 

126. Chairman.- You have given it in evidence before the \V oolwich Com­
mittee that you met with wood and foreign substances in the channel ? 

(The Chairman read a list of the articles which had been found by Captain 
Penny as stated before the Committee at Woolwich.) 

127. Chairman.-Is all that correct? 
Captain Penny.-Yes, it is. 

128. Chairman.-In your journeys and voyages along the shores of the 
Queen Channel what animals did you meet with and in what qnantities ? 

Captain Penny.-In our travelling parties we met with thirty-four bears. 

129. Chai1'man.-White polar bears? 
Captain Penny.-Yes. 

130. Chairman.-Any seals? 
Captain Penny.-Yes, a great many, and two were killed. 

131. Chairman.-Anyother animals? 
Captain Penn.'If.-Several walruses; one of them was killed. I think we saw 

about fourteen deer, mostly down upon the islands. Thousands of birds might 
have been easily approached and killed. 

132. Sir E. Parry.-Did you eat any of the walruses? 
Captain Penny.-Yes, and I thought them as good as the seals. The 

men did not eat them. 

133. Chairman.-On Baillie Hamilton Island you found more birds than 
anywhere else, did you not? 

Captain Penny.-Yes. 
L2 
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13.1. , ..... /J' E. Pnl'r.1j'-What would .be your view,-the public feeling in 
EnCl'land makes it desirable to ask It,-suppose you had been left there 
with your guu.s and al11munition, to what extent could you have supplied pro. 
\-ision's, anything, for instance, that starving. people would eat? 

Cnptain Penny.-". c might have sUPI?hed abundance of food. The very 
exertion to produce food would be conducIve to health. 

1::35. Clwil'man.-Could fish be procured in any quantity? 
Captain Penny.-There are some crawfish, but they are small and very 

few ill number. 
136. Sir E. Pa1'1:!1.-There are some small fish in the lake near Assistance 

Bay, are there not? 
Captain Penny.-Yes, some trout, but very few. 

137. Clwinnan.-Had you a thermometer with you? 
Captain Penn.1j.-No. Captain Ommanney ha~ it much colder down his 

part than we had. I had a thermometer the first tIme, but not the second. 

138. Sir E. P((1'1',l).-Dr. Sutherland had one, had he not? 
Captain Penny.-Yes. 

1:39. Sir E. Pan',l).-Who first landed at Beechey Island and discovered the 
traces of the" Erebus" and" Terror"? 

Captain pl'lIl1.IJ.-All my officers and some of the men went down together 
and discovered winter quarters. 

1-10. Chairman.-Y ou mean that they discovered thc winter quarters of the 
" Erebus " and" Terror"? 

Captain Penn!J.-Yes. 

141. Clwinnan.-We are directed to inquire into the conduct of the officers 
in the expedition. Have you any complaints to make against them, or did 
they conduct themselves to your satisfaction? 

Captain Pe7l11!J.-They performed their duties creditably throughout the 
expedition. 

CAPTAI~ STEWART, late of Her .Majesty'iS Ship" Sophia," called. 

142. ('/iairman.-Did you command the "Sophia" under Mr. Penny's 
orders? 

Captain Stewart.-Yes, I did. 

143. Clwirman.-Are you aware of all the transactions during the summer 
of this year when in the Queen's Channel and the Wellington Strait? 

Captain ''''tclI;art.-Y ('~. 
144. Clwirman.-Did you consider the Ice likely to clear this year at the 

mouth of Wellington Strait? 
Captain Stewart.-There was a chance. 

1-1;'>. CIW£rlll({II.-It was all firm when you last saw it? 
Captain Stewart.-'Vhen I last saw it it was quite firm. 

146. Captain Beeclte,1j.-When was that? 
Captain Stewart.-Ahout the middle of July. 

147. C!t((ir/JIan.-HaH~ you been accustomed to polar navigation, and 
to ice? 

Captain ,...,'tcll·art.-Yes. 

148. Sir E. Pal'1:!1.-How many voyages have you been in the Polar Seas? 
Captain Sielcart.-Six or seven. 

]4~. Chairm~n.-.-\rhat is your own opinion on the subject; do you think 
that It ,yas fast Ice or not ~ 

Captain Stelcart.-I do not think it is fast ice. 

150. Chairman.- Was there any appearance this year of its being likely to 
break up? 

Captflin Stewart.-It was ~reaking up from the southward as far as the line 
marked by l\Ir. Pen!!y on. thIS chart, (signed by Mr. FeO'en ) between Cape 
Bowden and SeparatIOn Pomt. 0 , 
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151. Captain Beechey.-At what time did you see that appearance of the J/r. A. StBWart, 

ice? 
Captain Stewart.-About the 17th of July. 

152. Captain Beechey.-How far north did that ice extend? 
Captain Stewart.-It extended to the line marked Sept. 5, 1850. It was 

very sound ice, and to the north-westward of that it was more broken. 

153. Captain Beechey.~How far did it extend to the westwaru? 
Captain Stewart.-I do not know. 

154. Sir E. Parry.-Between Baillie Hamilton Island and Baring Bay, 
was ice there? 

Captain Stewart.-Yes. 

155. Captain Be~chey.-You "'ere on Cape Becher; what was the appear­
ance of the sea and Ice from Cape Becher 011 the 1st of June? 

Captain Stewart.-I could have gone anywhere to the westward with a ship 
from the edge of the ice. 

156. Sir E. Parry.-'Vas it perfectly clear to the north-west as far as you 
could see? 

Captain Stelulrt.-It was, and we could have sailed anywhere. The ice 
was very much broken up. 

157. Sir E. Parry.-What was the nature of the sailing ice ~ 
Captain Stelcarl.-About the same icc as in the channel, about fivc feet 

thick. 

158. Sir E. Parry.-Y ou would call it very light ice r 
Captain Stewarf.- Yes. 

159. Captain Beeclte,y.- You travelled over part of this ice at the north-cast 
part of Wellington Channel in your outward journey r 

Captain Stewart.-Yes. 

160. Crrptain Beechey.-Of what thickncss did the ice appear to you? 
Captain Stelcart.-\Ve travelled ovcr some very heavy pieces of ice, quite 

distinct from the other sort of ice. 

161. Captain Beechey.-It appeared to be the ice of one winter, with heavy 
masses frozen on it? 

Captain Stewart.-Yes, that was the case exactly. 

162. Captain Beeche,y.-On returning you thought to pass over part of this 
ice, and found it so cracked that it was not safe to walk over it? 

Captain Stewart.-Yes. 

163. Captain Beeclte.IJ.-\Vhat time was that? 
Captain StewaTt.-About the middle of June? 

164. Captain Beechey.-Did you see the clear water in 1850 to the north of 
Wellington Channel? 

Captain Stewart.-Yes. 

165. Sir E. Pm·ry.-Where from, and when? 
Captain Stewart.-From Cape Spencer, and about the fir~t week in 

September. 
166. Sit' E. POJ'l:?I.-How much ice do you think remained in Wellington 

Strait? What breadth of ice remained unbroken there in 1850? 
Captain Stewart.-I should say from twenty to thirty miles. 

167. S£r E. Pa1'1'!f.-So much as that? 
Captain Stewa1'l.-Yes. 

168. Sir E. Parry.-From you own observation in 18.51, when you were 
travelling, do you think there were from twenty to thirty miles of old ice not 
broken up in the autumn of 1850 ? 

Captain Stewart.-I think it was broken up, but it did not come out. 
L3 
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169. Captain Beechey.-Did you make any o?servations on the tides in the 
Queen's Channel? Did you notice any regular rIse or fall? . 

Captain :..,'tl'll.·ol't.-Ko, I did not. I had no opportumty of domg so on 
account of the old ice. 

17' I. C(/ptrtin Beechey.-pid Y0l! see the ice in motion in the Northern 
Channel going to and fi'o WIth the tIde? 

CI/ptain Stewa rt.-Yes. 

1,1. Captain Beechey.-At wha~ rate .do you suppose? 
Captain Stewart.-At three or four mIles an hour. 

I,:!. Captain Beechey.-Did it go to the westward or to the eastward, III 

your opinion? . 
Captain Stewal't.- I do not know; It came longer from the westward. 

17:3. iSir E. POl'ry.- Do you think there is a set or current from any 
particular direction? . . 

('f/ldaill ,'-,'tel/'rlrf.-Yes, from the westward, mdependently of the hdes. 

174. CI/ptain Beecht:~.-Did there appear to be any pressure of ice in any 
particular direction south or wcst ;-

('rlptfliil 8tewart.-Therc was a heavy pressure of ice at Cape Becher from 
the ~outh and west. 

I,:"). Capfain Beech~II.-That refers to the same ice you before spoke of? 
Coptaill "'fucl/rt.-That formed no part of the sailing ice, but remained fixed 

to the land. 

I7(). ['llIliI'lIUIII.-You were not in the boat with Captain Penny? 
Cllllfllill Sfell'({l'f.-I mlS not \vith the same party, but had charge of another, 

and had Dr. Sutherland with me. 

177. C'!tllirll/rtll.-Did you see any animals? 
C({lilllill ."fl'lwrt.-Yes, a good many. 

I7~. ('/lIlil'llloil.-Describe what quadrupeds? 
Cllptflill ."Ii'lnlrt.-About a dozen bears and onc deer. 

179· Cltairman .. -Any walruses? 
C((ptaill Stewal't.-N one. 
180. C/tainnan.-Any seals r 
('I/ptflill Stewart.-Yes. 
I t-:l. C//Ilirmllll.-Any white bears? 
Captain Stewart.-Yes. 
IS2. Chllirmr/ll.-Any ducks' eggs!' 
Cuptaill Stewart.- ~o, because we were too soon there. 
1.'-':3. C/wirmun.-A t that time it would have been impossible for any person; 

not having the means of subsistence to supply themselves from such sources? 
Captain Stell'lll't.-Quite impossible. 

11-\-1. C/w£rman.-They could make up something to increase their stores? 
Cllptain Stew(fl't.-Oh yes. 

l~;j. C/w/nl/ml.-Did you shoot any bears? 
Captain Stewart.-Yes, I fired at one or two, but we did not want them. 

186. Chairmllll.-There was a letter sent by Captain Penny to Captain Austin 
on the 12th of August. Do you know anything about it? 

Cllptain Sfell'art.-Yes. 
187. Chairman.-State what YOli know about it ? 

(The letter addressed by Captain Penny to Captain Austin was handed 
to Captain Stewart.) 

188. Chairman.-Is that the letter? 
Captain Stewad.-Yes, that is the letter sent by Captain Penny from 

Assistance Bay. 

1~9. Chail'man.-Had you had any conversation about it with Captain Penny 
prevIOusly? 

Captain Stewart.-Not about this oue. 
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190. Chairman.-Do you say you know the contents of the first letter written 
to Capta~n Austin in Assistance Bay, or did you see Captain Austin's letter 
t.o Captam Penny about further search up Wellinoton Strait? 

Captain Stewart.-Yes, I did. 0 

191. Chairman.-Did Captain Penny consult the officers of his vessel on 
the subject of further search? 

Captain Stew01't.··-The matter was mentioned, but I cannot say he consulted 
the officers on the subject. 

192. Chairman.-What was your opinion on the subject" Did you think 
the bar of ice would clear away snfficiently t.o enable any vessels to get up 
Wellington Straits? 

Captain Stewart.-That is a very difficult question to answer. I ~hould say 
it was not at all impossihle. 

193. Chairman.-Do you think there would have been time to pasfl up the 
Straits after the ice had cleared away? 

Captain Stewart.- I think it is quite possible. 

194. Chairman.-Possible that it might have cleared away? 
Captain Stewart.-Yes. 

195. Clwirman.-If you had had charge of the expedition, do you think you 
would have been induced to wait there to see whether it would clear away ~ 

Captain Stewart.-W e could not have done it with our little ships. 

196. Sir E. Pan:y.-Could you not have waited? 
Captain Stewart.-We might have waited, but it would have been impossible 

to have done any good. 

197. Chairman. - State why it would have been impossible to have done 
any good? 

Captain Stewart.-We might have got into the loose ice, and our two small 
vessels could not have effected any good. 

198. Admiral Fanshawe.-Did the advisability of remaining there ever 
occur to you? 

Captain Stewart.-I was quite in doubt whether Penny would remain there 
or not. 

199. Admiml Fallshml'e.-Is it your own opinion, under all the circumstances 
of the position of your vessel, and the stores you had, that you might have 
stopped another month? 

Captain Stewart.-I think not, certainly. 

200. Admiml Fanshawe.-There was not then any possibility of prosecuting 
any further search? 

Captain Stewa1't.-We had nothing to search with. 

201. Admiml Fanshawe.-Suppose you had not fallen. in with Capt~in 
Austin's expedition, and you had found those relics of SIr John Franklm, 
would you have prosecuted the search through the Wellington Strait and 
the Victoria Channel, or would you have returned? 

Captain Stewart.-W e should have returned, most certainly, under the 
circumstances. 

202. Admiml Fanshawe.-Did you form any opinion as to the way Sir 
John Franklin had passed? 

Captain Stewa1·t.-He could not have gone by the south-west. 

203. Sir E. Parry.-Why do you think so? 
Captain Stewal't.-It is scarcely possible that a vessel could come all that 

distance without some one hearing of it. I think he went by the. Welhngt~n 
Strait. My reasons for thinking so are on account of the water dIscovered III 
the north-west, and were I sent to look for a north-west passage I would go up 
Wellington Strait. 

204. Admi1'al Fanshawe.-Did you express any wish to remain in the 
Sophia for that investigation? 

Captain Stewart.-No. 
L4 
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205. C/wil'man.-You speak confidently of Sir John Franklin taking the 
north-west passage. You cannot state whether any obstacles r.xist that 
way or not? 

Captain Stelcal't.-No, I cannot. 

206. Sir E. Pal'ry.-After the travellin~ partie~ returned, was there not a 
meeting between Captain Penny and Captam Au~tm to talk over the matter? 

Captain Stclcart.-Yes, there was snch a meetmg. 

207. Sir E. Parry.-Do you know what was the result of that meeting? 
What did you understand t? be. the result of it? . 

Captain Stewart.-I don t thmk there was any understandmg come to. 

208. Sir B. Pa1'l'y.-Do you not suppose some understanding must have 
been come to ? 

C([ptain Steu:art.-I heard. Captain Penny ask Captain Austin for the 
steamer to go up the channel wIth. 

209. CllI1irman.-Repeat, as nearly as you can recollect, what he said on 
that occasion? 

Sir E. Pan:y.-Did not Captain Penny at the same time express his opinion 
that further search was unnecessary? 

Captain Stew([rt.-Captain Penny wrote a letter to that effect; but I 
believe it was contrary to his convictions. 

Sir E. Pa1'1:1J read from Captain Stewart's journal of the 28th J nly 1851 
as follows: 

" Communication was held with Captain Austin, and an exchange of pro· 
" ceeding took place between the two commodores. The result was that 
" Captain Austin considered the search to the westward was done, and 
" Captain Penny that further search in the 'Yellington Channel was un­
" necessary, to which everyone agreed. After having been so far in it 
" without having got any trace, I had no hesitation in giving my opinion that 
" furthcr search in that direction was unnecessary. and, as far as I know, it was 
" the opinion of every onc. Nothing was then left for us to do, and after some 
" ten days in the ice in the bay, we broke adrift, and were once more free." 

210. ClwiJ'lnan.-'Yere these your opinions at the time? 
Captain Stewart.-Yes. 

211. CIUlirman.-Have you seen any cause to alter them? 
C(!jltain Stell;nrt.--I did not know at that time that traces had been found 

in any other direction. 

213. Sir E. Parry.-At that time you understood that nothing more was 
to be done? 

Captain Stclrr/l't.-Yes. 

214. Sir E. Pan:y.-Could anything more have been done than was done? 
Captain Ste/('arl.-If we could have traced him, more could have been done. 

21.5. Captain Beecltey.- You say that if you had been at Wellington Strait, 
and It had been clear, you could have gone up to examine it? 

Captain Stewart.-W e could have gone if it had not been blocked up. 

216. C,aptain Beeche.y.-Wa~ !t bl.ocked by sailing ice? 
Captmn Stewart.-It was smlmg Ice we met with. 

21i. Captain Beeche,Ij.--If there had been no sailing ice would you have 
gone up it? 

Captain Stewart.-Yes. 

218. Sir !£', Pan-y.-If ,you c~uld not have got up there, why could Silo 
.John Franklm ~ If you thmk he IS gone up there, he must have got through. 
If he co~ld not get through,. how could you get through? 

Captam Stewart.-He ~lllS'ht haye got through, but of course there is a 
great deal of chance-work 111 It. It IS a very difficult navigation. 

219. Sir E. Parry.-The tides make it difficult" 
Captain Stewart.-Yes. . 
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220 .. Captain Beech~/I.-Then we are to understand that from Cape Becher 
to Barmg Island and Houston Stewart Island there is a great deal of packed 
ice that was driven to the eastward and blocked up the channel? 

Captain Stewart.-Yes. 

221. Captain Beechey.-Will you mark the line where you saw the ice 
packed when you were there in June? 

Captain Stewart.-It was to the westward of Bailey Hamilton and Dundas 
Island. There was. loose ice as far as the eye could reach. 

222. Admiral Fanshawe.-Have you expressed any opmlOn SInce your 
return to England about a steamer going out this winter? 

Captain Stewart.-I was quite willing to go out. 

223. Admiral Fanshawe.-But have you volunteered your services m a 
steamer? 

Captain Stewart.-N o. 

224. Sir E. Pnrry.-Was anything of the sort spoken of by any of you 
before you came home? 

Captain Stewm·t.-No; I often thought a ship would go out again but not 
this winter. If a vessel had been going I should have been very happy to go 
agam. 

225. Chail'lnan.-I dare say you are aware that Captain Penny wrote a 
letter to the Admiralty volunteering to go out, and stating that the officers 
who had been connected with him would follow him? 

Captain Stewal't.-Yes; I and others would have done so. 

226. AdmiJ'al Fanshawe.-Do you know what amount of provisions you 
had when you turned about to come home? 

Captain Stewart.-Yes, we had provisions for about 13 months. 

227. Captain Beeche,1j.-Do you know what answer Captain Austin gave 
Captain Penny about the steamer? 

Captain Stewart.-I do not recollect that any answer was given by Captain 
Austin about the steamer. 

228. Clwirman.-And you do not know anything more of any conversation 
that took place between Captain Penny and Captain Austin!' 

Captain Steu;art.-No; I never was on board after that. 

229· Sir E. Pnrl'y.-Are you aware of lctters that passed between Captain 
Penny and Captain Austin, in which Captain Austin requested Captain Penny 
to acquaint him, whether in his opinion, " the search of the Wellington 
" Strait had been so far satisfactory as to render a further prosecution in that 
" direction, if practicable, unnecessary?" 

Captain Stewart.-I am not acquainted with such a letter, but the conversa­
tion I have often heard . 

. 230. Sir E. Pal'ry.-If you had heen in Captain Austin's place, and had 
received such a letter as Captain Penny sent, what should you have supposed 
it meant? . 

Captain Stewart.-If I had known what Captain Austin knew, I should 
never have asked anything of the sort. 

231. Sir E. Parr.1f.-No, that is not what I meant. What would you 
have understood by that answer? 

Captain Stewart.-There was considerable doubt at the time whether the 
Wellington Channel was navigable, and Captain Penny in a state of irritation 
sent his letter, after a conversation of many hours with Captain Austin. If it 
had been my case I should not have answered Captain Austin. 

232. Chai1·man.-Do you think you would have been justified in refusing 
to answer a letter from an officer in such a position? 

Captain Stewa1·t.-He had received the information already. He had the 
same amount of information and the same chart up to this time. 

233. Captain Beechey.-In your own journal you state that further search 
was quite unnecessary? . 

Captain Stewart.-I scarcely knew Captain Penny's opinion at that tIme. 
M 
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234. :..,'ir E. Pal'ly.,-Captain Austin's question was as plain as man could 
put it. The question is, \\"h~t Captain Penny's answer meant? 

(;(fplain ,'-'tewart.-Captam Penny meant to say no search was required 
beyond thc Wellington Channel under the circumstances. N either myself nor 
Captain Pe'1l1Y 3a\'c been muc!l accustomed. to the~e sort of despatchea. and 
perhaps have not been cautIous enough III fi'ammg them. We did not 
think such letters would be brought forward in this investigatioD. 

23.5. Sir E. p(l}'}:lj,-When did you first hear of a steamer going out this 
year? When did you first hear it suggested r 

Gili'll/ill ''''tcu;([rt.-I never heard of it until I arrived at Woolwich. 

After SOIllC consideration, the Committee adjourned. 

------"" ..... ___ ...... ,=-0' ... 
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Second Day. Octoher 28, I H51. 

Present, Rear-Admiral William Bowles, C.B., ~LP., Chairman, 
Rear-Admiral Arthur Fanshawe, C.B., 
Captain Sir Edward Parrv, 
Captain F. W. Beechey, • 

Mr. Fred. J. Fegen, Secretary. 

Dr. SUTHERLAXD called. 

2::\6. Chairman. - You were Smgeon of the "Sophia," I believe, under lJr, Sutherland. 
Captain Penny? 

Dr. Sutherland.-Yes. 2tlth Oct. 1851 

237. Chairman.- You were one of the officers who explored the coast of'the 
Wellington Strait, and higher up ? 
, D1·. Sutherland. - Yes. 

238. Chairman.-Did yon make any observation on the barrier of ice that 
you found at the mouth of Wellington Strait? 

Dr. Sutherland.-Not that we found at the entrance of the strait, but 
between Cape Bowden and Point Separation. ' 

239. Chairman-It was a complete barrier of ice that no one could get 
through, was it not? 

D1·. Sutherland.-At what time? 

240. Chairman. -When vou travelled over it r 
Dr. Sutherland.- Yes; it rose and fell with ('very motion of the tide, but 

there was no open water in it. 

241. Chairman.-Were you present when the open water was first discovered 
in June? 

Dr. Sutherland.-I was at Prince Alfred's Bay when Captain Penny disco­
vered the open water to the west of us. 

242. Cltairman.-But yon did not see it yourself? 
, Dr. Slitherlund.-No, I did not, except that intense refraction was observed 
to the westward, which, under the circumstances, I was disposed to attribute 
to the presence of open water. 

243. Cltairman.- So that you cannot give the Committee, of your own know­
ledge, any information on that point? 

Dr. Sutherland.-No; except that I found the ice broken in the channel,­
that is, it had parted,- on my return. 

244. Sir E. Parry.- What part of the channel do you mean? 
Dr. Sutherland.-At the north headland, in latitude 75° 30' or 75° 25'. 

I found a crack two feet wide, and several smaller ones, on the 6th of June, 
extending at right angles with the land, and going across to the westward. 

, 245. Sir E. Parry. - On which shore were you? 
, Dr. Sutlterland.-On the east shore. The crack in the ice might have been 
-two feet wide. It was about seven feet thick there. 
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246. Sir E. Parry.-How long do you think that ic~ had been ~here ? 
Dr. Sutherland.-It was that year's ice I am certam. From Its thIckness 

and structure I had no doubt it had been there only since the previous 
October. 

247. Chai1'1nan.-How far to the north did you go? 
Dr. Sutlterland.-I accompanied Captain Stewart nearly to Cape Simpkinson. 

248. Captain Beeche,1f.-Then C~ptain Ste~'art left .you and you returned,. 
making the circuit of Prince Alfred s Bay, havmg prevIOusly crossed over the 
neck of it ~ 

Dr. Slttherland.-Yes. I had orders to examine a portion of the coast in 
order to discover if there was an island there, of which we had some doubts. 
On our way back I found that island in 75° 49', on the north side of Baring 
Bay. 

249. Captain Beechey.-How far off the coast? 
Dr. Sutherland.-Three miles. 

250. Captain Beeclzey.-I do not find it marked down on the chart? 
Dr. Slltherland.-No; but I have entered it down in my report. 

251. Captain Beechey.-On your return what course did you take? 
Dr. Slltlterland.-From Baring Bay I made straight across to Cape Osborn. 

2.')2. Chai1'lIlan.-Did you make any observation of the line of ice which is 
drawn on this chart from Cape Osborn? You saw that ice? 

Dr. Sutherland.-Yes, we passed over it. 

253. Captain Beechey.-There is a line drawn from Cape Osborn to Cape 
De Haven, 1850. Was there any ditference between that ice and that to the 
northward? 

Dr. Sutherland.-I can only speak of five miles along the land. I am sure 
it was all of one year's ice. I felt confident that it was of that year's formation. 
That was round Baring Bay. There were 'appearances of old ice mixed up 
with it. 

254. Captain Beeche,1f.-There was new ice, and extensive floes of old ice? 
Dr. Slltlterland.-Yes, there were large floes of a mile and a half in extent. 

255. Clzairman.-How far down your wintering place did this barrier of ice 
appear to extend? 

Dr. Sutherland.-I saw no old ice in Wellington Channel below 75°; but 
there might have been. 

256. Chair1l1an.-That is, from Cape Bowden to Point Separation? 
Dr. Slttherland. -Yes; but a few miles to the southward of Cape Bowden. 

257. Sir E. Parry.-You saw no old ice there? 
D1·. Slltherland.-No. 

~58. Captai;l Beechey.-In your advances you walked over the ice across 
Prmce Alfred s ~ay. On your return, was there any reason why you could 
not go over there t 

Dr. Suthe1'land.-!t was very good ice all the way. It had severed a little 
from pressure, and It was very young ice. I felt convinced that a pressure 
~ust have taken pl~ce ~rom the previous floes, and when the sun shone upon it 
It melted away, gIvmg It the appearance of old ice, which it was not. 

259. ~il' E. Parry.-Do you know what breadth of ice remained in Welling. 
ton StraIt ~p to the end of the navigable season of 1850? Do you know what 
breadth of Ice was supposed to remain there? 

Dr. Siltheriand.-I a?1 afraid to say at what time the navigable seaso~ 
closed. I can feel contident to Cape Osborn, that being its northern limIt 
-from Cape Osborn to Cape De Haven. 

26?. Si1: E. Parry.-What br:-adth was there, north and south, of ice 
remamm,g 10 the channel the last tune you saw it? 

Dr. Sutltel:land.-On the 8th of September the line of ice extended from 
about ~wo mIles to the south of Cape Bowden to near Point Delay on the 
other SIde. 
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261. Sir E. Parry.-How much remained? Dr. Sutnerland. 
Dt·. Sutherland.-I cannot say how much ice remained to the northward 

of the southern edge. 28th Oct. 1851 

262. Sir E. Parry.-Did you hear of any water to the north of it ? 
Dr. Sutherland.-Yes. 
263. Chairman.-That was in I850? 
Dr. Sutherland.-Yes, in the first week in September. 
264:. S£?' E. Parry .. -Is it your impression, fi'om what you saw in your journey, 

that Wellmgton Strait had been clear that year (1850) after you left? 
Dr. Sutherland.-I am sure it was not clear of ice altoO"ether but I feel 

confident the ice in Wellington Channel had started and thatit wa~ navio'able 
at a period subsequent to our crossing i.t in the ship~. b 

265. Sir E. Parry.-You think it might have been navigable even at that 
season? 

Dr. Sutherland.-The navigable season was then too far advanced for sailing 
vessels. 

266. Sir E. Parry.-Do you thiFlk there was a navigable passage through 
Wellington Strait that season, as far as you can judge? 

Dr. Slltherland.-If the navigable season extends only to the II th of 
September it was not practicable for sailing vessels. 

267. Captain Beechey.-What reason have you for believing that the icc was 
loose? 

Dr. Suthedand.-From our observations the following year. In 1851 we 
found from Cape Separation new ice extending to President Bay, but old ice 
amongst it angled together as though the ice had been drifting about, 

268. Captain Beech~1f.-Then to the northward of President Bay do you 
suppose that it was loose also? 

Dr. Sutherland.- I am sure that it was loose also. There were five miles 
of ice extending along the land of one year's formation. From what I saw of 
the ice on my journey, subsequently to the visits of the ships in the autumn, 
there had been a disruption of the ice in Wellington Channel. 

269. Chairman.-Do you think it possible to have made any advance through 
the Wellington Strait in the season of 1850 ? 

Dr. Sutherland.-On the 8th of September 1850, when we left the Welling­
ton Channel, we gave it up as hopeless. We were impressed by this, that the 
ships would be powerless amongst the ice. With steamers we should not feel 
powerless. On the 9th of September (Sunday) we found the sea in \\' ellington 
Channel covered in many parts with a film of bay ice-of pancake icc, which 
in a calm water so fastens our ships to the spot. that we must drift in any 
direction the wind may choose to blow. In about two days time our ships 
were so encumbered with new ice, that we found progress to be quite 
hopeless, but with steam power we felt that such would not have been the 
case. In a calm we could always be moving on in whatever direction we might 
choose. 

270. Sir E. Pa1'1y.-Have you any personal experience of the effect of 
steamers? Have you seen the effect of steam power in the navigation among 
the ice? ' 

Dt·. Suth erlan d.-Yes; I have seen steamers working across the Wellington 
Channel. The day we crossed altogether the Resolute and Pioneer left us. 
We were nearly driven on Cape Spencer. 

271. Sir E. PmTy.-I want to know why it is, from your experience of steam 
in bay ice, that you attribute so much to it? What is your personal experience 
of it r 

Dr. Slltherland.-I know two instances. One day our ships left Union Bay 
with Resolute and Pioneer. Resolute and Pioneer went out of sight to ,,'est­
'Ward. We were detained at first in clear water with bay ice, and towards 
evening we were completely encumbered by the quantity of bay ice; both our 
ships were encumbered, the Lady Franklin and the Sophia; we were within 
about five or six miles of land, between Cape Spencer and Point Innes. The 
Resolute and Pioneer went out of sight to the westward, and we did not know 
where they might be, and 'We remained quite powerless. The bay ice cemented 
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our ships so much that they were quite powerless. Ifwe had .had, steam,p()\iter 
we could have gone on to the westward. There was no bay Ice m the day, it 
formed at night time. 

272. Sir E. Pm·I:Y.-That is one instance; mention any other instance you 
may haye witnessed? 

Dr. Sutlte1'land.-On the 9th of September (I do not feel confident of the 
date) - on the 9th 01' 10th of September, we observ,ed the Res~lute and Pioneer 
driftinG' to the east of Cape Hotham. At that tIme we beheved these two 
ships to be encumbered amongst bay ice and the packed ice. With steam 
power they very soon got cleared, and proceeded to the westward at the rate of 
three or four miles an hour through bay ice; I cannot say how thick the iee 
might have been. Our two sailing vessels plied the American vessels, and 
kept a respectable distance ahead of the two ships that were advancing astern 
of us, the Resolute and Pioneer; but with our sailing vessels we were unable to 
get through the fast ice to the south-west of Griffith Island within perhaps half 
an hour of the time Her Majesty's ships arrived there. We felt powerless for 
want of steam, but now we felt that we were able to do as much as Her Majesty's 
ships. Had it not been for the power of steam the Resolute would not have 
done so much against the bay ice. 

273. Clwirrnnn.-I asked you a question just now, which you have not 
answered. It is this : Do you think it possible to have made any advances 
through \r ellington Strait in the season of 1850? . 

Dr. Sllflt('l'/rllld.-With steam power my opinion is that it would. Taking 
advantage of the late opening with steam power, we might have been able to 
navigate through the Wellington Channel in the season of 1850. 

274. ClwiJ'lIIaJl.-Did you see any leads or lanes through the ice in Welling­
ton Strait at that time, that a steamer might have gone through? 

Dr. Sutherland.- \rc saw sufficient to induce us to leave Wellington Channelj 
and we saw sufficient to induce us to remain there had we had steam power. 

275. Clwirman.-I asked you whether you saw any opening in the ice, or 
leads or lanes in Wellington Strait at that time, that a steamer might have 
gone through? 

Dr. Slltlter/and.-I must answer that in the negative. But at the same time 
I think it is not doing justice. The fact of the strait being navigable by a 
steamer--

276. Sir E. Pm·l'!!. - W e want a distinct answer to a distinct question. 
Dr. Suthedand.-Then my answer is, ?\ o. 

"2,1, Captain Beechey.-From the state of the ice when you travelled over it in 
1851 did you suppose that the Wellington Strait was navigable after the period 
when the expedition left it in 1850? 

DT. Sutherland.-Not for sailing vessels. 

278. Captain Beechey.-But with steamers vou think it was? 
Dr. S1ltlzerland.-Yes. • 

279. Clwirll1nn.-W,?at expe~ience have you in ice? How often have you 
g:olle .to the polar reg~ons? What experience have you to enable you to dis, 
tmgUlsh between the dIfferent sorts and appearances of ice? 

Dr. Sutherland.-I have been two voyages. 

280. Si1' E. Pa1'1:7J.-To what part? 
Dl'. ,Sutherland:-To Baffin's Bay; two voyages previous to this expedition. 

One wm~er there IS better than twenty summers to instruct anyone of common 
observatIon on the character of the ice. . 

281. Chair1/lan.-Did you make any observations on the tides or currents? 
Dr. S1ltlterland.-No. 

, 282. ghairman.-With respect to animals, did you see many animals in your 
Jou~ey m, the early part of 1851, when you went up as hiO'h as Prince Alfred's 
B~y t DId you see any quadrupeds or birds which would enable you to exis~ 
WIthout any other provisions? 
. D1', Sutherland.-I saw birds, seals, foxes, ptarmigan. in May and April, and 
In June, ducks, geese, and two or three specimens.of .sandpipers. 
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283: Ch;lirma~ .. -.Is it your bPinion that party, left to their own resource.;, 
and wIthout provIsions, could possibly exist for any length of time on what they 
could take of those animals and birds? 

Dr .. Sutherland.-N ot on t~e eastern side of the Wellington Channel, if left 
to ~helr own r~sources. PrevIOus. to the 1st of June they might be enabled 
to mcrease their stock of food a httle, but more so after that period as the 
birds begin to migrate to the northward. It would depend a good d~al upon 
whether any of the party were good marksmen. One might kill a bear where 
another would fail. 

284. Chairman.--Take it in the most fiwourable point of view, that they 
were good hunters? 

Dr. Sutherl~n.d.-We had hunter~, who might be able in April and May to 
make the provl~lOns of forty days Jast out fifty-five or fifty-six days. Good 
sportsmen, takmg advantage of seal's flesh and bear's flesh, might eke out 
their provisions fifty-five or fifty-six days instead of forty. 

285. Sir E. Parl'!J.-There is another question I will ask you, as it is of 
importance in reference to the fate of Sir John Franklin's expedition. From 
.what you saw, and fi'om what you have heard from others, do you think it pos­
sible that parties of men entirely dependent upon their own resources could 
exist through the year by laying up in the summer season that which was to 
last them for the rest of the year? 

Dr. SZdhel'land.-My own opinion is, that they would not be able; but if I 
give due weight to the opinions of others, I fear my own opinion would become 
of less weight. 

286. Sir E. Pan:y.-From what you saw of animals, and the reports of 
others concerning animals, is it your opinion that parties could subsist upon 
their own resources by procuring in summer what was to last them during 
the rest of the year? 

rh·. Sutherland. -From what I have seen myself I do not think they could; 
but judging from the reports brought home by others who had better opportu­
nities of judging, I believe they could. 

287. Chai1'1nan.- Did you keep a meteorological register in your journeys 
in 1851? Did you observe at the same periods what was the difference 
of temperature between vour winter quarters and your furthest north-west? 

Dr. Suthedand. _. I compared the regi8ter kept on board the ship with the 
register on the journey, and I found a difference of one, two, or three degrees 
colder to the north. 

288. Sir E. Pa1'1:y.-Did you pick up any drift wood? 
Dr. Sutherland.-Yes, between Cornwallis Land and Cape Hotham; but I 

believe it to have been left there by the Esquimaux. It had holes in it which 
appeared to have been burned. 

289. Sir E. Parry.-W as it. very old? 
Dr. Sutlte1'land.-Yes. 

290. Sir E. PaT1:!f.-Could you form an opinion how long since the Esquimaux 
had been there, knowing how long that climate preserves wood? 

Dr. Sutherland.-Not for many hundreds of years. 

291. $ir E. PaT1:y.-What is your opinion now as to the route Sir John 
Franklin has probably pursued? . 

Dr. Sutherland.-My opinion is, that Sir John Franklin pursued the route 
through the Wellington Channel. 

292. Clta£rman.-What grounds have you for that. opinion ? . 
Dr. Sutherland.-The chances he saw before h1l11, from hIS very great 

experience, Qf succeeding in making a north-west passage through the 
Wellington Channel. 

293. Chai1·man.-How can you be certain that the barrier of ice that 
'impeded you did not impede him? . . 
. ·Dr; ·Sutherland.-l cannot be certam of that. 
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294. Clw£rrnan.- What grounds ~ave you for thinking that Sir ~ o~m Fran~lin, 
after wintering at Beechey Island, dId not proceed, agreeably to hIS InstructIOns, 
to the south-west by Cape Walker? 

Dr. Suther/and.-Had he proceeded hy that route traces of him would have 
been found by the parties who have explored those parts. 

295. Sir E. Parry.-Then why were not traces found of him in the other 
direction, namely, to the northward and westward which you suppose he took? 

Dr. Slltherland.-The extreme haste with which he might have found it 
necessary to proceed in that direction under the most favourable circumstances. 

296. Sir E. Parry.-Then I return to the question. Why might he not 
have proceeded under the same haste in the south-western direction by 
Cape Walker? 

Dr. Slltherland.-Before the expedition could have got clear of winter 
quarters thc ice in Barrow Straits towards Cape Walker must have been 
broken up into a pack, which.would drift about loosely and render the progress 
of the ships necessarily very slow. The ice in the Wellington Channel we 
know would retain its fixed position until late in the season, and, when the 
opening might have taken place, to allow the ships to proceed in that direction, 
the ice would not be in the form of a loose pack, but in the form of large floes 
that would permit of hasty and rapid progress close along the eastern shore 
of the Wellington Strait; that will account for the haste in one direction 
and the slowness in the other. 

297. Sir E. Pal"1-y.-Am I to understand that it is your opinion that the 
ice breaks up sooner in the south-west direction than in Wellington Strait? I 
mean in the direction of Cape Walker? 

Dr. Sutherland.-Two months sooner. 

29t-i· Sir E. Pal"l-y.-In the preceding year I believe it was not navigable 
to Cape Walker? 

Dr. Slltherland.-Not when we arrived there; but it might have been 
earlier in the season. 

2~9 .. 8£1" E. Parry.--Do you know what was the state of the ice when you 
left It III August 1851? If you had been trying to get to Cape Walker this 
year, how far could you have got in the ships? 

Dr. 8utherland.-It was much clearer of ice in July, when we could have 
got there, than it was in August, and more easily navigable. 

300. Sir E. Pa1'1:y.-Did you find any traces of Sir John Franklin any­
where in your travelling party? 

Dr. Sutlterland.-No; not any traces. 

301. Sir E. Parr.1/.-Do you consider that Beechey Island was thoroughly 
searched for records? 

Dr. Suthe1"land.-Yes; thoroughly searched. 

302. Admiral Fanshawe.-Do you know anything of Cape Riley? 
Dr. Sutherland.-Yes. 

303. Admiral Fanslwwe.-Do you consider that that place was thoroughly 
searched? 

pro Slltherland.-Yes. ~ went to examine Cape Riley and the immediate 
pomts, and no traces were dIscovered. 

304. Admiral Fanshawe.-You were at Cape Riley yourself? 
Dr. Sutherland.-Yes. 

CAPT AIN PENNY, who was examined yesterday, was recalled. 

305: Cltairman.-T~ere was a question we omitted to put to you yesterday, 
Captam Penny, o~ whIch we should like to have some information. It is, 
whether you conSider that the winter harbour of the Erebus and Terror has 
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been so thoroughly searched that it is not possible that any document left by 
Sir John Franklin there could have been overlooked. 

Captain Penn.ll·-I do not think it possible, tor the ground was gone over 
as a bloodhound would go over it. Captain Austin and his party, myself. 
and others went over it and round about it, over and over again, so as to 
prevent any doubt upon the subject. :My persuasion was very strong that Sir 
John Franklin would not leave without leaving some traces. 

306. Sir E. Parry.-Y ou are satisfied that this must have been the winter 
quarters of the Erebus and Terror in the winter of 1845-6 ? 

Captain Penny.-I am perfectly satisfied of that. 

307. Admiral Fanshazce.-\Vere strict searches made on Cape Riley 
Capta£n Penn.Ij.-Yes. Captain Stewart and Dr. Sutherland landed npon 

that cape, and examined it minutely, but they found no traces. 

The Committee then adjourned. 

Jlr. Penny. 

2Sth Oct. 1851. 
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Third Day. OrtobpJ' 29, 1 N;)] . 

Present, Rear-Admiral Bowles, C.B., M.P., Chairman, 
Rear-Admiral Arthur Fanshawe, C.B., 
Captain Sir E. Parry, 
Captain Beechey, . 
Captain Sir George Back, 

Mr. Frederick J. Fegen, Secretary. 

CAPTAIN AUSTIN, C.B., called. 

The Chai1'lllan (addressing Captain Penny, who was present,) said,­
B~fore we commenc~ the proceeding~ I must inform you the COTll­
mIttee have determmed on allowing you to be present during the 
examination of' Captain Austin and his officers. We think it i~ rather 
a stretch of fairness, as no accusation is brought against any of the 
oiicers in your expedition; but it is proper that all parties should be 
in a position to correct any misrepresentations that may be made, anel 
we therefore allow you to be present. 

308. The Clwi1"1nan to Captain Austill.-Are you prepared to go int;, 
your evidence now? 

Captain Austin.-I am perfectly ready to answer any questions that may be 
proposed to me, reserving the privilege which I may hereafter have occasion 
for, of referring to my notes and to documents, some of which I shall refer to 
with great reluctance, if it become necessary. With that privilege I am ready 
to go into the examination. 

309. Clwit·man.-The first question the Committee wish to put is in reference 
to your opinions respecting reports contained in your letter of the lith August 
1850 as to Adam Beck. Do you continue to consider that the examination 
at that time was a full and' sufficient one, and do you still entertain the 
same opinion as to that story? 

Captain Austin.-I do, precisely. I consider that everything was gone into, 
and that everyone who was present agreed that the conduct of Adam Beck 
was most discreditable. 

310. Clwirman.-To what circumstances do you allude that ha\'e not 
been detailed in reference to Adam Beck? 

Captain Austin.-Everything has since been born~ out by the conduct of 
Adam Beck. 

311. Chairman.-What do you allude to? 
Captain Austin.-I allude to his stopping back, and to what passed when 

b~ was landed, which Captain Omrnanney can speak of better than I can,-to 
hIS conduct when with Sir John Ross. He was a man in whom no faith could 
be placed from his irregular conduct and I believe drunkenness. I think he 
was about the worst description of a civilized savage I ever saw. 

312. Cha£rman.-Do you consider, that from Ponds Bay on the south, to 
Cape Warrender on the north, have been properly searched, and all the points 
as far as Lan'caster Sound? 

Captain Austin.-Yes; I believe it has all been thoroughly examined. 
N2 

Captain Austin. 
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313. Clwil'man.-And you extend that answer both north and south as far 
as Lancaster Sound? 

Captain Austin.-Yes; I be!ieve t~at from Ponds. Bay to Port Leop~ld has 
been thoroughly examined. Searc?mg a,nd exaII?matlOn are two different 
things; this coast has been most satIsfactorily exammed. 

314. CI/f/i)'}}/rlll.-Do you consider that the whole of the south coast as far 
as Port Leopold and Ponds Bay has been thorou~hl'y examined? 

r:aptain Austin.-Yes, most thoroughly examll1ed. 

315. Clwirmnn.-What were your proceedings after passing Port Leopold? 
Did you get to Cape Riley and find the first tra~es of the ~xpedition ? 

Cnptn£n Austin.-We proceeded to Cape Rlley roundmg Beechey Island, 
where I was detained. 

;316. Clwil'lllan.-Give an account of your further proceedings. When did 
you receive information of the discovery of Sir John Fr~nklin's w!nter quarters? 

C.'rlptaill A I!still.-The moment I rea~~ed the fast Ice at U~IOn ~ay wh~re 
the ye,~cls were lying, Commander Phlllips came out and assIsted m. leadmg 
" Resolute" in, and from whom I heard of the waves. I was up all mght and 
was unequal to go on shore. At length Captam Penny and I went together 
to the graves, and then considered that here were the winter quarters. 

317. Clwir1l1ait.-In filet you discovered undoubted traces of the missing 
expedition? 

Captain Allstill.-I saw that there were traces of the expedition having 
wintered there. 

318. Clwir1Iw/),,-What was the next step you took? 
Captain .-1118till.-I accompanied Captain Penny and some other officers to 

the top of the hill at Beechey Island; while there we went to a cairn, took 
it down and examined it to a certain extent, but not in the way we were satisfied 
it should be examined. '\'e then returned to the ship. Both of our searches 
were made at this cairn. Nothing do I recollect being found at this moment 
more than a few shot. I beg to hand in my report. 

319. Clwirman.-In paragraph 8 of your letter to the Admiralty of the 
14th of July 1851 you state that yon consider that the departure of the 
expedition was somewhat sudden? 

Captain .dustill.-Ye~, I am of that opinion. There was a number of coal 
bags and other l1laterials left about which it is not probable would have been 
left, unless t~e missing expedition had gone away suddenly, or if they had 
been prosecutmg. There was a great deal of burning material, coal bags, and 
other things ,,,hich evidently proved to me that they had gone out rapidly or 
were not advancing. 

320. Clzail'man.-What quantity of coal bags was there? 
Captain Alistin.-Perhaps a dozen altogether. 

321. ClwiI'1I1an.-All empty? 
Captain Austin.-Yes. I brought away four. There might have been more 

than a dozen. 

3:;2. C.hai1'llw~l.-Wh~t were yO\.~r further proceedings afterwards? 
. Captmn Austm.-:-I WIll f50 011 WIth my narrative. I proceeded as far as w~s 
III my power. I WIll explalll what I mean by the word power. I considered It 
was my ?~ty to go to t~e ~yestwar~l, looking to the westward position as being 
~ne ?f dIfficulty, and that If anythmg should have to be done in the Wellington 
StraIt I could retur~; and further, that it was neces~ary then, from what I saw 
of t~e state of the Ice, .to be prepared for making arrangements for the forth­
com!ng season for actIOn, the pre~ent season of navigation being evidently 
closmg very fast. As soon as pOSSIble after opportunity offered we prosecuted 
to the westward. 

32~. (ldmiral Fanshawe.-When you speak of proceeding to the westward 
was l.t 1\1 purs~ance of your orders to use every possible exertion to get to 
MelVIlle Island: 

Captain Auslin.-Yes, most undoubtedly it was I used everv exertion to 
get to Melville Island. '" 

::324. Captain Austin continued his narrative.-We were stopped .at the south 
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end of Griffi,th Island, and,there the expeditions were together, with the exception 
of that of Su' John Ross III the Felix, After reaching this spot Captain Penny 
came ?n board, and conversed upon the matter fully, the subject being the 
operat1?ns that should n~w be entered into to ensure the accomplishment of 
our object, at t~e same tllne offering to convey Captain Penny or one of his 
offi~ers to examme an apparent lead to the south-west, I refer to Illy circlIlar 
w,h!ch I addr~ssed to I:leutenant D~ Ha\:en in coml~and of the American expe­
ditIOn. I thmk you WIll find that Captam Penny did not receive it. 

325. Clwirman.-Is it dated the 11th of September 1850? 
Captain AlistiJl,- Yes, it is. The substance of it was a conversation between 

Captain Penny and myself when he came on board, 

326, Cltairman.- You had better read it, and it will become part of the 
evidence. 

Captain Al,tstin.-The substance of this circular was gone into in conYersa­
tion with Captain Penny. Captain Ommmmey came on board, and there was a 
question about some dark clouds in the south-""est near Cape Walker. Looking 
to the state of the ice, whieh was drifting' to the southward, and the weather 
generally, I thought it would be anything 'but the duty of an Arctic nayigator 
to proceed. Captain Pennv's vessels were moving about from one part of the 
ice to the other, and towards the evening they were at some distance from us. 
Captain Ommanney left early in the morning, with directions from me to give 
Captain Penny an opportunity to proceed to the south-west. When Captain 
Ommanney reached, the brigs were adrift, under f;ail, and there was a kind of 
race between the brigs and the Intrepid, between Captain Penny's two brigs and 
the Intrepid. Shortly after this the weather cbanged, a thick fog came on,­
it was very severe weather,-and the Intrepid returned. I shall have to refer 
to Captain Ommanney's report as to what passed on that occasion. He C:lI11e 
back with difficulty, and from that time until I sent a party out to examine 
if the ships were fast, and preparing themseh-es for the winter, I did not 
know where the brigs ,,,ere, although I had certain apprehcmiol1~ about 
them. The Intrepid returned. 'Ve had very severe weather at this period, and 
we were drifting with the ice to the southward, The first moment that 
admitted of it we cast otf,-that is, our expedition, and one of the American 
vessels,-the other haying broken adrift during the sevcre weather; and after 
as severe a day as cver I experienced in my life, we got into opeD water 
under the lee of Griffith Island. I considered that our situation at tbis moment 
was a very serious one, for every thin!~' depended upon our rcaching to the 
west of Griffith Island, and I thought that unless we came upon t hc remain,; 
of our fellow countrymen between that and l\Ieh-il1e Island, nothing would han' 
allowed me to have returned to England as long as I existed, for my orders 
were Melville Island. We thus arrived under lee of Griffith Isbl](l. Seeing, 
from the state of the season, the lowness of the temperature, tbat I had no 
dependence upon the steamers, on account of that low state of the tem­
perature, as the injection of water frol11 thc sea could not be regularly 
supplied, (which I wish to be kept in view, l-seeing that if they stopped there 
was no moving again, and it would be sailing ships on which I should have to 
depend,-.under these circumstances I must say that I felt \Try anxious. There 
was no ice to keep us off from Griffith Island, and therefore it was I1ccc:-;:,;ary to 
push for something in the shape of security. But to the eastward I \yould not ~o; 
I called for Captain Ommanney on board to inquire as to the state of the ICC 
between Griffith Island and Cape Martyr, his report being that there were hopes 
of some fast ice being found there We continued under a press of sail to make 
that ice. Whilst doing so the American vessels hoisted their colours, and bore 
up, and I was much pained at the moment by a supposition that tl1e,\- must be 
for America, and that they would have no report on board £I'om me. But I. ~elt 
at that moment that nothing would justi(y me in keeping t~e exped,lt~on 
without some holdfast. We pushed on, and reached the fixed ICC at Griffith 
Island, which eventually became OUI' winter quarters. As will be seen from my 
circular, I made up my mind that the" Assistance" shoulrl not ~d"ance; but I 
was anxious that she should remain to the latest moment, to see If we could get 
round Griffith Island. And again it required some little time carefully to think 
over the instructions necessary to give to Captain O,mmanney, to ensu~e the 
operations being carried out to the utmost next sprmg. In the meantIme a 
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tender was despatched to look to the south end of Griffith Island, i~ the hope that 
there might be something in the s~ape of water that would admIt of fifty miles 
more to the westward being obtamed, a~ I must ~ay that I had made up my 
mind, that, having the ,. Assistance" in her place, th? " Res?lute " should become 
a forlorn hope. However, as my report WIll show 111 d~tUlI, there wa~ no hope, 
and the "Assistance" and her tender \rcre sent off 111 the executlOn of her 
instructions to <ret into port. She made the :lttempt, but with her tender 
and her steam ~ she became in such :t helpless posit~on that Captain 
Ommanney felt that the sooner he eould get back mto a channel of 
water to join us it was his duty to do so. The" Assistance" having 
returned, the temperature ~eB considerably:. There .was llluch ice and very 
little open ,vater, and thIS state of thmp,'s l'o~ltmued S?llle day~. At 
last I felt that there \\as no hope of gettmg thIS fifty mIles, and m that 
casc that both ships had better be together, for the~ \\'c should hare 
joint operations, which would be more ~nccessful. Thc Ice had formed so 
strongly, and become so pressed, and the tempcrature so low, that I determined 
that both ships should go into winter quarters. I saw there was not the 
slightest hope of getting westward, and I bega~ to cut. through 300 an~ 400 
yards in extent between us and the channel, wI1lch ~ronllse~ to lead us mto a 
little bay to the eastward of Cape Martyr, but the Ice agam made so fast that 
I felt it was necessary to give up further operations in that direction. We then, 
considering the ships fixed, despatched parties in the hope of doing something, 
at the same time with the "ie,\, of giving them somc idea of what travelling 
would be. One of the party discovered the position of Captain Penny. I must 
say that the weather was so ~eH:rc, the temperature being down to 17 bdow 
zero, that our advance parties were driven in. I would refer to their journals 
for the sufferings these people underwent at this 'Period. Captain Penny 
came over in his dog sledge, and he cheerfully undertook to complete 
the search of "'ellington Strait. He was two days' march nearer than we 
were. This brings us up to the commencement of the winter. We then 
commenced our operations for the health and exercise of the men during the 
winter season. 

;}:2,. Chairman.- If you refer to your report of July for the proceedings of 
the winter, you can proceed at once to the spring, when you sent your parties out? 

Cnpfain .4l1still.-Ye~. These papers will be produced. I have nothing 
to repeat further in that respect. 

3:2, a. Captain A lis/ill continued.-'Vinter commenced, and our great object 
was to eEtablish health, improvement, and happiness amongst the men. So soon 
as the weather would admit of it we commenced training, which I consider a 
most important thing. It was most beneficial in this instance. It gave W', in the 
first place, confidence in the men; and, secondly, by testing their strength, 
it e~abled us to form an opinion as to the extent of labour they could endure. 
TI1lS mls contmned as far as the weather would admit. Previous to this I 
assembled all the officers together, and ga\'c them the plan of operations, 
whi.ch I ta~e the oPl?ortunity of saying were wholly my own; for myoccu­
patIon durmg the wH~ter was having my instructions before me, as well as 
all the best works whlCh had been written on the subject of Arctie travel. 
AB. the o~cer.s to whom I communicated my opinions appeared satisfied with 
theIr destmatlOm, and I caBed upon them to o-ive me their views and their 
anticipations, to name their sledges, select th~ir men, their flag, and their 
motto, a~d they were to be brought to me on a certain day. This was done, 
and. ~ecelyed my approval. I never met with so much earnestness as was 
exh1blted on t?at occasion by the officers a~~ men in training for that work. 
At th~ same t1me I consulted all the authontles as to the time I could ensure 
safetY,m departure, ~ecause ~ felt that .we co?ld not go away too early; first, 
that "e should aVOId the nsk of the Ice bemg disrnpted in the strait on our 
return, and second, because as the season advanced the labour of proceeding 
wo?ld become so. mueh grea~er. Everything worked well, and was highly 
satIsfactory. Durmg. the penod of detention from the weather, seeing that 
t~e~~ was great an~let.Y, I addressed one of the best petty officers of the 
dlVlSlOD, and asked hIm how he fdt about the weather, and he said he thought 
the sooner 'Ye were off, the. better. My attention was rather called to this 
remark of hIS, and I asked hIm why ~ His reply was, I feel assured that we 
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shall find it muc~ worse as the season advances than the severity we have Captain Austin. 
now. That convInced me that the men were reasoninO' and reflectino' and 
I derived considerable satisfaction from the circumsta~ce. Thc tim~' had 29th Oct. 1851. 

arrived for an inspection of the parties as arrano'ed for departure and I must 
h I · to> , 

say t ~t . never wItnessed anything equal to it in my life. The earnestness, 
determmatlOn, and general conduct of all afforded me the highest gratification. 
I addressed them on the spot and issued a memorandum. I felt it due to 
them to embody my opinions in a document so that they might stand on 
record as a publIc document; that document will be amongst the papers to be 
produced. They departed, and from that time until they returned not one 
?f the arranger:l~nts we had mude failed. , When they returned they did so, 
Just as was antICIpated, and the greatest confidence <:xi~t<:Ll in the abilities 
of all to accomplish ,,,hat they had undertaken. I had almost foro-otten 
to state that as the parties ca;nc in I again despatched what I con~idered 
the limited and auxiliary parties; first, ill order that in the event of any­
thing happening to the distant parties thcy should b~' there to bring them in ; 
and, second, in order that what had been discovered should be satisftlctorily laid 
down, that is, that thc positions should be fixc(}' and that all should be surveyed 
that could by any possibility be accomplished, l"\pt:tin Pennv rcached the 
" Resolute," and communicated to me that he had discovered a 'largc space of 
water up the 'Vellington Strait. At this time I really had no assistance to 
give to Captain 1't'!ll1,'" but I am by no means prepared to admit that Captain 
Penny asked me for it. :Uy imprc~sion is, that I observed to Captain Penny 
that I regretted that I h~Hl not the means, but thut we must havc a boat 
in that water. Whut I meant by that \Va" that Captain Penny and myf'elf, 
that is with 1m a;;sistance, ,houlcl have :\ hoat in that water, and I recollect 
also that 1\1r. Alle11 , the mastcr of the " Re~olllk," said to me, " Why, Sir, I 
" should be glad to go under Calltain Penny if it is onI,V to do the astronomical 
"part." I said, "You have gratified and pleased me much; we must talk that 
" over." This conv~rsation occurred after our dinner on, I believe, a Royal 
birth-day. I have no \'eI'Y full recollection of this, ~Jat I may refer to my 
notes, and, if necessary, I will return to the su~ject hercafter. Previous to this 
in tbe afternoon Captain Pl'IlllY alld lllyself were walking bcfor<: dinner, and I 
desired to elicit £I'om Captain Pl'ilIlY, if I could, what really mlS thc state of 
the case a;; to the ,Yater, for round about me there \\"as nothing but ice, and 
I could not well unden;tand that he had been in an open sea, circumstanced as 
we were. I put some close clucstions to Captain Penny, but not by any means 
so close as I should han' put to Captain Ommanney, or anyone of his rank 
who had come to me with that report. I fOllnd that Captain Penny was angry, 
and I' felt that he would not allow me to makc such inquiries. My object was 
most certainly not to create any ba~ feeling, ~md thereforc I can, ~ay little m~)j'e 
about the questions, \Ve went to dmner then. I have related L1G conversatIOn 
before dinner. In the evening, finding Captain Penny in conversation with my 
officers, as he was my guest I did not wish to interrupt hi~ conversation 
with them, considering it was not in good taste to do so. I descended the 
cabin two or three steps, and it o('curr~d to me I must say good night to 
Penny. I went up and asked him if he would takc anything. Knowing 
him to he a very abstemious man, I might have asked him if he would 
take a glass of water. The conversation proceeded and I went away. To 
my astonishment,-for I must say I was looking forward to the Sabbath 
passing with a view to some determined arrangement as to what was to 
be done in the Wellington Strait,-to my astonishment the bombardier came 
to me at twelve o'clock at night to say that Captain Penny had gone. I 
think he said to the" Assistance," but I am not positivc. I know that Cap­
tain Penny had an invitation to dine on board the .1 Assistance" on Sunday, 
for I was invited to meet him. I never made it a practice to accept invita­
tions on Sunday, but out of compliment to Captain Penny I determined 
on going. I said, "I think Captain Penny is in want of meat for his dogs; 
" I 'should not be at aU surprised if he is gone towards Griffith's Islan~_" 
I declare that from that time to this I have endeavoured to account for It. 
However, among other things, I afterwards became impressed that ~ap~a.in 
Penny was angry with me, perhaps because I had not returned hIS VISIt_ 

N4 
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He had offered me his doer sledge, and I am sure I should have been 
YO'\' happy there; I am su~e of that, for I ha,:e always considered hi~ ,a 
vcr:\" generoLls man; but ,there wue a hundred of n~y people out. M,V: mmd 
was on t be stretch, causll1g me great care all(~ anxICty; under such cIrcum. 
stances I could not think of leaving the shIps. However, there was an 
inten'al between what may be called the limited and the extended parties. I 
determined to walk over to Captain Penny's, and found it a most tiresome 
JOLlrney, -a most laborious journey of fi'om eight to nin~ hours. I ~hought of 
catching Captain Penny before he we~t ~ut, but when I arrIved, unhappIly I found 
that C;lptain Peuny had g,one up '~ellmf\'ton Channel. I. was detamed there. 
My intention wus to remam there forty-elgl~t hours, but, 111 ~he hope, of ~oll1e 
onC' eominO' back, my stay extended o\'er SIX days at Captam Penny s wmter 
quarters 0~1 board the "Lady Franklin." During the time I was there the 
extended party came back a little earlier than they expected. I was away 
during the arrival of Captain Om manney, Aldridge, and Osborne. While on 
board the" Lady Franklin" thinking that there must be some mistake between 
myself, and Captain Penny, I wrote him a letter. I cannot recollect the 
slibstance of it, for I never intended it to be produced at such an inquiry as 
this. I apologized to him, and desired that there should be no coolness 
bet,veen us for the good of the cause. I then returned to the expedition. 

:318, Clwi}'}J/(/Il.-Hau you not better say what you apologized for? 
Captnill .1ustin.-I think I said, " If you are offended, the desire of an 

" honourable mind must be to make an apology. If I have offended you I 
" nenT intended it." 

Captlfill .1l1Sflil continued.--I came back to the ship after another very 
laborious jOUl'lIcy, and the parties came in unhappily without finding traces, 
having: looked most carefully and minutely for any trace. 

:319. ,\'il' E. Pn/')'Ij.-Will you state about the time of this? 
CUj;tl/in Allslln.~All the' parties ",ere in by the 4th of July. I cannot, 

without note" speak now, but after minutely considering with my colleague, 
and recciving the officers journals and reports, I felt satisfied that there was 
nothing more to bc done to the southward and westward, and I decided 
aeconlingly, 

:330. Cllfli/,llllliI.- You had better explain here what had been done!' 
Crlp!flill Allslin.-Nothing more could be done to the northward and west­

ward h,r Lieutcnant Aldridge and Lieutenant M'Clintock, 1\1r. Bradford the 
Surgeon, and 1\11'. l\I'Dougall the second master; and to the southward and 
we~t\\'ard h,r Captain Ommanney, Lieutenant Osborne, Lieutenant Browne, 
and Lieutenant Mecham, and also by 1\11'. Allen, who had searched Lowther 
Island aUll Garrett Island, and the ice generally in that direction, a~ shown in 
my outline chart. 

33l. C!t,flull,all.-That cOl~lpletes that part of your evidence. You say that 
those lXll:ts hU\'lng be~n exammed by such and such parties, nothing more could 
be done 111 that directIOn ~ 
, Cnptl/i,~ ~J list ill eOl:tinued.-All returned unhappily ,yithout traces ofthe miss­
mg expedItIOn. Havmg maturely weighed and considered the matter, I now felt 
that all had been done that could be done to the westward and south-westward of 
the Wellington ('hannel. I must say I became very anxions at this period to be 
able to ma~e known generally what was to be the plan of future operation. 
At the ~~ll'hest moment I se~t my ~rack ,chart to Captain Penny who was away. 
and to, SIr John H.os~, Dunnt;; thls,Penod I had occupied my mind with plans 
for g~ll1g oyerla~d III case of hearmg ~rom p.artie~ coming in from Captain 
Penn), so that III the ev~nt of anythmg bemg found I might send a party 
across the land at the head of the bay; my calculations were that, taking the 
best people I had, I mmt deyote three weeks in order to do it. I mean to 
say I ,,"ouLl send across the head of the bay surveyed by }lr. l\l'DouO'aU. I 
had rcporb, and I suppose that I 11l1l~t h~LYe had somethinO' fi'om Sir John 
Ross or oome of the parties connected with Captain Penny whg had gone to the 
",.>t\qnl. Perhap" I had bettcr tell exactly what I felt. If it had not heen 
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f?r delicacy in the OI~e case, and having a doubt about land travelling at the 
time of the year, I mIght have made an attempt to cross there; but that would 
have been mere hydr.ography, and would not have accomplished my object. I 
thought, also, that It w<:>ul~ be going over ground my colleague was doing, 
and that I had better walt till he returned havino- the full determination in 
my mind that I would never allow a word t~ pass by which it mio'ht be inferred 
that I had a.ny intentio~ . of retu~ning to England. It was w~ll known that 
I had determmed on wmtmg unhl Captain Penny returned. Captain Penny 
returned about 25th July, and I received a note from him, but no official letter. 
That note, with other things that occurred to me, fully impressed me that the 
search had been carefully made, that no traces had been found and that so 
far as the sea was spoken of it was not a navigable sea. Thc n~te I received 
from Captain Penny was as follows :-

" Dear Sir, August 4, 1851. 
"Your first note, written on board the "Lady Franklin," escaped my notice 

by some overlook ~or four days; the language it conveys is sufficient apology 
to any generous-mmded man, however much his feeling had been injurcd by 
expressions and marked neglect. 

" And believe me, Austin, when I state it, that Penny has been all his lifetime 
accustomed to speak the language of the heart. 

" You, as well as myself, has very great reason to be thankful to our JIakel' 
for His manifold mercr to us and all those under our command for the hig'h 
state of health they er~.ioy after an arduous and prolonged dutys (.~ic). L 

"The result of my boat expedition as far as the fate of Sir John and the 
brave men under his command are satisfactory, for what other conclusion 
could we arrive at after visiting Duck Island and Bird headlands with 
hundreds of nests, and no trace,-likewise water about these islands for two 
months, and latterly, beyond the pack ice nothing but water as f;u' as till' eye 
could reach from the highest mountain; but the fearful rate the tide runs 
(not less than six knots) through the sounds that divide the channel renders 
it dangerous even for a boat, much more so a ship, unless clear of ice, which 
from the appearance of the ice here will not be clear this season. 

" The conclusion I have arrived at after what has passed uncleI' Illy ouserva­
tion is to return to England after I have had an interview with you. 

"Poor Lady Franklin, and the friends of those brave men whose f<lte will 
• ever remain in oblivion! 'Vas it not a strong conviction of my sense of duty, 

the very thought of meeting any of them without intelligence would almost 
tempt me to another winter. 

I remain, 
Yours sincerely, 

" Captain H. T. Austin." (Signed) W~l. PENNY." 

Endorsement in pencil. 

" Recd by Captain St. " Sophia," the lIth August, Monday, at anchorage 
off Penny's winter quarters, just before anchoring." 

332. Chm:rrnan.-Y ou received that letter on the 11 th of August 'r 
Captain Austin.-Yes; it was received by me on the 11 th of August. 

333. Sir E. Parry.-Was that endorsement placed on .it at th~ t.ime ? 
Captain Austin.-Y es; it was not touched from that tIme nntJllt was taken 

out on our return. 

334. Sir E. Par}:y.-How do you account for the delay between the 4th of 
August, which date the letter bears, and the lIth of August when you 
received it ? 

Captain Austin.-My impression why I did not receive the letter for a week 
was, that the party intruste~ with it could not reach. me. There was an 
attempt on the part of Captam Penny to reach me at Gflffith Island, although 
an engineer came from Captain Penny's vessel after his ret~lrn, and also after 
t~at again, the Esquimaux Adam Beck came. over th~ Ice: ~ t the same 
tllne my first lieutenant who was on board Captam Pe~my s shIp did not co~)e, 
and there was therefore considerable difficulty; that IS to say, that the first 
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lieutenant of the" Resolute" was on board the" Lady Franklin" when Captain 
Penny returned from his second trip. 0!l the lith of August I came to the 
winter quarters of Captain Penny; Cap~alll Stewa!·t was on board. I cannot 
trust my memory for details of m.r VISIt. Captam Stewart cll;me on board. 
My belief is, he gave me that private note and also an ?fficlal ~ett~r from 
Captain Penny ",ith an outline chart. Why I say. I behev~ th~s, IS th~t 
it will be before you on record, an(1 therefore that wIll determllle It. It will 
be produced. This is the letter :-

" Her Majesty's Brig, Lady Franklin, 
" Sir, Assistance Bay, August 4, 1851. 

" I forward an outline of search by the expedition under my charge. 
There are no traces of Her Majesty's ships 'Erebus' and 'Terror' further than a 
bit of English elm. As soon as I am at liberty I will come to Griffith Island 
and wait an interview. 

I have the honour to be, Sir, 
your most obedient servant, 

" To Captain Horatio T. Austin, C.B., WILLIAM PENNY." 
commanding Her Majesty's ship 

, Rcsolute,' and the Expedition to the Arctic." 

RJlr/O},SI'IIl(,lIt.-" Received on the lIth of August, dated the 4th of August 
1851, on the arrival of the' Resolute' at the winter quarters of Captain Penny's 
Expedition .. , 

Capta£n Austin continued.-Shortly after Captain Stewart delivered this 
letter Commander Phillips and the first lieutenant of the "Resolute" carne 
on board the "Resolute." Shortly after anchoring Captain Penny came on 
board. Sir John Ross came on board; that is to say, Sir John Ross and 
Captain Penny were in my cabin of the" Resolute" together, as far as I believe; 
that is my impression. There was conversation going on between Captain 
Penny and myself and Sir John Ross, all connected with the search of the 
Wellington Channel, all connected with the service which was at our hearts, 
I believe. Captain Ommanney came on board. My impression is, that I 
could not reason with Captain Penny. I could not get anything that was 
satisfactory. It was a sort of rambling conversation of which I could make 
nothing. Sir John Ross and Captain Ommanney may recollect more of the 
affair than I can. This I am quite prepared to recollect, that when Captain. 
Penny left the ship I went to the side and endeavoured in every possible way 
to be polite and attentive, and to cause him to be treated in the manner 
whi?h his position demanded. I could not but say to Captain Ommanney, 
" DId you see Penny's conduct to me, i" it not distressing?" I was pained in 
the extreme, but never mentioned the circumstance to anyone but Captain 
Ommanney. Now with respect to the letter which I sent to Captain Penny, 
requiring him to state to me officially the result. of his search for Sir John 
Franklin, the date of it was as follows :-

., S:aptain Austin to Captain \Y. Penny, Her ~Injesty's Brig' Lady Franklin,' 
and III charge of an expedition searching for the expedition of Sir John 
Franklin. 

" Her Majesty's ship' Resolute,' off the Winter Quarters of Captain Penny's 
expedition, II th August." 

C(fptain AlIS~ill continued.-My belief is, that this letter was sent by my 
clerk to. Captam Penny, Captain Ommanney remaining on board with me. 
Mr.Lewls was the clerk of the " Resolute." I cannot at this moment remember the 
~our, that i~, \:hether Captain Ommanney and I dined first, but my impression 
j~, that Captal? Ommanney and I dined together from about three to four 
o clock.. My dinner ?our. was gen~rally three, but of course in this service 
I took It when I reqUIred It to sustam me. Dinner being over, it was arranged 
t~at we should go and pay a complimentary visit to Captain Penny and 
SIr .John Ross. "\Ve pr~ceed~d on board the" Lady Franklin," and in the 
cabm were assem~'ed Captam. Penny, Captain Stewart, Captain Ommanney, 
and. 1l1.~:sel£ I saId to Captam Penny, " Xow, Penny, let us set aside au 
feelmg, or words to that effect. " We are going home non-successful. Depen4 
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upon it we shall be called upon closely," or words to that effect. "It is now 
necessary that we should take upon ourselves a certain amount of responsibility 
and there must be a little official correspondence pass between YOIl and me: 
You see that I have told yon that I am satisfied after mature consideration 
wit~ what has been done bJ:" my own officers, and it is no\\" for you to ted 
me m some way what yon thmk of your work," or words to that effect. 

335. Clzairmqn.--:-Y o~ sta.te that. you re~eived an outline chart from Captain 
Penny. commUl:llc~tmg hiS dlsco\·enes. Did you communicate your exploring 
operatIOns to hIm r 

Captain Ansthl.-Directly after my explorilw parties came in I sent to 
Sir John Ross and qa'p~ain Penny with a view b of informing them of what 
had been do~e, and elIcItmg from them at the earliest opportunity what they 
had accomplIshed. The date of my communication was the 4th of July 1851. 

336. Chairlllan.-How soon after that did you receive Captain Penny's 
outline chart? . 

Captain Austill.-I reeeiyed it on the lIth of August. 

Captain Alistin continued.-Captain Penn v then, I think said "Oh I , ~" , , 
have answered that,' and turned to the back of the cabin and gave me a 
letter. I opened the letter and found it was not at all an answer to the 
questions I put. He gan' me the letter which he has now put in. Until I saw 
that letter here I forgot it, for I Ilever noticed it in any other way than that 
I halre mentioned. . 

The letter "a~ as follow:,; : 

" Sir, Assistance Bay, II th August I,,,:,) l. 
" I have this moment received your despatch. I beg to statl" that YOll 

have already my chart and expressed opinions, which I again send you in 
writing; i. e. that. I have not found any trace otherwise than a bit of elm, 
which you, have seen, and I only can judge ,,,hcn I ~l't' Wellington Channel 
what course I will then pursue. 

" My orders are such as would 1I0t justity me in passing another winter III 

the Arctie seaR. 
" I have the honour to be, Sir, 

" Your most obedient servant, 
" To Captain Austin, " "r'LLID' PEN:\\"." 

Her Majesty'!' ship 'Resolute,' and in charge 
of Her Majest.y's expedition in search 

of Sir John Franklin:' 

Captain Alistill continued.-I took this letter, and I said: "This is not a 
reply to my quest.ion;" and I believe I put it in my pocket. .Hter reasoning a 
little Captain Penny became more cool; and I then took the letter out and 
said, " Well, I do not mean to say that if the Wellington Channel was opened, 
and I believe that two days would accomplish it, that I would not proceed up 
with a steamer and get some soundings, some angles and observations:' 
But I said, "Penny, I will tell you what; if you will tell me, and give me 
from under your hand that you are satisfied with the work you have performed, 
I will not go up the Wellington Channel. Geography is not our object, and 
therefore I should tell you I am satisfied if you are satisfied; but if you give 
me this letter I must. write to you again, and it will not be satisfactory before 
the public that we are altercating," or something to that effect. I am ready 
to declare that I gave that. letter to Captain Penny again. I cannot s!1Y l~e 
was unwilling to receive it; I do not. know. How I was able to mamtam 
myself as an officer and a gentleman under the circumstances I cannot tell. 
I then said to Captain Penny, "Now reflect, as soon as you give me your 
answer you may rely upon it that I shall not look o~cr your work, a?d 
you will then know what are my plans for the future. I then bade hllll 
good-bye, and went. on board the" Felix." Sir John Ross. had been 
kind ,enough to supply us with five. tons of coals, and !11y anxlety. to get 
them on board kept me there a httle longer t.han I mIght otherWIse have 
been. On returning to the ship I passed with Captain Ommanney under. the 
stem of the" Lady Franklin." Captain Penny was on deck, and, I belIeve,. 
kindly asked me to come on board. I said," No, I thank you." Several of 
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our officcrs were on board, and I think ! sa!d to Captain Ommanney, " All I 
want is his reply, and if we go on board It WIll only dela~, us. I.have reasoned 
with him, and the sooner I gct on board the better. I saId to Captain 
Ommanney, "You must remain on board, because I shall have an answer to 
that letter, for till that comes not a word can I say as. to what ,,:e are going 
to do." I must refer to some notes I made at that tIme. I watted up until 
midnight for Captain Penny's answer. ~ei[]g muc~, fag~ed, . I ~ent to bed. 
Captain Oll1ll1anney wa~ on. board t~c Resol!-lte untIl mldmght, when I 
requested him to go to .hIS, shIp. PrevlO~s to gOIng to bed I wrote .a n~te to 
Captain Penny most kIndlY, for an officIal answer. The substance IS thls:_ 
first of all tli~ note was very kindly written, appealing to Captain Penny as 
an active and energetic Arctic navigator for a reply to my official letter. J 
impressed upon his mind that the ~xpe.dition I was ~harged. with was lying 
in that bay in the midst of stragglIng Ice. At that tIme I dId not know but 
that I ,ras going to remain out another winter. Up to that moment I meant 
to say that not a soul had any reason to expect that he was to go to England 
befcll:e I had a satisfactory answer from Captain Penny; therefore it was a 
YlT\" anxious moment for me from the time I came on board the" Resolute." 
At'two o'clock on the morning of the 12th of August 1851 Captain Penny's 
reply came on board; at that time I was really too tired to get up and close 
Illy report. The following is Captain Penny's reply: -

" Sir, Assistance Bay, lith August 1851. 
" Your question is easily answered. My opinion is, Wellington Channel 

requirc~ no further search; all has been done in the power of man to accom· 
plish, alld no trace has been fouud. What else can be done? 

" I have the honour to be, 
" Your most obedient servant, 

" WM. PENNY." 

C(fp/llin .lllstill continued.-Shortly after the receipt of this letter the 
"Lady Franklin" and" Sophia" were making preparations to move. I sent a 
letter to Captain Penny, dated" Her Majesty's Ship' Resolute,' off Captain 
Penny'~ Winter Quarters, 12th April 1851." It was as follows: 

" Sir, 
" I beg leave to acknowledge the receipt of your letter making known to me 

the result of the search in Wellington Strait by the expedition under your 
charge. I have now to inform you that I do not consider it necessary to 
prosecute (even if practicable) a further search in that direction, with the 
expedition under my orders. It is now my intention to proceed to attempt 
the search of Jones's Sound. 

" I have the honour to be, Sir, 
" Your obedient servant, 

" HORATIO T. AUSTIN." 

C(fl~t([in Allstil~ contiuued.-On sending this letter on board I sent also my 
complIments, I tIunk by Mr. M'Dougall, the second master, with an offer to tow 
tl~e brigs out by the steamers. I now closed the report for the Admiralty for 
SIl' John. R?ss, and wr.ot~, to !lim privately, telling him my plans, with an offer 
to tow hlln 111 the "FelIx. SIr John Hoss closed, and he was taken in tow, and 
proceeded, the" Sophia" and" Lady Franklin" having previously sailed out. 
'Ve proceeded to the eastward, the wind being very light. We came up with 
th.e " Lady Franklin" and" Sophia," and I went on board the" Lady Franklin" 
WIth my report, and an outline chart accompanying it showing the proceeding 
of the expedition under my care. ' 

33i· Sir E. Pa1'1"!J.-In Captain Penny's letter to you of the 11th of August 
1831, and put into your hand that day by him in the cabin of the "Lady 
Fnm~lin," ?~ speaks of his chart, and expressed .o:pinions, which he again sen~s 
yon 111 '\Tltmg; now I want to know what opInIOns those were that Captam 
Penny had before expressed to you? 

Captain Austin.-I suppose it refers to Captain Penny's letter of the 4th 
of August 1851, addressed to me, and received on the 11th of August. 
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338. Si1' E. Pal'ry.-Previously to Captain Penny putting that letter into 
your hands on the II th of August, had he ever expressed an opinion to you 
that you ought to go up Wellington Strait? 

Captain Austin.-Never, to the best of'my belief. 

339: Sir E. P~1'1:!('-9an you conjecture what Captain Penny meant by the 
followmg expresslO~ III hIS letter of the 11 th of August put into your hand :_ 
"and I only can Judge, when I see Wellington Channel, what course I will 
then pursue ?" 

Captain Austin.---,No, not any more than I can of much more that passed 
in conversation between Captain Penny and myself. 

Captain Aus#n c0!ltinued.-I came up to the "Lady Franklin" and" Sophia," 
and w~nt on board Wl.t~ my chart aDd report to the secretary of the Admiralty. 
Captam Ommanney JOined. I was most guarded in what I said and did. 
Captain Penny was quite dissatisfied. He said something about,-had I not 
heard or understood from some of my officers that had we not got clear, 
meaning of our fi'ozen-in position, he intended waiting until the 13th of August 
for us. I replied, Certainly it had never been intimated to me, but. I was 
quite satisfied he would have been ready to help us if he could. In the 
presence of Captain Ommanney I said, "Penny, I suppose it would be a bad 
compliment to ask you if we can give you anything," meaning provisions or 
anything of that sort, "although I cannot say we are off," meaning going 
home. He expressed something in reply, which I do not recollect; but his 
manner was so unpleasant that I cannot recollect what he said. After trying 
to be civil, and getting his letter, I took my leave. 

340. Clwirman.-You are aware of the evidence which Captain Penny gave 
the day before yesterday? 

Captain Austin.-Yes, I was present during his examination. 

341. C7wirman.- Captain Beechey asked Captain Penny whether, on the 
11 th of August, he said to you " Go up there (Wellington Channel), and do the 
" cause some service 7" Referring to Captain Penny's examination, will you 
admit that that conversation passed between him and you, as there stated; 
and that he asked you for a steamer to go up the Wellington Channel, and 
that the last words he used to you were " Go up there, and do the cause some 
" service 7" 

Captain Austin.-No such thing, or any thing like it, ,\'Us ever expressed. 

342. Chair1nlln.-\Vas anybody present at the time you were conversing 
with Captain Penny on that occasion? 

Captain Austin.---Yes, Captain Ommanney, and .my own boat's crew, but 
none of Captain Penny's officers, of whom I was anXIOUS to take leave. 

343. Sir E. Pa1"1:zJ.-Captain Penny in his evidence has made use of these 
words:-" The last thing I said was, Go up into Wellington Channel, and you 
will do good service to the cause." This was on the morning of the 12th of 
August. Do you admit that Capt~in Penny said those words to you? 

Captain Austin.--I declare he dId not do so. 

345. Captain Beech~y.-Captain Penny states also, " On the II th of August 
" I told Captain Austin that th~ Strait ough~ to be better examined, m('aning 
" Wellington Channel, and that If he would gIve me a steamer I would go up 
"there." Did he say that? 

Captain Austin.-No, never. 

346. Captain Austin continued.-I received a sealed letter fi'om Captain 
Penny for transmission, addressed, I believe, to the Secretary of the Admiralty. 
I took my leave, and towed Sir John Ross up to Beechey Island. I went 
on with Sir John Ross, taking some supplies for him. I wished to keep 
him in tow, but he desired particularly to go on in the neighbourhood of 
Beeehey Island. I then cast him off, and proceeded. 

The Committee then adjourned. 
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Fourtli Day. Octo her 30, IH51. 

Present, Rear-Admiral Bowles, C.B., M.P., Chairman, 
Rear-Admiral Arthur Fanshawe, C.B., 
Captain Sir Edward Parry, 
Captain F. W. Beechey, 
Captain Sir George Back, 

Mr. F. J. Fegen, Secretary. 

On the assembling of the Committee this morning, 
The ChainJl,rtn, addressing Captain Penny, said,-The Committee have 

looked over the corrections you have made in your printed evidence, 
and they think that some of them are so extensive that they could 
not allow them to stand in that way without confusion to the examina­
tion generally. It will be open to you to offer any explanations you 
may think proper, and they will be added to the printed report. 

CAPTAIN AUSTIN'S examination resumed. 

346. The Chairman to Captain Austill.-Will you now continue your 
na~rative £i'om the point at which we broke off yesterday nntil the period at 
whIch you determined to return to England? 

Captain Austin. -- Without having had an opportunity of examining the 
printed evidence of yesterday, I feel that I could not enter into a continuous 
detailed narrative from memory, and I therefore beg to refer you to my 
official report to the Admiralty, dated at anchor off Winterton, 30th September 
1851, for all my explanations on that part of the subject. I put it in as 
a narrative of my further proceedings, this report being brought down to 
my arrival off Winterton. 

347. Chairman.-Very well; then we must proceed to examine you upon 
the different points. If you look to paragraph 46 of your despatch to the 
Admiralty, dated the 12th of August 1851, off the winter quarters of Cap­
tain Penny's expedition, you use the following words :-" Having yesterday 
been released from our winter quarters, and most unexpectedly reached to 
those of Captain Penny, I have now the honour to state, that having maturely 
considered the directions and extent of the search (without success) that has 
been made by this expedition, and weighed the opinions of the officers when 
at their extremes, I have arrived at the conclusion that the expedition under 
Sir John Franklin did not prosecute the object of its mission to the southward 
and westward of Wellington Strait; and having communicated with Captain 
Penny, and fully considered his official reply to my letter relative to the search 
of Wellington Strait by the expedition under his charge (unhappily without 
success), I do not feel authorized to prosecute (even if practicable) a further 
search in those directions." Will you state your reasons for determining that, 
even if practicable, you did not feel authorized to prosecute any further search 
in those directions? 

Captain Austin.--My feeling was that Captain Penny, being the leader of 
an expedition authorized by the Admiralty, having expressed to me, officially, 
as well as verbally, that all the search that could be made had been made 
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without any traces, I considered that ~ was not justified in going over ground 
. tllat I had every reason to beheve had been well searched by a person 

agam d . It' " 
esponsible to his country as I was; an agam, t 1a III navlgatmg such 

as r . . d I'b 
regions as we were then in, that thhere was noht. thlllle to e I eratde .and defer. 
I felt that there was only one ot er step, w I~ was .to procee III what I 
considered the further execution of my orders, bemg satIsfied that everything 
had been done that could be done in the other direction,-to proceed in the 
direction of Jones's Sound. I refer to the orders which were given to Sir James 
Ross, a copy of which was sent to m~ for my ~uidanc~. and instructi~n by au 
Admiralty letter, which called especial attentIOn to SIr James Ross s orders. 
The orders to Sir James Ross were as follows:-

" Sir Admiralty, 15th May 1849. 
" Here;'ith you will r~ceive a copy of the instructi?ns which ~ave been 

delivered to the commandmg officer of the '~orth St~r, toge.ther wIth a com· 
plete set of the printed .pap~rs referred to III those Illstruet~ons.. From the 
former you will see. that, J~dgmg from t~e l~tene.ss of your arrIval III Lancaster 
Sound and your lllstructlOns to CaptflIll Bn'd m your memorandum of 12th 
Febrn~ry 11-\48, there is every probability of the 'Investigator' returning to 
England this summer, and it being, in the opinion of the Lords of ~he Admiralty, 
most inexpedient that you should be left ~o prosecute. the searc~ WIth the '~nter. 
prise' only, and with the possible contmgcncy of your havmg to receIVe on 
board of her the whole of Sir .John Franklin's party, the' North Star' has 
been equipped for the double purpose of preventing the return of the ' Investi. 
gator,' and of furnishing the ships under your orders with the necessary supplies 
for the continuance of your search during the summer of 1850. The orders 
given to the ' North Star' will furnish you with their Lordships opinion as to 
the quarter and direction in which they think it desirable the search for Sir 
John Franklin's party should be prosecuted, especially in the Wellington 
Channel and Prince Regent's Inlet, as well as in Jones's and Smith's Sounds, 
ann their wishes in that respect, on the perusal of these orders, may appear to 
you to be more extended than those expressed in their original instructions 
to yourself. My Lords are aware that no pains or exertions will be spared 
by you to carry out these yie\ys to the utmost; but they cannot too strongly 
urge upon you the necessity of using all your judgment and ability to prevent 
your ships being detained the "'inter of 1850 in the ice, to the imminent hazard 
of the people under your command. It will be needless in this communication 
to re\'Crt to the steps now taken for replenishing your ships,-the papers 
accompanying this will put you in possession of all that has been done 
in that respect and the grounds on which those steps have been taken,­
and it is equally unnecessary to repeat their Lordships anxious desire for 
your welfare and success. They would, however, take this occasion to assure 
you of their entire confidence in your ablity to conduct a service to which 
such increasing and universal interest is attached. 

" I am, Sir, 
your obedient servant, 

(Signed) W. A. B. HAMILTON." 

348. qhairman .-: You see your attention was directed in the first place to 
the ~ elh,ngton S;raI.t as well a~ to Jones's Sound. Will you explain why the 
examl~latlOn of" ellmgtor,t StraIt was not further prosecuted when you joined 
Captam Penny at that tIme, and when you had heard from him that open 
water had been found above the Strait? 

Captain Austin.-I think I have answered that. 

349. Ch~irman.-You have. stated in your last despatch to the Admiralty 
that you dl~ not feel authOrIzed to examine the Wellington Strait further. 
you were dlre.cted to attend to these instructions of Sir James Ross which 
mcluded. We.llIngton Channel as well as Jones's Sound. Be good enough 
to explam thIs? 

Capt?in A71stin.-Looking to the position of Captain Penny as the 
responsIble leader of an expedition, I think I discharged my duty. 

350. Chairman.-~he instruc~ions to. ~ir James Ross having comprehended 
the search of the Wellington StraIt, why did you not, being off that strait on the 
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12th of August, proceed to the further examination of the barrier which Captain AII.(tin. 
prevented the search? 

Captain Austin.-I went across the barrier. Wellington Strait was ablock 30th Oct. 1851. 
when I passed it. 

351. Cllah·man.-Did you go up yourself and see the barrier of ice? 
Captain Aust£n.--I did not go up for the purpose of examinino' it· but the 

strait was blocked up when I passed in 1851. ::, , 

352 .. qlurirlllan.-~hy did you not .examine the barrier for the purpose of 
ascertammg whether It was hkely to give way, and the Wellinoton Strait to 
become navigable during the season of 185L? b 

Captain Austin.-My conviction was on crossing the Wellington Strait that 
there was a considerable barrier of fixed ice in that strait as well as a larITe 
quantity of .ice in a state of disruption, consisting of large floe pieces and press~d 
up; and tI1lS generally was the state of the ice in Wellington Strait, as far as 
the eye could see from the crow's nest. On this subject I put in the report 
of two officers I sent to the crow's nest, the position of the ship bein IT at that 
time (lith August 18.51) a little to the northward of Barlow Inlet. The reports 
of these two officers arc as follow :-

" As far as the eye can reach from the crow's nest, the \Vellington Strait 
is filled with ice, consisting of large floc pieces and loose and pressed-up ice; 
the whole of it appears to be detached from the land, and lanes of water stretch 
across from side to side. 

" To the eastward, Barrow Strait is quite clear of ice, right across so far as 
can be seen. 

" To the southward, all:io, there is a great deal of water mixed with the ice. 
(Signed) ROBEItT C. ALLEN, Master." 

" In compliance ,,"ith your request that I should observe from the crow's 
nest the state of the ice to the northward of us whilst crossing Wellington 
Channel, I have to report that at 1. :10. P.~1. I went aloft to examine, and observed 
large floes and quantities of loose sailing ice in the centre and body of the 
channel, and a continued floe from side to side as far as the eye could reach, 
about 10 or 12 miles up, rendering it perfectly unnavigable at the present time, 
and apparently likely to continue so some weeks to come. 

( Signed) ROBERT D. ALDHIcH, Lieutenant." 

353. Clwirman.-State what was the position of the ship at that time; 
whether it was half way across the strait, or a third, or two thirds, or how? 

Captain Austin.-I have marked on the chart what I consider to have been 
about the position of the ship at the time these observations were made. 

354. 8£1' E. Parl"!}-The report of Mr. Allen states that the whole of the ice 
in Wellington Strait appears to be detached from the land, and lanes of water 
stretched across from side to side. Do you understand by that, that it was 
navigable? 

Captain Austin.-No; nor do I consider that it was so. 

355. Captain Beec1w,1f.-What was the direction of the wind? 
Captain Aus#n.-At the time of the report the wind was light, and from 

the northward, but increased rather as we neared Beechey Island fro111 the 
northward. 

356. Captain Beechey.-Then by packed ice we are not to understand that 
it was fast ice? 

Captain Allstin.-No. For a certain distance I think it was fast ice. I did 
not consider that the distance of the disrupted ice was for more than three or 
four miles. 

357. Captain Beech~¥.-Then you did not consider that the further exami­
nation of the state of the ice in Wellington Channel of sufficient importance to 
induce you to search the lanes of the water reported to you by Mr. Allen? 

Captain Austin.-I did not, as I saw and judged for myself. 
p 
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358. ,'J'I" G. Back.-You say that the win? was f~om t~e northward at the 
time you went towards Beechey Island. DId the lCe dnft past you to the 

south? d' M' '. 
Capt(fin Allstin.-I cannot. say I ?bs~rve It. y .lmpreSSIOn 1~ that ~he 

icc was O'cnerally connected wIth th.e ICC III Barrow StraIts, and that In gettIng 
across ,,~ were navigating through Ice. So that there 'i·as . a pack of moving 
icc some distance to the southward of the entrance of" ellmgton Channel. I 
am not prepared to say that the ice was in motion any way. If it was it was 
not considerable. 

:359. ArllJliml Fansh([lce.-Have you any report of the state of the ice in 
"'eIIinO'ton Channel in 1851 from the officers of any of the other vessels under 

tl 
yonI' command? 
. elflltllill Austill.-I have no report from any officer, except those of the 
master and first lieutenant of the ship I commanded, as to the state of the ice 
in ,r ellinO'ton Channel in 1851. The" Felix," with Sir John Ross, was in tow 
at the st~rn of the "Resolute," having on board a most experienced arctic 
navigator, Mr. Abernethy; as was the "Assistance" following in tow of the 
" Intrepid." 

360. Sir E. Pa1'l:if.-From your experience of steam vessels in the naviga. 
tion amonO'st thc icc, are you of opinion that such vessels afford the power of 
continuin; the lIuyigation later in the season than th~ ~ailing vessels? 

CllptOl1l Austill.-Yes, when separated from the saIlmg vessels. 

361. Sir E. Pan:IJ.-How much later? 
Crlptaill .1I1stlll.~For a short time; depending on temperature. 

362. ,'3ir E. PaJ'r!J.-.U about how Iowa temperature would you say they 
mig-ht continue to navigate? 

'Captaill A1Istill.-I think I can state that by referring to my documents, 
which are not here at present. One day may make the most important differ· 
ence; und, as a proof of this, when the American expedition bore up from 
llS I observed to Captain Ommanney, who came on board, that I very much 
doubted whether that expedition would be able to reach America this year, 
on account of the sudden changes that were taking place with regard to the 
formation of the bay ice. 

:363. ,...,'il' E. Pal'1:if.-With what thickness of young ice, according to your 
experience, could the steamers you had succeed in navigating those seas? 

COjltuin Allstill.-To answer that question satisfactorily I must refer to 
documents which I have not here; but I may observe, that there is scarcely 
such a thing as one plain sheet of bay ice to be met with in the course of a 
ft·", hours navigation. 

364. Sir E. Pan:IJ.-For how many days later in the season of 1850 could 
your steamers pursue the navigation with safety beyond the time that your 
~ailing vessels could? . 

Coptain Allstill.-As far as my impression at present goes, a very few days j 

but on reference to my notes, which I have not got here, I hope to be able to 
an~wer that question more satisfactorily. 

;3(j~. 1dmirrrl Frl1/s1wwe.-After the diligent examination of the shores of 
the" ellmgton Channel, made and reported to you by Captain Penny and his 
o~cers, and of the coast about Cape 'Valker and Melville Island, by your own 
officers, and the statement of your conclusion that Sir John Franklin did not 
p~'occed to the southward and 'westward of the Wellington Strait, what opinion 
dId you form as to the best course to be pursued for the rescue of the missing 
expedition? 

Captain Alistin.-I had not the slightest hope of a rescue. Looking to my 
orders, there a~peared to be so~ething !eft undone. Captain PeDny not having 
searched Jones s Sound for whIch serVIce he was equipped I proceeded there, 
although, I am free to admit, with scarcely a hope. 

366: Admiral Fa~shawe.-Did you entertain at that time any conviction 
that SIr John Franklm had passed through Wellington Strait and the channel 
to the north-west of it ? 

Captain Austin.-I did not. 
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~~7. Chm:rman.-We are directed by the Admiralty to inquire into your 
opI~Ion as to the .conduct of the officers and men under your command. Was 
theIr COn?llct sa~Isfactory, or have you any exceptions to make? 

Captazn Austzn.-As regards that question I have to refer in reply to mv 
report already made to the Admiralty, dated 30th September 1851.' • 

368. Cap,tain BeeC'lelJ.-I~ ,your despatch to the Admiralty you say that 
you had weIghed well the opmlOns of the officers at their extremes. Did you 
call upon the officers for their opinions as reO'arded a further search? 

Captain Austin.-No. <:> 

369. qaptain .Beechey.-Did they give you their opinions? 
Captazn Austzn.-I am under the impression that I alluded to their journals. 

370. Captain Beechey.-But had you the journals at that time? 
Captain Allstin.-Yes. I had the substance of their journals directly they 

arrived. 

371. Captain !3eechey.--After. y,on quitted the country, did you call upon 
the officers to gIve you any opmlOn as to whether you should continue the 
search, or to proceed to England r 

Captain Austin.-No. 

372. Captain Beechey.-Then what do you allude to in your despatch r 
Captain Austin.-These allusions must be to the official opinions of the 

officers, stated ill their reports of their proceedings to me during their travels. 

373. Captain Beechey.-Did they report their opinions to you in writing? 
Captain A llstill.-Yes. 

374. Captain Beechey.-Then you allude to those reports? 
Captain AustiJl.-Yes; and in general conversation with the superior 

officers of the expedition. My firm belief is that they were convinced that 
nothing more was to be done in the direction that I have stated myself. 

375. Captain Beecltey.-You say, " I much regret that our remaining strength 
did not admit of my placing at the disposal of Captain Penny sufficient aid to 
convey a boat to ascertain its nature and extent," alluding to the water disco­
vered in the Queen's Channel. Why did you feel that you had not the power 
of placing these means at his disposal? 

Captain Austin.-In consequence of the number of persons absent, and of 
those who remained being appointed as succour to those who \V(:rc away, I 
could not afford him any assistance. 

376. Captain Beechey.-Had you been applied to on or previous to the 
23d of May 1851 by Captain Penny for a boat? 

Captain Austin.--No, certainly not. 

377. Captain Bcecltelj.-By being applied to by Captain Penny, I mcan had 
he sent any message to you by any other person to the same effect? 

Captain Aust£n.-No. 

378. Admiral Fanslwwe.-During the co-operation between the two expedi­
tions did you at any time decline any application of Captain Penny or his 
officers for aid or assistance? 

Capta£n Austin.-Never. On the contrary, I have rendered every assistance 
in my power. I have towed Captain Penny's brigs through the ice, and have 
at other times given aid whenever I could do it in the execution of my orders. 

379. Sir G. Back.-In answer to a question from the Chairman, Whether 
Captain Penny had at that time explained to you that a search should be made 
higher in Wellington Straits, Captain Penny afterwards says, "I asked him for 
a steamer, and he refused me that steamer to go up." W as that the case? 

Captain A1tsHn.--No. 

380. Chairman.-You have read two letters from Captain Penny to the Ad­
miralty which appear on page 47, No. 21., dated September 15th, 1851, and tl~e 
other at page 50, dated 10th October 1851. In the first of these letter.s Capta~n 
Penny makes the following statement :-" I stated verbally to Captam Austl!l 
that it wa~ my conviction that Sir John Franklin had gone through the straIt 
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leading north-west out of Wellington Channel (which I have ~or the present 
named Queen Victoria Channel), and that he had gone off m clear water, 
and that he was beyond our reach: I meant, o~ course, beyon~ the reach 
of my parties and my means. He dId not s.eem dIsposed to credIt my state­
ment. I begged him to gi~e me one of Ius steamers, and I ,,:ould tak.e the 
" Sophia" and would aet as pIlot, an.d go up the Ch~nnel, and Wait to see If the 
ice would clear away." Now what IS your expla.natlOn of tha~? . 

Captain Allstin.-There was a sor~ of ramblmg conversation,. but certamly 
not to the effect that Sir John Franklm had gone there, but that If he had gone 
thcre hc was out of our reach. It was a rambling conversation that I r.ever 
thought worthy of considerat!on. This I declare, that Capta!n Penny nev~r 
askcd me for a steamer, nor did he ever assert to me that Su' John Franklm . 
had gone away in clear water. 

381. C/tairman.-Turn .to page 50, No. 29., Captain Penny to the Secretary 
of the Admiralty, lOth of October 1851. Y ou a~ide by your fo~mer answer that 
Captain Penny did not ask you for a steamer whIch he would pilot out? 

Capta£n Austin.-Y cs, I abide by that answer, most certainly. 

382. Clwil'1Jl(f}/.-Did he say to you, when you were separating, and you 
were going up Jones's Sonnd, " Go up Wellington Channel, and you will do the 
cause some sen·ice?" 

Captain A /lst ilZ.-N o. 

383. Adm.iral Fanshawc.-Your orders called upon you to renew your 
search in thc open season of lR'j 1, connected with your return to England in 
that year. 'Vas it your conviction, from your own observation, and aU the 
reports you had received at the time of quitting Wellington Channel, that 
every hope of rescuing the missing expedition in that direction was past, and 
that therefore delav was useless :-

Captaill Allstin:-~ly impression was, that there was no hope ofa rescue in 
any way; and further, that not to have returned forthwith might have led to 
a detention of the expedition another ,,·inter. 

384. C!wirmlln.-Nothing particular occurred, as we understand, during 
your passage from Cape Riley to Jones's Sound? 

Captain .t1u.l't;II.-Not anything. 

385. Chairrnan.-Will you state to the Committee what your proceedings 
were in the execution of that part of your instructions? 

Cllpfrlin Austin.-On this subject I again refer to my report to the Lords of 
the Admiralty, which gives an account of my proceedings in reference to my 
labours in the north of Baffin's Bay, dated 30th September 1851, at anchor 
off Winterton, Norfolk. 

Capt.OmmallllCY.' CAPTAIN OMMANNEY, late of Her Majesty's Ship" Assistance," 
---- called. 

386. Clw~r~wn.-Have you read Captain Austin's despatches to the Admi­
ralty, contam1l1g a full report of his proceedings, dated the 12th of August 
1851 and the 30th of September 1851 ? 

Captain Ommannc,lj.-Yes, I have read them. 

3~7. Chairman.-Do y?~ conc~r in opinion, that they contain a full and 
con ect r~~ort of the expeditIOn dur1l1g the time you were second in command? 

Captain Omlllanney._ Yes, I consider them perfectly correct. 

3.8~. Clwi1"ll!an.-As far as you know of the reports of'the exploring parties 
dnr1l1g the sprmg of 1851, under the command of the different officers of the 
squadron, do you consider them correct 0;, 

Captain Ommanne./f.-Yes. . 

389: Chail'l!lf!n._ The point to which the Committee chiefly direct their 
attentlOll at this moment is grounded on letters of Captain Penny which will 
be put before you; the first is dated the 12th of April 1851; the next, the 
8th of September 1851; the next the 15th of September 1851; and there are 
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some subsequent ones, which I need not now recapitulate. Have you read all (apt.ommanney, 
that correspondence? 

Captain Ommanney.-No, I have not read it. 30th Oct. 1851. 

39~. Clwirman.-Were .you on board the "Re~olute" on the 23d of May 
of thI~ year,. when Captam .Penny reached that ship, and made known to 
CaP!aI,n Austm that he had dIscovered a large space of water above Wellington 
StraIt r 

Captain Ormnanney.-No, I was travelling at that timC'. 

391. Chah·rnan.-At what time did you return? 
Captain Ommanney.-On the 14th of June. 

392: Chair?Jwn.-What. was the first communication fi'om Captain Penny to 
?ap~am A ustm on the subject of the discovery of open water above Wellington 
Strait that came under your own personal knowledge and observation? 

The Cltainnan here mentioned that he had received a note fi'om Captain 
Penny, objectin,g to Captain A ustin being present during Captain 
0I?m~ney's examination, to which the Chairman replied that this 
objectIOn had been already anticipated by the Committee, and that 
they had determined that Captain Austin had a right to be present 
during the examination of his officers. 

Captain Ommanne,y. (In reply to the Chairman's question.)-On my retul'l1 
to the ship on the 14th of June I was informed that Captain Penny had reached 
Baillie Hamilton, and the adjacent islands, that he had found a considerable 
space of water there, and had consequently returned to his yessel with a view 
of'taking a boat up there. 

393. Clwirman.-Are you aware of his having asked for any assistance 
from Captain A ustin at that time? 

Captain Ommanney.-N 0, I never heard of it. 

394. Cltail'1Jlan.- When did you see Captain Penny first after he hacl 
returned from his exploring expeditions above Wellington Strait? 

Capta£n Ommanne,7/.-1 had no opportunity of seeing Captain Penny until 
we all broke out of' onr winter quarters, when the expedition repaired to 
Assistance Bay on the 11 th of August. 

395. Clzairman.-Will you state what took place at that time with respect 
to any report or communication made by Captain Penny on the subject of 
his discoveries? 

Captain Ommanney.- We anchored in Assistance Bay about :2.:30 P.M. on 
the 11th of August, when we were glad to find Captain Penny's expedition 
and Sir John Ross's were free fi'om the ice, ready to go to sea. As soon 
as the ship was secured, I went on hoard the "Resolute" to wait upon 
Captain Austin, as i8 customary in the service. I found that Captain Penny 
had been there some time before me; so I understood from Captain Austin. 
I went down in the cabin, and Captain Penny showed me his chart. We 
had some conversation, congratulating each other on what we had done, or 
something to that effect. Captain Austin came down afterwards,-followed 
me almost. They (Captain Penny and Captain Austin) entered into a long 
conversation; the subject referring generally to what Captain Pcnny had seen, 
and the navigation. I cannot remember the exact words that transpired; 
but I will, if you please, read fi'om my notes, made at the time, the substance 
of what I gathered on the lIth August 1850. "Our further operations now 
" depended upon the opinion of Captain Penny respecting the necessity of a 
" further search into the straits discovered by him during his search. The 
" ship being secured I proceeded to the 'Resolute' to wait upon Captain 
" Austin, and found Captain Penny with him giving an account of his search 
" and opinions respecting the necessity of prosecuting it in the direct!on . of 
" his discovery. His firm conviction was, that there was nothing to JustIfy 
" the risk of incurring another winter,-expressed his great anxiety to act i? 
" concert, and requested that one of his brigs might accompany a stea?Jer If 
" it was requisite to make a further examination. Captain Penny did not 
" consider the straits a safe navigation for any vessel, a strong current of five 
" and a half miles per hour setting between the islands (Baillie Hamilton and 
" the adjacent islands), which narrowed the straits to small passages. The 
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" islands abound with wild fowl. Penny examined the shores of the~ most 
" thoroughly, without meeting a trace: . Penny could hardly suppose !t pos. 
" sible that Sir John Franklin's expeditIOn coul.d have gone by thos~ Islands 
" without meeting some traces or record of t?elr progress. Penny picked up 
" a piece of elm' one side of it had been pamted lead colour, the other side 
" was bleached by expOSl~re. Ca~tain .P~nny could not state d~cid.edly to 
" Captain Austin whether It was. his opmlOn that a further exammatlOn was 
" required, but stated tha~ even If there was clear water he would not extend 
" his search up the Wellmgton Channel beyon~ the 20t~ of August. He 
" was also of opinion, . that from the accn.mulatlOn, a.nd from there being a 
" barrier of ice extendmg across the Wellmgton Straits, they would not be 
" clear of ice this year." These were the only remarks I took down at the 
time that were impressed upon my memory. 

396. Choinnml.-Did you hear Capt.ain Penny ?se any eXl?ression tending 
to urge a further search of the open sea 111 the ~ ellmgton StraIt, or express an 
opinion to Captain Austin that Sir John Franklm had gone that way? 
- C(Jptain Ommanney.-No, decidedly not; I never heard anything of the 

sort from him. 
397. ChoiJ'lllrln.-Had you an opportunity yourself of seeing the state of 

the ice in \r ellington Strait in 1851,-1 mean at the time you were crossing 
from your own winter quarters to the easte:n side of th~ str~its ? 

Captailt OJ/llll(/Ilney.-Yes, I saw the Ice on crossmg It, and observed it 
attentively. 

398. Chairman. - What opinion did you form at that time? 
Cupfrlill Olllillanney.-On crossing the 'Vellington Strait it was full of 

very extensive floes, close along the western shores up to Cape Hotham, quite 
impenetrable, in my opinion. I could not have got to Barlow Inlet if I had 
\ri~hed to do so. On passing round the edge of' the ice to cross the channel, 
I remarked that we went considerably to the southward of what we had done 
the previous year; that was on account of the ice extending seven or eight 
miles further southward than it had done in September 1850. As we 
approached the eastern shores of the straits, making across to Cape Riley, there 
was more water on that side. Union Bay was filII of ice, but there was a 
considerable quantity of water extending to Point Innes, at which point, in my 
opinion, the ice packed close into the land. This occurred on the 12th of 
August 1851. I was aloft myself in crossing the channel on that day, for the 
purpose of ascertaining the nature of the ice; and I called the second lieutenant 
up (Mr. Elliott) to bear witness to what I saw on that occasion,-the extensive 
floes with which the channel was filled. 

399. CltaiTrl1an.-Then it was your opinion that the fast ice at that time 
rendered the Wellington Strait impossible to navigate? 

C((pt((ill Ommanney.-At that time we certainly could not have proceeded to 
the northward. 

400. CIUI i 1'1Il(( 11.-W as there any appearance of the ice breaking up before 
the close of the season, so as to render Wellington Strait navigable? 

Captain Omm((nlley.-The changes are so very sudden that such a thing 
might have· happened. 

401. l?hairman.-In putting the question 1 only speak of reasonable 
expectatIOns? 

Captain Ommanney._ There was sufficient time for such a thing to have 
h.appened between that and the close of the navigation season. At the same 
time, I could not say positively, unless I had gone to the northward. 
1 , 4f~2. Clwimz.an.-If you had be.en in com~and of the expedition, should yo~ 
~l,\\l th~ught It your ~uty to Wait, and untIl what period, in the hope that If 
the barner broke up,-m the event of your having been convinced that further 
search ought to be made in that direction? 

Capt<lin Ornmanney.-Had I been con~inced that further search was neces­
sary, I sh?uld have held on to the very last, and made up my mind to pass 
another wmter. 

4?3. Clza~·l'man.-What was the impression you received yourself from 
the mfon:natIOn that had been communicated by Captain Penny? 

Captam Ommanne'y.-After the receipt of Captain Penny's letter to Captain 
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Austin I did not trouble my head further about it, the answer was so satisfac­
to.r,)'. The. letter ~ allude to is No.?, dated 11th of August 1851. I agreed 
wIth Captam Austm that we were satIsfied with Captain Penny's opinion. 

404. Clwirlllan.-What was your view of that answer? 
Captain OIJlIl1(flIlI('~/.--I considered it perfectly satisfactory. 

405. Chail'rI1an.-In what respect satisfactory? I suppose you had been in 
doubt whether the search ought to be continued or not. What effect would 
that communication have had upon your mind? 

Cap,tain . ~mrl1a~n~y.-I certa!nly should place e~ery reliance on .Captain 
Penny s OpmI?n. fbe constructIOn that I put upon It was, that nothmg was 
to be done, eIther by the one or the other expedition. 

406. Chail'ma.n.-Ar~ you aware of a further communicati~n from Captain 
Penny to Captam Austm, dated the 4th of August, and receIved by Captain 
Austin on the 11th? 

Capt. Ommanney. 

30th Oct. 1851. 

Mr. Fegan" the Secretary to the Committee, read the letter alluded to by Vide ante, p. 33. 
the Chan·man. Ans. 331. 

407. ~hairman.-Had you any previous knowledge of that letter? 
Captazn 01lWWlllle,Ij.-Yes; that is one of those which Captain Austin 

showed me. 

408. Chairman. Would that have corroborated the impression that the letter 
dated the llth of August had already given you a~ to the prosecution of the 
search above Wellington Strait? 

Captain Ommanney.-I consider that it does corroborate that opinion; the 
opinion, I mean, that nothing more was to be done. 

409. Chail'man.-What do you consider to be the close of the navigable 
season in those seas? 

Captain Ommrl11ney.-From the 15th to the 20th of September. 

410. C/toirlllr/l1.- How soon do you think,-if the strait broke up at all,­
it would have broken up after the 12th of August, when yon left it all f:l~t? 

Captain Ommamw.1J.-There was such a space of watcr then in Barrow's 
Straits, that any day, any hour almost, might have effected a great change. 
Changes are so sudden that wc can never tell when they are likely to come 
about. Watching for these changes is a constant source of anxiety when 
navigating. 

411. Captain Beechey.-Captain Penny says, in one of his letters to Captain M:" Penll,1/ to Cap­
Austin "My opinion is that \V ellinoton Channel requires no further search." fam Allstlll, 

Wh ' .' "h h W II' CI I' 11th August 1851. at do you suppose hIm to mean w en e says e mgton 1alme.r . 
Captain Omnwnney.-I suppose he alludes to the whole of ,\' ellmgton 

Channel, described by Captain Penny, because I consider that that wa~ .the 
portion where Captain Penny had been, for that part had formed the suqJect 
of conversation on the II th of August,-more especially the open water. 

412. Captain Beechey.-You do think Captain Penny would have limited 
that to the narrow part of the channel merely, in the chart produced as Welling­
ton Channel? 

Captain Ommanney.-No; that never entered my mind. 

413. Captain Beech~y.-You said you founded your opinion of the state of 
the iee in Wellington Channel from what Captain Penny had said. What had 
he said, to your know ledge? 

Captain OmmannBlJ.-In the conversation he said to Captain Austin that 
even if he wished to 'go up this year he did not think that barrier would clear 
away. I heard that in the course of the conversation on the 11th of August 
1851. 

414. Sir E. Pa1'1'!/.-Was Captain Austin in the habit of communicating 
freely to you his views and intentions with respect to the service in which you 
were engaged? 

Captain Ommanney.-Yes, at all times. 
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41.5. Sir E. Parl'Y.-Were you aware. of ~aptain Austin's reason for relin­
. 'h'IIO' further search either in the dIrectIOn of Cape Walker and Melville 

qms I 0 'b UT 11' Ch l? Island, or in the north-west route y n e. mgton anne. . 
Captain Ommanne,Ij.-From th~ prevIOus reports of the officers under hIs 

command, and the report of Captam Penny. 

416. Sir E. Pal'l7I.-Wha.t was, your own indi,v~dual imrr.ession at that ti~e 
a~ to the probable route whIch SIr John Franklm s expedItIOn had pursued m 

1846? . . h' h I h ld d h Captain Ommannc,Ij'-There are two opmlOns "'. IC 0, an ave always 
held. In the event of its having been an extraordmary clear season, and very 
much favoured, he may have got throu~h Captain Penny's Queen's C~annel, 
to a position difficult of access; or the shIps may have foundered on theIr way 
to England. The latter was a very general opinion in both expeditions. 

417. ,Sir G. Back.-In that case do you consider that !he coast from Ponds 
Bay up to the Beechey Island had been sufficiently exammed to look for any 
relics? 

Captain Ommanney.-It would require to walk the whole beach to do that. 

418. Captaill Be'echey.-Had any piles of s.t?nes been erected on the coast to 
attract attention, as is the case in such expedItIOns, would you have seen them? 

Captain Ommanney.-Y cs. From Cape Warrender to Beechey Island I 
passed sufficiently near to that coast to have seen a top-gallant mast had it 
been lying there. I was never without the glass from hand to eye the whole 
time, and officers ,,,cre directed to keep a look out. 

419. Captain Beeclze,IJ.-Were you present on the 11 th or 12th of August 
when Captain Penny took his leave of Captain Austin? Did you hear Captain 
Penny say to Captain Austin, "Go up Wellington Channel, and you will do 
thc cause some service"? 

Cuptaill (JJl/ilWllIIC!/.-1 ncver heard such an expression. 

420. Sir G. Back.-You wcre present on that occasion when they parted? 
Captain Omlllanney.-Yes, I was. 

4:n. Captain Beechey.-Was anybody else present? 
("aptllill Oil/J/Il/l/ne,1J.-No. Captain Penny was walking up and down the 

deck. Captain Austin went on board, for the purpose, I presume, of taking 
leave. I went and joined them there for the same object. The expression 
alluded to I never heard. 

4:2:2. Admiral Fanshawe.-Y ou were walking the" Lady Franklin's " quarter 
ueck when the conversation between Captain Penny and Captain Austin took 
place? 

Captain Ommanney.-Y c~. 

1:2:~. Captain Beeche,y.-Then did vou hear what took place in the boat 
along:side on that. occasion, or did you -ever hear Captain Penny say to Captain 
Austm at any tIme, " Go up Wellington Channel and you will do the 
" cause some service"? ' 

Captain Ommanney.-Never. 

1:24 .. Captain Beeclte,1f.-Did you ever hear him say to Captain Austin, about 
that t~ll1e, August 12th, That strait ought to be better searched, meaning 
Queen s ~hannel, and that if he would give him a steamer he would go up? 

Captam Ommanney.-I never heard him say that. 

425. ~'(fpt([in Beechey.-Do you happen to know that he did say that? 
. Captain .O}~lIlQnney.-No. I think Captain Austin, who was in the habit 

?f commuDlcatmg to me almost everything that anybody told him would have 
mformed me of this if it had been the case. ' 

ha~26. Sir E. ParJ:IJ:-When Captain Penny's expedition parted from yours, 
. >,ou any Imp.resslOn (:>ll your mind that Captain Penny had expressed an 

opmlOn to Captam Austm, t?at. he, Captain Austin, ought to take further 
measureR then for the exammatlOn of Wellington Strait and the channels 
connectcd therewith? ' 

Captain Ommanney.-I had no such impression. 
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427. /iiI' E. Pan',!;.-Do you think it possible that such a conJllluuicatioll 
could have been made by Captain Penny to Captain Austin without, our being 
aware of it ? . 

Capta~n 9mmanne!j.-I do not think it possible. I am quite sure, if such a 
commumc~tlO~l had been made, Captain All~till would han' told me. If such 
a cO,mmu111catlOn had been ma~le, Captain .\ lI~t in knew that I was ready to go. 
I s.al.d I was ready to go up \nth stcalll~n; as won as Captain Penny gaye his 
opml?n. I was ready to go at any tltlle ~aptain :\ustin wished. Captain 
Austm and I had frequently talked about gOll]O' lip With the steamers when "l' 
met Penny, should it be considered desirable. b 

42~. Sir. G: Bac1c.--Did it ev.er occur to you that there was any misunder­
standmg eXlstmg between Captam Penny and Captain Austin (' 

Captain Om1Jlal~ne!j.- Yes. Captain Austin told me so himself on my 
return from travellIng, that. there had been some misunderstandinrT. I believe 
Capta!n Pen~y was on a yisit to Captain Austin, and went ;way hastily. 
Captam A~stl~l told m~, and the other officers informed me of it also. Captain 
Penny was mVlted to dmner 011 board the" A ssistance." He came at midnirrht 

• b 

to my officers and asked to be e:-:cused, as he \\'ished to return to his ships. 
The reason was unknown, but It was supposed there was some difference 
between him and Captain Austin. Captain Austin's subsequent visit to 
Captain Penny was with a "iew of effecting a reconciliation. That is all I 
know aoout it. 

429· Admiral Fanslwlce.-Did you examine Cape Riley and the circles of 
stones on it ? 

Captain Ommarmey.-Yes; I discovcred the first traces there on the 
23d August IS.50. 

430. Admiral Fanslwwe.-So completely as to satisfy yourself that no 
record was left therc of the missing expedition? 

Captain Ommanney.-Perfectly so. I spent some hours there myself; 
several officers with me, for the purpose of finding records, but all in vain; 
and on the 24th of August IS50 I sent Mr. M'Clintock £I'om the ship with a 
party of men for the purpose of digging out any place where hc might possibly 
find anything. 

431. Admiral Fanslwwe.-\Vere you also present at an examination at the 
winter quarters of Sir John Franklin at Beechey Island? 

Captain Ommanne.Ij.-On the 23d of August 1S50, after the search of Cape 
Riley, we proceeded across thc bay to Beechey Island for the purpose of' 
examining a cairn that we had seen on the summit, fully convinced that it 
contained some records which would throw a light on the relics I had found. 
We had some difficulty in pressing the steamer through the ice. After great 
exertion we proceeded through to the west side of Beechey Island. On first 
landing we pulled up a piece ofrope which had become firmly fixed in the ground, 
-and found a few preserved meat tins. We then all ascended to the summit, 
racing almost, so eager were we to see what thc cairn contained. On reaching 
it it was carefully pulled down. In the upper stone of this cairn, in the hollow 
part of it, were contained some loose s40t. We removed it carefully stone by 
stone to the yery ground without seeing anything. With pickaxes we dug as 
far as we could, as the ground was very hard; afterwards placed a record, and 
rebuilt the cairn. 

432. Captain Beechey.-How far away from the centre of the cairn did you 
dig? 

Captain Ommanney.-Immediately under. 

433. Captain Beechey.-You arc aware that it ,vas an arrangement of Sir 
John Fnmklin, in another expedition, to bury his information at a distance 
from the pile. Did you dig in any direction fi'om it? 

Captain Ommanney.-I did not know of such an arrangement. W c walked 
round about the cairn for some distance, carefully examining the ground. 
After we had spent the wholc of the day in searching Cape Riley and Beechey 
Isla~d, a change took place in the i~e; the wind had shifted .northwards, ~nd 
the Ice was drifting out of the Wellmgton Channel. I was eIght or ten mIles 
from the ship, and the ice was coming out in such great masses that I was 
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afraid of being separated from the s~ip. I returned i.n t~e tender, and joi~ed 
the ship, with the intention of makmg another examm~tIOn on the, fo~lowmg 
day. That examination was made on t~1e 24th by Lleu~en~nt M Clmtock j 
that 'YUS at Cape Riley; for I ha,d no Implements for dlggmg about Cape 
Hiley when I was there on the prevIOus day. 

434. Admiml Fanslwwe.-Do you consider that the examination of the 
whole of the winter quarters of' Sir John Franklin was so complete as to leave 
an impression 011 your mind that no record was left there? " 

C(]ptain Omwanlll:'j.-Yes,. ~ do, frolll all I have heard from Captam Austm 
and the officers of both expedItIOus that were there. 

435. Admim[ Fansltmce.-Did you form any opinion of Sir John Franklin 
having quitted his winter quarters hastily? ., . 

Captain OlnJlwmlt:Ij.-I hayc often thought of It. fhe number of thmgs 
left there induced me to think that be left hastily or intended to return home. 

436. Arlmim[ Fanslwll:e.-Do you know the number of coal bags found there? 
Captaill OJllllwnlll'.Ij.-No; btit. I think naval officers prosec.uting w(:>uld not 

have left snch things there. I would not have left so many thmgs behmd. 

4:17 .• -1dmirnl Fr/l1s//lIII'I'.-,It appears, on reference to the journals, that 
.,'our exploring parties suffererl more fi'om frost.bites than either Lieutenant 
:\!'Clintock's or Captain Penny's. Can you a~sign any rcason for that t 

Cllptrrin OIll1lWJlJU?/.-The tcmperature was lower; we had worse weather, 
more wind; we were a longer time confined to our tents; for two or three 
dap at a time I could not ~how 111.'1 face outside the tent. 

·1:3H. Admil'll! F'rli I S/I(Ult'.- \Lts therc any difference of clothing? 
COjitain OJlllil(/J/lIl',I/.-l\.O, the clothing was the same. 

439. Sir E. Pa/'J'!J.-1n Captain ~-\ustin\ instructions from the Admiralty 
their Lordships c1C'sire that he will render to Captain Penny any aid and assist· 
ance in bis power, so far as he may be able to do so without risk of crippling 
the rC'~onrees of the vessels under his own command. Are you of opinion that 
Captain Austin fully complied with those instructions? 

Captain Ollllllalllll:y.-Most fully. 
440. Sir E. Parry.-Having had some experience of steam yessels in the 

navigation of the ice, is it your opinion that they afford an opportunity of 
prolonging the sea:;on of nayigation in those seas comparatively with sailing 
yc~sels ? 

e"I""ill Olllll/(/llne,Ij.-Xo, not if all seasons were like the autumn of 1850. 
441. ,"il' E. Pm·}'!J.-Why arc you of that opinion r 
Captain OmJII(lIllIl'.Ij. - I W:lS on board the" Intrepid" on one occasion when the 

engines brought up, und on inquiry beillg made it was found that the injection 
cocks \yerc choked bv an accllmulation of ice in them. I was sent down to 
Io?k towar?s Cape ,\Talker. TIle engines were .going at full speed with. all 
sail ,d, whICh would have propelled the vessel m open water seven or eIght 
knots an hour. Our way was almost stopped by this young ice forming on 
the surface of the water. 

44:2. Sir E. Pal'l'!J.-ALout what thickness might that young ice be, when 
you were stopped on that occasion '( 

Coptaia OIilIJ/f/lllley.-X ot more than six inches. 
443. Sir E. Pal'ry.-Do you know 'what was about the temperature of 

the atmosphere at that time? 
C"pt"ill OmllwIIJll'y.-;\bout fifteen above zero. 
444 .. C,!ptain Beeche,1f.-The ice that impeded your progress on that occasion, 

-was It Ice or sludge? 
Captain Omll/allney.-Sludge, not more than six inches thick. 
445. qaptain Beechey.- How ~ow down were your injection cocks? 
Captmn Om fl/all II e,lj.-About SIX feet below the surface of the water. They 

were choked up. 

446. Sir E. Pa/'J:1f.-:-T~en, .Captain Ommanney, you IlTe distinctly of opinion 
that the season of naVIgatIon III these seas is not likely to be prolonged by the 
use of steam vessels? 

Captain Ommannt:y.-Certainly not. Another reason is, that jf you couId 
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use steam vessels, still the men could not be exposed to the severity of the Capt. Ommannc!J. 
climate. The hawsers could not be used. They become under such circum-
stances as stiff as bars of iron. 30th Oct. 1851. 

447· Capta£n Beecltey.-On the 11th of A ugust a letter was delivered to 
Captain Austin by Captain Penny in the cabin of the "Lady Franklin," in 
which he says, "and I can only judge when I see Wellington Channel what 
course I shall ~hen pursue." You ~ad overheard the previous conversation 
between Ca,Ptam Penny and Captum Amtin. What, in your opinion, did 
that expressIOn refer to ? 

Captain Omrnanney.-I lcmembcr a letter being given to Captain Austin 
which was not considered an answer to the question Captain Austin had put, 
and it was returned to Captain Penny. The letter was read at the time; 
but there was nothing in it that made an impre:;:;ioll on my mind. 

The letter ,,,hich appear~ in the Evidence, page :l:"), was then put ill, 
and read. 

448. ,':iiI' G. 13acJ.:.-'" as that thc letter you heard lcad ~ 
Captain OJJlIIWllIll:'J-Ye~. There was nothing in it that impressed my 

mind, except that it was not a distinct answer. 

449. Captain Beechey.-Are yon of opinion that at that time Captain Penny 
entertained any opinions in regard to that strait which he would have expressed 
under different circumstances t 

Captain OrnrnanneJl.-I do not understand what other circumstances there 
could be, because Captain Austin was frequently asking him for his opinions. 

450. Captain Beechey.-It is implied in that letter that Captain Penny 
delivered an opinion which was not his real opinion. Do you believc that 
Captain Penny had any reserved opinion? 

Captain Ornrnanne,1f.-No, I do not, because his answer to Captain Austin's 
inquiry was so very decided. 

451. Captain Beeclzey.-He says, "vVhen J see Wellington Channel I shall 
be able to judcre what course I shall pur~ue." It is implied by Captain 
Penny that he h~d expressed some opinions to Captain Austin \rhich were not 
agreeable to him. Do you know anything of it? 

Captain Oll/m(l1wey.-Xo. 

452. Captain Beeclley.- He lJad not eXl?res~e.d then in your hearing any 
opinion to Captain Austin as to the adVIsabIlity of going up Wellington 
Channel ? 

Captain Ommanlley.-In the eYening. I accompanied C!lJ?tai~l Austin. to 
Captain Penny's for a reply, which Captmn Pel~ny s~elllcd dIsl.nelmcd to gwe. 
Captain Austin remonstrated, and after some dISCUSSIOn Captam Penuy agreed 
to give it. 

The Committee then adjourned. 

Q2 
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Octobcr 31, 1 R;) 1. 

Prcecnt, Rear-Admiral Bo\\'lc~, C.B., :\I.P., Chairman, 
near-Admiral Arthur Fansha,,'e, C,B., 
Captain Sir Edward Parry, 
Captain F. W. Beechey, 
Capbin Sir George Back. 

Mr. F. J. Fegcn, Secretar),. 

REAR-ADMIRAL SIR JOHN ROSS called. 

453. Chairman.-I believe you wintered at the same spot as Captain 
Penny's expedition? 

Sir John Ross.-Yes. 

454. Chni1'1IIflll.-And YOll had a personal knowledge of everything that 
occurred during the winter and spring to the expedition r 

Sir John Ross.-Certainly. 

455. Clwirmnn.-When did you first hear of the disco\'ery of the open 
water to the north of Wellington Strait in May 1851 ? 

Sir John Ross.-It was on the :2<1 of June It';jl. I haye here Captain 
Penny's letter giving me the information. 

456. Cltnirman.- 'Ir as it not in :\Iay when the open water was discovered? 
Sir Jolin Ross.-Captain Penny's letter is dated the :2d of June. He 

mentioned the circnmstance before that. I think it must haye been about 
the last of May. 

4.57. Chairman.-- \Vhen did you heal' of his snbsequent proceedings,-when 
he took the boat and launched into the open water? 

Sir John Ross.-It mnst have been ill the first ,yeek of July. 

458. Chail'mnn.- 'What was the impression on your mind at the time, as to 
~he state of that open water? Did it appear to you from what you heard, that 
It was an open and navigable 8e;l, and that thl're was any probahility that Sir 
John Franklin passed that way? 

Sir John Ross.-No. 

459· Clwirrnan.-State your reasons? 
Si1" John Ross.-Other water of the same description was found in another 

part, occasioned by the rapidity of the tide coming into these great channels. 

. 460. ChaiJ'Jnrtn.-Do you consider that Captain Austin would have been 
J~stified in continuing the expedition in the hope of pcnetr:1ting the water so 
dIscovered? 

S£r John Ross.-Certainly not. Captain Austin and Captain Penny were 
~oth right in coming home; there was no chance of doing any good at that 
tIme. 

4!H. Chairman.-Can you give the Committee any information on .t~e 
sU~Ject of that report of the loss and murder of the crew of SIr John Franklm s 
shIps that you received from Adam Beck? 

Sir John Ross.- I did not consider it to bc true after Peterson had contra­
Q3 

Rear-Admiral 
Sir John Ross. 

31st Oct. 1851. 



Rear-Admiral 
Sir John Ross. 

31st Oct. 1851. 

.j4 EVIDENCE TAKEN BEFORE THE CQ)DIITTEE RESPECTING THE 

dieted it; but after Beck had been discharged, and sworehthat
l 

it bwal~ tl"Ude,. and 
being authorized by the Resident at Godhavn to say t at le e leve It, I 
believe it to be true also. 

46:2. Chllinll(/ll.-Do you continue to believe it to be true, that that occur. 
rence took place? . 

Sir John Ross.-Most certamly I do. 

463. C!toinJl(IlI.-Upon the filith of what Adam Beck has said? 
Sir John Ross.-Yes. 
464. Chllil'lI/olI.-Were you present when the examination took place by 

Captain Austin and the officers of his expedition :' 
Sir John Ross.-I was not,present then. 

465. CllI1irman.-Are YOU aware of what passed at that time? 
Sir John Ross.-Perfectly. 

466. Clwil'lllan.-And YOU are aware that they (Captain Austin and his 
officers) are of an entirely 'different opinion!' . 

Sir John Ross.-Yes, and that they all belIeve that Adam Beck had been 
telling a story. I believed so t~t the time, and I .wrote home to that effect. 
I believed that he was not tellmg the truth until he was sworn. When he 
came home, he came and voluntarily made his depositions. The Resident at 
Godhavn informed me that this man was born in Greenland, had been 
brought up to the Christian religion by the missionaries, that he had never 
known a man under these circumstances speaking falsely, and that he believed 
every word he said was true. Speaking of Peterson, Captain Humble, of 
a Danish ship, said he had written to his wife, stating hat he had made an 
excellent bargain with Captain Penny; that he would winter in some snug 
place; that he would have plenty of money to get himself and his wife home to 
Copenhagen, and desired his wife to sell his things to enable him to go. In 
another letter, either by himself or his wife to her sister, who is married to one 
of the mates, a hope was expressed that Peterson would go to England, because 
the Government would be obliged to pay him two winters instead of one, and 
that he ,vould eome out with Captain Penny next year and be able to go to 
Copenhagen. I asked the Resident about Peterson. He said he was a man who 
was di"ati~fied with his situation, and said that he did not care whether the 
Government gayc him lcayc 01' not, because he would go back to Copenhagen. 

-167. C/wil'lI!lllI.-Did you bring home any depositions of Adam Beck? 
Sil' John Ross.-Y es ; I brought home his depositions, and sent them to the 

Hudson's Bay Company, who sent them to Copenhagen to be translated. 
There is every reason to bclieye they will be returned in the course of a 
month. I know that the depositions were to be sent for translation to persons 
in Copenhagen well qualified to perform the duty. 

468. Clwinnan.-Have you anything further to communicate that you 
think interesting on the subject of the search for Sir John Franklin? 

Sil' JU/111 !l0ss.-I consider it will be of no use going into the Wellington 
C?auuel un~ll there ha~ been a favourable winter previously. The navigation 
of the ArctIC seas mamly depends upon the previous winter, which has not 
been duly thought of by Arctic navigators. Unless there is a mild winter 
this year it will be quite use~ess to go out there. Captain Austin tow~d 
my.vessel to the .mouth ~f Wellmgton Channel. I went up and saw the barner 
of Ice. It was Just as It was the year before, and it will remain there until 
there is a mild season t~ melt it. . The great mistake, in my opinion, is, 
that they ~~ve not suffiCIently studIed the previous winter. When I went 
last (expedl.tlOn of 1,'-'29), my only object in proceeding after the meeting of 
the store shIps was on account of my letters from Sweden and Denmark having 
assure~ me that there never had been so mild a winter. When I went to 
Holstemberg. the clergyman~ who had been resident there twenty years, told 
me he. had kep~ a .comparatIve a~count of the temperature, and found that 
when It was nuld m Baffin's Bay It was mild in Denmark and that when it 
was severe at Baffin's Bay it was severe in Denmark. He ;dded that it would 
depend upon the previous ,,-inter what success we should have in Baffin's Bay. 
I think, therefore, that in all such expeditions it i8 highly advisable,-absolutely 
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necessary indeed,-.to consult the previous winter. I have been fourteen times 
frozen up, an~ I have examined the records of Sweden, Russia, and Denmark. 
~ have Illval'l~bly ~ound . that when there is a mild winter in these parts there 
IS the same mIld willter III the parallel latitudes throug-hout the globe. With 
respect to Adam .~eck's. repor~, .that is a thing very easily ascertained any 
year, for an expedItIOn mIght saIl III June and be back in October. 

469. Clwirmrm.-What measures would you take to ascertain the truth or 
falsehood of Adam Beck's relation? 

. Sir John Ro~s.-I should send an expedition consisting of two small vessels 
wIth a steamer III the month of June, which miCl'ht ascertain it and return in 
the month of October. This might be done an/,year. 

4~O. Chairman.-But to whom would you apply for information? 
Sl1" John Ross .. -I would carry an interpreter with me. It is absolutely 

necessary that some person should go who understands the Danish language, 
for the way in which they speak to Greenlanders is in Danish, and then they 
ansv.:er in the lal~guage of Greenland, I ~sed to speak to my interpreter in 
Damsh, and I beheye I am the only officer III the na\'y who speaks Danish. 

471. Clwinllan.-Do yon think the best ,vay would be to apply to the 
Danish governor at Disco r 

Sir John Ross.-Yes; for an order to send some perRon with an expedition 
to determine that question, and the Danish Government should be applied to. 

4i~. ClwirmaJl.-You think that when the translation is received in England 
it will throw considerable additional light upon the su~iect ? 

Sir John Ross.-Yes, I do think so, most certainly. 

4i3. Chairmall.~Did you understand that Captain Penny had urged 
Captain Austin to persevere in an endeavour to go up through Wellington 
Strait in 1851, with a view to continue the search after Sir John Franklin's 
expedition? 

Sil" John Ross.-I did not. 

474. Chairman,-Do you think yon should have known if Captain Penny 
had 80 urged Captain Austin? 

,S'il' John Ross.-I think I should have known it. What Captain Penny 
said to me was, that if the ice broke up in the channel, that he could do a 
great deal with a steamer; but it was conditionally, if the ice broke up; and he 
once mentioned that if this was the case, he would apply for a "teamCT to 
assist him, but. he did not say that it was to Captain Austin he would apply. 
To apply to Captain Austin would have been absurd, for none of his officers 
could do duty under Captain Penny. It was quite e\·ident then that there was 
no probability of a steamer, or anything else, getting up \Velling-ton Channel. 
I went up after Captain Austin ca"t me off, und saw the barrier that. had 
been there all the year before, and there is no doubt that it is there now. 

475. Captain Breche.IJ.-You are aware that Captain Penny reported the 
discovery of a large space of open water in the (~ueen's Channel, and that 
he had not gone to the extent of the open water or examined the shores 
around it, except those which bordered on the south· cast part of it. Taking 
this state of things into your consideration, is it your opinion that the 
examination of the further part of the strait was necessary? 

S£r John Ross.-It was unnecessary. 

4i6. Captain Beechey.-Will you allow me to ask you what was the 
character of the barrier of ice in the Wellington Strait, whether it was old 
ice or not? 

Sir John Ross.-I should say it was three years old. 

477. Captain Beecltey.-You said, that on sending out an exped.ition to ~hat 
part, they had not sufficiently considered the importance of a Imld prevIOus 
winter. Whom do you mean by they'! 

Sir John Ross.-I mean the officers whom Government consulted. 

478. Captain Beecht:;?/.-Then what means would you take of ascertaining 
jf there had been a mild winter? 

S11· John Ross.-I should ascertain it by sending to Denmark and Sweden. 
Q4 
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479. Captain Beechey.-Then two or three years must elapse before an 
expedition could reach? . 

Sir John Ross.-Oh no; It could reach the same year. 

480. Captain Beechey.-Then you mean to say you would be guided by the 
winter in Denmark? 

Si7' John Ross.-Yes, certainly, by the previous winter at that place. . 

481. Sir E. Parrl/.-"'ill you state what you know about the piece of 
wood and the piec~ ?f tin~ sai~. to have, been. found by. ~daI:n Beck on the 
shore of the harbour 111 ,,,hleh SIr John l<J'anklm s expedItIOn IS supposed to 
have wintered? 

Sir John Ross.-Adam Beck found that piece two days after the other ships 
had left the bay. The piece of wood ,,,as four feet. nine inches long, and 
three inches h·' four square. On the top it had been cut with a saw, and in 
that was a piece of tin. I saw that piece of ti~. :\dam Beck '~'as carrying 
it along, when the tin dropped out and sunk I11to the snow whIch was very 
deep at the time; it could not after\\'ard~ be found. The man has ~\Yorn that 
on this piece of tin was "September 1846." 

..J.8~. Captain Beechey.--Did I understand you to say you saw the tin? 
,,,'ir John Russ. - Y C~, I saw him bringing the tin along with my spyglass. 

I was about a quarter of a mile away. This was on the north-east side of Union 
Bay. I considered it to be a meridian marIe There was a cail'll that it had 
t:'llien from. 

483. iSir E. Par}'y.-Will you point out where you were "ith the spyglass 
when you saw it? 

Sir John Ross.-I wm, fast to the icc in the place I haH' marked on the 
chart. 

484. Sir E. Par7:1j.-Can Adam Beck read English well? 
S£r John Ross.-Ye~, he can read it perfectly well, and write it: 

48.5. CltairmaJl.-Then what date did Adam Beck assign for the loss of 
Sir John Franklin's ships? 

Sir John Ross.-He said it was in the winter; he could not say the month; 
they haw no names for months. 

486. Sir George BII(k-Did he say what part of the winter;­
Sir John Ross -No; 1 do not think that was asked him. 

-lSi· Cltairl/lrt}/.-Do you consider that the search after records in the 
wintering place of the Erebus and Terror in 1 Fl~15-46 was so complete, that 
there is no probability of any records deposited there having been overlooked 
01' left behind ( 

,sil' John Ross.-That is possible but not probable. There is a tin con­
taining some linc~ of poetry that I left on the top of the hill above Leopold 
Harbour, and although a hundred men have been there since it has never 
been ~ound, an(l. ~t is t~ere yet. Almost all the ships companies of the 
InvestIgator and Enterpl'lse have been there, a~d haye never found it. 

488. Clwir}]lal/. -Do you consider that Cape Riley was also sufficiently 
searched for records or anything else that might hu\'e been left behind? 

Sir Juhn Russ.- Y Co, I think a very strict search was made. There was a 
cairn, but there was nothing in it. 

489. Clwirman.-Do you think the cairn consisting of tin canisters on 
Beechey Island was sufficiently searched? 

Si)' John Ross.-Yes, I thInk so. I conceive that there ha"ing been no 
records left may be considered a proof that Sir John Franklin had O'iven up all 
hop~ of proceeding further, had determined on proceeding home, a~d was lost. 
I thm~ he was lost by getting into packed ice as Sir James Ross got into. 
~hat IS one re~son why I think Adam Beck's story probable'. I agreed with 
Su' .John Franklm befor~ he went away that if he advanced he was to leave 
notIces where he was gomg, and to make deposits. I did not require that the 
Government should ~ake these deposits, but that Sir John Franklin should 
~ake them out of hIS own resources, as I did. I said to him, "I shall most 
hkely be the person to come out for you if you are missed, so that we will 
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understand that you are to leave deposits at Cornwallis Island and Melville 
Island. State what your intentions are. If you do not leave anything I shaH 
conclude that you are returning home, and that you consider it would be of no 
use to leave notices." 

490. Cltairlllan.-Did Adam Beck say anything about the time the ships 
were lost? 

Sir John. Ross.-He. said, upon his examination, he would be prepared to 
produce .artlcles belongmg to the vessels which would prove them to be Govern­
ment ShIpS, and that he was ready to go with the Government expedition. 
He is at present living at Holsteinberg on the western coast of Greenland. I 
should add that the class of persons to whom he belongs are perfectly insane 
when drunk. 

491. Clwirman.-Do you think there is a reasonable probability of Adam 
Beck being found to fulfil his promises by any expedition that may be sent next 
year? 

Sir John Rnss.-·?'!.o doubt he would. be found. at Holsteinberg if sent for. 

492. Clwirman.-Do you know whether Captain Austin provided Captain 
Penny wit~\ every !lS~istallce in his power consistently with the ,afdy of his 
own expedItIon ~ 

Sir John Ross.-I think he did. 

493 . .ddmi}'(d .Panshrllce.-Do vou know to what extent Sir John Frank­
lin's exploring parties had gone in ;ny direction from their wintering quarters ~ 

Sir John Ross.-I think they were traced up the Wellington Channel 
about thirty miles. They were upon sledges. 

494. SiT George Back.-On which side'~ 
Sir John Ross.-On the east side of the Wellington Strait. 

495. Cltainnan.-Have you made any report of your proceedings ~ 
Sir John Ross.-Yes, to the Hudson's Bay Company. 

496. Chainnan.- Will you furnish the Committee with a copy of it ~ 
Sir John Ross. -The Hudson's Bay Company have already furnished the 

Admiralty with it. 

497. Sir Geor!!,'e Back.-Frolll your experience in the Arctic seas do yon 
think it likely that sufficient provision could be obtained, in any case, to 
support such a party as Sir John Franklin's, more particularly in the neigh­
bOUl'hood of the Wellington Strait and Channel? 

Sir John Ross.-Most certainly not. 

498. Sir E. Pa1'l:!f.-Did you make any observations h.\' which you could 
ascertain whieh way the flood tide probably came? 

Sir John Ross.-W e made no observations of that kind up the Wellingtoll 
Channel. 

499. Captain Beeche,Ij.-May I ask whether you found the tides to be 
much affected by the wind? 

Sir John Ross.-There was a regular tide no doubt, but that tide was 
accelerated or retarded by the action of the wind. 

500. Admiral Panslwwe.-During your experience in the navigation of these 
seas did you generally find the leads open on the eastern and northern shores of 
channels first? 

Sir John Ross.-Yes, generally on the eastern shores, and upon the north 
side of Baffin's Bay particularly. 

501. Sir E. Parry.-Did you receive from Captain Austin every assi.stance 
you required consistently with his own resources and the safety of hIS own 
expedition? 

Sir John Ross.-I certainly did. 

502. Chairman.-Do you think that everything that was possible wa~ 
done by the joint expeditions? 

Sir John Ross.-I think that everything that could be done in that season 
was done. 

H 

Rear-Admiral 
Sil' Joltn Ross. 

31st Oct. 1851. 



Rear-Admiral 
Sir John Ross. 

31st Oct. 1851. 

Capt.Ommanney. 

58 EVIDENCE TAKEN EEFORE THE COMMITTEE RESPECTING THE 

503. ChaiI'IJIIIIl.-Do you think th.at anythin~ was left undone? . 
Sir John Ross.-Nothing. I thmk Captam Penny and Captam Austin 

were quite justified in coming home. 
504. Clwil'JIlan.-And you think that during the time they continued the 

search, they did all they could? . . 
Sir John Ross.-I think they dId everythmg that men could do. 

CAPTAIN OMMANNEY recalled: Examination continued. 

505. Captain Beeche,1f.-With reference to my qu~stion 452. 'y~sterday, which 
was, "Captain Penny did not express in your hearmg any opllllOn to Captain 
Austin as to the advisability of going up Wellington Channel." What is 
your answer to that? 

Captain Ommanney.-I never heard any. 

506. Captain Beeche,1j.-In Captain Austin's lette~ of the 11 th of August 
1850 mention is made of some reports on the authontyof Adam Beck. Do 
you believe in them? .. 

Cajltrtin Ommanney.-No. I was present dunng the transactIOn at Cape 
York and Wolstenholme Sound in August 1850, and was satisfied the report 
was untrue. Referring to my letter sent to the Admiralty, I said "I 
" abstained from making any reference to the story raised by Sir John 
" Ross's interpreter, as I considered that the matter had been completely 
" placed at rest after my subsequent examination of the natives with Captain 
" York and Penny on the 14th, of \vhich you were informed, and more par­
" ticularly finding that the" North Star" had wintered amongst these people 
" without hearing of the circumstance; but I did not put any faith in the 
" report itsel£ I was with Captain Penny, and we investigated it very closely." 

507. ,",'il' George Back.-Then you do not believe Adam Beck's story? 
Captoill Omllwnne,Ij.-No, I do not. I have a native Esguimaux with me, 

who will be able to give some information upon the subject, and his evidence 
will be interpreted, as he is one of the party with whom I communicated at 
Cape York when Beck was present . 

. ')08. Sir E. Pal'ry.-What is the age of the Esquimaux you have brought 
home? 

CUll/uill OIl/1J/ 1Illllcy.-He is nineteen or twenty years of age. 

50g. SiJ' E. Pa1'1·!J.-Is he an intelligent young man? 
Captain 0111 il/111lIIC!!.- Yes, we all believe so. He is a person of observation, 

and is very quiet. 

510. Coptain Beechey.-Yon conducted an exploring party to the south-west, 
I believe? What were the limits of your journey? 

Copto:in OmJl!onney.-I commanded the division of sledges which proceeded 
to examme t~e coasts to the southward and westward of Cape Walker, and I 
was absent sIxty clays under great privations. From our winter quarters we 
went to Cape \r alker across the ice, and thence I traced the coast to the 
,vest and south-west until I came to the gulf at the north-west extreme in 
73° 5' north, and longitude 101 ° 55' "'. When I crossed this I could not see 
the bottom of the gulf. I considered it my duty to ascertain what it was, and 
I found that it terminated in the gulf: On my return I made the circuit of 
this deep gulf which I had crossed the neck of on my outward journey. 

511. Coptain Beechey.-What was the state of the ice generally along that 
shore? 

C,optain .Omrnanney.-It was very heavy fixed ice; I considered a great 
portIOn of It had been fixed several years. Some pieces which pressed upon 
this coast must have been forty feet thick. 

512. Captain Beechey.-Did you search minutely every part of the coast 
for traces of Sir John Franklin? 

Captain Ommanney.-Most minutely. 

513. Captain Beechey.-J,.nd is it your opinion, after your search, that Sir 
John Fr~nklin did not pass that way? 

Captam Omrnanney.-I do not think he passed that way. 
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514. Captain !Jeechey.-Have you stated in your report every thing that Capt.OmmaJmey 
would be useful III a further search, if desirable to renew it? 

Captain Ommanney.-Yes, I believe I have told all. 

o 515: Admiral F(/nshawe--H~nv many days longer do you consider your 
explormg party could have contlllued their labours under similar privations and 
difficulties? 

Captain Ommanney.-Ten or twenty days longer. 

516. Admiral Fanshawe.-Had the provisions and fuel you took with you 
been expended could you have found other means of maintainilJO' life? 

Captain Ornrnanney.-None whatever. '" 

517. Admiral Fanslw.we.- You have expressed to us one of two opmlOns 
you hav~ formed th~t Su' .John Franklin's expedition lllay have passed through 
the Wellmgton Straits to the north-west. Supposing that to have been the 
case, do you now, from your experience in the Polar seas and in Arctic navi<ra­
tio?, co~side~' that if these people (Sir John Franklin's) had been obligelto 
qUIt theIr shlps, any of them could be now alive in those reoions lookin rr for 
rescue? '" t:> 

Captain Ommanne,y.-Not one of them. I do not believe any of them 
could be alive. 

518. Captain Beeche.1J.-In your excursion from the ships to your south­
western extreme did you see any tracks of animals? 

Captain Ommanney.-I saw traces of rein·deer at about /·1 C K., and some 
down at the bottom of the gul£ 

519. ,sir George Back.-Under these circumstances, you cOlild not have 
procured food ? 

Captain OmlllwlIlI'!j. - Certainly not. I only shot three brace of ptDrmigan 
during the whole sixty days. I did not even sec the track of a bear along 
the whole of the coast which I travelled,-a proof of the absence of animal 
life. 

520. &r E. Pa1'l:Y.-What was the nature of the land you discovered to 
the southward of Cape Walker? 

Captain Olllllllllzney.-At Cape Walker the land is high, with precipitous 
cliffs. Proceeding south-west by west it declines and becomes very low. 
The whole of this land is of the same character, with shingle spits extending 
out into the sea. 

521. Cltairman.-You are fully conversant with the proceeflings of the 
expeditions, not only of your own, but of Captain Penny's. What I wish 
to ask you in conclusion is, whether e\"(T), thing was done by both expeditions 
that could be done, and whether anything was omitted that could be accom­
plished in furtherance of their instructions? 

Cf/plain Ommanllc.y.- From all the circumstances, and fi'om the position in 
which we were obliged to winter, I consider that more was done than the 
most sanguine of us ever anticipated. Before setting out travelling, the 
opinion was that anyone going 200 miles in a direct line from the ship or 
stopping out forty days, would he as much as any human beings could do. 
There was nothing omitted that could have been accomplished. 

522. Sir E. Parry.-Do you think Captain Austin and Captain Penny 
were fully justified in coming home this autumn? 

Captain Ommanney.-Fully justified. 

523. Captain Beechc.y.- If Captain Penny had thought the Queen's Channel 
ought to have been further examined, taking into your consideration the 
provisions and the steam vessel left by Sir James Ross at Leopold Island, 
could he have waited longer than he did at the entrance of Wellington 
Channel to await any change that might have L1ken place in the ice, to 
prosecute the search he states he was so anxious for? 

Captain Ommann~lf.-From all I know of his resources I think he could 
have remained out if he had wished and determined to do so. I am not 
aware of what his resources were, further than having heard that his expedi­
tion was supplied for three years. 
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CAPTAIN PENNY recalled. 

.'):24. The Chairman (addressing Captain ?~'IZlI.'!) said,-W e told you ~cster. 
day that we could not all?w such larg'c addltlO~s to. bc .made to your eVIdence 
as you had proposed to msert by ~vay of COl rectIOll., but you are now at 
liberty to explain any part of your eVIdence you may wIsh? . 

Captain Penn.'! proceeded as follows:-~o. the ans"'er" to the questIOn on 
page 6, No. 62. beginning, "Instead of e~~ltmg yourself, &c., I wIsh to ~dd 
these words "Because I was too angry. To the answer to the queshon 
:"\0.70., cOI:lmencing "'''.hat qt~antity of pr.ovision~ did you consider,:' &c., 
I wish to add, "I was provIded wIth no travellmg eqUIpment by the :\dmlTalty. 
I had not one piece of spare wood o~ board ~y vessel; ev~ry bit ?f wood 
on board Illy expedition was used up m preparmg Illy travellmg eqUlpment; 
therefore had that ice not cleared mray 1 could have been of no further 
service to the search by continuing there, from the distance Sir John Franklin 
and his party must have b~en away." On page 7 . thc foll.~:ving question 
occurs, ::'\0. -"0.: " Was the Ice more or less broken 111 1851 ( At the com· 
meneement of the answer to the qucstion I wish these words to be placed, 
"I cannot tell." ~ \t page ~ there is the following question, No. 85.: "When 
you ~tarted to come home did you contemplate asking for a steamer to 
!.!'O out ~lO'ain?" The addition I wish to make to the answer is, "On arrriving 
~lt Aberdeen I mention cd it to }Irs. Penny." On page 8 the following 
question occurs, No. 86.: "Did yOt~ and your ofI.icers contemplate going 
out again?" The answer I have gn:en only applIes to my officers. At 
paO'e 8 is the following qnestion, No. 87.: "What made you propose it 
aft~nyard~ ?, Thi~ (loes ]]ot imply that 1 did not think of this before, for 
I mentioned to my people, that if we got instructions and despatches at 
Disco, "'C should return to the search. I expected Mr. Saunders had 
landed his provisions there for the "~OI'tll Star." In consequence of its 
coming on thick, and a little wind, we parted company with the "Sophia," 
he not being aware of my intention to come home. On page 8 is this 
question, No. 9:2.: "Do not you think now it would have been better to 
giye a specific answer to Captain Austin's inquiry?" I wish to add to the 
answer already gi\'en these ,,'ords, "Had Captain Austin not been present, 
I should have gin'll another answer. I should have said, Most certainly, 
I am very sorry for it. I wish further to state, that when I was on board 
Captain Anstin's ship, I laid my chart before him, and explained my ideas, 
that Sir John Franklin had pursued that route up "rellington Channel. 
At that time, I beg to state that Captain Ommanney was not present 
,,,hen this conversation took place. I \\'as not long in his cabin, and I 
stated to Captain Anstin that I requested a steamer to go up; of this I 
haH' no doubt. Lieutenant Aldrich, who was there on a visit, and was 
det?ine~ for three weeks previously, knew that it was my most anxious 
desu'e, If the channel opened, to go 500 miles further search, and that I 
never at auy time changed my opinions in reference to "'ellington Channel . 
..\.t page 8 is the following question, No. 93: "Suppose Captain Austin 
had died, nothing would have been in writing to pass to his second in 
cOlllll1und ;" I wish to add to my answer that I did not consider the pro­
bability of Captain ,\ustill dying, and I am sorry I gave Admiral Fanshawe 
that answer. On page 9 is the following question, Xo. 105.: "We do not 
expect all): scientific matter beyond what you have given us with respect 
to the latItudes; but I may ask you whether you did this work yourself 
(I/Jn:rtillp; to ({ chart which was placed on the table)?" The answer was, 
" Captain Stewart did the great portion of it, but I was present when it 
was done." I wish to add to that these words: "This must not be under­
stood that I. could not make it myself, as their Lordships have charts of 
my const,rnctlOn, as ha\'; ~ls~ the whalers, by which they have run for 
harbours III Cumberland StraIt III a gale of wind." On page 10 I am asked, 
No. 110.: "Could you ha"e stopped with the amount of provisions YOU had?" 
The a.nswcr I gave was, ".Oh yes." I wish to add these words: '~We could 
have lIved on ?oard our shIrs, but we .could. have done no gocd to the search." 
On p~ge ~o IS t~e followmf? qnestIOll, ::\0. 1 U.: ., How did you pick up 
that Captam Anstm was commg home," &c. I wish to add to my answer, 
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"When I saw Sir John Ross taken in tow by Captain Austin, from this 
moment I was determined I should go home before him, and had great 
cause to be satisfied with the decision, for I had every reason to suppose 
that disrepute would be thrown upon what ,,'e had done, and I told this 
to my officers." 

Sir 1jJ. Parry.-:-I wish to ask some questions upon this supplementary 
eVidence, as It has led us completely into another train. 

525. Sir E. Pany, to Captain Pl'llluj.-Is the Committee to understand, 
that had your own expedition been supplied with more provisions and other 
necessary resources, you would, on the 12th of Auo'ust 1851, have remained at 
Wellington Strait, wi~h ~ view of watching the ice °there, and proceeding up to 
the north-westward If It opened, so as to risk another winter, under your 
existing instructions ~ 

Captain Pellny.-Not under my existing instructions. 

526. Sir E. Pan:y.-Supposing you had got into Disco on your return, and 
had found abundance of resources and no further instructions, "hat would you 
have done then? 

Captain Penny.-I should not have felt justified in returning to the search 
without further instructions. 

527. Sir E. P([ny.-When you left England on your expedition in 1850 
were you acquainted with the proceedings of the former expedition under the 
orders of Captain Sir James Ross? 

Captain Penn,Y.-Yes, I was acquainted with them. 

528. Sir E. P([rry.-Were you then aware of a considerable depot of pro­
visions and stores having been left by Sir James Ross at Port Leopold? 

Captain Pellll/I.-Yes, I ,,"'as aware of that. 

529. Sir E. Pr11'l:y, -Did it ever occur to you to make use of these provi­
sions to enable you to prolong your search? 

Captain PeIlJl.Ij.--Y es; I have often spoken of this depot of provisions. 

CaptainPenl1!J COlltil/lled (ls./oUou'S :-During winter the steam launch left by 
Sir James Ross was fi'equently spoken of,-that if we got early clear, and I had 
been at ship all the time, and Barrow Strait opencd'-"'e spoke of the steam 
launch, if it was possible to put her in order, to my arll1ourer, but he said 
in consequence of the machinery being so long exposed it could not be put 
together in a way to be made useful. 

530. Capta£n Beeche,y.-Did you examine it '; 
Captain Penny.-No, I did not examine it myself: 

531. Cha£1'1l1all.-Do you recollect that in your journal of the 6th of August, 
before Captain Austin had joined you, you used this expression: "They 
are all so very anxiolls to get home," (that is, the crews of your vessels,) "as 
we have now no hope of being of any use to our missing countrymen, whose 
fate will for eyer remain in obscurity"? 

Captain Penn.y.-Yes. I felt convinced that they were so far beyond our 
reach, that with our means we could not reach them,-and the limited instruc­
tions we had. 

532. Sir E. Pal'lY.,-Y ou have stated in your letter to Captain Austin, 
dated the 4th of August 1851, that" the powerful rate the tide rum in the 
ehannels near the Queen's Channel, not less than six knots, renders it dangerous 
in a boat, much more a ship, unless clear of ice, which from the appearance 
of the ice here will not be clear this season." How do you reconcile that to 
the wish you have expressed to go up that season with a steamer? 

Captain Penny.-When I retll1'ned I was very anxious about what more 
could have been done. I thought it was possible this ice might clear away, 
and that if we could get 500 miles further up there might be some further 
traces. I felt that in a short season of navigation that could only be accom­
plished with a steamer. Hence my anxiety to go up to pilot the. steamer, 
being acquainted with the rapidity of the tides. I offered my assistance af, 
pilot, because it would be less objectionable than asking for the command. 
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533. Sir E. Parry.-Are we to understand that you altered your opinion 
after you had written this let~er on ~he 4th of Augu~t? 

('1/ llfl/ ill Penny.- I was stIll. anxIOUS that somethmg more was to be d?ne, 
convinced that Sir John Franklm had pursued that route, and I was anxIOUS 
that we should obtain further traces. 

534. Cllpt({ill Beechey.-You spo.k~ to your peopl~ . of the p~obability of 
returning to pursue the search, provIdmg you got provIsIOns at DISCO. When 
did YOU make that known to the crew? 

C;lIjitllin Pellll!/.-It ,vas after we left Barrow's Straits. 

435. Cllpt({in Beechey.-That is ~t variance wi~h your amended e~idence, in 
which you say that when you saw SIr John Ross III tow, you dctermmed to be 
home first. Will you explain that, and then show how it was that you spoke 
to your people of the probability of returning, providing you got provisions at 
Di;co? Do you mean that you determined to proceed home If you did not 
filld instructions at Disco? 

Cllpfl/ ill PI' 1111.11'-Yes, that was it. 

536. Sir G. Back.-Did the idea of prosecuting the research for Sir John 
Franklin occur to you before you returned to England? 

Captaill PeltJ!!!.-Yes, it did; it very often occurred to me. 

Mr. :MARSHALL called. 

537. Clillirlllan.-You \\(,I'e first mate on the Lady Franklin, I believe? 
11/1'. 11]11 rs/t ,,11.-Yes. 

;,);~8. ClwirlJl(IJI.-Be good enough to give us an account of what you 
observed in your exploring expedition. Were you out twice or once? 

Jil'. ilIa I'slwll.-Once . 

. 539. C/t(firmal1.- You were not with Captain Penny when he launched 
his boat? 

Jlr. 11Jrll'slul1f.-r'\0; Captain Penny was going up, and I ,vas commg 
down . 

. "dO. Ch(lirman.-Did you find any traces of the missing ships ~ 
1111'. Mil I'slwll.--W e found no traces. There was a good deal of drift wood. 

One piece was about fifteen feet long and about eighteen inches round. It 
\vas quite wasted. 

;')41. Chnirnwn.-What was the date of your proceeding from the ship on 
the first journey? 

11/1'. Jlllr.~/lGll.-Wc started on the lith of April, r'eturned to ship, and 
then started again on the 6th of May . 

. 5-12. Clwinl/rtl1.-Did you find anv open wRter when you got above 
'.,'ellington Strait? 

Jll'. ~l/l1rslutl'.-Yes, a good deal. 

;,)-1;3. CllOil'lIIlIlI.-What sort of open water did you consider it to be? 
11!1'. 11frll·.~/ilI1I.-It ,,'as clear 'water as far as the eye could reach, with a small 

portIOn of Ice along the shore. From" Goodsir's and Marshall's farthest" I 
could see to the northward as far as my eye could reach. 

;')-1.1. Clwln!lllll.-How many islands did you discover there? 
Jil'. J/III'slIOll -:-1 co.uld not tel.l how many, b~t there were many islan~ 

there. We took It at first for one Island, because It was at snch a distance. 

545. Clwil'1Jlan.-Do you consider this chart to be correct, as far as your 
knowledge and observation go? 

1111'. 1.1fal'slwll.-Yes. 

546. Clwirman.-By wbat route did you return? 
J/I'. 1.11al's~all.-W e returned by the same route, following the western shore, 

by CornwallIS Island. 

547. Chairman.-Was that the only land journey you made? 
.. VI'. Marshall.-Yes, it was. 
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548. Chairman.-When was it you saw Wellington Strait last, the north end 
of it ? 

Mr. 1.l1arsltall.-On the 1st of June. 

549. Chairman.-What was your opinion of the state and character of the 
ice in the strait itself? Did you think it fast ice, likely to remain in the 
channel, or that it might come away with a strong breeze from the northward? 

Mr. Ma1·slwll.-I believe the whole of it was one year's ice. 

550. Clwil·man.-You had an opportunity of 100kinO" at the whole of it on 
the west side? 0 

Mr. Marshall.-Not any further than through the cracks iust to see the 
thickness. ' • 

551. Chairman. -What did you think the probable thickness? 
Mr. Marshall.-N ot more than four and a half or five feet. 

552. Chairman.-Have you been much accustomed to ice? 
Mr . .J..1J{arshall.-Yes. 

553. Chairman.-How many voyages have you made r 
Mr. Marsltall.-Thirty-one to that country. 

554. Sir E. Pa1'1:y.-And in command of ships? 
Mr. Marshall.-Yes; I commanded a ship one time. 

555. Chair1l2an.-Give the Committee your opinion of the ice which 
prevented navigation through that strait. Do you think that it is a barrier that 
remains three or fonr years, or is it one that opens every year? 

Mr. Marshall.-I look upon it that it is not open eyery year, but at stated 
seasons; it is pressed into Barrow's Straits by strong northerly winds. 

556. ClwiI'1I2an.-Do you consider that the Wellington Strait was naVI-
gable in 1850? 

J.lfr. ZI1al'shflli.-Yes; in the latter part I consider it was navigable. 

557. Cltairmfln.-You think all the ice came out of that year? 
Mr. Marsltalt.- Yes; I am quite certain of it. 

558. Sir E. p((IT!J.-What! after the navigable season closed did the ice 
come out? 

Mr. Marshall.-Yes. 
559. Clwirman.-But would it have been possible for any vessel to go up? 
1ffr. Marsltall.-Nothing but steam would go up when there were light 

winds. Sailing vessels would be of no use. 

560. Clwirman.-All the vessels must have been already blocked up in the 
iee before the strait broke up, consequently neither expedition could have gone 
up the strait again at that time? 

Mr. Marshall.-Yes, that is right. 

561. Sir G. Back.-Then for any available purpose of navigation the 
opening was of no use? 

Mr. Marslwlt.-No, of no use whatever. 

562. Clwil'liIrtn.-Do you think there was any appearance of the ice coming 
away when you left the strait on the 12th of August 1851 ? 

Mr. J1farslwll.- Well, I could not say, for I did not see the ice for about 
five weeks before that. 

563. Sir G. Back.-Was there much floe ice at the entrance to Wellington 
Channel? 

Mr. l1'I'arshall.-It was all floe. 

564. Sir G. Back.-What was the size of the ice at the largest floe 
in 1850? 

Mr. Marsltall.-It was a floe piece as far as the eye could reach, from 
side to side. 

565. Sir E. ParlY.-What breadth of ice do you think remained in Wel­
lington Channel when you left in 185O? 

Mr. Marshall.-Not more than fifty miles. 
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.566. Sir E. Pan:y.-But you could n<?t see water over that? 
NI'. Mal'slwll.-Oh yes; it was vcry hIgh land. 

567 .. '-'il' E. Pan:IJ.-From "'.hat point of land did you see it? 
JIr. lllll}'slwll.-I did not sec It mysel£ 

568. Admiml Fanshawe.-What do you consider was the height of the 
land at the farthest point? 

11Ir. lIfarshatl.-From 500 to 600 feet. 

569. Admiral Fanslwwe.-How far do you think you saw the open water? 
11/1'. 11111}'slwll.-I think I saw sixty miles from that height. 

570. Admiral Fanslwwc.--Do you think you saw the two islands marked 
Barrow and Parker Islands in the chart ? 

Jlr. 111Ifrs/utll.-I might have seen them, but I did not know them from the 
body of land. I saw land as far as my eye could see in that direction. 

571. Admiral F(/Ilshawe.-Did you keep any register of the state of the 
temperature? 

lIlr. Jlllrs!trtll.-Y eo;; it Yla, kept on board the Sophia. 

;")7'2. ~ldmiral Fanslulll:e.-But in your journeys had you a thermometer? 
,1/1'. 11Iars/taLI.-Dr. Goodsir had one. 

;")73. Admiml F(m,~/wwe.-Do you know on the day you turned back fi'om 
Marshall'~ farthest point what was the state of the temperature? 

1111'. ~11Ifrs/lll!l.-No; but it was very warm. 

574. Admiral Fanslwlce.-What was the date? 
Mr. lI1.ars/wll.-The 1st of June. 

575. Sil' G. Back.-Did you see any birds? 
Jllr. j.lfa rslwll.-Yes, ducks and some others. 

576. .S'ir G. Back.-Any animals? 
11fr. 111arshafl.-Two days I had the opportunity of seeing rein-deer. I saw 

20 on the first day and 19 on the second. 

5/i. Sir G. Back.-Could you have got within shot of them ? 
1111'. il/((}'s/wll.-Oh yes. 

fiiS. Admiral Fansltawe.-Do you consider from your observation that 
there is a free channel to the north-west? 

il1;-. illllrsltall.-That I can hardly answer, but from what I know I think 
there is . 

. 579. Admiral Fanslul/l'l'.-Have you ever been employed in steam vessels? 
)llr. i11arsha!l.-No, always in sailing vessels. 

;'):-\0. Captain Beechey.-In the strait where you have been, Queen Victoria 
Channel, the tides are of interest. Did you take notice of the tides in that 
channel? 

)11,:- )111/I'slllt1I._ Ye~, but I paid no particular attention to them, only just 
suffiCIent to ascertain which way they were going. 

!j81. ('((ptrl in Beechey.-'Vas there a rise and fall of the water? 
1111'. 111arslwll._ Yes, between five and ~ix feet. 

58'2 .. Captain Becche,IJ.-At what time of the moon was it, near the spring or 
otherWlse? 

ill,.. lIiarsltall.-Dr. Goodsir will answer that question. 

583. Captain Beecltey.-Did you notice any stream in the channel? 
.1.111'. 1I1arshall,-Yes, the stream went westward. 

584. Captain Beecltey.-Did it run fast or slow? 
J1r . ... 11arshall.-Three or four knots. 

585. Captain Beeclte:y.-When the water was risillg which way did the 
stream run ? ' 

Mr. Marsltall.-I think it came from the eastward; but I cannot positively 
say. 
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586. Captain Beechey.-Are you tolerably confident of that? 
Mr. Marshall.-Yes, I think so. 
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587. Captain Beeclzey.-Did you notice whether one stream ran longer than 
the other? 

Mr. Mm"shall. -I consider that the water ran longer to the westward, tide 
and half tide. 

588. Captain Beechey.-From what point did you make your observations? 
.i,lIr. Mal'shall.-From "Goodsir's and Marshall's farthest." 

589. Chai1"man.-You are aware it has been said, that if the expeditions 
had not come away, it is very possible the ice might have broken up, and 
they might have proceeded through this new channel above Wellinoton Strait, 
which is called Queen's Channet Do you think there was any "'probability 
after the twelfth of August of such an event occurring? 

Mr. Marslzall.-I was not there long enough to tell how the ice was. All 
I can say is, that it was open last year (1850), but I cannot venture to say 
whether it will be open this year. 

590. Chairman.-In point of fact, do you consider that you came away too 
soon, and that you ought to have staid longer? 

Mr. Marshall.-W e might have staid there a 'considerable time longer, but 
we could not have gone up the channel, as far as I could see. I do not see how 
we could have got up, even if we had stopped longer. 

591. Admiral Fanshawe.-If you had been master of the vessel, wishing to 
proceed to the northward in that direction, and you had seen the ice sufficiently 
clear, as in some years, would you have thought there was any difficulty in 
navigating the channel above? 

Mr. Marshall.-Not the slightest difficulty as far as eye could see; so long 
as there was clear water there could be no difficulty in navigating a vessel. 

592. Admiral Fanshawe. -Did you see any floating ice drifting with the 
current? 

Mr. Marshall.-Yes. 

593. Admiral Fanshawe.-Did you form any idea of the strength of the 
current from that floating ice ? 

J.111". Marshall.-I saw the ice going on the face of the water two knots. 

594. Admiral Fanshawe.-How was the wind then? 
Mr. Marshall.-It was fi'om the westward, and the ice was going against it. 

595. Admiral Fanshawe.-"r ere you one of the officers who examined the 
winter quarters of Sir John Franklin at Beechey Island? 

Mr.ll:fm·shall.-I was not there. It was my duty to attend to the ship. 

596. Admiral Fanshawe.-Were you at Cape Riley? 
Mr. Marshall.-No. 

597. Captain Beechey.-Can you call to mind, when the water was falling 
there, which way was the current? 

M·. Mm"shall.-It was going to the eastlcard, if I recollect rightly. I 
made no part.icular observation of it.. 

598. Sir E. Parry.-Considering all the circumstances that have come to 
your knowledge of the expeditions, which way do you think Sir John Franklin 
went from Beechey Island? 

M1·. j~fm·slwlt.-I think he went up Wellington Channel. That was always 
my thought. 

599. Sir G. Back.-On what do you ground that opinion? 
Mr. Marshall.--The year before, as I suppose, he had seen the water, and 

then he went up there. That is my opinion. 

600. Sir G. Back.-Then vou think that water was open in 1846? 
Mr. Marslwll.-I cannot m;dertakc to say. I haye no doubt it is open at 

certain points every year. . 
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601. Sir G. Back.-In your opinion, that barrier of ice was not more than 
one year old, none of two or three years? 

Mr. Marshall.-It is all ice of one year. 

602. Captain Beechey.-Is it your impression that the open water in Queen's 
Channel is there every year, and that it is kept open by strong tides? 

Mr. Marshall.-Yes, by the strength of the tides; at least, I suppose so. 

The Committee then adjourned until Monday. 
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Sixth Day. Novemher 3, 1851 

Present, Rear-Admiral Bowles, C.B., M.P., Chairman. 
Rear-Admiral Arthur Fanshawe, C.B., 
Captain Sir Edward Parry, 
Captain F. W. Beechey, 
Captain Sir George Back, 

Mr. F. J. Fegen, Secretary. 

COMMANDER C. G. PHILLIPS called. 
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603. Chainnan.-I believe you were second in command of Sir John Ross's 
vessel" Felix ?" 

Commander Phillips.--Yes, I was. 

604. Chai1-man.-You wintered at the same spot as Captain Penny's 
expedition? 

Commander Phillips.-Yes, we did. 

605. Chail'n; an.-Had you a personal knowledge of everything that occurred 
during the winter and the spring of that season? 

Commander Phillips.-Yes, I had. 
606. Chainnan.-When did you first hear of the open water to the north of 

Wellington Strait, which was discovered in May 1851 ? 
Commander Phillips.-On my return from land travelling, which was on the 

16th of June 1851, I was informed that Captain Penny had returned to 
Assistance Bay, in consequence of having discovered water. He had returned 
to his own ships, prepared a boat, and started again. 

607. Chairman.-When did you hear of any subsequent proceedings after he 
had taken the boat and launched it in the open water? 

Commander Phillips.-Not until his return. 

608. Chairman.-What was the impression on your mind after hearing 
that account? Did it appear to you to be an open and navigable sea, and that 
Sir John Franklin had passed that way? 

Commander PhiIHps.-I heard very little upon the matter, for there was so 
much reserve on the part of Captain Penny's officers that I abstained from 
putting any questions, and as much as possible stopped away. All I know of 
Captain Penny's proceedings I have gleaned from the newspapers, and from the 
track chart of his discoveries which he was good enough to send to Sir John 
Ross. 

609. Chairman.-Then you can give the Committee no information further 
than what you have heard and read? 

Commander Phillips.-No, I cannot. As I have stated, there was so much 
reserve on the part of Captain Penny's officers that I abstained from putting 
any questions to them. I heard that Captain Stewart and Dr. Goodsir had 
been stopped by open water, and that Captain Penny had searched the islands 
that he had discovered (Baillie Hamilton, and others). 

610. Chairman.-Then you are not able to give any positive answer to 
my question? 

Commander Phillips.-Certainly not; I am not sufficiently well informed 
upon the subject. 
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611. Clwinnan.-Do you ~onsi~er, fro~ ~n you ha,:e heard, that .qapta.!n 
Austin would have been justIfied In remal.nmg there wIth the expedition, In 
the hope of penetrating up th~ channel so dlsc?vered ? . 

Commander Phillips.-I tlunk tha~ the W.ellmgton Channel IS only.cle~r once 
in a few years. I think that Capta~n Austm ~·ould not have been Jus~lfie~ in 
prosecuting the search up the ~ ellmgton Stral~ and the seas beyond It WIth­
out more positive evidence that SIr John Franklm had gone that way. 

612. Clwirman.-Can you give the Committee any information on the .subject 
of the report in circulation with reference to the loss and murder of SIr John 
Franklin and which vou received from Adam Beck? ,. h 

Commander Pltillips.-Yes. I took Adam Beck on s ore on 13th August 
1850, on Cape York, when all the vessels were off ~he,:e, except C.aptain Penny's. 
Captain Ommanney had landed from the ,. Int!'epld, and Captam ~orsyth from 
the" Prince Albert," about half an hour prevIOusly. They were m communi. 
cation with three natives when I arrived in the "Felix's" boat with Adam 
Beck. A conversation took place between the natives and Adam Beck; but 
there was no emotion visible in the countenances of Adam Beck or any of the 
natives to induce me to think that there was anything they were anxious to 
report; so much so, that I remarked to Captain Ommanney, "Well, it is pretty 
clear that no vessel has been wrecked in this neighbourhood ;" and we all quitted 
in the " Intrepid," to overtake our several vessels. Captain Ommanney got on 
board of his ship, and we proceeded in tow tmvards Captain Austin and the 
"Felix." I was on board the" Intrepid," endcavouring to rejoin my own ship. 
For six or seven hours Adam Beck ncver came near me to make signs, or to 
manifest that he had any information to disclose. About seven or eigoht o'clock 
I thought I should be better lodgcd on board Captain Forsyth's vessel, there 
being no chance of getting on board my own vessel for some time, and I dropped 
on board. Adam Beck came on board the same vessel, and found a man who 
spoke a good deal of Esquimaux. His name was John Smith, steward of the 
"Prince Albert." This man almost immediately afterwards came to Captain 
Forsyth, and, looking aghast, as you may suppose, he told us he hadjmt been 
informed by Adam Beck that in the year 1846, when snow \vas falling, two ships 
(not whalers) had been broken by the ice in thc direction beyond Cape Dudley 
Digges. The officers, he said, wore epaulettes and gold bands; and that they 
had guns, but no balls. Some of the crew were drowned, others lived in tents apart 
from the natives, and were eventually killed wit.h darts and arrows. The figures 
were written very plainly by Adam Beck, and showed that snow was falling at the 
time. On receiving this information, Captain Ommanney was immediately hailed. 
The" Prince Albert" was in tow of the" Assistance," the" Assistance" being 
in tow of her steam tender, the "Intrepid." Captain Ommanncy was imme­
diately hailed, and Captain Forsyth and myself thought it was not proper to 
hail any intelligence of this story, but to ask him to come on board the" Prince 
Albert." He was made acquainted with this statement, and resolved imme­
diately to cast off his own ship, and proceed in the "Intrepid," with Captain 
Forsyth, myself, and Adam Beck, and the steward who was the interpreter. 
'Ve accordingly proceeded in the steamer as fast as we could to overtake Captain 
Austin. As soon as it was practicable, signals were made to the" Resolute," 
and at about one or two o'clock in the morning we had all assembled in Captain 
Austin's cabin. Sir John Ross came on board too. I reported to him, as my 
superior, and he immediately went on board Captain Austin's ship. Captain 
Austin was made acquainted with the circumstances. Captain Penny was 
recalled, and on the subsequent day I was left in charge of the" Felix" off the 
Crimson Cliffs near Dudley Digges. Then an investigation took place that I 
am not cognizant of. Sir John .Ross,o Captain Otl1m~nney, and Captain Penny 
went ?ack to Cape York ~nd ll~ves~lgated the subject. On Sir John Ross 
returmng after the second ll1VestlgatlOn, he told me there was some mistake, 
for that the story was now that one ship had been wintering round Cape 
Dudlc,Y Digges. . The sq,;;adro!1 ,~aving arrive~ off Cape Dudley Di~gesl 
Captam Austill hailed the FelIx, and asked SIr John Ross what he WIshed 
to do. S~r ~ ohn. said. he shoul~ like to proceed into Wolstenholme Sound, to 
pursue tlllS mqmry ;nth Captam Ommanney, and the "Felix" was taken in 
tow by the "Assistancc" and her tender, and these three yessels proceeded 
towards ". olstenholme Sonnd, Captain Austin and his tender and the" Prince 
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Albert" going away to Lancaster Sound and Ponds Bay. Captain Ommanney 
was detached to investigate the truth of this report, and Sir John Ross took 
the ~dvant~ge of the steam tow that was offered to us so kindly to go also. 
Havmg arnved off the entrance of 'Wolstenholme Sound, Captain Ommanney 
and myself and Adam Beck, and a young native called Erasmus York, embarked 
on board the "Intrepid," leaving the "Assistance" and the "Felix" outside 
of Wolstenholme Sound. We proceeded up the sound abont five miles,­
about ha~fway,-when we observed from the vessel some Esquimaux huts, two 
or three 111 number. We landed there, and the first thinD's \ye sa\\' were some 
pre~erved meat tins, bits of hoop, and undoubted evide~ce of a Queen's ship 
havmg been there. As we were still anxious about this massacre report we 

h 
. , 

were very muc excIted, and a very careful search was made in the neighbour­
hood. The huts were examined, and either in the first or second hut that we 
ex~mined,.I am not sure which, .there were decomposing remains of human 
bemgs, wluch we were able to satisfy ourselves were Esquimaux, and Erasmus 
York manifeste~ a great deal of emotion when an attempt was made to strip 
one of the bodIes. It was covered with something like a blanket. He lifted 
up his hands, and cried piteously, when he found we intended to strip the body. 
From what we heard from Adam Beck, \ye understood that the body was that of 
Erasmus York's brother. A harpoon and a bow were lying by the side of him. 
We were convinced that they were not Europeans, and therefore Captain 
Ommanney would not anow the bodies to be disturbed. Two or three clusters 
of huts were examined in this way. The steamer then proceeded further up 
the sound, and we saw three well built cairns, (mounds of stone about twelve 
feet in height,) the best built cairns I ever saw, and whieh must have taken a 
great deal of time and labour to put up. The first cairn was opened in my 
presence and that of Captain Ommanney, and ,ye were all very much excited. 
Adam Beck was standing by at this time. The preserved meat tin ,ra~ dis­
covered in due course. It ,,,as secreted in the cairn. A papcr ,vas taken out 
of it, which I have since read in print. I have a memorandum of it, but I have 
not the original document with me. It was a memorandum fi'om ~.1r. Saunders 
of the" North Star," stating that his ship had been beset on the 29th of July. 
The most important part that struck me in connexion with Adam Deck's story 
was reported to me by one of the officers. I did not hear it myself. As 
reported to me, Adam Beck used these ,Yords, " Adam Beck no good. I lie." 
After that we proceeded in a boat to examine cairns about two miles ofr~ in 
another position. That was examined, and there we found a counterpart of the 
paper that we found in the first cairn. There then remained the third cairn to 
be examined, near the graves of the" North Star" people. Captain Oml1lanney 
and myself went, but Adam Beck wandered away, I imagined under the 
influence of shame. The third cairn cont.ained a statement to the sallle effect 
as discovered in the two first. It was to mark the spot where the poor men of 
the" North Star" crew had been buried. Adam Beek would not come down to 
the boat, and we had to go off to the steamer without him. I was a little 
uneasy about him, not knowing what he might do under the influence of shame, 
as I fancied; but as I knew that the" Intrepid" would have to stop there two or 
three hours, to lodge particulars of our visit, I did not ask for a boat to be se~lt 
for him; it was not necessary, for he came on board two or three hours after 111 

the boat sent to lodge the Intrepid's papers and rebuild the cairn. I had 
then come to the conclusion that this story of Adam Beck's was a fabrication, 
and I said so in the presence of Sir John Ross and Captain Oml1lanney. That, 
however, was merely an opinion I had formed. '" e then rejoined the" Felix," ~nd 
Captain Ommanney was kind enough to tow us round the north end o~ th~ Ice. 
As soon as we got to the north.west end, and the west land appeared 111 SIght, 
a fi'esh breeze sprung up, and Captain Ommanney cast us ofr·. 

613. Chairman.-Are you aware that Adam Beck has since made a depo-
sition whieh has been sent to Copenhagen to be translated? 

Commander Pldllips.-Yes, I know that to be the case. 
614. Chairman.-That is all you know on the subject? 
Commander Phitlips.-Yes. 
615. Cltai1'1nan.-Did you yourself examine the barrier of ice in Wellington 

Strait? 
Commande1' Philtips.-We were not high enough up in the" J"elix." 
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616. Chairman.-Y ou did not go there in the course of your land journey? 
Commander Phillips.-No; not further than Cape Hotham. 

617. Chairman.-You saw the ice when you crossed Wellington Strait in 
1851, did you not? . 

Commander Phillips.-We saw the Ice when we came round .Cape Hotham ill 
tow of Captain Austin. Our course then lay towards Cap~ RIley, and led us 
into open water. We were not near enough to form any Judgment upon the 
subject of barrier ice. 

618. Sir E. Pan:y.--At the present moment, what is your impression as to 
the truth of Adam Beck's report? 

Cammander PMllips.-I think it is a fabrication of Adam Beck's. 

619. ,Sir E. Pan:y.-Do you know the stor,y of that piece ?f wood (adverting 
to a piece of wood produced before the CommIttee on a prevIOUS day) ? 

CommrlJull'j" Phillips.-That piece of wood was brought on boa!'d th~ "Felix" 
on the 7th or 8th of September 1850. Adam Beck had got a lIttle tIpSY, and 
had run away from the vessel in the morning, just as she was getting ready 
to start, because he said if we went any further we should not come back. 
He was evidently much frightened. The vessel had to be made fast. We tried 
to catch him, but could not. He came on board in the evening, and a couple 
of days afterwards I was told he brought this piece of wood on board. 

(;2(). Ch(finJl([J/.-We should tell you that Sir John Ross has said that he 
saw Adam Beck from the" Felix" with the wood upon his shoulder? 

Commander Phillips.-I heard some one say that he had got a piece of wood on 
his shouldcr. I was below at tea when he brought it, and I did not see him. 

621. Sir G. Back.-Do you know anything about the piece of tin said to 
havc been found in that wood? 

COIIIIll(llldl'r PhilhjJs.-I was sent to look for it a few weeks ago. On the 12th 
of August 1851, after we had been cast off by Captain Austin, the "Felix"made 
a visit to the land icc of Beechey Island within a mile of Franklin's Grave­
yard. Sir John Ross desired me to go with Mr. Abernethy,-the surgeon of 
the" Felix," two of the seamen, and Adam Beck, who was to show us the place 
where he had found this piece of wood, and where Adam Beck told us he had 
thrown a piece of tin away in 1850. We were accompanied by Adam Beck to 
a hcight of SeYCll or eight or nine hundred feet, I think, of almost precipitous 
cliffs, overlooking the entrance to the bay in which no doubt the" Erebus" and 
" Terror" wintered in 1845. Adam Beck told us this was the spot, and we 
~earched very carefully in every direction from the precipice, I may call it, 
fully 100 feet backwards and forwards in each direction. 

622. Sir G. Back.-W as there any snow on the ground at that time? 
Commander .Phillips.-No sno!". It was loose shingle and slate sandston~. 

The Rpot on ,,·hICh Adam Beck SaId the post had been set did certainly look as if 
a number of slates had been collected to form a mound in which to insert the 
post. That was, all the evid~n.ce that I could gather there that a post ~ad 
been. set up. "e sc:-trched dIligent! y for papers, and for the piece of tin whIch 
he saId he had thrown away. 'Ve found nothing whatever and we returned on 
board again. ' 

623. Sir G. Ba?~.-Did Ada?l Beck notice any writing upon the tin? 
Com.mande/' Plulbps.- Yes; It had upon it the words, September 1846, 

accordmg to Adam Beck. 

6:24. Chairman.-And he can read and write? 
Commander Phillips.-Oh yes; Esquimaux, or what he calls Esquimaux. 

625. C/tairmall._ You are aware that there are letters cut upon this wood? 
Could Adam Beck have cut them? 

Commander Phillips.-Adam Beck is quite capable of cutting those letters 
on wood. 

626. Sir E. Parry.-W as Adam Beck in the habit of getting drunk? 
COl/lllwnder Phittips.-Whenever he could. 
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. 627. Sit· E. Pan:y.-Do you happen to know whether he was tipsy at the 
tIme he made the report respecting the crews of two ships in the north-east 
part of Baffin's Bay;-

Commander Phillips. -Certainly not. 

628. Sir E. Parry.-Do you think the fact of his getting drunk would 
throw discredit upon his statement? 

Commander Phillips.-No. I think fear of being led by the voyage into 
danger induced him to fabricate this story. 

629. Sir E. Pa~T!!.-You mean. ex.tending the len'gth of your voyage? 
Commander Pltzlltps.-Yes; .thmkmg that we were going too far, and that 

we should never come back agam. 

630. Sir G. Back.-Have you been employed in the Polar regions before you 
accompanied Sir John Ro~s ? 

Commander Phillips.-Not in the North Polar, but in the Antarctic regions. 

631. Sir G. Back.-Then you have had experience amongst ice before? 
Commandet· Phillips.- Yes; for four years. 

632. Chairman.-Did you ever hear that Captain Penny had urged 
Captain Austin to persevere in his endeavour to search the Wellington Strait 
in 1851, with a view to find traces, if possible, of Sir John Franklin? 

Commander Phillips.-No. 

633. Chairman.-Do you think you should have known if Captain Pennv 
had so urged Captain Austin? " 

Commander Phill£ps.-Y es; Captain Austin was very communicative to me. 

634. Chairman.-Then you are sure that no such idea was prevalent in the 
part of the expedition in which you were? 

Commandet· Phillips.-That Captain Penny had applied to Captain Austin to 
prosecute the search? That is the question, I believe. If such had been the 
case it would have been known to me, certainly. Captain Austin would have 
told me, for he had often told me previously that he could not decide upon 
anything with reference to his squadron until Captain Penny reported his 
opinions to him. It was a great source of anxiety among the officers, what 
were the Captain's opinions, and the exclamation was fi'equently made, " I wish 
Captain Penny was in;" for on his report appeared to hang the question, 
whether they were to stop out another winter or not. It was discussed as a 
very probable circumstance that the " Assistance" and her tender would go 
home, and that Captain Austin and his tender would remain out. 

635. Chait·man.-Did you see Captain Penny after he returned from his last 
expedition? 

Commander Phillips.-Yes. I went out to welcome him in. I had come to 
the conclusion that it was not my place to ask questions. I said, " There are no 
traces, I suppose," and that" you are all well." He had walked forty or fifty 
miles that day, and I thought it would be out of place to trouble him. 

636. Chairrnan.-At any subsequent period did you understand that it \Vas 
Captain Penny's intention to urge Captain Austin to prosecute the search in 
Wellington Strait? 

Commander Phillips.-Subsequent to the 25th of July 1851, I recollect Cap­
tain Penny said to me, as he was going up the ladder, " I shall ask Captain Austin 
to put a steamer under my orders," or words to that effect. I made no 
observation, because I knew there would be technical difficulties in the way, and 
I felt sure that if steam was wanted it would be sent. 

637. Chairman.-Is that all you know upon the subject? 
Commander Phillips.-That is all I know about the steamer. 

638. Chairman.-This transpired after Captain Penny's return ? 
Commander Phillips.-Yes; two or three days. 
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639. Admiral Fansltawe.-What are we to understand by technical diffi­
culties? 

Commander Phillips.-I mean that we could not put a naval officer in com-
mission under Captain Penny. 

640. Admiral Fanshawe.-It was not in reference to the steam? 
Commander Phil/ips.-Oh no. 
64 t. Admiral Fanshawe.- You were present on some of the occasions when 

search was made in the winter quarters of Beechey Island and Cape Riley? 
Commandem Phillips.-The winter quarters in Beechey Island, but not in 

Cape Riley. 
642. Ar/mira! Fansltawe.-Do you consider that the search for records con­

nected with the" Erebus " and" Terror" was so complete that there was no 
probability of any, if left by those. ships,. being overlooked and left behind? 

Commr/lld('}' Phillips.- I am qUIte satIsfied of that. 
643. Admiral Fanslwwe.-Did you make your search with the same object 

at any other places you "isited ':'ith the '.' Felix ?" . 
Commandel' PhilltjJs.-Yes; m the neIghbourhood of the wmter quarters I 

went over myself. Whenever we walked or travelled it was always with eyes 
on the ground. We stopped nowhere else, except at Barlow Inlet. 

644. ,Sir G. Back.-Will you point out how far you went on Cornwallis 
Island itself? 

COJll1Jwndcr PhilbjJs.-i5 degrees 29 minutes was the farthest I went. 

64;'5. Sir G. Bacle-Did you see open water? 
Commandcr Phil1'lis.-'Y.o. 
646. Sir G. B((c1c.-Did you meet any animals in your way? 
COJl/))l((ndcr Phillips.-Two deer. 
647. Sir G. Back.-If you had been distressed for food, could you have 

supplied yourself and party with your guns? 
Commandcr Philltps.-Not during the first eighteen days of our travelling; 

after the 3d of June we might possibly have got a few birds. 

648. Admirnl Frlllslw1(·e.-Having been second in command under Sir John 
Ross, did you form any opinion of the course Sir John Franklin took after 
leaving his winter quarters at Beechey Island? 

COJllmandcr Philli]!s.-I must confess that the opinion I have arrived at hardly 
satisfies myself, but I think Sir John Franklin and his crew perished on their 
way home. I will gin> my reasons for this conclusion: I think that no prudent 
man who had spent a winter in Barrow's Straits would attempt this unknown 
passage to Bhering Straits-the passage by the Wellington Strait to Bhering 
Straits-with two years provisions, some of them probably suspicious as to 
quality, and huying experienced his full average of mortality,-three deaths out 
of 138. Under these circumstances, I think he would not have taken this 
passage without depositing documents in a conspicuous place to say where 
supplies and support might be passed on to him. And I do not think it 
q';lite agrees with the ordinary discipline of the navy that the beach of the 
wmter quarters should be left as it was. Certainly the articles left were of no 
great nIue, but a man who was to make the north-west passage would not 
have left even a smith's block. An American officer remarked to me that 
there was no sign of the people being in want who wintered there. The absence 
of any document to indicate his proceedings makes me fear that he left 
Beechey Island to come home. 

649. S{r E. Pa1'l~.-From what you saw of the harbour in Beechey Island, 
do you thmk that shIps could have been forced out of it with or by the ice? 

C.ommander Pltillips.-Not at all likely. There would be great trouble in 
gettmg out. 

650. Sir E. P~n:y.:-Fror:t what you sa,:, and from what you have heard from 
otb~rs, do you thmk It poss~ble that patties of men entirely dependent upon 
their own reso~rces could eXIst through the year by laying up in the summer 
season that whIch was .t? la~t them for the rest of the year, supposing them to 
have arms and ammumtIon ~ 

COlllmander Pltillips.-I do not think they could. I have heard Captain Penny 
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express his conviction that life could be sustained under such circumstances. I 
have often heard it, but I doubt it. Deer are difficult to take in an open 
country. In answer to the question, I must SHY I think nut. 

651. Sir E. Pa1"1:y.-Had you been in command of either of these two expedi­
tion~ t.h~t we?t out und~r Captain Austin and Captain Penny, should you have 
felt JustIfied m prosecutmg this search further in the autumn of 1851 ? 

Commander Phillips.-From what I recollect of the Admiralty orders to both 
of those. officers.' and Captain Penny's emphatic reply contained in bis letter 
to Captam Austm of the lIth August last, (I mean that in which Captain 
Penny says, ",r ellington Channel requires no further search," and that "all 
has been do~e in the power of man to accomplish,") I should say certainly not. 
I do not thmk there was any strong probability that the "Ere bus" and 
" Terror" went up the \',-ellington Channel. The piece of wood that Captain 
Penny picked up I snppose i~ accounted for now by the position into which the 
American vessels are said to have been driven. 

The evidence of this \vitness having closed, and another \Yitnc~'~ being about 
to be called,-

Captain Penll.'/ asked whether he should remain in the room while his 
officers were being examined, and \Ya~ informed by the Chairman that 
he might do exactly what he liked in the matter. The Committee 
had not the slightest wish that he should withdraw. 

Captain Penn.Y said, that, having objected to Captain Austin being prescnt 
during the examination of his officers, he thought it right to withdraw. 
He then left the room. 

Mr. GOODSIR called. 

652. Clw£rman.-I believe you were the principal medical officer on board 
the" Lady Franklin ?" 

Mr. Goodsir.-Yes, I was. 

653. Chairman.-And you commanded the exploring C'xpe(lition to the west 
side of Wellington Strait? 

Mr. Goodsir.-Yes, I did. 
6M. Clwirman.-Be good enough to give the Committee an account of 

what you know in reference to the open water-
lib'. Goodsir.-The first appearance of open water \re noticed wa~ on the 17th 

of May 1851. We were then up the eastern headland of Abandon Bay. "'e merely 
noticed the water sky then; we did not see the water itself to the C:1srern end 
of Hamilton Island. It was a heavy black sky. Un the 19th of :lray we 
found the ice very much decayed, and had great difficulty in dragging our slcdges 
over it. That was in the south channel. At the latter part of that d:ty's 
journey, where the ice was completely dpcayec1, we fonnd it full of ,cal holcs 
and saw walruses in the open \.ater. On the ~Oth we were storm-stfl::cr1. 
On the evening of the :.2lst I went with one of the men to the top of the 
eastern headland of Disappointment Bay, and then ~aw the open \yater plainly 
for the first time. There were long lanes stretching from east to ,,"CEt in the 
south channel. \Ve then proceeded to the westward, and cyery day saw more 
and more open water. When we got to the farthest west, which \ra:, ". Good­
sir's and Marshall's Farthest," marked on the chart, the water was ent~ently 
increasing. There was not much water to the north of Milne Island at that 
time, but the icc was fast decaying. That was on the 1 s1. of .J une, the ther­
mometer being at that time 45 plus. The icC' was drifting so f:tst that i\e 
thought it prudent to return on the 1st of June, having becn out "27 days. 

655. Chainnan.-Did you consider that the water "'as sufficiently open 
for navigation? 

J.lir. Goodsir.-I consider that the water was sufficiently open. It would 
have been navigable by a boat if we had. had one. I could .have examined 
Houston Stewart Island, Milne Islanu, BarIng Island, and Hanlllton Island. 

656. Clwil'man.-Did you, either in going or in returning, examine the ice in 
:Wellington Strait, properly so caUed,-the line of ice marked above and below 
III the chart ? 

Mr. Goodsir.-Yes, we did. 
T 
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657. Chnirman.-What was your opinio.n of it? . 
Mr Goodsir.-I saw no ice of the prevIOus season until 1 came to the west­

ward ·of Point Decision, between Point Decision and Point Phillips, where we 
passed over detached pieces of ice two years old. All the other was of the 
formation of 1850-1851 as far as I am able to judge; indeed I am almost 
confident of it. I may ~nention, that Peterson the interpreter held the same 
opinion, that it was the ice of one season. 

658. Captain Beechey.-From what did you form your opinion of its being 
the formation of It<50 and ISSI ? 

lJlr. Goodsir.-One who has been accustomed to see ice can easily form 
such an opinion. The ice of two years is of a peculiar wavy appearance, in 
consequence of its having been honeycombe? by the heat of the previous 
summer; the ice of one season being level on Its general surface. 

().59. Copfain Beechey.-Did you asce.rtain the thickne~s of the ice? 
ill)". Goodsir.-Yes; the average thIckness of the Ice mnst have been 

between five and six feet between Point Decision and Point Phillips. In the 
south channel it was not more than three feet thick. 

660. Captain Beechey.-Have you had much experience in polar seas? 
lJlr. Goodsir.-I have been two voyages to the Arctic regions; in the 

summer of 1849 before the last. 

661.-Captain Beechey.-Can you give us the date about which you were 
at your £'lrthest point in Victoria Channel, where Mr. Marshall made the 
observations on the tides? 

Jlr. Goodsir.-That would be on the 4th or 5th of June, north-west of 
Cape Austin. 

662. Sir G. Bac!c.-Did you see any animals? 
J.1k Goodsir.-'Ve saw upwards of twenty bears und thirty rein-deer during 

the whole journey, and some of both were shot. The first ptarmigan we saw 
was on the 1.5th of June. 

663. Sir G. Bac!c.-Any birds? 
Mr. Goodsir.-Yes; a great number of long-tailed ducks in particular, and 

of gnlls, guiIlemots, &c. 

66-1. Sir G. Back.-N ot over the ice? 
lJlr. Goodsir.-No, at the open water. 

665. Sir E. Pan:y.-Frolll what you saw, and from what you have heard 
from o.thers, do you think it possible that parties of men entirely dependent 
on theIr own resources. could exist through the year by laying up in the 
sUl11m~r s~ason t~at whIch was to las~ ~hem for the rest of the year, supposing 
them furmshed wIth arms and ammumtlOll ? 

. ~1fr. Goodsir.-They might, with difficulty, if they had plenty of ammu­
mtlOn. 

666. Sir E,. P(my.-Did :fou see much drift wood in your journey? 
l1fl'. GOOdS/f.-Not much, m consequence of its being so early in the season. 

The beaches were found to be deeply covered with snow We did find drift 
wood Oil the eastern side of Lady Hamilton Bay. We found a rough spar of 
pine without bark twelve feet long. 

667. Sir G. Back.-Much blanched ~ 
11II'. Goodsir.-Y es; very much blanched, and evidently of a great age. 

66~. Admiral Fanshazce.-. Did you at the farthest point you reached ascend 
the hIghest land of "GoodSJr's and Marshall's Farthest" as marked in the 
chart? 

Jlr. GOOdS~1·.-:-Yes; fro~ about 150 to. 180 fee~ high was the highest p~int 
we ascended ,-It was the hIghest ground III the neIghbourhood the coast belDg 
very low ;-to a low round-topped hill. ' 

669· Admiral Fanshawe.-At what distance did you see the water to the 
north-west ~ 

JIr. f!oodsir.-Not further than the north end of Milne Island. We could 
see a famt loom to the north-west after that.- . 
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670. Admiral Fanshawe.-What do you think was the exte~t of your 
vision? 

MI'. Goods£r.-From twenty-five to thirty miles. 

671. Admiral Fanslwwe.-Did you yourself distinguish the islands, Parker's 
and Barrow's Islands, marked on the chart? 

Mr. Goodsir.-No; I cannot say I did. 

672. Admiral Fanslwwe.-T:'rom your observation, did you form an oplllIOn 
that there was a free channel to the north-west? 

Mr. Goodsil'.-Yes, I did. 

673. Admiral Fanshawe.-Did you take notice of the strength of the tide in 
the south channel r 

Mr. Goo.dsir.-The only way I had of judging of the tides was, when leaving 
~ape Austill, on the 4th and 5th of J.une, by the extra rapidity with which the 
Ice flowed out of the south channel IlltO the Queen's Channel. The iee was 
going at that time at five or six miles an hour. 

674. Admiral Fanslwwe.-You found no traces of Sir John Franklin's 
expedition through aU your travels? 

MI'. Goodsir.-No. 

675. Admiral Fallslwwe.-I think you said you had entered in your 
journal the state of the temperature? 

Mr. Goodsir.-Yes. I sent my journals on that subject to Sir Edward 
Parry. 

676. Sir E. p(l1'1:lj.-Have you any reason to think the climate is better III 

the neighbourhood of the Queen's channel than at Assistance Harbour ? 
Mr. Goodsir.-No. 

677. Sir E. P01'1:y.-You landed at Beechey Island, and saw the things left 
by Sir John Franklin? 

Mr. Goodsir.-Yes. 

678. Sir E. PaT1:1/.-From what you saw, do you think the Franklin 
expedition departed hastily from that harbour? 

M1'. Goodsir.-I do not think there is any evidence of that, except the few 
things that were left behind. 

679. Sir E. Pan:y.-From what you haye ~cen of the arctic regions, do 
you believe that it was possible that a ship could han' been forced out of 
that harbour by or with the ice? 
. Mr. Goodsir.-No, I do not. 

680. Sir E. Pan:lj.-Considering all the circumstallces that haw corne to 
your knowledge, which way do you think the Franklin expedition went, on 
leaving Beechey Island? 

Mr. Goodsir.-Since the journey I made up there, I always had an idea that 
he went up Wellington Channel to the Queen's Channel. 

681. Sir E. Pan-y.-On what do you ground that opinion? 
NEr. Goodsir.-That in the summer of 1846 Sir John Franklin had found 

Wellington Channel open, and that, having gone up there, J1C :f(mnd Queen's 
Channel in the same state as we found it in 1851. At different times 
Wellington Channel has been seen,-twicc by Sir Edward Parry,--clear of 
ice, and although it was blocked with ice when we passed it ill 1850, still, as 
far as I was able to judge, when travelling over the ice of Wellington Channel 
in May 1851, I formed the idea that it had been clear of ice in the autumn 
of 1850. Taking aU these things into consideration, it is probable that Sir 
John Franklin found it clear of ice, and proceeded up in that direction. 

682. Sir E. Pa7'l:Y.-Did you make any observations for latitude yourself? 
Mr. Goodsir.-No; we had no artificial horizon with us. 

683. Sir E. Parry.-How did you determine the position of the places 
where you were? What means did you use? . 
. Mr. Goods£1·.-The position of the farthest point w,e reache~l was.l.aId down 

by that of Houston Stewart Island according to CaptaIn Penny s posltIOn. 
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fj,q_!. 8ir E. PmTIf.-How did you determine the other distances and posi. 
tions? ,rao it by" dead reckoning" ? , . 

~l1r. Goodsir.-Yes. At the end of every day s Jou~ney I consulted with 
Mr. }larshall and one or two of the seamen as to the dl~tances they thought 
they had travelled, and I generally took the mean of the dIfferent opinions. 

685. Admiral Fanslzawe.-You were at the winter quarters of Beechey 
Island? 

lill". Goodsil".-Yeo. 

686. Admiral Fanslwwe.-Do you consider the search for records at wintcr 
quarters at Beechey Island was so complete as to render it improbable that Sir 
John Franklin had left anv there? 

Jlr. Goodsir.-I think ~t improbable that Sir John Franklin could have left 
any there, because there would be no necessity for conce~ling them. So many 
people landed there that there "-~\o a great deal of confusIOll, and no method in 
the search, so that it is possible somc document might hayc been turned over, 
and thus escaped notice; but it is not yery likely. Dir~ctly it was known 
that "'e had found anythil1Q", the wholc of the (Te"-,,, Amel"lcans and our own, 
and Sir John Ross's, ,~·c.re 0~1 the spot. . I should add that Captain Austin's ships 
were 110t there at the time I am speakmg of. 

(i,qj'. Admiral FrlJlslwlcl!.-Were you present at any examination at Cape 
Riley, of the circle of stoncs ? 

]!ir. Goodsir.-"Y.o; I \Vas 110t at Capc Riley. 

G,"'"" Admiral Faltslwll:e.-Captain Pcnny, I belicvc, rcturned before you? 
Jlr. Goodsil".-Yes. 

089 .• 1dmi)'({/ Fanslwwe.-Did you cver hear of Captain Penny applying to 
Captain Au"tin for assi,tance with a steamer to proceed up the Wellington 
l'h~1lJ 11 cl 'r 

~lJr. Goodsir.-l heard of it on the 12th of August. I merely heard the 
report. 

C!)(). Admiml Fimsl/{/we.-From whom did you hear it? 
jIr. Goodsir.-It ,,-as a "ague rnmour, spreading very much amongst the 

crews of the" Lady Franklin" and the" Sophia." Captain Penny did not tell 
mc that he had made such an application. C'aptain Pcnny had frequently 
~pokcn of proposing to Captain Austin to have a steamer. 

691. Sir G. Brtcl.".-Did you hcar Captain Penny say that he must have a 
steamer? 

illr. Goodsir.-Yes; that he must proceed up Wellington Channel in a 
steamer. 

692. Clzairmail.-Did you notice the barrier of ice on your return as well as 
on your progress out? 

illr. Goodsil·.-Yes; it was decaying, and it was covered with water between 
Cape Dehaven and Barlow Inlet from six inches to a foot in depth. 

693. Sir E. Pan"!./.-W as that in consequence of the melting of the snow 
on the icc? 

;l[r. Goodsir.-Yeo. 

("illL Sir E. Pa/"l"!./.-\Vas there much snow upon it? 
.ill}". Goodsir.-Yes; and at the outlet of all the streams in the land there 

:vere large cracks. .To thc north of Depot Point we passed many cracks on the 
Ice. It was \"Cr.," dIfIic~lt to get our sledges over, the cracks being five or six 
feet broad. We could Just leap them, and get our sledges over. It extended 
to the c:\stward as far as we could see. 

695. Sir E. Parry.-That was about what season? 
Jlr. Goodsir.-It was on the 14th of June 18.51. 

696. Chairman.-Had you any further opportunity of examininO" the ice in 
that direction? 0 

Jlr. Goodsir.-The ice to the south of Barlow Inlet was not so much 
dec.ayed, and the whole way to Assistance Harbour; there was no water 
on H. 
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697. Cltr1irman.-Have you any reason for believing that during the autumn 
of 1850 Wellington Strait was clear of ice? 

M,r. Goodsir.-I say it was clear, for I have every reason to believe that aU 
the Ice. we passed over in \Vellington Channel was ice of the previous winter's 
formatIOn. 

699. Sir E. Pal'1:y.-Did you find any old Esqnimaux traces? 
.iVIr. Goodsz'1'.- Yes; a few at Abandon Bay, and even there, they were so faint 

that I was doubtful whether they were remains; they might have been formed 
by natural causes. 

700. Sir E. Pa1'J:y.-But if they were Esquimaux traces, they must have been 
very old? 

il!!l·. GoodsiJ·.-Yes; very ancient. Others were found on the south coast 
of Cornwallis Island, about Cape Hotham and Cape Martyr. 

70!. Sir E. P(J]'}:ij.-Did you leave any of your own traces as you retu1'l1ed? 
Mr. Goodsir.-Yes; at Cape Austin a large cai1'l1, and another at the farthest 

point reached ca1Ied " Goodsir's and Marshall's Point." 

702. Sir G. Bade-In your opinion was everything done that was possible 
to prosecute the search for Franklin? 

]Jfr. Goodsil'.-For that season, everything that could possibly be done, unless 
we had remained a little longer in Beechey Island. 

703. Sir G. Back.-When you say that season, did you mean 1851? 
1111'. Goodsir.-Yes. 

704. Chai1'1nan.-In what manner would you haw proposed to proceed if 
you had remained there ': 

1Ifr. Goodsir.-By endeavouring to carry out the search in Queen's Channel, 
although I do not think much good would have been done. Of course it would 
depend upon how the ice cleared out of Wellington Channel. 

705. C/z(JinJl{{ll.-You think there was a fair probability of the ice clearing 
out of Wellington Strait? 

iWr Goodsir.-From what has been seen of it on previous occasions, I think 
there was. 

706. Cltairman.-Do you think you conld have waited to see whether the 
ice would clear out of the strait without incurring the risk of passing another 
winter in that vicinity? 

JJIr. Goodsir.-We might have waited for a month longer. 

707. ClwiT1nan.-1t would appear that Captain Penny had made up his mind 
to return before he communicated with Captain Austin? 

Mr. Goodsir.-I do not know. He was not much in the habit of communi­
cating his intentions. 

708. ClwiJ'fIlan.-The day he communicated with Captain Austin (on the 
12th of August) he sailed for England, did he not. 

lvII'. Goodsir.-Y es; he sailed that very day for England. 

709. Clwil'man.-Does not that show, in your opinion, that he had made up 
his mind to return to England. ? 

Mr. Goodsil'.-Yes, I think so . 

.:'IIr. MANSON called. 

710. ClwiT1nan.-What situation did you fill ? 
Mr. Manson.-That of chief mate of the" Sophia." 

711. Sit· E. Pan:y.-And I believe you were third 111 command of the 
expedition? . 

Mr. Manson.-Yes, I was. 

712. Chail'man.-How many Arctic voyages have you made? 
M1·. Manson.-Forty-two. 1 made twenty to Greenland and twenty-two to 

Davis's Straits. 
T 3 

JlIr. Goodsir. 

3d Nov. 18.51. 

M,·. Mansol!. 



M,..Man,on. 

3d Nov. 1851. 

78 EVIDENCE TAKEN BEFORE THE COMMITTEE RESPECTING THE 

713. Chairman.-You remained in charge of the ship when the exploring 
expeditions were sent out? . " . 

111r. 111anSIJll.-Y es; 1 was lD charge of both -hIps. 

71.1. Chairman.-You made observati~ns with respect to the ice? 
illr. ~fanson.-That was under my notIce. 

715. Clwirlllan.-And you delivered in these observations? 
Jlr. J.11anson.-Yes. 

716. Clwirmrl12.-Had you any opportunity of examining the fast ice in 
Wellington Strait? 

111r. Manson.-No. 1 was not in the travelling parties; 1 was in charge of 
the ships. 

717. Chain)/rlll.-Did vou see thc ice in the Wellington Strait in the 
autumn of 1 t'!)(', when yo~ were in Beechey Island? What is your opinion of 
that ice, and how long do you think it has been there? . 

~lr. ~fanson.-I cannot with any confidence say how long It has been there. 

71S. Sir G. Back.-Not whether it was old or new ice? 
.1111'. ;11(/lIsoII.-lt might have been two years. 1 was only passing along, and 

did not observe it accurately. 

719. C'/ulirlJl(I11.-Can you giyc a decided opinion how long it was since the 
straits were opened 'r 

.111/,. ~fanson.-No; 1 cannot, positively. 

720. Clwil'lIlan.-Did Captain Penny ever consult you as to the steps he 
should take, after having discovered open water above the ice in Wellington 
Strait? 

JJfr. ~fanson.-Repeatedly. 

721. Clwirman.-What did you consider to be his opinion of the open 
water? 

Jfr. ~fanson.-Captain Penny's opinion, when he returned, was, that there 
was a probability of getting a boat into that water; that was his first 
impression. 

7'22. Chairman.-Then he did get a boat into the water? 
ilfr. Mansol1.-Yes, he did. 

723. Cltainnan.-Well, he came back after that expedition after having 
had a boat in the open water, what was your impression of the state of the 
ice, and sound altogether? 

.M/'. 11I(Il/SIJII.-As to the probability of getting up the 'Yellington Strait, 
one of the ships was to be left behind, and one was to go up the Wellington 
Strait. One ycsscl was to remain behind at some convenient poiut; 
Beechey Island, for example. Captain Penny was to proceed up the channel 
with the" Sophia," with Mr. Stewart as well as Captain Penny. 

724. Chainnrl1l.-Do you think such an opportunity offered when you were 
there? 

ill/'. JIrlllsoll.-Not that I am aware of. 

725. Clwirlllflll.-If you .had to give your advice on the subject, how much 
longer would you have remamed to see whether the channel would have cleared 
or not? 

Jlr. jl£anson.-We might have rema!ned there until the 12th of September; 
bllt I do not know. \V e were fixed In our winter quarters at that time in 
IS50. 

i26. Chairll/al1.-You might have had a reasonable expectation that you 
would have been fi'ozen up? 

N/,. Manson. - Yes; and we had to guard against it. 

727 .. Cltairman.-Do you think you might have remained a fortnight with 
safety t 

J.lJ1·. ~Ianson.-I do not know; the seasons differ so. 
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. 728. ~ir G. Back.-With your great experience of the ice, does your know­
ledge of It enable you to say whether it was likely to continue open? 

Mr .. ~anson.-I assure you the seasons differ so very much that I can give 
no posItIve answer on the subject; but I think we might have remained about 
a fortnight. 

729· Ch~iT1nan.-Had not Captain Peuny made up his mind to return to 
England without any communication with Captain Austin? 

Mr. J."}fanson.-I cannot say that. 

730. Chainnan.-On what day did you communicate with Captain Austin? 
Mr. Manson.-On the 11th of August. 

731. Chairman.-On what day did you sail for England? 
Mr. Manson.-On the 12th of August. 

732. Sir E. Pm'l:y,-Y ou have said that Captain Penny mentioned at one 
time that he would leave one ship somewhere about Beechey Island, and would 
take the other ship himself up Wellington Strait. When did he alter that 
view? 

Mr. Manson.-He never altered it, to the best of my know ledge. There was 
not an opportunity of doing so. Captain Penny's opinion was formed when 
in winter quarters; when liberated from winter quarters, if there was a pro­
bability of proceeding with one of the ships he wonld have done so. I was to 
remain behind. 

733. Sir E. P{/J'ry.-Why did he not do it ? 
1Y/r .. Manson.-Because there was not a probability of getting up. 

734. Sir E. Parry.-Do you think there was not a probability of getting up? 
Mr. Manson.-None, when we left on the 12th of August. 

735. Sir E. Pany.-How much of the navigable season was remaining 
then? 

Mr.lI1anson.-That is a quarter of the Arctic seas that I have not much 
experience of. Perhaps a fortnight would be about the time. 

736. Sir E. Pany.-Then if you had wished to get up "VeIling-ton Channel 
would you have stopped that fortnight to look at it, and to sec what chance 
there was? 

Mr. Manson.-There was a prohability, if I may usc such an expression, of 
the ships being beset. Again I do .not think t~ere was suffici:nt provisions 
in the ships to carryon another Winter. I think that Captam Penny and 
Captain Austin did well in coming home. 

737. Si1' E. Parry.-With respect to the tides which you have particularly 
observed, was there anything by which you could judge which way the flood 
tide came? 

1Y1r. Manson.-M y impression was, that, during the time of the water flowing, 
the tide went to the westward; but we were so far embayed that we could 
not positively say. 

738. Sir George Back.-Could you judge of the rise and fall ? 
Mr. J.lfanson .-Yes; the rise was about six feet two inches. 

Sir E. Parry said, Nothing could be more cre~itable. tha!l the mann~r 
in which Mr. Manson observed the tIdes, Judgmg from 111S 

journals. The manner in which he did this was highly ingenious 
and useful. 

739. Sir E. Parry.-Did you search Beechey Island? 
Mr. Manson.-No, I did not. I was in charge of the ships. 

740. Sir E. Parry.-What is your impression now, as to the probable course 
the Franklin expedition took after leaving Beechey Island? 

1Ylr. Manson.-The only impression I have is, that they have gO~le up ~he 
Wellington Channel; but really I have no verJ: ~reat reasons to assIgn for It; 
bllt that is my opinion as to the way the expedItIon went. 

. T4 
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741. Sir E. Par1'!J.-Do you think, from what you know ?fBeec~eyIsland 
and the harbour there, that ships could be ~orced o';lt bJ:' or WIth the Ic.e? 

Jlr. 1I1anson.-I had not an opportumty of Judgmg, never havmg been 
on it. 

742. ,')'ir E. PaJ'J'!J.-You think that \r ellington Channel is occasionally 
na vi aable t 

ilK . .LlirIllSOIl.-W eU, I should think so. My reason is, that the ice, as far as 
we saw, never attained to extraordinary thickness, and must disappear occasion­
ally, although perhaps not every year. 

743. , .... 'ir E. Pan:I/.-You think that occasionally it is navigable? 
jlIr. lI1ansoll.-Yes, I suppose so. 

744. ,':"'ir G. Bl/ck.-'VIl1 you state what thickness the ice was? 
l1Ir .. Ll1mlson.-Every season, in my opinion, there is about a quarter of the 

ice which attains to a thickness of fi'om five to eight feet. I mean by an extra· 
ordinary thickness, that in two or three years it would amount to a thickness of 
from 1:2 to 14 feet by accumulation. 

7 .. 1;'). Sir G. Back.-Under these circulllstances, do you consider that every­
thing was done that ,,'as possible to he done for the search of Sir John 
Franklin? 

1111'. JJlal7Son.-Y e~, there was, in my opinion, for that season, (1851,) by both 
expeditions. 

7 "G. ('/lOiJ'JII(lIl.-"'hen did yon begin making the boat sledges on board 
the" Lady Franklin " after Captain Penny's return ? 

illr. 1111/IIS011.-As soon as Captain Penny returned, it was set in agitation 
about the boat sledges. Captain Penny went over and called upon Captain 
Austin, and upon his return preparation was continued for a new sledge. The 
first preparation for the boat was meant for Ponds Bay, and when Captain 
Penny returned it was intended then for the watcr Captain Penny had 
seen. 

::\Ir. JOHN STU.-\RT called. 

74 i. Clwirlll((}l.-You were assistant surgeon and third officer on the" Lady 
Franklin," I believe? 

/Ifr. St~lrt]'t.--I acted as third mate at the request of Captain Penny. I went 
out as assIstant surgeon. 

748. Clwirman.-Had you ever been in the _"\.rctic seas before? 
Mr. /S'tul/rt.-'Y.ever before. 

7 49. Cllllirlll((}l~-SO that you cannot speak as to the age of the ice? . 
1lIr. Stllal't.-No, I cannot, any more than a person who was ont a smgle 

season. 

750. Clwir/ll([I1.-You took an exploring party by yourself? 
.111r. StU((]'t.-Yes, I did. 

7.51. (,'Iwil'll/rl!l.-How far did you I)'O? 
Jll.-. Stllart.- ':"{'. started fi'ot~l Assi~tanee Harbour, and proceeded up the 

'Velhll&t~nStraJ~ as far as Pomt Separation, crossed over a little to south­
ward of Cape Gnnnel, and then proceeded alonO' the shores of North Devon to 
Cape Hurd. 1:> 

752. Cl/flirman.-Dcscribe the appearance of the ice in \r ellington Strait? 
.111]'. Stllrtrt.-It wa~ perfectly smooth; covered with deep snow. We met at 

dIfferent parts as we crossed over what we thonaht to be old ice but they were 
detached pieces apparently left there, and the n~w ice formed ar~und them. 

753: Cltairman.-How far north and sonth did the ice extend as far as you 
could Jud.ge ? ' 

~f]'. Stll([ rt.-When we crossed there was ice in en'rv direction as far as we 
could see. That was from the 10th to the 13th of May 1851. 

754. Chairman.-State how far you went eastward? 
Mr. Stuart.-As far eastward as longitude gOo. 
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755. Cllah·mon.-And then did you return for want ofprovisiom, or because 
there were no traces, and you thought it useless to go on !' 

MI'. Stl1rtrt.-I was ordered to return on reaching that point. I found no 
traces to the north of Cape Spencer; but at Caswall's Tower there were traces 
of a party from the Franklin expedition having been there. 

750. Clwinnan.-What were those traces ~ 
l1fl'. Stuart.-The arrangement of stone usual in putting up tents, scn~rul 

tin canisters marked" Goldner", a few glass bottles, and remains of a fire. 

757. Sir G. Brtck. Did you look for any document near that spot ~ 
Mr. Stuart.-There were two cairns, but no documents. 

758. S"r G. Brtck.-And you ~aw no further traces as far as Cape Hurd? 
Mr. Stuart.-Not any. 

759. Sir G. Brtck.-In going along the coast, did ,von perceive any animals? 
Mr. Stuart.-Yes; five hares at Cape Bowden, and one hare at Cape Riley. 

760. Sir E. Pal'ry.-You found an apparC'nt encampment near Caswall's 
Towel'. 

}.1£1'. Stuart.-Yes. 

761. Sir E. PaNy.-Did you meet with any cairns of stone about there? 
J.lfl'. Stuart.-Yes; there were two near where the party was supposed to 

have encamped. 

762. Sir G. Back.-If you had not been provided with food, do you con­
sider that you could have supplied yourselves and party ,,·ith the aid of yoill' 
guns? 

Mr. Stuart.-I do not think we could. 

763. Sil' E. Pa1'1'!J.-Were you among' the purty at Beechey Island, 
searching for records? 

MI'. Stuart.-Y e~. 

764. Sir E. Pa1'1'!J.-Do you ('on~ider that the island wa,; \1 ell ',"clldlul ': 
MI'. Stllart.--Yes; thoroughly searched. 

765. Sir E. ParI'Y.-\\' ere yon on shore at Cape Riley": 
Mr. Stllart.-~ot during the autumn of 1t:;50. In the ~prillg of' I ~:jl I 

passed Cape Riley. 

766. Sir E. Pan;!.-Had you an opportunity of searching it : 
J.1fl'. Stltad.-I had, and saw a cairn that had been put up by Captain 

Ommanney, which had not been noticed by a former party ii'om the" Sophia." 

767. Sir E Pa1'1:Ij.-h there anything ehe you wi~h to state !' 
Mr. Stuart.-Not at all. . 
768. Sir E. Par1'1/.-No other information that would be of' interest? 
J.l1r. Stuart.-I think I stated I saw no animals but five hares; at Cap<: 

Ricketts, near Hadstock Bay, I saw a number of'lllollymoks. 

769. Sir E. Pa1'l'!J.-Did you see any traces of Esquimaux ~ 
Mr. StU{ll't.-There was a large Esquimaux encampment neal' Caswall 

Tower. 

770. Sir E. Parry.-Do you think it recent ~ 
Mr. StuGrt.-I should think it was not less than 100 years old. 

1\1r. HARWOOD called. 

771. Chairmon.-Y ou were the chief engineer of'the " Pioneer." 
MI'. Harwood.-Ye~. 

772. Chairman. Had you ever been in the Arctic regions before this yoyage: 
Mr. Harwood.-No. 

u 
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~: 3. Sir E. Pan:lf.-You had an opportunity of seeing the effect of steam 
power in the navigation of those seas? 

Mr. Hrt1'wood.- Yes. 

774. Sir E. Parrlf.-Do you think it was a very valuable assistance? 
Mr. Harwood.-Yes, very valuable indeed. 

775. Sir E. Pany.-Explain your oW,n experience of it. '. 
Mr. Harwood. On the 1st and 2d of September we were packed m the Ice 

for some miles, and we were two days forcing our way through. If it had been 
a sailing vessel, we could not have done it. 

776. Sir E. Pa1'Jy.-But after the young ice begins to for!ll. in cons~quence 
of the temperature falling, is steam power very valuable m prolongmg the 
season of na vigation ? 

lib'. Harwood.-W e had one trial of that kind in the autumn of last 
year. We went ronnd Griffith's Island, and the ice was ~hree quarters of a~ ilich 
thick. We forced through by steam, whereas a smllllg vessel would, III all 
probability, not ha\"e accomplished it. But it was very calm then. 

777. Sir E. Pany.-But in calm weather, when the young ice is formed, is 
steam power of great value? 

lVIr. Harwood.- Yes. 
778. Sir E. Pany.-Did you find any difficulty in respect to the ice getting 

into any of'the pipes? 
Mr. Harwood.-I found when the temperature was very low, the injection 

pipe froze so as not to be able to work. 
779. Sir E. Pa1'l:lJ.-Did it freeze when the loose ice got in? 
Mr. H'1l'/vood.-The injection pipes froze so that we could not do any gooq 

with the vessel. 

7RO. Sir E. Pa1'1y.-At what temperature do you recollect that that 
occurred? 

J.llr. Hal'wood.-2°+. It was on the 30th September when I had to get the 
steam up, to disconnect the screw, and to clear the engines and boiler from 
water. 

781. Sir E. Pa1'ry.-When that is the case, the injection pipe becomes 
useless? 

Mr. Harwood.-Yes. 
782. Sir E. Parry.-Under these circumstances it would not be safe to keep 

a steamer at sea? 
JIIlr. Hal'lvood.-We could not obtain water for the boiler. 

783. Sir E. Pan:y.-Have you .any difficulty in clearing your pipes when 
they are not quite clear? 

Mr. HlIJ'wood.-On the 26th June J got steam up to try the machinery, and 
fonnd the water between the gratings in the bottom of the ship and Kingston's 
valves had frozen, so as to prevent pushing the valves down, which I easily 
cleared; this was about six weeks before we got clear of our winter quarters. 
I found no difficulty in clearing the pipes in the spring, because in the autumn 
I ran all the water out of them. 

784. Sir E. PanY'-.Is there anything you can suggest, as to the improve­
ment of the steam machmery for the Arctic navigation? 

Mr. Hnrwood.-Nothing further than that the expansion gear might be 
~tted. It would be a great saving of fuel, which, in such a place, is of great 
Importance. 

785. Clwir1nan.-~ Then your vessels were not fitted with expansion gear? 
11lr. Harwood.-:So. 

786. ClwiJ'1nan.-Supposing the injection pipes perfect would the severity 
of the weather sometimes become so great that you wo~ld not venture your 
people on deck without danger to their lives? ' 

lIfr. Harwood.-Nothing in the temperature would be dangerous, provide~ 
the men w~~I'e well clot?ed. 1 ~ was not so cold at the ti me I spokt: of. If It 
h.ad been and a case of necessIty arose, we could have fed the pipes with bot 
~~. . -
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7.87 .. Sir G. Bnck.-What is your opinion of the size of a steamer for 
navlgatmg amongst the ice with efiect? About as large as the "Pioneer," 
or larger? 

1I1r .. Harwoo(!.-About that size. If it had more power there would be a 
great Illcrease III fuel; but if there were expansion gear it would remove the 
difficulty. 

788. Sir E. Pan:1J.-How many boilers had you? 
lIfr. Harwood.-Onlyone. 

789. Sir E. Pan:1J.-W as the screw very effective? 
1I1r. Harwood.-Yes, very good, anrl worked well. 

790. Clwirman.-Did you find that the aperture for the screw got frozen or 
choked up? . 

1I1r. H{]rwfJod.-On the 1st and 2d of September there was a great quantity 
of ice passed through with the screw, which bent the cross rods and the 
corner of the screw, but we received no further injury; I found the screw 
worked much better when the vessel was drawing more water. 

791. ,sir G. Back.-There is an impression abroad that a steamer of larger 
power would make more way ancl get on faster than the" Pioneer," taking the 
season of navigation. \Vhat is your opinion on that point? 

111,.. Harwood.--I do not think the greater power would be of much assist. 
ance. I think that the power of the vessel to run at the ice is almost 
sufficient, and is as much as a vessel can titanrl. 

792. Sir E. Pan:1J.-Had you any apparatus for lifting the screw up? 
1111'. Haru·ood.-Yes. 
793. Sir E. Pan:1J.-Had you occasion to lift it often? 
M,.. Harwood.-Yes, a great many times. 

794. Admirrtl F(II/s/imi'e.-,Vas the rudder unshipped at the same time? 
1111'. Hal'u·ood.-Yes, except when sailing. 
795. Admirrtl F(tnshame.-Did you find that the concussions the ship met 

with on striking were liable to injure the machinery? 
lIfr. Harwood.-:\o. 
796. Sh' E. Pan:Ij.-Was the machinery in good order when your ship 

returned to England? 
1111'. Harwood.-Some of the cylinder facings wanted repair, and some other 

minor repairs are required. 

797. Sir E. Pan:y.-But that might have occurred in any other service? 
1111'. Hm·wood.- Yes, certainly. 
798. Sir E. Pnn:Ij.-Then could you have remained out another season 

effecti\'ely with your steamer if it had been necessary? 
111£1'. Harwood.- Yes. 
799. Sir E. p(11"/:IJ.-What was the temperature of your engine room; when 

you got into Baffin's Bay, for instance? 
.Mr. HUl'wood.-95, 96, and 100. I have seen it at 105. 

Mr. RYDER called. 

800. Clwi1"171nn.-What vessel were you chief engineer of? 
Mr. R!Jder.-Of the" Intrepid." 
801. Cha£rman.-Did you find, when the temperature fell very much, in the 

navigation of the Arctic ren-ions that the pipes got choked up or frozen? 
1111'. R,1Ider.-Yes; one pipe particularly; the injection pipe. 

802. Clw£nnan.-And YOIl had no means of remedying that di!fi~ult.Y? . 
lIfr. R!Jder. -The remedy for the future would be to pass the ll1JectlOn pIpe 

through the boiler; but this need only be used when the temperature was 
reduced. 

803. Clwirnlan.-How much later do you think a steamer can navigate 
the Arctic seas than a sailing vessel, taking into consideration the loss of the 
temperature and the coldness of the weather? 

Mr. R!Jder.-In our own case, as far as I could see, not many days. The 
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. too thl'ck and we could not break it. If we had a powerful steamer 
Ice was, h '1' I b we might navigate two or three weeks later t an sal mg vesse s ; ut the 
increased consumption of fuel would not warrant that. 

so.!, ,~'ir E. PaJ'l:!l.-Could you have navigated longer in your own vessel 
than you did? 

JII:. J(I/dl'r.-I think not. 

,,",, );j. ,'-ir E. Prtrry.- You bad apparatus .for. lifting the screw ~ 
JII'. J~I/dl'l'.-l' es; aud were obliged to 11ft It some scores of tImes. 

806. Sir E. P{(n:Ij.-\r a~ it under the same circumstances that you lifted 
the rudder .~ 

J!I'. Il;ljder.-l'io; sometimes we lifted the screw for sailing purposes. 

~ni. ,..,'ir E. Pan'!J.-Can you suggest any improvements in the machinery? 
JJr. Ryder.-No, I tlJink not, with regard to the screw, the shaftings, and 

the steam arrangement~. 

F10S. ,1,3ir E. Pa}"ry.-\r ere the engines in good order when you came here? 
JIr. It.t/r/:'I".-Y e~. I understood that the engin~e~s' repo.rt of t~~ engines at 

Woolwich wa~, that we could have gone out agam ImmedIately If It had been 
required. 

8ug. ,..,'il' G. Jj(/(~k.-Thell your engines \yould have been effective for another 
winter "; 

JJr. l(,/dcr.-Yes; but the fud would have been insufficient. 

~ 10. At/mimi l·~lIIsl/lwl'.-Did you experience any difficulty in freeing the 
" Intrepid" from the ice at her winter quarters? What is your opinion on that 
~nhjeet, as it atrect~ a ,new steamer? 

.1[1'. ]l;1/11IT.-I am of opinion that there would be no difficulty whatever. 

~ 1 J • • 1dminti Plflls!t(J/l'e.-Did the vessel suffer? 
Jll'. Hl/I!I'I'.--}\O, not th~t I am aware of. 

81:L Sir (J Bllck.-In navigating the~e ~L'as would you prefer a larger 
~teamer than the" Intrepid ?" 

1111'. Ryder.-With a larger steamer there would be a larger consumption of 
fuel, and that is not advisable. You would not get increased speed or power 
in correspondence with the amount of fuel consumed. A heavier vessel might 
brenk through the ice, but the collision ,vith the ice would be much increased. 

~1:3. Sir J.;, PUI'I:IJ.-Did your machinery sutter in any degree by concussion 
,,·ith the icc? 

Jll'. Ryder. - One of our suspending rods of the screw frame was damaged by 
being forced upon the berg. By the concussion with the ice with the composi­
tion screw, the entering angle of one blade was slightly bent. The screw was 
replaced by the wrought iron one, coming home, through all the difficult 
passages of the ice. 

1'14. Clutil'lI/oil -Ho\\' soon could you get your screw up in an emergency? 
Jh. ~-?J!del'.-~t has. been got up il~ seven minutes, and we can get it down in 

about eIght or ~l1ne D1lt1utes. That IS the shortest time. 

131'-). Sir E. PO/'J:IJ.-Could you suggest any better mode of raising the 
screw than that which you had? . 

JIr. Ryder.-I dare ~a,v I might, upon consideration. 

The Committee then adjourned. 
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LIEUTENANT lVI'CLINTOCK, late of the " Assistance," called. Lieut. M'Clintock. 

816. Cltairman.-Were you on shore when the first traces were found of the 4th Nov. 1851. 
wintering places of the" Erebus " and" Terror" ? 

Lieutenant .:.11' Clil/tock.-No. 

817. Clwirrnan -You have no personal knowledge ofthe search? 
Lieutenant 111'Clintock.-No; I landed snbsequently at Cape Riley. 

8H~. Clwirnwll.-From what you know, do you think the search tor records 
was complete, and that there is no reason for apprehending that anything 
was overlooked or lC'ft behind? 

Lieutenant Jl' Clintock.-I think everything was quite complete. 

819· Chairman -Did you, in passing to the westward in September 18.'50, 
observe the Wellington Strait in such a manner as to be able to judge whether 
it was blocked up with ice at that time ( 

Lieutenant .Ill' Clintock.-W e paosed along the edge of the fixed ice. 

820. Chairman.-What is yean' opinion of that batTier ( Was it old ice or 
ice of the preceding year :-

Lieutenant 111' Clintnck.-It was ice of different formations, most of it was 
two or three years at the least. 

821. Clwi1'1J1Gn.-Then it had been fixed in that place two or three years? 
Lieutenant 111' Clintock.- Ye~, I think so. 

822. Clwil'1nan.-Do you consider yourself sufficiently competent to speak 
of the different sorts of icc that YOIl observed ( 

Lieutenant 111' Clintock.-I tllink so; but there is a great deal of uncertainty 
as to the age of icc, which no amount of experience can remove. 

823. Sir E. Pan:IJ.-How many voyages have you been? 
Lieuten(Jnt ;~i' Clintock.-I have been out two winters and four summers III 

the Arctic seas. 

824. Cha£rlllall. -Then it was your opinion that Wellington Strait had 
not been opened for any purposcs of l1(wigatioll during the preceding year 
1849 ? 

Lieutenant .ilf' Ctintock.-J ust so. 

825. Chair1nrtn.-Havc you allY reason to believe that it opened in 1850? 
Lieutenant M'Clintock.-I think it did open. 

826. CIUlil'man.-You think it opened completely for navigation in 1850? 
Lieutenant M'Clintock.-I cannot say to what extent, perhaps about thuty 

01' forty miles. 
U3 
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R'r C!.rril'lJ/rrll.-What I ask YOll is, whether the Wellington Strait was 
, -I· I . Id'? 

nayigable during 1850, whether the shIps COll go In. ,. 

L~'eutell(/ lit ll.}' Clintock.-Yes,frolll what. I have bee.n. told by 9aptal~ Penny. 
and fi'om what 1 have heard of' the American expedItIOns haVing drIfted up, 
I think so. 

828. Clwirman.-What did you know of' the American expeditions drifting 
up? 

Lieutenant M'Clintock.-They drifted up to 75° 25' from the published 
account. 

829. Clwir1llrrll.-Do you know from your own knowledge what progress 
t.he .,1, mericftIls made to the northward? 

Lieutenullt M'Clintock.-No, I do not. 

830. ClwirIiUln.-Can you speak of your own knowledge further about the 
nayigation of ,r ellington ~trait at that time? 

LieuteJlrrllt "l]' Clilltock.-':\.o. 

831. Cltairman.-When you returned this year, after you got out of your 
winter quarter!' what wa~ the state of Wellington Strait? 

Lil'lItl'l/l/lIt :11' Ctintock.- \r e could see no ice along the eastern shore 
norlhwards of Beechey Island. ,re could see eight or ten miles to the north 
of Beechey Island in 1851. 

832. Clwirman.-State the date of that r 
Lielltenant ill' Ctintock.-I think it was on the 13th of August 1851. 

833. Clwir1ll1/J1.-You naturally saw the west first; what was the appearance 
of t he channel on its western side? 

Lielltl'Juflli lJPClintock.-It was completely blocked with ice from Cape 
Hotham, about three quarters across the Wellington Channel. 

834. Clwirmrrn.-Then in your opinion was there any reasonable hope that 
the ,trait might have become navigable during any part of the remaining 
season for nm"igation in those seas? 

Lieutenant Jlj' Clintock.-Yes, I think so . 

. <.;:tj. Clwirlllrlll.-Do you think that if the expeditions had remained at the 
mouth of the strait about a fortnight longer, the [:1trait might have cleared 
sllfficiently to enable them to get into the open sea discMered by Captain 
PellllY? 

Li~utenrrllt M' Ctintock.-I can only say that it is probable they would. 

836. Chairil/I/JI.-Why do you think it probable? 
Lielltel/ont lJ1' Ctil/tock.-From the portion I saw clear on the 13th of 

Au~ust, and frol11 the forward state of the season in 185l. 

8.37. CIU/irmrrn.-Then with respect to the land journeys that you made 
durmg the e.lrly part of the year 1851, you are quite com"inced that you 
searched every part of the i\Idville Island, and the whole coast between your 
wintering places and Sir Edward Parry's at Winter Harbour, as well as t~e 
whol~ of the coast marked. as. searched by you on this chart. You are qUIte 
c?nnnced, that 1?Ul" exal~~natlOn was so exact in that part that no traces of 
SIr John l<ranklill s eXpe(htlOn could have been overlookccl? 
. Lieutenant M' Clinfuck.-Ye~, I am quite convinced of that. My exami~a­

tlOn ~omlllenced on Byam ;\Jartl1l Island; all that I examined confirms my behef 
that It would have been impossible that we could have passed any conspicuous 
traces of the l<'ranklin expedition. 

1)33. Chrrirmrlll.-And there was no trace of anybody havinO" been at Sir 
Edw~rd Parry's wintering place untii you arri\"ed there yourself/' 

Lieutenant ill' Clintock.-N one. 

8~9. Admiral Fanslwwe.-Did you trace any lane or lead in Wellington 
StraIt at the time you spoke of, and how far? _ 
. Lieutenant .1.ll' Clintnck.-My answer was, that t.here was no ice observed 
froI? the crow's. nest along the eastern shore; there was no obstruction to navi-
gatIon at that tIme. . 
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840. Admiral Fnnslll1we.-Did you exprf'ss to Captain Ommanney any opinion Lieut. Jlf·Clintock: 
as to the probability of the pAssage through the strait at that time? ' 

Lieutenant M' Ctintock.-No. 4th Nov. 1851. 

841. Admiral Fanslwwe.-You were In the ", Assistance" with Captain 
Ommanney? 

Lieutenant M' Clintock.-Y es; the state of the ice was reported from the 
crow's nest and entered in the ship's log. 

842. Admiral Fanshawe.-Are you giving evidence of what was reported 
from the crow's nest, or what you saw yourself? . 

Lieutenant 111' Clintock.-Wh at was reported fi'om the crow's nest. I am 
giving cviden~e fi'om the report that was communicated to me, and not from my 
own observatIOn. 

843. Admiral Fansltnwe.-Then your opinion of the ice was not from your 
own observation but from the report from the crow's nest? 

Lieutenant M' Clintock.-Y C', so far as regards the position of the ice. 

844. Admiral Fanshawe.-\Vho made the report from the crow's nest? 
Lieutenant .i.ll' Clintock.-I do not recollect; there was constantly one of the 

petty officers in the crow's nest. 

845. Admiral Fans!wwe.-W as it seen by the master or any other officers of 
the ship? 

Lieutenant ill' Clintock.-I am almost certain it was seen by Lieutenant 
Meecham, the third lieutenant of the ship. 

846. Admiml Fanshnwe.-Were you at Cape Riley also? 
Lieutenant M' Clintock.-Yes. 

847. Admiral Fanshawe.-And took part in the search there of the cairns? 
Lieutenant 11/' Clintock.-Yes. 

848. Admiral Fanshwce.-There were some stones placed in circles, I 
believe? 

Lieutenant ill' Clintock.-Yes. 

849. Admiral Fanshawe.-W as such a search made of Cape Riley as to 
convince you that 110 record was left? 

Lieutenant ill' Clintock.-Yes. 

850. Sir E. Parry.-Are you acquainted with the harbour of Beechey 
Island? 

Lieutenant M' Clintock.-N o. 

851. Sir E. Pan:y.-Do you kno,,: the form of it? 
. Lieutenant J1' Clintock.-Ye3, I tlunk I do. 

852. Sir E. Parry.-Is it your opinion that any ships could be forced out 
by or with the ice? 

Lieutenant 111' Clintock.-No. 

\ 85:t Sir E. Par~v.-When you were at Meh'il1e Island your resources 
would not permit you to g~ to .the north~vard ~f BU8hnan Cove, so that ~ou 
had not any opportunity of seemg nnythmg of the north shore of MelVIlle 
Island? 

Lieutenant 111' Clintock.-No. 
854. Sir E. Par1'!J.-What was the state of the ice between Cape Dundas 

and Banks's Land? 
Lieutenant MClintock.-1t was remarkably heavy and closely packed. 

855. Sir E. Pal'1:Y.-Was it heavier ice than, generally speaking, YOll had 
seen to the eastward? 

Lieutenant M Clintock.-Yes, much heavier. 

856. Sir E. Parry.-Was there any appearance of the probability of an 
opening in that ice ~p to the time you saw it? . . . 

Lieutenant M' Clintock.-The appearance of the Ice was s.nch as to mdlcate, 
motion at some period of the year, but there was n(~t the slIghtest appeara~ce 
of its having been navigable to the westward of MelVIlle Island. 

U4 
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857. Sir E. Pan:y.-Was that the case also to the south of where you were 
off Cape Dundas? . • 

Lieutenant )11' Clzntock.-l es; it refers to the ice between Cape Dundas 
and Banks's Land. 

858. ,,'i,. E. Parr.IJ.-Does that remark apply to the whole of the ice to the 
southward of Melville Island? 

Lieutenant 111' Clilltock.-No. 

859. Sir E. Pan:I/.-State 'Yhereabouts in your opinion it was likely to be 
nayjITable to the south of Mel vIlle Island? 

Lieutenant M' Clintock.-I think to the east of Winter Harbour. 

860. Sir E. PmTl/.-What appearances gave you reason to suppose that? 
Lieutenant M' Cl/ntock.-The much less crushed up appearance of the ice j 

and from the extensive floes there could not be so much pressure as there was 
off Cape Dundas. 

861. Sir E. Parry.-Then you. think a ship could pr?bably get to the 
southward and ,,-estward more easIly to the eastward of'Vmter Harbour than 
by going on to the west part of Meh:i1le Island? 

Lieutenrlllt M' Clintork.-Y e~. 

862. Sir E. Pnn:y.-You saw Banks's Land pretty clearly, did you not? 
Lieutenant J.l1' Clintock.-Yes. 

863. Sir E. Prt1'1:IJ.-What 80rt of land did it appear? 
Lieutenant 111' Clintock.-It was high land, similar in character to the land 

about Cape Dundas. 

864. Sir E. Parr.v.-Did you distinguish any capes? 
Lieutenant 111' Clintock.-No. 

865. Sir E. Parr.?/.-Did you see any ravines? 
Lieutenant M' Clintock.-Yes, several. 

866. Sir E. Pan:!I.-Did you see any appearance of a water sky in that 
direction anywhere to the southward and westward of Melville Island? 

Lieutenant M' Clillfock.-No. 

867. ,"ir E. Pa1'l:IJ.-What was the date a t which your best view in that 
direction was obtained? 

Lieutenant 111' Clinfock.-It ,ya~ on the 28th of May 1851. 

868. ,Sir G. Back.-Where was your position? 
Lieutenant M'Clilltock.-It was in about 740 40' latitude (to the north of 

Cape Dundas) and 1140 :2K' longitude. 

869. Sir E. Parry.-Abont what height were you above the sea? 
Lieutenant M'Clinfock.-600 or 700 feet. 

870. Sir E. POI'1:1j.-You said' your examination of the coast began at 
Byam Martin I~land ; where did you end? 

Lieutenant 111' Ctint()ck.-My examination of the coast included the south part 
of Byam Martin hland, and then from Point Griffiths the whole of the southern 
c~ast o,f :\lelvi.lIe Island to Cape Dundas! then along the west coast .into 
LIddon s Gulf mto Bushnan Cove,. from whICh I returned over land to Wmter 
Harbour, and then from Winter Harbour nearly the same course hack to the 
ship. Returning from Byam Martin Island 'I followed round the shore of 
Graham Moore Bay to Cape Cockburn, and thence alon ..... the shores to the ship 
at Griffith's Island. t> 

871. Sir E. Pon:?f.-Had you an opportunity of noticinO" the rise and fall 
of the tides in any part of your voyage? :::. 

Lieutenant ...ll'Clintock.-No, except the indica,tions along the shore . 

. R72: Sir E. Pm?:1f.-You had no opportunity of noticing from which 
dIrectIOn the flood tIde came? 

Lieutenant M'ClinIQck.-No. 
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8~3. Captain Beech~1f.-Did you make any observations on the stream Lieut. j)f'Clintoc~ 
outsIde Beechey Island? 

Lieutenant J.1£' Ctin tock.-:?\ o. 4th Nov. 1851. 

874. Captain Beeclze!J.-You do 110t know whether there was any stream 
probably? 

Lieutenant M' Clintock.-W e made no observations on it, but we could not 
help remarking that the iee set to the eastward· that was independent of the 
wind I think. ' 

. 875. Captain Beechey.-Then you are of opinion that the prevailing stream 
IS to .the southward !lnd eastward out of Wellington Strait? 

L1eutenant 111' Chntoclc.-Yes. 

876. Sir G. Back.-May I ask you whether you saw any Esquimaux 
encampments on Melville Island? 

Lieutenant J1' Clintock.-Yes, there were three or four different positions 
along the south shore. 

877. Sir G. Back.-Were they old encampments, or of recent date ~ 
Lieutenant M' Clilltock.-They were very old. 

8i8. ~'ir G. Back.-Did you see any animals on the coast, more particularly 
on MelVIlle Island? . 

Lieutenant lIf' Clilltock.-Yes. 

8i9. Sir G. Baclc.-What were they :-
Lieutenant 111' Ctintock.-I saw four bears, forty-six musk oxen, twenty 

reindeer, seventy hares, one wolf, about fifty ptarmigan, many large flocks 
of Brent geese, and many ducks in large flocks. 

880. Sir G. Brtck.-Of those ho.w many did yon kill ': 
Lieutenant M' Clintock.-Onc bear, four musk oxen, one reindeer, five 

hares, twelve ptarmigan, thirteen ducks, and one Brent goose. 

881. Sir G. Back.-Could you have killed more than that if your necessities 
had required it? 

Lientenant lI!f Ctintock.-Yes. 

882. Sir G. B((ck.-How many more do you think you could have killed; 
could you have doubled or trebled the number? 

Lie~tel1ant 1I!f Clintock -I think that nearly two thirds of the animals 
might have been killed, and a large number of ducks and geese. 

883. Sir E. Parry.-Did you notice which way the ducks and geese were 
flying? 

Lieutenant M' CHntock.-I think they generally came from the we5hvard, 
and were going to the eastward. 

884. Sir E. Parr.y.-Did you at that time form any idea of any open water 
in the direction in which they were flying? 

Lieutenant M' Cl£ntock.-No. 

885. Sir E. Pal'1:Y.-W as there any indication of open wattT to the north 
when you were upon Melville Island? 

Lieutenant il1' CHntock.-No. 

886. Sir E. Prm:1J.-From what you saw do you think it po.ssible that 
parties of men entirely dependent upon their own resources could eXIst thl'Pugh 
the year by laying up in the summer season that which was to last them 
for the rest of the year, supposing them to be well supplied with arms and 
ammunition? 

Lieldenant lIPClintock.-I think there was sufficient game for that pur­
pose, but 1 think they would be short of fuel with which to cook it. The 
scarcity of fuel would render it impossible for them to maintain themselves 
although there was plenty of game. 

887. Sir G. Back.-Did y'ou leave any notices of your travels as you 
proceeded by Cape Dundas? 

Lieutenant M' Clintock.-Yes. 
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888. Sir (7. Bock.-\Vill you state whe~e.? . . . 
Lieutellrlllt ill' Clintock.-In several positIOns; the prmclpal were III Skene 

Bay, Winter Harbour, and Bllshnan Co\'e. Also one on the western extremity 
of Melville Island reached. 

H89. ,Sir G. Back.-For that purpose, did you erect CaIrns or any con· 
spicuous objects that could be seen ~ 

Lit:utl'llItilt Jll' Clintr)('h.-Yes. 

Hgn. S'ir G. Brrck.-What were they .~ 
Lielltl'lIftnt Jll' Clilltock.-Cairns of stone. 

891. Sir G. Back.-).Iay I ask you how many days you were out on 
this journey altogether, from the time of your leaving your ship till your 
return ? 

Lieutenant ill' Clintock.-Eighty days. 

HH:2. Clwin!lftll.-Had yuu expressed any Opll1lOn~ as to the probability 
of Sir John Franklin haying pas~e(l through. the western strait, early in the 
year before the search \\".!S commencerl, or. ll1 the paper that was edited m 
the slJ.uadron at that time, the Aurora BorealiS? 

Lieutenrmt jj' Qilltoek.-Y ('~. 

893. Cltflirmrm.-Did you think at that time that Sir John Franklin had 
gone up the Wellin!!,'ton Channel? 

Lieutl'lIflllt J1' Clil1tol'I ... - Yes. 

894. C/tflirll/all.-Did the subsequent proceedings confirm you III the belief 
that that \\"as the course of Sir John Franklin's expedition? 

LieuteJlflld ill' ClillfrJl'k.-Yes. 

89.5. Clla;rll/(I7I.- \r ill you state YOlll' reasons? 
Linifenrilit .M' Clilltol'k."---Sir JoIn; Franklin probably found the ice to the 

westward fast, as we found it, and that then he retraced his steps to try Wel­
lington Channel. Secondly, that his travelling parties from Beechey Island 
would ha\'e got as far as Captain Penny's, and \\"ould have received the same 
encouragement; also from the fact of the \yorkshop on shore, they seem to 
have left rather hastily, as if a favourable opportunity had presented itself, and 
they lost no time in availing themselves of it. 

8~)6. Clrairmllll.-Tbe'(' ,vere your reasons for thinking that he had gone up 
Wellington Strait ~ 

Lieutellollt ill' Clilltod.-I think another may be added, not having found 
any record at Beechey Island. 

89i. Cllf1irmrlil.-Do 110t yon consider, on the contrary, if he had taken 
the .new channel that he would han> left at his wintering place some infor­
matIOn of the route he had taken, to guide others in the search for him? 

Lieutenant 111' Clintock.-I think not. 

898. Chair1Jla7Z.- '''hy do you think so? 
Lieutellant Jl' Clintock.-I think it was in accordance with his instructions 

that he made the second attcmpt by Wellington Channel. 

899· C/wir/J/ml.-Then if Sir John Franklin took thaedirection, can you tell 
why no .traces were found of his previous exploring parties which he had sent 
out to dIscover the channel that he afterwards took himself? 

Lielltenant Jl/, Clintock.-Some traces were found, I believe as far as Cape 
Bowen on the east side. These journeys were accomplished' when the snow 
was on the ground, and one could hardly expect to find traces of him two 
or three years after. 

gOO. Clwirman.-po .not you. think they would do as subsequent explorers 
have. done, set up caIrns m conspIcuous places? 

~7eutenc:nt .Ii' Clintock:-l hav~ no ~oubt th~y did on reaching the farthest 
pomt, as SIr James Ross dId. I thmk hIS travelhng parties put up cairns before 
they commenced the return to their ships . 

. 901. C?llflirl//aJl.-Then you think cairns would have been discovered OD 
either Side of the Queen's Channel had Captain Penny's exploring parties 
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pl'oceeclecl farther? How can you explain satisfactorily to us that Sir John Lieut. M'Clintof!k • 
. Frariklin's exploring parties sho'uld not have done the same thing as other 
explorers? 4th Nuv 1851. 

Lit1utenrwt M' Clintock.-I think they did before they commenced their 
return, but I. think t~at neit?er Captafn Penny nor 1\11'. Goodsir got as fur 
as the Franklm travellmg partIes may have attained. 

902. Clwil'man.-Then under all these circumstances you are of opinion that 
further search ought to have been made in that direction befure the return of 
the expedition to England!-

Lieutenant ilJ' Clintock.-Yes . 

. 903 Admim~ Fans"awe.-~id you ~orm th,e opinion. you have gi\'en that 
SII' John Frankl~n had ascertamed by 11IS explormg partIes the appearances of 
the sounds and Islands and open water beyond Wellington Channel which were 
seen by Captain Penny before Captain Penny's return ~ 

Lieutenant 111' Clintock.-Yes. 

904. Admiral Fllns!wwe.-That wa~ your previously formed opinion? 
Lieutenant 111' (,lilltock.- Yes. 

905. Admiral Famltawe.-Were your men much exhausted when YOIl 

returned? 
Lieutenant lJII' Clintock.-N o. 

906. Admiral Fans!wu;e.-How much longer do you imagine they could 
have sustained the same labour and privations; how much longer than the 
eighty days your were out? 

Lieutenant 111' Clilltrj(·k.-I believe that they could have gone on three or 
four weeks longer if it had been necessary to do it. 

907. Adllliml FallslwlVt1.-How long after the SUlllmer commences, do you 
think it practicable to travel over the ice by sledges !' 

Lieutenant .i.1J' Clintock.-I think travellillg becomes almost impracticable in 
that locality after the 15th of June. 

908. Captain BeeclteJJ.-Do you think you could have reached Banks\ 
Land, as marked on the chart, if you had been left to your discretion r 

Lieutenant ill' Clilltock.-Yes. 
909. Captain Beeche.y.-What distance did it appear to YOLl that Banks's 

Land was from Cape Dundas? 
. Lieutenant JJ/' Clintock.-About fifty miles. 

910. Sir E. PaT/y.-Is that about the distance that· I made it? 
Lieutenant 111' Clintock.-Yes. I consider it about finy miles. 

911. Sir E. Pa1'l:1j.-Does my idea of the distance coincide with your own? 
Lientenant M' Clintock.-Yes. 

912. Admiral Fanshawe.-Yon have stated the number of Jays you were 
out; will you state the number of miles you travelled, and the daily average? 

Lieutenant 111' Clilltoc/c,-My sledge travelled 900 statute miles; the daily 
average was twelve miles. I walked considerably more than goo miles. 

913. Admiral Frtns!tawe.-What was your longest day's journey? 
Lieutt1nant 111' Clintock.-Twenty-four statute miles. 
914. Captain Beecltey.--Could you have commenced your journey earlier 

than you did? . . 
Lieutenant M' Clintock.- Under the CIrcumstances of our eqUipment, I 

think not. 

915. Captain Beechey.-Why could you not? 
Liwtenant M' Clintock.-Because we were not prepared to meet so great a 

degree of cold. 

916. Captain Beech~Ij.-Dicl you see any land to the westward of your 
position to the west of Melville Island r 

Lieutenant M' Clintock.-Yes. 

917. Captain Beechey.-Will you state how far it appeared to you to extend? 
Lieutenant M' Clinfock.-It was land extending ti'om the north shore of 

Liddon Gulf westward to longitude 117 0 40', in northern latitude 75
0 

1 i'. 
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918. Sir E. ParJ:Ij.-Between that and Banks's Land you saw no land? 
Lielltenant ill' Clilllock.-N one. 

919. Captain Beechey.-Was the ice ill motion any time during your 
journey? 

Lil'lltownt Jl' Clii/lock.-No. 

9:2(). ~1dll/i/'ll1 Fillts!t({/re.-How many men of the sledge crews returned to 
the ship'" by the arrangements made by Captain Austin, sick or frost bitten 
during your exploration? ... 

Lieutenant lJI' Clintock.--From the diVISIOn of sledges under my orders ten 
men wcre sent back disabled by fi'ost bites, illness, nod debilitv. From my own 
party two were sent back di~ai)led by ~e\'(:rc frost bites. • 

921. CIUlirmr!Jl.-You have :-aid that you think further search ought to be 
made in the direction of Wellington Strait. Will YOll tell us in what way, had 
'you commanded the expedition, YOIl would ha\'e prosecuted that search, taking 
into consideration the quantity of provision~ you had left? 

Lil'lllt'JUIJI[ J1l' Ulilltock.-It is impossiule to say what I should have done 
had I the command of the expedition. 

9::!~. ClwiJ'lJIan.-You must take into consideration the instructions from 
thc .-\dIJliralt\', which were, that unless some traces of Sir John Franklin were 
found, to retl~rn to England at the end of the season of I i";j I ; you must take 
into consideration abo your provisions, and that you were then at the 13th of 
~ \ llgust ~ 

Liell/I'I/flilt lJl' Clintock.-I think I should have done my utmost during the 
navigable season of 1851, and that 1 should have come home in obedience to 
my orders. 

9:2:3. CllIIirll/r1il.-You are speaking of 13th August. You got out of your 
winter quartcrs as soon as you could. You were off the straits on the 13th of 
August. How would you haye proceeded, and in what direction, to make 
the further search which YOll considered necessary? 

Lieutenllnt JI' Clintock.-I ~ai(l, I think, I would hayc done my utmost during 
the mwigable season of' l,,,;) 1 hy sending one or more vessels up ". ellington 
Strait, but to return in time ,u as not to ri~k another winter, in compliance 
"'jth the Admiralty orders. 

~U-!. Cltail'/I/((II.-You mean, I apprehend, that you would have sent a 
steamer up to the open water YOIL saw off Cape Bowden? 

Lieutellant .11' Clintock.-Ye". 

0:2:). Clwil'lIl11Il.-:-Supposing the steamer had found open water? 
, Lle.utell((nt J1' Clllztock.-I would have proceeded as far as possible III that 

directIOn. 

926. C"((il'1J/ail.-Il~ that cas~, supposing that yon had found the strait open, 
you ~yould have gOl~e forward WIth the whole expedition? 

L,leutenmlt lJl' Clmtock.- I would send up one or more vessels, and if the 
~trmt had opened I would have gO.ne further, hut still bearing in mind that 
If no further traces were found It was our dut" in compliance with our 
orders, to return. • , 

9~i. Ch(fiJ'JIl((}.I.-All that, you know on the subject at present of the 
mWlgable water IS, that there IS. an open lead ten miles up. All the evidence 
'\'~' han' had ~ta~es that the ~ce across the strait extends twenty or thirty 
miles ~lP the strait, so. that, tll1s open water reported to you could not ha"e 
been more than one thll'd ot the whole barrier? 

Lielltcl/(fnt J1' Clintock.-Y cs. 

!):2~, Chairlll(Jn.-:r~en do.Jou think that it would ha\'e been prudent with 
only two .~'Car~ ~ro\,lslOns le!t to have ri,ked passing a winter in the upper 
part of thl~ ,~trmt, not knowmg where it might lead to, and having no certain 
trace,s that SIl' Joh,n. Franklin ,,:ent that way? 

LII':tl'l/lllIt ,11' C!IJ!fII/'/.-.-It 1S 'l ri,k "'hl'ch I ~'ould t t 'd Lt' , ,"" " rr 0 avO! uY re urmnO' 
hefore the wmter set Ill, but I think I't 1', onl\, a rl' ~k' h' h 't " Id I I:l 

.J ' • ' • W Ie I wou laVt' 
l;ecH nl,1" nuty to J"lm were I placed in such a position. 
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929. Clwirman.-How much more of the navigable season remained to Lieut. M'Clintock. 
you on the 13th of August? 

Lieutenant Jll' Clintock.-Three weeks. 4th ~ov. 1851. 

930. Chaimwll.-If you had ascertained, on a farther examination of the 
barrier, that it. still continued fast to the northward, how much longer would 
you have remamed off Capc Riley ~ 

Lieutenant M' Clintock.-In any delay that I might have made there I would 
have been governed by the appearance of the ice. 

931. Sir E. Pany.-What records did you find of my expedition of IH19 
and 1820? 

Lieutenant Jll' CliJlfof'i,.-The first record found was at Bushnan Cove and 
consisted of writing on parchment deposited in a tin cylinder beneath a ~airn 
of stones; the tin cylinder was very much corroded ~nd the \\'ritino' nearly 
obliterated. The next trace found of the expedition of 1819 and 1,'.;~U was a 
monument on Table Hall near the Winter Harbour, but we had not tillle to 
search for the record beneath it. The third record found was an inscription 
upon a rock at Winter Harbour, on a sandstone rock. The fourth and last 
record found was on a point south of Fife Harbour; it was a paper document 
in a sealed bottle, buried beneath a cairn of stones; it was in perfect preser­
vation; it was replaced together with thc record of the expedition of 1850 
and 185l. 

932. Sh' E. Pany.-Do you consider bottles better than tin.; for that 
purpose, from what you saw? 

Lieutenant M' Clilltul'k.-Y cs, much bettcr. 

933. Sir E. Pal"J:y.-What records did Captain Au,till leave at his winter 
quarters? 

Lieutenant jf' Clint()(-/.·.-Two monnments; one on the south point of 
Griffith's Island, the other on Cape ~Iartyr. They were built with stone from 
ten to fifteen feet in height, and in each a record \\'a~ placed. 

934. Sir E. P(lI'I~/.-Do you know whcther in bottles or cylinders? 
Lieutenant 111' Clintock.- I do not knmL 

935. S£r E. Pan:y.-You wcre with Sir Jallles Ros~ in his b,t, expedition, 
were you not? 

Lieutenrmt Jl1' Clintuck.-Yes. 

936. Sir E. Parry.- '\\"hat record did yon leave at your winter quarters at 
Port Leopold ~ . 

Lieutenant ill' Clintock.-The paper which was subsequently found, I thmk, 
by the North Star. 

937. Sir E. Pan!!.-\Vas there more than one record left there? 
Lieutenant 111' Clintock.-Not that I am aware of. 

938. Sir E. P([Try.-A~ it appears to have b~en the general prac~ice t? leave 
records at all the places wintered in by our shIps, "'hy do you thmk Su' John 
Franklin deviated fi'om that practice? 

Lieutenant 111' Clintock.--I think his deviation fi'olIl that practice was not 
intentional, but that it was overlooked in the excitement of leaving his winter 
quarters hastily. 

939. Sir E. PaT1y.-As you have said that it was not likely that ships 
could be forced out of the harbour of Beechey Island, have you formed any 
idea as to what circumstances led to so sudden a departure of Sir John 
Franklin's expedition as not to give time for leaving a record at so important a 
station as that? 

Lieutenant Jl.1' Clintock.-I suppose that a favourable opportunity presented 
itself for prosecuting his voyage which hastened his departure, and that not 
having left a record was an oversight. 

940. Sir E. Pa7'1Y.-Y Oll think then that under some such circumstances 
you might have omitted to leave the I:ecorcls therc yourselfi' 

Lieutenant liP Clintock.-Yes, I t111l1k HU. 

\' :; 
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941. (,'hn£l'lI/rJII.-Are you aware, tl~at .on the ,12th of ~ugu~t 1851, when 
the ~hips wcre C'ro~"illg the mouth of \\ elllllgt?n. Channel, Cnptam OIlJ~nanney 
went aloft himsf'lf for the purpose of a~certammg the .nature of the Ice, aDd 
that he called ~Tr. Elliott, the second lIeutenant, to WItness what he saw on 
that oC'c;;,ion ? 

Lieutenant .Jr' ('Iilltock.-I ,,'as not aware of that. 

gn. Sir E. POI'lJ/-Did you meet with any dri~t wood on yom journey? 
Lit'lltel/I/ilt .11' ('Iil/luck.-Only one small pIece III Graham Moore Bay. It 

appeared to be decayed fir. 

943. Sir G. Back.-There were no indications of its having been cut or 
charred ~ 

Lieftielllfllt ;11' Clintack.-X o. 

944. ,\'il' G. Back.-Was there any Ice blink at your extreme point of 
view westward from Cape Dundas ~ 

Liutfl'lIl/lIt J/' CIiJlfrll'k.-Y c:.;. 

945. Admim[ }'IIIS/UllI·/,.-Were you present at any interview between 
Captain _o-\.ustin and Captain Penny in 1851 ~ . . 

Lieutenant .:.11' {'Iil/tack.-No. I have not seen Captam Penny thiS year 
until to-day. 

946. ~1dllliJ'lll F'II/s!tmce.-Have you any suggestion to offer to the Com­
mittee as to any improvement in the fitting-up or equipment of sledges for 
ice tra\'elling, fi'om your experien~e? 

LieutenaJlt M' ClintuI1t.--I thmk our equipments might be considerably 
improved. 

947. ('IIIIII'IIIIIII,-Will you ~end. into the Committee any suggestions you 
nJa\ hn\'C to make on this sullject? 

lll'lill'II11 lit .1/' ('lillilick.-Yes. 

948. ChaiJ'lIllll1.-In what time could you prepare those suggestions? 
Lieutenllnt 111' Cfil/tack.-I will draw them up, and send them in on Friday. 

Mr. ABERNETHY called. 

949. CltrtiJ'IIl(IJI.-You were in Sir John Ross's expedition? 
Jfi'. A!Jl'mefhy.-Yt'~. 

9·50. Chllil'lllllil.-,rhcn you passed from Cape Hiley to the western side of 
\r ellington Strait" did. you make any observations upon the nature and quantity 
of the ice in September 1850? \r ere you near enough to make correct 
observatiom ? 

JIJ' .. 1 !Jemethy.-It came under our observation, because we were the first 
\"(,,,,,,1 that came into \"hat we call Union Bay; that was on the 27th of August 
18.50, the day on which \"e went in there. 

951. ClwiJ'lJlan.-Did. you see the ice in "'ellington Strait on that day? 
illr. AbemetliJJ.-Yes, it \"as so closely packed.. I saw Captain Penny and 

the two American, working to the northward. There was no other way for 
thel11 to go at that time. 

952. Chllirm({n-What was your opinion of the ice at that time? Were the 
straits navigable or blocked up? 

JII'. Abemethy.-Not navigable. 

953. CIII/inu(II/.-What sort of ice was it ? 
..11,.. AbeJ'netliy.-It was heavy floe ice. 

954. Cltairman.-f!id yOl~ consider from the appearance of the ice on the 
27th of August that It was lIkely to break up, and t.hat the straits would clear 
before the end. of the navigable season? 

.lIJ'. Abemethy.-":IIy opinion is, from what I know and from what I have 
heard that it did !lot break up in \rellington Channel and that Wellington 
Strait was not navigable during the year 1850. ' 
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955. Chairman.-What extent of ice north and south do you think remained 
at the conclusion of the navigable season in 1851 ? 

Mr. Abemetlz!J.-As far as I know from the report that I have had and my 
own experience I should say about twenty miles. 

9·56. Chail'man.-Did you see any open water to the northward of the icc ': 
Mr. Aberneth.y.-I did not. 

957. CllIlirlll.(III.-Do you think that, supposing the extent of ice up and 
down the straIt, from north to south, was twenty miles, anybody could have 
seen open water on the other side at a distance of twenty miles :-

.MI'. Aberneth:y.-No, I think not. I know nobody could do that. 

958. Chail'man.-For what reason ~ 
Mr. Ab.el'neth:y.-From the ship's mast-head you could not :-oee: open water 

twenty mIles. 

959. Sir G. Back.-You could :,;ce whether there was an ice or a water blink :­
Mr. Aberneth:y.-You might guess at it, but guessing is not what we \\"ant. 

960. Chnirlll(Ill.-Can you give us any further particulars of thc ;;tate of 
the ice that year before you crossed over and went into your winter quarters 
near Griffith's Island? 

~fl'. Aberneth.y.-It was a very open season, bnt \\"hell \I'e crossed '" el­
lington Strait we crossed to Cape Hotham between Griffith's Island and 
Cornwallis Island, and there wc found the ice stationary, not broken up at 
all, and we could not get any further. 

961. Chairlll(fJl.-Then you ,,'ent into your winter quarters? 
Mr. Abemeth:y.-Yes, that was the only thing wc could do. 

962. Chairman.-Can you tell when you first heard of open water being 
discovered to the north of \Yellington Strait? 

lYlr, Aberneth.y-I think it was on the 10th May that I heard open water 
was found in Wellington Strait. 

963. C/wirman.-'V'hat opinion did you form from your own experience r 
Did you think it was part of the navigable channel r 

lYlr. Aberneth,ll.-Yes, I was always of that opinion. The flood came fl'om 
the westward, behind Cornwallis Island in the South Channel, wherc~s in 
Lancaster Sound and Barrow Strait the flood comes fi-om the southward. 

964 Sir E. Pal'1:y_-How do you know the flood COll1l'~ from the \ycstward 
to the north of Cornwallis Island !' 

Mr. Abernethy.-I heard £i-om Captain Penny that the flood tide comes 
westward to the north of Cornwallis Island. I had always that opinion before 
Captain Penny told me. 

965. Chairman.-Y ou did not see the open water yourself; you know no 
more about it than you have heard? 

Mr. Aberneth:y.-No. 

966. C/wit'rnan.-And you did not make any inland journeys yourself? 
Mr. Abemelh:y.-Yes. 

967. Cltairman.-How far? 
Mr. Aberneth:y.--Forty miles, as near as I know. 

968. Chail'man.-But no journey that enablen. you to see the open water 
and to judge for yourself? 

Mr. Aberneth:y.-No. 

969. Chaimwn.-Then you do not fr~m your own pers~nal knowledge know 
anything more till you got out of your wmter quarters agam, and came back to 
the entrance of Wellington Strait? 

Mr. Aberneth:y.-Yes. 

970. Chairman.-Will you tell us what you observed? Was the ice there 
still ? 

Mr. Abernetlz:y.-The ice was there still, and if e~er Wellington Strait 
was clear of ice it was clear last season, for I saw the Ice coming down like 
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stones down a hill, and there WflS water at the back of it; that was on the 
12th of August p.;;jl. 

971. C IwiJ'/IIa 11.-Where were you at that ~im~ ? " . 
J.lfl'. ,1hr'l'l/l'flllj.-Crossing the mouth of" ellmgton Strait, wlthm sight of 

land. It WflS <quite clear; we could see from Cape Hotham to Beechey 
Island. 

972. Clwil'})IrtJ1.-What situation did you fill in the" Felix"? 
J1fI'. Aual/I'thy.-:'Jaster. 
973. Chairlllan.-Did you go up and examine the iee after you were 

cast off? You were coming across by Cape Hotham and Cape Riley, and saw 
the ice go out? 

111!'. Abemeth?/.-Yes. 

974. Clwirnlm/.-And when you got to the l'outhward, the ice was still 
coming out? 

11Ir. Abernethy.-Yes. 
97;'). Clwil'lIl(III.-And you think that if you had waited the ice would have 

clearerl out entirely? 
Mr .. 1berneth.y.-My opinion is, that the ice ,,'as breaking up at that time in 

the strait. 
976. r:/if/in}/(I!I.-How long do you think it would have taken to clear the 

strait? 
J.lfr .• 1bernetJ,.Ij.-I do not know, I think we could have found a way past 

had we wanted to go up \r ellington Strait. 

977. C/wil'lIlan.-From your knowledge of Arctic navigation do you think it 
woule! have been prudent, supposing you harl found a ,yay through the strait, to 
perse\'er<, in a search which must have involved the risk of passing a second 
winter there, ,yith, at that advanced season of the year, only two years pro­
visions 011 board? 

11/1'. AbernethJf.-I would not risk that, for a different arrangement must be 
made. Wellington Strait is a dangerous navigable passage, particularl'y to 
go to Cornwalli~ Isbnd, and the ice flowing about with the tide. It would not 
be safe for a ship to go up there. 

978. ClwiJ'lIwll.-Then you mean to say you would not ha\'e proceeded into 
Wellington Strait :-

11lr. Abemeth,Ij.-Xo, not if I had wished to keep my head; nothing could 
be done, in my opinion, farther than was done. 

979. Clwirml1l1.-Then you consider that both expeditions were justified in 
returning to England without making any further search this year? 

)lIJ'. Abemetli3f.-Certainly, I say so. 

9S(). CltaiI'JllulI.-You would not have taken up your winter quarters again? 
,111'. Abenzeflty.-No, certainly not. 
9<..;1. Sir E. P01'l:,/.-Which way do you think Sir John Franklin was likely 

to ha\'e gone? 
JJfr. Abemethy.-I really do not know how to answer that question. 1 

cannot answer it, because it is all guess work. 

982. ,Sir E. P(//'J/f.-Were you ashore at Beechey Island? 
.:.lir .. -1bcmeth.Ij.-Yes. 

983. Sir E. Parl'.I/.-Do you think it was well ~earched for documents? 
.MI'. Aberneth.~.-I s~arched it myself; I turned up every stone, and I went 

to every place With a pickaxe, and o\'erhauled it myself. 

984. Sir E. Pany.-"Tere you on shore at Cape Riley? 
MI'. ~-1bernethy.-Yes. 

985. Sir E. Pany.--Do you think it was ,,'ell examined? 
Llir. Abernethy.- Yes, I have every reason to think so. . 

.986 .. Sir .E. !rtJ'l'y.-Frolll your experience in the ice do you think that 
ships .wmter.mg III Be~ehey Islan~ could have been forced out by the ice? 

Jlf.,. :J,belnethy.-Y.o, I am. qmte sure they could not have been forced out; 
they might have been forced 111, but not out. 
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987. S~r E. Parry.-The Committee have asked you these questions because 
they consl~er you an experienced person in navigation amongst ice. State to 
the CommIttee what your experience is ? 

. Mr. Abernethy.-I was six voyages in whalers before I went out with 
SIr E. Par~y. I w.as two v?yages with him. I was only one winter with him; in 
1827 we dId not WInter. Smce that I have been four winters and five summer., 
with Sir John Ross. I was with Sir James Ross in the Antarctic regions,four 
years. I was one voyage with Sir James Ross in Barrow Straits to Port 
Leopold. Then in the" Felix;" that was another winter. 

988. Sir E. Parry.-When you returned in the" Felix ., to the east side of 
Wellington Strait in 1851 did you see any lead or lane of water upon the east 
side of the strait? 

Mr. Aberneth;y.-I do not exactly know about that, for I did not take much 
notice. I did not want to go that way. 

9~9. Admiml Fanshawe.-Do you know whether anybody in the" Felix" 
saw It? 

1l1r. Abernethy.-There was no one who had a better right to look after it 
than my.self, but I did not want to go that way, the floes were coming down. 

990. Admiral FanslulII"e.-"'hat time elapsed from your leaving Assistance 
Harbour to your reaching the winter quarters of the" Erebus" and" Terror"? 

1I1r. Abernetl~1j.-W e left winter quarters on the 12th of August, and ,ve 
went to Union Bay on the same day. We left it on the next morning at 
four o'clock. 

991. Sir G. Back.-Do you know anything about a piece of tin said to 
have been found there by Adam Beck? 

JJfr. Abernethy.-No, I did not see it, although I went there to look for it 
I went to the top of the hill to look for it. I heard there had been such a 
thing, and I went to look for it myself, but I did not see it. 

992. Sir G. Back.-Was Adam Beck a man whose word you could 
rely upon? 

Mr. Abemethy.-No, I should rather hesitate; he is not a person I would 
rely much upon. 

993. Sir E. Parry.-Why? 
Mr. Abernethy.-Because he equivocates so much; he would say one thing 

at one time, and at another time a very different thing. 

994. Sir E. Pa1'l:1j.-"Vas he a sober man r 
Mr. Abernethy.-No. 

995. Sir E. Pan:y.-Did you believe his story about the ships being lost 
up by Cape York? 

Mr. Abernethy.-No, I do not believe that exactly, but, as I said to Captain 
Austin, "it was well to look into it, as it had been reported to us." 

996. Si1' E. Pany.-Do you believe it now? 
1111'. Abernethy.-No, I do not. I never did believe it 

997. Sir E. Parry.-Do you as an experienced man in Baffin's Bay think 
that two ships could be lost upon the north-east part of it, and the vessels 
destroyed, and the crews all murdered or perished? 

Mr. Abernethy.-I think not. 

998. Sh' E. Parry.-You have known ships to be lost in Baffin's Bay? 
M1·. Abernethy.-Yes, up in Melville Bay. 

999. Sir E. Parry.-Have the crews escaped generally? 
Mr. Abernethy.-Always escaped, because as long as there are ships there 

is no danger. 
i 

1000. Sir G. Back.-As you have had a great deal of experience amongst 
ice, you will be able to answer a question I am now going to put; It has br:en 
related by good authority that in the middle passage of Baffin s .Bay, the Ice 
has been known to mn over a vessel, so that in a few minutes nothmg was seen 
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of her but the spanker boom. Do you thin~ !t P?ssible that such an event 
might have happened to both Sir John Franklm s shIps? . . 

Mr. Abernethy.-It might have ~appened. I know that Ice wIll walk over 
a ship, but to take the two at once IS not probable. 

1001. Sir G. Back.-But you know that ice will" walk over" a ship? 
.1111'. Abel'nethy.-Yes. 
1002. Sir G. Baclc.-Have you in your experience ever known such a case 

to have happened to a ship? 
Jlil'. Abernethy.-l saw a ship belonging to Aberdeen, called the "Elizabeth;" 

she was taken off by two floes of ice, the one floe ~alked up over her side, 
and the other cringed the other side, and the ship was lost, but the men were 
saved by jumping on the ice. 

1003. Chairman.-Howwere the men saved afterwards? 
Mr. Abernet!t}I.-They escaped over the ice to the next ship. 

l004. Sir G. Back.-Whereabouts was this? 
Mr. Abernethy.-I think it was in Melville Bay. 

1005. Sir G. Back.-Supposing that no ships had been near, what then 
would be your opinion as to what would have happened to the crew of the 
" Elizabeth"? 

1.111'. Abernethy.-They must have made their best way to the shore by the 
boats. The men on such occasions are always saved. 

1006. Clwinllall.-Supposing such a catastrophe to have happened to Sir 
J. Franklin's ships, if there had been no other ships near, where could the 
people have gone to? 

llJl'. Abernethy.-They must han' gone to where the natives are, and they 
are with them still if they are in existence at all. That is all they have to do. 
Some of the officers who went with Sir John Franklin know the Esquimaux; 
and I think that search should be made amongst these different tribes of 
Esquimuux on the north side of Baffin's Bay. 

1007. Chai1'1nan.-And you think that if Sir John Franklin's ships were broken 
up in Baffin's Bay, and the men are still alive, they would be found among the 
Esquimaux? 

1.111'. Abemethy.-Yes, I think so. 

1008. Sir E. Par1:y.-Have you known much of the Esquimaux in that 
part of Melville Bay? 

ill}'. AbcrJlctit!J.-Yes, I have. 

1009. S,ir E. Pany.-:-From what you know of the Esquimaux in other parts 
do you thmk they are lIkely to have murdered our people? 

J.l11'. Abe1'llethy.-.No, I. never believed anything like that; they do not 
appear to have any III feeling towards us; they are a Q.ifferent kind of people. 

LIEUTENANT SHERARD OSBORN called. 

1010. C/wirmall.-You commanded the steam tender "Pioneer"? 
Lieutenant Osborn.-Yes. 

1 0 ~ I. Chai~man.-Y ou were employed in the exploring parties to the south­
west m the sprmg under Captain Ommanney? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-Y es. 

. 1012. ClwiTman.-And you explored along the southern part land marked 
m the chart as explored by you? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-Yes, the last part of it. 

1013. C!tairman.-~o you think. t~at it was so thoroughly examined that no 
trace.s could be left behmd of the mlssmg expedition? 

Llellten(llIt Osborn.-Yes. 

10.14. Chairman.-Did you .examine the gulflaid down in the chart? 
LIeutenant Osborn.-Captam Ommanney went down and examined it. 

1015. Cha.irman.-Was that the first Arctic expedition that you had been 
connected WIth ? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-Yes. 
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1016. Chairman.-And you have' made no personal observations as to the 

ice in the Wellington £trait, either in September 1850 when you crossed it 
going to the westward, or when you returned and crossed to the eastward? 

. Lieutenant Osborn.-Nothing more than the other officers who made the 
search. 

1017. Chairman.-In 1851 did it look like old ice or new ice? 
Lieutenant Osborn.-It was decidedly fixed ice. 

10 18. Chainnan.-You think the strait had been opened the first year that 
you saw it? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-No, I did not think so. 

1019. Chairman.-When you recrossed it in the following year what was the 
state of the ice? 

Lieutenant Osbo1'n.-It was broken on the west side, from Barlow Inlet to 
Cape Hotham; there was broken or loose ice to the southward; on the east 
side water was running up towards Point Innes. 

1020. Chairman.-How far did you see? What was your range of vision? 
Lieutenant Osborn.-I went on to the crow's nest, and on a clear day we 

calculated we saw ten or twelve miles. 

1021. Chail'man.-You saw no open water over the fiud ice? 
Lieutenant Osborn.-No, nothing that I should say that looked like that. 

I saw a strong ice blink to the northward. 

1022. Chairman.-Y ou had no opportunity of ascertaining the amount of ice 
north and south of the strait at that time? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-No. I saw an ice blink to the northward, and a piece 
of loose stuff to the westward. 

1023. Chairman.-Y ou had no opportunity yourself of seeing these two 
lines of ice marked on the chart. Do you think they are accurately laid 
down? 

Lieutenant Osbo1'n.-I should think so. Of the lower one I can judge, for in 
1850 the ice was fixed at the time we crossed, but in 1851 we were not far 
enough to the northward. 

1024. Admiral Fanshawe.-How many days werc you out £I'om the ships to 
the south-west? 

Lieutenant Osbo1'n.-Fifty-eight days. 
1025. Admiral Fanshawe.-What was the total distance in miles that you 

went over? 
Lieutenant Osborn.-I think 506. 
1026. Admiml Fanshawe.-How many days were you alone after parting 

from Captain Ommanney? 
Lieutenant Osbo1'n.-From the 16th to the 25th of May. 
1027. Adrniml Fanslwwe.-From your own observation do you consider 

that there is any navigable sea in the south-west direction, along the coast 
you travelled? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-No. I never saw anything that had that appearance. 

1028. Admiral Fanshawe.-In what state did your men return to the ships 
were they much fatigued? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-On the day they returned they were much fatigued, 
otherwise they were in good health. 

1029. Admiral Fanshawe.-How much longer do you consider they might 
have undergone the same labour with the same amount of provisions? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-On the outward march we were on bare allowance, 
and on that they could not have gone on more than eight or ten days. In 
returning we were able to give our men increased allowance of food in conse­
quence of the rapid march. That improved their health considerably. 

1030. Admiral Fanshawe.-What animals did you see? 
Lieutenant Osborn.-Two foxes on the outward march, two bears on the 

homeward march, but they were close to Griffith's Island. I killed a fox. I 
think I saw 18 ptarmigan. 
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1031. Chairman.-No ducks or geese? 
Lieutenant Osborn.-Y es ; I think a couple. As we reached Griffith's Island 

the bears were passing to the north-west. 

1032. Admiral Fanshawe.-Do you think you could have travelled over 
the ice with sledges during the whole of the season? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-Not with heavy sledges. 

1033. Admiral Fanshawe.-Up to wh~t period? 
Lieutenant Osbom.-Up to the 15th of June. 

1034. Admiral Fanshawe.-State how many men of your sledge division 
were frost-bitten? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-One on my sledge, and Mr. Hamilton's sledge had two 
men slightly frost-bitten. 

1035. Admiral Fanshawe.-How many men returned to the ships sick under 
Captain Austin's arrangements? 

Lietdenant Osborn.-One man only. 

1036. Admiml Fanslunce.-Taking into consideration the provisions you 
had, could you have carried the search further to the south-west? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-No; if I had taken the same time in coming back as I 
took in going out I should have been out of provisions when I reached the 
ship. I timed myself. 

1037. Admiml Fanshawe.-Have you any suggestions to make to the 
Committee for the improvement or equipment of sledges to carry out ice­
travelling? 

1038. Chairman.-It would be more satisfactory if you were to put your 
suggestions on paper, and send them in to the Committee? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-I will do so. I will send them in on Friday. 

1039. Admiral Fanshawe.-Were you present at any interview In 1851 
between Captain Austin and Captain Penny? 

Lieutellant Osborn.-No. 

10-10. Sir G. Back.-Did you see any Esquimaux encampments in your 
journeys to the south? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-Yes; one very old one. 

1041. Sir G. Back.-How old was it? 
Lieutenant Osborn.-I cannot tell; but a great number of years. 

1042. Sir G. Back.-From your southern extremity did you see any lane 
of water or loom of land to the south-west? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-Not to the south-west; I strnck off to the west, and I 
think I saw a loom of land. It cleared up, and the loom of land disappeared, 
and I saw a distinct loom to the southward. 

10.43. Sir G. Back.-What distance do you suppose that land was off? 
LIeutenant Osborn.-I think about twenty or twenty-five miles. 

10.44. Sir G. Back.-Did it appear to be mountainous or hilly? 
Lieutenant Osborn.-It was distant so that I could not tell,-perhaps about 

300 or 400 feet. 

1045. Sir E. Parry.-W as it your impression that it was connected with 
the land on which you stood? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-Yes. 

1046. Sir E. Parry.-From your 
among the ice, are you of opinion 
navigation? 

experience of steamers in navigating 
that they are of great value in that 

.Lieutenant Osborn.-Yes, of great value. 
thmg else. 

I should be sorry to go in any-

1047. S~'r E. Parry.-Do y~:m think that the season of navigation is 
prol~nged m any degree by havmg steamers in those seas? 

Lleu.ten~nt Os~orn.-Yes; perhaps for ten or twelve days, just while the 
young Ice IS fOrIDmg. 
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1048. Sir E. Parry.-To about what temperature do you think steamers 
make the navigation practicable under those circumstances? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-To three or four degrees below zero. 

1049. Sir E. Pa1'ly.-Did you navigate in as Iowa temperature as that? 
Lieutenant Osborn.-No. 

1050. Sir E. Parry.--Then on what do you form your opinion? 
Lieutenant Osborn.-On the ease with which we navigated at a temperature 

of three above zero. 

1051. Sir E. Pa1'1y.-Were any of your pipes choked by the ice under 
these circumstances? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-W e kept a careful watch upon the injection. 

1052. Sir E. Parry.-W as the injection water never impeded coming in by 
the ice? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-It was not reported to me as having occurred. 

1053. Sir E. Pany.-Do you think that is a circumstance to be appre­
hended? 

Lieutenant Osbol"1l.-Yes. 

1054. Sir E. Parr:y.-What was the nature of the land to the south-west on 
which you went? 

Lieutenant Osbo1'12.-The low limestone began rising in th(' interior to hills, 
forming from 150 to 300 feet. 

1055. Sir E. Pal'J'y.-Was a great deal of the land over which you travelled 
there, low land? 

Lieutenant Osbo1'12.-A great deal; the beach was mostly so. 

1056. Sir E. Parry.-Did you perceive any appearance of shoals in the 
offing, by ice being pressed up upon them? 

Lieutenant Osbo1'12.-1 saw the shingle showing itself constantly between nips 
in the floe. The floe had broken, and turned up the gravel where the pressure 
had been. 

1057. Sir E. Pa1'ly.-Was that at any distance from the beach? 
Lieutenant Osborn.-The weather was usually thick. On one occasIOn I 

saw at farthest fifteen miles £1'om the beach. 

1058. Sir E. PaI'1Y.-Then you would consider that coast a very difficult 
and dangerous one? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-Yes, one decidedly to be avoided. 

1059. Sh' E. Parry.-Did you find any drift wood III the course of your 
journey? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-No; I never saw a piece. 

1060. Sir E. Par1y.-As you got to the southward did the horizontal 
magnetic needle become more sluggish? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-1t appeared to Improve as we went £1'om our longitude 
of 100 degrees. 

1061. Sir E. Parl'!J.-Was it of practical use as an instrument for taking 
bearings? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-Kater's compass was. 

1062. Sir E. Pany.-And you used it for that purpose? 
Lieutenant Osborn.-Yes. 

1063. Admiral Fanshawe.-Were you ever in a position of particular danger 
in a steamer in those seas? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-I have been in a position of difficulty. 

1064. Admiral Fanslzawe.-State when? 
Lieutenant Osborn.-Off W olst.enholme Sound. It was our intention to rejoin 

the" Resolute" and the" Assistance," and we had to pass through thirty miles 
of very heavy pack; the vessel became almost helpless, and it ~as only by 
constantly backing and proceeding that we forced our way through It. 
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1065. Sir G. Back.-In yOID' opinion do you ~hink that everything was done 
that could be done by both expe~itions for carrymg out the search? 

Lieutenant OsboT"Tl.-Yes, I thmk so. 

1066. Sir G. Back.-Do you therefore think that Captain Austin and 
Captain Penny were fully justified in coming home? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-Yes, I thought so then. 

1067. Chairman.-Were you present when the winter quarters of the 
" Erebus " and" Terror" were discovered? 

Ll'eutenant Osborn.-No, I was there after the discovery. 

1068. Chairman.-Did you go on shore at the time the search was being 
made for records? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-I visited it several times after the search had been made. 

1069. Chairman.-And you know that every possible search was made for 
anything that might have been deposited there by Sir John Franklin? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-Yes, a most careful search had apparently been made. 

1070. Sir E. Pan:y.-When you were on the spot, what was your opinion 
of the route Sir John Franklin had taken? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-My opinion was, that he had gone to Cape Walker to 
carry out his instructions, and that he returned when he found that it was 
impracticable, in order to proceed up Wellington Channel. 

1071. Sir E. Parry.-Under all the circumstances, what is yOID' impression 
on that subject now? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-My impression is; that Sir John Franklin has got to 
the north-west by Wellington Strait, or SOine other route. 

1072. S£1' E. Pa1Ty.-Do you think now that Wellington Strait was the 
most probable route he pID'sued ? 

Lieutenant Osborn.-Yes. 

LIEUTENANT J. B. CATOR called. 

1073. Chainnan.-You commanded the" Intrepid"? 
Liezdenant Cator.-Yes. -

1074. Chai1'man.-Were you present 'when the first traces of Sir John 
Franklin having wintered were discovered? 

Lieutenant Cat01·.-Yes. 

1075. Chairman.-Do you think that every search was made for records 
that might have been left there? 

Lieu,tenant Cator.-Yes. 

1076. Chairman.-As far as you know, do you think every possible search 
was made to prevent any document deposited by Sir John Franklin being left 
behind unobserved? 

Lieutenant Cator.-Not when we first found them. 

1077. Ch'!i!man.-D? you think .t~e. search subs~quently made by the officers 
of th~ expedItIons to obVIate the posslblhty of anythmg left behind was complete? 

Lzeutenant Cator.-Yes. 

1078. Chairman.:-Did you, ~n crossing the ~outh of Wellington Strait, 
make any observatIOns on the Ice? Was Wellington Strait open or closed 
at that time? 

Lieutenant Cator.-It was closed. 

1079. Chairman.-Have you been an Arctic voyage before? 
Lzeutenant Cafor.-No. 

1080. Chair;nan.:-The.n you a!e not able to give any information about 
the ll:ge of the Ice WIth WhICh WelllDgton Strait was closed? 

.Lle~t~nant Cator.~C?mpariDg it with the ice met with in Baffin's Bay I 
thmk It IS much heaVIer m Wellington Strait. ' 
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1O~1. Chair~an .. -How near to the southward extremity of the fast ice in 
Well.mgton StraIt dId you pass in September 1850? 

L~eutenant Cato1'.-W e went close along the edge. We took the only 
openmg there was. We. crossed before the other ships. We had ice on both 
sIdes, and the only opemng was from Point Innes to Barlow's Inlet. 

1082. Chairman.-And the whole way across was blocked up by ice at that 
time to the northward? 

Lieutenant Cato1'.-Yes. 

1083. Chairman.-How far do you consider you saw from the crow's nest? 
Lieutenant Cator.-I should think twenty miles at the outside. 

1084. Chairman.-Did you see any open water or any appearance of open 
water to the northward, or anything like a water sky? 

Lieutenant Cator.-No. 

1085: Chaim~an.-Did you accompany any of the exploring parties at 
the sprmg of thIS year? 

Lieutenant Cator.-No: I was employed preparing the vessel for sea, and 
was three weeks away trymg to procure fresh meat for the expedition. 

1086. Chairrnan.-On the 11th of August 1851 did you again pass the 
southern barrier of Wellington Strait? 

Lieutenant Cator.-Yes. 

1087. Chainnan.-What observations did you make as to the state of the 
ice you had left in the preceding autumn? 

Lieutenant Cato1'.-1 think the ice was of a heavier nature than in the 
previous autumn. It was more hummocky. 

1088. Chairman.-As you passed over to the eastward did you see any 
leads of water? 

Lieutenant Cator.-Up from Beechey Island, as far as I could see, there 
was towards Cape Innes. 

1089. Chainnan.-How far do you think you could see them? 
Lieutenant Cator.-About ten miles. 

1090. ChaiJ'1ll([1I.-Was that a broad or narrow channel? 
Lieutenant Cator.-It might have been four or five miles wide, without any 

apparent obstruction of the ice as far as I could see. 

1091. Chairman.-Was the ice apparently running out of the strait at 
that time? 

Lieutenant Cator.-l do not think it was. I should say it was packing up 
Wellington Strait. 

1092. Chairman.-You did not see any ice coming rapidly from Wellington 
Strait? 

Lieutenant Cator.-No. 

1093. Chainnan.-Do you recollect which way the wind was at that time? 
Lieutenant Catm'.-It was a calm in the morning, Towards one or two 

o'clock in the afternoon we got clear of the icc, and there was wind from 
the west or west-north-west, 

1094, Chairman.-How long did you remain in that neighbourhood? 
Lieutenant Cator.-We steered down Barrow Strait the same day and never 

stopped. 

1095. Chm'rman.-Are you sure that was on the 11th? 
Lieutenant Cator.-No; it was on the 12th, the day when we left" Assis-

tance Bay." . 

1096. ChaiTman.-Then on the 12th you proceeded down Barrow Strait? 
Lieutenant Cator.-Yes. 

1097. Chairman.-Did you, from a.n.y observatiol!-s of your o~ at t.he time, 
consider that there was a probabIlIty of Wellmgton StraIt openmg and 
becoming navigable during the remaining part ~f the season? 

Lieutenant Cator.-No, I imagined that the Ice was packed. 
Y4 
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1098 Clwirman.-Does that apply to t~e open channel that you had 
?'y had seen an open channel close m to the eastt(rn shore. Where seen. ou I d? 

do ou think that onen channel c ose . " 
lieutenant Cator.~ That I cannot a~swer, for I. have no Idea where It closed. 

The ice struck me as packing up Wellmgton Strait. 

1099. Chairman.-How far did you go in your attempt to procure fresh 
meat for the squadron? . . 

Lientenant Cator.-About eight miles. 

1l00. Chairman.-What animals did you see? 
Lieutenant Cator.-Loon, and duck, and dove-key. 

1l0I. Clwirman.-Any quadrupeds; musk oxen, or bearse? 
Lieutenant Cator.-No. 

1102. Sir E. Parr!/.-Anything besides birds? 
Lieutenant Cator.-No. 

1l03. Clwir}}wn.-Will you state your opinion as to steam .navigation. To 
what extent miaht you prolono· the examination of those sea with steam vessels 

l:::) L ~ 

beyond what ."ou might do with sailing vesse!s ? 
Lieutenant C(Jtor.-W e could not prolong It after the temperature fell to 3 or 

4 below zero. We tried it in reaching Cape Walker, and our injection pipes 
fi'oze then, and we ,,'ere obliged to apply hot coals out of the furnace. 

llO.!. Clwil'lilall.-And by that means could you keep the engine working? 
Lieutenrlllt C([to1'.-Yes, but not with any efficiency; for when the cinders 

became cold the water froze again. 

1105. ClwiJ'}}/{/Il.-How many days longer in September last year were 
you able to prolong the navigation with the assistance of steamers? 

Lielltellllllt C([tor.-1 should say four or five days later. 

1100. ClwiJ'II/(fJ1.-Have you any knowledge of any further circumstances 
with regard to the search for Sir John Franklin which you wish to state to the 
Committee? 

Lieutcnant Cator.-No, none. 

1107. Clwinnrlll.-Do you think that everything was done by both expedi­
tions to carry out the instruction of the Admiralty? 

Lil'lItell(mt Cator.-Yes. 

1108. Clwinuan.-And do you think anything further might have been 
done by persevering at the risk of passing another winter in Barrow's Strait? 

i:ielltellfmt .Cator.-I do not think there could, for the men were worn by 
th~lr exerti?ns in travelling in the spring. I do not think they could accom­
plIsh anythll1~ equal to the distance in the second year. Without they,could 
have got further than Cape Riley, they would have to go over nearly 300 miles 
before they found new ground beyond what Captain Penny had explored. 

1I09: Clwirm~n.-Then you do not think that anything could have bee.n 
~one With the shIps themselves if they could have got above Wellington StraIt 
mto the open water? 

Lielltenant Cator.-From all I have heard, I should say not. 

IIlO. CIl([irlll(~iI.-Were you present at the search and the examination 
that was made III consequence of a report that was received from Adam 
Beck? 

Lieutenant Cator.-No, I was not present. 

1111. . Sir E. Pany:-What was your .i~pression on the spot as to the 
cour~e SIr John FranklIll p~rsued after leavIllg Beechey Island? 

LIeutenant Cator.-My Idea was that Wellington Channel was the course he 
had taken. 

II ~2. Sir .E. Par~y.-~aving heard all the circumstances, now what is still 
your,ImpressIOn on the subJect? 

LIeutenant Cator.-I do not think he ever passed Cape Riley. 
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111.3. S£r E. Pany.-Having heard and considered all the circumstances, 
what. IS now your impression on the subject? 
. Lzeutenant Cator.-My impression is that he never passed Beechey Island 

either t.~ the ~est or north, but that he was swept away by the ice and lost in 
Barr?w s Str~lts. My reason for that is, that when we were at Beechey Island 
the Ice commg out of Wellington Strait set in round us towards Cape Riley, 
and very.nearly cut us off from the" Assistance." We had to go close in to 
the land Ice, between the drift and the land ice. 

1114. Sir G. Back.-Therefore you infer that Sir John Franklin's vessels 
have been swept away? 

Lieutenant Cator.-Yes. 

11.15. Sir G. Back.-Out of Union Bay? 
L~eutenarl;t c,atOl·.-I suppose he has been swept from his winter quarters. 

My ImpreSSIOn IS, that he has cut out to the edge of the ice, and been swept 
away by the ice coming down, and carried away to the south-east. 

1116. Admiral Fanslwwe.-Were you present at any interview between 
Captain Austin and Captain Penny? 

Lieutenant Cator.-No. 

1117. Admiral Fanslwwe.-Were you ncr in any position of danger in the 
" Intrepid ?" 

Lieutenant Cator.-On the 27th of August 1851 I was driven in contact 
with an iceberg, and was forced forty feet up against the berg; the ice ran 
under us, and forced us up with our taffrail forty feet above the edge of the 
floe, and our bow was thirty feet above. 

1118. Admiral Fansltawe,-Describe any damage the vessel sustained, and 
how she was extricated? 

Lieutenant Cat01'.-We lost our rudder, and broke our screw framing. 
We were altogether twenty-one hours in that position. The ice eased off, and 
we slipped down off the berg. We came down quite easily 

1119. Sir E. Pa1'1y.-Did the hull of the vessel sustain any damage? 
Lieutenant Cator.-I think it was strained, but it was not damaged much. 

1120. Sir E. Parr!J.-W as the steam machinery injured by it ? 
Lieutenant Cator.-No, not at all. 

1121. Admiml Fallslullce.-What was the lowest temperature that you ever 
navigated the "Intrepid" with under steam? 

Lieutenant Cator.-I think it was three or four below zero. 

1122. Admiral Fanshawe.- What was the date of that? 
L£eutenant Cator.-To the best of my recollection it was on the 12th of 

September 1850; we were navigating under steam at a temperature of three 
below zero. 

1123. S£1' G. Buck.-After Captain Penny's return fl'0111 his discovery of 
open water above the Wellington Strait do you know whether he asked 
Captain Austin for a steam vessel to pilot it up there? 

Lieutenant Cator.-No. 

1124, Sir G. Back.-You never heard? 
Lieutenant Catol'.-No. 

1125, Sir G. Back.-You have said that every thing was done by both expedi­
tions. Do you think, therefore, they were justified in coming home this season? 

Lieutenant Cator.-Yes; I think they were justified in returning. 

Mr. BRADFORD called. 

1126. Chairman.-What ship were you surgeon of in the expedition? 
Mr. Bradford.-Of the" Resolute." 

1127. Chairman.-Were you present when the winter quarters of the 
" Erebus" and " Terror" were discovered? 

Mr. Bradford.-Not when they were first discovered. I was there when the 
search was made. 
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1128. Chairmnn.-And did you think the search was so co~plete that there 
was no probability of any records being overl.ooked or left behmd ? 

Mr. Bra1ford.-I think the search was qUIte complete. 

1129. Clwirman.-Cape Riley you have no knowledge of, I believe? 
Mr. Bmdford.-No; I was not on shore there. 

1130. ClwirmaJl.-You assisted in the exploration of the coast to the west-
ward during the early part of the spring of this year? 

Nr. Bradford.-Yes. 

1131. CllIlirmnn.-Will you point out where your separate search began? 
ill)'. Bmdjord.-It began off Griffith's Point, east' coast of Melville Island. 

Then I proceeded along the east of Melville Island to the northward, reaching 
about 76° 21', north latitude. I was there stopped by the weather, heavy gales 
of ,,·ind from the northward and ,,,estward. I remained two or three days, and 
then returned southwards towards Byam Martin Island, carrying out the 
instructions I had received. Then I returned to Bathurst Land from Byam 
~Iartin hI and, went round Graham Moore Bav, exploring the npper parts of 
it, rounded Cape Cockburn, and returned al~ng the coast by Alison's Iulet, 
round by Bedford Bay up to Cape Capel, where I met Mr. M 'Clintock again. 
I then returned by ;\j r. lWClintock's route to the ship. 

II :~~. Chail'll1rtJl.-How long were you absent ~ 
.illr. Bl'llcfjord.-Eighty day~. 
II :tt C/w;rm((lI.-How muny people had yon ill or frost-bitten? 
illr. BraC!jord.-I sent no men back with frost bites, but every man in the 

tent suffered more or less from frost bites. 

113-1. CltairlJl((Il.-And you are quite convinced that the search was made 
with such care and minuteness that nothing was likely to be overlooked? 

J.lir. Bmcfjord.-Yes, I am convinced of that. As a proof, I found Lieutenant 
Aldrich's cairns on the east coast of Byam Martin Island, not having pre­
viously known that he had been there. 

1135. C!t((i)'mulI.-Have you anything further that you wish to communicate 
to the Committee with reference to the search after the missing expedition? 

.Mr. Brac!!u,.d.-No, we met with not the slightest trace. 

11:36. Clwirlll(/J/.-Do you think everything was done by the two expeditions 
to fulfil the instructions under which they were acting t 

Mr. Braqford.-I think there was a great deal of zeal and energy displayed 
in carrying out the objects they had in "icw. 

1137. Admiral Ff/J/slwll:e.-\rhat ,,,as the number of miles you travelled? 
illr. Bradjord.-6iO nautical miles. 
Il:~K. Admiml Fans/iawe.-What was your lowest temperature? 
111,.. Bradford.-39° minus mlS the lowest we registered. 
1139. Admiral Fanslimve.-·What was the 10nO"est day's journey? 
1I1r. Bm(!lord.-Fifteen or sixteen miles, runni~g under sail. 
I LlO. Admiral Fanshawe.-Were your men much exhausted on returning 

to the ship? 
)1,.. Br([(!ford.-Their feet had become swollen by being so long in the water. 
1141. Admiral Fanslwwe.-From yoUl' experience, how much longer could 

the sledge crew ha,-e continued their labour with the same amount of 
provisions? 

11Jr. Bmc!fOrd.-Xot many days more for their feet were swelling from 
walking so much in the ,mter. ' 

1142. Sir G. Btlck.-Suppose a party of men left to their own resources, 
how long could they maintain themselves t 

Mr. Brac!fo~d:-I do .not think. a party could maintain themselves at any 
place I haw VISited durmg the wmter. I saw game on Bathurst Land, round 
Graham Moore Bay, some deer, many ptarmigan, and a few hares. 

1143. Admiral Fansh~we.-What did you consider the latest period in the 
season that sledge travellmg could be safely continued? 

.11,.. Bradford.-We returned on the 4th of July, and I consider we were very 
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late. I think we might go out in many seasons, and not be able to stay 
longer than the latter end of June. 

1144. Admiral Fanshawe.-State the number of animals and birds .vou 
killed? 

Mr. Bmc[ford.-Fifteen or twenty brace of ptarmigan. I assisted in killing 
a ?ear at the west pa.rt of Graham Mo~re Bay. Melville Island is very barren 
of game. I saw nothmg there hardly; m fact I only shot one brace of ptarmigan 
along the coast. 

114~. Admiral. Fansltawe.-Can you suggest any improvements in sledge 
travellmg by eqmpments or other means? 

Ch.airm.an.-:-W~ :vill ask you to put .any suggestions you may haye to offer 
on thIS POlllt m wntlllg, and send them III on Friday? 

Mr. Brariford.-I will do so. 

1146. Chairrnan.-Were you present at any interview between Captain 
Austin and Captain Penny in the present year? 

J1r. Bradford.-I have met Captain Penny in Captain Austin's cabin bcfore 
the travelling commenced, but not since the 4th of July. 

1147. Sir E. Pan:y.-When you were at your fiuthest north on the east 
coast of Melville Island, did you see any appearancc of open water to the 
northward? ' 

Mr. Bradford.-None. 

1148. Sir E. Parry.-You saw nothing but ice? 
Mr. Braciford.-Nothing but ice. 
1149. Sir E. Pan:y.-What did yon think was the direction of the land in 

Melville Island beyond your farthest point? 
Mr. Bradford.-My view was yery limited on account of the heavy drift 

snow and gales of wind. 
1150. Sir E. Pan:y.-Do you think that Bathurst Land and ~IC'hilIc Island 

are connected? 
Mr. Bradford.-I have one reason for thinking so, the smoothness of the 

floe and the want of pressures on the north part of Byam Martin Island. 

1151. Sir E. Pany.-Had you any opportunity of noticing the rise and fall 
of the tides on your journey? 

1111'. Bradjord.-No. 
1152. Sir E. Pany.-Was the land very barrcll on Melville Island? 
Mr. Brariford.-Yes, very barren in vegetation, and deeply covered with 

snow. 
1153. Sir E. Pal"1y.-And it appeared to shelyc off~ 
M1'. Bradford.-Yes, very much. There was considerable pressure on the 

east coast of Melville Island from the eastward, but none from the northward. 
1154. Sir E. Pany.-W as the ice in the neighbourhood of Byam Martin 

Island heavy? 
lYEI'. Braijord.-Yes; the ice in the south of Byam Martin Island was very 

heavy. 
1155. Sir G. Back.-Did you see any traces of Esquimaux? 
Mr. Bradford.-None along the eastern coast of Melville Island. At the 

eastern point of Byam Martin Island there were several, and very old. 

1156. Sir E. Pa1'1:y.-Could you form any judgment as to the date? 
Mr. Brariford.-They appeared to be similar in date to those of Cornwallis 

Island. They were numerous along the coast of Cornwallis Island. 
1157. Chairrnan.-What was the state of the men when they returned to 

England? 
Mr. Brariford.-They had quite recovered, and were very healthy. 
1158. S£'I' E. Parry.-I think you lost one man. State to the Committec 

how it was? 
]}lr. Brariford.-He was frost-bitten in the feet, in c~nsequence o~ wearing 

leather boots. It was aaainst orders, and he put a paIr of felt gaIters over 
to conceal them, and made them look like winter boots. I think the American 
mocassius are the be~t things to wear in the Arctic regions. 
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11 59. The Chairman (addr~ssing Captain Penny) said,-Before you go, 
we wish to know whether you wIsh any other of your officers to be examined? 

Captain Penny.-No. 

In reply to a similar question from the Chairman, Captain Austin said he 
thought he should have to call Mr. Brooman. He and Captain Austin ~ete 
walking together when Captain Penny returned, and he could speak as to what 
transpired. 

The Committee then adjourned. 
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The Chairman spoke a~ follows:-The Committee having received and 
considered Mr. Penny's letter of this day's date, are of opinion that 
he should be informed by the Chairman, that the Committee do not 
feel themselves justified in pronouncing any opinion upon the question 
to which his letter refers; but that he is at liberty to use his own judg­
ment in bringing forward further witnesses if he thinks proper. 

The letter alluded to by the Chairman was a~ follows: 

" Sir, ·H', Strand, 5th November 1851. 
" Before I wait upon the Committee this morning, I beg permission to ask 

" if I may understand that I am not now in the wrong position in which I 
" was placed by the publication of the correspondence between Captain Austin 
" and myself, making me appear to be the cause of Captain Austin's not going 
" up Wellington Channel. 

" If this is not proved to your satisfaction, I shall beg permission to bring 
" forward witnesses in my favour, who can prove what I wish. 

" I ha\'e the honour to be, 
Sir, 

" With great respect, 
" Your obedient servant, 

" \r ~r. PEN"'Y." 

LIEUTENANT ALDRICH called, 

1160. Chai1"lIlan.-You were first lieutenant of the" Resolute," I believe ? 
Lieutenant Aldrich.-Yes. 

1161. Chai1"man.-Were you on shore, immediately after the traces of the 
missing ships on Beechey Island? 

Lieutenant Aldrich.-No. I was much engaged fbr two or three days, and 
then I was sick for about five days. 

1162. Clwirrnan.-So that you have no personal knowledge of the matter? 
Lieutenant Ald1'ich.-Nolle whatever, 

1163. Chairman.-Did you make any observations on the appearance of the 
Wellington Strait as you passed in September 1850 ? 

Lieutenant Ald1"ich.-Nothing, beyond it being very full of ice. 

1164. Chai1"man.-Did it appear completely blocked with ice!' 
Lieutenant Aldrich.-Yes, with the exception of the line east and west. 

1165. Chai1·man.-Y ou were engaged in the spring of the present year with 
an exploring party in Bathurst Land? 

Lieutenant Ald1"ich.-Yes. 
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1166. Clwirman.-Do JOu think that the par: examined by you was so 
completely searched that there was ~o chance of any records or documents 
deposited being overlooked o.r left behm~ ? 

Lieutenant Aldriclt.-I thmk so, certamly. 
1167. Chairman.-Are you quite satisfied, genera~ly speaking, that the 

whole exploration of the coast to the westward by dIfferent officers was as 
carefully and minutely made as th.at you made yourself? 

Lieutenant Aldrich.-Yes, I thmk so. I speak somewhat confidently on the 
point from what I know of those officers. 

1168. Clwirman.-Have you any personal knowledge of the report made 
by Captain Penny in 1851, of his having discovered open water at the north 
and west of the strait? 

LicutClIlwt Aldrich.-No; I was absent. I know nothing of it myself. 
1169. C"flirman.-When you got out of your winter quarters and proceeded 

to the eastward, in crossing the strait from Cape Hotham to Cape Riley, did 
you make any observations upon the ice? 

Lieutell(mt Aldrich.-Yes. I was ordered to the mast head by Captain 
A ustin and made a report in writing on the &tate of the ice. 

] 170. Clwirman.-Do you recollect on what day of the month it was? 
Lieutenant Aldriclt.-I t was on the 12th of August. We came out of th .. 

Assistance Bay on the 11th, and crossed the bay on the 12th. 

'ide p. 41. A.352. 1171. Chairman.-Y ou stated to Captain Austin then that, "in compliance 
" with his request that you should observe £I'om the crow's nest to the north· 
" ward when crossing Wellington Channel, you went aloft to examine and saw 
" large floes of ice in the channel, and that there was a continuous floe as far 
" as the eye could reach, rendering it perfectly unnavigable, and likely to con· 
" tinue so some weeks to come?" 

Lieutenant Aldric/l.-I must remark that at half past four o'clock that after. 
noon there was a very great deal of open water to the east side of the strait j 
but of course, as I was not called upon to give my observations then, I did not 
give them. 

1172. Clwinnan.-Did you consider, at that time, that there was any 
probability of the strait clearing? 

Lil'utellllllt Aldrich.-Yes, I think so. 
1173. Cha£l'1nan.-W as the open water to the eastward of Wellington 

Strait? 
Lieutenant Aldrich.-Yes. 
1174. Clwinnall.-Will yon state how far you saw the open water towards 

Point Innes? 
Lieutcnal/t Aldrich.-Ten or twelve miles. 
~.1?5. Chairman.-I suppose what happened was, that as you changed your 

posltlOn, and got further to the eastward, you got a view of open water which 
had ?een previously concealed from you? 

Lleutenant Aldric/I.-By the ice or by reflection. I could not see any water 
at half past one o'clock, but at four o'clock, from the change of position I could 
see but very little ice. ' 

1176. Clwirman.-How far did the water extend? 
LicuteJllmt Aldricft.-There appeared to be open water from Beechey Island 

to Cape Bowden. 

1177. Chairman.-What is your experience in polar navigation? Have 
you been more than olle voyage? 

Lieutenant Aldrich.-None previous to this. 

1178. ClwiJ"l}!an.-l!ave y~)U an,)' knowledge of a communication from Captain 
Penny to Captam Au:stm askmg hun for a steamer to go up Wellington Strait? 

Lieutenant Aldrich.-Nothing, beyond hearing that he had asked. 
1179. Chairman.-From whom did YOU hear that? 
Lieutel/l~lIt Aldrich.-It w~s the subject of conve~sation amongst ourselves, 

that Captam Penny had applIed for a steamer. 

11.80. Cltairman:-Did you speak to Captain Penny on the subject i 
. Lieutenant Aldr~ch.-Yes; we had a long conversation. I said that I thought 
It would be very Important to employ the rest of the seawn in steaming up 
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'Yellington Channel, not with the view of remaining; but because he expressed 
himself very sorry that he was not able to get further than he did. He said he 
should ask for a stealll~. I have only reason to believe that he a8ked £i'om 
hearing people say that he did; I was not present at any communication that 
took place between Captain Penny and Captain Austin on that subject, nor on 
any other. 

1181. Chairman.-Were you at Captain Penny's winter quarters after he 
had discovered the open water in Wellington Strait? 

Lieutenant Aldrich.-Yes. 

1182. Chairman.-And what was the result of your conversation, as far as 
Sir John Franklin was concerned? 

Lieutenant Aldrich.-Captain Penny said he believed that Sir John Franklin's 
expedition had gone away in open water, and that it was now beyond our 
reach from this side. 

1183. Clwil'1nan.-How did he describe the water to you that he had dis­
covered? Did he say that it was navigable? 

Lieutenant Aldriclt.-There appeared to be great difficulties for ships and 
boats, from what Captain Penny said. He went round Baillie Hamilton and 
Deans Dundas Islands. On one side or the other the ice blocked up the naviga­
tion of these islands, and he stated that the currents were so swift that a boat 
could not possibly pull against it. 

1184. Clwirman.-What impression did that make upon your mind? 
Lieutenant Aldriclt.- -That there was a yast difficulty in navigating it, and 

that the only hope was of a steamer penetrating further than he did himself, and 
I often said to him that I thought it would be very desirable that a steamer 
should go up. 

ll85. Clwi1'1nan.-Did you consider yourself that if you had rcmained a 
further time to watch the opening of the Wellington Strait, you could have done 
so without endangering your return to England before the setting in of winter? 

Lieutenant Aldrich.-I do. 

1186. Chainnan.-How long do you think you could have remained off 
Cape Riley without endangering the ships? 

Lieztlenant Aldl'iclt.-With safety a week or ten days; but that would han' 
shortened the time for going up Wellington Strait in order to ensure the return. 

1187. Clwinnan.-What would have been the danger if you had gone up '( 
Lieutenant Aldrich.-The danger would have been in getting through those 

islands, and the risk of being blocked up on our return; the ice might have 
completely filled up the passage against our return. I do not apprehend that 
there would be any freezing in until about the first ten days in September. 

ll88.· Clwi1'1nol1.-Suppose you had succeeded in 185l in getting up into 
the open water discovered by Captain Penny,. as f.'lr as C:ape Sir John Frankl.in; 
do you think there would have been conSIderable nsk of your not gettmg 
back this year? 

Lieutenant Aldrich.-V cry considerable risk. 

1189. Cltairman.-Why? 
Lieutenant Ald1·ich.-From the circumstance of the ice blocking up the 

passages of those islands. 

1190. Chairmon.-And you would have been left there during the ,vhole 
winter, encountering the greatest difficulty in obtaining provisions? 

Lieutenant Aldrich.-"'Xot if the steamers had been previously provisioned, 
as we were in Baffin's Bay, for the purpose. 

1191. Chairman.-What quantity of provisions would your steamers have 
carried? 

Lieutenant Aldrich.-Nine months. 
1192. Admi1'('[ Fanshawe.-Did you report the open water on the east ~ide 

of Wellington Strait to Captain Austin, or make any statement to Mr. Allen, 
the master? 

Lieutenant Aldrich.-I made no official report, because I was not ordered to 
do so. 
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1193. Admiml Fanshawe.-I ~bs,~rved ~n the journals that you were a long 
time on board the "Lady Franklm at wmter quarters, £i'om the !i!4th of July 
to the lith of AuO'ust, what was the object? 

1 ieutenant Ald~iclz.--':""'I went to visit Captain Penny's vessels, and I was 
unable to get back on account of the breaking up of the ice, and the thaw 
having filled the gullies with torr.ents of ~·ater. C~ptain. Pen?y could ~ot 
spare me a boat for the purpose, belllg occupIed preparmg hIs shIps for movmg 
and cutting out. 

1194 .. Adll/iral Fanshawe.-Was that the time you had a conversation with 
Captain Penny as to the steamer? 

Lieutenant Aldriclt.-Yes. 
1195. Sir E. Parry.-In your sledge journeys did you see any open water 

anywhere? T •• 

LieuteJl(lIlt Aldrich.-~one; not a partIcle tIll I returned. 

1196. Sir E. Pan:IJ.-Did you see any water sky r 
Lieutenant Aldrich.-No. 

1197. Sir E. Pa1'1:y.-Could you, if you had time, suggest any improvement 
in such travelling parties r 

Lieutenant Aldl'ich.-I have often thought of it, and I have made a report on 
the subject. I do not think I could add anything to what I haye stated in my 
report. I think there was a great shortness of grog, and spirits of wine. 

1198. Clwimwn.-What the Committee wish is this, that you would be good 
enough to put on paper, for the future guidance of officers similarly situated, 
any observations that may occur to you for the improvement and equipment of 
parties for polar expeditions of this sort. 

Lieutenant Aldl'iclt.-To each of my reports there is appended, by Captain 
Austin's desire, my opinions a" to equipments. If I were to consider for 
months I should have nothing to add to the reports I have already made, and 
our health and strength after sixty-two days I consider the best proof. 

1199. Clwi/'})/(/J/.-As you think you could not suggest anything further, 
Captain Austin will be good enough to put in the report made at the time. 

1200. Sir E. PaI"1Y.-What was the farthest north you made in your north­
ward journey? 

Lieutenant Aldrich.-76° 16'. 

1201. Sir E. Pany.-What was the trending of the land from your furthest 
extreme? 

Lieutenant Aldric/I.-It was so thick that I could not see one mile beyond. 

1202. Sir E. PUI'1:IJ.-Did you think, at that time, that Melville Island is 
connected with Bathurst Land? 

Lieutenant Aldrich.-I always thought the contrary. 

1203. Sir E. Pan:y.-What was your reason for that impression? 
Lil:lltelUl!lt Aldl'ich.-I could see no land between that I stood upon and the 

opposIte pomt. 

1204. Sir E. Pr/}'}:IJ.-Had you any opportunity of seeing to the north-
ward t 

Lieutenant Aldrich.-Yes. 

1205. Sir E. PaJ'}:y.-And you saw no land in that direction? 
Lieutenant Aldrich.-No. 

1206. Sir.E. PaT/y.-What was the state of the ice in that part? 
Lieutenant Aldriclz.-It was level. 

1207. Sir E. Pany.-Did you see any drift wood? 
Lieutenant Aldric/I.-Not a bit. 

12.08. Sir E. Pa:ry.-Did you see any Esquimaux encampments? 
Llelltenan~ AI~n.ch.~Only one. Not in the spring travel, but in the yea~ 

before, OppOSIte GrIffith s Island; that was the only one I ever saw. . 
12~9. Sir G. Back.-Did you see any animals? 
Lzeutenant Aldrich.-I saw twenty-seven deer. 



EXPEDITIONS IN SEARCH OF SIR JOHN :«,RANKLIN. 113 

1210. Sir G. Back.-Auythiug else ~ Lieut. Aldrich. 
Lleutenant Aldrich.-I saw one fox, and it was the fifty-fourth day before 

I saw a bear. 5th Nov. 1851. 

1211. Sir G. Back.-If you had had no provisions could you have supplied 
yourselves? 

Lieutenant Aldrich.-No; we could not have existed without the provisions 
we had. 

1212. Captain Beechey.-Have you made any report to Captain Austin as 
to the number of animals? 

Lieutenant Aldrich.-No. 

12.13. Sil' E. Fa.1'1y.-Did you leave records 0'£ your own journeys? 
Lwutenant AldTlch.-Y es; on every opportnlllty I had I left records under 

cairn~ of sto~e; but I must o?~erve that the ground was so thoroughly fi'ozen 
that It was With the greatest dIfficulty at times that ,re got stone sufficient to 
make the smallest cairn. 

1214. Captain Beechey.-Wds there any rise or t"lll of the tide? 
Lieutenant Ald1·£ch.-I should judge so by the uplifting of the ice, but of the 

amount I cannot judge. I thought at the time that it would have been a 
serious loss of time if I had stopped to make any examination of the kind. 

1215. Captain Beeche,lf.-'V ere you present when Captain Penny took his 
leave of Captain Austin? 

Lieutenant Aldrich.-No, I was not. 

Captain Austin rose, and read the following paper: 

" Mr. Chairman.-With regard to a journal which you have called for, I beg 
" to state that I have no journal, but that I have with care made the log a 
" journal from which all may be obtained of any necessary interest required. 
" It is necessary to remind you that the transmission of journals is not called 
" for in my orders, as upon the occasions of discovery or as on former Arctic 
" voyages; further that such was generall.r understood by all composing the 
" expedition, early after our departure from England. 

" Under these circumstances I have only in my possession notes that were 
" made from time to time. These notes are Illy private thoughts, and never 
" intended, in their present state, for other eyes than my own. 1 place them 
" before the Committee, who will percei,'c that they are so ; ~nd the Committec 
" I am sure will agree with me in opinion, that from their nature being prinltc, 
" in some measure sacred. I ought not to be asked to put forward their con­
" tents, further than so far as they may bear upon the subject of the search, 
" or matter connected with the Wellington Channel. At the same time, ,,-hat­
" ever may be there stated I most rigidly desire to abide by. }I.r impression 
" is, that the substance of these views has been stated already in evidence. 

" These notes are as they were tied before our arrival, with the exception 
" of one parcel which I referred to in the Committee-room when giving evi­
" dence." 

Mr. ALLEN called. 

1216. Clwirmrlll.-You were the master of the" Resolute," I believe? 
1I1r. Allen.-Yes. 

1217. Clzairman.-Have you any experience in the Arctic seas, or was this 
your first yoyage ? 

J.l1r. Allen.-This was my first voyage. 

1218. Clwirm((l1.-So that you do not consider yourself very experienced in 
the appearance of ice ~ 

~l1r. Allen.-Nothing more than I learned this voyage. 

1219. Chah·man.-Were you present when the first traces were found of the 
missing expedition in Beechey Island? . 

lIEr. Allen.-No; the" Resolute" came up after the other shIps 

1220. Chairman.-Were you on shore afterwards? 
.Mr. Allen.-Yes, I was afterwards. 
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1221. Clut£rman.-Do you consider from your own k?o~leci.ge. and obSCtva. 
t10n that the search mane was so complete as to render It Impossible that any 
records or documents deposited there could h~ve beeD: overlooked? 

Jir. Allen.-I think it possible that they did not dIg deep enough under the 
cairn. 

1:222. Clwirmrtll.-How deep did t.hey dig? 
Mr. Allen.-Mr. Bradford, the officer in charge of the party, dug about 

two feet and asked me if it was deep enough; and I said, Yes. Some time 
afterwar'ds, when travelling, I was told that in Sir ~ames ROS~'8 expedition 
they dug four feet when searching for a docume?t 111 Possessl~n Bay, and 
,yere about giving it up, when a man took. up a pickaxe, ~nd said he would 
O'ive another pick. The result was, that SIr Edward Parry s bottle turned up. 
I understand, however, that the" Assistance's" people dug five feet. 

1:2:23. Clwirlllan.-In crossing the mouth of the W ~llington Strait, as you 
proceeded to the westward, did you make any observatIOns on the state of the 
strait as regards the iee at that time? . 

1111'. "1111.'11.-Y es; wc passed the Wellington Strait in the course of the 
afternoon and evening of' the 12th or 13th of September 1850, and the ice 
appeared to me as though it had not broke~ away that season. Captain Penny 
came across attcr us some ten or twelve mIles to the northward of us, and the 
icc had much broken. Captain Penny came across thirty-six or forty hours 
after us. 

I :2:H. ClwirllloJl.-After the ships got into winter quarters did you make 
an y journey yourself, or form any part of the exploring parties? 

llr. AIII'II.-I was scnt to Lowther Island, Davy Island, and Garnett Island, 
to examine the state of the ice generally, amI to layout a depot of provisions 
for one of the return parties. I left the ship on the 24th of April 1851. 

1:2:25. UwirlJulIl.-And what did the state of the ice appear to you to be in 
Barrow's Strait at that time? Was there any appearance of open water? 

.ilr. Allen.-Not It bit; it was all hard frozen. 

1:226. Cftail'mall.-When you got out of your winter quarters, and pro· 
ceeded again to the eastward, you crossed Wellington Strait? 

JiJ'. Allen.-Yes. 

1:Ui. C/wirm([n.-And what observation did YOll make on the state of the 
ice there? 

JJ!II'. AlIen.-In coming across it appeared to me from the crow's nest that 
'yellington Strait was completely filled with ice. Between two and three 
o clock we had arrived over to the eastward when I saw a channel of water of 
about five miles in width. There was water to the eastern shore, extending to 
the north, as f:1I' as I could see fi'om the crow's nest, eleven or twelve miles. 

I :2:2,~. Cltairman.-Point out on the chart how far the open water extended 
from Becchey Island northwards? 

Jlr. AlIen.-It came from Cape Hotham to Beechey Island, from whence 
open water was seen extending on the east side of Wellington Strait about ten 
or twelve miles. 

1229. C/Ul£nnan.-Had you any information how far that barrier of ice 
extended north and south? 

Jir. A!!en.-No; I had no means of judging. 

12?O. Cltr/ir~lIall.-This is a memorandum which you gave III to Captain 
Austm at the tIme you were on the crow's nest, is it not? 

fl!r. A!!ell.-No, sir; I know nothing about this. It is in Mr. Aldrich's hand~ 
wntmg. 

Captain Austin explained to the Committee that he had handed in the 
memorandum under the impression that it was the one given to him by 
~!r .. Allen. ~e then produced another paper, which he handed to the 
ChaIrman. Vide p. 41. Q. 352. 

1231. Chairman.-Is this yours? 
Jlr. Allen.-Yest this is. This is the state of the ice at noon. 
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1232. Chairman.-At that time you saw no open water? 
Mr. Allen.-Not up Wellington Strait. 
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1233 .. Chairman.-As you went over to the eastern coast did you see any 
change m the appearance of the icc? 

Mr .. Att~n.~ Yes; a very remarkable one. There was a channel of water, 
five mIles III Width, along the eastern shore of Wellington Strait, extending froUl 
Beechey Island ten or twelve miles to the northward towards Cape Bowden. 

1234. Chairman.-Did you report that to Captain Austin? 
ilh'. Allen.-Yes. 

1235. Chai1·man.-What was your own opinion on the subject? Did you 
think that the channel was suddenly opening, or that it was a lane of water 
which you had not previously perceived? 

Mr. Allen.-I do not know how long it could have been; but as we went 
in over there I saw it opened. 

1236. Clzairman.-'Vas the ice coming out or in motion at that time? 
Mr. Allen.-It was stationary, but the wind would set it in motion. 

1237. Chairman.-What was the date of that? 
Mr. Allen.-I think it was on the 12th of August 1851 ; it was the (hy on 

which we passed Wellington Strait at all events. 

1238. Chairman.-In your opinion, could you have waited in safety to 
examine this open water, and also to observe whether any change took place 
in the barrier of ice by which Wellington Strait was frozen up? 

Mr. Allen.-Yes. 

1239. Chainnan.-How long do you think you could have stopped without 
risking another winter there? 

Mr. Allen.-About a month perhaps, judging from la,t year; the only 
means I had of judging. 

1240. ClwiJ'lllan.-Dicl you receive any information enabling you to form 
an opinion as to the navigation of the open water said to be discovered to the 
northward r 

Mr. Allen.-The information came in such a piecemeal manner th~lt I 
could not tell. Atone time it was said that there was plenty of water, and at 
another that there was very little. 

1241. ClwiTlII(tIl.-When did you first see Captain Penny's Land, that is now 
inserted in the chart? 

Mr. Allen.-When we went over there. 

1242. Chairman.- 'Vere you called upon to examine that chart? 
Mr. Allen.-Captain Austin gave it me to look at. 

1243. ChaITJIla n-Were there any documents appended to it? 
Mr. Allen.-No. 
1244. Chairman.-You had no conversation with Captain Penny on the 

subject? 
Mr. Allen.-No. 
1245. Chairrnan.-Do you know on what day that chart was given in ? 
M1·. Allen.-It was on the lOth or 11th of August. 

1246. Chairrnrm.-On what day did Captain Penny sail ? 
Mr. Allen.-On the same day that we did. 

1247. Chairman.-Can you say of your own knowledge that Captain Penny 
ever asked for a steamer to go up Wellington Strait? 

MI'. Allen.-No. I heard some persons talking at different times that such 
was the case. 

1248. Chairman.-Were you present at any conversation r 
111r. Allen.~No. 
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1249. Chail'man.-And can you explain in any wa~ why you ~ere not 
called upon to give your opinion, as the master, on so Important a discovery 
as that? 

11k AIII'II.-No. 
An outline of a map was hande? in wh~ch. Mr. Allen .had made for qaptain 

Austin, from Captain Penny S dcscnptlOn after hiS return from hiS first 
trip to the northward. 

1250. Chail'man.-Do you recollect when t?at was; I mean t~e date? 
Jllr. Allen.-It was on the 24th of May; It was when Captam Penny came 

over the first time. 
1251. ClwirJllan.-At that time had you any further consultation on the 

snbject, with regard to any measures that should be taken to examine further 
what appeared to be so important a discovery as that? 

lIfr. Allen.-Captain Penny said he would get a boat up. 
1252. Chnil'lIwlI.-Do you know that he asked for any assistance from 

Captain Austin r 
lIfl'. AlI(,7I.-I do not know how I got hold of what I am going to say, so 

that I cannot be held responsible for it. There was a talk that Captain Austin 
would send people to assist the dragging of Captain Penny's boat up Wellington 
Strait, on the return of his people from travelling. That was my impression at 
the time, hut I must repeat that I never heard it officially. 

125:3. Clwirllt(I/l.-How many people had you on board at that time? 
JIr. Allell.-~ot more than ten or twelve. 

1254. Clwir1nan.-So that it was out of Captain Austin's power at that time 
to lend him any assistance? 

Mr. Allen.-Yes. 
12.55. Clwirman.-And you are aware that subsequently Captain Penny's 

expedition did take a boat from their own resources? 
ill 1'. Allen.-Yes, that was the case. 
123G. Clulil'])/all.-Did you offer to Captain Austin to go in that expedition? 
..111'. AlleJl.-Yes; I offered to go if any party went from our ships to search 

in that direction, either to act under Captain Penny or independently. 

1 ~.ji. Clwirmall.-"/as Captain Penny aware of that offer? 
.111'. Allen.-l aid not mention it, but I think somebody told him of it. 

12:")K. Sir E. Pan:y.-Had you an opportunity of observing the tides during 
any part of the winter ': 

Mr . .111,,11.-Yery little. The tides were given in charge of Lieutenant 
Elliot of the "Assistance ". 

1259. ,\,'il' E. ]1al'1:I/.-W as it a regular tide? 
J.lfl' • .1111'11.-The tide ran to the north-west and south-cast between Griffith's 

Island and Cornwallis Island; eight hours to the north-west and four to the 
south-east. ' 

1260. :,)'il' E. Pal'l:/f.-Could you judITe which of these was the flood tide ~ 
lUI'. Atlen.-That running to the north-west, coming from the south-east. 
1261. Sir E. Pnn:y.-YOll think the flood tide there came from the south-

east r 
Jlr . .1llcn.-Y e~. 
1262. Sir E. Pan:?!.-What was the rise and fall of the tide? 
illr. At/clI.-Five or six feet. 

. 126:1. Sir E. PaJ'/:y.-Did you find any drift wood in the course of your 
Journey or elsewhere near the winter quarters? 

iVr. Allell.-:;:;ot any. 

1264. Clwirma7l.-You are aware of the instructions Captain Austin had 
from the Admiralty? 

Mr. Allen.-Yes. 

1265. Cltair!l~an.-In your opinion, was e\'erything done that could be done, 
by both expedItIons, to ~omplete the search for the missing ships? 

Mr. Allen.-Yes, I thmk so; the travel~ing will show that very fully. 
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1266: Chairm~n.-You have said that you might have ;emained a month 
longer l.n the nelg~bourhood of Cape Riley, to wait for the possible opening 
of We)hngton StraIt; why do you think that, having come away so soon as 
you dId, t~ere would have been no probability, if you had stayed, of continuing 
the search r 

Mr. Allen.-I think it very possible that the Wellingtou Channel might 
have been examined by us, if found necessary to do so. 

1267. Chairman.-What course would you have taken to examine Welling­
ton Strait? 

Mr. Allen.-I would have put the two vessels in Radstock Bay, and sent 
the steamers up. 

12?~. Chai1'man.~Wo.uldyou l~ave proposed to have hazarded the steamers 
remamIllg all the Winter III Queen s Channel ': 

Mr. Allen.-When I got there I should have seen what more could be done, 
and what means I had of sending out travelling parties for the next year. 

1269. Chairman.-You must take into consideration the instructions of 
Captain Austin, and the amount of provisions left. What I meant to ask 
you was, if you had had command of the expedition, what measures you would 
have taken to search further in that direction. What do YOll think mig-ht 
have been done with safety't 

Mr. Allen.-Such sudden changes take place from time to time that r think 
the ships might have been put in Beechey Island or Radstock Bay, or some 
place of safety, and then that the steamers might have tried to get up ,r el­
lington Strait into the water Captain Penny had discovered. But we could 
only see twelve miles from the crow's nest, and it is possible there might have 
been an obstruction. Those two vessels should have been provisioned \"ith 
eighteen months each for about thirty-six men. The provisions for the 
expedition were for three years, and when we came home we had two years left 
nearly. 

1270. Chairrnan.-Should you have run the risk of leaving the steamers 
during the winter in that channel? 

J.lb .. Allen.-That I cannot answer. If it wa~, as Captain Penny reports, that 
the tides were violent there, I should perhaps have fallen back upon the ships, 
and in all probability returned with the expedition to England. 

1271. Chainnan.-Do not you think there might have been danger at that 
late season of the year of the ice closing in again and preventing the return of 
the steamers !' 

Mr. Allen.-Nothing more likely. 

1272. Chairman.-Y ou would have sent the steamers up, although you 
admit that the risks might have been very great? 

Mr. Allen.-Y cs. 

1273. Sir G. Back.-Would you, under any circumstances, have made ~m 
attempt, with a sailing vessel, to get up there, providing one had been wanted 
for a depot of provisions? 

1IIr. Allen.-I would not, if I could possibly avoid it. 

1274. Chairman.-What is your opinion, from all you have heard and 
seen, of the probable direction the missing ships must have. taken? . 

Mr. Allen.-I think they must have gone up the Wellmgton Strmt, or to 
the S. W. between the meridian of 1060 and 1100 west longitude. 

1275. Captain Beechey.-With reference to the operations in the polar .seas ; 
at what period do you think the climate becomes too severe for the handlmg of 
hawsers and tracking lines? 

MI'. Allen.-About the latter end of September, or before sometimes, if the 
temperature falls rapidly. 

12i6. Sir E. Parr:1J.-At what time in September 1850 did you go into the 
harbour in the Resolute? 

M,·. Allen.-The 13th of September; that was the last day the ship was 
under weigh; but she was kept in expectation of getting further to the west­
ward to the 24th of September. 
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1277. Sir E. Parry.-How long could you have navigated the seas that 
year? 

Mr. Alten.-Not later than the 13th of September. 

12;'8. Sir E. Parry.-Then why did you consider the end of the month as 
the proper limit of the season? 

Mr. Allen.-It all depends upon the season. At Baffin's Bay you can 
navigate much later. 

1279. Sir E. Pa·ny.-But in Wellington Strait what was the limit? 
Mr. Allelt.-The 12th of September, I think. 

1280. Clwirman.-How much sooner than the 12th of September was your 
prof Tress so seriously impeded that your further progress was impossible? 

Mr. AlIer<.-I think the navigation cannot be said to have ceased until the 
13th of September that year. 

l~in. Captain Beechfy.-Was it from the bay ice forming rapidly, or from 
vour having been beset, that your progress was impeded? 
v J.1Ir. Allen.-Both. We were beset at one time, and the last day we 
were under weigh the ice was forming. By pushing through it we got on 
tolerably well. 

1282. Chnirman.-Do you think that if you had waited another month 
would have had any chance of going out of Barrow's Strait, and home 
year? 

Mr. Allen.-Yes, J think so. The Committee will recollect that this is 
my first arctic voyage, and I do not like to speak with too much confidence 
on the subject. 

LIEUTENANT W. H. J. BROWNE called. 

1283. ClwiI'1II1111.-What was your ship? 
Lieutenant Broll'Jlf'.-The " Resolute;" I was third lieutenant. 
1284. Clwirmalt.-Did you explore the south part of Barrow's Strait 

marked with your name? It is the next land to the westward of North 
Somerset? 

Lieutenullt Bl'owne.-Yes. 
1285. Do you consider that the whole of that so marked on the chart was 

so carefully and minutely searched by you that no traces of the missing vessels 
could have been overlooked? 

Lieutenant Bro/l"lIe.-Yes. 
1286. Clwil'lIIrtn.-\Vere you by yourself or with Captain Ommanney? 
Lieuten((nt B1'Owne.-I was travelling with Captain Ommanney, as far as 

Cape Walker; after that I went on alone. 
1287. Cltail'man.-When did you return? 
Lieutenant Browne.-On the 28th of May. 
1288. Chail'mnn.-Did you see any animals? 
Lielltenant Browne.-Two rein deer, and two or three grouse, and one small 

bear. 

1289. Chairman.-Do you think it possible for any persons left to their own 
resources there to have existed? 

Lieutenant Bl'owne.-No. 

1290. Clwirman.-Haye you any pers~nal knowledge of anything that 
happened subsequently WIth regard to Welllllgton Strait? 

Lieutenant Bl'owne.-No. 
1291. Clzairman.-Have you been out before? 
Lieutenant Browne.-Yes; with Sir James Ross. 
1292. Chairman.-What was your opinion of the WellinO'ton Strait? Did 

you think that the ice in Weliington Strait was new ice or °of old formation 
that might have blocked it up for a considerable time? ' . 

Lieutenant Browne.-When ~e came past it was loose ice, but I was 
not near enough t? see the barner, whether it was old or new; I only sa'.V 
the south edge of It, so that I could not form an opinion as to whether it Wa'S 
navigable higher up or not. 
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l~~3. A~miral Fanshawe.-How many of your men suffered from frostbites 
or slCkness ( 

Lieutenant Browne.-Several of them suffered, but nothing serious. All 
came back in good health. I suffered myself. 

129t. Admiral Fanshawe.-Did you send back any of the men who suffered 
from the sledge to the ship? 

Lieutenant Browne.-No. 

1295. Adrniml Fanslwwe.-How many days were you out? 
Lieutenant Browne.-Forty-three. 

1296. Admiral Fallshrtll'e.-What was the distance you travelled? 
Lieutenant Browne.-375 miles I think, that is out and home. 

1297. Chairlllan.-Did you give in to Captain Austin, on your return, any 
suggestions as to improvements in sledge travelling in these regions? 

Lieutenant Browne.-Yes, I gave them to Captain Austin. 

1298. Clwirman.-Have you anything further to add? 
Lieutenant Browne.-I have only to suggest improvements III the sledge 

and in the sleeping apparatus. 

1299. Cltairman.-That appears in your journal? 
Lieutenant Browne.-Yes, it does. 

1300. Sir E. Pa1'1:1j.-What was your most southern latitude III your 
journey? 

Lieutenant Browne.-72° 52'. 

1301. Sir E. Pan:1j.-What was the nature of the land? 
Lieutenant Browne.-Cape Walker was old red sandstone, and further south­

ward limestone and traces of granite. From 73° 50' to i2° .'50' it was limestone. 

1302. Sir E. Parry.-W as it high land ~ 
Lieutenant Browne.-The point immediately to the south of Cape Walker is 

a remarkably high cliff, about 600 feet, perhaps more, and it lowers from that. 
The land for about forty miles is composed of hills 400 feet high. 

1303. Sir E. P(l1'ry.-Did you sep the land of North Somerset clearly all 
the way? 

Lieutenant Browne.-No, not all the way; we saw it when the day ,,'as clear. 

1304. Sir E. Parr,y.-What was the state of the ice between these two 
lands? 

Lieutenant Browne.-As fin as I could see it was smooth floe ice. The 
whole journey was smooth ice, with the exception of the landing at Cape Walker. 

1305. Sir E. Pan:lJ.--That ice did not appear to have been disturbed 
then? 

Lieutenant B1·owne.-No. 

1306. Sir E. Parry.-Did you observe the rise and fall of the tides? 
Lieutenant Browne.-It appeared to me in these bays that the ice was on the 

ground, for I saw no tide marks. I frequently went on the land without 
knowing it. 

1307. Sir E. Par~I/.-Did you make any observations on the rise and fall of 
the tides? 

Lieutenant Browne.-N o. 

1308. Sir E. Par1:1j.-Did you find any drift wood? 
Lieutenant Browne.-No. 

1309. Admiral Fanshawe.-What was your lowest temperatuff~ ? 
Lieutenant Browne.-The lowest I registered was 22° minus 

1310. Sir G. Buck.-Did you see any traces of Esquimaux? 
Lieutenant Browne.-At Cape Walker. 

13J l. Admiral Fanshawe.-Did you experience any difficulty in returning 
over the ice? 

Lieutenant Browne.-It was too soon. 
Aa4 

Lieut. Br;)W1Ie. 

5th Nov. 1851. 
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1312. Admiral F(mshawe.-Wer~ yo~ present ~uring this year at any inter­
"ie,\, between Captain Austin and Captam Penny. 

Lil:ltfenant Browne.-No. 

Captain Kellett was called ~efore the .Con~mitte~,.and info~med that. certain 
questions would be sub~ltted to hl.m, In wr.ltmg, relatIve to any. futu~e 
search for the missing ships, to w~lCh ~e wIll .be requ~sted to give ~IS 
most careful consideration, confimng hiS rephes (which are to be m 
writing) to Behring's Straits. 

:\II'. M'DOUGALL called. 

1313. Cltairman.-What position did you occupy? 
1111'. J.lf'Dougall.-Second master of the "Resolute." 

1314. Clwil'man.-Had you been an 'Arctic voyage before? 
,Illr. 1I1'Dougall.-No. 
1315. Clwi1'lHan.-You were sent to explore that part between Cornwallis 

Island and Bathurst Land? 
ilIr. ill' Dougall.-Yes. 
1316. Chairmnn.-Do you feel confident that the whole of that part was so 

completely searched as to enable you to say that no documents or records 
of the missing expedit.ion were overlooked? 

Mr. Jl'Dougall.-I did not land in the north part of the bay. I only saw it. 

1:1l7. Cltai1'man.-Did you not advance yourself to the head of this gulf? 
Jlr. ilf'Dougall.-I had not sufficient provisions. I had only sufficient to 

take me back. Indeed I was away two days longer than I was provisioned 
for, and was consequently on short allowance. 

131ti. Clwirlll(tn.-Did you meet ~lr. Good~ir: 
Jil' . .li·Dougall.-Xo. 

1319. Chairman.-You are aware he passed along the bay you explored? 
Jlr. ill' Dougall.-I understand he passed along the north shore of the 

isthmus between my position and Wellington Strait. 

1320. Cllllirm(IIl.-You were al ways on the ice? 
JIi·. Jl'Dougall.- Yes; about a hundred yards from the shore. 

1321. Clwirman.-How long were you there? 
JJI'. i1l'Dollgall.-1 left the ship on the 4th of April 1851 provisioned for 

twenty days, to ascertain the state of the depots laid out in the autumn of 
18.50. I found nearly all the provisions on Somerville Island had been 
destroyed by the bears and foxes. Feeling the lives of the travelling parties 
might depend on the safety of the depots, I thought myself justified in 
deviating from my orders, and return'ed to the ship after an absence of five 
days, for the purpose of informing Captain Austin of what had occurred. I 
was again despatched and was absent thirteen days, a third time I left and 
was away twenty-two days, making in all forty days. 

1322. Clwi1'J)wJI.-Then you were out three different times? 
.:lIr. JJ'Dougall.-Yes; five, thirteen, and twenty-two days. 

1323. Clwirman.-Did you observe the ice in Wellington Strait? 
ilIr.ll1'Dougall.-ln September 1850 I was despatched from the ship to 

Point Innes. At that time the iee extended across the channel to Point Innes. 
I was desired to hoist a flag when it opened. I had not been there an hour 
when a. floe of frOl~ seven t~ eight miles broke adrift, e.nabling the ship to pass. 
The ship at that time was last to the floe about four mIles off Cape Spencer. 

1~24. C~zai1'man.-Do yOl~ thi.nk there was any chance of the Wellington 
Strait clearmg for purposes of naVIgation at that time? 

,Mr. 111' Dougall.-I should say not. 

1325. Chairman.-When ~ou returned the following year to Cape Riley did 
you observe the state of the Ice? 

1.1£1' • .Lll'Dougall.-No, except from the deck. 
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. 1326. ChairmrlU.-Were you present in 1850 when the traces of the winter­
JOg quarters of the" Erebus " and" Terror" were discovered? 

Mr. M'Dougall.-I was not there when they were discovered. 

1327. Clwirman.-Were you present when the search for documents took 
place? 

Mr. M'Dougall.-Yes. 

1328. CI/(/irllla~I.-Do you think every possible search was made to prevent 
any documents bemg overlooked? 

Mi·. l1f'Dougall.-I think not a stone was left unturned. Every little caIrn 
of two or three stones was fully searched. 

1329. Clwirman.-Was Cape Riley searched in the same way? 
Mr.M,'Dougall.-I landed at Cape Riley, looked round, and saw documents 

of Captam Ommanney. His documents were placed back in the cairn . 

. 1330. C/tainuall.-What was the date of your tnrning baek to rejoin the 
ShIP, and what was the state of the travelling? 

Mi·. M'Dougall.- \Vhen I rejoined the ship the last time (on the 13th J nne 
1851) the travelling was very bad. Thc ice bC'gan to get yery soft, and this 
difficulty incrcased as we approached the ship. 

1331. Sir E. Parry. - You surveyed that land by which Cornwallis Island 
and Bathurst Land are connected; what was your furthest latitude north on 
that journey? 

Mr. M'Dougall.-7.5° 17'. 

1332. Sir E. Parl'y.-Are you quite sure of the junction of these two 
lands? 

Mr. M'Dollgall.-As far as I could see, the only opening was in the north­
east corner of that bay. I saw the land all round distinctly with the exception 
at that part. 

1333. Sir E. Pan:Ij.-Is the latitude of the north part of that hay liable to 
some correction i-

1111'. lIf'Dougall.-It is vcry likely, as the distance is only cstimated. 

1334. Sir E. P({n:Ij.-Did you observe the rise and fall of the tides !' 
Mr. lJf'Dougall.-Not particularly. 

1335. Sir E. Pan:IJ.-Did you find any drift wood up in that uay !' 
MI'. M'Dougalt.-None. 

1336. Sir G. Back.-In going round the bay did you perceive any Esqui­
maux encampment? 

Mr. M'Dollgall.-Yes, one on a point six miles north of Baker Island, appa-
rently of very ancient date. 

133i. Sir G. Back.-Did you see any animals r 
Mi .. M'Dollgall.-Half-a-dozen bears and one 01' two foxes. 

1338. Sir G. Back.-What was the character of the ice in this bay? 
1111'. M'Dol/gall.-It was one mass offloe ice. . 

1339. Sir G. Br{ck.-Was there any packed ice against Cornwallis Island 
or Bathurst Land? 

jfr. M'Dougall.-Not much, uut a great deal near Baker Island. 

1340. Sir G. Back.-Did you find any other encampment? 
1111'. 1I1'Dougall.-Another was found about eight miles west of Baker Point. 

It was apparently very old. In that situation I erected a cairn composed of 
the stones of the encampment. 

1341. Sir G. Back.-I merely ask you as a general question, considering 
your limited experience amongst the ice, whether ever'y~hi.ng \\'a.s done that 
could be done in following out the search for the n1JSsmg shlps by both 
expeditions r 

Mr. 111' Dougall.-I am scarcely competent to form a correct idea of what ,~'as 
done by Captain Penny's expedition; but with reference to our own, I tlunk 
everything was done that could be done. 

Bb 

Mr. M'Dougall. 

5th Nov. 1851. 
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Dr. Sutherland. Dr. SUTHERLAND recalled. 

5th Nov. 1851. 1342. Clwirrnan.-Dr. Sutherland, you hav~ received from the secretary a 
communication to the effect that I am now gomg to make to you, viz., that 
we consider the corrections an~ additions to youT evidence which you suggest 
would amount to a total alteratIOn of what you saId, and that we cannot receive 
them in that form, but you are at liberty to state them as supplementary 
evidence, on which you must expect to be cross-examined. I will put a cor­
rected copy of the evidence into your hands that you may state what you may 
wish to add. 

After the consideration of some verbal alterations which were assented to 
by the Committee, 

Dr. Sutherland ?irected. attention to the following question on page 20, 
No. 2:js. of the prmted eVidence: "In your advances you walked over the 
ice across Prince Alfred's Bay; on your return was there any reason why you 
could not go over it?" He wished the following to stand as the answer to 
that question :-" There was no reason, except that the orders were to keep 
along the land. The ice was tolerably good, although it appeared to have 
suffered a little from pressure when in the form of' young ice, and I had no 
doubt the sun had not exercised its thawing power upon it during one summer, 
therefore it must have been only of one year's growth, and open water must 
have been in that locality some time last year." 

The Committee then adjourned. 

~." .. --.. -==== 
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Present, Rear-Admiral Bowles, C.B., M.P., Chairman, 
Rear-Admiral Arthur Fanshawe, C.B., 
Captain Sir Edward Parry, 
Captain F. W. Beechey, 
Captain Sir George Back, 

Mr. F. J. Fegen, Secretary. 
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Sir JOHN RICHARDSON, C. B, Inspector of Hospitali;, &c., called Sir J. Richardsoll. 

1343. C/wirlJlolI.-Sir John, two pieces of wood han' been sent to you for 6th Nov. 185!. 
examination? 

Sir John Rid/lIl·t!SIIII.- Ye~. I t'XHmined them and made a report upon them. 
There was a small piece of drift wood partially burnt. It was found ill Disap­
pointment Bay, on the north side of Cornwallis Island, latitude ,5° ;36', and 
longitude, by computation, 96° Wl'st. It is a small piece of spruce fir, such as 
grows on all rivers of the North American continent that full into the :\rctic 
seas. It had evidently been exposed to the weather, and drilled for lllallY 
years. It has been partially exposed to the action of fire recently, and could 
not have drifted far subsequently to its having been burnt. I cannot say, with 
confidence, how it has been burnt; but it. may have been charred in the flame 
of a spirit lamp, as it has not been exposed to the strong action of fire. 
Then there, was a piece of English elm plank picked up in Record Bay of 
Baillie Hamilton Island by Captain Penny, in latitude ,(j0 2' north, longitude, 
by computation, 96° west. It was eighteen inches long when found, and an 
inch and a half broad at its widest part. The rough S,l\\" marks remain on 
one side; on the other side it has been dressed and pitched. It has been split 
from the board to which it belonged by the blows of an axe. From the state 
of decay in which this wood is upon the surface, I believe it to have been 
exposed to the action of the atmosphere and the surf for more than ten years. 
These are the only pieces of wood sent for my examination. I have made a 
very full report of 11Iy observations, and have also included the observations 
of the Reverend Mr. Berkeley, who is a very high authority on microscopic 
observations in this country. 

1344. Sir E. Parry.-Are you of opinion that the little piece of burnt pine 
may have belonged to Sir John Franklin's expedition? 

Sir .JoAn Riclwrdsoll.-I think it may have belonged to some of his spring 
excursion parties. 

1345. Sir E. Pan:1j.- With respect to the elm, are you of opinion that it 
also belonged to Sir John Franklin's expedition ~ 

Sir John Riclzardson.-I am of opinion that it has no conn ex ion whatever 
with the expedition. 

. 1346. Sir E. Pa1'l:II,-I<'rolll the reports laid before us at Woolwich of the 
drift wood seen by Captain Penny and his officers to the north and Wl'~t of 
Wellington Strait, with which reports you arc acquainted, can you form any 
cottiecture as to the direction fi'om which the pieces of drift wood probably came? 

Sir John Richardson.-From conjecture merely. I think they lUay have 
come from the westward. It is most probable they came in that direction, 
not fi'om the circumstance of their being found where they were, but because 

Bb2 
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such wood grows on the contment to the westwa!d, and not to the eastward. 
I believe, however, that timber drifts up the Wellmgton Channel also. 

1347. Sir E. Parry.-What is your. opinio~, of . t~,e pie~e of wood now 
before the Committee, brought home Jl1 the ~ehx by Su' John Ross, and 
reported by him to haye been ricked up on ~ hIll on the north shore of the 
harbour ,,,here Sir John FranklIn passed the wmter of 1845-6? 

Sir John Ricltardson.-From the cursory examination that I have given it 
since I came into the room, I believe it to be a piece of wood that has laid 
a 10nO" time on one side. The saw mark at the top is very recent. I 
cannot say how recent, but it does not appear to be above a year old, and 
is quite fresh in comparison; the post w~s tapered at the lower end. The 
handle of a rake brought home by Captam Ommanney from Beechey Island 
is much less ,,,eathered than the surface of Sir John Ross's stake, which 
contains lichens in a knot hole, but at the same time not nearly so fresh 
as the saw cut. 

I;QS. Sir E. Parry.-You have examined the meteorologica~ journal kept 
by Dr. Sutherland in his journey to the north of Wellington Strmt? 

Sir Jolw Richardson.-Yes. 

1349. Sir E. Prtr7:!f.-Have you compared the temperature shown in that 
journal with the temperature registered in Assistance Harbour on the same 
'days and at the ~ame hours? 

Sir Johll Ric1wrrlsoll.-I have compared them with Mr. Manson's. 

1 ;);)0. Sir E. Pan:lj.-What difference of temperature did you observe in 
making this comparison? 

Sir John Ric/t((rdson.-The temperatures shown by Dr. Sutherland were 
colder by upwards of three degrees mean temperature. I wish to add 
an observation on climate. This is a question as regards the comparative 
climate in these two places. The presence of open water is no indication of a 
milder climate, unleso the degree of saltness of the water is known. Where the 
water is very salt it requires a lower temperature to freeze it, and therefore 
U cnrrent coming from the north and north-west bringing down salter water 
would dissoh-e the ice sooner, although the mean temperature of the 
atmosphere might be lower t han in more southern localities, under the 
influence of' fre~h waters poured out fi'om the continent. ~1y ~eaning is, 
that Ilear the mouth of a large river the fi"esher water would be frozen sooner, 
but if the ice drifted into salter ,Yater it might again thaw. 

1351. Cltairman.-It appears, with regard to the register at winter quarters, 
that the thermometer was on the ice, and that Dr. Sutherland's was on the 
land. Would that make any material difference -; 

..... 'il" John Ricllflrdsol1.-At that time the land was mostly covered with snow. 
I hU\'e Iloticed in my report that the influence of the ship miO"ht make some 
difference, but not enough to orerlie the 3°. There cann~t be a great 
difference, because there is only a degree or a degree and a half of latitude 
between the places of observation. I think there was no evidence of a warmer 
climate. 

The Clwinw1/I acquainted Captain Penny, that some of the officers of his 
ships wished to be discharged from further attendance, but that the 
Committee did not think it proper to do so without consulting him 
prcyiously. He (the Chairman) wished to know as those officers were 
detained at considerable expense, whether any or'them need be detained 
for the purpose of giving further evidence? 

Captain Pcnny.-I sho~ld 'yish some of them to be called, that I may 
a~k them ~ome questIons III order to elicit more clearly some points I 
wish to bring out. 

Chairm'!n.- - :rhe . result of that wou~d b~, that Captain Austin must re­
exam.me hIS wlt~esses, and the mqUlry would be endless. Captain 
Austm was permItted to be present at the first, in order that he might 
hear and take notes, but was not allowed to cross-examine the witnesses; 
and as we so decided with respect to Captain Austin, who is an accused 
party, we cannot alter our course of proceeding in your favour. 
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The Committee-room was then cleared, and on being re-opened the Chair­
man addressed Captain Penny as follows:-The Committee direct me 
to acquaint you, that having on all occasions (and more particularly 
yesterday) distinctly disclaimed the character of prosecutor or accuser 
du.ring this investigation, you cannot be permitted to re-examine 
eVIdence; but that both Captain Austin and yourself will be allowed 
to ofier any final observations at. the conclusion of our proceedings. 
You have been at. full liberty to be present during the whole course 
of the examinations, and to call all the witnesses yon considered 
necessary. 

CAPTAIN STEWART re-called. 

1352. Chairman.-Y ou have made a o-reat many alterations in your 
e~idence, se,:eral of !hem mere~'y verbal, and the secretary will correct them 
WIth you WIthout dIfficulty. rhere are others more extensive, and which 
entirely alter the sense of what you said, and we cannot allow them to be 
made. You will be allowed to offer any explanation you please; but where 
you have said" Yes" or " No" you cannot be allowed to change " Yes" into 
"No" or "No" into" Yes." 

Captain Ste/mrt.-In reference to the following question, page 14, No. 183.: 
" At that time it would have been impossible for anx persons not ha \'ing­
the means of subsistence to have supplied themselves from such source,~" 
I said, " Quite impossible." 1 meant to say, "If they had been successful in 
fishing it would have been quite possible." In answer to a question in page 
15, No. 197.: "State why it would have been impossible to have done any 
good?" the answer given was, "\f e might have got into the loose ice, and 
our two small vessels could not have efiected any good." I \vish to correct 
this, by adding to that answer these words: "\Vithout the a"i~tall('e of 
steam." The following question appears in 15, ~(). 199. : " I..; it your opinion, 
under all the circumstances of the position of your YC'SSl.J, and the ,tores 
you had, that you might have stopped another month?" The answer I gave 
was, "I think not, certainly." I wish to exp];:in, upon this ans,Yer, "That 
we could have stopped anothcr month, but not another year. I understood 
a year to have been meant." In page 15 i~ the following gllc~tioll, :'\0. :20:2.: 
" Did you form any opinion as to the way :-iiI' .J ohn Franklin hall pa~serl;" 
The answer given was, " He could not have come Ly the south-west." I 
wish to explain, "That he could not have gone by the liOuth-west, and that 
he could not have been driven down Barrow'~ Strait without somebody 
seeing him." In the same page (15), ~o. 204. this question occurs: "Did 
you express any wish to remain in the ' Sophia,' for that. investigation?" 
I answered" No." I wish to add, "Except I had been accompanied by 
a steamer." In page 16, No. :209., the following appears: "Did not Captain 
Penny, at the same time, express his opinion that further search was un­
necessary." No answer is given in the evidence. I wish to make the 
following statement: "After the 'Resolute' came into Assistance Bay, I 
went on hoard with the chart, and Captain Penny followed immediately 
afterwards. After they had looked over the chart, and Captain Penny had 
explained to Captain Austin where he had been, he asked Captain Austin 
for a steamer." He said to him, "You say ,vc have been acting in concert. 
Let us prove the sincerity of that concert. Give me a steamer, and with 
the little 'Sophia' I will go up 500 miles further?" Captain Austin did 
not say "No;" but he drew himself up,-refused. I do not recollect 
the exact words he said; but it was a refusal. He said something, and 
Captain Penny said, "Th('11 I know the truth of your sincerity, and I will 
have nothing more to do with you." Then Captain Penny left immediately, 
both displeased and disappointed. This took place on the 11 th of August, 
on board the "Resolute." The next question, No. 209., is, "Did not 
Captain Penny at the time express his opinions that further search was un­
necessary." The answer I O'ave was, "Captain Penny wrote a letter to 
that effect; but I believe it was contrary to his convictions." After the 
word " letter" in that answer I wish the words "which appears" to be 
inserted. In page 16, :\'0.:21 I. is the foll?wing question.: "Have yO!! seen 
any cause to alter them~" The answer gIVen was, "I dId not know at the 
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time that traces had been found in any other direction." I should have 
said "I saw cause for further search with proper means." On the same 
pag~ (16 ), No. 21 S. is the followi~g q~estion : ." If' y~u could not have got up 
there, why could Sir John Franklm; If you thmk he IS gone up there he must 
have got through; if he could n<?t get through how could you get through?" 
The answer I gave was: "He nllght have got through, but of course there is 
a great deal of chance work in it. It is a very difficult navigation." I wish 
to add to that answer, "When there is loose ice." In page 16, No. 219. 
is the following question: "The tides make it difficult?" The answer I gave 
lVa~, "Yes." I wish to add, "When there is much ice." In page 1 i, 
No. 220. is the following question: "Then we are to understand that from 
Cape Beecher to Baring Islancl and Houston Stewart Island there is a great 
deal of packed ice that was driven to the eastward, and blocked up the 
channel?" The answer I gave was, " Yes." I wish to add these words 
" About the middle of July." In the sallle page is the following question: 
No. 221. "Will you mark the line where you saw the ice packed when you 
were there in June?" The answer I ga,-e ,ras, "It was to the westward of 
Baillie Hamilton and Dundas Islands. There was loose ice as far as the eye 
could reach." I wish to add, "None of it was packed on the 1st of June." 
In the same page (1 i), N o. 22~. is this question: "And do you know any. 
thing more of any conH'l'sation that took place between Captain Penny 
and Captain Austin ?" I answered, "No; I was never on board after that." 
I wish to add these words, "Captain Penny told me, a day or two afterwards 
that he had said to Captain ~'\ustin, 'Go up Wellington Strait, and you wili 
do the cause some service.' That ,ras coming down Barrow Strait." In 
answer to a question in page It', ~o. 2:Q. I said, "Captain Penny meant to 
say, that no search "as required beyond the Wellington Channel under the 
circumstances." I wish "in" to be substituted for" beyond." 

The Committee, after a lengthened consultation, adjourned. 

-___ --ao;._. .. _--'"_ 
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Tentll Day. Novemher 7, 1851. 

Present, Rear-Admiral Bowles, C.B., M.P., Chairman, 
Rear-Admiral Arthur Fanshawe, C. B., 
Captain Sir Edward Parry, 
Captain F. W. Beechey, 
Captain Sir George Back, 

Mr. F. J. Fegen, Secretary. 

COMMANDER PULLEN called. 

1353. Chairman.-You were First Lieutenant of the" Plover," I believe? 
Commander Pullen.-Yes. 
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1354. Chairman.-And you left her to go to Mackenzie River, and to 
explore the North American Continent ~ 

Commander Pllllell.-Yes; I left the" Plover" off 'Yainwright Inlet, and 
proceeded to Cape Barrow, and then to Mackenzie River. 

1355. ClwinllllJl.-Will you give us some account of your journey, and 
inform us what were your observations on the thickness of the ice? 

Commander Pullen.-From Wainwright Inlet I proceeded to the northward; 
a little to the southward of Cape Smyth I discovered what I considered to be 
a barrier of icc; from its appearance I thought there was no passage along 
the coast, and that I should have to return to the \·cs~cl. I hauled off the 
shore to the westward, ran along the line of icc three or four miles, met the 
yacht" Nancy Dawson," and learning from Mr. Shedden (her owner) that hc 
had been up to seventy-two degrees north without finding a lead to the north, 
and seeing no open \vater, hauled in for the land again, still keeping along the 
ice, when I met the Esquimaux, who told me that there was sufficient water fer 
boats along the coast. Approaching the shore about Cape Smyth I got into 
a deep bight formed by the pack on the shore, and made t:'lSt. to a heavy 
grounded mass of ice; this was late in the afternoon. We arrived at 
Mackenzie River on the 27th of August 1849, after an absence from the 
" Plover" of thirty-three days. Fort Simpson on the Mackenzie we reached 
on the 13th of October. 

1356. CllI1irll/llIl.-Will you state how many boats and men you had? 
Commander Pullen.-On leaving the ., Plover" we mustered twenty-five 

men, including the Russian interpreter. We had four boats, the "Herald's" 
barge decked over, the "Plover's" pinnace, and two dockyard whale boats. 
We had seventy days provisions for each man. 

1357. Chairman.-Do you think after leaving the" Plover," and on your 
way to the Mackenzie River, you observed sufficiently close to enable you to 
say you did not pass any traces of the missing expedition? 

Commander Pullen.-Yes; except between Cape Halkett and Point Berens, 
and there the shore was very low. I was aground in two feet of water out of 
sight of land. 

1358. Chairman.-Did you generally travel in the day or night time? 
Commander Pullen.-I only went on once at night; in fhct it was hardly 

possible to do so; for as to taking rest in the boats so loaded as they were 
was out of the question, and we did not muster strong enou~h to s~e~l? I 
therefore always considered it better to land; the coast then 111 the Vlcmlty 
was always most particularly examined. 

Bb4 

Comma Ilder Pullen. 
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CommanderPulien. 1359. Captain Beechey.-What is the probability of Sir John Fran.klin's 
vessels froUl the eastward being able to pass Cape Barrow ;-through the Ice of 

7th Nov. 1851. course? . . 
Commander Pllllell.-In July 1849 the Ice was p~cke.d heavy off POlDt 

Barrow, so as to prevent the possibility of a vessel gettmg III to the coast, and 
as far to the westward as I went. 

1360. Captoin Beechey.-What is the nature of the shore to the eastward 
of Point Barrow as to its depth? 

Commander Pullen.-The shore generally speaking is low, but in many 
places deep enough to allow of heavy !ee lying close in; .inside. a line from 
Cape Halkctt to Point Barrow the wate~ IS very shoal; CrossIDr' t~IS bay, when 
outside of this line, ice wus aground II1 three fcns water. rhls was out of 
sight of land. 

1361. Captain Beeche,y.-That was at the mouth of the Colville River, was 
it not? 

Commander Plllleil.-I consider small vessels can gencrally go along the 
coast if not more than eight feet draft of water. From Herschell Island there 
is a deep water close in shore until you approach the mouth of the Mackenzie, 
then it becomcs shallow. 

136:2. Cliptaill Beccltey.-'Vould it be safe, in your opinion, for a vessel of 
the " Plover's" draught of water to attempt the navigation of that shore 
between the ice and the land? 

Commander FullclI.-Xo. 
1:363. Captltin Beechey.-What draught of water is the" Plover"? 
Commllnder Pllllen.-Thirteen feet, I believe. 
1364. Captain Beecltey.-And why do not you think a vessel 'of that draught 

could not navigate there? 
Commander Pullen.-There is not sufficient water, except in parts; there 

would not be water for a vessel of the "Plover's" draught between the ice 
and the land at the time I passed. 

1365. Captflin Beechey.-Did YOll meet many natives there? 
CommaJlder P/lI{ell.~-Yes. 
1:366. Cllptain Bcechey.-Whereabouts? 
COlilmander Pllllen.-From Point Berens to the return reef was where I met 

the largest number of them. They also mustered strong at Point Barrow, but 
at other parts in slllall numbers . 

. I;~G" Crlptrlill Beechey.-Are you of opinion that a party deprived of their 
ships along that coast would find the natives friendly, and willing to render 
them assistance? 

Commander Plillen.-/I.t the time I came along it is likely they would, 
but not now, I think,. on account of the massacre at Point Separation. which 
I reported to the Admiralty. 

1368. Captain Beechey.-Did you land at any part of your journey between 
Cape Barrow and the Mackenzie? 

Commander Pullen.-Yes, . we landed frequently; we landed to get our 
meals, generally about three times a day. 

1369. Capt~ti~l Beec(lCY.-What probability is there of persons without 
resources reccIVmg assIstance in those parts? 

CO})I1~lrllld('r Pullell.-:-In summer a good huntsman could supply a small 
p~rty WIth ?eer and ~nld fowl, a~d. would be able to procure salmon and oth~r 
fi~h, otherWise there lS no probabIlIty as the Esquimaux about the MackenZie 
are, I think, unfriendly. ' 

1370. Cup.tain Becchey.-Did you ascend any heights along the coast during 
your voyage r 

Commander Pullen.-No. The highest was on the east point of Flaxman's 
Island; £i'om twenty-five to thirty feet. 

1:371. qaptain Beeclzey.-Then, from what you saw of the ice in the offing, 
do you thmk that the pack extends any considerable distance from the shore? 

.Collllllande~· Pullen:-Yes, I do not recollect that I saw a water sky in the 
offing ;-nothmg but Ice. 

'I 13
k
7"2 . . C~ptflin BeecheJ/.-'''as that ice there similar to what you saw at 

.\ ac -enZle r 

COJl/lllalldpl' PlIllell.-It was not so heavy about lVlackenzie. After leaving 
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Point Kay I did .not see much ice, it having been driven off by the streams 
of the MackenzIe. Between Herschell Island and Point Barrow the Ice IS 
all of the same heavy character as it is to the westward of Point Barrow. 

1373. Captain Beech~l/.-Did you notice any tides in your journey? 
. Commander Pullen.-Yes. The rise and fall was very small; I think fourteen 
mches was the greatest. I should call ele\'en incbs the averaO"e from Point 
Barrow till you get in the influence of the Mackenzie. I:> 

1;)74. Sir G. Bac!c.-I w~uld ask you whether the fresh water you got 
was brought down from the Babbage River or the Mackenzie? 

Comrnande1' Pullen.-The water we drank was £I'om the Mackenzie. 
1375. Sir G. Back.-Did you find any harbour between Return Reef 

and Flaxman's Island where a ship might anchor in safety? 
Commander Pullen.-No. 
1376. Sir G. Back.-Nor anywhere else? 
Commander Pullen.-Yes. Inside Herschell Island a vessel of small draft 

of water could anchor, and they might possibly winter under or to the south 
end of the eastern part of Flaxman's Island and the Spits between the Return 
Reef and Jones' Island. 

1377. Sir G. Back.-Did you find much drift wood? 
Commander Pllllell.-Immense quantities, chiefly of pine. One piece was 

eighty feet in length and ten feet in circumference. That was in Camden Bay. 
1378. Sir G. Bllc!c.-"'},fay I ask whether the highest piece of ice had 

any gra\'el 011 the top of it ? 
Commander Pullen.-The highest ice was from seventy to cighty feet, about 

two miles off the shore. I saw no gravel on the top of it, as I did not 
a seend it. As we came along there ",as a great deal of fog, and we were 
making use of ice to drink. 

1379. Captain Beechey.-Did you notice that the tides were high at any 
particular days of your journey? 

Commander Pllllen.-Yes, ,,'e did; the effect of wind. It is in my journals 
in the Admiralty. 

1380. Captoin nl'ecj,I'Y.-"'ill yon state whether, between the :Mackenzie 
and Cape Bathurst, a vessel would be safe ill navigating that shore with the 
same draught of water as the "Plover"? 

Commander Pullen.-No, it would not. The same objection exists as that 
I stated just now. 

1381. Sir G. Back.-Did you not find the water proceeding to the east­
ward from Point Barrow vary very much in depth; four or five miles out for 
instance? 

Commander Plillen.-I never could get out so far on account of the icc. 
except in crossing Harrison's Bay. 

1382. Captain Beeche!J.-If a party were deprived of their ships, proceeding 
£I'om Mackenzie to Cape Bathurst, would there be any material difficulty from 
the natives in reaching the ~rackenzie? 

Commander Pullen.-There would be great difficulty for want of boats, and 
when reaching the Mackenzie great difficulty £I'om the natives. The Mackenzie 
natives have told us that they would show ,,,hite men no quarter. 

1383. Cop til in Beeclte!J.-If a party had been amongst the natives and 
destroyed by them, do you imagine that you would have heard of it ? 

Commander PllllL'Il.-'" e shollld have been sure to have heard of It. 
1384. Sir G. Baclc.-Did not your party find a gun made by Barnett in the 

possession of the Esquimaux ? 
Commander Pullen.-Yes. 
1385. Sir G. Back.-Had you any idea at the time to whom that gun had 

belonged? 
Commander Pullen.-I had not the slightest idea, nor how they came by it. 
1386. Sir G. Back.-You did not find out that the gun was lost by one of 

the men in my boat in 1826? 
Commande'r Pullen.-No; I did not know it until the other day. 
1387. Sir G. Back.-Supposing a party of men wrecked on that coast, 

midway between Icy Cape and the Mackenzie River, do you think they 
Cc 
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CommanderPullen. would be able to proceed to the post on that river without aid from the 
natives? 

7th Nov. 1851. Commander Pllllen.-Yes, if the party was not weakened by want, and the 
natives were friendly. 

1388. Capta£n Beechey.-How far along the coast eastward did you 
proceed? 

Commander Pullen.-As far as the Spit off Cape Bathurst. 
1389. Captm:n Beeche,lJ.-Is Cape Bathurst high ~ 
Commander Pl1llen.-No. I could not get to It for Ice, but should say 

the Cape itself was from ten to fifteen feet high. 
1390. Cal,faill Beeche'y.-From what you saw of ~~e ice and the offing, 

knowino' the position of Banks's Land, what probabIlIty would there be of 
b " 

success of a part\' nttemptmg to cross r 
Commande1' P;tlII'JI.-None at all; I do not think it possible. 
1391. Captain Beeclzey.-What is the nature of the ice off Cape Bathurst? 
Commander Pllllen.-It is heavy hummucky ice. It was one continued 

struggle from the 25th of July to t~e 5th of ~ugust to get along that ice, 
it being so close in, and we were cuttmg all the tIme. 

1392. Captain Beeche.lJ.-Did you see any land to the northward during 
your voyage? 

COlli 1111111 £11'1" PII/lell.-No. 

1393. Captain Beeche,lJ.-Did there appear to you to be any general current 
alol1O' that shore, beyond what is occasioned by the wind? 

C~J/lmander Pullen.-f\.o, I do not think there is. 

1394. Sir G. Back.-Now there seems a remarkable difference in the season 
when you were there and when I was with Sir John Franklin, viz., that on the 
15th of August 1826 there was a complete open sea, with the exception of one 
piece of ice to the north and west. What was its state when you were there? 

Commander I'll//ell.-It was all ice to scaward, and along the coast east 
and wcst. 

1395. Adllliml Fanslwwe.-How many days were you occupied in explora­
tion with the boats after you left the" Plover"? 

Commander Pullen.-From the 25th of July to the 30th August. That was 
the first time, in 1849, from the" Plover" on the coast when we entered the 
;\Iackenzie, and my arrival at Fort Simpson was 3d October. 

1396. Admiral Fanshawe.-What was the health of your party on reaching 
Fort Simpson? 

Commal/der Pullen.-Their general health was good. 
1:)97. Admiral Fanslwwe.-Not much exhausted from their labour? 
Commander Pullen.-I was obliged to leave five of them at the most 

northern post. One of them I thought I should lose. 

1398 .• -1dmirrtl ]''ttll.l'!tl{/cc.-What was the second journey? 
Commander Pllllen.-On the 22d of July 1850 I got into the Arctic seas, 

rea~hed Cape Bathurst on the 10th of August, remained therc, or in its vicinitr, 
u~ttl the 15th of August, and returned, arriving at the mouth of the MackenZIe 
Hl\'er on the 1st of August, and reached Fort Simpson on the 5th of October. 

1399. ,"::,'ir E. ParT,lJ.-Jnst state to the Committee what boats you think 
best adapted for navigating that shore? 

Commander Pullen.-Steam launches of about three feet draft of water. 
1400. Sir E. Prtr1:y.-Could you carry fuel for that purpose? 
C!0Jlll1wnd'!r PlllleJl.-I shou}d d~pcnd principally upon the drift wood,. of 

whICh there IS plenty. There l~ an Immense quantity of it to bc found. WIth 
t?cse steam launches I should lIke to have a light boat, a good whale boat; not 
like the present dockyard whale boat, but one with more beam and flatt.er 
floor, such as the whalers use. _ 

1401. Sir E .. Parr'y.-Can y~u sugg~s~ any practicable means ofprp~e.cut~ 
the search for Sir John Franklm s expedItIon from the continent of Amenca:~ 
, C01nmander P~llen.-Not from the continent at all with bO(lts.. T4e disad­
vantage of boats IS, that the best season for navigation it! wh~n we are making 
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the b~st of our way for our winter quarters. If there had been a ship or 
establIshment on the coast I could have remained there much Ion O'er than I 
~d. It was onlx the 5th o~ October when I reached winter quarte~s at Port 
SImpson. The Ice was makmg then in the Mackenzie, and driving fast down 
when we came up; it was one continued drift of ice and heavy snow storms. 
I refer to the year 1850; in 1849 the weather was somewhat better. 

Mr. BROOMAN called. 

1402. Chairman.-You were Paymaster of the" Resolute," I believe? 
Mr. Brooman.-Yes. 

1403. Chairman.- Were you in any of the exploring parties yourself? 
Mr. Brooman.-No. 

1404. Chairman.-Did you land at Beechey Island, where traces of Sir 
John Franklin's winter quarters were found? 

Mr. Brooman.-Yes. 

1405. Chainnan.--Were you present at the search which took place for 
records and documents? 

Mr. Brooman.-Yes, on one occasion. 

1406. Clwirman.-Do you think that the search was so complete as to 
render it impossible that any documents left there could have been over­
looked? 

.Mr. Brooman.-Yes, I think so. 

1407. Chairman.-During the time you were III winter quarters you 
remained in the ship? 

Mr. Brooman.-Yes. 

1408. Chairman.-You know nothing, then, except fi-om the reports you 
heard? 
, Mr. Brooman. -Nothing more. 

1409. Chairman.-Were you present at any conversation between Captain 
Penny and Captain Austin as to the discoveries that had been madc by Captain 
Penny? 

Mr. Brooman.-Y es. We were walking from the shore, towards the latter 
end of May 1851, shortly after Captain Penny had returned. Captain Penny 
was talking of the immense distancc he had travelled, and of the amazing 
quantity of water he had seen, at least, I think he said ~ixty miles. Captain 
Austin expressed astonishment at that. Captain Penny threw himself back, 
and said" Austin! Austin! do you doubt me?" Captain Austin said, "No, 
but I think you may be mistaken." Captain Penny said this wutcr was teem­
ing with life; seals, walruses, white whales, ducks, gulls, and some bears "Tre 
seen. He stated that from the top of the hills,-after some conversation,-he 
must have seen fully thirty miles of water. Captain Austin still expressed 
doubt, and he then said there was at least ten miles of water. He came back 
from sixty to ten. Captain Austin then said" Why, you must have discovered 
the Polar Basin." Captain Penny said he did not know about that. I am 
speaking to the best of my recollection. Captain Austin then said "Yon 
will discover the north-west passage;" and Captain Penny said" There is no 
difficulty about that, but that he would not try it through Wellington Strait, 
but would go round by Behring Straits." Captain Austin then said he would 
leave that honour to Captain Penny, or to younger men than himself. 

1410. Chairman.-Did you hear Captain Penny make any distinct request 
to Captain Austin for assistance, in boats, men, or in any other way, to enable 
him to proceed with his discoveries? 

Mr. Brooman.-While smoking that evening, I heard Captain Austin offer 
Captain Penny officers, boats, or anything else for that purpose, but I did not 
hear Captain Penny apply for them. The impression on my mind was that 
Captain Penny wanted it. After smoking a cigar, about a quarter to eleven 
at night, Captain Austin went down. Captain Penny, Dr. King, and I went 
down into the gun-room, and had a glass of brandy and water. I asked Captain 
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Penny distinctly whether he thou~ht Sir John Fra.nk.lin went up the Wellington 
Channel. His answer was, "It IS my firm conVictIOn that ~e never went up 
there." Captain Penny retired to bed, as I thoug~t, as It was very late. 
About an hour afterwards I heard that he had put his dogs to, and had gone 
away entirely, very suddenly indeed. ! was at a loss to account for it, exce~t 
that the next day being Sunday he nllght have gone to read prayers to. hiS 
crew. As he did not return on the Monday as I expected, I. began to consider 
that he had been offended some way or another, but how I did not know. 

1411. Chainnan.-Is there anything further you can relate on the same 
subject? Did .y?U hear any.conversations between Captain Austin and Ca~tain 
Penny, on arnvJIlg at the wlllter quarters of the latter, when they met agam? 

Mr. Broornan.-No. I have no personal knowledge. 
141:2. Captain Beecltey.-Have you any~h.ing to remark on the provisions, 

in case it is necessary to send another cxpedltlOn to the polar seas? 
Mr. Brooman.-Yes. I consider the preserved meats perfectly tasteless. 

I would advise that spice should be mixed up with them so as to render 
them more palatable. 

1413. Clwirmml.-Have you given in any report or suggestions as to the 
quality of your provisions, and the better care that should be taken in future? 

illr. Brooman.-No. 
Clwirlilllll.-Then the Committee will request you to draw up a paper 

containing a full report of all you have observed, with your objections 
to the provisions taken out under Captain Austin, and suggesting such 
alterations as may cause bcttcr care to be taken for. the futurc. You 
will be kind enough to send thosc suggestions in to the Committee 
in the course of this or next wcek. 

14U. Clwirlllan.-,re understand a large quantity of the provisions was 
returned as unserviceable? 

Mr. Brooman.-I think we had only about four cases of preserved meat that 
were bad. 

1415. Clwirman.-Can you state the quantity of provisions you returned 
into store? 

Mr. Broo1l1(l1l.-About two years for the whole complement or number 
victualled. 

:Mr. RICHARD KING called. 

1416. Chairman.-What situation did you fill in the" Resolute"? 
illr. Killf(.-Assistant surgeon. 
141 i. Clzairman.-Were you present at any conversation between Captain 

Penny and Captain Austin? 
1.11r. Killg.-Not between Captain Austin and Captain Penny, except when 

Captain Penny fii'st returned from Wellington Strait. He returned on the 
24th of May. In the gun-room he stated the distance he had gone, what he 
had seen, and ,,,hat he believed to be the state of Wellington Channel. He 
mentioned about the island he got to,-Baillie Hamilton. He said he went on 
shore at Baillie Hamilton Island, and saw water to the north-west. He saw a 
piece of ice, and from the rapidity at which it was going, he thought the current 
was four knots an hour. He was very sorry he had not sufficient food for his 
dogs to eat, otherwise he would have had some other views, ,,·hich he thuught 
would have been of great assistance to him. Not having food for his dogs, he 
was obliged to return. I think Captain Penny said he saw a bear, but that he 
had no opportunity of killing it. 

1418. C!hairman.-We h~ve heard it state~ that you were present at a 
conversatIOn between Captam Penny and Captam Austin? 

Jfr. King.-No, I was not. In the evening Mr. Brooman and I were 
chatting with Captain Penny, and having some brandy and water. Mr. Brooman 
aske~ Captain Penny whethe~ he thought Sir John Franklin had not gone up 
W el~mgton Channel. Captam Penny said he thought he had not, and that he 
considered that the old Ice had been there for a number of years· I think 
Mr. Penny said twen~y years. .Mr. Brooman an~ I were the onlypers~ns there. 
Mr. May was sketchmg somethmg; I do not thmk he heard the conversation. 
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1419. S£r E. Prrrr.Ij.-Were you present at any other 
time bet,,:een Captain Austin and Captain Penny t 

conversation at any J!r. R. KiJlf/, 
... ~ssi"t([nl /·· ... lugeon. 

Mr. Kmg.-No. 

The Chairman._1 should mention to Captain Austin and Captain Penny, 
that after to-morrow the Committee will adjourn to Monday se'nnight. 
It may be convenient for you to know this, that you may make your 
arrangements. I must observe to you (addressing Captain Austin) 
that we have had some supplementary evidence from Captain Stewart; 
and the Committee wish me to mention it to you, because there are 
several points which Captain Stewart now adds to his oriO'inal evidence, 
and which you may perhaps wish to call somebody to exPlain. 

Captain Austin.-I have not gone into that evidence sufficient to say; 
but I think that Captain Ommanney might recollect something more 
of it. 

Chairman.-Y ou will recollect that you are not to call any witllC'~Sl": 
to examine them yourself. The feeling of the Committee is, as regards 
the additions that Captain Stewart has made, that he ought to have 
recollected them before. If there are any of your officers who were 
present at the time, we arc ready to call and examine them. 

Captain Austin.-Captain Ommanney is the only one I think of at 
present. 

Clwirman.-After hearing Captain Stewart's new evidence we look('d 
at Captain Ommanney's, and found it very distinct on the ~1l"4ject. 

CaptainAusHn.-As this is now a question of character, and as, frolll what 
Captain Stewart has said, there may be some doubt in your minds 
whether I have always rendered assistance to Captain Penny in eYery 
way, I will put in a note written by him in reference to that subject, ill 
his own handwriting. It is dated" Assistance Bay, lOth April 1~!)I." 

Chairman.-That is a very early date. Nobody says anything about 
what took place between you at that time. 

Captain Austin.-I beg to put in the letter. 

1420. Chairman (to C"ptain PCIII//l ).-Will you look at this letter, and say 
whether it is in your handwriting? 

Captain Penny.-Oh yes, I quite admit it. 
The following is a copy of the letter. 

" My dear Austin, Assistance Bay, 10th :"'-pril 1~;-)1. 
.. In answer to your kind letter allow me to expre~s my Op1l1IOll ot your 

admirable arrangements. They arc such, my dear Austill, that had the Bo:ml 
of Admiralty, with dear Lady Fr~n~lin at their head, they could ~;>t have U11-

proved upon them, to serve the mISSIOn we have been sent upon. I he .re~lllt l~ 
in the hand of the Disposer of all ev~nts ; ~nd whosoever may. be the fo~tullat(' 
one, we will look back with pleasure 111 havlllg acted together 111 forwardll1g the 
noble cause we have entered upon with all the energy of our natures. 

" There has been no expedition ever out in the Arctic sea that ha~ manage(l 
as you have done with so many wild Rpirits to co~trol. I have no dOli1Jt Y.O!I 

have much to annoy you, but you will look back WIth pleasure 011 the sacntlC(' 
you made. The country demanded an active and energetic officer, and tl\('.' 
have not been disappointed, whatever the result may be. 

" I must now conclude with an earnest prayer that all may be enabled to 
do their duty. 

" I remain, 
" Yours Rincerely, 

(Signed) " "l. PEX,';)"." 

The Committee then adjourned. 
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Eleventh Day. November 8, I R;j I . 

Present, Rear-Admiral Bowles, C.B., M.P., Chairman, 
Rear-Admiral Arthur Fanshawe, C.B., 
Captain Sir Edward Parry, 
Captain F. W. Beechey, 
Captain Sir George Back, 

Mr. F. J. Fegen, Secretary. 

,ERASMUS YORK, the Esquimaux brought over by Captain Ommanney, Erasmus York. 
was introduced to the Committee for the purpose of giving information. 
The Rev. P. Latrobe, Secretary to the Moravian i'Iissions, and the 8th ~ov. 1851. 

Rev. Christian Beck, acted as interpreters. 

1421. The CltlliTll/l1Il (ar/dress/IIP: the Reu. lIfr. Latrobe). You are perhaps 
aware that a report prevailed last year amongst the Esquimaux at Baffin's 
Bay, that Sir John Franklin's ships had been lost, and their crl'\Y~ murdered? 

Mr. LatJ·obe.-Yes. At the request of Captain Hamilton, ,orne papers con­
nected with the su~ject were forwarded to Germany for translation by our 
missionaries. The translations have been made, and the papers are now in 
Captain Hamilton's hands. 

1422. ClwiTll1rlll.-There is another deposition of Adam Beck's, taken before 
a magistrate, which has been sent to Copenhagen for translation, but which we 
have not yet received. 

1423. S/r E. Parry (to lJJr. Latrobe).-What is Mr. Beck, who is about to 
act as Esquimaux interpreter? 

Mr. Lat1·obe.-He has been a missionary in Labrador thirty-four years. He 
was born in Greenland. His father was a missionary in Greenland fifty-two 
years, and his grandfather forty-three years on the same coast. 

A paper containing a deposition by Adam Beck, an Esquimaux, who pro­
fessed to have received the information it conveyed from his countryman 

.Erasmus York, was put in by Captain Ommanney, and translated into German 
by the Rev. Christian Beck, 1\11'. Latrobe giving the sense in English. It was 

·as follows: 

" While I have been here there have been many ships. There were 
" also many people upon the land. On the islands there were but few 
" native people. A good many show themselves when pleased. (The 
" Rev. Mr. Latrobe understood this to mean that when anything occurred to 
" interest or please them a great number showed themselves.) There were 
" birds, such as eider fowl (and there was another word which he the 
" Rev. Christian Beck did not understand, signifying a particular kind of bird 
" which he did not know). There were also other little birds, that look white, 
" that are found in the country, and also ravens; little ravens and great 
" ravens, and various birds mixed together. (There are other words, evidently 
" names of birds, Lut incorrectly written, probably local names for birds, 
" which the Rev. C. Beck did not understand). There is a little bird with 

Cc4 



ErasmU5 York. 

8th Nov. 1851. 

1:16 EVIDENCE TAKEN BEFORE THE COMMITTEE RESPECTING THP. 

" red at the top of the head. The people here are few. And this is written 
" bv mc from my heart. 

" . (Signed) " JOHN Ross, witness to the above being written 
" by Adam Beck on board Her Majesty's 
" Ship' .Assistance,' this 17th day of August 
" 1850, III my presence. 

" Erasmus Ommanllcy, Captain of Her Majesty's 
" Ship 'Assistance,' thi~ 17th. day. of August 1850, 
" witnessed the above bemg Written III my presence by 
" Adam Beck." 

1·1:24. The Chairman directed that the first question put to Erasmus York 
:-:hould be the following :-" What have you related to Adam Beck?" 

The Rev. Mr. Beck put this question to Erasmus York, and after a consider­
able time communicated the answer to the Rev. Mr. Latrobe • 

.lIr. Latrobe.-Mr. Beck and the Esquimaux seem to understand each other 
vcry well, a few expressions excepted. Erasmus admits that he mentioned to 
Adam Beck a number of things, chiefly about the country. Further than that 
1\Jr. Beck has not been able to get anything out of him. 

t.!25. Sir E. Par/'!J.-Ask him of what place he was a native? 
Erasmus l'ork, in reply to the question, said he was a native of Imnagana, 

being Cape York of the English. 

142G. Sir E. Pan:y.-How far north has he ever been? 
Erasmus York said that when a little boy he had gone up as far as a place 

marked on his own chart "Pickierloo." Since he had grown up he had not 
been £'1rtbcr than Wolstenholme Sound. 

1427. ,Sir E. Parry. - Has he ever heard of any Kabloona (white men) 
ships being wrecked on that coast? 

Erasmus York replied that Adam Beck had related to him that two ships 
had been wrecked. 

1428. Sir E. Pa1'l:!f.-But does he say he ever heard it from his own 
people? 

Erasmus York said that far up to the north a ship had been wrecked. He 
had heard a woman suy so. The name of the place was Onoetoke. 

U29. Sir E. Parry.-Did he ever hear of more than Olle ship being wrecked 
there? 

EraslIllls l'ork.-Only one ship. 

U30. Sir E. Parry.-How long was that ago? How many winters ago? 
. Erasmus York.-Eight winters ago. 

1431. Sir E. Pa1'l'!J.-Does he know what became of the K abloon as be­
longing to the ship? 

Erasmus York replied that he had never heard what happened to the people. 

1432. Sir E. PI11'ly.-Has he ever heard that there are any Kabloonas in 
that direction now? 

Erasmus York said he knew nothing of any Kabloonas being on shore within 
the last four years. 

1433. Sir E. Pa1'l:y.-Did he see the" North Star" on its arrival there? 
Erasmus York.-Yes. 

1434. Sir E. Pa1'1:y.-That was only two years ago. Ask him when? 
Erasmus York.-Two winters ago. 

14:3;'). Sir E. Pal'ry.-Has he ever heard of any Kabloonas being murdered 
by the Esquimaux on the north? 

.Erasmus Y,ork said he had neither seen anything of the kind, nor heard any­
thmg of the kmd 011 that coast. 



EXPEDITIONS IN SEARCH OF SIR JOHN FRANKLIN. 13i 

1436. S£r E. Parry.-Has he heard anything of the kind 011 any other 
part of the coast? 

Erasmus York replied that he had not. He had never heard of any murder 
or ill-treatment. 

1437. S£r E. Pat-ry.-Ask him again how long it was since these ships were 
lost that he heard of? 

Erasmus York replied that it was when he was eight years old. 

1438. Sir E. Pal'ry.-Does he know how old he is now? 
Eras;nus York, on this question being put to him, counted upon his fingers 

np to nmeteen. 

1439. Sir E. Pal'l:I/.-What does he think is the character of Adam Beck? 
Erasmus York replied to the question in English as follows: ""'\.dam Beck 

tell lie ; no good." ~ 

The Rev.lIfr. Beck remarked, that, after the Esquimaux fashion, Erasmus 
was very reluctant to speak out. Sometimes he would say that Adam 
Beck was good, and sometimes that he was bad. He said too that he 
was a mixture of good and bad. 

1440. S£r E. Pa1'1:IJ.-Ask him whether he believes Adam Beck's word? 
Erasmus York said, " Adam Beck's words are fine, but they are not to be 

believed." 

A long conversation took place on the subject of Adam Beck's depositions 
which had been submitted last year to the Moravian missionaries for 
translatiOlJ. 

Mr. Latrobe said the missionaries had attentively considered the depositions, 
and had returned a translation. The Rev. Gentleman then read the 
following letter :-

Letter from the Rev. A. S. Elsner to the Rev. P. Latrobe. 

Translated from the German. 

" Dear Brother, Hernhut, October 29. 1~50. 
" I am very sorry to be only now enabled to send you the result of my 

" investigation referring to the two Esquimaux sentence~ in XO. :2U,(jO.-': of 
" the Times. This long delay has been occasioned by the following circum· 
" stance: both passages, as you know, being' \uitten in impure E~quil\laux, 
" and being therefore only half intelligible to me, I considercd it absolutdy 
" necessary to confer with one of our Greenland missionaries. But Paulsen 
" Lund, the only Greenland missionary here, being on a journey, I had to put oft· 
" the matter until to-day. Unfortunately, however, the \Try words which are 
" not intelligible in the Esquimaux language arc like\\i,c not completely 
" so to a person conversant with the Greenlandish dialect. I, therefore, 
" prefer sending rather an imperfect than a false translation. The following is 
" the result of our investigations. 

" The first sentence merely states the different dwelling places and names of 
" the Esquimaux who went to 'Omanak' (the name of a place, probably all 
" island). The sentence, however, is so confusedly composed that it is hardly 
" possible to give a cohercnt translation of it. The only word whose interpre· 
" tation is rather doubtful is the word' innaesonet.' "-\s the spelling of this 
" word is incorrect, it might either mean' many persons' or the plural number 
" of 'murderer.' In our Esquimaux dialect a murderer means 'innunrtok: 
" and in the Greenlandish 'innuraersok.' It is, howe\'er, Ycry improbable, that 
" the interpreter should designate as murderers all those Esquimaux who had 
" gone to Omanak fi'om so many different places which he mentions; espe­
" cially since he merely states in this sentence, that those Esquimaux had gone 
c, there, without stating the object of their going. He then finishes this 
" sentence with these words :-' Twenty-six is the number of the Esquimaux 
'c in the neighbourhood of Omanak.' The second sentence, speaking of the 
" vessels themselves, is better constructed, and, with the exception of a few 
" words, is intelligible to us. The sense is as follows :-' The Esqllimallx, 
" whom I saw for the first time on the 13th August 1850, and whom I asked 
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" whether they had seen any vesse.ls ,~hi~h staid 0v:er winter in thei~ country, 
" answered.' (The three words whIch mdlcate the t~me when the ShIpS set sail 
" aO'ain are unintelligible. The writer then contmues,)' Therefore I write 
" cgncerning them' (which probably means as much ~s 'I suppose ') 'in the 
" year 1846, when the ic:e began t~ break, they set sail and went to Omanak, 
" and stayed there dUl'Illg the wIllter, because they could not proceed on 
" account of the ice; because there were many yesseh the Esquimaux' . . 
" The last four words are unintelligible to m. The writer annexes to one of 
" them the syllable' gog,' which means' they say.' This proves that he was 
" not quite sure of what he is stating. I am sorry to be obliged to send so im­
" perfect a translation; but it is impossible to make a better one. We cannot 
" well decide here whether, in those part~, another dialect is spoken, or whether 
" the bad spelling produces the difficulty. The latter is a yery common fault 
" of the Greenlanders who have not been regularly instructed." 

LIEUTENANT .J. E. ELLIOTT called. 

1441. Chail'mrm.-What situation did you hold:-
Lieutenant Elliott.-Second Lieutenant of the " Assistance." 

] 442. Chai1'1nan.-Did you accompany any of the exploring expeditions? 
Lieutenant Elliott.-No. 

1443. C/winllan.-Did you make any observations on the state of the ice 
in Wellington Strait when you came out of your winter quarters, and when 
you returned to the eastward, and were sent to the crow's nest to report on 
that suqject ? 

Lieutenllilt Elliott.-I found the ice more to the southward than it was the 
the year before. It was to the Southward of Barlow's Inlet, and extended two 
thirds across Wellington Strait. 

1444. Clwil'll/rtn.-To the westward, did it appeal' fast ice? 
Lieut('}lant Elliott.-Yes; it was completely blocked up. 

1445. Clwir}})([lI.-But to the eastward it extended farther to the north? 
Lieutenant Elliott.-Yes. "r e could ~ee as far a~ Point Innes, and the open 

water reached apparently as far as that. 

1446. Clwil''illan.-Had you been on an Arctic voyage previously? 
Lieutenant Elliott.-No. 

1~47 .. C/wil'lll(I1l.-From your own observation at the time. and comparing 
the Ice III 1850 and 1851, when you passed it going to the westward, did it 
appeal' to you as thick as on the precedino- year? 
. Lieutenant Elliott.-Ye~. In Septcmb~I: 1850 we passed farther north than 
m 1851. 

14.48. Clwinnf1!I.-How high were you yourself in September 1850? 
Lleutenant ElllOtf.-"Nearly as high as Point Inne~. 

1449. Clzai1'1nan.-Did you see any open water? 
Lieutenant Elliott.-None to the northward. There was a fixed floe right 

across. 

1450. Clwi1'lnan.-Do you think from what you saw that there was any 
probability of the strait clearing that year after you passed? 

Lieutenant Elliott.-N o. 

1451. Chairmall.-Why? 
Lieutenant Elliott.-Because it appeared so thick and fixed, and the ther­

mometer fell to near zero soon after we were obliged to go to winter quarters. 

1452. C/wil'lI/all.-Were YOll present at any conversation that took place 
between Captain Austin and Captain Penny? 

Lieutenant Elliott.-No. 

1453. Chairman.-You know nothing then, except from hearsay? 
Lieutenant Elliott.-Nothing more. 
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1454. Chai1·man.-Were yon present when the search for traces was made in 
Beechey Island? 
. Lieutenant Elliott.-Yes. I discovered the first traces myself. It was a 

piece of bottle found at Cape Riley. We searched further, and found a staff, 
iron bar, and other articles. 

14.5.5. C'lwil'lJ/'lII.-Do you think the search you made was so complete 
that there was no chance of any records or documents being overlooked? 

Lieutenant Elli~tt.-Yes. I assisted in taking down a cairn on Beechey 
Island. \Ve took It down stone by stone, and dug two feet underneath it, but 
found nothing. 

1456. Did you know anything of the search in Cape Riley? 
Lieutenant Etliotf.-It was at Cape Riley where the piece of bottle was 

found. . 

1457. CltllirlJ/fIIl.~-\Vere you one of the party that went down and discovered 
the graves? 

Lieutenant Rltiott.-Xo. Captain Penny came down to us when beset in 
the ice. We told him what we had dOlle, and that we had left Beechey Island 
and coast near it unfinished. Captain Penny ~aid he would return, and 
complete the search of Beechey Island and the neighbourhood, as we were 
beset. 

H!)H. Clwi/'llwll.-In 11451, when you crossed \Vellington Strait again, 
going to the eastward, did the ice appear to be in motion? 

Lieutenant Elliott.-The outward or southern edge of the ice was ill motion, 
the floc ill the channel was to all appearance fixed. 

1459. ClwiI'lJUIII.-Was there any appearance of the ice breaking up before 
the close of the season, so as to render the Wellington Strait navigable? 

Liclltel/flllt Elliott.-I cannot say. 

LIEUTEN.lNT MECHA:\I called. 

1460. Clwil'lI/ltll.-What rank did you hold in the " Assistance ?" 
Lil'lItewlltf lYlechmn.-Third Lieutenant. 

1461. ('/1111/'111(111.-1 believe you explored the ('oa,t to the south\vard in the 
chart which is marked with your name? 

Llellteltrlllt Jl(?I'!IIII1l.-Y e~. 

1462. CllUil'lIIlIll. - Without any superior officer? 
Licutellllllt 11If',-/I'Wt.-Y cs. 

1463. C'1/llil'lI/rtll.-Are yon sure that you explored so carefully that no 
traces of the missing expedition could have been overlooked .~ 

Lieutella lit lUec!wlIl.-Yes. 

1464. ('/Ulif'lIIll1/.-Have you such personal knowledge of the ice in Wellington 
Strait as would enable you to say whether the strait would be navigable 
this year or not? 

Lieutenant 1I1ec!wlII.-In August 1850 it '\'as not navigable to the north as 
we crossed it. In recrossing in Angust 1851 heavy ice was streaming down its 
western shores, but as we approached the eastern side we could see no fixed ice 
to the northward from the crow's nest. 

1465. C'IUlil'lIl(lII.-How far did the open water appear to extend? 
Lieutenllnt Jlf'c!ulJlI.-\Ye saw open water as far as we could see from the 

crow's nest. I should judge that fixed ice could not be distinguished over ten 
miles. 

1466. Chairman.-You have no personal knowledge of any conversation 
between Captain Austin and Captain Penny? 

Lielltenrmt Mecham.-None. 

1467. Cltairman.-Were you on shore when the search took place on Beechey 
Island and Cape Riley for traces of the missing expedition, when just dis­
covered, in 1850? 

Lieutenant 1I1echam.-No; I was on board the ship off Gascoigne Inlet. 
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1468. Chairman.-Did you give in any report ':I'hen you returned fro.m your. 
exploring expedition as to the sledges, and the Improvements that mIght be 
made hereafter? '" . 

Lil'utCll(fllt lI1echam.-Yes. They were contamed III my travelhng Journal 
which I gayc to Captain Austin. 

1469. CltairJlllln.-Have you an,ything to add to ~hat ? . 
Lieutenant Mecham.-I should lIke to look over It agam. I do not think I 

could state anything more on the subject now. 
1470. Cltrtinnl/lI.-We understand you left a boat somewhere. Will you 

explain the circumstances? ., . 
LiellteJw,d Mecha1ll.-I was ordered to take It to the posItIon of Captain 

Ommanney's first depot, latitude 73°' .'i7', longitude 99r· The boat was 
placed hfteen miles to the eastward of that; an~ was left there i~ ca~e Captain 
Ommanncy wished to leave the first depot dm'ct. f?r the ShIp, Illstead of 
proceeding to Cape Walker for the purpose of obtammg one of the Halketts 
which ,,'ere buried there. The boat was left to the east of the depot, on 
account of the heavy character of the ice. 

:\Ir. PICKTHORNE called. 

1471. Clwirlllan.-What rank did you hold in the" Resolute?" 
11Ir. PicktllOnU'.-Additional Assistant Surgeon of the "Resolute" for 

service in the" Pioneer." 
147:2. Clwi)'}}u/lI.-'Were you present at any conversation between Captain 

Penny and Captain Austin in May 1851 or August 1851 ? 
1111'. Pickthonu!.-I recollect being present on the 24th of May, when 

Captain Penny dined with Captain Austin, and spent the evening there. 
During thc eycning Captain Penny gave Captain Austin an account of his 
proceedings up Wellington Channel. He said he intended to transport a boat 
across the icc, in order to carryon the search in the open water he had disco­
vered. In the Cf)Urse of the evening Captain Austin offered him, if I recollect 
right, two sledge parties and officers to assist him in transporting his boat up 
Wellington Channel. I do not recollect any more of the conversation. Cap­
tain Penny lcft in the evening rather hurriedly. 

1473. Clwi;'l/Ian.-All that yon heard? 
Jlfr. Pir:ktlwrne.-Yes. . 

Hi-!. Clwinl/flll.-Can you state any further conversation that took place? 
J1I!'. Pirktlwme.-No. 

147·5. CltaiJ'lJUIII.-'Vere you present at any conversation that evening 
amongst the officcrs of the" Resolute" after Captain Austin had retired? 

1ll!'. Picktlwme.-N o. 

1476. ('''oinl/IIII.-Werc you present at a conversation between Captain 
Austin Ul?d Captain Penny oil the 11th or 12th of August 1851? 

ill!'. PlcktllOrne.-I was on board the" Lady Franklin," but I was not present 
at any conversation. 

J.1ii. C(lf(il'1J1(II~.-\Vas ~he impression on your mind when this took place, 
that Captam ~ustm was domg all he could to co-operate with Captain Penny, 
or .that Captam Penny had any ground of complaint from not having the 
assIstance rendered him that he had asked for? 

.1ll}'. Pic~t1lOml!.-I think Captain Austin was endeavouring to co-operate 
WIth Captam Penny, by offering to furnish him assistance_ On the night of 
~~e 11 th ,of ~ugust .Captain Penny said to me, when he was going, .1 I 
" as~e~ C aptam Austm If he would let me go up Wellington Channel in one 
" of ~lS st~amers t? prose~ute the search. there; but that has not been agreed 

to; l~avmg ~n Impr~ssJOn on my mmd that he wished to go up in a 
steamer If <?aptam :~u~tm le~t on~. This was on board the "Lady Franklin," 
after Captam Austm s mtervIew WIth Captain Penny. 

14i'K. Clz(tin~(fn.-:-~id Captain.Penny appear to be of opinion that there 
was open. water III "ellIngton StraIt at that time? 

ill/'. Plckthorne.-On the 26th of July I understood from Captain Penny's 
report and others that there was a fixed barrier twenty miles in width. 
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1479. Cltairman.-Was any third person present at the conversation with 
Captain Penny? 

Mr. Picktltorne.-No. It was in bidding him good-by. 

1480. Chairman.-Did you accompany any other exploring expedition? 
Mr. PicktllOrne.-No. 

The Chairman (addressing Captain Penny) said, " You have communicated 
" to the Committee this morning that you shall require Dr. Sutherland and 
" Captain Stewart to be in attendance here. The Committee desire me to 
" remind you of the communication made to you on the preceding day, ill 
" which I was directed to acquaint you, that, you having on all occasions, and 
" particularly ye~terday, distinctly disclaimed the character of prosecutor or 
" accuser during this investigation, you could not be permitted to re-exa­
" mine evidence; but that both yourself and Captain Austin would be allowed 
" to offer any observations at the close of our proceedings. '" e therefore 
" think it right to acquaint you now, that wc shall not permit you to re-exa­
" mine either Dr. Sutherland 01' Captain Stewart yourself; that thcy will be 
" continued here in attendance until the Committee discharge them, and they 
" will be in attendance here until the 17th; but you must clearly understand 
" that you will not be permitted to re-examine them yourself. The Committee 
" may recall anyone they please, but they will not allow either yon 01' Captain 
" Austin to do so." 

The Committee then adjourned until Monday the 17th instant. 

Ud., 
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Twe1.ftlt Day. Novcmher 17, 18i) 1. 

Present, Rear-Admiral Bowles, C.B., ::\'['P., 
Rear-Admiral Arthur Fanshawe, C.B .. 
Captain Sir Edward Parry, -
Captain F. W. Beechey, 
Captftin Sir George Back, 

:VIr. F. J. Fegen, Secretary. 

CAPTAIN O:\IMA::\XEY recalled. 

.1481. Chairman.-Captain Ommannc)', there is a question the Committcc 
wIsh to ask you with respect to the Esquimaux paper signed 0'- A<lam Beck, 
a~d witne~sed .by Sir J~1ll1 Ross and you!·self. Whcll that paper 'wa, drawn up, 
did you Imagme that It was a paper of any consequence, or that it had an\, 
bearing upon the loss of the ships and the massacre of the crew, ? . 

Captain Omm(f}l7/('.'/,~-I considered that that ml, the sll~iect alluded to, and 
no other. 

1482. Sir E. Pan:y.- Have you, in your intercourse with Erasmus York, 
had occasion to believe that there is any truth in Adam Deck",.; statement 
relative t.o the wreck of the ships and the murder of l heir crews ill Baffin's 
Bay? 

Captain Ommanne,y.-Erasmus York always maintained the same opinion, 
that Adam Beck made a false statement; and he said that no bra ships ever 
came up the coast except the North Star, that i" to rcmain on thc coast; he 
has seen passing whalers. Peterson, the interpreter, came to the ship once or 
twice during the winter, and I used to get him into my cabin in order to obtain 
further information from him. His answer alw:1Y, was, " Xo, no; no ships 
" came there but the North Star." 

1483. Captain Beeche,y.-From whom did Adam Beck receive his infor­
mation? 

Captain Ornrnanney.-From three Esqllimaux, of whom York \vas one; a 
woman, and a child. 

1484. Sir G. Back.-\Vere they of York's tribe r 
Captain Omrnanney.-Yes. The tribe consisted of three men (one of whom 

was York), three women, and four or five children. 

1485. Captain Beechey.-Was this statement taken down at the time? 
[The statement referred to was the paper dated 17th August 1850, and which 
is given in answer to question 14:23 in the examination.] 

Captain Ommanney.-We communicated at Cape York, in the first instance, 
on the 13th or 14th of August 1850, when an investigation with the natives 
took place, and we were perfectly satisfied that there was no ~ound~tion for the 
report. This paper was taken down on the 17th. After clearmg Sir John Ross 
from the ice, he came on board, and in parting company requested that York's 
statement might be taken down in writing by Adam Beck. 
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1486. Captain Beeche,Ij.-\Vas that statement taken down by Adam Beck 
in York's presence at that time? . . 

Captain Omrnanneg.-York dictated, and Adam Beck wrote, In the presence 
of Sir John Ross and m yse1t: 

148i. Captain Beeche,I).-Then Adam Beck received his entire information 
fi'om York ~ 

Captain Ommanney.-Yes; what is written here. 

1488. Captain Beeche,Ij.-Did Adam Beck deliv~r that as th~ statement he 
had received of the loss of the ships as related to him by the natives? 

Captain Ommanney.-As far as I could understand him, he did. 

1489. Sir E. Pa1'l:1J.-Then you supposed, when you came to England, that 
that statement did relate to Adam Beck's story? 

Captain 01/1111(11171£'.1).-Yes, certainly; I was always under that impression. 

1490. Captain Beeche,y.-That that paper would contain the substance of 
the story respecting the loss of the ships? 

Captl/in Om JIlan ne,lj.-Yes, certainly. During our first communication with 
the natives on board the Intrepid, as I understood, he was an interpreter. I 
pressed him to give me all thc information he could, during our conversation 
with the natives. And at that timc, he said nothing whatever about the murder 
of the cre\ys or the loss of the ships. It was about eight hours after leaving 
Cape York that Adam Beck's statemcnt relative to the wrecked ships and 
murdered crews was made known to me. 

1491. Captain Beechey.-Had Adam Beck remained on board your ship 
all the time? 

Captain Ommanney.-No; he remained on board the Intrepid some time, 
and then he dropped down, first on board our ship, and subsequently to the 
Prince Albert, which was towing close under our stern. 

CAPT AI~ AUSTIN and CAPTAIN PENNY recalled. 

1492. TIle Chairman (addressing Captain Penny).-As you were the first 
examined of the two, the Committee think they would rather have your final 
observations on the matter first. 

Captain Penny then produced the following statement, which he read to the 
Committee :-

" STATEMENT I.-I am not the cause of Captain Austin's return, as I am 
" made to appear by the publication of that correspondence (alluding to lette~s 
" N os. ~1. and ·1 (a) of Captain Austin's letters to the Secretary of the Adm!­
" ralty), since, besides other reasons 1 ha\'e g-ivC'n, Captain Austin says, • Sir 
" John ~ranklin is not gone that way.' :!.-I showed my desire for co­
_. operatIOn, and to continue the search, by asking Captain Austin to let me 
" pilot a steamer up \r ellington Channel; and I deny that I had any oth~r 
" reason for asking for the steamer than to seek for Sir John Frank lin. Captam 
" Ommanney was not present in Captain Austin's cabin when I asked for it. 
" 3.;-~Ty decided opinion that Sir John Franklin had gone north-west from 
" \\ ellington Channel was gi\'en to Captain Austin at the same time, and 
" with my chart before us, that I asked for the steamer to be sent up the 
" channel, on the 11 th of August. I went on board the Resolute for the 
" express purpose of telling everything to Captain Anstin, and of asking for 
" the steamer. So I had repeatedly told Lieutenant Aldrich I would, and he 
" assured me he thought Captain A ustin would grant my request. I left 
" the Resolute very much hurt and angry. 4.-1 have to say again that ~he 
:: correspo.ndenc~ between myself and Captain . .'\. ustin followed ou~ ~onversat!on 
" almost ImmedJate~y, all 1;JUt my letter, which I was very unwIllmg to gIve 
" at all; but Captam f1ustI? came on board the Lady Franklin, and urge.d 

me all he could to give him a letter he left without it and then sent hiS 
:: ~oat for it some hours. after, and I th;n wrote in great irritation. To a man 

hke me, one conversatIOn was worth fifty letters and I could not understand 
" what he meant by it. 5.-1 wish to say that'I do not acknowledge the 
" correctness of the conversation with me, which Captain Austin and Captaia 
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" Ommanney have written down. I never did the like of that myself, and 
" I ~m not a match for those that do it. 6.- -,In all I have now said I am 
" only r~plying ~o charges made against me, either directly or indirectly, by 
" Captam AustIll. I could press against him what I have already stated, 
" namely, that he treated me upon several occasions very unfairly and unkindly 
" and this I coul~ bring his own officers to prove, but unless compelled I ll~ 
" not want to do It, only to spt myself right, which I am determincd to do." 

" \VILLIAM PENNY." 
1493. Chairman.-Now, Captain Austin, the Committee will bc happy to 

hear any final observations you may have to make? . 
Captain Austin.-I have put thcm on paper, as I have felt hurt and 

pained at the observations which have been made. I thought it better to put 
them on paper. 

Captain Austin then procccded to read the following statcment to the 
Committee: -

" In availing myself of the permission of the Committee, I heQ' to offcr a few 
H 'words in addition to my forn~er statement. Thc evidcnce ~f some of lI1y 
" officers has recalled to my Dlmd the substance of the note which I wrote to 
" Captain Stewart shortly after his return from his search, to the effect that 
" it would be a happy event should thc reported barrier of icc in Wellington 
" Channel break away so as to admit of the steamcrs going up; that I could 
" put on board several sUlTeyors, who would in a very few days fix positions 
" and get some angles. I have no doubt that this notc gave rise to the notion 
" that the steamcrs would be sent up. I suppose this note to have bcen written 
" about the end of June. But Captain Penny nc\'er asked for a steamer, nor did 
" he evcr give me the slightest reason to hope that either trace or rescue was 
" to be obtained by sending a steamer up the Wellington Channel. I merely 
" alluded to the possible event of my sending the stean;ers up, and to the extel~t 
" I have described. These are the only additions I have to make to my 
" former evidence, with one exception. I forbear from making any observa­
" tions whatever upon the statements llIade by others upon the present inquiry. 
" As the officer in charge of the expedition, I feel that I ought not to allow the 
" present inquiry to close without noticing a portion of the evidence given by 
" Lieutenant M'Clintock. In answering question g08, Lieutenant M'Clintock 
" states that he could have reached Banks's Land if he had been left to his own 
"discretion. I am willing to believe that Lieutenant l\1'Clintock gave that 
" answer with the view of showing his own zeal and dcvotion in the cause, 
" and without considering the consequences to which his answer inevitably led. 
" My orders to Lieutenant M'Clintock, and to all, were to prosecute tlte most 
" active, earnest, and persevering seorch for ollr missing countr!}'IIIcn, and it 
" was my firm belief (a belief entertained by me until I heard his own assertion 
" to the contrary) that Lieutenant M'Clintock had done his utmost; and it was 
" for that reason, and on that account alone, that I placed Lieutenant M'Clin­
" tock's name in the very prominent position it occupies in my rcport. In 
" laying before the Committee the outline chart furnished by Captain Penny, 
" received on the 11 th of August, I may observe that no separation of channels 
" is shown there by naming as Queen's Channel the open water stated to be 
" seen either the northern or westward at the head of \V ellington Channel. 
" Therefore, until my arrival in England, I had not the slightest knowledge of 
" any other name than that of Wellington Channel to any water stated to 
" have been seen to the northward and westward at the head of that channel." 

" HORATIO T. AUSTIN." 

CAPTAIN STEWART recalled. 

Captain Penny informed the Committee that he did not wish to be present 
during Captain Stewart's re-examination, and accordingly withdrew. 

1494. Chairman.-It appears from Captain Penny's journa~ that you received 
fresh instructions from him on the 15th of August 1851. WIll you state to the 
Committee what those instructions were? 

Captain Stewal't.-My instructions were then to make the best of my way 
home. I was to have received written instructions the following day, but the 
weather came on thick, and we parted company without my having received 
written instructions. I then proceeded homewards for England. 

Ee 

Captain Austm. 
Jllr. Penny. 

17th Nov. 1851. 
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1495. Admiral Fanshawe.-I understand you expected to have received 
instructions to the same effect? 

Captain Stewart.-Yes, I supposed so. 

1496. Sir E. Parry.-When did you part company? . .. . 
Captain Stewart.-I do not recollect the date. You WIll see It III my Journal. 

1497. Sir E. Pan"!J.-Was it the day after you received the instructions, or 
some days afterwards? 

Captain Stewart.-It was some days afterwards. It was coming through 
the ice the night after we got clear of the middle ice. 

1498. Sir E. Parry.-Captain Penny's journal says, on the night of the 
21st of August, " This night lost our consort;" was that. the day? 

Captain Stewart.-I do not know the date. It was Just after we left the 
middle ice. 

1499. Sir E. PmT!J.-It was a few days after you received these verbal 
instructions? 

Captain Stewart.-Yes, a few days afterwards. 

1500. Chmrman.-Did you receive a letter from Captain Austin, after 
your return from your exploring journey, about the end of June this year? 

Capt(lin Stewart.-Yes. 

1501. Chairman.-Will you state to the Committee the purport of that 
letter? 

Gaptain StC1ClIJ't.-I do not recollect; I have not got my papers here. 

1502. Chairman.-Can you state, to the best of your recollection, what it 
was about? 

Captain Stewart.-I think the purport of it was congratulating me on 
my safe return, and on having discovered that new land to the northward. 

1503. C/wil'lJI((II.-Did he say anything about steam vessels prosecuting 
the discovery, or any thing to that effect? 

Captain Stewart.-I do not think he said it in the letter, but I saw him 
afterwards, when he spoke about it; he said that if there were steamers up 
there, they could fix their positions so nicely, as there were such excellent 
surveyors. 

1504. Cizairman.-Then he meant if the channel opened, for they could 
not get up at that time, could they? 

Captain Stell"({l't.-No, not at that time. 

1505. Chuirmall.-Then the communication from Captain Austin to you 
was expressing a wish that steamers could pass up the channel and examine 
the open water more thoroughly? 

C(!ptain Ste"icart.-I do not know that it was expressing a wish. He stated 
that If the surveyors were there they could fix the points so well. 

1506. Chairman.-Could you send up the note to the Secretary of the 
Committee when you get home? 

Gllptain Stcwllrt.-Yes, if I can find it; all my papers are in Scotland. 

The Committee then adjourned. 
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Enclosure No.3. 
INSTRUCTIONS to Captain AUSTIN, C.B. Captain Austin's 

Instructions. 
By the Commissioners for executing the Office of Lord High Admiral of 

the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland, &c. 

1. Having appointed you to the command of the Expedition which it is 
the intention of Her Majesty's Government to despatch on a further search for 
Her Majesty's ships" Erebus" and" Terror," under the command of Sir John 
Franklin, you are hereby required and directell to take the vessels named in 
the margin under your command, and, so soon as they are in all respects ready 
to put to sea, and to make the best of your way to Davis' Straits, for the 
express purpose of prosecuting a most yigorous search for the missing ships. 

" Resolute," 
" Assistance," 
" In.trepid~!,' 
" PIOneer. 

2. We have directed you to be furnished with a copy of our orders whieh 
were given to Sir John Franklin, and which will afford you full information 
how he was directed to proceed. 'Ve have likewise ordered you to have a Vide Evidence 
copy of our instruction8 to Captain Sir James Ross; and to these we have to p.40. ' 
direct your especial attention. 

3. The yarious papers which have bcen laid before the Houses of Parliament 
have also been sent for your information. By reference to them you will be 
made aware that we have taken the opinions of the most able and experienced 
persons connected with Polar navigation relative to the missing Expedition; 
you will observe that many valuable conjectures have been made; and it has 
been suggested that Sir John Franklin may have effected his passage to Mel­
ville Island, and been detained there with his ships. It has again been 
suggested as possible that his ships llIay have been damaged in the ice in the 
neighbouring sea, and that with his crews he may have abandoned them, and 
made his escape to that island. To these, as well as the other possibilities, 
you will not fail to give every proper weight. 

4. It therefore appears to us to be a main object of the Expedition for you 
to use every exertion to reach Melville Island, detaching a portion of your 
ships to search the shores of Wellington Channel and the coast about Cape 
Walker, to which point Sir J. Franklin was ordered to proceed. We trust that 
a diligent examination of these several places will afford you some certain trace 
or record of the missing Expedition which will enable you to form an opinion 
of the best course to adopt for their rescue. As your course of action must 
clearly depend on such information, we consider it unnecessary to give you any 
definite or specific instruction, and inexpedient to bind you dO'wn to any 
certain line of proceeding. "\Ve confide in your knowledge and experience of 
the navigation of the Polar Seas; and, placing just reliance on your energetic 
character and zeal, we leave you entirely unfettered to do what may seem to 
you best for attaining the great object of the expedition intrusted to your 
charge, feeling assured that yon, as well as all those under you, will use your 
utmost exertions to afford relief to our unfortunate countrymen, and to justify 
the reliance we have placed in you. 

5. The officers whom we have consulted have expressed an opinion that no 
vessel should be allowed to prosecute the search alone, and it is for this rcason 
that to your own and to Captain Oml11anney's ship an auxiliary screw vessel 
has been attached. "\Ve therefore direct your attention to this important con­
sideration. 

6. Your ships have been fully equipped and provisioned for a period of three 
years, to meet any emergency mhieh may arise from falling in with Sir John 
Franklin's party. In addition to these supplies, there are stores and provisions, 
&c. left by Sir James Ross at Port Leopold, and a further store was sent out ill 
the" North Star" in the summer oflast year. These will be. available for you 
in case of necessity; but you are not to consider them as a part of your own 
stock, but as a reserve for the aid of any of Sir John Franklin's party who may 
reach that spot, or as a depot on which any party may fall back upon, should 
they unfortunately be separated from their ships. 

7. In the prosecution of your search you will usc your utmost efforts during 
this summer, taking eare not to lose any opportunity which may be open to 
you of getting to the westward, and of securing your ships in some safe harbour 
before the winter sets in, from whence you will despatch such overland parties 
as the means placed at your disposal will permit. On the return of the open 
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Captain Austin's season of 1851 you will again renew your s~arch; but it is our intention and 
Instructions. directions that you shall return to England m the autumn of that year, unless 

some trace should be found of the missing expedition, which may lead you to 
believe that a delay may contribute to their rescue, and which may justify a 
deviation from our orders. 

Mr. Penny's 
Instructions. 

8. You are aware that this is not the only expedition fitting out or being 
despatched with the same object. One such, under the command of Mr. Penny 
of Aberdeen, has already sailed for Davis' Straits, provisioned as your own for 
a period of three years. We [urnish you w~th a copy ?f the i~structions. under 
which he is acting, and we desIre that you WIll. I:ende~ hIm any ald. and assIstance 
in your power, as well as to any other expedItIO~, eIther from thIS country, the 
United States of America, or from any other natIOn, so far as you may be able 
to do so without risk of crippling the resources of the vessels under your 
command. . 

9. You will take the utmost care in leaving memorials of your track in the 
usual manner and in every prominent place, and enjoin the same precaution 
upon all the ships and land parties detached from you or thcm. 

10. You will keep your second in command well informcd of the instructions 
under which you are acting, consulting with him on all points, and stating your 
own views as to the best means of carrying them out, so that no information 
may be wanting on his part, if accident to yourself should cause him to succeed 
to the command. 

11. As soon as you reach the Whale Fish Islands, to which rendezvous the 
"Emma Eugenia" transport has already been despatched, and that you have 
distributed the supplies taken on board that vessel for the use of the expedi­
tion, you will send her to England, and you will also give orders to the master 
of the" North Star," should you fall in with that vessel, to return home. 

12. The several vessels thus placed under your command have been fitted 
out under your own immediate superintendence, and with every attention to 
the wants and requirements of the great enterprise you have volunteered to 
undertake. The officers in command of the vessels composing it, and who are 
animated with the same ardour as yourself, have been selected by you, with our 
full concurrence as to their fitness for this particular service. All that could be 
effected by the generous sympathies of your Queen and your country has been 
done; and it only remains for us to conclude our instructions with an earnest 
prayer that success may attend your exertiom, and that a good Providence may 
guide your councils, and be your constant defence. 

Given under our hands, this 2d of May 1850. 

To Horatio T. Austin, Esq., C. B., 
Captain of Her Majesty's Ship" Resolute," 

in charge of an Expedition to the Arctic Seas. 

By Command of their Lordships, 
J. PARKER. 

Enclosure No.4. 
INSTRUCTIONS to Mr. ,V. PENNY. 

F. T. BARING. 
M. F. F. BERKELEY. 

By the Commissioners for executing the Office of Lord High Admiral of 
Great Britain and Ireland, &c. &c. 

1. HER Majesty's Government having determined that further endeavours 
shall be made to trace the progress of Her Majesty's ships "Ere bus " and 
"Terror," under the command of Sir John Franklin, and to resume the search 
after that Expedition, and having resolved to employ you in the command of 
the two vessels, the " Lady Franklin" and" Sophia," which have been equipped 
for that service.' you are hereby required and directed, so soon as the said 
vessels shall be m all respects ready for sea, to proceed with them with all due 
despatch to Davis's Strait. 

2. I~ intrusting you with the above command, we do not deem it advisable 
to furmsh you with minute instructions as to the course you are to pursue. 
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~n accepting you~' offer of service regard has been had to your long experience Mr, Penny's 
III ArctI~ n,avIgat.lOn, and to the attention you had evidently paid to the subject Instructions 
of the ml~sIllg ShIpS. We deem it expedient, rather, that you should be in-
structed I? all the circumstances of the case, and that you should be left to 
the. exercIse of y,our own judgment and discretion in combining the most 
a~tIve an~ energetIc search after Her Majesty's ships "Erebus" and" Terror" 
WIth a strIct and ca:eful regard to the safety of the ships and their crews under 
your charge, a;nd wI~h a fixed a~tention to that part of your orders which relate 
to your returnmg wIth those shIps to this country . 
. 3. F?r this p~rpose you will be furnished with copies of the original instruc­

tIons gIVen to SIr John Franklin, and which instructions will indicate the course 
he was directed to pursue, together with our orders and directions to Sir James 
Ross, when he was despatched on a search after Sir John Franklin, in the spring 
of 1848. 

4. You will be aware that the case virtually stands now as it did then; Sir 
James Ross, from adverse circumstances, failed in discovering traces of the 
missing Expedition. 

5. Our orders of the 9th May 1848 to Sir James Ross will still serve as the 
indication of our views of the general course you will have to pursue; but it 
being our desire that a certain strait known as Alderman Jones's SOIDld, and 
which would not appear to have been as yet examined, should be searched, you 
are hereby reqnired and directed to proceed in the first instance to that sound, 
closely examining the shores for any traces of Sir John Franklin's course, and 
proceeding, should it offer the means of your doing so, in the direction of 
Wellington Strait and Oil. to the Parry Islands and ]JIe/ville Island. 

6. On your proceeding in the above direction, too much vigilance cannot be 
~bserved in your search along the various shores for traces of the missing 
Expedition. At the same time you will bear in mind that Sir John Franklin's 
orders were" to push on through Lancaster Sound, without stopping to examine 
any openings north or south of that sound, till he had reached Cape Walker." 
And although it may be possible that the obstructions incident to navigation in 
those seas may have forced Sir John Franklin north or south of his prescribed 
course, yet that his principal object would be the gaining the latitude and longi­
tude of Cape Walker. 

7. To that point, therefore, failing your discovering traces of the Expedition 
in your course by Jones's Sound and the Parry Islands, your efforts will be 
directed, and beyond this your own judgment must be your principal guide. 

8. The circumstance of Sir James Ross having partially searched the shores 
of Lancaster Sound and Barrow's Strait as far west as Cape Rennell without 
discovering traces of Sir John Franklin's ships has led in some quarters to the 
supposition of an extreme case; yiz., that failing to get into Lancaster 'Sound, 
Sir John Franklin had proceeded in the direction of Smith's Sound, at the head 
of Baffin's Bay. 

9. We do not deem it expedient to direct your attention specially to this 
sound (or supposed sound); but should your passage by Jones's Sound, to 
which you (Ire specially directed, be early and absolutely impeded, and there 
should appear to you to be the time (without hazarding the only remaining 
chance of proceeding to Wellington Strait, the Parry Islands, and Cape Walker 
by Lancaster Sound,) for examining Smith's Sound, you are at liberty to do 
so; but this is a contingency scarcely to be contemplated, as, in the event of 
your being frustrated in the attempt to get to the westward and towards Wel­
lington Strait by Jones's Sound, the late period of the year when Smith's Sound 
is said to be open would render it difficult, if not impossible, to combine a 
search in that quarter with the securing a passage into Lancaster Sound before 
the season closed. 

10. Much of the painful anxiety that now exists respecting the missing ships 
might possibly have been avoided if greater care had been taken to leave 
traces of their progress. You will consider it rigidly your duty, and ~ matter 
of the utmost importance, that every means should be adopted for markmg your 
own track. 

For this purpose you will provide yourself with an ample supply of red a;nd 
white lead for making paint; and, in addition to the usual pole or staff, or caIrn 
of stones, usually looked for on a cape or headland, you will, wherever the 
colouring of the cliff or shore admits of a mark being made in strong relief, 
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paint a red or white cross, as t~e case may be,. depositing as near to its base as 
possible, and at right angles wIth the perpendIcular part of ~uch cross, a bottle 
or other vessel containing a short summary of your. proceedmgs up to the date 
of the deposit, an account of the. state of your supplies and resources, the health 
of your party, and your further m!ended course. . . 

11. There remains but to cautIOn you as to your return wIth your SlllpS to 
this country. 

These ships have been provisioned and stored for three years; but you will 
bear in mind that this liberal supply is to meet contingencies separate on the 
one hand from the victualling of your own people, and, on the other, fi'om a 
needless, reckless, and hazardous continuance in the Arctic regions. 

You have been victualled to supply the missing Expedition, or any part of it 
you may providentiaJly discover; here is. the one c?ntingency ; unforeseen ~mpe­
dimcnts, or a certam prospect of commg up wIth any part of the mlssmg 
Expedition, compelling you to pass a second wiJltcr in the icc, is the other j 
but our directions to you are, 1st, to use your utmost endeavours (consistent 
,,,ith the safety of the lives of those intrusted to your command) to succour in 
this SllJllmer the party under Sir .Tohn Franklin, taking care to secure your 
winter quarters in good time; and, 2d, that the same active endeavours will 
be used by you in the ensuing summer of 1851 to secure the return of your 
own ships to this country. 

12. We refer you to the instructions contained in par. 21. of Sir John 
Franklin's orders, for your guidance in the event of one of your ships being 
disabled, or in case of any accident to yourself; and in par. 2~. of the same 
orders are full instructions as to transmitting reports of your progress to our 
Secretary for our information; to both of which you will strictly attend. 

13. In conclusion, we have only to repeat the expressions of our confidence 
in your skill and in your known ardour in a generous cause; and we commend 
you and those with you to a good Providence, with our earnest wishes for your 
success. 

Given under our hands, this lIth April] 850. 
(Signed) F. T. BARING. 

.T. H. D. DUNDAS. By Command of their Lordships, 
W. A. B. HAMILTON. 

Mr. William Penny, 
Ship "Lady Franklin," 

in charge of an Expedition to the Arctic Scas, at Aberdecn. 

Captain HAMILTON to Captain PENNY. 

Sir, Aomiralty, 10th April 1850. 
I am commandcd l)y my Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty to send you 

herewith the original and duplicate of a letter addressed to Mr. Saunders, Master 
commanding Her Majesty's Store Ship "North Star," in the Arctic Scas, COll­

taining instructions for his guidance, one of which my Lords rCGuest you will 
take charge of yourself, for delivery to that officer, should you fall in with him, 
and the other you are to put in the possession of Mr. Stewart of the ship 
" Sophia," for the samc purpose. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) W. A. B. HAMILTON. 

Enclosure. 
Sir, Admiralty, 10th April 1850. 

I am commanded by my Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty to acquaint 
you, 

1. That Sir James Ross having returned to England in the month of 
November last without having discovered any traces of the missing Expedition 
under Sir John Franklin's orders, and the necessity for the stores and pro­
visions with which he was charged being deposited as directed being all the 
more urgent, my Lords can only trust that you have been able to land them 
accordingly. 
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2. Thnt as our last reports from you were dated 19th July 1849, lat. 74 0 3' Mr. Penny's 
long. 590 40' W., the anxiety on the part of their Lordships to receive further Instructions. 
intelligence of ,your proceedings is great; and they can therefore only hope, in 
the event of thIS despatch reaching you, and of YOlll".6ot having succeeded in 
affording succour to any of Sir John Franklin's party, that it may find you 
returning with Her Majesty's ship under your command to England. 

3. And that, in order that you may be in full possession of all that has 
occurred or that has been done since your departure relative to the relief of 
Sir John Franklin, you are herewith furnished with a printed return which 
will put you in complete possession of the state of the case, and to which my 
Lords have only to add, that foul' ships under the command of Captain Austin, 
two of them being auxiliary steam vessels, are now fitting at 'Voolwich, in 
addition to the two vessels nnder Captain Penny's orders, and by which this 
despatch is sent, for the purpose of continuing the search after Sir John 
Franklin's Expedition (irrespective of private expeditions from this country 
and the United States); and that as supplies of stores, especially coals, would 
be most neeriful for these vessels, as an auxiliary, you arc to land at the 
Whale Fish Island or at Disco whatever proportion of coals or provisions 
you consider you can with propriety spare, returning without loss of time to 
England. 

I am, &c. 
Mr. James Saunders, (Signed) W.A.B. HAl\lILTON. 

Master Commanding H.l\I.S. "North Star." 

Enclosure No. :J. 

Rear Admiral Sir JOHN Ross to Mr. FEGEN, Secretary to the Arctic 
Committee. 

Sir, Ayr, 1st November 185!. 
I am to acknowledge the receipt of your letter dated the 31st ult., annexiI!g, 

by desire of the Arctic Committee, certain questions for my answers, which 
have been submitted to other officers, and to gi\'e them my careful con­
sideration. 

I have to acquaint 'you, for the informatio." of the. Committee, th.at I l~ave 
annexed to this letter Illy answers to the said questIOns, after havmg gl\"en 
them a most carifl.ll consideration. 

I am, &c. 
(Signerl) JOHN Ross, Rear Admiral. 

Enclosure. 

Question I.-Do you suppose it probable that Sir John Franklin, or any 
portion of the crews composing his expedition, still survive? If so, 
in what direction? 

Answe1·.-I do not think it probable that Sir John Franklin, or any portion of' 
the crews composing his expedition, still survive. It is lHl1"ply possible, if the 
ships have been wrecked on the east or west coast of Baffin's Bay, where there 
are natives, but nowhere else. 

Question 2.-What are your grounds for forming that opinion? 

Answer.-From my experience in having passed four successive winte:s in the 
Arctic regions, I do not think that British-born officers and men could WIthstand 
the effect of six winters, even if they had plenty of food. I have a. very strong 
constitution, but I think it was very doubtful if I could have WIthstood the 
effl'cts of thp. fifth winter, and most certainly not the sixth. Ten out of 
twenty would have perished in a month had we not been picked up by the 
" Isabella." 

Ff 
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Question 3.-Should a further search l?e decided. on, .wh~t measures do you 
recommend for this purp?se, and. III what dll'ectlOn r. . 

It is requested that th~s questIOn be answered with a full expla-
nation of every particular of the proposed place of search. . 

"1 nswi'r.-A further search in the "'ellington Channel will depend on the 
mildness or severi ty of the approachin9' "'inter and spring. But .at anl rate 
the truth or falsehood of Adam Beck s report should he ascertamed III the 
manner pointed out in my evid:l1ce. If I could have ob!ained pl:OVlSIO~S 
(,yhich I expected to find at DISCO), I should have remnmed durmg thiS 
winter on the east side of Baffin's Bay as far north as I could get, to decide 
that question. But as the "Nor~h Stal:" did not land ?r le[lYC' any provisions 
there according to orders, I was dlsappomted. and, havwg only three months 
provisions left, I was obliged to return to England. 

On leaving Lancaster Sound in August last, I told. Adam Beck that I was 
determined to visit the place where he reported the ships were wrecked, when 
he appeared much delighted, and when it was. evident that the state of the ice 
prevented our approach to it, he was much dejected. 

The only other place that reqllires a strict sear~h IS t~e west coast of 
Baffin's Bay between Ponds Ihy.and Cumberland StraIt .. ThiS Mr. Penny told 
me, in presence of Mr. Goonslr and others, that he mtended to do most 
thorouO'hly, as he had now an interpreter; and conceiving it would take him to 
exami;e 600 miles of coast, at least all October, I did not send my letters by 
the "Lady Franklin." 

JOHN Ross, Rear Admiral. 

Enclosllre N a.H. 

The Rev. Dr. SCORESBY to IVIr. FEGEN, Secretary to the Arctic Committee. 
Sir, Torquay, 7th November 1851. 

I regret that a small part of my designed "replies" is yet wanting, the 
manuscript having been sent off a week ago. If I receive the article, as ll:ope, 
I will take the liberty of forwarding some remarks on ., Appliances for 
Search," &c. 

The first two questions, you ,,·ill perceive, I have ventured to recast, as, in 
the form I have adopted, they were more convenient for answering. 

I have, &c. 
WILLIAM SCORESBY 

Enclosure. 

REPI_IES to QUESTIONS proposed for personal consideration and opllllOn by the 
ARCTIC Cmn1l1TEE, by William Scoresby, D. D., F. R. S., London and 
Edinburgh, &c. • 

Question,1. Do you suppose it probable that Sir John Franklin, or any 
pOl·tIon of the crews composing his Expedition, still survive; and 
what are the grounds for forming that opinion? 

Reply.-That Sir John Franklin or some portion of his associates mf1,lJ still 
survive is a position which cannot be controverted. It follows, therefore, that 
some degree q/probability, whatever that degree may be, does exist. Such pro­
~abilitY".it appears to me is involved in or supported by a variety of considera­
tIons. Sir John Ross was abs~nt and unheard of for jour :ljears and some months 
(though nev~r at a greater distance from positions often visited by the whalers 
than ~50 mIles), and returne~ with nearly all his crew in health. Hence I 
conceIve that .Slr Joh.n Franklm, or some portion of his associates, with incom­
parably s~lpenor eqUIpment and resources, might yet survive, at some much 
greater distance beyond the positions ordinarily visited, though a period of 
somewhat mon: than five years (reckoning from the date of the plain indications 
and tra<;cs ofhll~ found on and near Beechy Island) ha\'e since elapsed without 
further mformatIOn. 2. The Esquimaux, in similar regions, as cold, as desolate, 
8lld as apparently resourceless (altogetlter resourceless indeed, except in Arctic 
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aniI!lals), ~ive out, not six or se,'en winters merely, but a fair portion of the 
ordmary lIfe of'man. Why then may not hardy enterprizing Britons, sustained, 
over a~d ab?ve, by. the moral courage and Christian hope which preserved the 
same 1< ranklm, a RIchardson. a Back, and others, when the ordinary powers of 
life in men experiellce.d .in like .hardships, Canadian voyages, failed. Why may 
they not be yet SurVIVlllg amId the desolateness of Arctic solitudes, and the 
wreck of .the hopes of the timid and doubting? 3. In the well-known case of rour RussIan seamen, who, a~ter the loss of thei~' ship on the coast of SpitzlJel:gen 
III 1743, took refuge on an Island near the mam, three out of the four survIved 
o? resources (except a f~w pounds. of flonr. and a little tobacco) entirely pro­
VIded by themselves, durmg a perIod of S1X years and three 1110nths, whilst 
unheard of, and assumed to have perished. and were then rescued, and, enriched 
with the results of their hunting and fishing, restored in health to their friends. 
With facts such as these before us,-with the knowledge of their extensive migi­
ital resources, and of the abundance of animal life in the region into or beyond 
which [ believe they have entered, available for the extension of their original 
supplies,-I cannot but believe it to be probable that Sir .John Franklin, or some 
of his associates ill ad venture, do yet survive. 

In the entire absence of either information or traces of the expedition beyond 
the spring of 184o, I might observe there is, in my judgment. no essential 
grounds for detracting from the assumed probability. There being no informa­
tion,-none among them ha,-ing yet returned from whence we could hope to seek 
them out,-only necessarily implies, either that their applicances for ice travelling, 
or their condition of physical strength, (circumstances quite to be expected,) are 
inferior to ours. And there being no observable traces within the extent of 
recent researches, except at Beechy Island, can prove nothing against such pro­
bability, or against the direction we belie,·e they have pursued, as marks 011 

shore would loicarcely be planted anywhere except under circnmstances of deten­
tion, and might not be planted till the second summer's progress was closed, or 
if planted might not be seen. 

It may be proper to notice (as bearing on the question of probability of 
succesloi of the Expedition) a conjecture which some have entertained, that the 
ships may have been wrecked, and that the entire crews may have summarily 
perished, by some sudden catastrophe of' the Arctic ices. There is only one 
special caloie, however, and th,tt, I think, not in the least degree probable in 
respect to the Franklin Expedition, in which such SU/}//}/(f1:1J cntastrophe, attended 
by the imagined destruction of the adventurers, could, I believe, be rationally 
contemplated; and that i~, the case of the ships being drifted ont to seaward 
after the manner of Sir James Hoss and Captain de Haven, and on approaching 
the seaward edrre of a paek of ponderous ices being overturned by a heavy 
gale at sea. A~d even in this possible case the contingencies are such as 
not in any instance that I am aware of to have been ever fulfilled, even allJong 
the thousands and tens of tbousands of ad venturers in thest::! regions in pursuit 
of the whale fishery, so that the entire crews of two ships, with the ships 
themselves (and these, as to the Franklin Expedition, among the strongest ever 
sent out to the Arctic seas), should be so completely annihilated as to leave 
not a wreck behind. In everv other case but this,- of which I believe we have 
no corresponding or commell'surate example in modern history, al-] to Davis' 
Strait or Baffin's Bay,- any sudden catastrophe happening to a ship within the 
icy regions referred to would yield at least the opportunity of escape to the 
crew, by the platform of the ice itself, to which, in the first instance, they might 
retreat. But against the conjecture alluded to, in regard to its bearing on 
probabilities, we have to set the incomparably better supported c01ljecture of 
the ships having admnced on the object of their mission towards the north­
west into such a position or circumstances as to render the selfapplied efforts 
of the voyagers inadequate to the effecting of their retreat. For as the pro· 
bability of the discovery ships advancing in the direction they wished to 
pursue (as they might have advanced apparently either t? the .west,~ard or the 
north-west) must obviously be greater than that of theIr bC1l1g drIven away, 
under some special embarrassment, in the very contrary direction, the con· 
.lecture of the least likely circumstance, consummated by a barely possible 
issue in total annihilation, should, I conceive, ha\'e the least possible weight, 
when set against the contrary probabilities. 
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Question 2.-ln what direction d? you. su~pose. ~ir J~hn Fr~~klin,.or any 
portion of the crews composmg his ExpethtIOn, If survlvmg, IS to be 
luoked for? And what are your grounds for forming that opinion? 

Repl!J.-From the information derived from the operatio~s of the various 
Search Expeditions, the impression conveyed to my own mmd from the very 
first has been, that the Franklin Expedition must, on the strongest probabilities, 
have proceeded by th~. W ellin~ton Channel, .. and fr?m t~ence north-westward 
into SOBle remote positIOn, or mto some positIOn of mext~lca?le emb.arrassment 
amono- the ices of the north-west Polar Sea. In the offiCial mstructIOns of the 
Adm~alt.Y' directing Sir John Frank!in (failing in finding a passage westward 
and south-westward beyond Cape W ~lker) to proceed, as ~ second ~oute, by 
Wellington Channel, we have suffiCIent grounds for lookmg to thiS as the 
probable direc~i.on pursued .. But it may be proper to state my views in respect 
to this probability more particularly. 

}'rolll the ascertained fact of the voyagers having wintered at Beechy Island 
in 1845-6, the inference is irresistible, that in the first season of their 
adventure either no passage was found to the westward at all, or some such 
opening only as that met with by the Search Expedition in the summer of 
1850, or else that the ships were too late for that year to enter on the desired 
exploration. In any of these cases the ne~t season. would ncces~arily be 
employed in ~eaI'Ching o~t .one or other, wh.lcht::ver mIgI~t ~ppea~ th.e most 
promisiI~g, of t?e t\,:o pl'ln~lpal routes pr~~cl'lbed for. thell' lllvest~gatJOn, for 
their gUidance III whICh their fortunate pOSitIOn at a pomt commandmg both of 
the routes afforded peculiar adnutage,;. 

As to which of these was actually pursued the conclusion arrived at by Captain 
Austin, after his admirable and elaborate explorations of the regions westward 
from Barrow's Strait, ~eems to aflord, negatively at least, satisfactory guidance j 
viz. "that the Expedition under Sir John Franklin did not prosecute the 
" object of its mission to the southward and \ye~tward of 'Wellington Strait." 
Thc primary direction proposed by Sir J olm Franklin's instructions being thus 
disposed of, we reasonably look for him in that other direction next in order 
appointed to him, which Captain Penny's interesting researches show us he 
might lim'l' pursued, - a direction \\"hich a mere view from the hills might 
have shmm him to be open, or which a very short sledge exploration in the 
spring might have proved to him was as replete with promise 0f a grand and 
successful progress north-westward as was the westerly channel which burst 
forth upon the delighted view of Captain Parry and his ardent comrades, when, 
on the 1st of August 1t'20, he first passed through Lancaster Sound and 
entered into Barrow Strait. 

But, in fi.uther support of these probabilities, it should he borne in mind, 
first, as to the practicability, apparently, of "'ellington Channel, that on 
Captain Parry's discovery of this "noble channel," 22d Augllst 1820, when, 
on a beautiful clear evening, they came before the mouth of it, "neither land 
nor ice could be seen (within it) trom the masthead;" and, secondly, as to 
Sir John Franklin's favourable opinion of this channel, we have documentary 
evidence in Arctic papers, I believe, published by the Admiralty j whilst the 
accordant opinion of Captain Fitzjames, the second in command in the expe­
dition, is still more explicitly shown in a letter to the late Sir John Barrow, 
dated January 18·!."), where he says, "The north-west passage is certainly to 
" be gone through by Barrow's Strait, but whether south or north of Parry's 
" group remains to be proved. I am for going north, edging north-west till 
" in the longitude of 140 deg., if possible." 

Where then, we might confidently ask, under such variety of according 
circumstances, could we rationally seek our missing adventurers but by this 
channel, deemed to be practicable,- which, on Parry's discovery of it, seemed 
then to be practicable,-and to which, failing in the first route, the high expec­
tations of Franklin and his next in command were so decidedly and hopefully 
directed ? A~d who. ~f thei.r sympathising a?d benevolent countrymen,. I 
would add, Will not Jom us m the ardent deCIded expression "Let us, m 
reliance on the Divine blessing, seek them there." , 

As to .the pro~Jable practicability o~ a passage through Wellington Chan­
nel, notWlthstandmg the. recent . e~perJence of an icy incumbrance of the 
entrance, w~ have, ! thmk, satI~factory g!oun~s for concluding favoura?ly 
thereon. " e have, mdeed, no eVidence which mIght lead us to infer anytbIDg 
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like a general incumbran~e of this channel. No ship that I am aware of has 
com~ home to report the actual existence throughout the year of an impassable 
barner, except for one s.olitary seas~n, that of 1850. And no ship removing 
£i'om the entrance for a slI1gle week m anyone summer could give conclusive 
proof that the barrier had not relaxed even in that very week. After the 
retreat of the recent searching expedition bcfore the close of the present 
season, t~e incumbering.field, which was only about fifteen miles in breadth in 
the prevIOUS autumn, mIght, under the power of a few hours fa\'ourincr gale 
have so drifted upward and westward from the eastern shore as to ha\'(~ affortled 
a free and easy.passage, had they been on the spot, to the entire flect. And 
most probably It mts a sudden and unexpected opening of this kind,-fillill cr 
the hearts .of our advcnturers with hope and gladness, in the prospect of at 
once reachmg a sea which had perhaps, as with Captain Penn", before been 
seen from the hill,--whicl~ urged a departure so hurried and illiperative as to 
leave no moment for carmg for records, when the idea of brinn'ing throll"h 
Behring's Straits their own despatches \\'a~ the one grand and abso~'bing illlpr~s­
sion of the whole of the adveuturers. And as to the extreme importance of 
improving the chance of progress at the earliest possible moment, every expe­
rienced navigator in Arctic seas is aware of the fact that one hour of time, yca, 
a few minutes, wasted, may possibly sacrifice the results of months of previolls 
labour and diligence. These are facts of experience which hundreds can verify. 
Well, therefore, might Franklin, if a prospect of furtherance and success so 
suddenly burst upon him, be in haste to impro,'e it, and well might the relic:­
brought home by Captain Penny and others of the Search Expeditions be the 
only records of a sojourning at Beechy Island, and of a hasty departure. 

As to no traces of the progress of the Expedition being met with in all the 
extent of Captain Penny's explorations, I would take occasion to remark that 
we cannot fairly infer £i'om thi~ anything essentially discouraging. .lll that 
can be concluded i~, that the probability of Sir John Franklin h[t\'ing passed 
that way into the north.western or north Polar Ocean lacks what might have 
been demonstration, but loses, as to probability, nothing. A variety of circum­
stances, such as a filiI' and rapid and hopeflIl progress, when blowing hard, 
an intervention of land ice, or packed ice on shore, a strong ofl";;horc wind, 
&c., might have prevented the erection of cairns on shore on the part of 
Franklin, whilst other circumbtances, variolls in their kind, might baye pre­
vented Penny's party fi'om discovering e\TIl existing traces. }I any of the 
traces which have now beell met with at Beechc.y Island escaped the observa­
tion of those who first yisited it, and none of them would have been detected 
by an ordinary course along shore. If the progress of Franklin through \\' cl­
linO"ton Channel, which I cannot but belic\·e he has passed, were fi'ee and 
rapid, there. coyld be. n~) rea~onable ,e'xpectation o~ hi~ staying .his prog;ress 
anywhere wlthm the lmllts of Penny s shore cxammatlOllS-tL (iIstance, III a 
direct courRe by the south channel, of perhaps not more than 120 to 140 
geographical miies; and it. could only b.e w~en the .erection of marks on the 
shore could be eflected mthout essential mterruptlOn of progress that the 
adventurous party could think of providing for the information of those who 
might chance to follow them. 

Whilst submitting to the Committee the foregoing views on the first two 
questions on which they have done me the honour to request my opinion, it 
may be proper to notice certain object~on.s whi~h have b<;en publicly announced 
to t.he conclusions, as to personal conVIctIOns, 1 have arrIVed at. 

1. The first of these objedions, indeed, as to a conjectured retrograde move­
ment of" the Expedition after wintering at Beechey Island, has already bcen 
referred to as bearing on the probability of Sir John Franklin or some portion 
of his associates being yet surviving. It bears, too, (by consequence,) on the 
views now expressed as to the direction in which survivors, if any, would 
probably be met with. Hence I lIlay take occasion to observe, that the suppo­
sition,-urged, I believe. on the indications of a hasty and unpremeditated 
depflrtme of the Franklin Expedition from its winter quarters,-that it was 
dri\'en off to the southward by some sudden disruption and movement of the 
ice, can have no greater probability for its support than what belongs to a 
sudden drifting northward tlll"OUg!l Wellingt~~ Chann~l, in correspon?~nce with 
.the primary drifting of the Amencan ExpedItIOn; whIlst the SuppOSItIon of the 
Franklin Expedition having passed Wellington Channel has the additional 
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Joundafioll, 1st, of this being ?ne. of ~he di~'cct~onswhich S!I: John FI:anklin 
\'(asinstructed to try; 2d, of thIs dIrectIOn bemg ~n a!l prol!ablhty occasIOnally 
lIavigable; 3d, of this ch~nnc~ actnally com\l1ulllcat!~g with a further chan. 
nel in a north-westerl \' dm'ctlOn of the most promIsmg extent towards the 
object aimed at and open and navigable at an early period of the season' 
and, 4thly, of this direction being not unlikely to be sudde~ly opened out 
duriu<T a heavy gale from the eastward or south-eastwar?, and, If so, presenting 
an opportunity or prospect of ~flectin.g ~he ,grand object of the Expeditio.n 
such as would abundantly explam the mdlCatlOns of a hasty retreat from their 
wintering quarters. 

2. In regard to another suggestion bearing on th~ possibl~ fate .of our missing 
countrymen which some persons have felt to be discouragmg, .vIZ., that where 
we might penetrate they mig~1t. get out. I woul~ take occaslO~l to a~d, that 
this is only a particular and limIted truth. All thmgs .on both sIdes bemg the 
same, the proposition would of course b~ true. Mechamcally, the for,ce re9uired 
to move a body from A. to B. on a hOrIzontal pl~ne would, under lIke circum­
stances of resistance, be the proper force for mo\'mg the same body from B. to 
A.; but, physically and geographically, the relati\'e resistances, as well as the 
appliant forces, arc not necessarily equal. In the present case they are obviously 
very unequal. Besides, we have fi-esh hands, full of hope and health; and we 
have now well-tested appliances which our predecessors had not duly estimated. 

Question 3.-Should a further search be decided on, what measures do you 
recommend for thi~ purpose, and in what direction? 

[" It is reque~ted that this question be answered with a full explanation of 
every particular of the proposed plan of search."] 

Reply.-?\. othing of actual progress, except in the nature of pioneering, it 
is obvious, has yet been accomplished in the search for Sir John Franklin. 
Captain Austin sought him where, as the result of a search of something like 
6,000 miles of sledging has shown, he was not to be found. Captain Penny 
pursuer] what I believe to have been his track, but up to a position only where 
he could not ha\"e halted, or, if he had stayed, could not now have been missing. 
In pioneering before the march of humanity much and most important informa­
tion has been gained. In the \Yidely-~pread trackless common, so to speak, 
in which we had hitherto been so perplexed, and our adventures so prevalently 
wasted by the indefinite variety of directions of more or less promise, a track 
has no\\- most happily been discovered narrowing to one specific direction the 
pursuit of the missing, and guiding us in the concentration of newly-directed 
appliances, where zeal and energy, sympathy and humanity, may have their 
most hopeful and encouraging exercises. . 

From what we know of the region to be explored, the uncertain extent of 
interruptions from the condition of the ice, peculiarity of seasC'n, and incidents 
attending a ditncult and often perplexing navigation, ',ye can only calculate, as 
a probability, on the reaching of any particular advancc station during the first 
summer's enterprize of a renewal of search. But in the employment of a suffi­
cient number of vessels, say four, with tenders, some of the contingencies will 
become proportionally reduced, so as to leave a reasonable confidence of gaining 
some such po~i~ion as that wintered in by the recent expeditions. On such an 
advanced pOSItIOn at least we may, I think, rea~onablr calculate. And on the 
p38sing b~'yond this position within Wellington Cha11l1el, or probably beyond it, 
even dUring the summer of IH52, we may entertain, if the views we have sub­
mitted be sound, no inconsiderable expectation. In either case, whether the 
navigation through the newly-discovered Victoria Channel be actually acCOm­
plished, or whether the exploring vessel:; should be stopped at the entrance of 
Wellington Channel, all the requirements of humanity, by the appliances noW 
at command may, we belie\'e, be satisfactorily attained. 

In order to this, four vessels, besides tenders, would, I think, be necessary; 
tw,o ,of them, as the ~xperience of the late trials sufficiently point out, having 
effiCIent steam-pr?pellmg power. One of th.e .vessels, a principal one iIi tonna~e 
and ac~?m~odatI~n, I w?uld propose (as orlgmally submitted in "The Frankhn 
Exp~~ltlOn, pubhsh~d m Jan~ary 1.1:<50,). for the service of a general depot, 
receIVlllg or refuge shIp, for parties whIch might adventure in distant researches. 
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And .this ship should be stationed as near as practicable to the entrance of 
Wellmgton Channel, such as at Beechey Island or Assistance Bay, in reliance 
upon the shelter and resource of which the other vessels might, with much 
confidence of safety, be. pushed forward to the very extremity, perhaps, of' any 
sea or channel of navIgable waters extending towards the western outlet of 
Behring's Strait. 

In lik~ man~er each of these other vessels having succeeded, as we now 
ass~me, m pas.smg through Wellington Channel, would, in the extreme p0sition 
whIch they Illight happen to gain, serve in its turn as a second OJ' third refllO'e 
ship and depot fo~ travel.ling parties thrown Ollt fi'om their advance positio~. 
So th~t, thus 'provl~:d With two or more placcs of principal replenishment and 
refresh,?ent, ~n p~sltlOns far advanccd, it might be hoped, beyond each other in 
the desIred dll'ectlOn, we can see no unreasonable risk in attempting to explore 
the so-long sought north-west passage, to any extent whatever to which our 
missing voyager~ may have advanced, and in which, by circumstances on 
which we have .no data for calculating, they may have become, as to any means 
capable of be.mg made self-available, inextricably embarrassed; for if the 
very enc.ouragmg <:han~el djscovere~ by Penny were to happen to yield an 
advance m fi'ee navigatIOn of 500 mIles from Beechey hland, we should ha\'e 
the residue of the distance to Point Barrow, the north-western headland of the 
American continent, reduced (as estimated on the great circle direction) to 
some 500 or 600 miles. To travel so far, and retul'll to the supposed advance 
depot, did the means by favourably disposed ice admit, would not wry greatly 
exceed an extraordinary performance of Dr. Rae in the spring of 1847, who 
informs us that himself and one of his men travelled, without lacking resources, 
a distance of 1,000 miles on foot, and on their return, though rather low in 
flesh, were as sound and well as when they started. And a distance such as 
that referred to it will be remembered is fully within the range of one of the 
transglacial journeys so admirably effected by no less than fOllr of the enter­
prising parties sent out by Captain Austin in his late expedition, and might 
therefore be possibly repeated under the imagined contingencies of the now 
contemplated search, provided the parties were not required to return, by 
supplies or a refuge vessel being secmed to the ad venturers at the Behring's 
Strait extremity of their great undertaking. And here, whilst contemplating 
the practicability or the possibility, at least, of such a grand result with searching 
parties from a far westerly station, an important question naturally ari,es; 
whether, for the encouragement of such an undertaking and such a completion 
of the great object of search, means should not be taken, and promptly if at 
all, to meet the adventurous travellers in a sufficiently northerly parallel from 
the westward, or to secure to them, in case of'success, the resources necessary 
to preserve them from becoming sacrifices in the cause of humanity? In con­
templating a possibility of such a consummating result as this referred to, we 
do so advisably, and, with Commander Pullen's wonderful enterprise fi'esh, as 
it were, before m, with a reasonable measure of hope: for with such appliances 
as we· have now at command, hitherto quite unapprchended, what may we not 
hope for fi'om a renewal of the search as stimulated by the ennobling and soul­
stirring feelings of humanity, and undertaken with the zeal and bravery charac­
teristic of British seamen? 

But we return fi'om the contcmplation of these very sanguine views, grounded 
on the hope of the passage of Wellington Channel being effected, and con­
siderable westing in the newly discovered channel beyond being gained, in the 
summer of 18.5:2, to the,consideration of the prospect of remote and successful 
researches in the same direction being effected by ice·travelling and boating 
parties, starting from a position no further advanced than that of the winter 
quarters of the recent Search Expedition. 

From a starting point such as this, which we are encouraged to believe to be 
very generally attainable, we doubt not but efficient and conclusi\'e researches 
might be made north-westward, provided the channel, or Polar Sea, as pre­
sumed, so continues to an extent of several hundreds of miles. Previous to 
the late splendid experiments in ice-travelling I had confidently expressed (at 
page 85 of "The Franklin Expedition") the firm persuasion that we were but 
yet beginning to learn what might be done by this method of. res~arch. 
Towards this attainment, besides some suggestions as to the applicatIon of 
auxiliary agencies for the furtherance of progress, I took occasion to submit 
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the plan of pushing forward depots and supplies, to stations 101) to, 150 miles 
in advance, and of the employment of s,mall pUl'lleS on the severallme.s to be 
explored, &c. ;, a plan to which the Tadnmable ]'es~lts of re~~nt ente,r~rISe h~vc 
giw'll such satisfactory approval. No less than the of Ca~taIll Austl11 s ~artles, 
we find, accolllpli~hed with six or seyen men sledges a ~lsta?Ce aYer,agmg for 
cach aboye 600 miles; whilst one of them, under the dIrectIon of LIeutenant 
l\1'Clintock, travelled the extraordinary distance of about 800 miles, returning, 
after an absence of eighty (lays, in safety and good h~alth, And it is worthy 
of particular consideration, that of the numerous pmtles despatched fi'om the 
" Resolute" and her associates (some of whom were exposed to the severity of 
a temperature of ;~/o below z:ro), as ~ell as tb?se under ~he ~eneral direction 
of Captain Penny, all accomplished theIr respectIve et.Iterpnse~ III safety. 

So much in these admirably conducted enterpnses ha\'mg been already 
accomplished, the repetition, under as £wourable circumstances, may be reason­
ably expected; and, assisted by recent exp~riencc and information, we believe 
still greater triumphs in the humane enterpnse now contemplated to be, under 
the furtherance and protection of that gracious Providence so fittingly and 
pioush' invoked by the late adventurers, reasonably attainable. 

In ~rder to thi~ we would submit, as of ,'ast importance, the extension in 
distance and number of stations (now that one line of research requires only to 
be pursued) of the system of depbt~, Something considerable, perhaps, might 
be done towards this object in the early autumn, as soon as the navigation for 
ships should be found closed; a plan, indeed, tried by Captain Austin, with 
considerable advantage, I apprehend, to his spring successes. The econo­
mizing of training exerci~e~, capable of being commenced probably by the 
middle of March in a tolerably favourable season, might give important 
aid in the preliminary arrangements. No physical labour, I would submit, 
even in training for the great adventure, need be wasted. Until the 
whole of the :<upplies for the advance posts and depots should be de­
spatched, even a four hours exercise would be available for useful service; 
and when the training might be extended to one or two or more nights 
bivouacking abroad, the lllass of supplies could get pushed forward with much 
advantage to the ultimate measures for travelling. To carry forward this 
system too, to the best advantage, it would be important to add to the 
stores of the adyancc depots, or to continue to push forward still more 
extendcd supplies long after the departure of the exploring parties towards 
points or positioll~ pre\'iously agreed upon. Baillie Hamilton Island, under 
the contemplated arrangements, would obviously be a very important position 
for a principal depot, where, by means of hunting, shooting, and fishing parties, 
there "ould be every probability of obtaining an ample enlargement. All this 
would of course require the rcservation of a considerable number of hands for 
the special scrvice, but they would well and effectively subserve the great 
object in yiew; for, whilst c\"Cry fresh station for a depot would yield addi­
tional ~ccurity to the adventuring tra\"Cller~, each additional advance station 
must gi\'e encouragement to further and more complete researches after the 
objects of our sympathy abroad, Under such a system, and under circum­
stances tolerably favourahle, an extension of exploration might not improbably 
be attained, at once unapprehended in previous expectations, and commensurate 
with the requirements of the great undertaking humanely contemplated. 

Open ,Yater, it appears, W'lS discovered by Captain Penny at no great distance 
\\,l'~tward of Baillie Hamilton Island so early as the 16th of May of the prcsent 
year, with a dark "water sky," not to be mistaken, indicating an indefinite 
cxit-nsion of it in a westerly direction beyond; for the indications of a dark 
water sky, ,,,hen favourably elicited, I may remark by the way, are, under the 
eye of an experienced whale fisherman, not to be mistaken; at least with the 
one exception, not in the case referred to of probable occurrence, of bay-ice, 
a condition peculia~ to ice of new formation, whilst yet without any covering 
of snow, and so thm as to present a surface equally unreflecting of light as that 
?f t.he ,sea., In e,'ery other case a plainly developed water sky is unfailing in 
Its mdlcatlOns. 

The oceu~rence of water at s? early a period in the year in the region to 
be explored mvo~\'es at o!,-ce a d~~culty and an ad\'antage in the contemplated 
research:s,-a dIfficulty ~n req~Irlng the conveyance of a boat or boats, with 
the reqUIrements for agam takmg to the ice if the extension of open water 
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should ~ail,-and an advant~ge as to the means of making rapid progress, COlJ1-

pa~'ed Wlt~ the necessary tedIOusness of men-drawn sledges. But the difficulties, 
bemg antlcpa~ed, would no doubt be efficiently provided for, so that, on the 
who~e ente~pl'lSe, the general anticipations we have ventured to submit might 
possIbly gam rather than lose by the change of circumstances in the methud 
of progress. 

Whilst co?-templating th~s hopefully the probability of effecting satisfactory 
and conclusIve researches III respect t.o the fhte of our missino' yo"ao'ers it 

b ' b .1 ~ , 
may e proper, III order to a candid exposition of the whole su~ject, to 
r~mark, that an u~~ue importance in the public mind appears to me to ha\'e been 
gIVen to t?e cond.ltIoll of the region explored by Captain Penny, as indicating 
a change m and zmpTovement 0/ clim(rte. No such inference, I feel assured, 
can justly be drawn from the circumstances of open water, early decayilw icl', 
or multitudes of birds and other living creatures. Peculiar geooTapfljc~ and 
hydrographical conditions are obviously sufficient to account for the apparent 
amelioration of climate. Thus, on the 'western coast of Spitzbergen, in thc 
parallels of 7r to 79° or even up to 80°, the sea is often open as early a~ (or 
before) the month of May, and abounding near the shore with animal life, 
when to the southward of the lowest of thesc purallels the ice is continuolls 
from Nova Zembla to Cape Farewell in Greenland, and when to the northward 
of the 80th or 8Ist parallcl of latitude neither bird nor beast i" to be seen, 
but a sea covered with a continuous and unbroken SUr!:lCC of icc, and that 
never, I believe, penetrable by shipping, except to a small extent beyond the 
latitude of 81° occasionally (perhaps mre/}i) in snmmer, and within the par­
ticular meridians of ur to :2;)0 cast. Again, on the east coast of GrecnL:.nd, 
when in Scoreshy's Sound in the lIst parallel all ice \"as gone, and a tempera­
ture such that in one spot on ,vhich a landing was eflected the men were Littell 
by mosquitos, in regions farther north the coast was blocked with 11<';1\'Y 
ice, and no such moderation of a mild 01' genial climate (except again in ~Ol1le 
peculiar geographical or hydrographical positions) to be mct with. 

The Re,". Dr. SCORESBY to Mr. FEGEN, Secretary to the Arctic Committee. 

Sir, Torquay, Itth Non'lllber IS.;]. 
I beg lea\'e to add to my former replies to queries of the Arctic Committec 

the portion on means and appliances herewith sent. 
I have, &c. 

(Signed) "'.'1. S('()I:'l:~t:\. 

Enclosure. 

In conclusion of this communication in reply to the qucstions of the Ardil' 
COlllmittee, I may yet venture to appcnd a few observations on the ?I/I'lfJIS (/ild 
appliances available for further, and, I would hope, more extended explorations 
in search of our missing voyagers. And of these various appliances yielclillg 
promise of most effective aid that of stearn propelling powcr is obviously of 
grand importance. This, indeed, was one of the special advantages contem­
plated in the case of the Franklin expedition. Captain Ross had first tried it, 
but it failed in his case by the nnfortunate adoption of an untried, anel, as it 
proved, a useless system of machinery. To this instrumentality, though the 
power of the machinery in the Erebus and Terror was but feeble, Sir John 
Franklin could yet look as affording the means of advancing under circull1-
stances when mere sailing vessels could do nothing, and of so facilitating thc 
general progress as to afford new and additional hopes of accomplishing the 
long and ardently sought north-west passage. 

In the expedition under Captain Austin the steamers Pioneer and Intrepicl, 
though of no very commanding capabilities, yet did all and more indeed than 
was generally expected from them. Their services in towing thc rest of thc 
expedition, in making rapid researches in clear watei', in clearing the passagc of 
ordinary obstructions, and by their momentum, employed as a battering-mm, 
crushing or breaking through blockings of ice not otherwise removable, were 
so important and effective as to cause this species of agency now to takc ~ 
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position among the leading essentials in an exploring expedition alllong Arctic 

Ices. h d d . d' h' The only difficulty indeed ever, appre en e ~n ren ermg t IS powerful 
agency available was that of securmg the propellmg apparatus from damage 
by contact with ice. In the ~se of the screw propeller t~ere was ?bviously 
sufficient security for general clrcumsta?ces, and for t,he ?rdmary qualIty of the 
ices of Baffin's Bay. But ther~ was a rIsk t? the pro)~ctm? st~rnpo~t or f:ame 
of the screw as was remarked m tbe Franklm ExpedItIOn, of Its bemg tWIsted 
"or carried' off by contac~ witb any decplY,immersed ma~,ses of, ice, -together 
" witb that essential machme appended to It, the rudder. WhIlst, however, 
tbe experience in the late expedition of the vast importance and availableness 
of the screw-apparatus was such as to counterbalance, in the general result, 
the measure of risk encountered, yet I can bardly pass over the curious impres­
sion of the before-expressed views, as found in one of ~aptain Aystin's reports 
to the Admiralty, where he ~ays, "Upon one occaSIOn (referrmg to a dan­
" gerous position of the sh!ps at the conclusion of their researc?es in Baffin's 
" Bay) the Intrepid was drIven upon the tongue of a berg, whIle her rudder 
" was carried away, and the fi'ame of her screw broken." But this incidental 
risk, in much less degree to be apprehended in these western regions than 
among the hea\'ier ices of the Spitzbergen Seas, leaves the general advantage 
so exceedingly predominant as to cause this important appliance, as above 
intimated, to be now considered as indispensible in any contemplated enterprize 
for Arctic researches. 

Great, ho\\'e\'er, as the power of steam is, and admirably as it is adapted for 
the facilitating of researches among Arctic ices, there is in the public mind, as 
the Committee are well aware, much misconception as to the limitation of its 
applicability, not merely as to its incapability of acting against the impene­
trable masses of fields and fioes, or sewrely compressed or consolidated 
heavy packs, but even with any satisfactory effect against the continuous 
resistance of hundreds of miles of bay ice_ In the advance of summer, when 
the ice becomes decayed, and the crystallization is in the course of separa­
tion, a powerful steamer might easily pass through a sheet of bay ice of con­
siderable thickness; but in the progress of £I'eezing, when the texture is 
compact and tenacious, a sheet of ice of six or eight inches would, I believe, 
arrest any steamer within a space of a quarter of a mile, or even a hundred 
yards. If indeed the bay ice were disposed to separate (whereas it would be 
more likly to be disposed to close), a steamer might be possibly backed in 
the canal she had commenced, and so gaining a fi'esh momentum, might make 
a further and a further advance; but the attempt to effect by such a process, 
with the chances of stoppage by pressure, a passage of perhaps a hundred miles 
or more through this tenacious substance, must necessarily and eventually fail. 
None but those who have actually experienced the mortifying and vexatious 
effects of bay ice in resisting the progress of a ship, even when urged by a 
favouring gale, can duly estimate the formidableness of such a hindrance. 

The advantage derivable from the employment of dogs in transglacial tra­
velling has long been matter of history in Arctic adventure. Explorations of 
an extraordinary extent, as well as of rapidity in the performance, are on record 
in connexion with Russian discoveries ,yithin the Arctic circle; and Captain 
Penny on different occasions seems to have realized much advantage from his 
dog-sledges. In one instance, when obliged to return from a position forty-two 
miles in advance, the dog-sledges accomplished the distance in one stage. And 
£I'om Point Surprise, on Baillie Hamilton Island, the dogs appear to have run 
the distance to the ship, probably a hundred miles, in about three days. But 
future explorers, knowing these facts, will of course avail themselves of the like 
instrumentality, if what appears on the face of Captain Penny's brief report be 
here correctly understood. 

In conclusion of these suggestions, which I throw out with a view to consi­
deration by the Executive in the renewed enterprize of humanity, rather than 
as the formal proposition of a plan expected to be pursued, I may allude to 
another and most important agency which, with much deference I would submit, 
as being not i,mprobably available ~o~ ~ce-travellin~; viz., the ;mployment of 3 

steam-propelllI~g power. The feaSIbIlIty of adaptmg this powerful agent to 3 

sledge-boat de_SIgned for the proposed researches-a boat \vhich on arriving at 
:, open water nught leave her runners and frame behind-is commended to my own 
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mind. by the t.wo imp?rtant facts elicited in the late sledge operations of our 
ArctIc explormg partIes; first, the extraordinary load which each man, on an 
average, was able to draw,-a weight, stated in Captain Penny's report, of 200 
pound.s, and in Captain Austin's, of 205 pounds per man; and, secondly, the 
dedUCIble fact of the extremely small resisting force with properly adapted 
sledges. 

What .the .actual resistance to be overcome in a six-man sledge amounts to 
we can only Judge (no actual experiments that I am aware of having been made 
thereon) by estimation on the datum of ordinary manual power in drawing. 
Such datum we have in the experiments of M. de la Hire, published in an early 
volume. of the Memoirs of the Royal Academy of Sciences of Paris, where h-e 
determmes that the whole strength of a man is only available to the extent of 
a force of 27 lbs. or livres (about 301bs. English), in drawino' in a horizontal 
direction. On this estimate we cannot suppose the drauglrt per man in Ollr 
ice-travelling parties, whilst making a distance of ten to fifteen miles daily (or 
ten miles on the general average, including all delays and stoppages), to have 
been more than 20 lbs. avoirdupois per mall, and it is much to be doubted 
whether it were so much. This estimate would give a resistance of 120 lbs., or 
10 per cent. of the load, on the general average of ice-travelling at a rate of 
perhaps one and a half or two miles per hour. 

A compactly constructed steam-engine of a couple of horses power would 
in such case be sufficient, I suppose, if its force could be made duly available, 
to carry forward, and with no inconsiderable speed, a sledge of the weight 
referred to, say 1,200 lb., besides the additional burden of itselt: Not possessing 
positive information on the subject of the weight of such an engine, that is, with 
tubular boiler, and heated by spirituous or oleaginous fuel, I can only throw 
out the suggestion for more accurate inquiry. But I cannot suppose that the 
additional weight of the engine, with its requisite supply of filel, could present 
any essential objection to the employment of such an apparatus. There would 
be an obvious advantage, I may observe, in employing oil for fuel, inasmuch as 
the Arctic regions afford such variety of means of replenishing the ~tor(' of this 
combustible; for almost every creature which inhabits the sea or frequents the 
waters of the north, furnishes oil; not only the whale, but the seal, walrus, 
bear, and, in a slight degree, even thc aquatic birds. 

As to the mode of adapting thc power of the engine to the propelling of a 
sledge, I would merely submit the apparent applicability of a modification of 
thc ordinary paddle-wheel, such as in a projecting series of radiating points of 
metal on the rim of the wheel, adapted to penetrate or scratch upon a surface 
of snow or ice, with an upward movement regulated by a spring, to provide 
against a too violent resistance £i'om any hard and elevated sur£"1ce travelled 
over. These radiating points might, I conceive, be rendered ultimately avail­
able for the attachment of the requisite floats of the paddle-wheel, should it be 
found that the sledge-boat might be convertible into a steam-boat, on reaching 
any navigable water. . . . 

The steering of a sledge of thIS kmd could probably be effectIvely accom­
plished by a short fore-keel, slightly depressed below the runners of the sledge, 
and moveable on a pivot by an apparatus on board, so as, by deflecting the line 
of the fore-keel out of the longitudinal centre, it would act after the manner of 
the movements in the fore-body of a carriage, in giving direction to the entire 
machine. 

From any hasty judgment that such a scheme is chimerical, the triumphs 
of art hitherto realized in the employment of the agency of steam should be 
sufficient to defend it. I submit it with diffidence, but do not imagine that it 
involves any mechanical or other essential difficulties which, should the demand 
for its trial call out the ingenuity of our practical engineers, would not be easily 
overcome. 

An important matter of economy would be involved in the expenditure of 
fuel, which it may be 'proper to notice, that of the providing for the travellers, 
without trouble or waste of resonrces, a constant supply of water and of water 
heated, according as the arrangements for the economizing of the heat of the 
escape or condensed steam might be provided, so as to be always ready for their 
culinary requirements. 

Such are the means and appliances as well as the plans for practical operation 
which have 9ccurred to me as being likely to be available, and, I would venture 
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to hope, effective too, in the prosecuting ?f the d~sired r~searches aft~r our 
anxiously sought adventurer~. With the varIety o[ m~nor or !solated partJcu~ars 
belonging to the general subject of these commulllcatlOn.s whIch have [rom time 
to time occurred to me T need not trouble the CommIttee, except, !Ddeed, to 
l'a 11 attention to a new article of portable provision, the American meo~-biscllit, 
the invention of Mr. Borden, which might, not improbably, be a usetul addition 
to the stores of ice travelling parties. 

,\11 the matters, however, which have appeared to me of any essential consi­
deration as bearing on th~ important. subject of i~lquiry before the Arctic 
Committee havilw now (wIth the prenollsly stated news on the same general 
subject giH'1l in 5"~he. Franklin Expediti?n") been sufficiently elicited, I would 
dose this COmmlll1lcatlon by the expressIOn of the fervent and prayerful hope 
that the ~pecial cause of humanity and national duty now being inquired into 
may, under the blessing of the ;\ ~i\Irr.nTY, b~. so I?rospered through the inst~u. 
lllentality of an ample and concluslYc ExpedItIOn tor search, ~hn:t the sadly-tl'led 
lllonrners amollgst us may eventually be comforted, and Bntam be yet called 
lIpon to rejoice at the restoration of her long-lost SOilS. 

• WILLIA)1 SCORESBY. 
TorqllUY, ::.\'"ov. H, 18.51. 

Enclosure No.7. 

Hl'plit'~ of ('''\1'1'.\1:\ "\cSTII'> to (~Ilestions put by thc Arctic Committee relative 
to the subject under their inquiry, 28th October 1851. 

Pirst' (Juestioll.- Do you suppose it probable that Sir John Franklin, 
or any portion of the crews composing; his Expedition, still survive? if 
so, in \\'hat direction? 

Uup!y.-Having most carefully and most anxiously given this question the 
fllllc~t consideration, I am compelled, with deep regret, to state, "I do not 
ldieve, nor suppose it probable, that Sir John Franklin, or any portion of the 
crews composing his Expedition, still survive." '. 

Second Question.-What are ,Your grounds for forming that opinion? 

Rep1y.-lst. The protracted period of their absence, a period of six years in 
.T uly last having elapsed since the Expedition under Sir John Franklin left the 
Whale Fish Islands, provisioned at that time for three years. 

:!<L I<'1'Oll1 my own knowledge, and from the opinions and reports of the 
officcr,.:, made to me during the time they were actually in the performance of 
(luties under the responsibility of my orders. Those reports were to the effect, 
that resources could not be obtained for the support of a party either in the 
llcighbourhood of our winter quarters, or of the parts visited by anyone of the 
Expedition ullder my charge. 

Thi, conclusion is borne out by the circumstance, that although native 
encampments have been constantly met with by our parties, yet nothing has 
been seen to indicate the existence of a human being for a lengthened period j 
fi'Olll which I assume, that the inability of the natives to procure subsistence 
had compelled them to abandon these parts for others. 

:3ll. The ill-effects of a second wintcr on the mind and body, arising from the 
want of fresh food (both animal and vegetable), are much greater than is gene­
rally considered, and are much greater than even those who have experienced 
its intensity arc willing to acknowledge when they are no 10nO'er undergoing 
the privations. Our crews were free from scurvy, yet at the clo~e of the winter 
season they had, I am sure, lost a considerable portion of their original physical 
strength, and to such an extent in some that they could not proceed with the 
travelling parties j and my belief is, that those individuals would not have 
sUf\·ived a second winter . 

. 4th. It furth~r, occurs to me, that even after a second winter, although 
Su' John Franklm s crews would have been much debilitated aud rendered less 
capable of encountering the fatigue of travelling, yet still th;t some individuals 
amongst those crews would have been despatched in the hope of effecting a 
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commulllcation with whalers, or for the purpose of reaching Mel ville Island (as 
they knew that animals had been seen thel=e), or that they would have pushed 
forward for the American continent. 

This opinion may be considered as opposed to the representation that has 
been made to the Committee, that Sir John Franklin had" gone away in clear 
water beyond our reach" (say 500 miles). From my experience, I am unable 
to place any confidence in such a representation, and [ believe that those 
,~~o are thoroughly conversant with Arctic navigation will entertain similar 
dIstrust. 

. 5th .. In additi~n to the groU1:ds whic~l I have offered f?r supposing it to be 
ImpossIble that Sl1' John Franklm and hIS crews are now alIve, I beO" to refer to 
the opinion of Captain Penny-not the opinion adopted by Captain l}enny since 
his return to Engla.n~, and after c.ommunicatio~l with other parties-but I beg 
t~ refer to the opll1\On of Captam Penny, wntten by him upon the spot, in 
hIs letter to me of the 4th of Augllst 1851, at his winter quarters. After 
expressing his intention of returning to England, Captain Penny concludes his 
letter thus, "Poor Lady Franklin, and the fi'iends of those br~"e men whose 
fate will ever remain in oblivion ~ ,ras it not a strong conviction of my ~el1se 
of duty, the very thought of meeting any of the III without intelligence would 
almost tempt me to another winter." This letter is in the hands of the 
Committee. 

Third Question.-Should a further search be decided 011, what measures 
do you recommend for this purpose, and in what direction? 

Reply.-It is with much diffidence that I offer any opinion on this subject. 
But first, as to the direction :-any search up the Wellington Strait would, in 
my opinion, be fruitless. I cannot bring myself to search at all with thc hope 
of success in any direction. I found this conclusion on the circumstance of the 
late extensive search, having discovered no traces beyond those in the neigh­
bourhood of the tirst winter quarters; :md I cannot resist the conviction that 
the missing Expedition did not admnce in the second season beyond Beechey 
Island. 

I am confirmed in this belief by the following considerations :-assuming that 
my opinion is correct, that Sir JOh!l Franklin did not advance in the second 
season beyond Beechey Island; I have then to observe, that he had failed in 
prosecuting his discovery during the previous season, even as fill' a5 had been 
accomplished by the Expedition of 1819; that Expedition reached Melville 
Island, and it was the generally received opinion that that point might be 
reached every season, and under every circumstance, and did not depend upon 
favourable seas om and ice navigation. Sir John Franklin would therefore have 
to commence his second season, with his crews suflering from the prejudicial 
effects of an Arctic wintcr, with the additional discouragement of their ~llcce~s 
not having been equal to even "'hat had heel~ acc01l1~lished :.25 years before. 

It is also reasonable to suppose that We1l1l1gton Channel was blocked when 
his ships took up their winter quarters in 1845. Impressed with these considera­
tions, I feel that a prudent commander, duly regarding his responsibility, would 
not have considcred himself justified in prosecuting north-west in an unknown 
region, bearing too in mind that he had only some :20 months provisions ill 
search ofa passage to the Pacific, a distance of 1,100 to 1,200 miles of icc navi­
gation, and approaching 3,000 miles from any place where supplies could be 
obtained, and that diflicult navigation to be accomplished in the fivc or six 
weeks only which is open during each year for that purpose. 

With regard to Wellington Channel, it will be seen from my report that that 
channel was blocked in September 1850; and that, although aided by steam, 
not more than 30 miles of direct advance to the westward in Barrow's Strait 
(a far more extensive channel) was made; and although Wellington Channel 
was reported favourably from aloft in 1819 and 1820, yct knowing that in 
Arctic navigation how frequently the reports of a clear sea from the crow's 
nest in narrow waters are followed by the end of the lead or a block being 
seen within an hour, it was not a sufficient inducement for a former very 
experienced Arctic na\"igator, either to prosecute in that direction, or to 
examine the extent of the water seen~ in the hope of success in the object of a 
north.west passage. 
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Furthermore, I am convinced by late experience. th~t ~he navigation of 
\VellinITton Channel is most critical; as all narrow straIts III lcy.seas are, more 

t> f' L'; • h d' th f "G ""F ,. or less, of ,,·hich good proo IS lurl1lS e III e ~.ases 0 nrer, ury, 
"Victory," and "Terror"; in that of the" Fury, my recollectIOns are fully 
alive to our state of helplessness. " . '. 

In passing Radstock Bay in the" Resolute III August 1850, the IC~ came In 

so rapidly towards the shore, that had not steam. b~en at hand, she mIght have 
been beset and carried to the eastward: a sImIlar event occurred to the 
"Intrepid." The" Pioneer," when rounding Beechey ~sla~d wit~ the "Reso­
lute" in tow in :\ ugust l850, found the effect of the Ice III motlO~ was such 
that she was driven into shoal ,vater, where she grounded, and It was not 
until after considerable labour that she was hove off at the expiration of two 
days. The" Resolute" nearly experienced a similar disaster at the same time, 
ITaininO' the fast ice with considerable difficulty, and avoiding being set on shore 
~r drifred out of the channel. The" Assistance" and her tender were subject 
to very severe pressure in Wellington Channel, when the "Int~epid" had her 
rudder head carried m\"8,Y: afterwards, £i'om the easterly set wIth pressure off 
Cape Hothfllll, the ,,".\ s~istanee," was in a ,-ery critical position. Lieutenant 
De Haven informed me, that in September 1850, while attempting to make his 
way up the channel, ,,,hcn ncar Point Innes his vessels were in considerable 
dallgcr £i'om the mOYement of thc ice when affected by wind or tide; indeed, 
hl', of necessity, employed eYer)" effort to reach security in Barlow Inlet. The 
situation of the "Resolute" and her tender in September 1850, when drifting 
from above Barlow Inlet out of the Strait, I consider, was very critical and 
heIple,s; had they been nearer in they might have been forced on shore; and 
had it not been for the aid of steam, I belie\'e that they would have been carried 
:may to the south-east in the Pack-the Pack being all but tied together for 
the "'inter. In the ease of Captain Penny, when crossing from Union Bay in 
September 1850, his brigs were nearly forced on shore at Cape Spencer. 

The accounts that have recently been received of the drifting of the American 
Expedition in Wellington Channel appenr to confirm these views. 

If Wellington Channel gave much hope for advancing in the second season, 
i~ it not fair to infer, that parties would have been despatched if only to recon­
noitre for places of security as the Expedition proceeded? but it appenrs that 
these did not extend beyond Cape Bowden to the northward, and Caswell's 
Tower to the eastward. A bottle was found at Cape Bowden; meat canisters 
at Caswell's Tower; the remains of a coal-fire at Cape Spencer (most probably 
of a shooting party); and more extensive remains at Cape Riley; but in no 
case beyond those places. And I would submit, as a just inference, that if it 
had been Sir John Franklin's object to prosecute up Wellington Channel, 
economy of his fuel would han' been a matter of most rigid care and anxiety, and 
that he would not have left at his winter quarters a quantity of materials that 
would have .sl'ITed for fuel, and which at the time Jid not escape remark. 

Further, It appears most probable that if Sir John Franklin's Expedition had 
proceeded up Wellington Channel, a record of it would have been left. It is 
also reasonable to consider that \'essels could not have passed through a narrow 
pas~.age between .the islands which appear in Captain Penny's chart without de­
tentIon; and (~ell1g new discovery) possession would have been taken and some 
mark of such dIscovery left on them. I mav also mention, that Sir John Ross, 
C~pt~in Ommanney, Lieutenant De Haven, and Captain Penny all left the 
" ellmgton Channel and proceeded towards the south-west 

I have now offered my views of Wellington Channel, and have expressed 
some of the grounds upon which I entertain them; but there are other 
grounds,-there ~r~ opinions which have influenced and guided me,-there are 
th? recorded opmIOns <;>f our most eminent Arctic navigators and men of 
se!en~e, far from favourmg the search for Sir John Franklin by the way of the 
,\ ellmgton Channel. The Committee will remember that the orders to Sir 
Jo~n Fra?klin h!mself la~d no stress upon the importance of that channel, but 
pomted hIS espeCIal attentIOn to another direction. 
. I may here remark, as bearing upon the present inquiry, that Lady Franklin 
m a letter to me upon my departure, expressed her anxiety that particular 
seal'{;h ~hould be directed to the south-west of Cape Walker; but not one word 
of " ellmgton Channel. 
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With all these important considerations before me, I am at a loss to account 
for the strong feeling that is abroad in favour of a further search for the 
missing ships in the direction of Wellington Channel. With reference to the 
extent of open water reported in the upper part of Wellington Channel, it is 
well kpown to those accustomed to ice navigation, that much deception arises 
from Ice covered by water being mistaken for open water, particularly in thc 
months of June and July; the snow being melted on the surface of the ice, 
the latter becomes transparent and acquires a sea-tint; and has, combined with 
the almost co~s.tant deceptive state of the atmosphere, not only the appearance 
of water, ?ut w~th numerous p~ols upon it presents also the appearance of an 
open sea, 111 whIch the undulatll1g wave can almost be fully recognized; and 
it is to this optical deception that much that is said to have been seen may bc 
fairly ascribed. Beyond six or eight miles the floe ice upon the horizon 
frequently presents such a peculiar surface that much caution and deter­
mination is necessary to avoid being led into error. 

In explanation of the water said to have been seen "on each shore, and for 
some miles distant from the places of observation," without its following that 
there was a navigable sea or outlet, I would observe, that the situation of our 
wintering corresponded in a manner with that of the head of Wellington 
Channel; and although much limited in extent, the west side being formed by 
islands, and a bay with no outlet at the head, yet water made to the northward 
two to three miles from our position, while we were fixed to a fixed barrier, and 
blocked in to the southward. The" Intrepid" afterwards sailed in this water, 
which then proved of limited extent. It had before given the idea of an 
extensive navigable space; and although there was much more water in 
Barrow's Strait in the autumn of 1~;j 1 than in that of 1850, yet there was very 
little difference as to the power of navigating Wellington Channel. 

Having therefore very maturely weighed all these circumstances, I cannot 
but be strongly impressed that Sir John Franklin did not prosecute beyond 
Beechey Island; but that leaving his winter quarters, he was either beset on 
that occasion, or was attempting to return to England. The loss of whalers in 
the pack will fully account for the complete destruction of any vessel or 
vessels; and if at a period of winter, instead of summer, also for the total loss 
of the crews. Contact with bergs would also sufficiently account for the 
disappearance of the ships, with all on board. Many whalers, having large 
numbers of casks on board, have been destroyed in Baffin's Bay, without 
scarcely a vestige having ever been found; and I am not aware that any part 
of the hull or the spars of the" Fury" have ever been found. 

In reply to that portion of the third question which requires what measures 
I should recommend if a further search be decided on, I have to say, that the 
two ships and the two stearn-vessels which composed the late Expedition under 
my orders, were found to be well adapted for the service upon which they \\Tre 
then employed; and that (except in some little matters of detail) I have no 
improvements in their equipment to suggest. 

I have now completed my answers to the written inquiries of the Committee, 
and I have endeavoured to lay before them, through the medium of those 
answers, not only all the information in my power, but every opinion aud 
answer which my own experience has suggested. If from inadvertence or 
forgetfulness I have failed in affording the Committee all that they may 
require, I will at once supply the omission as soon as I am made acquainted 
with their wishes. 

London, 15th November 1851. 

HORATIO T. AUSTIN, Capt. R.N. 
Late of Her Majesty's ship" Resolute," and 

in charge of the Arctic Expedition. 

Gg4 
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His PAPERS RELATIVE TO THE ARCTIC EXPEDITIONS. 

Enclosure No.8. 

Captain KELLETT to Mr. FEGEN, Secretary to the Arctic Committee, 

Sir 10, Alexanuer-square, Brompton, 6th November 1851. 

,ritl/ reference to your letter of yesterday's date, submitting to me certain 
questions relatiyc to the mi~sing Expedi~ion nnde!' Sir John Franklin,. I have to 
request that you will lay before th~ ArctIc C~mlmttee the accompanyIng paper, 
containing my most carefully consIdered replres. 

I have, &c., 
}1', J. Fegen, Esq., 

Secretary Arctic Committee. 

Enclosure 1. 

HENRY KELLETT, 

Captain, R.N. 

Answcrs to Questions submitted by the Arctic Committee to Captain 
Henry Kellett, 5th November 1851. 

Do you suppose it probable that Sir John Franklin, or any portion of the 
crews comprising his Expedition, still survive? 

Thcre i~, I consider, no evidence of their having been wrecked; (In the 
contrary, I think we have evidence that they have not been wrecked. 

I feel that it is not within the power of man to say that they are dead, nor 
do I consider it right to do so when we hear the ('vidence of the experienced 
traveller, Dr. Rae, as to the small quantity of food and fuel that will support 
vigorous life in those regions; as well as Captain Penny's and Lieutenant 
M 'Clintock'~ account a~ to the number of animals that may be procured in a 
higher northern latitude than I think they would be found in. 

I must therefore give it as my opinion that there is a possibility that some 
may' still survive. 

If so, in ,,,hat direction? 
What arc your grounds for forming that opinion? 

The answers to these questions must be conjectural. 
I base my opinion on the following points;- Giving Sir John Franklin credit 

for pursuing the object of his Expedition, the ships will be found, I think, a 
long ,~a'y to the westward of any point reached by the parties from the late 
ExpedItIOns. 

In the summer of 1~,16 he may have reached a navigable sea, north of the 
Parry Islands, which Tllay have enabled him to get to the westward and probably 
to the southvvard of Melville and Banks's Land (which may be one), making his 
return by the eastward more difficult than that by the westward; and the open 
water, as fiu' as he could know, less distant by the "estern route. He would 
therefore persevere westerly, and havinO' made his westinO', may have been 

d · h' d b b stoppe 111 IS en cavour to get south by continuolls land or islands. 
We have certain proof of there being land in this sea, for, on the 17th 

August 1849, I landed on an island in lat. 710 19' N., long. 1750 16' W. (named 
Heral~'s Island); it is almos~ inaccessible, and literally alive with birds .. ~rom 

V·.l t t the neIghbourhood of Herald s Island, I saw (as fur as a man can be posItIve of 
lue ex rae h' . h . h . d 

from my offied IS slg t 111 t ose seas) to the westward an extensive land, very lllgh an 
let.ter to their lord· rugged, distant I consider from my position .50 or 60 miles. 
6hIPS, enclosed. I could not land or approach it with my ship, unfortified as she was, but I am 

convinced it might have been easily reached by a steam vessel. , 
Now I do consider that it is morc probable that the ships are stopped to the 

westward of the meridian of Behring's Straits, than an ywhere within 600 miles 
n?rth-west of their winter quarters: 1845-6; for, had they been within that 
dIstance, w~ sholl.leI have. had long ere this some one out of so large a party 
return to gIve us mformatlOl1 of their whereabouts . 
. Being in the meridian of Behring's Straits, or to the westward of it, is, I COD­

SIder, the very reason we have not heard from them' for they could not possibly 
reach either America or Asia in boats or on foot. ' 
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Sbould a further search be decided on, what measures do you recommend Captain Kellett's 
f6r this purpose, and in what direction? Replies. 

To reach the point I refer to, I consider screw steam vessels would be the 
most el!gible. We have heard what they have done with Captain Austin. The 
season IS so short, that vesse~s capable of taking advantage' of every opening 
must be employed; not bemg able to avail themselves of a lead either fi'orn 
foul winds or calms, may and is likely to cause the loss of the whole season. 
There should by all means be two vessels with small crews, and filled with 
prOVIsIons; all their resources must be within them~elves, as I know of no port 
where a reserve of provisions would be of any use to yessels endeavouring to 
get to the north-eastward by Behring's Straits. A depot in either Kotzebue 
Sound or Grantley Harbour could only be useful to a "essel havin o. failed; and 
then I consider her return to a southern port would be preferable to °her wintering 
in either of those port~ where her departure in the ensuing spring would be 
dependent on the breakmg up of the icc. 

In October 1850, there were 300 tons of government coals at the Sandwich 
Islands; here these steamers might fill up. Between these islands and the 
ice, from where their voyage would commence, they certainly would not require 
more than two days fuel, one to take them through the Aleutian Chain, nIHI 

another through Behring's Straits. 
Before stating the route I should follow to gain what I suppose may be th(' 

position of the missing ships, I will describe the character of the ice in BchrilJg'~ 
Sea, as required from me by the Arctic Committee. 

I found it whenever I made it, with only one or two exceptions, closely packed; 
not in general high, as I could easily land on it from a boat; very much bro!,;cn 
or rough, with pinnacles of considerable height. Travelling over it for any 
distance, is, I should say, impossible; many of the floes are nearly covered with 
water, the mirage from which distorted objects in the most extraordinary way. 

Its general trend from the coast of America was to the north-west, by steps of 
unequal sides, the northern sides being the longest. By following this course, 
I reached on the 28th July, 1849, lat. 72° .51' N., long. 163 0 48' W., "here 
I was stopped by impenetrable packed ice; a water sky was reported to the 
northward (by the ice men) which I could not reach, though, I am convinced, 
had my object been to reach a higher northern latitude, I might have done so 
by following the pack to the westward. 

Again in 1850 I found the packed ice near the coast of America in nearly the 
same position as Captain Beechey did in 1~27, but still Captain Collinson, in 
the same year, after rounding that point of the pack, was enabled to reach a 
higher latitude by 20 miles than has ever been attained before; £l'om this In nearly the 
position he attempted to get to the eastward, where he was stopped by c1osc1.y same longitude. 
packed and heavy ice. Packed ice, in Behring's Sea, cannot be seen from a 
ship's mast head more than ten miles. I have proved this by running to, and 
even from, the pack. 

Although I was always stopped by packed icc, yet it will be recollected that 
it was my object to keep my ship clea}' of the ice, and not to ente}' it. 

Were'I proposing to make the N.E. passage, I should recommencl an attempt 
to be made, directly north, in the meridian of Behring's Straits, where the 
sea is clearer of ice for a greater extent northerly than in any other direction; 
but as the object of an Expedition would be one of search, not of discovery, I 
should recommend their making Herald Island, and then push westerly for the 
land seen by me, which may be a continuation of the land seen by the natives 
from Cape Jakan, and which ,ye know, from Baron Wrangell's voyage, is not 
connected with the coast of Asia. I would pass, if possible, to the westward of 
this land, and then prosecute the search easterly along its northern face. 

In this unknown sea much must be left to the discretion of the officer in 
command, both as to the time of his return and the direction circumstances may 
oblige him to pursue to reach the point of search indicated. 

Where was her Majesty's Ship" Investigator" last seen? 

The "Investigator" was last seen by the "Plover" in lat. 700 44' N., long. 
1590 52' W., steering to the north with a strong S.W. wind. It will be seen by 

Hh 
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the accompanying chart that she would have an open sea ahead of her for some 
distance. 

Should Commander M'Clure be successful in getting far to the eastward 1 
am convinced, from a conversation I had with him, and indeed his own letter 
will show, that he will use every endeavour to reach Melvi~le Island with his 
parties if he failed with his ship. Should one of these partIes reach Melville 
Island, or even the northern shore of Banks Land, they will endeavour to get 
home by the east, being a safer route than attempting to return to their ships. 

Should a further search be decided on through Behring's Straits, I cannot too 
strongly urge the necessity of an immediate departure. Captain Moore, in the 
" Plover," and Captain Collinson, in the "Enterprise," left this country a great 
deal too late; it leaves an officer, in the event of any casualty, no time to remedy 
it, and he must, therefore, fail; steam vessels even should be clear of the channel 
by Christmas to ellSllre their being up with the ice in time. 

HENRY KELLETT, Captain, R.N. 

Enclosure 2. 

Extract from my Official Letter to their Lordships, dated 17th November 
1849, relative to Islands and supposed Land discovered by "Herald" on 
August lith of the same year. 

Shortl y after 8 A.M., when one of the snow storms cleared off, the packed ice 
was seen from the mast head from S. S. W. to N. \L E. 5 miles distant. The 
weather was so bad that I was obliged to bear up for the rendezvous; it 
however as suddenly cleared up, and I hauled my wind for the N.W. extreme 
of the ice that had been seen. 

At 9'40 the report of "Land ho" was made from the mast head. In running 
a course along the pack towards our first discovery a small group of islands 
were reported on our port beam. The pack here was not so close as I found it 
before; lanes of water could be here seen, reaching almost to the group, but too 
narrow to enter unless the ship had been sufficiently fortified. 

These small islands at intervals were very distinct. Still more distant than 
this group (from the deck) a very extensive and high land was reported, which 
I had been watching for some time, anxiously awaiting a report from some one 
else. There was a beautifully clear atmosphere (such as can be only seen in 
this climate) except in the direction of this extensive land. There the clouds 
rolled in heavy masses, occasionally leaving its very lofty peaks uncapped, 
when could be distinctly seen columns, pillars, and very broken angles on their 
summits, which is characteristic of the high headlands in this sea. East Cape 
and Cape Lisburne, for example. 

With the exception of the N.E. and S.W. extremes, none of the intermediate 
lowland could be seen, unless, indeed, what I at first took for a small group of 
islands was a point of this great land. This island or point was distant 
:2;) miles from the ship's track; the higher part of the land not less, I consider, 
than 60 miles. When we hoye to off the first land seen, the north extreme of 
the great land showed out for a moment to the eastward, and so clear, as to 
cause some who before had doubts to cry out " There, Si1', is the land quite 
plain." 

Enclosure No.9. 
Captain OMMANNEY to Mr. FEGEN, Secretary to the Arctic Committee. 

Sir, 40, Charing-cross, 12th November 1851. 
In compliance with the desire contained in your letter of the 28th ult., I 

beg to transmit, for the information of the Arctic Committee, my replies to 
the questions annexed thereto, after giving them my most careful consideration. 

I have, &c., 
ERASMUS OMMANNEY, 

C'lptain, R.N. 
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Enclosure. 

Quest~on I.-Do you suppose it probable that Sir John Franklin, or any 
portIOn of the crews composing his Expedition, still survive; and if so, 
in what direction? 

Answe1".-I am of opinion that neither Sir John Franklin or any portion of 
the Expedition can be now alive. 

Quest£on ~.-What are your grounds for forming that opinion? 
Answe1".-FIrSt, from the fact that on leaving Whale Fish Islands in 

June 184.5, the Expedition was then provisioned for three years. It was, 
probably, August 1846 ~v~en they quitted Beechey Island. Thus they had 
less than two years prOVISIOns left to. last them up to the present time; even 
allowing that their numbers diminished, I maintain that no English con­
stitution or people habituated to civilized life could exist so long on reduced 
allowance. 

Secondly, I place no reliance upon the support they are likely to procure 
fi'om the quantity of game or animals found in those regions. The whole 
amount of game procured near our winter quarters this summer amounted to 
about one bird a man for the whole Expedition, although parties were sent out 
expressly to shoot; and, bear in mind, these were obtained with somc labour 
by people in good health. Admitting that there are birds and animals,­
the former are migratory, as are most of the latter,-then there are but k 
weeks ont of the whole year on which you can depcnd for this supply. Therc 
is nothing to induce me to suppose that any party could kill sufficient food to 
sustain them for the remaining 10 months. The numerous old Esquimaux 
settlements met with along the south shores of the Parry group leads me to 
believe that a change has taken place in those seas, in the course of time, 
which, becoming blocked up with ice for a longer period of the year, deprived 
the natives of the means of living, which caused them to emigrate eastward. I 
consider the opinions of continental travellers on this sll~iect as fallacious, for 
it does not follow that because animal life abounds on the American continent, 
the same should be found 400 or 500 miles further north. I see no analogy 
between the two countries,-the coast of America and the Parry group. 

Thirdly, if they abandoned their ships northward of the Parry group, in all 
probability their travelling parties would have retraced their steps towards 
their first winter quarters, or made for Melville Island, where it appears there 
is more animal life, of which they, of course, were quite aware of from Parry's 
voyage. 

Lastly, there are reasons to suppose they did not prosecute the north-west 
passage' after leaving Beechey Island. We know that 3 of their men (young 
men) died the first year, from which .we may infer they were not enjoying 
perfect health. It is supposed that their preserved meats were of an inferior 
quality. No records being left, does not look like advancing; as Sir John 
Franklin and Captain Crozier, the latter of whom had served in four expeditions, 
were alive to the importance of depositing records. Again,-look at the position 
of Cape Riley,-they had made little progress in the object of their voyage; all 
their work was still before them, for I regard that position merely as the 
threshold of the north-west passage. Under these circumstances, and sup­
posing that Franklin had examined the seas beyond Cape Walker in the fall of 
1845, and by travelling parties found this impenetrable barrier of ice across 
the Wellington Channel, spoken of by Penny's Expedition, what other course 
had Franklin left but to retreat? That two ships could be lost in the ice 
without meeting a vestige of them afterwards, is a catastrophe I can ca~ily 
conceive possible, especially if the two ships happened to be beset close to 
each other. 

Assuming that they did advance through the Wellington Channel, and 
became blocked up in some inaccessible place, my firm conviction is that none 
can now survive; for I think it impossible for the constitution to endure the 
climate and' the privations necessarily exposed to, even with a moderate 
allowance of provisions, for so long a period. 

Hh2 
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Question 3.-Should a further searc? be deci~ed 0.n, ,;hat measures do you 
recommend for this purpose, and III .what dlre?tlOn? 

Am·/cer.-Should another search be consIdered desIrable, I would recommend 
that the Expedition be composed of v~~seIs fitted with screw-propellers, so as to 
act without the encumbrance of a saIlmg vessel after reachmg the ground of 
operations. . 

From the indefinite statements made wIth regard to the. chann~l seen by 
Mr. Penny's Expedition si~ce h,is return to En!?land, and t.he Impre.sslO~ exci~ed 
in consequence on the publIc mmd about a navIgable sea III that dIrectIOn, VIZ., 

north-westward of the \\' ellington Channel, it seems to me to require a further 
examination. To accomplish this, two questions present themselves :-first, 
\\'hether it "'ould be requisite to provide for a prolonged .absence;. secondly, 
\"hether it would not be more desirable to arrange for a rapId executIOn of this 
service? In the former case it would involve the necessity of a depot ship 
hcinO' stationed at Beechey Island; in the other, I would be attended with one 
dep6t ship to accompany the steamers as far as practicable, so as to secure her 
return to England the same season. 

My firm cOllviction is, that if ever the "Tellington Channel is navigable to 
any considerable distance, it must be only on an occasional open season. Should 
an Expedition be so favoured as to hit on such a season the year of its departure 
from England, we should gain an advanced position, from whence an extensive 
search \\'ould be effected in the ensuing spring; accordingly I would recommend 
preparing an Expedition for rapid movements. 

I propose haying t,,"o steam scrcw-propelling vessel~; they cannot have 
much power because you want all the space you can gam for your crew and 
prm'isions; to accomplish a rate of 7 knots per hour at full speed is quite suf­
ficient; and, in my opinion, their size should not exceed 500 or 600 tons, 
drawing about U or 13 feet water. They should not be so long as our last 
"teamers were, and broadcr in proportion, being so constructed, as far as may 
bc practicable, preserving her efficiency as a steamer, to possess all the qualities 
of a sailing vessel-one that would work quickly in narrow lanes of water in the 
event of being solely dependent on the use of sails. They ought to spread more 
GlilV,lS than our last steamers, and be provided with square sails on the main­
mast. Vessels of this description would require to usc their steam less frequently 
than ,re did on the late Expedition. 

To ~tow the same proportion of fuel, on reaching the Arctic seas, a~ was ef­
fected by our last steamers, is ample; being unencumbered wit.h sailing vessel, 
that quantity, or even less, would produce a greater result in distance than 
before, and r am satisfied, as before stated, be less frequently used. 

As a depot ship to carry out the ultimate supplies for these two steamers, I 
would take the" Assistance," which is ready prepared for such a service; she 
has great capacity, and will stow 100 tons more than on the last voyage. Let 
her have 50 working hands, with a limited number of officers. She should ac­
company the~c steamers, as far as the nature of the season would admit of, to 
the entrance of Lancaster Sound, jf possible. Port Dundas, which I visited, 
near Cape Wan'ender, would be a good position to complete up with fuel and 
provisions. This accomplished, the " Assistance" would return, and the steamers 
proceed wit.h the search. 

The" Assistance" would have to carry 300 tons of fuel, independently of the 
stores and provisions for the steamers. This would be effected by removing 
the warming apparatus, dispensing with unnecessary anchors, cables, boats, &c., 
and all the stores which we carried for three years use, would in this case be 
substituted for by provisions, and with only sufficient executive officers, a 
large space would also be gained; she would be quite adequate to answer this 
purpose. 

Should it prove a very favourable season, I would carry the depot ship as 
far as Beechey Island, there complete up, and make a depot on shore as well, 
before advancing. 
. Fro~ m.v experience, and looking to all previous Arctic navigation, it is 
ImpOSSIble to follow up any previously-defined line of operations to pursue; no 
two seasons are ever alike; whoever he may be, he must be guided by circum­
stance3: assuming that we reach Cape Riley (which may not be gained in all 
seasons,-refer to Sir John Ross's Expedition, and to the North Star,) with the 
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two steamers, efficient in all respects, and with leads before you up the Capt. Ommauuey's 
channel, then .1. should P?sh ~orward while the season lasted, to gain the most Replies. 
advanced posItIon for wmtermg in, and with travellinO' parties would in all 
probability effect the desired search. t> 

But taking such a season as we met with, there is no alternative but to winter 
at Beechey Island, ~'om wher.ce it would also be practicable by travelling, 
(throu~h the experIence of the late Expedition,) to set at rest the question 
respectmg the channel seen by Mr. Penny; it may terminate in a deep gulf, 
whIch I am not unprepared for, from what I remarked about the tides in 
Wellington Channel. 

Another proposition here presents itself; you find the Wellington Channel 
blocked up, but all promises well for advancin o- to the westward: as SOUle 
pe.ople express wis? for Banks Land to be explored, the leader of the Expedition 
mIght have authorIty for detaching one vessel in that direction. 

I would not re~ommend ad\·ancing up the 'Wellington Channel a second 
season, unless certam of your retreat again, for it almost amounts to a certainty 
that the vessels would be blocked up, as lllay have been the fate of Franklin. 

Having gained an advanced position to the north-westward ofthe Wellington 
Channel in 1852, in an open season, in all probability a succession of close 
seasons will follow, leaving the Expedition blocked up; we must therefore be 
prepared to sacrifice the ships; the spring of 1854 would therefore be the 
period to abandon the ships, and retreat with the crews to Port Leopold, and 
the depot left by the " North Star," near Aumiralty Inlet. 

I have no faith in the theory of a Polar Basin, consequently my opinion is, 
that the success of a searching Expedition to the north-westward of the Welling­
ton Channel depends entirely on the state of the navigation next year; the com­
mauder of the Expedition should have full discretionary power, aml everyone 
who joins must understand that their lives are to be risked, not only with a 
hope to save others, but to ascertain the fate of the missing Expedition. 

The travelling gear should he of the most perfect description, and in ample 
quantity, availing ourselves of all the improvements recommended by myself, 
and the officers of the late Expedition, and given in to Captain Austin at his 
request; the detail of all the travelling equipments have, I believe, been all laid 
before you. 

Some description of light boat, on runners, for carrying over ice, would be 
Illost desirable. 

A large quantity of Bickford's fuze should be carried for ice-blasting; we had 
to prepare all our charges, which involved loss of time, and the occupation of 
two or three working hands when most required; these might be prepared by 
the Ordnance, of the proper weight, and stowed in cases, ready for usc and the 
application of the fllze; we found the blasting most invaluahle in clearing away 
a short trip, and I recommend it for all future Arctic Expeditions. 

The Expedition ought not to be less efficiently equipped than the last, which 
in aU respects was most complete; there was a superabundance, perhaps, of 
some stores, which might be dispensed with; the provisions and vegetables 
might consist of a greater variety with great advantage; and the salt provi­
sions, the beef particularly, should be cured without so much saltpetre; travcl­
ling boots should be prepared before starting; glass shades for the protection 
of the eyes for all the crew should be supplied, and of the best description. 

I would tecommend that no more officers than are actually necessary be 
employed; the non-executives only occupy space, require attendance, and 
curtail the accommodation for the crew. It is also important that the officers 
should be well- versed in practical astronomy, with SOllle knowledge of surveying, 
sufficient to' lay down a coast line correctly. The engineers must be ready to 
perform any other duty when not navigating or at work about their engines. It 
is my decided opinion that none but naval officers should be employed on such 
a service, selecting those who have already proved themselves competent to 
undergo the privations in the former Expeditions, and by their ability and dis­
positions adapted for such peculiar service. More time should be allowed for 
fitting out the Expedition than we had; and I consider the middle or end of 
May quite early enough to sail. The selection of men is most important, and 
I much prefer the "man·of-war's man." The system of having ice quarter­
masters answered admirably, and I would recommend the same again. 

Hh3 
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Capt.Ommanney's In selecting steam-vessels suc~ as I have described, for independent opera-
Replies. tion it will be necessary to provIde for a larger crew and more officers; but 

the~ should not exceed 600 tons, and 7 knots is the utn;t~st limit of speed 
required. A large steamer should accompany the ExpedItIon to the edge of 
the icc, or Disco. 

Sir .T. Richardson's 
Replies. 

I have thus stated my general opinion for a further search on the basis of 
rapid operations, which I consider, under the present circumstances, is all that 
is required. As we are in possession of the detail necessary for equipping an 
Arctic Expedition it is needless here to enter into them. The officer, selected 
from former experience, will be fully competent to make his own arrangements, 
as was done in the late Expedition under Captain Austin; and of all things let 
the officer in command be unfettered from co-operation with other expeditions. 

ERASMUS OMMANNEY, Capt. R.N. 
London, 12th November 1851. Late Her Majesty's Ship "Assistance." 

Enclosure No. 10. 

Answers to three questions from the Arctic Committee, by 
Sir JOHN RICHARDSOl\", C.B., M,D. 

Sir, Haslar Hospital, 15th November 1851. 
1 have to request that you will lay before the Arctic Committee the subjoined 

replies to the three questions which they have dODe me the honour of submitting 
for my consideration, and which I have most carefully weighed:-

Question lst.-" Do you suppose it probable that Sir John Franklin, or 
any portion of the crews composing his Expedition, still survive? If 
so, in what direction?" 

Alls/I'eJ'.-I think it probable that part of the crews may still survive, to the 
north, or north-west of Melville Island. 

Quest iOIl 2d.-" What are your grounds for forming that opinion?" 
Alls/{'c/,.-The reply to this question divides itself naturally into two heads, 

yiz., the possibility of people surviving for a series of years on the polar islands, 
and the direction which the discovery ships took after leaving their winter 
quarters of 1 ~45-{). 

With reference to the first head, many facts may be adduced to prove that 
life may be supported for a number of years on animals inhabiting the land and 
waterl' of the most northern known islands. The existence of Eskimos up to 
the 77th parallel, and perhaps still higher in Baffin's Bay, is in itself sufficient 
eyide~lce of the means of subsistence being produced in these latitudes. Except 
practIcal skill in hunting seals, and the art of building snow-houses, that people 
have no qualifications that may not be surpassed by the intelligence, providence, 
and applIances of Europeans. The islands lying to the north of Lancas~r 
Sound and Barrow's Straits were once frequented by Eskimos, and the remams 
of their winter huts, though perhaps two centuries old, are stil~ numerou~ alon~ 
the coasts. Why these islands have been abandoned by them Il1 recent tImes IS 

unknown, but that the tribes that once resorted thither were not cut off by any 
sudd~n. pestilence or famine is apparent from the absence of human skeletons in 
the vlclmtyof the deserted dwellings, while the much decayed bones of whales, 
walruses, seals, deer, musk-oxen, birds, and other animals are abundant, and the 
small fireplaces huilt near the huts still contain morsels of charred wood, hidden 
beneath the moss which has overgrown them in the lapse of years. The absence 
of the natives is favourable, inasmuch as the animals, whether marine or terres­
trial, not being hunted will be more easily accessible. 

Musk-oxen frequent Melville Island, and with ordinary caution a whole herd 
may be secured by moderately skilful hunters, since it is the habit of the animals 
to throw themselves into a circle on the approach of danger, and to remain in 
that position, with their heads facing outwards, though individuals of their 
number are falling from their ranks under the fire of their assailants. Lieutenant 
11 '<;lintock, on ~is recent admira?le pedestrian journey, shot a musk-bull, and 
h~vll1g gone to hIS sledges for assIstance to carry down the meat, on his return 
WIth a pmty of men found the herd still grazing beside their slaughtered leader. 
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Reindeer also pass over from the continent to the islands in numbers in the 
months of May and June, and though they are shy animals if they be allowed 
to' get scent of man, they may be readily approached on their lee side by a 
bunter who possesses the requisite stock of patience. 
. The nat'.ue oft~e co~ntry i.n the vicinity of the ships will necessarily influence 
Its productIveness mammal lIfe, and in the absence of information respectino- it 

1 . 0 ' 
our cone USlOns cannot but be in great measure conjectural. A flat limestone 
tract, ,,!hereon the surface ston~ is continually splitting into thin slates under 
the actIon of fJ:ost, and from whIch the mud is annually washed into the sea by 
floods. of meltmg snow, or a low, shingly, barren flat, such as that coasted by 
Captal~ .ommanney, produc.es few grasses and little vegetation of any kind, 
~ence .It IS. shu~med by herbIvorous animals, or if they must necessarily cross it 
m theIr mIgratIOns they do so at speed; but in the sheltered ravines of a sand­
sto~e or trap country, or in the narrow valleys which occur among granite or 
gneISS rocks, there al:e grassy meadows to which deer and musk-oxen resort, the 
latter also f~eque~t hchen-producing acclivities, which are generally denuded of 
snow by hIgh wmds. Mr. Rae saw the reindeer migrating over the ice of 
Dolphin and Union Straits in the spring, and passing in great haste into the 
interior of Wollaston land. There seems to be no reason why these herds 
should not .range beyond the 80th parallel, if the islands reach so high, since 
the same kmd of deer travel annually from the continent of Europe to Spitz­
bergen, over a wider expanse of sea-ice. Polar hares are also numerous on 
Wollaston and Melville Islands, and as they are very tame and consequently 
easily shot, they add to the means of support. In the neighbourhood of open 
water the Polar bear is frequent, and being bold in its approaches faIls a ready 
sacrifice to a party armed with fowling pieces. The simplicity of the Arctic 
fox renders its capture a very easy affair. Fish of various kinds are by no 
means scarce in the Arctic seas, and the fresh water lakes abound in trout. 
Sir John Franklin was well acquainted with the methods of taking these by 
hooks or in nets set under the ice in spring. 

Brent geese, eider and king ducks, gulls and many other water fowl, resort 
in the breeding season in vast flocks to the most remote islands; and it may be 
necessary to state here, that these birds reach their breeding stations in the 
high latitudes only in July, hence officers travelling a month or two earlier, 
when the ground is still covered with snow, are not aware of the manner in 
which the most barren islets teem with life later in the summer. 

Walruses and seals of several species were observed by Captain Penny U1Hl 

his officers to be numerous in Victoria Channel, and ul'lllge and black whales 
may be looked for wherever open water of considerable extent exists. Both 
kinds abound in the sea that washes Cape Bathurst. 

This enumeration comprises all the principal animals likely to yield food to a 
party shut up by ice in the Arctic Archipelago. How far they could be made 
available for feeding the crews of Sir John Franklin's ships for four years beyond 
the expenditure of his English provisions must depend on many circumstances, 
concerning which we are at present in total ignorance. Such as whether the 
ships were enclosed in ice and drifted to a distance from the land, in which case 
the hope of aid from terrestrial animals would fail; or, whether they were 
simply shut up in a convenient harbour with their resources entire; or, thirdly, 
whether the ships were overwhelmed by ice or pressed ashore and wrecked, and 
if so, what clothing and ammunition were saved, also what portions of the wreck 
convertible into fuel drifted on shore. Fuel is as indispensable as food in the 
high latitudes, and the Eskimos generally employ animal fat for this purpose, 
especially in the winter. Drink in that season can be procured only by melting 
snow or ice, and for this service one pound of fat, at least, is required daily to 
make drink for three people, exclusive of other cookery. 

It seemed necessary that I should enter into this lengthened detail, in order 
to present a faithful view of the prospects of ships' crews shut up to the north 
of Melville Island. We must also advert to the fact, that provisions for 
the whole year must be secured in two short summer months; hence a skilful 
and complete organiz.ation of the hunting parties would be necessary to ~usband 
the natural resources of the country. Rash and awkward efforts would surely 
drive the aliimals out of the district. 

The shortness of the hunting season would be a great obstacle to the move­
mentofa· lnrge party, either towards the continent or Lancaster Sound. Many 
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Sir J. Richardson's of the number would be sick and the remainder could scarcely transport their 
Replies. disabled companions, the utensils, and a year's provisions to any great distance. 

- We ought also to take into account the pro?abl~ ravages of scun'y amo.ng the 
crews, in the course of so many years seclusIOn m the n~:)1th. ~hat dIsor~er 
has hitherto always appeared. iI~ a weater or lesser degree m t~e dI~covery sh!ps 
after the second winter, and It IS lIkely to be severe and fatal,Just m proportIon 
to the scantiness of the diet on which the people feed. 

lVl uch of what I have advanced above is conjectural, since we are ignorant 
of the position of the ships, and it is fortunate ~hat we can refer. to fact to prove 
that l.ife may b.e maintained in the most ArctIc ~ands .under. cIr~umstances, at 
first sIght, seemmgly the most hopeless. A narra~Ive p~mted I~ ~t. ,Petersbu!gh 
in 1768, by M. Le Roy, and translated and publIshed III Parkmson s collectIOn, 
relates the adventures of four Russian sailors, who being left on Spitzbergen 
almost destitute of supplies of any kind, supported themselves there by their 
ingenuity and activity for six years and a quarter. These four men were part 
of a crew of 14 who went in a small vessel to fish for whales on the east 
coast of Spitzbergen in the \'Car 1 i 43. The ship having neared the land, was 
enclosed by icc, 'and the 111;ster, despairing of extricating her, was minded to 
winter on shore. He accordingly landeu his boatswain and three men to look 
for a wooden hut which he knew of in that vicinity. The men having to travel 
over the ice, set out purposely with very light loads, and in fact took with them 
only a small bag of'meal, a musket, a powder-horn, 12 charges of ammu­
nition, an axe, a knife, a small kettle, a stove, a piece of touch wood, a tobacco­
box, and each man his tobacco-pipe. At the distance of a quarter of a mile 
from the beach they found the hut, ,,-hich was built of deal, and was 30 feet 
long, 9 feet wide, and also 9 feet high. "Within there was a fireplace cou· 
structed of clay, and a stove without a chimney, the smoke being allowed to 
escape by holes in the roof. The interior was damp and uncomfortable, and 
the afternoon was spent in making it habitable by caulking the rents in the 
'mIls with moss, and expelling the damp by fires made of drift-wood. After 
completing these operations, and supping on a portion of their meal, they went 
to rest, and passed a night of sound repose; but on repairing to the beach iu 
the morning, their ship was no longer visible, having drifted off with the ice, 
and she was never again heard of. The men were not overwhelmed by this 
unlooked-for calamity, but instantly set about providing for their future wants. 
The wreck of a ship which they found on the shore supplied them with fuel, 
and the]:2 charges of powder and ball procured them as many reindeer, which 
fo~tu~atel'y were numerous on the island. '''ith nails extracted from a piece of 
Slllp.tllllber, they made three lances, wherewith they killed a bear, and "'ith the 
st~ong tendons of the bear they strung and strengthened a piece of crooked 
dnft-wood, which they had fashioned into a serviceable bow, ,,,ith the knife. 
\~ith this bow, and the arrows which they easily made, they killed all thf' 
relll~eer and blue and white foxes they required during their enforced stay on 
th~ Island. They constructed a lamp of baked clay, curing its porousness with 
a !.Ittle of their meal, and feeding it with the fat of the animals that they killed. 
\\ lcks were obtained by tearing their shirts into shreds, and the skins of the 
~eer, bears, and foxes furnished them with clothing and bedding. During the 
SIX :rears of their residence they killed in all 250 reindeer, 10 bears, wit~ a 
multItude of foxes; and when they were at length relieved by a vessel whICh 
touched ,unexpectedly on the island, they were able to pay for their passa~e 
home, WIth ~,OOO lbs. of deer.fat, and many hides of the animals they had slam. 
On~ o~ theIr number, Fedor Weregin, a very indolent man, who from t~e 
begmmng had eschewed almost every kind of' exertion, died of scurvy, whIle 
the other three found health in their daily active employments. 

I I?~y also adduce the success of Mr. Rae in wintering on the verJ: ~n­
pronllsmg shores of Repulse Bay, as another proof of the possibility of sustammg 
a party O? the produc~s of an Arctic country_ That coast yields no drift tim.ber, 
but trustmg to the WIthered stems of a herbaceous andromeda he determmed 
on passing the winter there, and having built a house of stones' gathered from 
the b~acb, and collected the andromeda into small cocks like so much hay, he 
fed IllS party of 13 men for 11 months, principally on the produce of his own 
Wlll and t~t of his .Eskimo interpreter. In the month of September 1846 alone, 
63 deer, ~/2 ptarmIgan, and 116 salmon were brought into store, and when he 
departed III 1847, after completing his discovery and survey of the shores of 
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Akkolee or Committee Bay, he returned to Churchill with more than a third Sir J. Richardson'. 
of the tW? months provisions with which he originally set out, and with his well- Replies. 
fed cre~ III excellent health and prime working condition. These facts, and 
th~y mIght be largely added to, will, I believe, be genera]]y considered as suf-
~cIent to prove the gener~l argumen~ of the northern islands being fi'equented 
III su~mer by herds of ammals sufficIent to feed large bodies of men. 

WIth respect to. the secon.d clause of the answer to question 2d, viz., the 
~'easons for supposmg that SIlO John Franklin went up Wellington Channel, and 
IS now beset somewhere to the west or north-west of Melville Island the absence 
of any written document mentioning his intended line of route afte~' leavinO" his 
win.ter quarters. ~f. 1845-6, renders the reply to this also one of election a~ong 
varIOUS probabIlItIes. I do not, however, feel inclined to admit the inference 
that has been drawn from the want of such a memorandum, namely that the 
only reason for Sir John's not leaving one, was his intention of retur~i~lo. forth­
with to ~ngland. It is well known that he contemplated staying out at:> second 
winter, If necessary, in the prosecution of his enterprise; and the moral 
certainty that there was no mortality among his crews during his stay in 
Union Bay subsequent to the beginning of April, supports the belief that his 
ships and their equipage wcre in an dficient state at thc opening of the 
navigation in August or September It;-U;, It is much more probable that he 
did actually leave a memorandum, but that the post intended to call attention 
to the spot has been thrown down by bears 01' wolverines, and thus overlooked. 
Beechey Island seems to have been very carefully searched for documents, 
but the memorandum may have been placed on the north or east side of Union 
Bay; and I have not heard that the cairn from which the thick post had fallen, 
which was carried on board the" Albert" by Adam Beck, was searched. 

It is certainly possible that on emerging from under the shelter of Beechey 
Island the two ships may have been involved in a pack of ice, and drifted 
therein involuntarily into Baffin's Bay, as Sir James Ro~~'~ ships and the two 
American schooners "~crc,, and there overwhelmed, Looking, however, to the 
great strength of the" Erebus" and "Terror," I should think that such a 
catastrophe could not haw' occurred without leaving some traces of it, either in 
boats, spars, 01' other pieces of wreck to be discovered by the whalers. Adam 
Beck's confused and imperfect story of the murder of two ships companies by 
a feeble horde of Eskimos in Wolstenholme Sound, is sufficiently disprove(l 
by the "North Star" lluying- seen neither ship's timbers 1101' the spoil of the 
crews in possession of the Eskimos, during the long anchorage in that 
quarter. In the defect of positive evidence of the shipwreck and wholesale 
murder of the C're\','~;, or other loss of the ships in Baffin's Bay, the necessity for 
search in Queen Victoria Channclremaills the same as if no such calamity had 
ever been mooted. 

The direction of search is DO\\' actually limited to the channel here indicated, 
since Captain Austin's most extensive and accurate examination of the shores 
of Barrow's Strait to beyond the 114th meridian, shows that the discovery 
ships did not take a westerly course. if this conclusion needed further 
support, it has been supplied by the account of Mr. Rae's very remarkable 
pedestrian journey which has just arrived, and by which we are informed, that 
that zealous and active traveller had explored the coasts of Victoria and 
Wollaston Lands £'om the llOth to the 118th degrees oflongitude, approaching 
on the one side within 220 miles of LieuL Osborn's farthest point south-west 
of Cape Walker, and on the other within an equal distance of the north side of 
Banks's Land. The large horde of Eskimos, exceeding 100 in number, met 
by Mr. Rae on Victoria or Banks's Land, (for they form, probably, only one 
island), had never seen ships or ·white men; and it is not probable that 
Franklin's crews, if cast on any part of that island, would not, in their summer 
excursions, have left tracks that wouid have been seen during the lapse of 
five years by the Eskimos hunters, who pursue the reindeer in their migrations 
into the interior. 

The way in which I think the information that .has been collected by the 
various searching Expeditions ought to be interpreted is, that in the summer, of 
184.·5, Sir John Franklin was foiled in hilS attempts to pass ,Barrow's StraIts, 
that while waitino' for the disruption of ice, Captain ~FitzJames and other 
magnetic observer~ landed on Cape Riley to keep the August term day, and 
having then discovered the qualities of Union Bay as a, secure ha~bour, the 
ships eventually chose it as their winter retrefit. In the sprIng, explormg sledge 
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Sir J. Richardson's parties were sent up W el1ingto~ Channel, an.d h.aving ~erely a passage to look 
Replies. for, and neither bays to exam me nor the CIrcUIts of Islands .to make, they had 

gone much beyond Captain Penny's. fl!rthest, and that caIrns. wIll be found 
erected as usual at the limits of theIr Journeys. T~e strong tIdes or currents 
in the straits which bound Baillie Hamilton Island WIn probably keep the sea 
open there in most seasons, and ~hu~ Sir J ?hn w.ould. be en.courage~ to take 
that route, which his instructions JustIfied him domg, If the Ice remamed fast 
to the westward. 

Question 3rd. Should a further search be decided on, what measures do 
you recommend for that purpose, and in what direc~ion ? 

Answe1·. The considerations adverted to in the precedmg paragraphs limit 
the direction to Queen Victoria's Channel, and its westerly or north-westerly 
prolongations. 

In reference to the measures to be adopted, I beg to state, that the very 
variable condition of the ice in the Polar seas and straits in different years, 
and the experience of the late searching squadron, show that in most seasons 
the search may be most effectually carried on by sledge parties; ample pro­
vision should, therefore, be made for that department. With respect to the kind 
and size of the ships to be employed, I would say generally, that such an 
Expedition as that lately commanded by Captain Austin seems to be fully 
adapted for the purpose. The experience of the officers employed on it will 
suggest such improvements on the equipments as are needful, and it would be 
presumptuous in me to offer details on that head. But in regard to provision­
ing the ships, I would recommend a very considerable proportion of pemican 
to be furnished. This article has great advantages in respect of stowage, and 
if served out together with wheaten flour, or, what is preferable, sound, coarse 
barley meal, at the rate of from 2 to 3 lbs per diem, I should have very little 
fear of scurvy; and I think that it would be preferred by the men, as a standing 
article of food, to the preserved meats, which are less nutritious, weight for 
weight, owing to the quantity of water the cases contain. Meat biscuit made 
of wheaten flower, and dried and pounded meat, is another form in which 
nourishing food may be carried, and if it be secluded from moisture in tin 
canisters it will remain long in a sound state. As a further preventative 
against scurvy, a considerable stock of preserved potatoes may be laid in, though 
bulk for bulk it is much less nutritious than the substances mentioned above. 

To render sledge parties thoroughly effective, advanced depots should be 
made, if possible, in the autumn, and well secured against the depredations of 
bear~. If the ships, for instance, were to reach Beechey Island in July or 
August, and to find Wellington Strait choked by floe ice, boats should forthwith 
be launched over it, instead of waiting for its disruption, and provisions trans­
ported as far to the westward as can be done. This would not be lost labour, 
even if the ice broke up, so as to allow the ships to follow, for it will be pru­
dent to establish depots at convenient distances, as a necessary precaution for 
~·etrea~. With this view also, it might be ad visable to land a party of four or five 
m Umon or Radstock Bays, with provisions and materials for erecting a winter 
hut, so as. to ~orm a channel of intercourse between the ships, should th.ey 
pass up .vIctOrIa Channel, and Queen's ships or whalers that may be sent wIth 
Ill~tructlOns or supplies into Lancaster Straits. 

For. sledges to be employed on the ice, I would recommend those of the 
CanadIan construction, with high runners made of wrought iron faced with 
steel, welded on and not screwed, as screws invariably work loose. To accom­
modate parties that may find it necessary to cross tracts of land, a few sledges, 
made of two narrow thin birch deals rolled back-fiddle-fashion-in front, and 
sewed with strong sinew to slender cross-bars, should be supplied. 

Each sled~e party should have an apparatus made of tinned iron or copper, 
for the Il1:e1tl1~g of sn<?w and cooking with a lamp. Snow is best melted in a 
shallow dIsh lIke a frymg.pan, and the apparatus should have a cork casing, for 
the purpose of reducing the waste of heat. Could two or three Eskimos be 
procur~d, t~e necessi~y of ca~rying tents, which are a great encumbrance, would 
b~ aVOIded III the sprIng partIes by the erection of snow houses. Mr. Rae, on 
h~s recen.t jOl1:n;tey to ~ictoria Land, found the snow huts which he had practised 
hIS men lD ralSlng d~Illg the winter superior in comfort to tents. For draught 
I would further adVISe dogs to be carried out in the proportion of six or eight 
for each of the large sledges. Young dogs taken from this country in spring 
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would be serviceable when about a year or fourteen months old in the beginninG' SirJ. Richardson', 
of the ~ollowing season, and they are very speedily trained. A cross betwee~ RepliE's. 
an EnglIsh mastiff and a Newfoundland dog is superior in strength to an Eskimo -
dog. Seal blubber, especially when rancid, is a kind of food on which dogs will 
labour well, but on board ship they may be kept in good condition on oatmeal. 

For the men's use in winter, I would recommend shoes made of soft tanned 
leather (such as boots are made of) in preference to canvas shoes. They should 
be made in shape of the Canadian mocassin, and roomy enough to ho'ld three 
socks of white fearnought. F or spring travelling, mocassins of tanned ox· hide 
should be substituted, made equally roomy; and as the season advances, and 
the ground or ice becomes bare, gutta-percha soles may be added with great 
advantage. The efficiency, and even the safety, of a travelling party depends on 
rigid attention to minute particulars in their equipment. A surtout coat of 
leather, lined with warm flannel, is the best for winter travelling. Snow-houses, 
erected as soon as a sufficiency of material can be procured, will stand until the 
spring is far advanced, and may be constructed with advantage at the end of 
each day's journey, so as to be available for parties returning or coming up with 
supplies. 

I take it for granted, that steam tenders, or a steam-vessel of superior power, 
will be employed in the event of another Expedition being decided on. As early 
as 1826, I had formed an opinion, which I have alluded to in the narratiYe of 
Sir John Franklin's second Expedition, that steam would eventually be employed 
in the Arctic seas, and recent experience has fhlly shown that many ~dvantages 
attend its use. 

I beg leave to add, that pemican is made best in the winter time, and direc­
tions should therefore be given for its preparation as soon as another Expedition 
is decided upon. 

F. J. Fegen, Esq., 
Secretary, Arctic Committee. 

I have, &c., 
JOHN RICHARDSON, 

Medical Inspector. 

Enclosure No. II. 
Replies of Mr. PENNY to Questions put by the Arctic Committee. 

Question.-Do you suppose it probable that Sir John Franklin, or a~y 
portion of the crew composing his Expedition, still survive? if so, III 

what direction? 

Answer.-I do think it possible that Sir John Franklin and his crews or a por­
tion of them may still survive. My grounds for thinking so are, first, my 
knowledge of the habits of the Esquimaux, who live to a good old age in an 
equally inhospitable climate; the same mode of procuring food which the 
Esquimaux have is open to our countrymen, who have amongst them men, 
Mainely, Blanky, M'Donald, and Read, well acquainted with the means employed 
by Esquimaux in obtaining food. 

Secondly. Independently of their guns and snares, they could subsist by 
fishing for seals, walrus, narwals, (all of which I saw in Victoria Channel) and 
possibly whales, this can be done by harpoon and lance, lings and drags; 
there are also thousands of eider and king duck which may be easily snared 
upon their nests in the season. It may not be out of place here to mention, 
that on one small island on the east side of Davis' Straits during my last 
voyage we loaded a whale boat with eggs, and might have done so again and again 
jf they had been in season; and from what fell under my observation, I have 
no doubt the same thing occurs more to the north, where the ice is more 
broken up. 

As to the next part of the question, in what direction, I am firmly .of 
opinion that Sir John Franklin pursued his course through Wellington StraIts 
and Victoria Channel, and has got far advanced towards Behring Straits; my 
reasons for thinking so are first, the strong easterly gales, which we experienced 
from 18th August to the 5th September, 1850, had counteracted the effect of the 
prevailing currents from the west, and had cleared Victoria Channel by the 
westward; on the latter date, with my officers from the top of Cape Spencer, 
I saw beyond the fixed ice in Wellington Straits the channel free from ice to 
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the northward, and an open sea. Again, on the 17th May., 1851, when at 
Point Surprise, open water was found to the extent of 25 mIles to the west, 
and was visited at different intervals up to the 23d July, 1851, when the 
channel to the westward of Hamilton and Dundas Islands was clear of ice as 
far as the eye could reach, from the top of a. hi~l 6!)O feet above the level of 
1:he sea, with a dark blue sky beyond-a sure mdicatIOn of water. . 

Sir John Franklin must have been well aware of the presence of thiS water, 
havinO' passed his first winter at the mouth of Wellington Straits, and a watch 
tent havinO" been discovered north of Cape Spencer, about 4 miles from the 
~hips, fron~ which they could observe any change in the state of the ice in the 
channel that they could take advanta~e of, also the ruts of lo.aded sledges 
which ~pparently had .been .sent to exam me the c~ann.el. These clr~u~~tances, 
taken mto conSIderatIOn WIth the second clause III SIr John Franklm s lDStruC­
tion, and his own well-known preference, and that of his offi~ers, for the passage 
by Wellington Strait is quite conclusive to my mind, t~at he. has gone in that 
direction, while our finding no cairns or appearance of hlS havmg la~ded, seems 
to me to indicate that the passage must have been open and nothmg to stop 
him in 1846; and that he took every advantage of it. 

Third Question.-Should a further search be decided on, what further 
measures do you recommend for this purpose, and in what direction? 

Answer.-For the plan of operations I would prepare five vessels, namely, two 
steamer" "Lady Franklin" and "Sophia." A store ship manned with 150 
men; they would be all working men. Vessels like the" Pioneer" and" Intrepid" 
will do very well, only it would be better if they were a little shorter, and with 
more steam power. Thp store ship to be left as a depot ship at Beechey Island, 
rather than at any place higher up, because it is so easy of access from Eng­
land. Their crews would be employerl in collecting provision £i'om Navy Board 
Inlet and Whale Point to the above-named position. The other four vessels to 
proceed through Wellington Strait, leaving depots of provisions at every 100 
miles. After advancing 400 miles, I should leave another of my vessels to be a 
connecting link to keep up the communication between the searching vessels 
and Beeehey Island, and thence to England. From this second vessel one will 
proceed upon the same plan as already described, either with the remaining 
ships or boat sledge, until a point be reached in Behring's Straits. 

But should a barrier preclude our passing through Wellington Strait, I would 
be prepared with six boat sleugcs to drag over the ice to the water, which I 
have no doubt ,,·ill be again found in lat. 76° 30' long. 9i a at a very early 
period of the year. Four boats will continue to pursue the west and north-west, 
the other two boats keeping up the supplies to advanced positions, as directed by 
the notices left by the advancing boats for their information. If food and fuel 
could be procured, I would establish a winter quarter for two boat crews, at 
the farthest advanced position of course. This Expedition would be greatly 
aided by vessels coming to meet it from Behring's Straits. 

OBSERVATIOXS. 

No. 1. 

I wish to make a few observations besides.-First, it is my opinion that Albert 
Land extends to the north-west not less than 500 miles, and that Sir John 
Franklin has kept along this shore to that extent, and that at this distance from 
C~pe. Becher ,yi1l probably be found another winter quarter; my reasons for 
t~lllkll~g so are, that had this land nQt extended a great distance to the west, 
VIctOrIa Channel would have filled with icc, whereas the N .W. winds had driven 
the ie.e round Melville Island upon the American shore, in place of filling 
up thiS Channel. 

No.2. 
~ It .may be a singular opinion, but I cannot help thinking that a migration of 

EsqUlmaux has taken. place from. a people living in a higher latitude, and that 
they came ~own Wellmgton StraIt, from the remains of' stone huts along the 
n~rth-east. sl.de of the Channel, and that the stock from which they came may 
still .be eXIstmg. on. so~ne ~and to the north of the open sea, which I expect to find 
leadm~ to Behrmg s StraIts. From what I have said of the climate and resource, 
the~e IS no reason why this should not be so; and Sir John Franklin and his com· 
pamons may have found a refuge among them. 
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In connexion wit~ this v~ew, I know of a race of Esquimaux at Hogarth's 
Inl~t, as. I named It op. dIscovery, 1840, or rather rediscovering it, because I 
belIeve It t~ be the Cumber~and Strait of .Baffin, .but since improperly called 
North~mbelland Inlet. ThIs race of Esqmmaux IS far superior to any I have 
seen, eIther on the east or ~est side of Davis's Straits. The opinion I have 
formed of the cause. of the Improvement of this race is, that it has taken place 
In ~onsequence of theIr amalgamation with shipwrecked seamen of early discovery 
ShIpS, many of them having decidedly European cast of features. 

I have, &c., 
WILLIAM PENNY. The Secretary of the Arctic Committee. 

November 15th, 1851. 

Enclosure No. 12. 
Mr. A. STEWART to Mr. FEGEN, Secretary to the Arctic Committee. 

Sir, 437, Strand, 15th Nov. 1851. 
I beg . leave to acquaint you, for the information of the Arctic Committee, 

that havmg seen Captain Penny's plan of " search," in which I fully concur, I 
need not, therefore, trouble the" Committee" with a repetition of the same. 

And I have the honour to be, &c. 
ALEX. STEWART. 

Enclosure No. 13. 
Lieutenant M'CLINTOCK to Mr. FEGEN, Secretary to the Arctic Committee. 

S· 90, Great Portland-street, London, 
Ir, 7th November 1851. 

Agreeably to the direction of the Chairman of the Arctic Committee, I have 
drawn up the enclosed scheme of equipment for searching parties detached fi'om 
their ships when wintering within the Arctic circle; and I have to request you 
will place the same before the said Committee. 

This scheme has been prepared with all the care which so important a 
subject demands, and with an earnest desire not to over estimate the period for 
which a party so provided could maintain itself. 

The party consists of 1 officer and 10 men; they are amply provisioned fot' 
50 days, and otherwise equipped and clothed for 100 days, commencing from 
the end of March. 

It is also contemplated that travelling parties may render important services 
in the autumn by setting out as soon as the ship is secured in winter quarters, 
and continuing their labours until the end of October. 

I have, however, to regret that some valuable plans and notes, made during 
and subsequent to my recent journey to Melville Island, have been forwarded 
to Ireland with other papers, and therefore are not available on the present 
occasion; and I am thus deprived of the gratification of more clearly and 
accurately illustrating the various articles of equipment. 

With reference to the advance of our knowledge in carrying out this mode 
of searcH, as derived directly from the experience of the recent Expedition, I 
beg to refer the Committee to a letter dated 5th June 1850, which I had the 
honour of submitting to Captain H. T. Austin, and which embraces all that 
was known upon the subject at that period. A copy of this letter is enclosed. 

I have, &c., 
F. L. M'CLINTOCK, Lieut. 

Late of Her Majesty's Ship" Assistance." 

Enclosure 1. 

S· Her Majesty's Ship" Assistance," at sea, 
~ ~J~I~~ 

In c?n.sequence of your having expressed to the officers of the Expedition 
yo~~ wIlhngness to receive any suggestions calculaied to promote the. grand 
object .of our voyage, I am induced to address you upon the subject of 

I i a 

Mr. Penny's 
Replies. 

Lieut. 
~!'Clilltock's 
Suggestions, 
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travelling part~es; the more. SO, . as the list of articles necessary for their 
equipment, whICh by your dlrectIOn I prepared, received your approval, and 
were accordingly provided. 

It may not, therefore, be altogether unn~cessary to offer some explanation 
of such as are novel in their constructIOn, that they may be perfectly 
understood and used to the utmost advantage. Indeed, I feel fully persuaded 
that we have at our disposal the means of accomplishing a far more extensive 
and lengthened search by detached parties than has hitherto been attempted, 

- or even contemplated. .. 
I have, therefore, ventured to draw up the followmg memoranda III the hope 

that something of utility may be gleaned therefrom; and trust that an ardent 
desire of being useful, together with the Experience of the last Expedition, -and 
the constant study of this important branch of our deeply interesting duty,_ 
may be received. as an excuse for m.f seeI?ing I?r~sumption. . . 

It is of great lmportance that depots of prOVISIOns be carned out III autumn, 
that the searching parties may be despatched as early in spring as the climate 
permits. This may be done in October, the mean temperature of that month 
usually being 10°; but the parties should be on board again by the 25th; 
as at this season the snow is soft and deep, the flat sledges must be used. 
To carry out and deposit at a distance of 14 days' journey from the ship Ii 
month's provisions for 7 men, 3 flat sledges, 12 men and 2 officers will be 
required. The constant weights (that is the tents, furs, blankets, spare 
clothing, and sledges) will amount to about 6501bs.; and the weight of pro­
visions for 14 persons for 40 days will be about 1,5501bs. Hence the load for 
each man will not exceed 1831bs. Sir James C. Ross's party dragged 1911bs. 
each. 

Suppose they travel outward for 14 days, and then deposit 14 days' pro. 
visions, being sufficient for 7 persons for 28 days, they will still have remaimng 
12 days' provisions, which will be ample to serve them for their return with light 
sledges. The depot should consist of cases of pemican, and of bread, flour, 
tea, sugar, tobacco, and perhaps spirits of wine, packed in a cask to protect 
them from the bears and foxes. For the use of the autumn provision parties, 
a small boat's stove is well adapted, weighing only 201bs., and by using 
lignum vitre a large expenditure of spirits of wine will be saved. During 
this journey the men should wear their cloth boots, reserving the sealskin 
travelling boots for the more important spring journeys. 

The spring parties, each consisting of an officer and 6 picked men, should 
start about the middle of April. The following is an outline of one such 
party, together with the approximate weight of each article:-

Ibs. 
Tent, 5 poles, 2 fur blankets, 7 blanket bags - - 85 
Macintosh, floor.cloth, shovel, cooking apparatus, complete 26 
Spare clothing (for each person) 1 pair stockings, 1 pair boot hose 

footed with lambskin, 1 pair blanket socks, 1 pair drawers, towel, and 
soap, stowed in a knapsack, together with the blanket bag 50 

Spyglass, sextant, artificial horizon, compass, chronometer, thermo-
meter - . 20 

Medicines in an 81b. tin canister, "calico and flannel bandages, 
plaster, . lint~, salts, linament, eye-wash, pills, ointment, lancet, pins, and 
mstructlOns - - - - _ ._ _ - 5 

~undry bag, containing "slow match, awls, sail and sewing needles, 
tWllle, thread, spare soles, wax, bristles, nettlestuff, two yards of crape, 
hammer, shoe-tacks, cylinders, and white lead to render them water-
tight, brush" - - - 12 

Luncheon haversack, 7 pannikins, and covered meat·tins (in which to 
keep the daily allowance of pemican) - _ _ _ 6 
T~o guns, either a double gun and a rifle, or 2 double guns, 

cleanmg rods, powder flasks, shot pouches, covers, &c. _ - 17 
No. 1 shot, 5lbs. ; No.4, 3 Ibs.; bullets, 3Ibs.; powder, 2Ib;;. ; -caps, 

packages, &c. - - _ - _ - _ 38 
Small runner sledge, lashings, and drag ropes (of hair rope) _ 60 
Gutta percha sledge top or boat, stancheons, and 3 yards No.4 canvas 30 

Amount of the necessary constant weights 349 
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40 days' :provisions, according to the following scale :_ 
. 1 lb .. pemlc~n; ~ lb. pork; ! lb. biscuit; ! lb. flour or bread dust to 

mIX WIth pemlcan mto a hot mess; i oz. tea j ~ oz. sugar; 3 oz. tobacco lbs. 
weekly.; also,. :pepper ~nd salt for 7 persons - - - - 711 

. 30.pmts spmts of wme, also as extra, 4 pints of ditto; tea, sugar, and 
~~ W 

Total weight, amounting to 1881bs. a man, nearly _ - 1,126 
= 

The me~ should start in the following dress :-1 flannel shirt or Guernsey 
froc~, 1 paIr drawer~, 1 blue ~erge or knitted frock, 1 pair breeches, waistbelt, 
1 P(ur wo:st~d stockmgs, 1 p~Ir .cloth boots, comforter, Welsh wig, southwester, 
mItts, veIl, Jacket or sealskm Jumper-the latter is much preferable, being 
longer, less bulky and cumbrous, much lighter and impervious to wind, snow, 
or wet. 

I would suggest that dressed sealskin be purchased from the Esquimaux for 
this purpose, and made up on board. 

After arriving at the depot they may put on their sealskin boots and leave 
the cloth ones until their return. 

By this arrangement the party is victualled for 68 days, should it return by 
the same route, and 54 days if by any other; they will also have a sufficiency 
of extra necessaries to prolong their absence for several days, should they be so 
fortunate as to procure game. As Sir James C. Ross made lOi miles daily, 
including all stoppages and with many of his men disabled, and moreover as he 
did not set out until 15th May, the whole of his journey was performed through 
soft snow, we are led to infer that 12 miles daily is not too much to expect fi'om 
our parties, which will be much better fed and clothed; and that every ~;uch 
party could perform a journey of 800 miles in 68 days, proceeding with safety 
to a distance of 400 miles from their ship. 

The routine to be observed upon a spring journey is as follows :-Sleep by 
day, travel by night; breakfast at 5 P.M. upon tea, biscuit, and a portion of 
pemican; whilst breakfast is preparing, meajmre off the allowance of rum, fuel, 
pork, and biscuit to be used at luncheon; after tea is made dissolve enough 
snow to dilute the concentrated rum, making up the mixture to a gill of stiff 
grog for each man; start at 6 P.M.; halt for half an hour to lunch at midnight; 
dissolves now for drinking; encamp about 6 A.M., issue the day's allowance of 
pemican, flour, and .~ lb. biscuit (the remaining ! lb. reserve for luncheon); 
warm a portion of the former for supper; wind up chronometer before the fur 
blankets are allowed to be spread, and write up the remarks for the previous 
march. 

The officer should not trust entirely to the tinder-box, but be well provided 
with lucifer matches. Sir James C. Ross's allowance of provisions was, lIb. 
meat, lIb. biscuit, and the usual allowance of rum, chocolate, and lemon-juice: 
it was not sufficient to maintain the strength of the men. 

Sir John Richardson recommends 2lbs. of pemican and ! lb. of flour: he 
deprives the men of their greatest luxuries, namely, biscuit, rum, and tobacco. 

By pushing out the depots in autumn the men may be employed in searching 
parties exclusivel'y in the spring. If men can be spared, fatigue parties are very 
desirable for the first few days of both the autumn and spring journeys. 

As no preparations w.ere made in autumn it was not until the middle of May 
that Sir James C. Ross could set out. 

I have, &c., 
Capt. H. T. Austin, C.B., F. L. M'CLINTOCK, Lieut. 

Her Majesty's Ship" Resolute." 

Enclosure 2. 

SCHEME of the COMPLETE EQUIPMENT necessary for a PARTY consisting of ONE 
OFFICER and TEN MEN to perform an ARCTIC SPRING JOURNEY. 

It has been arranged under three principal he~ds; namely, ~Q~IPMEN~'" PRO­
VISIONING, and CLOTHING, to each of which a Detailed ExplanatIOn IS subJomed ; 
then follows a Travelling Routine; and after which a few General Remarks are 
added. • 

Ii 4 

Lieut . 
M'Clintock'. 
Suggestion •• 



Lieut. 
M'Clintock's 
Suggestions. 

184 PAPERS RELATIVE TO THE ARCTIC EXPEDITIONS. 

LIST OF EQUIPMENT. 

Articles. Weight. 

1 tent, with rope and poles, complete 
2 floor clothes 
'2 fur blankets 
2 shovels 
2 cooking apparatuses, complete 
1 medicine canister, complete 
1 small chopping axe 
1 store bag, complete 
1 luncheon haversack, with measures, daily rum 

can, water bottles, pal1l1ikins, and spoons 
2 guns and gear, complete 
1 ammun!tion bag - - } complete • 
1 small dItto - . 
1 runner sledge, sledge boat, and lashings, complete 

11 knapsacks, containing the spare clothing 
11 sleeping bags 

1 pickaxe 
Instruments 

Total 

Detailed E.'/,planation. 

75 lbs. 
24 
45 
10 
26 

5 
3 

15 

10 
20 

16 

160 
110 

48 
11 
12 

5901bs. 

Tent. The Tent to be of the samc material and plan as used in the recent Expe. 
dition, but to bc of the following dimensions ;-

Length 14. feet 
Breadth 8 " 
Height 8 " 

The flap round the bottom of the tent to be 1 foot wide; to have curtains 
attached to the door end so as to form a porch, each curtain to be 3 feet 
wide and 6 feet high. It is int~nded to keep out the snow drift and afford 
shelter to the cook or look·out man. 

-=---==~,-. ---~-I-----!---- c 
~ /, Ii 
r--~ /; 

\ 
\ 
\ 

SCALE: 

i inch to a foot. 

Four small holes in the top will be found useful to permit the escape of steam 
:un1 breath, which otherwise condenses and falls in a shower of fine snow. The 
tent. sho~ld be doub~e-seamed only at the corners, and lined along the ridge.; 
ropemg IS not reqUIred. The tent poles should be of ash, pointed at one end 
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with metal, and they should be 9 feet 8 inches in length· boarding pikes can be 
obtained of this length, and answer very well. ' 

Two spare poles should be taken, one fitted with a boat hook the other 
~touter. and longer than the rest, to serve as a mast; 15 fathoms of 2.inch rope 
IS reqUIred for the tent; the doorway should be fitted with large hooks and 
eyes. 

. Floor Clothes.-One to .be w~terp~oof, of the description of macintosh which 
IS now prepared to remam phant m extreme cold; the other to be of No.7 
canvas, t? spread over it or upon graYel; also to be used as a sail, for which 
purpose It should be fitted with ear rings and rope bands; their dimensions 
should be:-

Macintosh - 15 feet by 9 feet 
The canvas 13" 8" 

Fur Blankets.-It is recommended to have the underneath one of reindeer­
skin, and the upper one of wolfs kin; their dimensions should be:-

16 feet by 9 feet. 
Shovels, such as are supplied from the dockyard; they will serve also as 

paddles, if required 
Cooking Apparatus very similar to those used in the recent Expedition, and 

made by Mr. Dale of Thames-street, after a plan furnished by me, but to be 
proportIOnably larger, the kettle to hold 12 pints instead of 8 pints. When 
complete, the articles included under this designation are-stand and cover, 
hoop, kettle, stewpan, spirit or tallow lamp, and tinder-box; the whole shutting 
up closely, and may be conveniently carried in a bag. The kettle should be 
made of very stout double block tin, no solder to be used in any part of the 
apparatus; fearnought should be sewed on to the cover to prevent as much 
as possible any waste of heat; one apparatus should have a spirit lamp, the 
other a tallow lamp. 

A plan of this most useful article would here have been introduced, with some 
improvements and alterations, but for the reason assigned in my letter to the 
Secretary of the Arctic Committee. 

Medicine Canister to be titted by the surgeon. The following have been 
found most useful :-Calico and flannel bandages, plaster, lint, cotton wool, 
simple ointment, aromatic spirit of ammonia, wine of opium, laudanum, pills of 
opposite qualities (" compound colocynth" and" compound rhubarb "), liniment, 
lancet pins, and instructions. 

Two or three splints may also be supplied to each party. 
Small Axe necessary to chop up the pemican when frozen. 
Store Bag to contain 12 spare soles; a small bag of shoe making gear, namely 

-awls, waxed ends, shoe-tacks, and small hammer; slowmatch; sail, sewing, 
and glover'S needles; palm; twine; white thread; cotton for wicks; brimstone 
match; tent brush; 2 yards of No.4 canvas; large knife; skein of marline; 
30 fathoms of cod line, marked as a lead line; a few strips of canvas for wicks 
for the tallow lamp; 2 yards of crape; records, and small copper cases for 
do. ; also rosin, sealing-wax, or pitch, to render them water-tight; several boxes 
oflucifer matches (vestas). 

Luncheon Haversack.-With this a number of small articles are enumerated, 
the only measures required are-one half pint, one gill, and one half gill, a 
pannikin may be marked to serve as a pint measure; a small can to hold the 
day's allowance of rum; a pannikin and spoon for each person; also one or two 
spare ones; and a tin water-bottle for each person, to hold three quarters of 
a pint, and to be of a flattened form to adapt it to be carried as close as possible 
to the body. 

Two Guns and Gem·, complete.-Double-barrelled percussions, gauge 12, sO 
that they will take a musket-ball; with cleaning rod, nipple wrench, and spare 
nipples, turnscrew, 2 powder flasks (filled), 2 shot pouches (filled), 2 water­
proof gun covers, and gun slings. 
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Ammunition Bag, complete.-No. 1 shot, 61bs. ; No.4 shot, 3 .lbs. ; bullets, Ammunition Bage. 
36; wads, 500; percussion caps, 250; powder, 2 Ibs.; some whIte oakum or 
tow. The small ammunition bag is intended to hold" present use" ammunition, 
and to b.e always kept at hand. 

Kk 
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Runner Sledge to be constructed wholly of -Canada. elm, with the exception 
of the cross-bars, which should be of ash; the upnghts (u) to be tenoned 
through the upper and lower pieces termed the bearer and the runner, and with 
a wood screw through each tenon j a shoeing of one eighth inch iron 3 inches 
wide, and slightly convex on its under surface, to be secured on with nuts and 
screws. Dimensions are-length extreme, 13 fee~; space 0I?- the sole, 7 feet; 
curve at each end, 3 feet; breadth of all parts, 3 lIlches; heIght from shoeing 
to top of bearer, 12 inches; thickness of beare;, 1~ inch; of runner, Ii inch. 
the lower side slightly convex to fill the shoemg, the upper edges chamfere4 
off; thickness of uprights, 1 inch; width of sledge from out to out, 3 feet; 
length of cross-bars, 3 feet 2 inches, their width 4 inches, and thickness] inch, 
the edges to be chamfered off; one cross-bar to be placed over each upright 
and securely lashed with well soaked hide. 

A broadside view of Sledge and Boat. 

CUNWALE 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

I<-------------------BO~TOM----------------t 
I 
I 

! I_---'---! _--l 

~ GUNWALE 

Section through the midship stancheons. 

SCALE:-

t inch to a foot. 

Sledge Boat, The Sledge Boat should be made of strong material, similar to that used in 
the construction of Lieut. Halket's boats, but should be of the newly-prepared 
material which continues pliant under any degree of cold, as the new patent 
waterproof cloth, which can be obtained from Mr. Roberts, 32 Moorgate-stree~, 
and which has been tested in the Hudson Bay Company's territories. Its di­
mensions will be-length on the top, 14 feet; at bottom, 11 feet; breadth 
on the top, 4 feet; at bottom, 3 feet; depth, 20 inches; the gunwales to 
be formed of 4 tent poles, supported by 6 stancheons; the sides of the 
bo~t laced to the. poles; the bow to be kept in shape by a few slight battens, 
whICh can be shIpped and unshipped at pleasure. The boat is attached to 
the sledge by beckets along the sides, which are made fast to the bearers 
~etweeI.1 the cross-bars. When laden with the complete equipment the 
ImmerSIon of the sledge boat will be IOl inches. It is indispensably neces­
sary for extended journeys, and renders the advance or retreat practicable, 
a1tho~gh considerable ~paces of water may exist; being always in its pla,ce, 
there IS no delay occasIOned, as when Halket's boats are used since the lading 
of the sledge must be transferred to them. ' 

For sledge lashings, about 20 fathoms of soft rope is required. 
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",.',Knapsacks.-These are most convenient w.hen of the ordinary size, without 
any wooden framing; they should be precisely similar to those used, in the 
recent Expedition, and can be made on board of No.8 canvas. In the event of 
tli~ sldlge being rendered useless, they would become extremely useful. 

Sleeping Bags should be made of felt, similar to those used in the recent 
Expedition, and should be 7 feet long. 

Pickaxe required for making caches in the frozen ground, and should be 
strong. 

Inst~umen.ts.-A goo.d sextant; artificial horizon; 4-inch prismatic compass 
(Kater s), WIth small trIpod and table; pocket chronometer~ thermometer; box 
se.xtant;. telescope and s~ing and small measuring tap~ ;a)"quare case, whi~h 
WIll rece~ve the sexta~t Wlt~ eye-t~be fixed and any'angle onthe arc, and wIll 
also receIVe the artIfiCIal hOrIzon, wIll be found very convenient. 

The box sextant is intended as a pocket companion for the officer, and will 
be very frequently required for taking angles. 

LIST OF PROVISIONS. 

Daily allowance 
for each person. 

lIb. pemican 
4 oz. pork (when boiled and bones extracted) 
12 oz. biscuit 
:! oz. tea 
~ oz. sugar -
1 oz. pounded biscuit 
! pint of rum (its equivalent of concentrated rum) 

Weekly 3 oz. of tobacco 

For the party of 11 persons :-

Total quantity 
for 50 days. 

- 550 
137i 
418t 

81, 
17-
34! 

ll5 
15 

2lbs. fuel, spirits of wine, or tallow - 110 
Salt, 4lbs. ; pepper, 2lbs. - - - - 6 
Lemon-juice and sugar, 151bs. ; allowance for packages 85 

Weight of provisions 
" equipment 

Total weight of complete equipment 

Being 207i lbs. per man. 

- 1,487 
!Jgo 

- 2,On 

The load of 207i lbs. is less than that of most of the spring parties detached 
from the recent Expedition, and admits of their carrying a sufficiency of extra 
necessaries to prolong their journey for several days, should they be so fortunate 
as to procure game. 

Detailed E.1:planation. 

Pemican, with the exception of snch, portions as may be intended to be 
placed en cache, may be stripped of its tin covering, .then. marked with 
saw-cuts into daily allowances, and sewn up in old canvas, WhICh WIll subsequently 
serve as wick for the tallow lamp. 

Pork is intended to be used for luncheon only, after it has been well soaked, 
boiled, and bones taken out; it should be weighed and cut up as nearly as 
possible into daily allowances for the party, and then put up in bags. 

The Biscuit should be sifted, then stowed in bags of 2, 3, or 4 days 
allowance each. 
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Pounded Biscuit to be made up into packets of 2, 3, or 4 days allowance 
each; the whole to be stowed in a bag. 

Tobacco.-Each weekly allowance for the party to be made up in a separate 
package, and the whole to be kept together in a bag. 

Fuel.-Spirits of wille and tallow in equal quantities, the former to be campho. 
rated and kept in tin cans similar to those supplied (by Mr. Dale of Thames. 
street) to the recent Expedition, having patent bungs and secured with 
padlocks; the tallow may be kept in a bag. Should fi.lel become short, the 
rum may be used in the spirit lamp, also strips of gutta percha or the fat of 
animals wiII burn well in the tallow lamp. 

Rum.-It should be taken in its concentrated form as supplied to the ship, and 
the day's allowance diluted previous to commencing each march; to be con. 
tained in tin cans similar to those used for the spirits of wine, and which should 
contain 2, 3, or 4 gallons each. This stimulant was much approved of by all 
the travellers. 

Lemon·juice and Lemon-juice and Sugar.-Ten days full allowance should be taken as a 
Sugar. medical luxury; the lemon·juice in bottles, and the sugar in packets for 

daily use. 

Salt and Pepper, Salt and Pepper.-Highly necessary where so much animal food is daily 
consumed; is most convenient when packed in half pound tin canisters. 

Clothing ill wear. 

Spare clothing 

Probable range of 
temperature. 

Sealskin frocl,;. 

LIST OF CLOTHING. 

In wear.-Flannel shirt. 
Knitted woollen frock. 
Blue serge frock. 
Loose overall sealskin frock. 
Waistbelt. 
Pair of stockings. 

" blanket feet wrappers. 
" wadmil boot hose. 
" Canadian mocassins. 
" thick woollen drawers. 
" sealskin trowsers. 

Welsh wig. 
Fur cap and crape veil. 
Woollen comforter and pair of winter mittens. 

Every person is expected to carry a knife. 

Spare clothing. -1 flannel shirt. 
2 pair of stockings. 
2 " blanket feet wrappers. 
2 " mocassins. 
1 " Esquirnaux sealskin boots. 
1 " canvas boots with leather soles. 
1 " boot hose (to be reserved for sleeping in). 
1 " woollen drawers. 
1 ., mitts. 
1 towel, soap, and comb. 

Detailed Explanation. 

The clothes enumerated as "in wear" are such as would be suitable for the 
commencement of a spring journey; when the weather becomes more mild 
many of these may be dispensed with, and when thawing has begun, sealskin 
or canvas boots must be substituted for the mocassins. The range of tern· 
perature experienced during the recent journey to Melville Island was 8So Far. 
The loose sealskin frock should resembl~ that worn by th(l E~quimaux, but should 
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have outside breast pockets; it will be very useful in cold, windy, or wet 
weather. 

The mocassins to be made of the thickest smoke-dressed mooseskin and 
made of the largest size. ' 

.After the thaw has commenced, the Esquimaux Boots are superior to every 
thmg else. They can be obtai!led from St. John's, Newfoundland, through 
the Messrs. Hunt, 34, Great Wmchester-street; but. at least ten weeks notice 
shou~d be give~.. It is also possible they may be obtained in time for a Barrow 
StraIts ExpedItIon, fro~ t~e Hudson Bay districts, through Mr. Roberts, 
32, Moorgate·street. It IS dIfficult to get boots of this description sufficiently 
large for Europeans. 

Canvas Boots also answer well for the latter part of a spring journey' they 
c~n be made on board by any ordinary shoemaker. The soles should' be of 
smgle leather, ver'y broad, and sewn on " pump fashion," as shoemakers term 
it; ~nd they should be large enough to go on easily over 1 pair of stockings, 
2 paIrs of blanket wrappers, 1 pair of boot hose. 

The Blanket Feet Wmppers should be l4 inches square. 

The winter Mitts to be of dressed deerskin, lined with dume or blanket. 

TRAVELLING ROUTINE. 

To avoid snow-blindness, occasioned by the dazzling whiteness of the snow 
under a bright sun, it is necessary, after the 20th April, to sleep by day and 
travel by night. Breakfast at 5 o'clock in the afternoon, upon warm pemican, 
biscuit, and tea. After tea is made, dissolve enough snow to dilute the day's 
allowance of rum, and fill the water-bottles. After breakfast measure off and 
dilute the rum, measure off the day's allowance of fuel and of pork, which, 
with the remainder of the previous day's allowance of biscuit, serves for lunch. 

See the tallow-lamp trimmed to prevent delay in dissolving snow when halted 

Lieut. 
M'Clintock's 
Suggestions. 

Esquimaux Boots. 

How to be ob­
tained. 

Precaution. 

Canvas Boots. 

Precaution. 

Blanket Wrappers. 

Mittens. 

Precaution. 

for lunch; it is most difficult to allay the sensation of thirst occasioned by hard Constant thirst. 
labour in severe cold. Start about 6 P.M., varying the time an hour or two 
according to the east or west direction to be travelled in, so as to keep the sun 
as much as possible in your back. 

Halt for lunch after five or six hours, according to the labour undergonc, 
dissolve snow, serve out biscuit, pork, and half allowance of rum, refill water­
bottles, and proceed. 

Precaution. 

The period between lunching and encamping should be about an hour shorter 
than between the time of starting and halting for lunch. When encamped, 
serve out the day's allowauce of biscuit and remaining half allowance of rum; 
the allowance ofpemican may be chopped off as required. Supper to consist of 
biscuit and warmed pemican, after which a drink of watcr. 'Vind up chro- Chronometer, pre-
nometer before the fur blankets are allowed to be spread, and write up the caution. 
remarks for the previous march. In very severe weather it is safer to breakfast 
before getting out of the blanket bags, and to get into them before supper, so 
that the man whose turn it is to cook alone remains outside. It is, however, 
sometimes necessary to cook in the tent. Unless in the vicinity of Esquimaux, 
it is unnecessary to keep watch; but the guns should always be ready for 
bears, and kept within the tent. 

Frostbites, precau­
tion. 

Watch keeping. 
Defence. 

Cooking. Unless constant and strict attention is paid to the lamps and system of cook­
ing, much valuable time will be wasted. After encamping, everything should 
be placed on the sledge, and covered over to keep out the snow drift, or hung 
up to the tent-rope. If these precautions are not taken, and things are left Snowdrift, pre-
lying about on the snow, many losses will be sustained, since the lightest wind caution. 
is sufficient to drift the snow over them. 

Kk3 
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GENERAL REMARKS. 

1. By paying attention to the arrangement and packi~g up ~fth~ provisions_ 
so many days allowance in each package-the certamty of theIr lasting;tbe 
allotted period is insured, and much of the delay and labour of" measuring ,off" 
is saved. 

2. Preserved potatoes (Edwards') ma:y b~ substituted for pounded biscuit to 
mix with pemican, but double the quantIty IS necessary. 

3. It is recommen~ed to take s.ome c?ncentrated. rum in, lieu of a small por­
tion of the spirit of wme, so that )f fuel )s abundant )t may be used a$ a part of 
the provisions. 

4. In like manner, 2 or 3 pounds of lard may be substituted for tll,llow, since 
bears will probably be shot, and the steaks will not fry themselves~ although the 
blubber will cook them. 

5. All the small provision bags may be made of " waxed wrapper" as it comes 
off the bales of slop clothing. 

6. A few gutta percha or horn cups would be very desirable for drinking 
water or grog out of, as at very low temperatures it is difficult to drink out of 
metal without having the skin taken off one's lips. 

7. To secure depots of provisions from bears it is necessary to bury them in 
the earth, and to cover the place with snow, or pour water over it, so B,s to 
destroy the scent. 

s. Gutta percha depot cases for containing the dry provisions would be 
very useful, since those which are not taken up before the thaw commences are 
frequently destroyed. The cases should be made and taken out in the ship, 
and if of sizes to stow within each other would occupy but little room on board; 
besides, being the lightest material adapted to the purpose, these cases would 
subsequently be valuable as fuel. 

9. Portions of the 50 days provisions should be packed in these cases pre­
vious to leaving the ship, that they may be ready for depositing at any stage of 
the journey that it may be deemed desirable to do so. 

10. A very light waterproof cloth of dark colour will be found serviceable. 
In the severe cold it may be spread over the upper fur to receive the condensed 
steam, which falls in the shape of very fine snow; and later in the spring, to 
thaw snow for drinking, by spreading it on an inclined plane in the sun, and 
sprinkling it lightly over. This cloth should be of the vulcanized material 
called the" new patent waterproof cloth," which remains pliant under any tem­
perature, and is devoid of smell. 

11. If a small quantity of the prepared solution is taken, the cloth just 
described may also be used to patch up leaks in the sledge-boat or floor-cloth. 

12. The kites presented by Mr. Smyth to some of the officers of the Expe­
dition were used by me, and found very useful in directing the course when the 
winds were fresh and fair, and snow drift or fog obscured distant objects; also 
in lessening the labour of dragging the sledge. I think one or two large kites 
(7 or S feet square) would be found useful, more particularly if any improve­
ments have since been made in their construction. 

13. For autumn travelling, a lantern and candles will be required. 

14. The second set of spare blanket wrappers should not be cut off, but the 
blanket supplied to the party, and used for other purposes as required, until 
necessary to apply it as originally intended. 

15: The ~ron shoeing of the runners should be as even as possible, and h~ghly 
burn)shed; If case-hardened they would be more durable, and retain their pohshed 
surface much longer. 

16. It often happens that the sun is clear, but snow drifting so heavily as to 
render the mercury unsteady, or instantly to cover the glass roof; also it is 
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frequently too low to be brought into the arti6cial horizon, as at the inferior 
meridian passage, and the land often intercepts the natural (or ice) horizon; in 
any of these cases one of the many ingenious fog or false horizons would be 
very useful, and could be used with much greater accuracy than is possible 
at sea. 

!7. The eyetube~ ?ftele~copes, an~, as ~ar as practicable, all the ~etal parts 
of mstruments requmng delIcate malllpulatlOn, should be covered WIth chamois 
leather. 

18. Where there is any probability of meeting with large spaces of open 
water, as in Wellington Channel, efficient boats should be provided; those 
used by Sir Edward Parry in 1827, and still preserved in Woolwich Dockyard, 
will serve as models; but as only about half their burthen and strength would 
be necessary, the weight of the boats required would probably be reduced to 
400 or 500 lbs. each. In order to render the equipment of the detached 
parties complete in every respect, one such boat should be attached to each 
division of the search. 

19. Lastly, the officer fares in all respects precisely as the men; he carries 
a gun, spyglass, thermometer, chronometer, compass, box sextant, note-book, 
and small measuring tape. 

20. In the plan of travelling here submitted, the scale of victualling is almost 
precisely the same, but the equipment is rendered more complete, and clothing 
much better adapted for the severe climate of an Arctic March or April, than 
that adopted in the recent Expedition; the travellers will but rarely be detained 
in their tents by the weather, and they will be able to travel later in the 
aut.umn, and earlier in the spring, with perfect safety; also the re ources of 
each party, which in the recent Expedition amounted to 40 days provisions, 
being now increased to 50 days, it is confidently hoped that future explorers 
wIll find their journies lengthened and difficulties diminished in the same 
proportion. 

. 
Prepared for the Arctic Committee, 

7th November 1851. 

F. L. M'CLlNTOCK, Lieut., 
Late of Her Majesty's Ship" Assistance." 

Lieut. M'CLINTOCK to Mr. FEGEN, Secretary to the Arctic Committee. 

Sir 2, Gardiner's-place, Dublin, 9th November 1851. 
The ~nclosed letter is the reply of Messrs. Hunt and Henley, relative to 

obtaining a supply of Esquimaux boots for any fut~re Expedi~ion whic~ it may 
be in contemplation to send out; and the neceSSIty for havmg them IS shown 
in my "Scheme of Equipment," which you have already received, and to 
which, perhaps, it would be as well to attach the enclosed letter. 

I remain, &c., 
F. L. M'CLINTOCK, Lieut. 

Enclosure. 

Sir, 34, Great Winchester-street, 8th November 1851. 
In reply to your inquiry a few days since, we find that about 150 pairs ?f 

sealskin boot3 were sent round to Newfoundland by our Labrador agent thIS 
autumn, and altogether we may have some 200 pairs there. But they will be 
gradually disposed of during the winter, and if you wish to secure any, it will 
be well to give us notice in time for next week's mail, 14th instant. 

The price in Newfoundland remains the same as for many years; say, two 
dollars, equal to 88. 4d. sterling per pair. 

We are, &c., 

Lieut. MCClintock, R.N., HUNT & HENLEY. 

90, Great Portland-street. 
Kk4 
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Enclosure No. 14. 
REMARKS on the EQUIPMENT of SLEDGES and TRAVELLERS for ARCTIC SERVICE, by 

LIEUTENANT OSBORNE. 

Sledge runners-Would be improved by the curve being constant, as in 
those constructed by the Danes for travelling in Greenland,-a model of which 
is in my possession. . . . . 

The more rigid the runner can be made the more WIll the frictIon and reslS· 
tance be reduced. I think weight may be sacrificed to gain this point with 
advantage. 

Sledge casing.-For parties likely to be back to their vessels by the 15th 
or 20th June, I deem casing on boats unnecessary weight, a piece of oil canvass 
laced taut over the stretchers being sufficient. For longer parties, however, 
a casing on boats capable of floati~g the sledg~ with a light load, is impera. 
tively necessary. Common mackmtosh materIal, of strong texture, would 
answer well. 

Where parties have to cross broad channels or straits of from thirty miles and 
upwards, I would always recommend that a light wooden boat be placed so 
that she may be available. The rapid manner in which the water makes after 
the 15th June in the most confined seas is remarkable. 

Boats .for tmvellers.-The boats in our Expedition were none of them 
adapted for rapid transit over the sea. I feel confident that the short floor and 
light build of the South Sea whale boat would make it a far more useful 
description of craft for such service. The Greenland boats are built strong 
and heavily, for express purposes. 

Sledge sail.-The floor-cloth answered so well as a sail that I think it 
needs no improvement beyond being made full large for the tent . 

. Nllmber cif par~y.-I prefer sledge parties consisting of seven men and one 
officer to that of six men and one officel·. The increased number of men 
enable~ the dead weight to be reduced with much effect; and the breaking 
down of one man in seven is not so serious as one in six. 

Eye-shades.-Spectacles of a neutral tint, with side-shades, and set in bone 
or tortoiseshell, would be much superior to any shades or veils for the eyes. 

Weight per man.-On starting in the spring or autumn, I should not be 
afraid to load the sledge to a weight of 210 lbs. per man, if the crews are 
generally healthy. 

Depots qf provision.-The provisions for forty days, which is about what a 
crew can well start with, should be divided into small proportions, so as to form 
a series. of depots at every fifth day's journey, or indeed oftener, ifit can be 
done WIthout entailing great additional weight in packages. 

Sec~1"ing depots-Depots should be placed under large stones; and when 
made m the autumn for the use of spring parties, I would advise water being 
poured on the mound, so as to cement the whole over with ice. Snow or 
blo~ks of ~ce are usele~s ; the bears remove it easily. The Esquimaux secure 
then' caches as I have proposed. 

Additional tallow flrf1lel.-The allowance of spirits for fuel, being better 
unde~ .control.than tallow, is preferable; but, in addition to the full allowance 
of SpIrIts of wme, as much tallow as can possibly be carried will be found the 
greatest comfort and luxury. 

r(fry the flod.-Where no game is likely to be killed, I think it would be 
advantageous to carry out a proportion of cheese, jerked meat, dried beef, or 
other nutritious and portable food, so as to give the men an occasional variety, 
instead of feeding constantly on pemmican. 

PROPOSED SCALE OF VICTUALLING. 
Pe1' man.-Pemmican • 12 o~. 

Pork 80z. 
BisCllit 160 

z. {Wh 11" A·l t Concentrated rum 4 -1'11 en trave mg m PI'}, a 
Tobacco _ i ~!:- gI. low temperature, allow 1 gill 
Biscuit dust 1 oz. 
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1 
Chocolate (Moore's) IlOZ·iFo.r half ~h~ number of days the sledge 
Sugar - -" IS prOVISIOned. 
Tea - _ l.OZ 
Sugar _ _ t oz: Strong mixed tea. 

Fucl.-Spirits of wine, - 1 pint 2 gills For party of eight. 
or 

Tallow lIb. 120z. 
" " No lime juice.-The lime juice I consider pernicious. The men when sufl'erino-

from extreme thirst, would, if possible, try and allay it with iime juice and 
were much weakened by severe purging, &c. ' 

The conjurm·.-The cooking apparatus we had requires improvement in 
many ways, and should be much larger. 

Bougie instead CJfmatch.-A wax bougie for burning to light the pipes with 
would be a great Improvement to slow match; the latter when burnino- O'iving 
ex~reme pain to any men afflicted with snow blindness, or having a t~ndency 
to It. 

Compass.-Ordinary compasses being found by our division entirely useless, 
I should recommend only those on Kater's construction being taken. 

The clothing of the men, I think, requires much improvement, the object 
being to give them warmth combined with lightness. 

An oiled south-wester, with broad flaps lined with fur. 
A sealskin frock } T k' h k" I' d d 

D b h a 'mg care t e s 'm IS we 1 resse . o. reec es 
Hudson's Bay moccasins - 3 pair per man, for cold and dry season. 
Canvass boots (large) I pair for the wet season. 
Blanket feet wrappers 8 pair. 
Stockings 2 pair. 
Flannel drawers I pair, fine wool. 
Chamois leather drawers - I pair, of best desctlption. 
Flannel shirt 1, fine wool, with a collar. 
Chamois leather shirt 1, strongest description. 
Comforter 1. 
Nightcap I, thick woollen. 
Guernsey frock I, of same description as those we had. 

M· 2 . {One, thick wool. 
.r Ittens - paIr One, large sealskin. 

It now only remains for me to. say t~at I believe a v.ery great d~al may be 
done in the autumn of the ArctIc regIOns towards laymg out depots on the 
intended line of march in the spring; and that in the early spring short 
journeys, of from one week to ten days continuance,. can very well be carried 
out, and good service done, so that the long partIes may leave the vessels 
~omparatively light, and therefore m3:ke.longer as well as m.ore eX'pediti~us 
Journies than have yet been accomphshed. The first week In Apnl partIes 
should all be away from their ships. 

To the Chairman, 
Arctic Committee. 

SHERARD OSBORN, Lieutenant, 
late in command of H.M.S. " Pioneer," 

Arctic Expedition. 

Enclosure No. 15. 

Lieut. Osborn's 
Suggestions. 

Mr. A. P. BRADFORD, Surgeon, late of H.M.S. "Resolute" to Mr. FEGEN, the }Ir. Bradford's 
Secretary to the Arctic Committee. Suggestions, 

Sir, 2 Charlton Terrace Woolwich, 5th Nov. 1851. 
In obedience to the directions recei~ed from the President of the, Arctic 

Committee, Rear Admiral Bowles, to forward, in writing, any suggestIOns for 
an improvement in sledge travelling, by equipme~lt or other.mea?s, I beg l.eave 
t~ offer the following as the. resu~t of my expen~~ce, acqUIred In several JOur­
mes made with sledge partIes from the expedItIon under the command of 
Captain Austin, C.B. 

LI 
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One of these journies occupied a period of eig~ty days .absen~e from the 
ships stationed in winter qua~ters between CornwallIs and GrIffiths Islands, ~nd 
was directed to the exploratIOn a~d searc~ of the north-east shores of MelvIlle 
Island, with the coast-line of the mtermedmte lands. 

Menfor the p(lJ'ty.-Too much importance cannot be attached to the duty of 
selectinO" the men to compose the party. They ought to be strong and robust, 
ruddy c~mplcxioned, with a good and full chest, perfectly sound in their wind, 
flat and well-muscled about the loins, with good buttocks and strong muscular 
thighs. . . . " 

Having the men of nearly the same heIght IS favourable to t~e effort In 

dragging being simultaneous. Tan long-legged men stow badly mthe tent, 
and frequently are not so capable of long-continued fatigue as those of a 
shorter stature and more compact form. Five feet seven inches and a half to 
five feet eight or nine inches is a height that frequently combines great 
strength and power of endurance with a suffi.cient length of limb to admit of 
fi'ee action. The very short-legged heavy-bodIed man ought not to be selected, 
as he soon becomes exhausted in deep snow by his struggles to clear his legs. 
The aO"e may vary between twenty-five and thirty-five years. Temper is not 
to be gverlooked, as an irritable man, under the privations and hardships of a 
lengthened journey, is certain to break out, and be a constant source of annoy­
ance and irritation to his more patient neighbourf', both on the drag-rope and 
in the tent. 

The true thorough-bred man-of-war's man or royal marine I should selectjn 
preference to any others, as they never think of having an interest, in Cases of 
difficulty, at variance with that of their officer, whereas the merchant-seaman is 
apt on such occasions to think of himself. Stewards, idlers whose duties have 
confined them much below, and men who have led debauched lives, ought not 
to be selected for lengthened travelling, as it will be found on trial that after a 
few days they either shrink from their fair proportion of work or else ,bre~k 
down. . 

Having the party composed of ten persons in preference to that of seven, as 
was the case in the Melville Island division, would be attended with some 
advantages, and probably lead to greater results, as the weight per man would 
decrease with the increased number of men, and still admit of several additions, 
more especially an increased allowance of fuel. 

But the principal reason for having the larger party in preference to the 
smaller consists in the confidence a party so strong would have in case 
casualties occurred; one or two men disabled in such a party would have 
little or no influence on their safety, should they be at the time 300 or 400 
miles from their ship; whereas the sa~e loss to the smaller number under 
similar ciroumstances might lead to their total destruction, as a sufficient force 
might not be left to drag the sledge along_ . 

Sledge.-The" runner-sledge" is the only.one that can be used for travel-. 
ling in the Arctic regions. The one made use of by our partie!) was not 
sufficiently high for the summer season. It ought to be raised at least fou~ 
inches higher, should it be contemplated keeping parties out so late in the 
season as we were. Whenever the bottom of the sledge came in contact with 
the soft snow it stopped dead, and required a standing pull or bowline haul, and 
frequently the shovel to clear the snow away, to enable us to get on a few 
feet, when the same labour had to be again repeated. If the sledge had been 
four inches higher a great deal of this very severe work would have been 
saved. The increase of height in the sledge would necessarily carry with it 
an increased weight and substance in some of its component parts. 

The "runner-sledge" supplied to me for the Melville I~land journey was 
remarkably strong and well put together, reflecting great credit on its builder~ 
The only defect proved by so long a journey in the "fastenings" was in 
the manner in which the iron-band or "tire" was secured to the lower runner, 
viz., by means of screws into the wood (commonly called wood-screws), nine 
of these worked out by the time I had returned to the ship, one of the bands 
was very loose, and the wood of the runner, in consequence, much cut by the 
young ice. We had no means of replacing these screws; and a wood-screw 
never holds well when replaced in a hole from which it has worked out. I 
would therefore suggest that the screw should go through, to the top of the 
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under-runner! and be the~e secured with a nut, which could be tightened at 
pleasure, or, m case of accIdent to the screw, it could be readily replaced. 

, Tel'!t. - The one supplied answered the purpose well. The head requires 
doubhng. abou.t half way up. This end is always pitched to windward, with 
st:ong WI?ds, III a low temperature. The cold was intensely bitter from the 
wIlld commg through the single part of the light material of which the tent 
was made . 

. ,Sleeping'lfenr-Was good, and in my opinion cannot be improved, unless 
It shoul~ be ~ntended to send away parties at a very low temperature, such as 
w~ had It, VIZ. 69° of frost, when buffalo ought to be substituted for wolf 
SkIllS. 

Cooking appamtus.-In form and size answered well enough. Not suffi­
~ientl~ strong. for the rough. handling of seamen, or capable of bearing with 
Impumty the mtense heat gIVen out by the combustion of tallow. The one 
supplie~ .was mad~ of tin, and some parts of it soldered together. I am of 
the opmlOn that It ought to be made of the best copper, and "rivetted" 
throughout . 

. Prom:sions.-The allowance was liberal, but not too much for the work 
required of the men. Pemmican I lb. ; boiled pork 6 oz. ; biscuit i lbs. ; Moore's 
preserved chocolate Ii oz., or tea! oz., on alternate days; sugar i oz.; and 
I, oz. of biscuit-dust to mix with the pemmican; rum 1 gill; spirit fuel 6 gills. 
The fuel consisted of a proportion of spirits and tallow, both having their 
comparative advantages. 
.. The latter was much preferred in my tent to the spirits, as it was more 
easily mauaged by the cooks in very cold weather, and required little prepara­
,tion. The disadvantages attending its use were, that it could not be llsed 
inside the tent on account of the dense smoke it gave out; secondly, it required 
some little time to solidify, when we were in a hurry to pack up, after our short 
halts at midnight for refreshment. 

The spirits of wine was not so much liked by the cooks, as the spirit lamp 
'required constant attention to the" wicks," and was very cold to the fingers 
"when handled. Six gills per diem barely suffices to give two warm meals, and 
a small quantity of water at midnight. This was more particularly the case 
'when the temperature was minus in April and the early part of May. In June, 
three and four gills was sufficient to cook our meals; but had it not been for 
the fortunate circumstance of shooting a bear giving a small supply of fat we 
.should have been very hard up for fuel. The spirits of wine requires vessels 
fur its safe custody and carriage, thereby increasing the weights; a great and 
in;tportant question in all subjects relating to sledge equipment. The lump of 
tallow is perfectly secure, wrapped up in a piece of old canvass or placed in a 
bag, which can be cut up to supply wicks to burn it with. 

A small supply of the preserved potato and lime juice was added to the 
allowance; the former in lieu of an equal proportion of the bread-dust. Of these 
two articles (potatoes and lime-juice) I would recommend an increased allow­
ance, to be used as antiscorbutics, as I am satisfied that several of the men of 
my party showed some of the premonitory symptoms of scurvy, which I think 
'Was in some measure owing to the saltness and under-cooked state of a part of 
the pork supplied, as well as to the long-continued use of a meat diet without 
vegetables. 

Dress.-The outward clothing was not in the least adapted to the exigencies 
of an Arctic travelling party, more particularly so in the colder season, whcn 
the cold winds, loaded with a fine drift, penetrated through every garment that 
was in the most minute degree open in its texture, such as woollen and cloth 
fabrics . 
.. The prepared leather trousers and frocks worn in the Hudson Bay tcr­
ritory appears to me to be peculiarly well adapted to the Arctic regions. . 

On such a smooth surface as the leather garments afford, no accumulatIOn 
,Qfdrift can lodge. .. , 
, The Esquimaux sealskin dre~s ~tands next m myestI!llatIon. When procured 
from the natives, ready made, It IS scarcely ever ~ufficlently large to go on ?ur 
'Plen comfortably' but this is a difficulty that mIght be overcome. Clothmg 
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should never be tight fitting i~ an Ar~tic clima~e, as any impediment to.a ~ee 
circulation in a limb leads to Its readIly becommg fi·ozen. The only objection 
to the sealskin is that the very fine drift lodges under the hair, wh.ich the most 
careful brushing will never entirely remove. ~he consequence IS, wh~n the 
man has turned into his bag, and become sufficIently warm to melt thIS fine 
snow, a great accumulation of damp takes place, and the bags ~ecome saturated 
with wet when the men are i~l the~l, or frozen hard a f~w mmu~es after they 
get out, no opportunity o~enng to ory ~amp or wet ~rtICles untIl the season 
is well advanced. This eVIl can be obVIated by causmg the men to remove 
their outward dress of seal-skin before turning in. 

Provided attention be paid to these points, the seal·skin fwck and trousers 
of a comfortable size I believe to be one of the best dresses to face the polar 
blasts in. I speak from experience on this particu~ar subje~t, as I wore on my . 
joumies sealskin trousers, and however cold the wmd blew It never penetrated 
directly through as it did to other parts of my body incased in cloth. 

A minute attention to keeping bags and sleeping gear dry may appear to 
some persons a very unimportant and trivial affair, but I am quite satisfied 
that one of the principal duties of an officer in charge of a travelling party is 
to look well after and examine each man on coming into the tent from off the 
journey. The one most attentive to these minor points is the least likely to 
have the strength of his party diminished by casualties. 

The canvass boots worn by our men when travelling, like much more of 
the equipment, were the best the circumstances we were placed in admitted o£ 
The Indian deer-skin moccasin is a most admirable covering for the foot in 
the dry cold weather, before the snow becomes soft. In the wet season it is 
useless. Then the canvass boot, well made, with a stout sole, and the" uppers" 
doubled on account of the friction caused by the young ice, might answer the 
purpose required. 

The Esquimaux sealskin boot, when made by the natives, is a very useful 
boot both in wet and dry weather. 

A great objection to a boot of any description is the difficulty of freeing the 
inside from ice. There is little or none with the Indian moccasin, as it can 
be turned inside out and cleared of ice and snow in five minutes, and made 
ready for the next journey. The canvass boots occupied a long time in clear­
ing the inside of ice, which had to be scraped out with a knife. They were 
occasionally frozen so hard and stiff that the men had to take them into their 
sleeping-bags for one or two hours between their legs to thaw them, before 
they could be got on. 

The canvass moccasin was tried, but did not wear well when used by the men 
dragging. It gave out in the bottom in three or four journies, and on slippery 
ice was not safe. 

Having transmitted the greater part of my notes and papers into the 
countr,r, I have not been enabled to enter so fully on the subject as I could 
have WIshed. Trusting that what I have said will meet with the favourable 
consideration of the Committee, 

I have, &c. 
( Signed) A. R. BRADFORD, 

Late Surgeon of H.M.S. "Resolute," 
and Second in command of the 
Western .division of travelling 
parties. 

Enclosure No. 16. 

Mr. JOHN E. BROOMAN to Rear-Admiral BOWLES, Chairman of the Committee. 

S· 15, Queen's.terrace, St. John's.wood, 
Ir, 15th November 1851. 

In compliance with the wis~es of the Arctic Committee, requesting me "to 
state ~11 I h~ve observed WIth regard to the provisions taken out un er 
Captalll Austm:, and to. suggest such alterations for the better, as may have 
occurred to me, I beg III the first place to remark, that I consider the whole 
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of the provisions with which the Expedition under Captain Austin was supplied, 
to have .been cur.ed and packed wi.th more than usual care, having had but very 
few c~msters which became putrid, and therefore unfit to eat, either from the 
burstmg of the cases or any other cause; yet, notwithstanding this, the whole 
of the preserved meats, particularly after they had been frozen, were exceedinO'ly 
insipid, and almost tasteless,-more especially the boiled beef. b 

The roast mutton was generally considered the best of the meats, although 
it has frequently been a matter of great doubt as to "'hether we were eating 
roast beef or roast mutton. 

I. cannot help here alluding to the ox.cheek soup, more especially that 
furnished by Mr. Cooper, the whole of which was most excellent and nutritious' 
it contained all its goodness to the last; that which has been returned into stor~ 
being, I believe, as good as when first put on board. 

I beg also to remark, that all the meats appeared to me to be by far too 
much dressed ?r cooked, and I think, that if they could be preserved, by being 
at least one-thIrd less done, much more of the flavour as well as of the nutritive 
properties of the meats would be retained. As none but the very best meat 
should, I think, be used for this purpose, it might perhaps be advisable for the 
Admiralty, when entering into a contract for a large supply, to haye an agent 
of their own, to overlook the process of curing, as they have when contracting 
for the building and repairing of ships; and if the issuing of these articles 
should be continued for the use of the navy, the Admiralty would most likely 
find it more beneficial, if not more economical, to preserve them under their 
own control, either at Deptford, at Gosport, or at Plymouth. 

I beg further to suggest, that instead of having plain boiled fresh beef, which 
at the best of times does not, I think, possess much flavour, it should be stewed 
with onions and a little spice, which would, I consider, render it much more 
palatable. 

In the event of fitting out another Expedition to the Arctic Regions, I would 
beg to recommend that it should be furnished with a sufficient supply of 
pemican, as prepared under the superintendence of Captain Sir Edward Parry 
and Mr. Grant, as would enable the Commandant to issue it at least once a 
week, as I consider that with which the Expedition under Captain Austin wag 
provided, to be by far the most nutritious and wholesome species of diet with 
which we were furnished. The rice and scotch barley might perhaps be 
dispensed with, as but little of either was taken up, and the greater part of 
that was, I think, scarcely sufficient. In other respects, I consider the scale of 
victualling as established by Captain Austin (a copy of which I have the 
honour to enclose herewith) to be as efficient as can well be. 

I trust I may be pardoned for adding, that when at New Zealand I observed 
a French whaling ship curing pigeons, which were there very large and numerous, 
first skinning them and taking- out their entrails, then placing them in casks in 
layers, and covering each layer as it was completed with boiling £'tt, which they 
assured me kept them good for years; I am therefore indnced to think that 
slices of fi'esh meat might thus be kept for any length of time, and that even 
legs of mutton and pieces of beef with the bones taken ont might be packed in 
small casks of about 1 cwt. each, and cured with boiling fat in a similar manner, 
thns retaining all their flavour. 

In conclusion I beg to state that, amongst the private stores of Captains 
Austin and OmmalUley, there was a quantity of Australian preserved beef in 
tins, which was allowed to possess much more flavour and to be more palatable 
than any of that supplied for the use of the Expedition. 

I have, &c., 

Rear-Admiral Bowles, C.B., M.P. 

.TOHN E. BROOM AN, Paymaster and Purser, 
Late of Her Majesty's Ship" Resolute." 
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SCALE of VICTUALLING for the Arctic Ships; Captain H .. T. AUSTIN in charge of Expedition. 
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Enclosure No. 17. 

EXTRACTS from Mr. PENNY'S JOURNAL. 

Ist.-16~h May 1851. The moment I passed over this point (Point Surprise ?), 
the expressIOn that escaped me was, No one will ever reach Sir John Franklin. 
Here we are, and no trace. So we returned very much disappointed. 

2d.-19thJuly 1851. Oh, to have been here only with my little vessels! what 
could we not have done in the way of search; but I fear greatly that even if 
we had they (the missing ships) are beyond our reach 

• ,. '" "" to 

The struggle (as to returning in the boat, having only one week's provISIOns 
left,) was severe, but there was no other course left but to return. That he is 
beyond our reach I have no doubt, for if he had not we would have found trace 
about some of the Bird Heads or Duck islands, which have been surrounded 
with water ever since the 17th May. 

3d. -6th August 1851. Poor fellows! (Alluding to his ship's company.) All 
day standing up to the knees in water, but no complaint, tbey are all so very 
anxious to get home, as we have no hope now of being of any use to our missing 
countrymen, whose fate will for ever remain in obscurity. 

EXTRACT from Dr. SUTHERLAND'S JOURNAL. 

11th August 1851.-1n the afternoon Captain Austin's squadron came 
steaming into the harbour, and dropped anchor. We again met our brother 
" Arctics ( and, certainly, if anything could have moved the adamant human 
heart to gratitude, surely this meeting of both ships and men in, I may safely 
assert, perfect safety and health, failed not to raise the ideas of every individual 
in the harbour far above what his eyes were beholding. After the" heads" 
of the Expedition had considered matters fully, we were given to understand 
that little remained to be done but proceed to England. Captain Austin was 
satisfied the missing Expedition need not be searched for to the due west or 
south-westward; and Mr. Penny, uncertain whether they had proceeded up the 
channel, could hold out no hopes of our being able to accomplish anything 
deserving almost inevitable risks of a second winter. 

Enclosure No. 18. 
(Authorized Chart anne.red.) 

Enclosure No. 19. 
(Mr. Penny's Olttline Track Chart annexed.) 

Extracts from 
Mr. Penny's 

Journal. 

Extract from 
Dr. Sutherland's 

Journal. 
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